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THE FRENCH FLEET ON THE SCOTTISH COAST. 417

and pilots in readiness at the mouth of the

Frith of Forth to go on board the first vessel

that should give the signal agreed on.

In the mean time, the British fleet having

been forced, by stress of weather, off their

station on the 14th of March, the expedition

sailed on the 17th from the road of Dunkirk;
but it was detained in Newport-pits in conse-

quence of a change in the wind, till the 19th,

when it again set sail with a fair breeze for

Scotland. The expedition consisted of seven

men-of-war, two of which were fitted up as

transports, and twenty-one frigates, having on

board 5,100 troops, under the command of

Monsieur le Comte de Gasse", who, on the last-

mentioned day, received from the French king

the patent of a Marshal of France, and assumed

the name of Mantignon. While at Newport,

three of the frigates, which had received some

damage, returned to Dunkirk
; but, at a council

of war, held in the apartment of the Chevalier,

it was resolved, at his desire, to proceed with-

out them, although these vessels had 800 troops

on board, and a considerable quantity of arms

and provisions. At the same council it was

also determined to sail directly to the Frith of

Forth, and to disembark the troops at Burnt-

island, whence it was proposed to send a

detachment to take possession of Stirling.
4

The French fleet having been observed in

Newport-pits from the steeples of Ostend, a

1 was immediately despatched thence by
M njor-general Cadogan to inform Sir George
P>\ ng of their having left Dunkirk : Sir George
wont immediately in quest of the enemy. The

Fr< nch fleet, favoured by a strong and fair

wind, reached the Frith on the evening of the

I,
without seeing any of the English squad-

,
and anchored off Crail, the commander

anding to proceed up the Frith the follow-

g morning ;
but he had been anticipated by

.ie Proteus, one of the three vessels which had

returned to Dunkirk, and which, being a

superior sailer, had reached the Frith before

him, and had given notice of the approach of

the French fleet to the friends of the Cheva-

lier, who lived on the coast, by firing five guns,

the concerted signal by which the friends of

the prince along that coast were to be apprized

4 M. D'Andrezel's Account in Hooke, p. 139.

of his arrival. Malcolm of Grange, who had

been for some days anxiously looking out for

the fleet, went immediately on board this vessel

with a pilot.

The resolution of M. de Forbin to proceed

up the Frith next morning, was, however, put

an end to, by the appearance, at day-break, of

the English fleet, consisting of 28 sail, stand-

ing in for the Frith. Alarmed for the safety

of his ships, the French commander immedi-

ately cut his cables, and by favour of a strong

land breeze which fortunately sprung up, stood

out to sea under full sail, having previously

given orders to the different ships, in case of

separation, to rendezvous at Cromarty or In-

verness. The French vessels being lighter and

cleaner, outstripped the English in sailing, and

all of them escaped, with the exception of the

Salisbury, a ship formerly captured from the

English, which was taken. On board of this

vessel were Lord Griffin, the Earl of Middle-

ton's two sons, M. La Vie, a Major-general,

Colonel Francis "Wauchope, some other officers,

and between 300 and 400 soldiers. On the

following day, the French commander finding

himself out of sight of the enemy, and all his

vessels together, with the exception of the

Salisbury, consulted with the Marshal de Man-

tignon, on the expediency of landing at some

place in the north of Scotland, and proposed

Inverness. The Chevalier, who was so desi-

rous of landing, that he had, though in vain,

entreated M. de Forbin, the preceding day, to

put him ashore, though his domestics alone

should accompany him, received this proposal

with great satisfaction. The fleet accordingly,

aided by a favourable wind, steered to the

north during the whole of the 25th
;
but at

ten o'clock at night, the wind suddenly changed

to the north, and blew directly in their teeth

with considerable violence. As the storm con-

tinued the whole of the following day, and as

M. de Forbin was afraid that the fleet would

be dispersed, and might, when separated, fall

into the hands of the enemy, a council was

held, at which it was unanimously resolved,

with the entire concurrence of the Chevalier,

to return to Dunkirk, where the expedition

arrived on the 7th of April.

Such was the result of an enterprise, which,

but for the merest accidental circumstance,
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might have been crowned with the most com-

plete success
;
for had the expedition arrived

only a few hours earlier in the Frith of Forth,

the whole troops, arms and ammunition, would

have been landed without opposition. Such

were the dispositions of the people of Scotland

in favour of "the Pretender," and so disaffected

had they become towards the government, that

a universal rising would undoubtedly have

taken place in his support had lie set his foot

in Scotland. No effectual resistance could

have been offered to him by the regular troops,

which did not exceed 2,500 men
; and as

little reliance could be placed in them, from

their participating generally in the national

feeling, the Earl of Leven, the commander-in-

chief, had determined to retire to Carlisle or

Berwick, with such forces as would accompany
him. 5 The news of the sailing of the expedi-

5
Alluding to the appearance of the French fleet in

the Frith, Lockhart says,
"

It is impossible to describe
the different appearance of people's sentiments; all this

day (23d March) generally speaking, in every person's
face was to be observed an air of jollity and satisfac-

tion, excepting the general (Leven), those concerned
in the government, and such as were deeply dipt in
the revolution. These indeed were in the greatest
terror and confusion. And it was no great wonder
that the Earl of Leven did afterwards, in one of his
letters to the secretaries of state, complain that the
Jacobites were so uppish he durst hardly look them in
the face as they walked in the streets of Edinburgh ;

for uppish they were indeed, expecting soon to have
an occasion of repaying him and his fellow-rebels in
the same coin he and they had treated them for these
twenty years past. But next day advice was sent
from Sir George Byng, that he had come up with and
was then in pursuit of the French fleet, and then it
was that every body was in the greatest pain and
anxiety imaginable ; some fearing it would, and others
that it would not, determine as it did. In this per-
plexity were people when, on the next day, being
Sunday, a great number of tall ships were seen

sailing
up the Frith. This put our general in such a terror
and confusion as can scarcely be well expressed : he
drew up his army in battle array on the sands of
Leith, as if he'd oppose a landing, and in this posture
did he remain for several hours, when at last his fears,
which truly had almost distracted him, vanished by
the landing of a boat, which acquainted him that it
was the English fleet returning from chasinc the
French. For Sir George Byng, after a day's pursuit,
finding the French out-sailed him, tackt about for the
Frith, which was the place he designed chiefly to
guard; besides, he had sailed so unprovided that
most of his ships wanted water and provisions. Here
he lay several weeks, and for the most part the wind
was easterly, so that he could not well have sailed
down the Frith, and the French might, and every
body believed would, have landed in the north or
sailed round and landed in the west

; but instead of
that they went sneakingly home, without doing any
good, but on the contrary much harm, to the kincr
his country, and themselves. "Vol. i. pp. 243 244

tion created a panic in England, was followed

by a run upon the bank, which would have

been obliged to suspend its payments had

not the most extraordinary exertions been made
to support its credit.

The principal friends of the Chevalier de St.

George, and every person of any distinction in

Scotland, suspected of favouring his preten-

sions, were, upon the failure of the expedition,

immediately seized and committed to the

castles of Edinburgh and Stirling, and the

common jails, whence many of them were

transmitted to England, and imprisoned in the

Tower of London, or in Newgate. Among
those who were carried to London, was the

Duke of Hamilton, who, taking advantage of

a quarrel between the Lord-treasurer Godol-

phin and the Whigs, obtained, by offering his

support to the latter in the election of the

Scottish representative peers, not only his own
liberation, but also that of all the other prison-

ers, with the exception of Stirling of Kier,
Seaton of Touch, Stirling of Garden, and other

gentlemen of Stirlingshire, who, on receiving

intelligence that the Chevalier had landed, had
mounted their horses and advanced in a body
towards Edinburgh, to support him. These
last were brought to trial for high treason, as

having appeared in arms against the govern-
ment; but as no proof was brought against
them, they were acquitted.

6 The fact is, that
the queen's advisers, fully aware of the great

danger which the government had escaped,
and the risks to which it was still exposed,
were disposed to act a very lenient part, and
were afraid, under existing circumstances, to

commit themselves by sacrificing any of the
disaffected to a doubtful, and, as it must have

appeared to them, a precarious expediency.
For a time, the idea of a restoration seems

to have been abandoned; but the systematic
attacks made by the High Church party in

England, upon the principles of the revolution,
and the popular excitement raised against the

Whig ministry in consequence of Dr. Sache-
verel's trial, raised anew the expectations of
the Jacobites, which were still farther elevated

by the expulsion of the Whigs from office in

1710, by the intrigues of the Tories. Although

c
Lockhart.
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the queen on opening the new parliament,

which met on the 25th of November, declared

to both houses that she would employ such

persons only as were warmly attached to the

Protestant succession in the House of Hanover;

yet it was generally understood that she was

inclined to favour the pretensions of her brother,

the Chevalier de St. George. As his religion

was, in fact, the only bar in the way of his suc-

cession, she endeavoured, but without success,

to induce him to abandon it.
" You see," she

observed to the Duke of Buckingham, when

speaking of her brother,
" he does not take the

least step to oblige me. I have no reason to

think he values me or my kingdom, therefore

I shall give it to the Elector of Hanover."

On another occasion, when warmly pressed by
the duke, she replied,

" What would you have

me to do? You know, as the law stands, a

Papist cannot inherit the crown, and, therefore,

any will I may make will be to no purpose ;

the law gives all to Hanover
;
and therefore I

had better do that with a good grace which I

cannot help. He may thank himself for it.

He knows I always loved him better than the

Elector." 7 The Tories were by no means

averse to her majesty's views of a successor,

but afraid of a reaction in public opinion in

favour of the Whigs, who were endeavouring
to excite the fears of the nation by raising a

no-popery cry, they not only carefully abstained

from any act which might be considered as

favouring the claims of "the Pretender;" but

even appeared as if hostile to them. Indeed,

so desirous were some of the Tory members of

the House of Commons to settle the crown

upon his head, that they required a mere pro-

fession of Protestantism from him, till he should

be firmly seated on the throne, after which he

might, they said, again resume the exercise

and profession of his religion. But the prince

refused to comply.

In Scotland, however, little reserve was

shown, a remarkable instance of which occurred

in the Faculty of Advocates, which body ac-

cepted from the Duchess 'of Gordon a silver

medal, having" on one side an impression of

the head of the Chevalier de St. George, and

on the reverse a representation of the British

7 Stuart Papers, July, 1712. vol. ii.
]>. 1527.

islands, with the motto,
" Reddite." At the

presentation of this treasonable device, a motion

thanking her grace for her gift was carried,

after a warm debate, by a majority of sixty-

three voices against twelve. Dundas of Arnis-

ton, to whom the task of conveying the vote

was intrusted, thanked her grace for having

presented the Faculty with a medal of their

sovereign, and stated a hope that she would

very soon be enabled to present them with a

second medal struck upon the restoration of

the king and royal family, and the finishing

of usurpation, rebellion, and whiggery. This

proceeding created an extraordinary sensation,

and Sir David Dalrymple, the Lord Advocate,

was directed by the ministry to inquire into

the matter. The Faculty grew alarmed, dis-

claimed the conduct of Dundas and of Home,
another member with whom they alleged the

transaction originated, and by a solemn resolu-

tion declared their attachment to the queen
and the Protestant succession. To satisfy, in

some measure, the court of Hanover, the resi-

dent of which at the British court had pre-

sented a memorial to the queen desiring that

Dundas and his party might be prosecuted, the

Lord Advocate was dismissed from office,

because he had been remiss in bringing the

delinquents to justice ;
but no instructions

were given to his successor to prosecute them.

The remaining years of Queen Anne's reign

were chiefly occupied with party struggles,

which embittered her existence and impaired

her constitution. The Tories disunited among
themselves, split latterly into two factions,

which were respectively headed by Harley,

Earl of Oxford, and Henry St. John, Lord

Viscount Bolingbroke. The Whigs, on the

other hand, united, active and vigorous, pressed

hard upon them, and employed every art to

inflame the people against the authors of their

disgrace. Popery and the Pretender were the

never-ceasing topics with which they endea-

voured to enlist the feelings of the nation in

their favour, and the Duke of Argyle, in a

warm debate which took place in the House of

Peers on a question proposed by the Earl of

Wharton,
" Whether the Protestant succession

was in danger under the present administra-

tion?" offered to prove that the lord-treasurer

had remitted a sum of money annually to the
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Highland Jacobite chiefs. Oxford did not

deny the charge, but defended himself by

saying, that he had only adopted the policy of

King William, who had granted yearly pen-

sions to the heads of the clans, the better to

secure their obedience to the government.

The fate of the Tory ministry was at length

sealed by the removal of Oxford and the death

of the queen, who survived that event only a

few days. Fatigued by a long attendance at a

cabinet council held immediately after the dis-

missal of the lord-treasurer, she was thrown

into a lethargic disorder, which terminated her

existence on the morning of the 1st of August,

1714, in the fiftieth year of her age, and in

the thirteenth of her reign. With the excep-

tion of her dereliction of duty towards her

father, which, from the circumstances in which

she was placed, may admit of considerable

palliation, she left behind her an unblemished

reputation; and though not possessed of much

genius or vigour of mind, she wielded the

sceptre with greater skill than is usually to

be found in sovereigns, who, like her, have

allowed themselves to be controlled by fa-

vourites.

CHAPTER XXIY.

A. D: 17141715.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George I., 1714 1727.

Proceedings of the Whigs Declaration of the Cheva-

lier de St. George Arrival of George I. in England
Conduct of the Earl of Mar Government measures

Intrigues of the Jacobites The Earl of Mar
Leaves England for Scotland The "Hunting
match" The Chevalier de St. George proclaimed

by Mar, who-raises the standard of revolt in Brae-

mar Death of Louis XIV. Manifesto issued by
the Jacobites.

THE dismissal of the Earl of Oxford from the

office of lord-high-treasurer was gratifying to

the Jacobites, whose expectations he had dis-

appointed, and they naturally waited with

anxiety for the appointment of his successor,

whom they confidently imagined would be

Bolingbroke, his rival, who was supposed, on

juster grounds, to favour their views, and to

whom they had transferred their confidence.

But all their hopes were disappointed by the

promotion of the Duke of Shrewsbury to the

treasury, a nobleman distinguished for modesty

and disinterestedness, and a devoted attach-

ment to his country.

To counteract still farther the schemes of

Bolingbroke, all the members of the privy

council in London, or the neighbourhood, had

been invited, on the proposal of Somerset and

Argyle, to attend the council without distinc-

tion of party, in consequence of which Lord

Somers, and many other Whig noblemen,

repaired to Kensington. The presence of such

a number of the Whigs completely overawed

the Tories, who, confused, distracted, and dis-

united, were either unable or afraid to oppose

the measures proposed by the former for effec-

tually securing the Protestant succession, and

gave a tacit acquiescence to them. Every pre-

caution, in short, had been taken to prevent

any movement of the Jacobite party in favour

of the Chevalier, and an express was sent to

the Elector of Hanover, informing him that

the physicians despaired of the queen's life,

and desiring him to repair to England with

all convenient speed.

As soon as the death of the queen was an-

nounced, the lords of the privy council -met,

and drew up and issued a proclamation the

same day, declaring that by the death of Queen

Anne, the imperial crowns of Great Britain,

France, and Ireland, had "solely and right-

fully come to the High and Mighty Prince

George, Elector of Brunswick, Lunenburg," in

consequence of which, the prince was imme-

diately proclaimed in London, by the heralds

at arms, with the usual solemnities, and on

Thursday the 5th of August, the same cere-

mony was repeated at the market cross of

Edinburgh, by the deputy-lord-lyon, king at

arms, in presence of the magistrates and town

council of the city, the judges of the supreme

courts, a considerable number of the nobility,

and a large assemblage of the inhabitants.

The Jacobites preserved a prudent silence on

this occasion, but the supporters of the govern-

ment at Edinburgh took care, notwithstanding,

to provide against any contingency. They,

accordingly, cut off a part of the wooden bridge

before the castle gate, and drew up the re-

maining part to cover the gate itself. They
also threw up an intrenchment between the

gate and the castle wall, on which they posted
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a party of soldiers. In addition to these pre

cautions, Major-general Wightman, the com-

mander of the forces, ordered the different

detachments quartered at Dundee, and other

places, to join his camp in the vicinity ol

Edinburgh, with which order they immediately

complied.
8

Pursuant to an act of the late reign, the

parliament met on the day the queen died.

The first four days were occupied in swearing
in the members, and on the 5th of August, the

parliament was opened by the Lord Chancellor,

in name of the lords justices, on whom the

interim administration of the government had

devolved by an act of the 4th and 5th of

Queen Anne. Both houses thereafter voted

loyal addresses to his majesty, in which, after

congratulating him upon his accession to the

throne, they expressed their anxiety for his

safe and speedy arrival in Great Britain. To

these addresses his majesty returned most

gracious answers, which were reported to both

houses on the 25th of August, on which day
the parliament was prorogued till the 23d of

September.

When the Chevalier de St. George heard of

the death of his sister, Queen Anne, he set off

from his residence in Lorraine, to Paris, to

crave the aid of the King of France, in vindi-

cation of his hereditary rights ;
but Louis

declined to interfere, on the ground that he

had, by the treaty of Utrecht, acknowledged
the Protestant succession. Disappointed in

his application, he retired first to Luneville,

and afterwards to Plornbieres, whence, on the

29th of August, he issued a declaration as

King James III., asserting his indefeasible

right to the crowns of Great Britain and Ire-

land, and solemnly protesting against every

act that had been already done, or that should

thereafter be done to the prejudice of his

hereditary rights. He says, that although he

had been obliged by the treaty to remove from

France, that he had still continued to have his

kingdoms and his people in -view, and that he

had never ceased to hope, that God would in

time open his people's eyes, and convince them

not only of the notorious injustice done to the

8 Kae's History of the late Rebellion. Dumfries,
1718, p. 63.

crown and him, but of the dangerous conse-

quences thereof for themselves
;
and that as he

could not see, without grief and sorrow, their

blood and treasure lavished in the late war, in

opposition to his rights, so he could not now
with less sorrow, see them exposed to be sub-

jected to an arbitrary power, and become a

prey to foreigners that the settlement of the

succession upon one who was so far removed

from the regular line, was opposed to the

maxims of the English constitution that the

Elector of Brunswick was, besides, a foreigner,

a powerful prince, and absolute in his own

country that he was ignorant of the laws,

manners, customs, and language, and supported

by a good many of his own people that there

had been many thousands of aliens domiciled

in England, for the last thirty years, who would

be ready to stand by him upon all occasions

that the subversion of such a sacred and funda-

mental principle as hereditary right, would

lead to endless wars and divisions, and that as

there were many other princes, who had better

pretensions to the crown than the Elector of

Brunswick, the nation could never enjoy any

lasting peace or happiness, till the succession

was again settled
" in the rightful line." 9

Meanwhile, certain movements in Scotland,

among the friends of the Chevalier, indicated

to the government that an insurrection was

intended. Bodies of armed men were seen

marching towards the Highlands, and a party

of Highlanders appeared in arms near Inver-

lochy, which was, however, soon dispersed by
a detachment from the garrison. In this situ-

ation of matters, the lords justices sent down

to Scotland a considerable number of half-pay

officers, chiefly of the Scots regiments, to officer

the militia of the country, under the direction

of Major-general Whitham, then commander-

in-chief in Scotland. These prompt measures

taken by the government, alarmed the Jacob-

ites, who, after several consultations, retired to

heir homes. The Duke of Gordon was, by
order of the justices, confined in the city of

Edinburgh, and the Marquis of Huntly, and

ord Drummond, in their respective residences

of Brahan, and castle Drummond. The last,

on hearing that an order for his seizure had

9 Cullodcn Papers, pp. 30, 31.
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arrived, fled to the Highlands, but offered bail

for his good behaviour. At the same time,

Captain Campbell, of Gleiidarael, who had

obtained a commission from the late Tory

administration, to raise an independent com-

pany in the Highlands, was apprehended at

Inverlochy, and carried prisoner to the capital,

and Sir Donald M'Donald of Slait, was also

seized and committed to the castle of Edin-

burgh.
1 As the lords justices had received

information that the Chevalier intended to

land in the kingdom, they, on the 15th of

September, issued a proclamation, in terms of

an act passed in the last session of parliament,

offering a reward of 100,000 sterling for his

apprehension, should he land or attempt to

land in Great Britain. 2

King George, after vesting the government of

his German dominions in a council, embarked
for England on the 16th of September, and
landed at Greenwich on the 18th, where he
was received by the Duke of Northumber-

land, captain of the life-guards, and by the

lords justices, and a large number of the nobi-

lity and other persons of distinction. Among
those who presented themselves on this occa-

sion was the Earl of Mar, one of the secretaries

of state, but the king had been so prepossessed

against this nobleman, and indeed against all

the heads of the Tory party, that he did not
vouchsafe even to notice, him. The earl sus-

pecting that means had been used to prejudice
his majesty against him, had, in order to take
off any unfavourable impression which these

might have produced upon the king's mind,
written a letter to George when in Holland on
his way to England, congratulating him upon
his accession to the throne, stating the services

which he had rendered to the government, and

assuring his majesty that he should find him
as faithful and dutiful- a subject and servant
as ever any of his family, which had been

always loyal, had been to the crown, or as he
had been to his late mistress, the queen.
With the same view, it is supposed, or to throw
the government off its guard, Mar caused a
letter to be addressed to him by some of the
heads and branches of the Jacobite clans

expressive of their loyalty to King George, and

declaring, that as they had been always ready

to follow his lordship's directions in serving

Queen Anne, they were equally ready to concur

with him in faithfully serving his majesty.
3

But the prejudices of the king against Mar
were too deeply rooted to be overcome, and

within eight days after the king's arrival in

England, Mar was dismissed from office, and

the Duke of Montrose appointed in his stead.

It was very natural for the king to prefer the

Whig party, by whose influence he had been

raised to the throne
;
but unfortunately for the

3 This document, which was signed by the chief
of Maclean, Macdonell of Glengarry, Cameron of

Lochiel, Macdonell of Keppoch, Sir Donald Mac-
donald, Mackintosh of Mackintosh, Mackenzie of Fra-

serdale, M'Leod of Contulick, Grant of Glenmoriston,
Chisholm of Comer, and M'Pherson of Cluny, is as
follows :

"My Lord,
' ' So soon as we heard of the afflicting

news of the death of her late majesty, Queen Anne,
it did exceedingly comfort us, that, after so good and
great a queen, who had the hearts and consulted the
true happiness of all her people, we were to be governed
by his sacred majesty, King George, a prince so

brightly adorned with all royal virtues, that Britain,
under his royal administration, shall still be flourish-

ing at home, and able to hold the balance in the affairs
of Europe.* Allow us, my Lord, to please ourselves
with this agreeable persuasion, that his majesty's royal
and kindly influence shall reach to us, who are the
most remote, as well as to others of his subjects in
this island. We are not ignorant that there are some
people forward to misrepresent us, from particular
private views of their own, and who, to reach their
own ends against us, on all occasions, endeavour to
make us, in the Highlands of Scotland, pass for dis-
affected persons.
"Your lordship has an estate and interest in the

Highlands, and is so well known to bear good-will to
your neighbours, that in order to prevent any ill im-
pressions which malicious and ill-designing people may
at this juncture labour to give of us, we must beg
leave to address your lordship, and entreat you to
assure the government, in our names, and in that of
the rest of the clans, who, by distance of place, could
not be present at the signing of this letter, of our
loyalty to his sacred majesty, King George. And we
do hereby declare to your lordship, that as we were
always ready to follow your directions in servino-
Queen Anne, so we will now be equally forward to
concur with your lordship in faithfully serving Kintc
George. And we entreat your lordship would advise
as how we may best offer our duty to his majesty upon
his coming over to Britain; and on all occasions we
will beg to receive your counsel and direction how we
may be most useful to his royal government." We are, with all truth and respect," &c.

little difficulty in perceiving, by comparing this
nr. un*i-M-A*i l .* Tir ., ~ 4.1. _ i j_i . i ... , ,

1

Rae, p. 77. Gazelle, -25th September, 1711.
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nation, he carried this predilection too far. A
wise and prudent prince would have endea-

voured to conciliate the adverse faction by
acts of kindness, but George turned his back

upon the entire body of the Tories, and threw

himself completely into the arms of the Whigs,
who alone shared in the royal favour, and who

used every art to confirm their own interest,

and extend their connexions. The consequence

was, that a spirit of the most violent discontent

was excited throughout the whole kingdom,
and the populace, led on by the Tories or

Jacobites, raised tumults in different parts of

the kingdom. The Chevalier de St. George

availing himself of this excitement, transmitted

by the French mail copies of the manifesto, or

declaration, which he had issued from Plom-

bieres to the .chief nobility, particularly the

Dukes of Shrewsbury, Marlborough, and Ar-

gyle, who delivered them to the secretaries of

state. The king, imagining that the Duke of

Lorraine was privy to the preparation and trans-

mission of the manifesto, refused an audience

to the Marquis de Lamberti, minister from the

duke
;
but although the duke, on being in-

formed by his minister of the circumstance,

denied most pointedly that he was accessory

to the affair, and declared that the Chevalier

took up his residence in Lorraine by the direc-

tions of the king of France, the king persisted

in refusing an audience to De Lamberti till

his master should remove the Chevalier from

his dominions.

The parliament having been dissolved, the

king, in the month of January, 1715, issued an

extraordinary proclamation, calling a new par-

liament. In this proclamation he complained
of the evil designs of the disaffected, and of

the misrepresentation of his principles and

conduct which had been industriously circu-

lated throughout the kingdom, expressing his

hopes that his loving subjects would send up
to parliament the fittest persons to redress the

present disorders, and to provide for the peace

and happiness of the kingdoms. In order to

secure the interest of those in civil and military

employments in the elections, a proclamation

was issued on the same day, continuing all per-

sons who had been duly invested in their offices,

civil or military, before the demise of the queen,

and who had not been since removed there-

from, for the space of six months from the date

of the proclamation, ttnless his majesty should

see cause to remove them sooner. A Avarmly

contested election followed in England, but

although the Tories made every exertion, and

set up the usual shout of the church in danger, a

cry which was responded to by the populace in

many places, a majority of Whigs was returned.

The Whigs were still more successful in Scot-

land, where a majority of the sixteen peers,

and forty out of forty-five members returned

to the commons, were in the interest of the

government. The principal struggle in Scot-

land was in Inverness-shire, between M'Kenzie

of Preston-hall, who was supported by Glen-

garry and the other Jacobite chiefs, and Forbes

of Culloden, brother of the celebrated President

Forbes, who carried the election by the inter-

est of Brigadier-general Grant, and the friends

of Lord Lovat.

The new parliament assembled on the 19th

of March at Westminster, and was for some

time chiefly occupied in investigating the con-

duct of the late ministers, against some of

whom measures of extreme rigour were resolved

upon. But these proceedings were interrupted

by the necessity of devising means for the

suppression of a growing spirit of discontent

and disaffection, which seemed to gain ground

daily in England, of which an insurrection in

Scotland, and an invasion from abroad, seemed

about to ensue as inevitable results. To put

an end to future rioting, a bill was passed, by
which it was declared, that if any persons, to

the number of twelve, riotously, tumultuously,

and unlawfully assembled, should continue

together for an hour after having been re-

quired to disperse by a justice of peace or other

officer, by proclamation publicly read, and of

which a form was given in the act, they should

be guilty of felony, without benefit of clergy.

When the king attended in the House of

Lords on the 13th of July, to give his assent

to this and other bills, he informed both houses

that a rebellion had actually begun at home,

and that an invasion was threatened from

abroad, and he, therefore, solicited the com-

mons to enable him to provide for the defence

of the kingdom. The preparations of the

Chevalier de St. George for a descent upon

Great Britain were indeed already far advanced.
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Elated by the intelligence which had been

sent him from England by the Tories, of the

disaffection of the people to the government,

and by the promises of support which he had

received from them, should he land in Great

Britain, the prince had applied a second time

for succour to Louis, who, notwithstanding the

treaty of Utrecht, supplied him privately with

money, and allowed a ship to be fitted out for

Mm, at his own expense, in the port of Havre.

The cause of the Chevalier had now been

openly espoused by the Duke of Ormond and

Lord Bolingbroke, both of whom having retired

to France, had been attainted by the British

parliament without a hearing, and were busily

employed corresponding with the Tories of

England. These intrigues and preparations

were early discovered by the Earl of Stair, the

British ambassador at Paris, and communicated

by him to the ministry. Proceeding upon this

information, the parliament suspended the

Habeas Corpus act, and renewed the offer of

one hundred thousand pounds to any person

or persons who should seize the Pretender,

dead or alive. Great naval and military pre-

parations were made, and the trained bands

were kept in readiness to suppress tumults.

As early as May, a report was current

among the Jacobites of Scotland of the Cheva-

lier's design to make a descent, in consequence
of which they began to bestir themselves, by
providing arms, horses, &c. Lockhart of

Carnwath, a very warm partisan of the Cheva-

lier, while "solacing" himself, as he says,

with the expectation of hearing "great and

good news," had his house surrounded by a

strong detachment of Lord Shannon's regi-

ment of foot, which carried him prisoner to

the castle of Edinburgh, by virtue of a warrant
" under the Elector of Hanover's own hand."

The apprehension of Lockhart served as a

signal to the other Jacobites in Scotland,

against whom warrants were issued, all of

whom escaped, with the exception of the Earls

of Home and Wigton, who were taken up, and
also committed prisoners to the castle. 4

Of John Erskine, the llth Earl of Mar, the

chief leader in the ensuing insurrection, it may
be proper to say a few words. Following the

4 Lockhart Papers, vol. i. pp. 485-6.

footsteps of his father, Avho joined the revolu-

tion party, merely because he considered it his

interest so to do, the young earl, on entering

into public life, attached himself to the party

then in power, at the head of which was the

Duke of Queensberry, the leader of the

Scottish Whigs. He took the oaths and his

eat in parliament in September, 1696, was

sworn in a privy councillor the following year,

and was afterwards appointed to the command

of a regiment of foot, and invested with the

order of the Thistle. In 1704, when the

Whigs were superseded by the country party,

the earl, pursuant to the line of conduct he

intended to follow, of making his politics sub-

servient to his interest, immediately paid court

to the new administration, by placing himself

at the head of such of the Duke of Queens-

berry's friends as opposed the Marquis of

Tweeddale and his party. In this situation

he showed so much dexterity, and managed
his opposition with so much art and address,

that he was considered by the Tories as a man
of probity, and well inclined to the exiled

family. Afterwards, when the Whig party

came again into power, he gave them his sup-

port, and became very zealous in promoting all

the measures of the court, particularly the

treaty of union, for which he presented the

draught of an act in parliament, in 1705. To
reward his exertions, he was, after the proro-

gation of the parliament, appointed secretary

of state for Scotland, instead of the Marquis
of Annandale, who was displaced, because he

was suspected of holding a correspondence
with the "

Squadron," who were inclined to

support the succession to the crown without,

rather than with the proposed union. His

lordship was chosen one of the sixteen repre-

sentative peers in 1707, and re-elected at the

general election the following year, and in

1710 and 1713. By the share he had taken

in bringing about the union, Mar had rendered

himself very unpopular in Scotland; but he

endeavoured to regain the favour of his coun-

trymen, by attending a deputation of Scottish

members, consisting of the Duke of Argyle,

himself, Cockburn younger of Ormiston, and
Lockhart of Carnwath, who waited on Queen
Anne in 1712, to inform her of their resolu-

tion to move for a repeal of the union with
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England. When the Earl of Findlater brought
forward a motion for repeal in the House of

Lords, Mar spoke strongly in favour of it, and

pressed the dissolution of the union as the

only means to preserve the peace of the island. 5

He was made a privy-councillor in 1708, and

on the death of the Duke of Queensberry in

1713, the earl was again appointed secretary

of state for Scotland, and thus, for the second

time, enlisted himself under the banners of

Toryism; but an end was put to his political

tergiversation by his abrupt and unceremonious

dismissal from office by George I., and he

vowed revenge.

Though not possessed of shining talents, he

made ample amends for their deficiencies by
artifice and an insinuating and courteous de-

portment, and managed his designs with such

prudence and circumspection as to render it

extremely difficult to ascertain his object when

he desired concealment; by which conduct
" he showed himself," in the opinion of a con-

temporary,
" to be a man of good sense, but

bad morals." 6 The versatility of his politics

was perhaps owing rather to the peculiar cir-

cumstances in which he was placed than to

any innate viciousness of disposition. He was

a Jacobite from principle, but as the fortunes

of his house had been greatly impaired in the

civil war by its attachment to the Stuarts,

and as, upon his entrance into public life, he

found the cause of the exiled family at a low

ebb, he sought to retrieve the losses which his

ancestors had sustained; while, at the same

time, he gratified his ambition, by aspiring to

power, which he could only hope to acquire

by attaching himself to the existing govern-

ment. The loss of a place of 5,000 a-year,

without any chance of ever again enjoying

the sweets of office, was gall and wormwood

to such a man. This disappointment, and

the studied insult he had received from the

king, operating upon a selfish and ambitious

spirit, drove him into open rebellion, with no

other view than the gratification of his revenge.

But whatever were his qualifications in the

cabinet, he was without military experience,

and consequently unfit to command an army,

as the result showed.

5
Lockhart, vol. i. p. 436. Idem.

On the eve of Mar's departure from England
to place himself at the head of the intended

insurrection in Scotland, he resolved to show

himself at court
; and, accordingly, he appeared

in the presence of King George on the 1st of

August, with all the complaisance of a courtier,

and with that affability of demeanour for which

he was so distinguished. What his motives

were for thus needlessly laying himself open
to the charge of studied duplicity by confront-

ing a sovereign whose throne he was about to

attempt to overturn, it is difficult to conjecture.

Was it to solace his offended pride, or to show

the world the hardihood of his determination

to unfurl the standard of revolt, that he had

the cool daring, in presence of the nobles of

the land, to look in the face the man against

whom he had inwardly vowed to wage war 1

Or was his object, in thus appearing as if no

treasonable design could be in his contempla-

tion, intended as a feint to deceive the court

and lull suspicion, so as to enable him the

more effectually to conceal the preparations he

had made for his intended departure 1 All of

these questions might be fairly answered in

the affirmative, as being in perfect conformity

with the earl's character.

Having disguised himself by changing his

usual dress, he embarked at Gravesend on the

2d of August, 1715, on board a vessel bound

for Newcastle, accompanied by Major-general

Hamilton and Colonel Hay, and attended by
two servants. On arriving at Newcastle he

and his party went on board another vessel

bound for the Frith of Forth, the property of

one Spence, and were landed at Elie, a small

port on the Fife coast, near the mouth of the

Frith. During the great civil war, and for

many years thereafter, a landing in Fife in

support of the Stuarts would have been a

dangerous attempt, but the opinions of many
of the Fife people had, of late, undergone a

complete revolution
; and, at the time in ques-

tion, Fife had, as the Jacobites would have

said, many
" honest

"
men, or in other words,

persons who were warmly attached to the

interests of the exiled family. From Elie, Mar

proceeded to Crail, where he was met by Sir

Alexander Erskine, the Lord Lyon, and other

friends of the Jacobite interest, who accom-

panied him to the house of "the Honest Laird,"
SH
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a name by which John Bethune of Balfour,

a stanch Jacobite, was commonly known.

After remaining a few days in Fife, Mar paid

a visit to his brother-in-law, the Earl of Kin-

noul, at his seat of Dupplin in the county of

Perth, whence he departed on Thursday the

18th of August, and crossed the Tay about

two miles below Perth, with 40 horse, on his

way to his seat of Kildrummy, in the Braes of

Mar. On the following day he despatched

letters to the principal Jacobites, inviting them

to attend a grand hunting-match at Braemar,

on the 27th of August. As the government

was on the alert, and watched very narrowly

any unusual assemblages, the Jacobites had

frequently before had recourse to this and

similar expedients to enable them to concert

their measures without exciting the suspicion

of the government.
7

That the earl had matured his plans before

coining to Scotland, and that the Jacobites

were let into the secret of his designs, is evi-

dent from the fact that, as early as the 6th of

August, those in Edinburgh and the neigh-

bourhood were aware of his intention to come

down to Scotland. On the following morning
the Honourable John Dalzel, a captain on half

pay, sent in a resignation of his commission,

that he might join with greater freedom the

standard of the earl. .

Under pretence of attending the hunting-

match, a considerable number of noblemen

and gentlemen arrived at Aboyne, in Aber-

deenshire, about the time appointed. Among
these were the Marquis of Huntly, eldest son

of the Duke of Gordon
;
the Marquis of Tulli-

bardine, eldest son of the Duke of Athole
;
the

Earls of Nithsdale, Marischal, Traquair, Errol,

Southesk, Carnwath, Seaforth, Linlithgow,
mid others; the Viscounts Kilsyth, Kenmure,

Kingston, and Stormont-; Lords Rollo, Duifus,

Drummond, Strathallan, Ogilvie, and Nairne
;

and about twenty-six gentlemen of influence in

the Highlands, among whom were Generals

Hamilton and Gordon, Glengary, Campbell of

Glendaruel, and the lairds of Auchterhouse

and Auldbar. 8

After the meeting had assembled, the earl

fiae, 188. Annuls of King George, year the second.
London, 1717, p. 25.

8
Kae, p. 189. Annals of King George, pp. 15. 16.

proceeded to address his friends in a regular

and well-ordered speech. He began by ex-

pressing his sorrow for having been instru-

mental in forwarding the union of the two

kingdoms. He informed them that his eyes

were now opened, and that he clearly perceived

the error he had committed; that he would

therefore do every thing in his power to make

his countrymen again a free people, and restore

to them their ancient liberties which had been

surrendered into the hands of the English by
the accursed treaty of union. That this treaty,

which had already done so much injury to Scot-

land, was calculated to inflict additional griev-

ances upon it, and that such were the designs

of the English appeared evident by the mea-

sures which had been daily pursued ever since

the Elector of Hanover had ascended the

throne. That this prince regarded neither the

welfare of his people, nor their religion; but

had committed the charge of both entirely to

a set of men who, while they stuck to the Pro-

testant succession, made such alterations in

church and state as they thought fit. That

they had already begun to encroach upon the

liberties of both, on which account he had

resolved to vindicate their rights by placing

the lawful sovereign, James VIII., who had

promised to hear their grievances and redress

their wrongs, upon the throne of his ances-

tors. He then informed them of his deter-

mination to take up arms in behalf of his

lawful king : that he would summon all the

fencible men among his own tenantry, and

with them hazard his life in the cause
;
and he

exhorted all those assembled to follow his

example. To encourage them to do so, he

assured them that there would be a general

rising in England in support of the cause
;

that they would receive powerful assistance

from France, whither the Duke of Ormond
and Lord Bolingbroke had gone to induce

Louis XIV. to aid and assist them with men
and money ;

and that the Duke of Berwick

would certainly land in the West of England
with a large force. That there were thousands

of persons throughout the kingdom who had

solemnly pledged themselves to him, and to

one another, to join him in deposing King
George, and establishing James VIII. on the

throne. He then informed them that he had
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received letters (which he. exhibited) under the

hand of 'James himself, from Lorraine, promis-

ing to come over to Scotland and place his

person under the protection of the valour and

fidelity of his Scottish subjects ;
and that,

in the meantime, ships, provided with arms,

ammunition, and other military stores, would

be sent over from France as soon as a landing

port should be fixed upon. He thereupon pro-

duced, or stated that he had in his possession,

a commission from James, appointing him his

Lieutenant-general, and commander of all the

Jacobite forces in Scotland, and informed the

meeting that he was furnished with money,
and that an arrangement had been made by
which he would be enabled to pay regularly

the troops that should be raised, so that no

gentleman who might join his standard, with

his followers, would be put to any expense,

and the country would be quite relieved from

the burden of supporting the war. After the

earl had finished his harangue, the meeting

unanimously resolved to take up arms in sup-

port of the Chevalier
;
and after taking an

oath of fidelity to the earl as the representative

of James VIII. and to each other, the persons

present took leave of him, and promised to

return immediately to their estates and raise

their men, and to hold themselves in readiness

to join the earl on the first summons. To

enlist the feelings of the people in favour of

the prince, copies of his manifesto, of which

each individual who attended the meeting
obtained a supply from the earl, were industri-

ously circulated throughout the country, and

dropt in the streets of the different towns in

Scotland during night.

The government was not inattentive to the

proceedings of the Jacobites, and measures

were adopted immediately by the Lord Advo-

cate for securing the chiefs. Under the autho-

rity of an act passed on the 30th of August, a

large number of noblemen and gentlemen, of

whom a great proportion belonged to the High-

lands, were summoned by him to appear at

Edinburgh within certain specified periods,

under the pain of a year's imprisonment and

other penalties, to give bail for their allegiance

to the government. Among them was Rob Roy.
The time allowed for the appearance of such

as resided to the south of the river Tay, was

seven days, to those on the north, fifteen, and

to such as might be out of Scotland, sixty days
after the day of citation. Very few of them

however appeared, and the remainder, almost

without exception, rushed at once into the

insurrection.

The confederated chiefs had scarcely all of

them reached their respective homes, when

they were again summoned by Mar to meet

him at Aboyne, on the 3d of September, to

concert measures for appearing immediately in

arms. Some of those who resided only a

short distance from the appointed rendezvous,

attended, and having received instructions to

assemble their men, and to join him without

delay, at Kirkmichael, a village in Braemar,

they returned to their estates, and sent round

the fiery cross to summon their followers to

the field. With 60 followers only, Mar pro-

claimed the Chevalier at Castletown in Brae-

mar, after which he proceeded to Kirkmichael,
where on the 6th of September he raised his

standard, which was consecrated by prayer, in

presence, according to some accounts, of a force

of 2,000 men, mostly consisting of horse. 9

When the standard was in the course of being

erected, the ball on the top of the pole fell oft',

an incident which was regarded by the super-

stitious Highlanders as a bad omen, and which

threw a damp over the proceedings of the day.

On the following day, Mar intimated by a

circular letter to the gentlemen of Perthshire,

his appointment to the chief command of all

King James's forces in Scotland, and he

required them to hold themselves in readiness

to join him with their vassals when called

upon. He also directed them to secure the

arms of such persons as were hostile to the

cause of King James, and desired they would

prevent their men from plundering, or living

at free quarters, upon his Majesty's subjects.
" The King," he observes,

" makes no doubt of

your zeal for his service, especially at this

juncture when his cause is so deeply concerned,

and the relieving of our native country from

oppression and a foreign yoke, too heavy for

us and our posterity to bear, and when now is

the time to endeavour the restoring, not only

our rightful and native king, but also our

' 9 Annals of Id Year of George I., p. 28.
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country to its ancient, free, and independent

constitution under him, whose ancestors have

reigned over us for so many generations."

Two days thereafter the earl published a

high-flown declaration, in which he summons,
" in his Majesty's name and authority," and

"
by the King's special order to me thereunto,"

all faithful and loving subjects to raise their

fencible men with their best arms, and to join

him at the Inver of Mar on the following

Monday,
" in order to proceed in our march to

attend the king's standard with his other

forces. The king intending that his forces

shall be paid from the time of their first setting

out, he expects, as he positively orders, that

they behave themselves civilly, and commit

no plundering or other disorders, upon the

liighest penalties, and his displeasure, which is

expected you'l see observed."

As a contrast to this high-flown and liberty-

sounding document, the following singular let-

ter, written by the earl to his baillie in the

lordship of Kildrummy, on the evening of the

day on which the above declaration was issued,

is curious. It exhibits, in a remarkable point
j

of view, the despotic power which, even down
to such a modern period, a feudal or rather a

Highland chief considered himself entitled to

exercise with impunity over his vassals. Had
such an order been issued by a baron, who had

scarcely ever gone beyond the boundaries of

his own demesnes, it might have been passed
over without remark, as in perfect keeping
with the ideas of a feudal despot; but to see

the refined courtier threatening his own vassals

and tenants Avith destruction, and even exter-

mination, merely because they hesitated to

take up arms in opposition to the government
under which they lived, and under which the

earl himself had served, is indeed very extra-

ordinary :

"
INVERCAULD, Sept. 9, at night, 1715.

"
Jocke, Ye, was in the right not to come

with the hundred men ye sent up to-night,
when I expected four times the number. It

is a pretty thing, when all the Highlands of

Scotland are now rising upon their king and

country's account, as I have accounts from
them since they were with me, and the gentle-
men of our neighbouring lowlands expecting

us down to join them, that my men should be

only refractory. Is not this the thing we are

now about, which they have been wishing

these twenty-six years? And now, when it is

come, and the king and country's cause is at

stake, will they for ever sit still and see all

perish? I have used gentle means too long,

and so I shall be forced to put other orders I

have in execution. I have sent you enclosed

an order for the lordship of Kildrummy, which

you are immediately to intimate to all my vas-

sals : if they give ready obedience, it will make

some amends, and if not ye may tell them

from me, that it will not be in my power to

save them (were I willing) from being treated

as enemies, by those who are ready soon to

join me; and they may depend on it, that I

will be the first to propose, and order their

being so. Particularly, let my own tenants in

Kildrummy know, that if they come not forth

with their best arms, that I will send a party

immediately to burn what they shall miss

taking from them. And they may believe this

not only a threat, but, by all that's sacred, I'll

put it in execution, let my loss be what it will,

that it may be an example to others. You are

to tell the gentlemen that I'll expect them in

their best accoutrements, on horseback, and no

excuse to be accepted of. Go about this with

all diligence, and come yourself and let me
know your having done so. All this is not

only as ye will be answerable to me, but to

your king and country.

Your assured friend and servant,

MAR."
' ' To John Forbes of Inverau,

Bailie of Kildrummy."

While the Jacobite chiefs were collecting

their forces, an event occurred which ought to

have induced them to abandon, at least for a

time, an enterprise signalized by such an un-

toward beginning. This was the death of

Louis XIV., who expired on the 1st of Sep-

tember, after a short illness. An occurrence

more unfortunate to the cause of the Chevalier

could scarcely have happened at such a con-

juncture, as it tended to damp the spirits of

his partisans, who looked upon Louis as the

main prop of the cause. On receipt of this

intelligence, the chiefs held a meeting to con-

sult upon the course they ought to pursue
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under this new aspect of matters. Some of

the more moderate were for returning home,

and remaining quiet till the arrival of the

Chevalier, should he receive any encourage-

ment from the new government of France to

proceed on his intended voyage; but the

majority argued that they had already gone too

far to recede with safety, and that as a general

insurrection would take place in England in

favour of the Chevalier, they should take the

field forthwith. An immediate appeal to arms

having been resolved upon, messengers were

despatched to France to urge the Chevalier to

hasten his departure, and the following notable

manifesto, which had been privately printed at

Edinburgh by Freebairn, one of the king's

printers, was issued at the same time:

" Manifesto by the Noblemen, Gentlemen,

and others, who dutifully appear at this

time in asserting the undoubted rights of

their lawful sovereign, James the Eighth,

by the grace of God, king of Scotland,

England, France, and Ireland, defender

of the faith, &c. ;
and for relieving this,

his ancient kingdom, from the oppressions

and grievances it lies under.
" His majesty's right of blood to the crowns

of these realms is undoubted, and has never

been disputed or arraigned by the least circum-

stance or lawful authority. By the laws of

God, by the ancient constitutions, and by the

positive unrepealed laws of the land, we are

bound to pay his majesty the duty of loyal

subjects. Nothing can absolve us from this

our duty of subjection and obedience. The

laws of God require our allegiance to our

rightful king the laws of the land secure our

religion and other interests; and his majesty

giving up himself to the support of his Protes-

tant subjects, puts the means of securing to us

our concerns, religious and civil, in our own

hands. Our fundamental constitution has

been entirely altered and sunk amidst the

various shocks of unstable faction, while, in

searching out new expedients pretended for

our security, it has produced nothing but daily

disappointments, and has brought us and our

posterity under a precarious dependence upon

foreign councils and interests, and the power
of foreign troops. The late unhappy union

which was brought about by the mistaken

notions of some, and the ruinous and selfish

designs of others, has proved so far from

lessening and healing the differences betwixt

bis majesty's subjects of Scotland and England,
that it has widened and increased them. And
it appears by experience so inconsistent with

the rights, privileges, and interests of us, and

our good neighbours and fellow-subjects of

England, that the continuance of it must

inevitably ruin us, and hurt them
;
nor can

any way be found out to relieve us, and restore

our ancient and independent constitution, but

by the restoring our rightful and natural king,

who has the only undoubted right to reign

over us. Neither can we hope that the party

who chiefly contributed to bring us into bond-

age, will at any time endeavour to work our

relief, since it is known how strenuously they

opposed, in two late instances, the efforts that

were made by all Scotsmen by themselves, and

supported by the best and wisest of the Eng-

lish, towards so desirable an end, as they will

not adventure openly to disown the dissolution

of the union to be. Our substance has been

wasted in the late ruinous wars, and we see an

unavoidable prospect of having wars continued

on us and our posterity so long as the posses-

sion of the crown is not in the right line.

The hereditary rights of the subjects, though
confirmed by conventions and parliaments, are

now treated as of no value or force, and past

services to the crown and royal family are now
looked upon as grounds of suspicion. A packed

up assembly, who call themselves a British

parliament, have, so far as in them lies, inhu-

manely murdered their own and our sovereign,

by promising a good sum of money as the

reward of so execrable a crime. They have

proscribed, by unaccountable and groundless

impeachments and attainders, the worthy patri-

ots of England, for their honourable and suc-

cessful endeavours to restore trade, plenty, and

peace to these nations,
"
They have broken in upon the sacred laws

of both countries by which the liberty of our

persons was secured, and they have empowered
a foreign prince, (who, notwithstanding his

expectations of the crown for fifteen years, is

still unacquainted with our manners, customs,

and language,) to make an absolute conquest
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(if not timely prevented) of the three king-

doms, by investing himself with an unlimited

power, not only of raising unnecessary forces

ut home, but also of calling in foreign troops,

ready to promote his uncontrollable designs.

Nor can we be ever hopeful of its being other-

wise, in the way it is at present, for some

generations to come. And the sad consequen-

ces of these unexampled proceedings have

really been so fatal to great 'numbers of our

kinsmen, friends, and fellow-subjects of both

kingdoms, that they have been constrained to

abandon their country, houses, wives and chil-

dren, to give themselves up prisoners, and

perhaps victims, to be sacrificed to the pleasure

of foreigners, and a few hot-headed men of a

restless faction, whom they employ. Our

troops abroad, notwithstanding their long and

remarkable good services, have been treated,

since the peace, with neglect and contempt,

and particularly in Holland
;
and it is not now

the officers' long service, merit, and blood they

have lost, but money and favour by which

they can obtain justice in their preferments.

So that it is evident the safety of his majesty's

person, and independency of his kingdoms,

call loudly for immediate relief and defence.

"The consideration of these unhappy cir-

cumstances, with the due regard we have to

common justice, the peace and quiet of us and

our posterity, and our duty to his majesty, and

his commands, are the powerful motives which

have engaged us in our present undertaking,

which we are firmly and heartily resolved to

push to the utmost, and stand by one another

to the last extremity, as the only solid and

effectual means for putting an end to so dread-

ful a prospect, as by our present situation we
have before our eyes, and with faithful hearts

true to our rightful king, our country, and our

neighbours, we earnestly beseech and expect,

as his majesty commands, the assistance of all

our true fellow-subjects to second our attempt ;

declaring hereby our sincere intentions that we
will promote and concur in all lawful means

for settling a lasting peace to these lands, under

the auspicious government of our native-born

rightful sovereign, the direction of our own
domestic councils, and the protection of our

native forces and troops. That we will in the

same manner concur and endeavour to have

our laws, liberties, and properties, secured by

the parliaments of both kingdoms; that by

the wisdom of such parliaments we will endea-

vour to have such laws enacted as shall give

absolute security to us, and future ages, for the

Protestant religion, against all efforts of arbi-

trary power, popery, arid all its other enemies.

" Nor have we any reason to be distrustful

of the goodness of God, the truth and purity

of our holy religion, or the known excellency

of his majesty's judgment, as not to hope, that

in due time, good examples and conversation

with our learned divines, will remove those

prejudices, which we know his education in a

Popish country has not riveted in his royal

discerning mind
;
and we are sure, as justice is

a virtue in all religions and professions, so the

doing of it to him will not lessen his good

opinion of ours. That as the king is willing

to give his royal indemnity for all that is past,

so he will cheerfully concur in passing general

acts of oblivion, that our fellow-subjects, who

have been misled, may have a fair opportunity

of living with us in the same friendly manner

that we design to live with them. That we

will use our endeavours for redressing the bad

usage of our troops abroad, and bringing the

troops at home on the same footing and esta-

blishment of pay, as those of England. That

we will sincerely and heartily go into such

measures as shall maintain effectually, and

establish, a right, firm, and lasting union

betwixt his majesty's ancient kingdom of Scot-

land, and our good neighbours and fellow-

subjects of the kingdom of England.
" The peace of these nations being thus set-

tled and we freed from foreign dangers, we will

use our endeavours to have the army reduced

to the usual number of guards and garrisons ;

and will concur in such laws and methods, as

shall relieve us of the heavy taxes and debts

now lying upon us, and at the same time, will

support the public credit in all its parts. And
we hereby faithfully promise and engage that

every officer who joins with us in our king and

country's cause shall not only enjoy the same

post he now does, but shall be advanced and

preferred according to his rank and station and

the number of men he brings off with him to

us. And each foot soldier so joining us shall

have twenty shillings sterling, and each trooper
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or dragoon, who brings horse and accoutre-

ments along with him, 12 sterling gratuity,

besides their pay ;
and in general we shall con-

cur with all our fellow subjects in such measures

as shall make us nourish at home, and be for-

midable abroad, under our rightful sovereign,

and the peaceable harmony of our ancient fun-

damental constitution, undisturbed by a pre-

tender's interests and councils from abroad, or

a restless faction at home. In so honourable,

so good, and just a cause, we do not doubt of

the assistance, direction, and blessing of Al-

mighty God, who has so often succoured the

royal family of Stuarts, and our country from

sinking under oppression."

A document better calculated to arouse the

national feeling could not have been penned.

Every topic which could excite a spirit of dis-

affection against the government then existing

is artfully introduced, and enforced with an

energy of diction and an apparent strength of

reasoning admirably fitted for exciting the spirit

of a people living, as they imagined, in a state

of national degradation. But this manifesto

Avhich, a few years before, would have set the

whole of Scotland in a flame, produced little

or no effect in those quarters where alone it

was necessary to make such an appeal.

CHAPTEE XXV.

A. D. 1715.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George I., 1714 1727.

Measures of the government Attempt to surprise

Edinburgh Castle Duke of Argyle appointed to

the command of the government forces Expedition
of General Gordon into Argyle Proceedings of the

Earl of Mar Insurrection in England Affair at

Keith Rising in the south of Scotland Expedition
of Brigadier Mackintosh Marches to Edinburgh
and occupies Leith Duke of Argyle marches to

Leith Retreat of Mackintosh Joins the forces

under Forster Disputes among the insurgents and
secession of 500 Highlanders Rebels march into

England Battle of Preston.

WHILE the Earl of Mar was thus busily en-

gaged exciting a rebellion in the north, the

government was no less active in making pre-

parations to meet it. Apprehensive of a general I

rising in England, particularly in the west,
j

where a spirit of disaffection had often dis-

played itself, and to which the insurrection in
(

Scotland was, it was believed, intended as a

diversion
;
the government, instead of despatch-

ing troops to Scotland, posted the whole dis-

posable force in the disaffected districts, at

convenient distances, by which disposition,

considerable bodies could be assembled together

to assist each other in case of need. The

wisdom of this plan soon became apparent, as

there can be no doubt, that had an army been

sent into Scotland to suppress the rebellion in

the north, an insurrection would have broken

out in England, which might have been fatal

to the government.
1

To strengthen, however, the military force

in Scotland, the regiments of Forfar, Orrery,

and Hill, were recalled from Ireland. These

arrived at Edinburgh about the 24th of August,

and were soon thereafter despatched along with

other troops to the west, under Major-general

Wightman, for the purpose of securing the

fords of the Forth, and the pass of Stirling.

These troops being upon the reduced establish-

ment, did not exceed 1,600 men, a force inade-

quate for the protection of such an important

post. Orders were, therefore, sent to the Earl

of Stair's regiment of dragoons and two foot

regiments, which lay in the north of England,
to march to the camp in the park of Stirling

with all expedition, and at the same time,

Evans's regiment of dragoons, and Clyton's and

Wightman's regiments of foot were recalled

from Ireland. 2

During the time the camp was forming at

Stirling, the friends of the Chevalier at Edin-

burgh formed the daring project of seizing the

castle of Edinburgh, the possession of which

would have been of vast importance to the

Jacobite cause. Lord Drummond, a Catholic,

was at the head of this party, which consisted

of about 90 gentlemen selected for the purpose,

about one half of whom were Highlanders. In

the event of success, each of the adventurers

was to receive j100 sterling and a commission

in the army. To facilitate their design, they

employed one Arthur, who had formerly been

an ensign in the Scotch guards, to corrupt

some of the soldiers in the garrison, and who

by money and promises of preferment induced

1 A nnals of Id year of George J.
, p. 30.

-
Idem, pp. 36 7.
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a sergeant, a corporal, and two sentinels to

enter into the views of the conspirators. These

engaged to attend at a certain place upon the

wall, on the north, near the Sally-port, in order

to assist the conspirators in their ascent. The

latter had prepared a scaling ladder made of

ropes, capable of holding several men abreast,

and had so contrived it, that it could be drawn

up through means of pulleys, by a small rope

which the soldiers were to fasten behind tho,

wall. Having completed their arrangements,

they fixed on the 9th of September for the

attempt, being the day after the last detach-

ment of the government troops quartered in

Edinburgh Castle in 1715, from the North-East. From an old print.

camp in St. Anne's Yards, near Edinburgh,

had set off for Stirling. But the projectors of

this well-concerted enterprise were doomed to

lament its failure when almost on the eve of

completion.

Arthur, the officer who had bribed the

soldiers, having engaged his brother, a physi-

cian in Edinburgh, in the Jacobite interest,

let him into the secret of the design upon the

castle. Dr. Arthur, who appears to have been

a man of a timorous disposition, grew alarmed

at this intelligence, and so deep had been the

impression made upon his mind while contem-

plating the probable consequences of such a

step, that on the day before the attempt his

spirits became so depressed as to attract the

notice of his wife, who importuned him to

inform her of the cause. He complied, and

his wife, without acquainting him, sent an

anonymous letter to Sir Adam Cockburn of

Ormiston, Lord-Justice-Clerk, acquainting him

with the conspiracy. Cockburn received this

letter at ten o'clock at night, and sent it off

with a letter from himself to Lieutenant-colonel

Stuart, the deputy-governor of the castle, who

received the communication shortly before

eleven. Stuart lost no time in ordering the

officers to double their guards and make dili-

gent rounds
;
but probably supposing that no

attempt would be made that night he went to

bed after issuing these instructions. In the

meantime, the conspirators had assembled at a

tavern preparatory to their attempt, but unfor-

tunately for its success they lingered over their

caps far beyond the time they had fixed upon

for putting their project into execution. In

fact, they did not assemble at the bottom of

the wall till after the deputy-governor had

issued his orders; but ignorant of what had

passed within the castle, they proceeded to tie

the rope, which had been let down by the

soldiers, to the ladder. Unhappily for the
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whole party, the hour for changing the senti-

nels had arrived, and while the traitorous

soldiers were in the act of drawing tip the

ladder, one Lieutenant Lindsay, at the head of

a party of fresh sentinels, came upon them on

his way to the sally-port. The soldiers,

alarmed at the approach of Lindsay's party,

immediately slipt the rope, one of them at the

same time discharging his piece at the assail-

ants to divert suspicion from himself. The

noise which this occurrence produced told the

conspirators that they were discovered, on

Avhich they dispersed. A party of the town-

guard which the Lord Provost, at the request

of the Lord-Justice-Clerk, had sent to patrol

ahout the castle, attracted by the firing, imme-

diately rushed from the West-Port, and re-

paired to the spot, but all the conspirators,

with the exception of four whom they secured,

had escaped. These were one Captain Mac-

lean, an officer Avho had fought under Dundee

at Killiecrankie, whom they found lying on

the ground much injured by a fall from the

ladder or from a precipice; Alexander Ramsay
and George Boswell, writers in Edinburgh;
and one Lesly, who had been in the service of

the same Duchess of Gordon who had dis-

tinguished herself in the affair of the medal.

This party picked up the ladder and a quantity

of muskets and carbines which the conspirators

had thrown away in their flight.
3

Such was the result of an enterprise which

had been matured with great judgment, and

which would probably have succeeded, but for

the trifling circumstance above mentioned.

The capture of such an important fortress as

the castle of Edinburgh, at such a time, would

have been of vast importance to the Jacobites,

inasmuch as it would not only have afforded

them an abundant supply of military stores,

with which it was then well provided, and put
them in possession of a considerable sum of

money, but would also have served as a rallying

point to the disaffected living to the south of

the Forth, who only waited a favourable op-

portunity to declare themselves. Besides giving

them the command of the city, the possession

of the castle by a Jacobite force would have

compelled the commander of the government

3
Patten, pp. 159, 160. Annals of George I., pp.

39, 40. Rae, pp. 199, 200.

I.

forces to withdraw the greater part of his

troops from Stirling, and leave that highly

important post exposed to the northern insur-

gents. Had the attempt succeeded, Lord

Drummond, the contriver of the design, was

to have been made governor of the castle, and

notice of its capture was to have been an-

nounced to some of the Jacobite partisans on

the opposite coast of Fife, by firing three can-

non-shots from its battlements. On hearing

the report of the guns, these men were in-

stantly to have communicated the intelligence

to the Earl of Mar, who was to hasten south

with all his forces.4

As the appointment of a person of rank,

influence, and talent, to the command of the

army, destined to oppose the Earl of Mar, Avas

of great importance, the Duke of Argyle, who
had served with distinction abroad, and who
had formerly acted as commander-in-chief of

the forces in Scotland, was pitched upon as

generalissimo of the army encamped at Stirling.

Having received instructions from his majesty
on the 8th of September, he departed for Scot-

land the following day, accompanied by some

of the Scottish nobility, and other persons of

distinction, and arrived at Edinburgh on the

14th. About the same time, the Earl of

Sutherland, who had offered his services to

raise the clans in the northern Highlands, in

support of the government, was sent down

from London to Leith in a ship of war, with

orders to obtain a supply of arms and ammu-

nition from the governor of the castle of Edin-

burgh. He arrived on the 21st of September,

and after giving instructions for the shipment
of these supplies, departed for the north.

When the Duke of Argyle reached Edin-

burgh, he found that Mar had made consider-

able progress in the insurrection, and that the

regular forces at Stirling were far inferior in

point of numbers to those of the
%
Jacobite com-

mander. He, therefore, on the day he arrived

in the capital, addressed a letter to the magis-

trates of Glasgow, (who, on the first appear-

ance of the insurrection, had offered, in a letter

to Lord Townshend, one of the secretaries of

state, to raise 600 men in support of the

government, at the expense of the city,) re-

4 Annals of Second Year of George I., p. 40.

Patten, p. 160.

3 i
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questing them to send forthwith 500 or 600

men to Stirling, under the command of such

officers as they should think fit to appoint, to

join the forces stationed there. In compliance

with this demand, there were despatched to

Stirling, on the 17th, 18th, and 19th of Sep-

tember, three battalions, amounting to between

600 and 700 men, under the nominal command

of the Lord Provost, who deputed the active

part of his duties to Colonel Blackadder. On

the arrival of the first battalion, the duke ad-

dressed a second letter from Stirling to the

magistrates of Glasgow, thanking them for

their promptitude, and requesting them to send

intimation, with the greatest despatch, to all

the friends of the government in the west, to

assemble all the fencible forces at Glasgow,

and to hold them in readiness to march when

required. In connexion with these instruc-

tions, the duke, at the same time, wrote letters

of a similar import to the magistrates of all the

well affected burghs, and to private individuals

who were known to be favourably disposed.

The most active measures were accordingly

adopted in the south and west by the friends

of the government, and in a short time a suffi-

cient force was raised to keep the disaffected

in these districts in check. 5

Meanwhile the Earl of Mar and his friends

were no less active in preparing for the cam-

paign. Pursuant to an arrangement with the

Jacobite chiefs, General Gordon, an officer of

. great bravery and experience, was despatched

into the Highlands to raise the north-western

clans, with instructions either to join Mar with

such forces as he could collect at the fords of

the Forth, or to march upon Glasgov by Dum-

barton. Having collected a body of between

4,000 and 5,000 men, chiefly Macdonalds,

Macleans, and Camerons, Gordon attempted to

surprise Fort-William, and succeeded so far as

to carry by surprise some of the outworks

sword in hand, in which were a lieutenant,

sergeant, and 25 men; but as the garrison

made a determined resistance, he withdrew his

men, and marched towards Inverary. This

route, it is said, was taken at the suggestion

of Campbell of Glendaruel, who, at the firs

meeting of the Jacobites, "had assured Mar anc

5
l!ae.

nis friends that if the more northern clans

ivmild take Argyleshire in their way to the

outh, their numbers would be greatly increased

by the Macleans, Macdonalds, Macdougalls,

Macneills, and the other Macs of that county,

,ogether with a great number of Campbells, of

he family and followers of the Earl of Bread-

albane, Sir James Campbell of Auchinbreck,

,nd Sir Duncan Campbell of Lochnell; all of

whom, he said, would join in the insurrection,

when they saw the other clans in that country

at hand to protect them against those in the

nterest of the Duke of Argyle.
6

When the Earl of Islay, brother to the

Duke of Argyle, heard of General Gordon's

movements, he assembled about 2,500 men to

prevent a rising of the clans in Argyle, and of

;he disaffected branches of the name of Camp-

bell. On arriving before Inverary, General

ordon found the place protected by entrench-

ments which the earl had thrown up. He did

not venture on an attack, but contented him-

self with encamping at the north-east side of

the town, at nearly the distance of a mile,

where he continued some days without any

hostile attempt being made on either side. It

was evidently contrary to Gordon's plan to

hazard an action, his sole design in entering

Argyleshire being to give an opportunity to

the Jacobite population of that district to join

his standard, which the keeping of such a

large body of men locked up in Inverary

would greatly assist.

During the continuance before Inverary of

the " Black Camp," as General Gordon's party

was denominated by the Campbells, the Earl

of Islay and his men were kept in a state of

continual alarm from the most trifling causes.

On one occasion an amusing incident occurred,

which excited the fears of the Campbells, and

showed how greatly they dreaded an attack.

Some time before this occurrence, a small body
of horse from Kintyre had joined the earl: the

men were quartered in the town, but the horses

were put out to graze on the east side of the

small river that runs past Inverary. The

horses disliking their quarters, took their de-

parture one night in search of better pasture.

6
Rae, p. 223. Life of John, DuTce of Argyle.

London, 1745, pp. 178, 179.
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They sought their way along the shore for the

purpose of crossing the river at the lower end

of the town. The trampling of their hoofs on

the gravel being heard at some distance by the

garrison, the earl's men were thrown into the

utmost consternation, as they had no doubt

that the enemy was advancing to attack them.

As the horses were at full gallop, and advanc-

ing nearer every moment, the noise increasing

as they approached, nothing but terror was to

be seen in every face. With trembling hands

they seized their arms and put themselves in a

defensive posture to repel the attack, but they
were fortunately soon relieved from the panic

they had been thrown into by some of the

horses which had passed the river approaching
without riders; so that " at last," says the nar-

rator of this anecdote,
" the whole was found

only to be a plot among the Kintyre horse to

desert not to the enemy, but to their own coun-

try ;
for 'tis to be supposed the horses, as well as

their owners, were of very loyal principles."
7

Shortly after this event, another occurrence

took place, which terminated not quite so ridi-

culously as the other. One night the sergeant

on duty, when going his rounds at the quarter
of the town opposite to the place where the

clans lay, happened to make some mistake in

the watchword. The sentinel on duty suppos-

ing the sergeant and his party to be enemies,

discharged his piece at them. The earl,

alarmed at the firing, immediately ordered the

drums to beat to arms, and in a short time

the whole of his men were assembled on the

castle-green, where they were drawn up in

battalions in regular order by torch or candle

light, the night being extremely dark. As
soon as they were marshalled, the earl gave
them orders to fire in platoons towards the

quarter whence they supposed the enemy was

approaching, and, accordingly, they . opened a

brisk fire, which was kept up for a considerable

time, by which several of their own sentinels

in returning from their posts were wounded.

Whilst the Campbells were thus employed

upon the castle-green, several gentlemen, some

say general officers, who liked to fight
" under

covert," retired to the square tower or castle

of Tnverary, from the windows of which they

7
Life of John Duke of Argyle, p. 180.

issued their orders. When the earl found that

he had no enemy to contend with, he ordered

his men to cease firing, and to continue all

night under arms. This humorous incident,

however, was attended with good consequences

to the terrified Campbells, as it had the effect

of relieving them from the presence of the

enemy. General Gordon, who had not the

most distant intention of entering the town, on

hearing the close and regular firing from the

garrison, concluded that some forces had

entered the town, to celebrate whose arrival

the firing had taken place, and alarmed for his

own safety, sounded a retreat towards Perth-

shire before day-light.
8

No sooner, however, had the clans left In-

verary, than a detachment of the Earl of Bread-

albane's men, to the number of about 500,

entered the county under the command of

Campbell of Glenlyon. To expel them, the

Earl of Islay sent a select body of about 700

men, in the direction of Lorn, under the com-

mand of Colonel Campbell of Fanab, an old

and experienced officer, who came up with

Glenlyon's detachment at Glenscheluch, a small

village at the end of the lake called Lochnell,

in the mid division of Lorn, about 20 miles

distant from Inverary. Both sides immedi-

ately prepared for battle, and to lighten them-

selves as much as possible, the men threw off

their plaids and other incumbrances. Whilst

both parties were standing gazing on each other

with fury in their looks, waiting for the signal

to commence battle, a parley was proposed, in

consequence of which, a conference was held

by the commanders half-way between the

lines. The result was, that the Breadalbane-

men, to spare the effusion of the Campbell

blood, agreed to lay down their arms on con-

dition of being allowed to march out of the

country without disturbance. These terms

being communicated to both detachments, were

approved of by a loud shout of joy, and

hostages were immediately exchanged on both

sides for the due performance of the articles.

The Earl of Islay, on coming up with the

remainder of his forces, was dissatisfied with

the terms of the capitulation, as he considered

that he had it in his power to 1 cut off Glen-

8
Idem, p. 181.
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lyon's party ;
but he was persuaded to accede

to the articles, which were accordingly honour-

ably observed on both sides. 9

In the meantime, the Earl of Mar had col-

lected a considerable force, with which he

marched, about the middle of September, to

Moulinearn, a small village in Athole, where

he proclaimed the Chevalier. On entering

Athole, he was joined by 500 Athole-men,

under the Marquis of Tullibardine, and by the

party of the Earl of Breadalbane's men, under

Campbell of Glenlyon and Campbell of Glen-

daruel. He was afterwards joined by the old

earl himself, who, although he had, the day

preceding his arrival, procured an affidavit

from a physician in Perth, and the minister

of the parish of Kenmore, of which he was

patron, certifying his total inability, from age,

and a complication of diseases, to comply with

a mandate of the government requiring him to

attend at Edinburgh ; yet, nevertheless, found

himself able enough to take the field in sup-

port of the Chevalier. 1
Having received in-

telligence that the Earl of Rothes, and some

of the gentlemen of Fife, were advancing with

500 of the militia of that county to seize Perth,

he sent Colonel John Hay, brother to the Earl

of Kinnoul, with a detachment of 200 horse, to

take possession of that town
;
he accordingly

entered it on the 14th of September, without

opposition, and there proclaimed the Chevalier.

The provost made indeed a demonstration of

opposition by collecting between 300 and 400

men in the market place ;
but Colonel Hay

having been joined by a party of 150 men
which had been sent into the town a few days
before by the Duke of Athole, the provost

dismissed his men. When the Earl of Rothes,

who was advancing upon Perth with a body of

500 men, heard of its capture, he retired to

Leslie, and sent notice of the event to the

Duke of Argyle. The possession of Perth was

of importance to Mar in a double point of

view, as it not only gave him the command of

the whole of Fife, in addition to the country
north of the Tay, but also inspired his friends

with confidence. 2
Accordingly, the Chevalier

n
Life of the Duke of Argyle, p. 184.

1 Collection of original Letters and Authentic Pcqjers
relating to the Rebellion, 1715, p. 20.

2 Annalt of2d year ofGeorge I., p. 41. Patten p
5155220.

was proclaimed at Aberdeen by the Earl

Marischal ;
at Castle Gordon, by the Marquis of

Huntly ;
at Brechin, by the Earl of Panmure

;

at Montrose, by the Earl of Southesk ;
and at

Dundee, by Graham of Claverhouse, who was

afterwards created Viscount Dundee, by the

Chevalier.

As Mar had no intention of descending into

the Lowlands himself without a considerable

force, he remained several days at Moulinearn

waiting for the clans who had promised to join

him, and in the meantime directed Colonel

Hay, whom, on the 18th of September, he

appointed governor of Perth, to retain posses-

sion of that town at all hazards. He also

directed him to tender to the inhabitants the

oath of allegiance to the Chevalier, and to

expel from the town all persons who refused

to take the oath. After this purgation had

been effected, Governor Hay was ordered to

appoint a free election of magistrates by

poll, to open all letters passing through the

post-office, and to appoint a new post-mas-

ter in whom he could have confidence. To

support Hay in case of an attack, Mar sent

down a party of Robertsons, on the 22d,

under the command of Alexander Robertson

of Strowan, their chief, known as the elector

of Strowan.

At this time, Mar's forces did not probably
exceed 3,000 men, but their number having
been increased to upwards of 5,000 within a

few days thereafter, he marched down upon
Perth, which he entered on the 28th of Sep-

tember, on which day the Honourable James

Murray, second son of the Viscount Stormont,

arrived at Perth with letters from the Cheva-

lier to the earl, giving him assurances of speedy
and powerful succour, and promises from the

Chevalier, as was reported, of appearing per-

sonally in Scotland in a short time. This

gentleman had gone over to France in the

month of April preceding, to meet the Cheva-

lier, who had appointed him principal secretary
for Scotland, and had lately landed at Dover,
whence he had travelled incognito overland to

Edinburgh, where, although well known, he

escaped detection. After spending a few days
in Edinburgh, during which time he attended,
it is said, several private meetings of the friends

of . the Chevalier, he crossed the Frith in an
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open boat at Newhaven, and landed at Burnt-

island, whence he proceeded to Perth. 3

The first operations of the insurgents were

marked by vigour and intrepidity. The seizure

of Perth, though by no means a brilliant affair,

was almost as important as a victory would have

been at such a crisis, and another dashing

exploit which a party of the earl's army per-

formed a few days after his arrival at Perth,

was calculated to make an impression equally

favourable to the Jacobite cause. Before the

Earl of Sutherland took his departure from

Leith for Dunrobin castle, to raise a force in

the north, he arranged with the government
for a supply of arms, ammunition and military

stores, which was to be furnished by the gover-

nor of Edinburgh castle, and sent down to the

north with as little delay as possible. Accord-

ingly, about the end of September, a vessel

belonging to Burntisland was freighted for

that purpose, on board of which were put about

400 stands of arms, and a considerable quantity

of ammunition and military stores. The vessel

anchored in Leith roads, but was prevented

from passing down the Frith by a strong north-

easterly wind, which, continuing to blow very

hard, induced the captain for security's sake to

Aveigh anchor and stand over to Burntisland

roads, on the opposite coast of Fife, under the

protection of the weather shore. The captain

went on shore at Burntisland, to visit his wife

and family who resided in the town, and the

destination of the vessel, and the nature of her

cargo being made known to some persons in

the Jacobite interest, information thereof was

immediately communicated by them to the

Earl of Mar, who at once resolved to send a

detachment to Burntisland to seize the vessel.

Accordingly, he despatched on the evening of

the 2d of October, a party of 400 horse, and

500 foot, from Perth to Burntisland, with

instructions so to order their march as not to

enter the latter place till about midnight. To

draw off the attention of the Duke of Argyle
from this expedition, Mar made a movement

as if he intended to march with all his forces

upon Alva, in the neighbourhood of Stirling,

in consequence of which . Argyle, who had re-

ceived intelligence of Mar's supposed design,

:i Annals of 'Id year of George I., p. 42.

kept his men under arms the whole day in

expectation of an attack. Meanwhile, the

party having reached their destination, the foot

entered Burntisland unperceived, and while

the horse surrounded the town to prevent any

person from carrying the intelligence of their

arrival out of it, the foot seized all the boats in

the harbour and along the shore, to cut off all

communication by sea. About 120 men were,

thereupon, sent off in some boats to board the

ship, which they secured without opposition.

They at first attempted to bring the vessel into

the harbour, but were prevented by the state

of the tide. They, however, lost no time in

discharging her cargo, and having pressed a

number of carts and horses from the neigh-

bourhood into their service, the detachment

set off undisturbed for Perth with their booty,

where they arrived without molestation. Be-

sides the arms and other warlike materials

which they found in the vessel, the detachment

carried off 100 stands of arms from the town,

and between 30 and 40 more which they found

in another ship. Emboldened by the success

of this enterprise, parties of the insurgents

spread themselves over Fife, took possession of

all the towns on the north of the Frith of

Forth, from Burntisland to Fifeness, and pro-

hibited all communication between them and

the opposite coast. The Earl of Rothes, who
was quartered at Leslie, was now obliged, for

fear of being cut off, to retire to Stirling under

the protection of a detachment of horse and

foot, which had been sent from Stirling to

support him, under the command of the Earl

of Forfar, and Colonel Ker. 4

Mar had not yet been joined by any of the

northern clans, nor by those under General

Gordon
;
but on the 5th of October, about 500

of the Mackintoshes arrived under the com-

mand of the Laird of Borlum, better known

by the name of Brigadier Mackintosh, an old

and experienced soldier, who, as uncle of the

chief, had placed himself at the head of that

clan in consequence of his nephew's minority.

This clan had formerly sided with the revolu-

tion party; but, influenced by Borlum, who
was a zealous Jacobite, they Avere among the

first to espouse the cause of the Chevalier, and

4 Annals of George I., pp. 43, 44. Patten, p. 156.

Ilae, p. 234.
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had seized upon Inverness before some of the

other clans had taken the field. On the follow-

ing day the earl was also joined by the Marquis

of Huntly at the head of 500 horse and 2,000

foot, chiefly Gordons ;
and on the 10th by the

Earl Marischal with 300 horse, among whom

Avere many gentlemen, and 500 foot. These

different accessions increased Mar's army to

upwards of 8,000 men.

Mar ought now to have instantly opened

the campaign by advancing upon Stirling, and

attacking the Duke of Argyle, whose forces

did not, at this time, amount to 2,000 men.

In his rear he had nothing to dread, as the

Earl of Seaforth, who was advancing to join

him with a body of 3,000 foot and 600 horse,

had left a division of 2,000 of his men behind

him to keep the Earl of Sutherland, and the

other friends of the government in the northern

Highlands, in check. As the whole of the

towns on the eastern coast from Burntisland

to Inverness were in possession of his detach-

ments, and as there was not a single hostile

party along the whole of that extensive stretch,

no obstacle could have occurred, had he marched

south, to prevent him from obtaining a regular

supply of provisions for his army and such

warlike stores as might reach any of these ports

from France. One French vessel had already

safely landed a supply of arms and ammunition

in a northern port, and another during Mar's

stay at Perth boldly sailed up the Frith of

Forth, in presence of some English ships of

war, and entered the harbour of Burntisland

with a fresh supply. But though personally

brave, Mar was deficient in military genius,

and was altogether devoid of that promptitude
of action by which Montrose and Dundee were

distinguished. Instead, therefore, of attempt-

ing at once to strike a decisive blow at Argyle,
the insurgent general lingered at Perth upwards
of a month. This error, however, might have

been repaired had he not committed a more

fatal one by detaching a considerable part of

his army, including the Macintoshes, who were

the best armed of his forces, at the solicitation

of a few English Jacobites, who, having taken

up arms in the north of England, craved his

support.

About the period of Mar's departure for

Scotland, the government had obtained infor-

mation of a dangerous conspiracy in England

in favour of the Chevalier, in consequence of

which the titular Duke of Powis was com-

mitted to the Tower, and Lords Lansdowne

and Dupplin were arrested, as implicated in

the conspiracy, and a warrant was issued for

the apprehension of the Earl of Jersey. At

the same time, a message from the king was

sent to the house of commons, informing them

that his majesty had given orders for the

apprehension of Sir "William "Wyndham, Mr.

Thomas Forster, junior, member for the county

of Northumberland, and other members of the

lower house, as being engaged in a design to

support an invasion of the kingdom. Sir

William Wyndham was accordingly appre-

hended, and committed to the Tower, but Mr.

Forster having been apprised of the arrival of

a messenger at Durham with the warrant for

his apprehension, avoided him, and joined the

Earl of Derwentwater, a young Catholic no-

bleman, against whom a similar warrant had

been issued. Tired of shifting from place

to place, they convened a meeting of their

friends in Northumberland to consult as to

the course they should pursue; it was resolved

immediately to take up arms in support of

the Chevalier. In pursuance of a resolution

entered into, about 60 horsemen, mostly gentle-

men, and some attendants, met on Thursday
the 6th of October, at a place called Greenrig,

whence, after some consultation, they marched

to Plainfield, a place on the river Coquet,

where they were joined by a few adherents.

From Plainfield they departed for Rothbury,
a small market town, where they took up their

quarters for the night.

Next morning, their numbers still increas-

ing, they advanced to Warkworth, where they
were joined by Lord Widdrington, with 30

horse. Mr. Forster was now appointed to the

command of this.force, not on account of his

military abilities, for he had none, but because

he was a Protestant, and therefore less objec-

tionable to the high-church party than the Earl

of Derwentwater, who, in the absence of a

regularly bred commander, should, on account

of his rank, have been named to the chief

command. On Sunday morning, Mr. Forster

sent Mr. Buxton, a clergyman of Derbyshire,
Avho acted as chaplain to the insurgent party,
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to the parson of Warkworth, with orders to

pray for the Chevalier by name as king, and

to introduce into the Litany the name of Mary,
the queen-mother, and all the dutiful branches

of the royal family, and omit the names of

King George, and the prince and princess.

The minister of the parish wisely declined to

obey these orders, and for his own safety re-

tired to Newcastle. The parishioners, how-

ever, were not deprived of divine service, as

Mr. Buxton, on the refusal of the parson to

officiate as directed, entered the church, and

performed in his stead with considerable effect.
5

On Monday the 10th of October, Mr. Forster

was joined by 40 horse from the Scottish

border, on which day he openly proclaimed

the Chevalier. This small party remained at

"Warkworth till the 14th, when they proceeded

to Aliiwick, where they were joined by many
of their friends, and thence marched to Morpeth.
At Felton bridge they were reinforced by
another party of Scottish horse to the number

of 70, chiefly gentlemen from the border, so

that on entering Morpeth their force amounted

to 300 horse. In the course of his march

Forster had numerous offers of service from

the country people, which, however, he was

obliged to decline from the want of arms; but

he promised to avail himself of them as soon as

he- had provided himself with arms and ammu-

nition, which he expected to find in Newcastle,

whither he intended to proceed.

In connection with these movements,Laxince-

lot Errington, a Newcastle shipmaster, under-

took to surprise Holy Island, which was

guarded by a few soldiers, exchanged weekly
from the garrison of Berwick. In a military

point of view, the possession of such an insig-

nificant post was of little importance, but it

was considered by the Jacobites as useful for

making signals to such French vessels as might

appear oif the Northumberland coast with sup-

plies for the insurgents. Errington, it appears,

was known to the garrison, as he had been in

the habit of visiting the island on business;

5 "Buxton's sermon gave mighty encouragement
to the hearers, being full of exhortations, nourishing
arguments, and cunning insinuations, to be hearty
and zealous in the cause

;
for he was a man of a very

comely personage, and could humour his discourse to

induce his hearers to believe what he preached, having
very good natural parts, and being pretty well read."

Patten, p. 29.

and having arrived off the island on the 10th

of October, he was allowed to enter the port,

no suspicions being entertained of his design.

Pursuant to the plan he had formed for sur-

prising the castle, he invited the greater part

of the garrison to visit his vessel, and having

got them on board, he and the party which

accompanied him left the vessel, and took

possession of the castle without opposition.

Errington endeavoured to apprise his friends

at Warkworth of his success by signals, but

these were not observed, and the place was

retaken the following day by a detachment of

30 men from the garrison of Berwick, and a

party of 50 of the inhabitants of the town,

who, crossing the sands at low water, entered

the island, and carried the fort sword in hand.

Errington, in attempting to escape, received a

shot in the thigh, and being captured, was

carried prisoner to Berwick; whence he had

the good fortune to make his escape in disguise.

The possession of Newcastle, where the Jaco-

bite interest was very powerful, was the first

object of the Northumberland insurgents; but

they were frustrated in their design by the vigi-

lance of the magistrates. Having first secured

all suspected persons, the magistrates walled up
all the gates with stone and lime, except the

Brampton gate, on which they placed two pieces

of cannon. An association of the well-affected

inhabitants was formed for the defence of the

town, and the churchmen and dissenters, laying

aside their antipathies for a time, enrolled

themselves as volunteers. 700 of these were

immediately armed by the magistrates. The

keelmen also, who were chiefly dissenters,

offered to furnish a similar number of men to

defend that town; but their services were not

required, as two successive reinforcements of

regular troops from Yorkshire arrived on the

9th and 12th of October. When the insur-

gents received intelligence of the state of affairs

at Newcastle, they retired to Hexham, having

a few days before sent an express to the Earl

of Mar for a reinforcement of foot.

The news of the rising under Mr. Forster

having been communicated to the Marquis of

Tweeddale, Lord Lieutenant of Haddington-

shire, his lordship called a meeting of his

6
Patten, pp. 31, 32. Annals of George I., pp. 74,

75. Rae, pp. 241, 242.
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deputy lieutenants at Haddington early in

October, and at the same time issued instructions

to them to put the laws in execution against

"papists" and other suspected persons, by

binding them over to keep the peace, and by

seizing their arms and horses in terms of a late

act of parliament. In pursuance of this order,

Mr. Hepburn of Humbie, and Dr. Sinclair of

Hennandston, two of the deputy lieutenants,

resolved to go the morning after the instruc-

tions were issued, to the house of Mr. Hepburn

of Keith, a zealous Jacobite, against whom

they appear to have entertained hostile feel-

ings. Dr. Sinclair accordingly appeared next

morning with a party of armed men at the

place where Hepburn of Humbie had agreed

to meet him; but as the latter did not appear

at the appointed hour, the doctor proceeded

towards Keith with his attendants. On their

way to Keith, Hepburn enjoined his party, in

case of resistance, not to fire till they should

be first fired at by Mr. Hepburn of Keith or

his party; and on arriving near the house he

reiterated these instructions. When the arrival

of Sinclair and his party was announced to

Mr. Hepburn of Keith, the latter at once sus-

pecting the cause, immediately demanded in-

spection of the doctor's orders. Sinclair, there-

upon, sent forward a servant with the Marquis

of Tweeddale's commission, who, finding the

gates shut, offered to show the commission to

Hepburn at the dining-room window. On

being informed of the nature of the commis-

sion, Hepburn signified the utmost contempt
at it, and furiously exclaiming

" God damn the

doctor and the marquis both," disappeared.

The servant thinking that Mr. Hepburn had

retired for a time to consult with his friends

before inspecting the commission, remained

before the inner gate waiting for his return.

But instead of coming back to receive the

commission, Hepburn and his friends immedi-

ately mounted their horses and sallied out,

Hepburn discharging a pistol at the servant,

which wounded him in two places. Old Keith-

then rode up to the doctor, who was standing
near the outer gate, and after firing another

pistol at him, attacked him sword in hand and

wounded him in the head. Sinclair's party,
in terms of their instructions, immediately
returned the fire, and Mr. Hepburn's younger

son was unfortunately killed on the spot.

Hepburn and his party, disconcerted by this

event, instantly galloped off towards the Bor-

ders and joined the Jacobite standard. The

death of young Hepburn, who was the first

person that fell in the insurrection of 1715,

highly incensed the Jacobites, who longed for

an opportunity, which was soon afforded them,

of punishing its author, Dr. Sinclair. 7

Whilst Mr. Forster was thus employed in

Northumberland, the Earl of Kenmure, who

had received a commission from the Earl of

Mar to raise the Jacobites in the south of Scot-

land, was assembling his friends on the Scot-

tish border. Early in October he had held

private meetings with some of them, at which

it had been resolved to make an attempt upon

Dumfries, expecting to surprise it before the

friends of the government there should be

aware of their design ;
but the magistrates got

timely warning. Lord Kenmure first appeared

in arms, at the head of 150 horse, on the

llth of October at Moffat, where he pro-

claimed the Chevalier, on the evening of which

day he was joined by the Earl of Wintoun

and 14 attendants. Next day he proceeded
to Lochmaben, where he also proclaimed

" the

Pretender." Alarmed at his approach, the

magistrates of Dumfries ordered the drums to

beat to arms, and for several days the town

exhibited a scene of activity and military

bustle perfectly ludicrous, when the trifling

force with which it was threatened is con-

sidered. Kenmure advanced within two miles

of the town, but being informed of the pre-

parations which had been made to receive him,
he returned to Lochmaben. He thereupon
marched to Ecclefechan, where he was joined

by Sir Patrick Maxwell of Springkell, with 14

horsemen, and thence to Langholm, and after-

wards to Hawick, where he proclaimed the

Chevalier. On the 17th of October, Kenmure
marched to Jedburgh, with the intention of pro-

ceeding to Kelso, and there also proclaimed the

prince ;
but learning that Kelso was protected

by a party under the command of Sir William

Bennet of Grubbet, he crossed the Border with

the design of forming a junction with Forster. 8

7
Eae, pp. 243245.

8 Eae. Faithful Register of the late Rebellion.

London, 1718.
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We must now direct attention to the mea-

sures taken by the Earl of Mar in compliance

with the request of Mr. Forster and his friends

to send them a body of foot. As Mar had not

resolution to attempt the passage of the Forth,

which, with the forces under his command, he

could have easily effected, he had no other

way of reinforcing the English Jacobites, than

by attempting to transport a part of his army
across the Frith. As there were several Eng-
lish men-of-war in the Frith, the idea of sending

a body of 2,000 men across such an extensive

arm of the sea appeared chimerical
; yet, never-

theless, Mar resolved upon this bold and

hazardous attempt.

To command this adventurous expedition,

the Jacobite general pitched upon Old Borlum,

as Brigadier Mackintosh was familiarly called,

who readily undertook, with the assistance of

the Earl of Panmure, and other able officers,

to perform a task which few men, even of ex-

perience, would have undertaken without a

grudge. For this hazardous service, a picked

body of 2,500 men was selected, consisting of

the whole of the Mackintoshes, and the greater

part of Mar's own regiment, and of the regi-

ments of the Earl of Strathmore, Lord Nairne,

Lord Charles Murray, and Drummond of Logie-

Drummond. To escape the men-of-war, which

were stationed between Leith and Burntisland,

it was arranged that the expedition should

embark at Crail, Pittenweem, and Elie, three

small towns near the mouth of the Frith,

whither the troops were to proceed with the

utmost secrecy and expedition by the most

unfrequented ways through the interior of Fife.

At the same time, to amuse the ships of war,

it was concerted that another small and select

body should openly march across the country
to Burntisland, seize upon the boats in the

harbour, and make preparations as if they
intended to cross the Frith. With remarkable

foresight, Mar gave orders that the expedition

should embark with the flowing of the tide,

that in case of detection, the ships of war

should be obstructed by it in their pursuit

down the Frith.

Accordingly, on the 9th or 10th of October,

both detachments left Perth escorted by a body
of horse under the command of Sir John

Erskine of Alva, the Master of Sinclair, and

Sir James Sharp, grandson of Archbishop

Sharp of St. Andrews
;
and whilst the main

body proceeded in a south-easterly direction,

through the district of Fife bordering upon
the Tay, so as to pass unobserved by the men-

of-war, the other division marched directly

across the country 'to Burntisland, where they

made a feint as if preparing to embark in

presence of the ships of war which then lay at

anchor in Leith Roads. When the commanders

of these vessels observed the motions of the

insurgents, they manned their boats and de-

spatched them across to attack them should

they venture out to sea, and slipping their

cables they stood over with their vessels to the

Fife shore to support their boats. As the

boats and ships approached, the insurgents,

who had already partly embarked, returned on

shore
;
and those on land proceeded to erect a

battery, as if for the purpose of covering the

embarkation. An interchange of shots then

took place without damage on either side, till

night put an end to hostilities. In the mean-

time, Brigadier Mackintosh had arrived at the

different stations fixed for his embarkation, at

the distance of nearly 20 miles from the ships

of war, and was actively engaged in shipping
his men in boats which had been previously

secured for their reception by his friends in

these quarters. The first division crossed the

same night, being Wednesday the 12th of

October, and the second followed next morning.
When almost half across the channel, which,

between the place of embarkation and the

opposite coast, is about 16 or 17 miles broad,

the fleet of boats was descried from the top-

masts of the men-of-war, and the commanders

then perceived, for the first time, the deception

which had been so successfully practised upon
them by the detachment at Burntisland. Un-

fortunately, at the time they made this dis-

covery, both wind and tide were against them
;

but they sent out their boats fully manned,
which succeeded in capturing only two boats

with 40 men, who were carried into Leith, and

committed to jail. As soon as the tide changed,

the men-of-war proceeded down the Frith, in

pursuit, but they came too late, and the whole of

the boats, with the exception of eight, (which

being far behind, took refuge in the Isle of

May, to avoid capture,) reached the opposite
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coast in perfect safety, and disembarked their

men at Gullane, North Berwick, Aberlady, and

places adjacent. The number carried over

amounted to about 1,600. Those who were

driven into the Isle of May, amounting to 200,

after remaining therein a day or two, regained

the Fife coast, and returned to the camp at

Perth. 9

The news of Mackintosh's landing occasioned

a dreadful consternation at Edinburgh, where

the friends of the government, astonished at

the boldness of the enterprise, and the extra-

ordinary success which had attended it, at once

conjectured that the brigadier would march

directly upon the capital, where he had many

friends, and from which he was only 16 miles

distant. As the city was at this time wholly

unprovided with the means of defence, Camp-

bell, the provost, a warm partisan of the govern-

ment, adopted the most active measures for

putting it in a defensive state. The well

affected among the citizens formed themselves

into a body for its defence, under the name of

the Associate Volunteers, and these, with the

city guards and trained bands, had different

posts assigned them, which they guarded with

great care and vigilance. Even the ministers

of the city, to show an example to the lay

citizens, joined the ranks of the armed volun-

teers. The provost, at the same time, sent an

express to the Duke of Argyle, requesting him
to send, without delay, a detachment of regular

troops to support the citizens.

After the brigadier had mustered his men,
he marched to Haddington, in which he took

up his quarters for the night to refresh his

troops, and wait for the remainder of his de-

tachment, which he expected would follow.

According to Mackintosh's instructions, he

should have marched directly for England, to

join the insurgents in' Northumberland, but

having received intelligence of the consterna-

tion which prevailed at Edinburgh, and urged,
it is believed, by pressing solicitations from
some of the Jacobite inhabitants to advance

upon the capital, as well as lured by the eclat

which its capture would confer upon his arms,
and the obvious advantages which would thence

ensue, he marched rapidly towards Edinburgh

9
AnnalaofGe'jrycL, pp. 8991. Patten, pp. 8, 9.

the following morning. He arrived in the

evening of the same day, Friday 1 4th October,

at Jock's Lodge, about a mile from the city,

where, being informed of the measures which

had been taken to defend it, and that the

Duke of Argyle was hourly expected from

Stirling with a reinforcement, he immediately

halted, and called a council of war. After a

short consultation, they resolved, in the mean-

time, to take possession of Leith. Mackintosh,

accordingly, turning off his men to the right,

marched into the town without opposition.

He immediately released from jail the 40 men
who had been taken prisoners by the boats of

the men-of-war, and seized a considerable

quantity of brandy and provisions, which he

found in the custom-house. He then took

possession of and quartered his men in the

citadel which had been built by Oliver Crom-

well. This fort, which was of a square form,

with four demi-bastions, and surrounded by a

large dry ditch, was now in a very dismantled

state, though all the outworks, with the excep-

tion of the gates, were entire. Within the

walls were several houses, built for the conve-

nience of sea-bathing, and which served the

new occupants in lieu of barracks. To supply
the want of gates, Mackintosh formed barri-

cades of beams, planks, and of carts filled with

earth, stone, and other materials, and seizing

six or eight pieces of cannon which he found

in some vessels in the harbour, he planted two

of them at the north end of the drawbridge,
and the remainder upon the ramparts of the

citadel. "Within a few hours, therefore, after

he had entered Leith, Mackintosh was fully

prepared to withstand a siege, should the Duke
of Argyle venture to attack him.

Whilst Mackintosh was in full march upon
the capital from the east, the Duke of Argyle
was advancing upon it with greater rapidity
from the west, at the head of 400 dragoons
and 200 foot, mounted, for the sake of greater

expedition, upon farm-horses. He entered the

city by the west port about ten o'clock at

night, and was joined by the horse militia of

Lothian and the Merse with a good many
volunteers, both horse and foot, who, with the

Marquis of Tweeddale, Lord Belhaven, and

others, had retired into Edinburgh on the ap-

proach of the insurgents. These, with the
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addition of the city guard and volunteers,

increased his force to nearly 1,200 men. With
this body the duke marched down towards

Leith next morning, Saturday, 15th October;

but before he reached the town many of the
" brave gentlemen volunteers,"

l whose enthu-

siasm had cooled while contemplating the pro-

bable consequences of encountering in deadly

strife the determined band to which they were

to be opposed, slunk out of the ranks and re-

tired to their homes. On arriving near the

citadel, Argyle posted the dragoons and foot

on opposite sides, and along with Generals

Evans and Wightman, proceeded to reconnoitre

the fort on the sea side. Thereafter he sent

in a summons to the citadel requiring the

rebels to surrender under the pain of high

treason, and declaring that if they obliged him

to employ cannon to force them, and killed

any of his men in resisting him, he would give

them no quarter. To this message the laird of

Kynnachin, a gentleman of Athole, returned

this resolute answer, that as to surrendering

they did not understand the word, which could

therefore only excite laughter that if his

grace thought he was able to make an assault,

he might try, but he would find that they were

fully prepared to meet it; and as to quarter

they were resolved, in case of attack, neither

to take nor to give any.

This answer was followed by a discharge from

the cannon on the ramparts, which made Argyle
soon perceive the mistake he had committed

in advancing without cannon. Had his force

been equal and even numerically superior to

that of Mackintosh, he could not have ventured

without almost certain destruction, to have

carried the citadel sword in hand, as he found

that before his men could reach the foot of the

wall or the barricaded positions, they would

probably have been exposed to five rounds

from the besieged, which, at a moderate com-

putation, would have cut off one half of his

men. His cavalry, besides, on account of the

nature of the ground, could have been of little

use in an assault; and as, under such circum-

stances, an attack was considered impracticable,

the duke retired to Edinburgh in the evening
to make the necessary preparations for a siege.

1 Rae.

While deliberating on the expediency of mak-

ing an attack, some of the volunteers were very
zealous for it, but on being informed that it

belonged to them as volunteers to lead the

way, they heartily approved of the duke's pro-

posal to defer the attempt till a more season-

able opportunity.
2

Had the Earl of Mar been apprised in due

time of Mackintosh's advance upon Edinburgh,
and of the Duke of Argyle's departure from

Stirling, he would probably have marched

towards the latter place, and might have

crossed the Forth above the bridge of Stirling,

without any very serious opposition from the

small force stationed in the neighbourhood;
but he received the intelligence of the briga-

dier's movement too late to make it available,

had he been inclined; moreover it appears

that he had resolved not to cross the Forth till

joined by General Gordon's detachment. 3

On returning to Edinburgh the Duke of

Argyle gave orders for the removal of some

pieces of cannon from the castle to Leith, with

the intention of making an assault upon the

citadel the following morning with the whole

of his force, including the dragoons, which he

had resolved to dismount for the occasion.

But he was saved the necessity of such a

hazardous attempt, the insurgents evacuating

the place the same night. Old Borlum, seeing

no chance of obtaining possession of Edin-

burgh, and considering that the occupation of

the citadel, even if tenable, was not of suffi-

cient importance to employ such a large body
of men in its defence, had resolved, shortly

after the departure of the duke, to abandon

the place, and to retrace his steps without

delay, and with all the secrecy in his power.

Two hours before his departure, he sent a boat

across the Frith with despatches to the Earl of

Mar, giving him a detail of his proceedings

since his landing, and informing him of his

intention to retire. To deceive the men-of-war

which lay at anchor in the Roads, he caused a

shot to be fired after the boat, which had the

desired effect of making the officers in com-

mand of the ships think the boat had some

friends of the government on board, and thus

"
line, p. 263.

:! Letter to Mr. Forster, 21st October, 1715.
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allowing her to pursue her course without

obstruction.

At nine o'clock at night, every thing being

in readiness, Mackintosh, favoured by the

darkness of the night and low water, left the

citadel secretly, and pursuing his course along

the beach, crossed, without observation, the

small rivulet which runs through the harbour

at low water, and which was then about knee

deep, and passing the point of the pier, pur-

sued his route south-eastward along the sands

of Leith. At his departure, Mackintosh was

obliged to leave about 40 men behind him,

who having made too free with the brandy

which had been found in the custom-house,

were not in a condition to march. These,

with some stragglers who lagged behind, were

afterwards taken prisoners by a detachment of

Argyle's forces, which also captured some bag-

gage and ammunition.

The Highlanders continued their march dur-

ing the night, and arrived at two o'clock on

the morning of Sunday, the 1 6th of October,

at Seaton House, the seat of the Earl of Win-

toun, who had already joined the Viscount

Kenmure. Here, during the day, they were

joined by a small party of their friends, who
had crossed the Frith some time after the

body which marched to Leith had landed, and

who, from having disembarked farther to the

eastward, had not been able to reach their

companions before their departure for the

capital. As soon as the Duke of Argyle heard

of Mackintosh's retreat, and that he had taken

up a position in Seaton House, which was en-

compassed by a very strong and high stone wall,

he resolved to follow and besiege him in his new

quarters. But the duke was prevented from

carrying this design 'into execution by receiv-

ing intelligence that Mar was advancing upon
Stirling with the intention of crossing the

Forth.

Being apprised by the receipt of Mackin-
tosh's despatch from Leith, of the Brigadier's

design to march to the south, Mar had resolved,
with the view principally of

facilitating his

retreat from Leith, to make a movement upon
Stirling, and thereby induce the Duke of Ar-

gyle to return to the camp in the Park with
the troops which he had carried to Edinburgh.
Mar, accordingly, left Perth on Monday the

17th of October, and General "Witham, the

commander of the royalist forces at Stirling in

Argyle's absence, having on the previous day

received notice of Mar's intention, immediately

sent an express to the duke, begging him to

return to Stirling immediately, and bring back

the forces he had taken with him to Edinburgh.

The express reached Edinburgh at an early

hour on Monday morning, and the duke imme-

diately left Edinburgh for Stirling, leaving

behind him only 100 dragoons and 150 foot

under General Wightman. On arriving at

Stirling that night he was informed that Mar

was to be at Dunblane next morning with his

whole army, amounting to nearly 10,000 men. 4

The arrival of his Grace was most oppor-

tune, for Mar had in fact advanced the same

evening, with all his horse, to Dunblane, little

more than six miles from Stirling, and his foot

were only a short way off from the latter place.

Whether Mar would have really attempted the

passage of the Forth but for the intelligence

he received next morning, is very problemat-

ical
;
but having been informed early on Tues-

day of the duke's return, and of the arrival of

Evans's regiment of dragoons from Ireland, he

resolved to return to Perth. In a letter which

he wrote to Mr. Forster from Perth on the

21st of October, after alluding to the informa-

tion he had received, he gives as an additional

reason for this determination, that he had left

Perth before provisions could be got ready for

his army, and that he found all the country

about Stirling, where he meant to pass the

Forth, so entirely exhausted by the enemy that

he could find nothing to subsist upon. Besides,

from a letter he had received from General

Gordon, he found the latter could not possibly

join him that week, and he could not think of

passing the Forth, under the circumstances

detailed, till joined by him. Under these

difficulties, and having accomplished one of

the objects of his march, by withdrawing the

Duke of Argyle from the pursuit of his friends

in Lothian, he had thought fit, he observes, to

inarch back from Dunblane to Auchterarder,
and thence back to Perth, there to wait for

Gordon and the Earl of Seaforth.

Mackintosh, in expectation probably of an

4 Annals of George /., p. 98. Patten, p. 18. Rae,
p. 2t55.
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answer to his despatch from Leith, appeared

to be in no hurry to leave Seaton House, where

his men fared sumptuously upon the best

which the neighbourhood could afford. As

all communication was cut off between him

and the capital by the 100 dragoons which

Argyle had left behind, and a party of 300

gentlemen-volunteers under the command of

the Earl of Rothes, who patrolled in the neigh-

bourhood of Seaton House, Mackintosh was in

complete ignorance of Argyle's departure from

the capital, and of Mar's march. This was

fortunate, as it seems probable that had the

Brigadier been aware of these circumstances,

he would have again advanced upon the capital,

and might have captured it. During the three

days that Mackintosh lay in Seaton House, no

attempt was, of course, made to dislodge him

from his position, but he was subjected to

some petty annoyances by the volunteers and

dragoons, between whom and the Highlanders
some occasional shots were interchanged with-

out damage on either side. Having deviated

from the line of instructions, Mackintosh ap-

pears to have been anxious, before proceeding

south, to receive from Mar such new or addi-

tional directions as a change of circumstances

might require. Mar lost no time in replying

to Borlum's communication, and on Tuesday
the 1 8th of October, Borluin received a despatch

desiring him to march immediately towards

England, and form a junction near the borders

with the English Jacobite forces under Mr.

Forster, and those of the south of Scotland

under Lord Kenmure. On the same day,

Mackintosh received a despatch from Mr.

Forster, requesting him to meet him without

delay at Kelso or Coldstream. 5

To give effect to these instructions, Mackin-

tosh left Seaton House next morning, and pro-

ceeded across the country towards Longform-

acus, which he reached that night. Doctor

Sinclair, the proprietor of Hermandston House,
had incurred the Brigadier's displeasure by his

treatment of the laird of Keith, to revenge
which he threatened to burn Sinclair's mansion

in passing it on his way south, but he was

persuaded not to carry his threat into execu-

tion. He, however, ordered his soldiers to

5
Patten, p. 20.

plunder the house, a mandate which they

obeyed with the utmost alacrity. "When

Major-general Wightman heard of Mackin-

tosh's departure, he marched from Edinburgh
with some dragoons, militia and volunteers,

and took possession of Seaton House. After

demolishing the wall which surrounded it, he

returned to Edinburgh in the evening, carrying

along with him some Highlanders who had

lagged behind or deserted from Mackintosh on

his march. 6

Mackintosh took up his quarters at Long-
formacus during the night, and continued his

march next morning to Dunse, where he ar-

rived during the day and proclaimed the

Chevalier. Here Mackintosh halted two days,

and on the morning of Saturday the 22d of

October, set out on his march to Kelso, the

appointed place of rendezvous, whither the

Northumbrian forces under Forster were march-

ing the same day. Sir William Bennet of

Grubbet and his friends hearing of the ap-

proach of these two bodies, left the town the

preceding night, and, after dismissing their fol-

lowers, retired to Edinburgh. The united

forces of Forster and Kenmure entered Kelso

about one o'clock on Saturday. The High-
landers had not then arrived, but hearing that

they were not far off, the Scottish cavalry, to

mark their respect for the bravery the High-
landers had shown in crossing the Frith,

marched out as far as Ednam bridge to meet

them, and accompanied them into the town

about three o'clock in the afternoon, amidst

the martial sounds of bagpipes. The forces

under Mackintosh now amounted to 1,400 foot

and 600 horse; but a third of the latter con-

sisted of menial servants.

The following day, being Sunday, was en-

tirely devoted by the Jacobites to religious

duties. Patten, the historian of the insurrec-

tion, an episcopal minister and one of their

chaplains, in terms of instructions from Lord

Kenmure, who had the command of the troops

while in Scotland, preached in the morning in

the great church of Kelso, formerly the abbey

of David I., to a mixed congregation of Catho-

lics, Presbyterians and Episcopalians, from

Deuteronomy xxi. 17. "The right of the first-

6
Patten, p. 20. Annals of George /., p. 101.
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born is his." 7 The prayers on this occasion

were read by Mr. Buxton, formerly alluded to.

In the afternoon Mr. William Irvine, an old

Scottish Episcopalian minister, chaplain to the

Earl of Carnwath, read prayers, and delivered

a sermon full of exhortations to his hearers to

be zealous and steady in the cause of the

Chevalier. This discourse, he afterwards told

his colleague, Mr. Patten, he had formerly

preached in the Highlands about twenty-six

years before, in presence of Lord Viscount

Dundee and his army.

Next morning the Highlanders were drawn

up in the church-yard, and thence marched to

the market-cross with colours flying, drums

beating, and bagpipes playing, when the

Chevalier was proclaimed by Seaton of Barnes,

who claimed the vacant title of Earl of Dun-

fermline. After finishing the proclamation,

he read the manifesto quoted in the conclusion

of last chapter, at the end of which the people

with loud acclamations shouted,
" No union !

no malt-tax! no salt-tax!" 8

The insurgents remained three days in

Kelso, chiefly occupied in searching for arms

and plundering the houses of some of the

loyalists in the neighbourhood. They took

possession of some pieces of cannon which had

been brought by Sir "William Bennet from

Hume castle for the defence of the town, and

which had formerly been employed to protect
that ancient stronghold against the attacks of

the English. They also seized some broad-

swords which they found in the church, and a

small quantity of gunpowder. Whilst at

Kelso, Mackintosh seized the public revenue,
as was his uniform custom in every town

through which he passed.

During their stay at Kelso, the insurgents
seem to have come to no determination as to

future operations; but the arrival of General

Carpenter with three regiments of dragoons,
and a regiment of foot, at Wooler, forced them
to resolve upon something decisive. Lord

Kenmure, thereupon, called a council of war

"
All the lords that were Protestants, with a vast

multitude of people, attended : It was very agreeable
to see how decently and reverently the very common
Highlander! behaved, and answered the responses ac-

cording to the Kubrick, to the shame of many that
pretend to more, polite breed: i;^. "_Patten p. 40

8 Patten, p. 49.

to deliberate upon the course to be pursued.

According to the opinions of the principal

officers, there were three ways of proceeding.

The first, which was strongly urged by the

Earl of Wintoun, was to march into the west

of Scotland, to reduce Dumfries and Glasgow,

and thereafter to form a junction with the

western clans, under General Gordon, to open

a communication with the Earl of Mar, and

threaten the Duke of Argyle's rear. The

second was to give battle immediately to

General Carpenter, who had scarcely 1,000

men under him, the greater part of whom con-

sisted of newly-raised levies, who had never

seen any service. This plan was supported by

Mackintosh, who was so intent upon it, that,

sticking his pike in the ground, he declared

that he would not stir, but would wait for

General Carpenter, and fight him, as he was

sure there would be no difficulty in beating

him. The last plan, which was that of the

Northumberland gentlemen, was to march

directly through Cumberland and Westmore-

land into Lancashire, where the Jacobite inter-

est was very powerful, and where they expected
to be joined by great numbers of the people.

Old Borlum was strongly opposed to this view,

and pointed out the risk which they would

run, if met by an opposing force, which they

might calculate upon, while General Carpenter
was left in their rear. He contended, that if

they succeeded in defeating Carpenter, they
would soon be able to fight any other troops,

that if Carpenter should beat them, they had

already advanced far enough, and that they
would be better able, in the event of a reverse,

to shift for themselves in Scotland than in

England.
9

Either of the two first-mentioned plans was
far preferable to the last, even had the troops
been disposed to adopt it

;
but the aversion of

the Highlanders to a campaign in England
was almost insuperable; and nothing could

mark more strongly the fatuity of the North-

umberland Jacobites, than to insist, under

these circumstances, upon marching into Eng-
land. But they pertinaciously adhered to their

opinion, and, by doing so, may be truly said

to have ruined the cause which they had com-

9 Annals of "id year of George I., p. 123. Patten,
pp. 53, 64, 65.
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bined to support. As the comparatively small

body of troops under Argyle was the only force

in Scotland from which the insurgents had any

thing to dread, their whole attention should

have been directed in the first place to that

body, which could not have withstood the

combined attacks of the forces which the

rebels had in the field, amounting to about

16,000 men. The Duke of Argyle must have

been compelled, had the three divisions of the

insurgent army made a simultaneous movement

upon Stirling, to have hazarded a battle, and

the result would very probably have been

disastrous to his arms. Had such an event

occurred, the insurgents would have immedi-

ately become masters of the whole of Scotland,

and would soon have been in a condition to

have carried the war into England with every

hope of success.

Amidst the confusion and perplexity occa-

sioned by these differences of opinion, a sort

of medium course was in the mean time resolved

upon, till the chiefs of the army should recon-

cile their divisions. The plan agreed upon

was, that they should, to avoid an immediate

encounter with General Carpenter, decamp
from Kelso, and proceed along the border in a

south-westerly direction towards Jedburgh :

accordingly, on Thursday the 27th of October,

the insurgents proceeded on their march. The

disagreement which had taken place had cooled

their military fervour, and a feeling of dread,

at the idea of being attacked by Carpenter's

force, soon began to display itself. Twice, on

the march to Jedburgh, were they thrown into

a state of alarm, approaching to terror,
1
by

mistaking a party of their own men for the

troops of General Carpenter.

Instead of advancing upon Jedburgh, as

they supposed Carpenter would have done, the

insurgents ascertained that he had taken a dif-

ferent direction in entering Scotland, and that

from their relative positions, they were con-

siderably in advance of him in the proposed

route into England. The English officers

thereupon again urged their views in council,

and insisted upon them with such earnestness,

that Old Borlum was induced, though with

great reluctance, and not till after very high

1 Rae.

words had been exchanged, to yield. Prepara-

tory to crossing the Borders, they despatched

one Captain Hunter (who, from following the

profession of a horse-stealer on the Borders,

was well acquainted with the neighbouring

country,) across the hills, to provide quarters

for the army in North Tynedale ;
but he had

not proceeded far, when an order was sent after

him countermanding his march, in consequence

of a mutiny among the Highlanders, who re-

fused to march into England. The English

horse, after expostulating with them, threat-

ened to surround and compel them to march
;

but Mackintosh informed them that he would

not allow his men to be so treated, and the

Highlanders themselves despising the threat,

gave them to. understand that they would resist

the attempt.
2

The determination, on the part of the High-

landers, not to march into England, staggered

the English gentlemen ;
but as they saw no

hopes of inducing their northern allies to enter

into their views, they consented to waive their

resolution in the meantime, and by mutual

consent the army left Jedburgh on the 29th of

October for Hawick, about ten miles to the

south-west. While on the march to Hawick,

a fresh mutiny broke out among the Highland-

ers, who, suspecting that the march to England
was still resolved upon, separated themselves

from the rest of the army, and going up to

the top of a rising ground on Hawick moor,

grounded their arms, declaring, at the same time,

that although they were determined not to

march into England, they were ready to fight

the enemy on Scottish ground. Should the

chiefs of the army decline to lead them against

Carpenter's forces, they proposed, agreeably to

the Earl of Wintoun's advice, either to march

through the west of Scotland and join the

clans under General Gordon, by crossing the

Forth above Stirling, or to co-operate with the

Earl of Mar, by falling upon the Duke of

Argyle's rear, while Mar himself should assail

him in front. But the English officers would

listen to none of these propositions, and again

threatened to surround them with the horse

and force them to march. The Highlanders,

exasperated at this menace, cocked their pistols,

2 Annals o/2d year of George I., p. 128.
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and told their imprudent colleagues that if they

were to be made a sacrifice, they would prefer

being destroyed in their own country. By the

interposition of the Earl of Wintoun a recon-

ciliation was effected, and the insurgents re-

sumed their march to Hawick, on the under-

standing that the Highlanders should not be

again required to march into England.
3

The insurgents passed the night at Hawick,

during which the courage of the Highlanders

was put to the test, by the appearance of a

party of horse, which was observed by their

advanced posts, patrolling in front. On the

alarm being given, the Highlanders imme-

diately flew to arms, and forming themselves

in very good order by moonlight, waited with

firmness the expected attack; but the affair

turned out a false alarm, purposely got up, it

is believed, by the English commanders, to

try how the Highlanders would conduct them-

selves, should an enemy appear.
4 Next morn-

ing, being Sunday, the 30th of October, the

rebels marched from Hawick to Langhohn,

about which time General Carpenter entered

Jedburgh. They arrived at Langholm in the

evening, and with the view, it is supposed, of

attacking Dumfries, they sent forward to Eccle-

fechan, during the night, a detachment of 400

horse, under the Earl of Carnwath, for the

purpose of blocking up Dumfries till the foot

should come up. This detachment arrived at

Ecclefechan before day-light, and, after a short

halt, proceeded in the direction of Dumfries
;

but they had not advanced far, when they
were met by an express from some of their

friends at Dumfries, informing them that great

preparations had been made for the defence of

the town. The Earl of Carnwath immediately
forwarded the express to Langholm, and, in

the meantime, halted his men on Blacket

ridge, a moor in the neighbourhood of Eccle-

fechan, till further orders. The express was
met by the main body of the army about two
miles west from Langholm, on its march to

Dumfries.

The intelligence thus conveyed, immediately
created another schism in the army. The

English, who had been prevailed upon, from
the advantages held out to the Jacobite cause

3
Patten, pp. 67, 68. Uno, pp. 271 272

4
Patten, p. 69.

by the capture of such an important post as

Dumfries, to accede to the proposal for attack-

ing it, now resumed their original intention of

marching into England. The Highlanders, on

the other hand, insisted upon marching in-

stantly upon Dumfries, which they alleged

might be easily taken, as there were no regular

forces in it. It was in vain that the advocates

of this plan urged upon the English the advan-

tages to be derived from the possession of a

place so convenient as Dumfries was, for

receiving succours from France and Ireland,

and for keeping up a communication with Eng-

land and their friends in the west of Scotland.

It was to no purpose they were assured, that

there were a great many arms and a good sup-

ply of powder in the town, which they might

secure, and that the Duke of Argyle, whom

they appeared to dread, was in no condition to

injure them, as he had scarcely 2,000 men

under him, and was in daily expectation of

being attacked by the Earl of Mar, whose

forces were then thrice as numerous
;

these

and similar arguments were entirely thrown

away upon men who had already determined

at all hazards to adhere to their resolution of

carrying the war into England. To induce

the Scottish commanders to concur in their

views, they pretended that they had received

letters from their friends in Lancashire invit-

ing them thither, and assuring them that on

their arrival a general insurrection would take

place, and that they would be immediately

joined by 20,000 men, and would have money
and provisions in abundance. The advantages
of a speedy march into England being urged
with extreme earnestness by the English offi-

cers, all their Scottish associates, with the

exception of the Earl of Wintoun, at last con-

sented to try the chances of war on the soil of

England. Even Old Borlum, (who, at the

time the parties were discussing the point in

dispute, was busily engaged at a distance from

the place where the main body had halted,

restraining a party of the Highlanders from

deserting,) yielded to the entreaties of the Eng-
lish officers, and exerted all his influence to

induce his men to follow his example. By the

aid of great promises and money, the greater

part of the Highlanders was prevailed upon
to follow the fortunes of their commander, but
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about 500 of them marched off in a body to

the north. Before they reached Clydesdale,

however, they were almost all made prisoners

by the country people, and lodged in jail.

The Earl of Wintoun, who was quite opposed to

the measure resolved upon, also went off with

his adherents, but being overtaken by a messen-

ger who was despatched after him to remon-

strate with him for abandoning his friends, he

consented to return, and immediately rejoined

the army. When overtaken, he drew up his

horse, and, after a momentary pause, as if

reflecting on the judgment which posterity

would form of his conduct, observed with

chivalrous feeling, that history should not have

to relate of him that he deserted King James's

interest or his country's gcod, but with a deep

presentiment of the danger of the course his

associates were about to pursue, he added,
"
You," addressing the messenger,

" or any
man shall have liberty to cut these (laying

hold of his own ears as he spoke) out of my
head, if we do not all repent it."

The insurgents, after spiking two pieces of

cannon which they had brought from Kelso,

immediately proceeded on their march for Eng-

land, and entered Longtown in Cumberland

the same night, where they were joined by the

detachment which had been sent to Eccle-

fechan the previous night. On the following

day, November 1st, they marched to Bramp-

ton, a small market town in Cumberland,
where they proclaimed the Chevalier, and

levied the excise duties on malt and ale. Mr.

Forster now opened a commission which he

had lately received from the Earl of Mar,

appointing him general of the Jacobite forces

in England. As the men were greatly fatigued

by forced marches, having marched about 100

miles in five successive days, they took up
their quarters at Brampton for the night to

refresh themselves. When General Carpenter
heard that the insurgents had entered England,
he left Jedburgh, and recrossing the hills into

Northumberland, threw himself between them

and Newcastle, the seizure of which, he

erroneously supposed, was the object of their

movement.

Next day the insurgents marched towards

Penrith, on approaching which they received

intelligence that the posse comitatus of Cum-
i.

berland, amounting to nearly 14,000 men.

headed by the sheriff of the county, and

attended by Lord Lonsdale and the Bishop of

Carlisle, had assembled near Penrith on the

line of their march to oppose their advance.

Mr., now General Forster, sent forward a

party to reconnoitre, but he experienced no

trouble from this immense rustic force, which

broke up and dispersed in the utmost confu-

sion on hearing of the approach of the recon-

noitring party. Patten, the historian of the

rebellion, who had formerly been curate of

Penrith, attempted, at the head of a party of

horse, to intercept his superior, the Bishop
of Carlisle, but his lordship escaped. The

insurgents captured some horses and a large

quantity of arms, and also took several pris-

oners, who being soon released, expressed their

gratitude by shouting,
" God save King James

and prosper his merciful army."
5 To impress

the inhabitants of Penrith with a favourable

idea of their strength and discipline, the insur-

gents halted upon a moor in the neighbour-

hood, where they formed themselves in order

of battle, and thereafter entered the town in

regular marching order. The principal inhabi-

tants, from an apprehension of being plun-

dered, showed great attention to them, in

return for which, and the comfortable enter-

tainment which they received, they abstained

from doing any act which could give offence.

They however raised, according to custom, the

excise and other public duties.

Next day the insurgents marched to Ap-

pleby, where, as at Penrith, they proclaimed
the Chevalier and seized the public revenue.

After halting two days at this town, they re-

sumed their march on the 5th of November,
and arrived at Kendal, where they took up
their quarters for the night. Next morning,

being Sunday, they^ after a short march,
reached Kirkby- Lonsdale, where, after pro-

claiming the Chevalier, they went to the

church in the afternoon, where, in absence of

the parson, who had absconded, Mr. Patten

read prayers. This author relates a singular

instance of Jacobite zeal on the part of a gen-
tleman of the name of Guin, or Gwyn, who
entered the churches which lay in the route of

5 Letter about the Occurrences on the way to, and at
Preston, fly an Eye Witness, |>

4.

3 L
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the army, and scratching out the name of

King George from the prayer books, substi-

tuted that of the Chevalier in its stead, in a

manner so closely resembling the print that

the alteration could scarcely be perceived.

The insurgents had now marched through

two populous counties, but they had obtained

the accession of only two gentlemen to their

ranks. They would probably have received

some additions in Cumberland and "Westmore-

land, had not precautions been taken by the

sheriffs of these counties beforehand to secure

the principal Catholics and lodge them in the

castle of Carlisle. Despairing of obtaining any

considerable accession of force, 17 gentlemen

of Teviotdale had left the army at Appleby,

and the Highlanders, who had borne the

fatigues of the march with great fortitude, now

began to manifest signs of impatience at the

disappointment they felt in not being joined

by large bodies of men as they were led to

expect. Their prospects, however, began to

brighten by the arrival of some Lancashire

Catholic gentlemen and their servants at Kirk-

by-Lonsdale, and by the receipt of intelligence

the following day, when on their march to

Lancaster, that the Jacobites of Lancashire

were ready to join them, and that the Chevalier

had been proclaimed at Manchester. 6

The insurgents entered Lancaster without

opposition, and instantly marching to the

market-place, proclaimed the Chevalier by
sound of trumpet, the whole body being drawn

up round the cross. After remaining two days
at Lancaster, where the Highlanders regaled
themselves with claret and brandy found in

the custom-house, they took the road to Pres-

ton on Wednesday the 9th of November, with

the intention of possessing themselves of War-

rington bridge and securing Manchester, as

preliminary to a descent upon Liverpool. The
horse reached Preston at night, two troops of

Stanhope's dragoons and part of a militia regi-

ment under Sir Henry Houghton, which were

quartered in the town, retiring to Wigan on
their approach; but owing to the badness of

the road from a heavy rain which had fallen

during the day, the foot did not arrive till the

following day, when the Chevalier was pro-

6
Patten, r>. 89.

claimed at the cross with the usual formalities.

On the march from Lancaster to Preston, and

after their arrival there, the insurgents were

joined by different parties of gentlemen, chiefly

Catholics, with their tenants and servants, to

the number of about 1,500 in all, by which

additions Forster's army was increased to nearly

4,000 men.

Forster, who had kept a strict watch upon

Carpenter, and of whose movements he received

regular accounts daily, was, however, utterly

ignorant of the proceedings of a more formi-

dable antagonist, who, he was made to under-

stand by his Lancashire friends, was at too

great a distance to prove dangerous. This was

General Wills, who had the command in

Cheshire, and who was now busily employed
in concentrating his forces for the purpose of

attacking the rebels. Unfortunately for them,

the government had been induced, by the

tumults and violences of the high-church party

in the west of England during the preceding

year, to quarter bodies of troops in the dis-

affected districts, which being disposed at

Shrewsbury, Chester, Birmingham, Stafford,

Wolverhampton, Manchester, and other adja-

cent places, could be easily assembled together

on a short notice. On information being com-

municated to the government of the invasion

of England, General Wills had been directed

to collect all the forces he could, and to march

upon Warrington bridge and Preston, to pre-

vent the advance of the insurgents upon Man-

chester.

General Wills had, accordingly, made great

exertions to fulfil, without delay, the instruc-

tions he had received, and hearing that General

Carpenter was at Durham, had sent an express

to him to march westward; but he Avas unable

to save Preston. When the insurgents entered

this town, Wills was at Manchester, waiting
for the arrival of two regiments of foot and a

regiment of dragoons, which were within a few

days' march of him
;
but alarmed lest by delay

ing his march the rebels might make them-

selves masters of Warrington bridge and Man-

chester, by the possession of which they would

increase their force and secure many other

advantages, he resolved instantly to march

upon Preston with such troops as he had. He
left Manchester, accordingly, on Friday the
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llth of November, for Wigan, with four regi-

ments of dragoons, one of horse, and Preston's

regiment of foot, formerly known as the Camer-

onian regiment. He arrived at Wigan in the

evening, where he met Stanhope's dragoons
and Houghton's militia, who had retired from

Preston on the evening of the 9th. In the

meantime, the inhabitants of Liverpool antici-

pating a visit from the insurgents, were actively

employed in preparations for its defence.

Within three days they threw up a breastwork

round that part of the town approachable from

the land side, on which they mounted 70 pieces

of cannon, and, to prevent the ships in the

harbour from falling into the hands of the

enemy, they anchored them in the offing.

It was the intention of Forster to have left

Preston on the morning of Saturday the 1 2th
;

but the unexpected arrival of Wills at Wigan,
of which he received intelligence on the pre-

ceding night, made him alter his design. For-

ster had been so elated by the addition which

his forces had received at Preston, that he

affected to believe that Wills would never

venture to face him
;
but old Mackintosh ad-

vised him not to be too confident, as they

might soon find it necessary to defend them-

selves. Observing from a window where they

stood, a party of the new recruits passing by,

the veteran warrior thus contemptuously ad-

dressed the inexperienced general,
" Look ye

there, Forster, are yon fellows the men ye

intend to fight Wills with. Good faith, Sir,

an' ye had ten thousand of them, I'd fight them

all with a thousand of his dragoons." In fact,

a more uncouth and unsoldier-like body had

never before appeared in the field, than these

Lancashire rustics
;
some with rusty swords

without muskets, others with muskets without

swords, some with fowling-pieces, others with

pitchforks, while others were wholly unpro-

vided with weapons of any sort. 7 Forster

now altered his tone
;
and if the report of a

writer, who says he was an eye-witness, be

true, the news of Wills's advance quite un-

nerved him. Undetermined how to act, he

sent the letter conveying the intelligence to

Lord Kenmure, and retired to rest. His lord-

ship, with a few of his officers, repaired to

7 Annals of '2d Year of George I., p. 136.

Forster's lodgings to consult him, and, to their

surprise, found him in bed, though the night

was not far advanced. The council, after some

deliberation, resolved to send out a party of

horse towards Wigan, to watch the motions of

the enemy, to secure the pass into the town by
Pdbble bridge, and to prepare the army for

battle. 8

About day-break of the 1 2th, General Wills

commenced his march from Wigan, and as

soon as it was known that he was advancing

upon Preston, a select body of 100 well-armed

Highlanders, under the command of Farquhar-
son of Invercauld, was posted at .Kibble bridge,

and Forster himself at the head of a party of

horse, crossed the bridge, and advanced to re-

connoitre.

The approach to Eibble bridge, which is

about half a mile from Preston, is by a deep

path between two high banks, and so narrow

in some places that scarcely two men can ride

abreast. Here it was that Cromwell, in an

action with the royalists, was nearly killed by
a large fragment of a rock thrown from above,

and only escaped by forcing his horse into a

quicksand. The possession, therefore, of this

pass, was of the utmost importance to the

insurgents, as Wills was not in a condition to

have forced it, being wholly unprovided with

cannon. Nor could he have been more suc-

cessful in any attempt to pass the river, which

was fordable only at a considerable distance

above and below the bridge, and might have

been rendered impassable in different ways.

But the Jacobite general was grossly ignorant

of every thing appertaining to the art of war,

and in an evil hour ordered the party at the

bridge to abandon it, and retire into the town.

General Wills arrived opposite Ribble bridge

about one o'clock in the afternoon, and was

surprised to find it undefended. Suspecting

an ambuscade, he advanced through the way

leading to the bridge with great caution, and

having cleared the bridge, marched towards

the town. He, at first, supposed that the in-

surgents had abandoned the town with the

intention of returning to Scotland ;
but he soon

ascertained that they still maintained their

ground, and were resolved to meet him. Halt-

8
Letter, <<., by an eye-witness, p. C.
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ing, therefore, his men upon a small rising

ground near the town, he rode forward with a

strong party of horse to take a survey of the

position of the insurgents.

During the morning they had been busily

employed in raising barricades in the principal

streets, and making other preparations for a

vigorous defence. The Earl of Derwentwater

displayed extraordinary activity and zeal on

this occasion. He distributed money among

the troops, exhorted them to stand firm to

their posts, and set them an example by throw-

ing off his coat, and assisting them in raising

intrenchments. There were four main barriers

erected across the leading streets near the centre

of the town, at each of which, with one excep-

tion, were planted two pieces of cannon, which

had been carried by the insurgents from Lan-

caster, and beyond these barriers, towards the

extremities of the town, others were raised of

an inferior description. Behind the barricades

bodies of men were posted, as well as in the

houses outside the barricades, particularly in

those which commanded the entrances into the

principal streets. Certainly after the abandon-

ment of Kibble bridge, a more judicious plan

of defence could not have been devised by the

ablest tactician for meeting the coming exi-

gency ;
but unfortunately for the insurgents,

the future conduct of their leaders did not cor-

respond with these skilful dispositions.

One of the main barriers was a little below

the church, and was commanded by Brigadier

Mackintosh, the task of supporting whom was

devolved upon the gentlemen volunteers, who
were drawn up in the churchyard under the

command of Viscount Kenmure and the Earls

of Derwentwater, Nithsdale, and Wintoun.

A body of Highlanders, under Lord Charles

Murray, third son of the Duke of Athole, was

posted at another barrier at the end of a lane

leading to the fields. Colonel Mackintosh, at

the head of the Mackintoshes, was posted at a

third barricade called the Windmill barrier,

from its adjoining such a structure on the road

lo Lancaster. At the remaining barrier, which
was in the street leading to the Liverpool road,
were placed some of the gentlemen volunteers,
and a part of the Earl of Strathmore's regi-
ment under the command of Major Miller and
Mr. Douglas.

"When the government general had made

himself acquainted with the plan of defence

adopted by the insurgents, he returned to his

main body, and made preparations for an im-

mediate attack. As he had not sufficient forces

to make a simultaneous assault upon all the

barriers, he resolved to confine himself at first

to two only, those commanded by Old Borlum

and Colonel Mackintosh, in the streets leading

to Wigan and Lancaster respectively, at both

ends of the town. For this purpose he divided

his troops into three bodies
;

the first con-

sisted of Preston's regiment of foot, and 250

dismounted dragoons taken in equal propor-

tions from the five dragoon regiments. This

division was commanded by Brigadier Honey-

wood, and was supported by his own regiment

of dragoons. The second body consisted of

the regiments of "Wynn and Dormer, and a

squadron of Stanhope's regiment, all of which

were dismounted ;
the last division, consist-

ing of Pitt's horse and the remainder of Stan-

hope's regiment, was kept as a reserve for

supporting the other divisions as occasion

should require, and to prevent the insurgents

from escaping over the Ribble.

The action was begun by the division of

Honeywood, which, after driving a party of

the insurgents from a small barricade at the

extremity of one of the leading streets, entered

the town, and attacked the barrier near the

church, defended by Brigadier Mackintosh:

but Honeywood's men were unable to make

any impression, and after sustaining a galling

and destructive fire from the barrier and from

the houses on both sides of the street, they

were forced to retreat from the street with con-

siderable loss. Some of the officers of Preston's

regiment being informed whilst engaged in the

street, that the street leading to Wigan was

not barricaded, and that the houses on that

side were not possessed by the insurgents,

Lord Forrester, the lieutenant-colonel, resolved,

after Honeywood's division had failed to estab-

lish itself in the neighbourhood of the church,

to attempt an entrance in that direction. He

accordingly drew off his men by a narrow back

passage or lane which led into the street in the

direction of Wigan, and ordering them to halt

till he should personally survey the position of

the insurgents, this intrepid officer deliberately
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rode into the street with his drawn sword in his

hand, and amidst a shower of bullets, coolly

examined the barrier, and returned to his

troops. He then sallied into the street at the

head of his men, and whilst with one party

he attacked the barrier, another under his

direction crossed the street, and took possession

of a very high house belonging to Sir Henry

Houghton, which overlooked the whole town.

In this enterprise many of the assailants fell

by the fire of the insurgents who were posted

in the adjoining houses. At the same time,

Forrester's men possessed themselves of ano-

ther house opposite, which was unoccupied by
the insurgents. The possession of these houses

was of immense advantage to the government

troops, as it was from the firing kept up from

them that the insurgents chiefly suffered. A
party of 50 Highlanders, under Captain Innes,

had been posted in Houghton's house, and

another body in the opposite one
;
but Briga-

dier Mackintosh had unfortunately withdrawn

both parties, contrary to their own wishes, to

less important stations.

Forrester's men maintained the struggle with

great bravery, but were unsuccessful in every

attempt to force the barrier. As the insur-

gents, from their position in the houses and

behind the barricade, were enabled to take

deliberate aim, many of their shots took deadly

effect, and the gallant Lord Forrester received

several wounds
;
but although Preston's foot

kept up a smart fire, they did little execution

among the insurgents, who were protected by
the barricade and the houses. Captain Peter

Farquharson was the only Jacobite officer who
fell in this attack. He received a shot in the

leg, and being taken to the White Bull inn,

where the wounded were carried, he called for

a glass of brandy, and thus addressed his com-

rades :

" Come lads, here is our master's health
;

though I can do no more, I wish you good
success." Amputation being deemed neces-

sary, this brave man expired, almost immedi-

ately, from the unskilfulness of the operator.

Whilst this struggle was going on near the

church, a contest equally warm was raging in

another quarter of the town between Dormer's

division and the party under Lord Charles

Murray. In approaching the barrier com-

manded by this young nobleman, Dormer's

men were exposed to a well-directed and mur-

derous fire from the houses, yet, though newly-
raised troops, they stood firm, and reached the

barricade, from which, however, they were

vigorously repulsed. Lord Charles Murray
conducted himself with great bravery in repel-

ling this attack, and anticipating a second

attempt upon the barrier, he obtained a rein-

forcement of 50 gentlemen volunteers from

the churchyard. Dormer's troops returned to

the assault, but although they displayed great

courage and resolution, they were again beaten

back with loss. An attack made on the Wind-

mill barricade, which was defended by Colonel

Mackintosh, was equally unsuccessful.

Thus repulsed in all their attacks, and as in

their approaches to the barriers the government

troops had been incessantly exposed to a regu-

lar and well-directed fire from the houses,

General Wills issued orders to set the houses

at both ends of the town on fire, for the pur-

pose of dislodging the insurgents from such

annoying positions, and cooping them up in

the centre of the town. Many houses and

barns were in consequence consumed, including

almost the entire range of houses as far as

Lord Charles Murray's barrier. As the assail-

ants advanced under cover of the smoke of the

conflagration, many of the insurgents, in at-

tempting to escape from the flames, were cut

down on the spot. The rebels in their turn

attempted to dislodge the government troops

from the houses of which they had obtained

possession, by setting them on fire. Fortu-

nately there was no wind at the time, otherwise

the whole town would have been reduced to

ashes.

Night came on, yet an irregular platooning

was, notwithstanding, kept up till next day

by both parties. To distinguish the houses

possessed by the government forces, General

Wills ordered them to be illuminated, a cir-

cumstance which gave the besieged a decided

advantage, as the light from the windows

enabled them to direct their fire with better

effect. Wills soon perceived the error he had

committed, and sent persons round to order

the lights to be extinguished, which order

being promulgated aloud in the streets, was so

strangely misunderstood by those Avithin, that,

to the amusement of both parties, they set up
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additional lights. During the night a consider-

able number of the insurgents left the town.

Before day-break, General Wills visited the

different posts, and gave directions for opening

a communication between both divisions of the

army to support each other, should necessity

require. During the morning, which was that

of Sunday the 13th of November, he was

occupied in making arrangements for renewing

the attack. Meantime General Carpenter ar-

rived about ten o'clock with Churchill's and

Molesworth's dragoons, accompanied by the

Earl of Carlisle, Lord Lumley, and others.

This event was as exhilarating to the royalists

as it was disheartening to the besieged, who,

notwithstanding the defection of their more

timorous associates during the preceding night,

were, before the accession of Carpenter, fully a

match for their assailants. Wills, after ex-

plaining to Carpenter the state of matters, and

the dispositions he had made, offered to resign

the command to him, as his superior officer;

but being satisfied with Wills's conduct, Car-

penter declined to accept it, remarking, that as

he had begun the affair so well, he ought to

have the glory of finishing it. On examining
matters himself, however, Carpenter found that

the town was not sufficiently invested, parti-

cularly at the end of Fishergate street, which

led to a meadow by which the insurgents could

easily have escaped. He therefore posted

Pitt's horse along the meadow, and lest the

whole body of the besieged should attempt to

force a retreat that way, he caused a communi-

cation to be opened through the enclosures on

that side, that the other divisions of the army

might the more readily hasten thither to inter-

cept them.

Thus invested on all sides, and pent up
within a narrow compass by the gradual en-

croachments of the royalists, the Jacobite gen-
eral grew alarmed, and began to think of a

surrender. The Highlanders were fully aware

of their critical situation, but the idea of sur-

rendering had never once entered their minds,
and they had been restrained only by the most

urgent entreaties from sallying out upon the

royalists, and cutting their way through their

ranks, or dying, as they remarked, like men of

honour, with their swords in their hands.

Neither Forster nor any other officer durst,

therefore, venture to make such a proposal to

them, and Patten asserts, that had they known

that Colonel Oxburgh had been sent on tho

mission he undertook, he would have never

seen Tyburn, but would have been shot by
common consent before he had passed the

barrier. This gentleman, who had great influ-

ence over Forster (and who, in the opinion of

the last-named author, was better calculated,

from the strictness with which he performed

his religious duties, to be a priest than a field

officer), in conjunction with Lord Widdrington

and others, .prevailed upon him to make an

offer of capitulation, thinking that they would

obtain favourable terms from the government

general. This resolution was adopted without

the knowledge of the rest of the officers, and

Oxburgh, who had volunteered to negotiate,

went off about two o'clock in the afternoon to

Wills's head-quarters. To prevent suspicion

of his real errand, the soldiers were informed

that General Wills had sent to offer them

honourable terms, if they would lay down

their arms.

The reception of Oxburgh by General Wills

was very different from what he and his friends

had anticipated. Wills, in fact, absolutely re-

fused to hear of any terms, and upon Oxburgh

making an offer that the insurgents should lay

down their arms, provided he would recom-

mend them to the mercy of the king, he in-

formed him that he would not treat with

rebels, who had killed several of his Majesty's

subjects, and who consequently must expect to

undergo the same fate. The colonel, there-

upon, with great earnestness, begged the gen-

eral, as an officer and a man of honour, to

show mercy to people who were willing to

submit. The royalist commander, somewhat

softened, replied, that all he would promise

was, that if the insurgents would lay down

their arms and surrender themselves prisoners

at discretion, he would prevent the soldiers

from cutting them to pieces till further orders
;

and that he would allow them an hour for the

consideration of his offer. The result of this

interview was immediately reported by Ox-

burgh to his friends, but nothing had transpired

to throw any light upon their deliberations.

Before the hour had elapsed, Mr. Dalzell,

brother of the Earl of Carnwath, appeared at
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Wills's head quarters, and requested to know
what terms he would grant separately to the

Scots; Wills answered that he would not treat

with rebels, nor grant any other terms than

those already offered.

To bring matters to an immediate issue,

General Wills sent Colonel Cotton into the

town about three o'clock in the afternoon, to

require an immediate answer to Wills's pro-

posal. He was told, however, that differences

existed between the English and Scottish offi-

cers upon the subject, but they requested that

the general Avould allow them till seven o'clock

next morning to settle their differences, and to

consult upon the best method of delivering

themselves up. This proposal being reported
to Wills, he agreed to grant the Jacobite com-

manders the time required, provided they
would bind themselves to throw up no new
entrenchments in the streets, nor allow any of

their men to escape; for the performance of

which stipulations he required the delivery of

approved hostages. Cotton having returned

to the town, the Earl of Derwentwater and

Brigadier Mackintosh were pitched upon as

hostages for the observance of these stipula-

tions, and sent to the royalist head-quarters.

As soon as the Highlanders perceived that a

capitulation was resolved upon, their fury knew
no bounds. They declared that sooner than

surrender, they would die fighting, and that

when they could no longer defend their posts,

they would attempt to cut their way through
their assailants, and make a retreat. During
the night they paraded the streets, threatening
destruction to every person who should even

allude to a surrender. During these disturb-

ances, several persons were killed, and many
wounded, and Mr. Forster, who was openly
denounced as the originator of the capitula-

tion, would certainly have been cut to pieces

by the infuriated soldiers, had he appeared in

the streets. He made a narrow escape even in

his own chamber, a gentleman of the name of

Murray having fired a pistol at him, the ball

from which would have taken effect had not

Mr. Patten, the Jacobite chaplain, struck up
the pistol with his hand, and thus diverted the

course of the bullet.

At seven o'clock next morning, Forster noti-

fied to General Wills that the insurgents were

willing to surrender at discretion as he had

required. Old Borlum being present when

this message was delivered, observed that he

would not be answerable for the Scots surren-

dering without terms, as they were people of

desperate fortunes; and that he who had been

a soldier himself, knew what it was to be a

prisoner at discretion. "Go back to your

people again," answered Wills,
" and I will

attack the town, and the consequence will be

I will not spare one man of you." After this

challenge, Mackintosh could not with a good

grace remain, and returned to his friends
;
but

he came back immediately, and informed Wills

that Lord Kenmure and the rest of the Scots

noblemen would surrender on the came condi-

tions as the English.

Colonel Cotton was thereupon despatched

with a detachment of 200 men to take posses-

sion of the town, and the rest of the govern-

ment forces thereafter entered it in two grand

divisions, amid the sound of trumpets and

beating of drums, and met in the market-place,

where the Highlanders were drawn up under

arms ready to surrender. The number of

prisoners taken on this occasion was 1,468, of

whom about 463 were English, including 75

noblemen and gentlemen; of the Scots 143

were noblemen and gentlemen. The noble-

men and gentlemen were placed under guards

in the inns of the town, and the privates were

confined in the church. On the part of the

insurgents there were only 17 killed and 25

wounded in the different attacks, but the loss

on the part of the royalists was very consider-

able, amounting, it is believed, to five times

the number of the former. From the small

number of prisoners taken, it would appear

that few of the country people who had joined

the insurgents when they entered Lancashire,

had remained in Preston. They probably left

the town during the nights of Saturday and

Sunday.
9

9
Patten, p. 97, et seq. Annals of 2d year of

George /., p. 125, et seq. Faithful Register of the

late Rebellion, pp. 162, 163, 164.
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CHAPTER XXVI.

A. D. 1715-1716.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George I., 17141727.

Re-capture of Inverness by the Royalists Prepara-

tions for opening the campaign Mar's departure
from Perth Junction of the western clans Ad-

vance of Argyle towards Dunblane Preparations
for battle Battle of Sheriffrnuir Mar returns to

Perth and Argyle to Stirling Arrival of the Cheva-

lier Goes to Perth Preparations of Argyle
Jacobites retreat from Perth Departure of the

Chevalier for France Dispersion of the insurgents.

Having, for the sake of continuity, brought

the narrative of the English branch of the in-

surrection to a close, in the preceding chapter,

we now proceed to detail the operations of the

royalist and Jacobite armies under Argyle and

Mar respectively, and the other transactions in

the north which preceded its total suppression.

Before, however, entering upon an account

of the doings of the main body of the rebels

in Scotland, we must notice briefly the re-cap-

ture by the royalists of Inverness, partly

through the instrumentality of our old friend

Simon Eraser, afterwards Lord Lovat. Finding

it impossible to gain the confidence of the

court of St. Germains, Simon, on the breaking

out of the rebellion, resolved to seek the favour

of King George by using his power as head of

his clan on behalf of the royalists. The clan

had .sent over some of their number to France

to bring Simon home, in order that he might

tell them what side he desired them to espouse ;

these had got the length of Dumfries on the day
in which that town was thrown into a state of

consternation by the Lord Justice-Clerk's letter,

announcing its proposed capture by the rebels.

Simon was received there with much suspi-

Inverness at the end of the 17th century. From Slezers Theali-uni Scotice.

cion, and he and his followers placed under

guard, notwithstanding the pass he had man-

aged to obtain from Lord Townshend. This

he obtained on volunteering to accompany the

Earl of Sutherland to the north, and induce

the clan Eraser to abandon the Jacobites and

join the royalists. Although the estates and

honours were in possession of the daughter of

the late Lord Lovat, and although her husband.

Mackenzie of Fraserdale, had joined the rebels

with a number of the clan, still, according to

Highland custom, Simon was the real head of

the clan, and as such his influence was para-

mount. *

1 Hurton's Scotland (1683-1748), vol. ii. p. 151.
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On arriving in the north " he found three

hundred men, who had refused to follow the

Jacobite banner of his rival, ready at his call.

Placing himself at their head, like a sovereign

with an army, he sent notice to the disaffected

clansmen who had followed the legal owner of

the estates, to return immediately to their duty
to their true chief, threatening them with ejec-

tion from their holdings, and military execu-

tion against their families and possessions, if

they failed. As men exorcised by a command

which it would be wicked and futile to resist,

the Erasers left Mar's camp, just before the

momentous battle of Sheriffmuir, and joined

their brethren. Lovat found Duncan Forbes,

afterwards the great and good Lord-President,

defending the old fortalice of Culloden, while

his father-in-law, Hugh Rose, held his neigh-

bouring tower of Kilravock against repeated

attacks, and with a well-ordered force of 200

men, made his mansion do the proper service

of a fort in protecting the surrounding country.

Their efforts were importart from their posi-

tion. Northward of Loch Ness, and the chain

of minor lakes, the power of the Earl of

Sutherland, on the government side, balanced

that of Seaforth, Glengarry, and the other

Jacobite leaders; and in their absence at Mar's

camp, was superior. Thus the fortified houses

near Inverness, had all the importance of bor-

der fortresses; and the reduction of Inverness,

for the Hanover interest, would relieve their

owners of their perilous position, by giving

their friends the command of the pass between

the North Highlands and the rest of Scotland.

The small body under Rose and Forbes, with

Lovat's, and a party of the Grants, amounted

in all to about 1,300 men a considerable

force in that war of small armies. They laid

plans for systematically investing Inverness;

but before it was necessary to operate on them,

the garrison silently evacuated the place, drop-

ping down the river in boats on the night of

the 13th of November, and sailing for the

northern coast of the Moray Firth. This affair

seems to have cost no other casualty than the

death of a brother of Rose of Kilravock, in a

premature and rash attack. Thus the govern-

ment had the command of the eastern pass

between the North Highlands and the low

country, leaving passable only such routes,
i.

beyond the western extremity of Loch Ness,

as Avere not liable to be interrupted by the

garrison at Fortwilliam." 2

When the Jacobite general took the field he

was so unprovided with money, that after

Colonel Hay entered Perth he could spare him

only fifty guineas for the use of his detach-

ment, and so exhausted had his little treasury

become shortly after he took up his quarters

there, that he was reduced to the necessity of

laying the surrounding country, and the shires

of Fife, Kinross, and Clackmannan under con-

tribution. By an order dated from the camp
at Perth on the 4th October, he required every

man of substance attending the standard of

the Chevalier, to raise amongst his tenants

and possessors, the sum of twenty shillings on

every hundred pounds Scots of valued rent,

and such landed proprietors as did not imme-

diately or before the 12th of October, attend his

standard, were mulcted in double that amount.

This order appears to have had little effect, as

it was renewed on the 21st of October, when

it was rigorously enforced, and the penalty of

military execution threatened against those

who should refuse to implement it.

To compel compliance, parties of horse and

foot were despatched through the adjoining

country. One of these, consisting of 200 foot

and 100 horse, being sent towards the town of

Dunfermline, information of their march was

brought to the Duke of Argyle on Sunday,

the 23d of October. His grace immediately

despatched Colonel Cathcart with a detachment

of dragoons to intercept them, who, receiving

intelligence that the insurgents had passed

Castle Campbell, and had taken up their

quarters for the night in a village on the road

to Dunfermline, continued his inarch during

the whole night, and coming upon the village

unperceived at five o'clock in the morning,,

surprised the party, some of whom were killed

and others taken while in bed. Among these

were eleven gentlemen, including Gordon of

Craig, Gordon younger of Aberlour, and Mr.

Murray brother to the laird of Abercairney.
3

After this affair, and for want of more stir-

ring excitements, a sort of paper war was

carried on between the two generals, which, if

Burton's Scotland, vol. ii. pp. 188, 189.
3

Kae, p. 294. Life of A ryylc, p. 187.

3 M
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attended with little practical effect on either

side, served at least to keep up in a more

marked manner the distinction between the

adherents of the government and the partizans

of the Jacobite interest. When informed of

the Earl of Mar's order for an assessment, the

Duke of Argyle issued a counter one, on the

25th of October, prohibiting and discharging

all persons from giving or furnishing the in-

surgents with money or provisions, under the

pains of high treason, and for greater publicity

he directed the same to be intimated at each

parish church door after divine service, and

before the dismissal of the congregation. This

mandate was followed two days thereafter by

another from the duke, requiring all well-

affected noblemen, gentlemen, justices of the

peace, magistrates, and ministers,
" to persuade

and encourage all able-bodied and well-affected

men," in their respective parishes, in town and

country, to enlist in the regular army, and

promising a bounty of forty shillings sterling,

and a discharge from the service, if required,

at the end of three months after the suppression

of the insurrection. This order was answered

by a proclamation from the Earl of Mar, dated

November 1st, prohibiting and dicharging all

persons whatever, under the highest penalties,

from giving obedience to it
;
and whereas he

had promised his protection, as he observes, to

all ministers who behaved themselves dutifully,

and did not acknowledge "the Elector of Bruns-

wick as king, by praying for him as such in

their churches and congregations;" yet as

several of them continued the practice, and

might thus " involve and mislead innocent and

ignorant people into traitorous and seditious

practices," he expressly prohibited
"

all minis-

ters, as well in churches as in meeting-houses,
to acknowledge the Elector of Brunswick as

king, and that upon their highest peril." And
he ordered all officers, civil and military, to shut

up the church doors of such ministers as should

act in contempt of the order, to apprehend their

persons and bring them prisoners to his camp.
Many ministers, to avoid compliance with this

order, absented themselves from their charges,
but others who ventured openly to brave it

were apprehended and treated with severity.

Mar, however, found a more pliant body in

the non-jurant episcopal clergy, some of whom

attached themselves to his camp, and harangued

his troops from time to time on the duties

they owed to their lawful sovereign, "King
James VIII."

Although the earl seems to have calculated

greatly upon the assistance of France, yet his

stay at Perth appears to have been prolonged

rather by the tardiness of the Earl of Seaforth,

in reaching the insurgent camp, than by any

intention of waiting for supplies from France,

or the expected invasion of England by the

Duke of Ormond ;
for no sooner did Seaforth

arrive with the northern clans, about the

beginning of November, than Mar began to

concert measures with his officers for opening

the campaign. The march of the Earl of Sea-

forth had been retarded by the Earl of Suther-

land, at the head of a considerable number of

his own men, and of the Mackays, Eosses,

Munroes, and others
;
but having compelled

them to disperse, he proceeded on his march

Avith about 3,000 foot and 800 horse, leaving

a sufficient force behind to protect his own

country, and keep the royalist clans in check.

Hitherto the Jacobite commander, from the

procrastinating system he had pursued, and

from jealousies which had arisen in his camp

among his officers, had experienced consider-

able difficulty in keeping his forces together.

Of all men, the Highlanders were the most

unlikely to relish the inactive duties of a

camp, and as the duration of their services lay

entirely with themselves, it was evident that

the longer Mar delayed bringing them into

action, the risk of their abandoning him was

proportionably increased. It was not there-

fore without reason that one of the leaders

remarked that he was afraid the Highlanders
would desert their colours in three cases: 1.

If they were long without being brought to

action, they would tire and go home
;

2. If

they fought and were victorious, they would

plunder and go home.
;

3. If they fought and

were beaten, they would run away and go home.

To counteract the injurious effect which a

state of inaction might produce upon the minds

of his men, Mar buoyed up their hopes by

issuing from time to time, by means of a print-

ing press brought from Aberdeen, and super-
intended by Freebairn of Edinburgh, a variety
of fabricated accounts, highly favourable to
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their cause, respecting the progress of the re-

bellion in the south, and the great exertions

making by the Chevalier's friends in France,

all which accounts were swallowed with the

utmost credulity by his unsuspecting adherents.

About the time the Earl of Seaforth arrived

at Perth, General Gordon had advanced as- far

as Castle Drummond with the western clans

on his way to Perth
;
and as Mar had now

resolved to attempt the passage of the Forth,

he despatched an express to Gordon, to join

him on his march. At a council of war, which

was held on the 9th of November, the Jacobite

chiefs came to the determination of leaving

Perth the following day for Dunblane. On

obtaining possession of this town, Mar's design

was to detach three different bodies, of 1,000

men each, to Stirling bridge, and the two

adjacent fords above, for the purpose of amus-

ing Argyle, while he himself with the main

body of his army, consisting of nearly 8,000

men, should attempt to cross the river at a

ford a little way above those selected for the

intended ruse. In the event of success, the

three detached bodies were to be directed to

form a junction and follow the main body
without delay, but in case the Duke of Argyle
abandoned Stirling to oppose the passage of

the main body, they were to enter the town

and fall upon his rear.

Accordingly, on the morning of Thursday,
the 10th of November, Mar departed from

Perth, leaving a garrison behind under Colonel

Balfour, besides a scattered force of about 3,000

men quartered in different parts of Fife. The

earl not calculating upon a return to Perth,

took all his baggage along with him, and pro-

visions sufficient to support his army for twelve

days. The insurgents took up their quarters

for the night at Auchterarder, and on the

following day were joined by the western clans

under General Gordon. The army rested the

whole of the llth. On the morning of the

12th, Mar ordered General Gordon to march

forward with 3,000 men of the clans, and eight

squadrons of horse under Brigadier Ogilvie and

the Master of Sinclair, and take possession of

Dunblane. After ordering the rest of the

army to parade on the moor of Tullibardine, he

departed for Drummond castle to hold an inter-

view with the Earl of Breadalbane, having

previously directed General Hamilton to follow

Gordon with the main body.
As early as the morning of Thursday the

10th 4 of November, the Duke of Argyle had

received intelligence from some of his spies at

Perth, of Mar's intended march, and of his

plan for effecting the passage of the Forth.

Fortunately for Argyle, his little army had

been lately almost doubled by reinforcements

from Ireland, and it now amounted to 2,300

foot, and 1,200 cavalry, all in the best order

and condition
;
but though formidable from its

composition when united, it was too weak to

divide into detachments for resisting at differ-

ent points the passage of an army thrice as

numerous, in an attempt to cross the Forth.

As Argyle, therefore, saw he could no longer
retain his position on the banks of the river,

which, from its now beginning to freeze, would

soon be rendered more passable than before, he

determined to cross and offer the insurgents
battle before they should reach its northern

bank. Though he exposed himself by this

bold step to the disadvantage of fighting with

a river in his rear, he considered that the risk

would be sufficiently counterbalanced by the

advantage which his cavalry would have by

engaging the enemy on level ground.

Having called in several small detachments

which were quartered at Glasgow, Kilsyth, and

Falkirk, Argyle crossed Stirling bridge on the

morning of the 12th of November, for Dun-

blane, much about the same time that Mar's

forces had begun to advance upon that town

in an opposite direction from Auchterarder.

In a short time after their setting out, Argyle's

advanced guard took possession of Dunblane,

of which circumstance General Gordon was

apprised on his march. Having halted his

division, Gordon sent an express, announcing
the intelligence to General Hamilton, who

despatched it to the Earl of Mar, and in a short

time he forwarded a second express confirming

the previous news, and adding that the enemy
were in great force. Hamilton, upon receipt

of this last despatch, halted his men on the

ground adjoining the Eoman camp at Ardoch,

4 It must be remembered that these dates are ac-

cording to the Old Style of reckoning, and that to

make them accord with the New Style, eleven days
must be added : thus, the 10th of November 0. S. is

the same as the 21st N. S.
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about five miles from Dunblane, till he should

receive instructions from the earl. Mar soon

thereafter returned from Drummond castle, and

being desirous of obtaining additional intelli-

gence from the general in advance, ordered

Hamilton to remain in his position, and to

hold his men in readiness to march on a

moment's notice. This order had, however,

been scarcely issued, when a fresh despatch

arrived from General Gordon, announcing that

the Duke of Argyle was in Dunblane with his

whole army. Mar thereupon desired Gordon

to remain where he was till the main body of

the army should come up, and having ordered

three guns to be fired, the signal agreed upon

to be given Hamilton for putting his men in

marching order, the latter immediately formed

his division and put it in motion. After a

junction between the two divisions of the army

had been formed, the insurgents marched to

Dunblane, about the time of the Rebellion. From Slezer's Theatrum Scotice.

the bridge of Kinbuck, about four miles from

Dunblane, where they passed the frosty night

under arms without covering or tent. The

Duke of Argyle, who had the most exact intel-

ligence brought to him -of the motions of the

insurgents, left Dunblane and formed his army
in order of battle in the evening, on a rising

ground above the house of Kippenross, about

two miles north-east of the town. His army
was drawn up in one extended line. In the

centre were eight battalions of foot under the

command of Major-General Wightman. The

right wing consisted of five squadrons of dra-

goons, under Lieutenant-General Evans, and

a similar number, at the head of whom was

Lieutenant-General Witham, composed the

left wing. After thus drawing up his men,

his grace issued orders that no tent should be

pitched during the night either by officer or

private soldier
;
that all the officers without

distinction should remain at their posts ;
and

that the troops should rest on their arms in

the exact order in which they had been formed.

The severest penalties were threatened against

those who should infringe these orders. Though
the night was extremely cold, the troops lay

down upon the bare ground, and snatched a

few hours' repose. The duke himself retired

to a sheep-cot at the foot of a hill on the right

of the army, where he passed the night sitting

on a bundle of straw.

Although the two armies had bivouacked,

during the night within three miles of each

other, and were only separated by the Sheriff-
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inuir, an elevated and uneven waste, skirted

on the west by the high road from Stirling to

Perth, near the river Allan, yet so ignorant

was Mar of the movements of Argyle, that so

far from supposing him to be within such a

short distance of his camp, he imagined that

he still remained at Dunblane
;
and it was riot

until he observed a reconnoitring party of

Argyle's cavalry on the adjoining heights of

the SherifFmuir next morning, that he became

aware of his immediate proximity. This party

was headed by the duke himself, who had

aroused his army by break of day, and who,

after issuing instructions to his men to prepare

for battle, had ascended at an early hour the

hill where his advanced guard was posted, to

survey the position of the insurgents.

The Earl of Mar had also put his men under

arms shortly after break of day, and when

Argyle's party of observation was first noticed,

Mar was busily engaged ranging his men in

marching order, preparatory to advancing upon
Dunblane. Conceiving that Argyle meant to

offer him battle immediately, he instantly

assembled all the chiefs, and after addressing

them in an eloquent speech, in which he

painted in glowing colours the wrongs of their

prince and their country, and congratulated

them that the day had at length arrived when

they could revenge their injuries in open battle,

he desired to know if they were willing to

engage. The Marquis of Huntly alone raised

some objections, and some few were heard in

an nnder-tone to advise a return to Perth till

the spring ;
but the voices of Huntly and his

supporters were drowned by loud shouts of
"

fight, fight !

"
from the rest, who at once

galloped off to their different posts.
5

The Earl of Mar, thereupon, resumed the

marshalling of his army, which formed into

two lines with a rapidity and decision that

would have done honour to veteran troops; but

by accident, three squadrons of horse posted

on the left, misled by a cry from the High-

landers, of " horse to the right," left their

position and took ground on the right, an

unfortunate mistake for the insurgents, as it

contributed to the defeat of their left wing.

5 MS. referred to in Lord John llussell's History
of Europe, p. 345. Jacobite Official Account of the

battle, printed at Perth, 1715.

The centre of the first line was composed of

ten battalions of foot, consisting of about 4,000

men under the command of the captain of

Clanranald, Glengary, Sir John Maclean, the

laird of Glenbucket, Brigadier Ogilvie, and the

two brothers of Sir Donald Macdonald of Sleat.

General Gordon, who had long served in the

army of the Czar of Muscovy, was at the head

of these battalions. On the right of this line

were placed two of the Marquis of Huntly's

squadrons of horse, and another called the

Stirling squadron, which carried the Chevalier's

standard. This squadron, which consisted

wholly of gentlemen, also bore the title of "the

Restoration regiment of horse." The Perth-

shire squadron formed the left wing. The

centre of the second line consisted of eight bat-

talions of foot, viz., three of the Earl of Sea-

forth's foot, two of the Marquis of Huntly's, the

Earl of Panmure's battalion, and those of the

Marquis of Tullibardine, of Drummond, com-

manded by the Viscount of Strathallan, and

of Logie-Almond, and Robertson of Strowan.

On the right of this second line were posted two

squadrons of horse under the Earl Marischal.

The Angus squadron was on the left. The

whole of the force thus formed for action may
be estimated at 8,000, besides which there

was a corps de reserve of 400 horse posted con-

siderably in the rear.

While this formation was going on, the Duke
of Argyle observed for several hours with great

attention the various evolutions of the insur-

gents ;
but from the nature of the ground

6

occupied by them he could not obtain a full

view of their line which extended through a

hollow way, the view of which was obstructed

by the brow of a hill occupied by a party

of Mar's troops. From Mar's advanced guards

looking towards Dunblane, the duke con-

jectured that the insurgents intended to

inarch in that direction
;
but he was unde-

ceived in this idea by a movement on the part

" " The muir is a hill, but a very gentle one
; and

it has the peculiarity of being a regular curve, pre-

senting in all parts a segment of a sphere, or rather

an oblate spheroid. There are no rapid declivities

and no plains. Hence, in every part of the hill, there

is a close sky line, caused by the immediate curve,

and where there is so much of the curve, as will reach

a perpendicular of some eight feet between two bodies

of men, they cannot see each other." Burton's Scot-

land (16891748), vol. ii. p. 193.
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of a mass of the insurgents towards his right,

as if they intended to cross the moor and fall

upon the flank of his army. As a large morass

lay in the way of the insurgents, Argyle, in

advancing from Dunblane, had conceived him-

self free from danger on that side; hut it had

now been rendered quite passable for foot as

well as horse by a keen frost during the pre-

ceding night. As soon as Argyle saw this

large body advance up the face of the moor,

which, from the right wing of the insurgents

being concealed from his view by a rising

ground, he supposed was the main body of

Mar's army, he requested the advice of the

officers who surrounded him as to how he

should act. It was the general opinion, an

opinion in which the duke himself concurred,

that there would be less risk in engaging the

insurgents on the high grounds than in waiting

for them in the position occupied by the duke's

army ;
but although most of the officers thought

that there would not be sufficient time to bring

forward the troops and to change the order of

battle, a change which was absolutely necessary,

the duke resolved to draw out his troops upon
the moor.

Having come to this determination, the duke

returned quickly to the army, and ordered the

drums to beat the General. This order was

given about eleven o'clock
;
but although the

drums instantly beat to arms, an hour elapsed

before the troops were ready to march. The

new order of battle was as follows. The duke's

first line consisted of six battalions of foot, all

old troops, amounting scarcely to ?,800 men.

On the right were posted three squadrons of

dragoons, being the best in the army, namely,

Evans's, the Scots Greys, and the Earl of

Stair's. On the left there were placed three

squadrons of dragoons, namely, Carpenter's,

Ker's, and a squadron of Stair's. The second

line was composed of only two battalions of

foot, with a squadron of dragoons on each

wing. The right wing of the army was com-

manded by the duke himself, the centre by
General Wightman, and the left by General

Witham. Behind Evans's dragoons, on the

right wing, a body of about sixty horse, noble-

men and gentlemen volunteers, took up a

station.

The body which Argyle had observed coming

up the face of the moor, was a squadron of the

Earl Marischal's horse and Sir Donald Mac-

donald's battalion, under their respective com-

manders. These had been despatched by the

Earl of Mar, to drive away the reconnoitring

party under the Duke of Argyle from the

height; but on its disappearing, they returned

and reported the circumstance to the earl. On

receiving this intelligence, Mar gave orders to

his troops to march up the hill in four columns.

The whole army was accordingly put in motion,

but they had not proceeded far when the Earl

Marischal, who was in advance, observed

Argyle forming his lines on the southern sum-

mit of the hill, at a short distance from him.

He notified the circumstance to Mar, who in-

stantly gave orders to his men to quicken their

pace up the hill. In the hurry of their ascent,

the second line pressed so closely upon the

first as to occasion some confusion on the left

when again getting into line, and it was in

consequence of this disorder that the squadrons

of horse forsook their position on the left, and

took ground on the right.

Before the insurgents reached the summit of

the moor, Argyle's right wing was fully formed,

but the greater part of his centre and left, who

were moving up the ascent by a gradual pro-

gression from right to left, had not yet reached

their ground. Argyle's right now found itself

within pistol-shot of Mar's left, but from the

greater extent of Mar's line, it considerably

outflanked Argyle's left.

As soon as the Earl of Mar perceived that

Argyle's line was only partially formed, he

resolved instantly to attack him before he

should be able to complete his arrangements ;

and having sent orders to his right and left to

fall simultaneously upon the enemy, Mar placed

himself at the head of the clans, and being

apprised by a firing on his left that the action

had commenced, he pulled off his hat, which

he waved, and with a huzza led forward his

men upon the half-formed battalions which

composed the left wing of the enemy. Arrived

within pistol-shot, the Highlanders, according

to custom, poured in a volley upon the English

infantry. The fire was instantly returned,

and, to the dismay of the Highlanders, Alan

Muidartach, the captain of Clanranald, was

mortally wounded. He was instantly carried
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off the field, and, as his men clustered around

him, he encouraged them to stand firm to their

posts, and expressed a hope that the result of

the struggle in which they were engaged would

be favourable to the cause of his sovereign.

The loss of a chief, who, from the stately mag-
nificence with which he upheld his rank, and

the urbanity of his disposition, had acquired

an ascendency over the minds of his people,

could not fail to depress their spirits, and make

them almost overlook the danger of their situa-

tion. While absorbed in grief, they were in a

moment roused from their dejection by Glen-

gary, who, observing their conduct at this junc-

ture, sprung forward, and throwing his bonnet

into the air, cried aloud, in the expressive

language of his country,
"
Revenge ! Revenge !

Revenge to-day, and mourning to-morrow!"

No sooner had this brave chieftain pronounced
these words, than the Highlanders rushed for-

ward, sword in hand, with the utmost fury,

upon the royalist battalions. The government

troops attempted to stem the impetuosity of

the attack, by opposing the Highlanders with

fixed bayonets, but the latter pushed them

aside with their targets, and rushing in with

their broad-swords among the enemy, spread

death and terror around them. The three

battalions on Argyle's left, which had never

been properly formed, unable to rally, instantly

gave way, and falling back upon some squadrons

of horse in their rear, created such confusion,

that within seven or eight minutes after the

assault, the form of a battalion or squadron

was no longer discernible. A complete rout

ensued; and there seems no doubt that the

whole of Argyle's left would have been com-

pletely destroyed, had not General Witham, at

the head of the squadrons which were upon
the left of the battalions, checked the advance

of Mar's horse by a charge, in which he suc-

ceeded in capturing a standard. Afraid of

being outflanked by Argyle's left wing, which

extended far beyond his position, and being

ignorant of what was passing on the right

wing of the royalists, the view of which was

concealed by the unevenness of the ground,

Witham retired in the direction of Dunblane.

The Earl of Mar pursued the disordered mass

to the distance of only half a mile, and having
ordered his foot to halt till he should put them

in order, resolved to follow the enemy and

complete the victory; but receiving intelligence

that his left wing and second line had given

way, and that his artillery had been taken, he

retraced his steps, and took up a position on

the top of the stony hill of Kippendavie, till

he should receive further information respect-

ing the fate of his left wing.

This wing, which was the first to begin the

attack, opened a fire upon Argyle's right wing
when almost within pistol shot. The High-
landers thereafter steadily advanced, and pour-

ing a second volley among the enemy, with a

precision and effect not to be surpassed by the

best disciplined troops, rushed up, sword in

hand, to the very muzzles of their muskets.

Though the fire was destructive, and made

Evans's dragoons reel for a time, the English

troops maintained their ground, and the foot

kept up a platooning, which checked the fury
of their assailants. The struggle continued for

some time without any decided advantage on

either side
;
but as Argyle began to perceive

that he could make no impression in front upon
the numerous masses of the insurgents, and

that he might be out-flanked by them, he re-

solved to attack them on their flank with part

of his cavalry, while his foot should gall them

with their fire in front. He therefore ordered

Colonel Cathcart to move along the morass to

the right with a strong body of cavalry, and to

fall upon the flank of Mar's left wing, a move-

ment which he executed with great skill. Cath-

cart, after receiving a fire from the insurgent

horse, immediately charged them, but they sus-

tained the assault with great firmness. Borne

down by the superior weight of the English

dragoons, whose horses were much larger than

those of the insurgents, the Scottish horse,

after nearly half-an-hour's contest, were com-

pelled to give way. The foot of Argyle's right

having made a simultaneous attack upon Mar's

first line of foot, the latter also were forced to

fall back, and Mar's horse and foot coming
into contact with his second line, they mixed

indiscriminately, and a general rout in conse-

quence ensued.

After receding a short distance, the insur-

gent horse, which consisted principally of the

Jacobite gentry of Perthshire and Angus, at-

tempted to rally, and even to charge Argyle's
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cavalry in their turn, but they were again

forced to retire by the pressure of the English

dragoons, who kept advancing in regular order

upon the receding masses of the insurgents.

Determined, however, not to yield one inch of

ground without the utmost necessity, the cava-

lier horse made repeated efforts to drive the

enemy back, and, in the course of their retreat,

made ten or twelve attempts at different places

to rally and charge the advancing foe
;.
but

unable to resist the overwhelming pressure of

the English cavalry, they were, after three

hours' hard fighting, driven across the river

Allan by Argyle's dragoons. Some idea may

be formed of the obstinacy of the contest, when

it is considered that the distance from the field

of battle to the river is scarcely three miles.

To the gallant stand made by the horse may
be ascribed the safety of the foot, who would

have been probably all cut to pieces by the

dragoons, if the attention of the latter had not

been chiefly occupied by the horse. The foot,

however, suffered considerably in the retreat,

notwithstanding the humanity of the Duke of

Argyle, who endeavoured to restrain the car-

nage. Besides offering quarter to such of the

Jacobite gentlemen as were personally known

to him, he displayed his anxiety for the pre-

servation of his countrymen so far, that on

observing a party of his dragoons cutting

down a body of foot, into which they had

thrown themselves, he exclaimed with a feel-

ing of deep emotion,
"
Oh, spare the poor Blue-

bonnets !"

As Mar's right wing had been concealed

from the view of Argyle, the latter conceived

that the numerous body he was driving before

him formed the entire insurgent army. He,

therefore, resolved to continue the pursuit till

dark, and to support him, he ordered General

Wightman, who commanded his foot upon the

right, to follow him with his battalions as

quickly as possible. Wightman accordingly

proceeded to follow the duke with a force of

rather more than three regiments ;
but he had

not marched far, when he heard a firing on his

left, to ascertain the cause of which, he sent

his aid-de-camp in the direction whence the

firing proceeded. This officer returned in a

short time, and reported that the half of

Argyle's foot, and the squadrons on the left,

had all been cut off by the right of the insur-

gents, which was superior in point of numbers

to Argyle's left. Wightman thereupon slack-

ened his pace, and despatched a messenger to

inform the duke of the fate of his left wing.

Afraid of being attacked in his rear by Mar's

right wing, he kept his men in perfect order,

but no demonstration was made to follow him.

When informed of the defeat of his left wing,

Argyle gave over the pursuit, aitd joining

Wightman with five squadrons of dragoons,

put his men in order of battle and marched

boldly to the bottom of the hill, on the top of

which the enemy, amounting to 4,000 men,

were advantageously posted. Argyle had now

scarcely 1,000 men under him, and as these

were already greatly exhausted, he judged it

expedient to act on the defensive
;
but the in-

surgents showed 110 disposition to engage, and

both parties, as if by mutual consent, retired

from their positions in different directions.

The duke filed off his men to the right, in

marching order, towards Dunblane
;
but as he

still dreaded an attack, he formed his men

several times on the inarch, wherever he found

the ground convenient, and waited the approach

of the enemy. Mar drew off his men toward

Ardoch, where he passed the night, and

Argyle's troops lay under arms during the night

in the neighbourhood of Dunblane.

As might have been expected, on an occasion

of such dubious success on either side, both

parties claimed a victory, but impartiality will

confer the palm on neither. 7
Argyle, it is true,

visited the field of battle the following morn-

ing, which Mar might also have done had he

been inclined, and this circumstance, therefore,

can afford no argument in support of his pre-

tensions. Neither can the capture of standards

and colours by Argyle be considered as a proof

of success, for although he took fourteen colours

and standards, including the royal standard

called " the Restoration," besides six pieces of

cannon and other trophies, Mar, according to

7 il There's some say that we wan, and some say that they
wan,

And some say that nane wan at a' man ;

liut one thing I'm sure, that at Sherramuir
A battle there was that I saw, man.
And we ran, and they ran, and they ran, and we ran,
lint Florence* ran fastest of a' man."
The JJaltle of Sheriffmuir in Hogg's Jacobite Jielics.

*
Marquis of Huntly's horse.
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the official Jacobite account, captured four

stands of colours, several drums, and about

1,400 or 1,500 stands of arms. Accounts the

most contradictory have been given by both

parties of the losses sustained by them. Ac-

cording to the rolls of Argyle's muster-master

general, his loss amounted to 290 men killed,

187 wounded, and 133 prisoners, making a

grand total of 610, while the Jacobite account

makes the loss in killed and wounded on the

side of Argyle amount to between 700 and 800.

On the other hand, the Jacobites state their

loss in killed at only 60, and that very few

of their men were wounded, while the royalists

say that they lost, in killed and wounded,

about 800 men. 8
Supposing the royalist

statement correct, the comparative loss of the

insurgents scarcely exceeded one-third of that

sustained by the government forces.

Several officers were killed on the royalist

side. Among the wounded was the Earl of

Forfar, a brave officer who commanded Mori-

son's regiment. He received a shot in the

knee, and sixteen other wounds, of which he

died at Stirling about three weeks after the

battle. Several persons of distinction were

killed on the side of the insurgents, among
whom were the Earl of Strathmore, and the

Captain of Clanranald. A considerable num-

ber of gentlemen were taken prisoners by Ar-

gyle, but many of them escaped, and he was

able to carry only 82 of them to Stirling. Of

this number were Lord Strathallan, Thomas

Drummond his brother, Walkinshaw of Bar-

rowfield, Drummond of Logie-Drummond, and

Murray of Auchtertyre.

On whichsoever side success lay, the battle,

in its consequences, was most important in

many respects to the government, as it was

immediately followed by the desertion of a

considerable number of the clans. "With the

exception of the Macdonalds, who particularly

distinguished themselves on the right, and the

Perthshire and Angus horse who withstood

the repeated shocks of Argyle's cavalry, the

remainder of the insurgent army made little

resistance. The Macphersons and the Mac-

gregors, (the latter commanded by Rob Roy,
9

* Colonel Harrison's account.
9 " Rob Roy there stood watch on a hill, for to catch

The booty, for ought that I saw, man ;

I.

the chief's uncle), did not join in the contest

at all, but looked on as if unconcerned about

the result. Some of the clans, disgusted at the

pusillanimity or indifference exhibited by their

For he ne'er advauc'd from the place he was stanc'd,
Till no more was to do there at a' man."

Battle of Sheriffmuir.

" A short time previous to the Earl of Mar's rising,

their (the Macgregors') depredations in the Lennox,
and on the lower banks of Lochlomond, had been

carried to such an extremity, that the military force

of the west country was raised against them, and all

the warriors of the clan seem to have been driven

from their country, and to have retreated to the north,
even as far as the mountains of Loch-Arkaig and

Glengarry. Accordingly we find Rob Roy there in

September and October 1715.
" From thence he came down with the rest of the

clans, and joined general Gordon in Strathfillan. He
was with the clans before Invevary, and was active in

making some reprisals both by carrying off cattle on
the banks of Loch-Fyne, and capturing ships that lay
at anchor in the loch.

"He marched with the clans to Ardoch, and was

present at the battle of Sheriffmuir, but kept a shy
distance, thereby weakening that wing of the army to

which the Macgregors were placed as a corps-de-reserve,
on what principle it is not easy to determine, if it

was not, as the bard suggests, to watch who gained
the day, and then assist them in disposing of the

booty." Before the friends of the Stuarts, however, could

be properly brought to a head, Rob performed a very

signal service to many of them by an act worthy of

his character, and exactly in his own way. At the

great hunting of Brae Alar, it has been mentioned

what a number of noblemen and chiefs signed the bond
of faith and mutual support. By the negligence of a

chieftain to whose charge this important and danger-
ous document was committed, it fell into the hands

of Captain Campbell, then at Fort William ;
and when

it became known that a man of such determined

Whig principles held this bond, those who signed it

were seriously alarmed, and various plans were sug-

gested for recovering it. Rob Roy Macgregor, who
was at this clan meeting, had also affixed his name

;

but on his own account he was indifferent, as he

regarded neither king nor government. He was, how-

ever, urged by several chiefs, particularly his patron,
to exert himself, and if possible to recover the bond.

With this view he went to Fort William in disguise,

not with his usual number of attendants, and getting
access to Captain Campbell, who was a near relation

of his own, he discovered that, out of revenge for the

contemptuous manner in which the chieftains now
treated the captain, he had put the bond into the posses-

sion of the governor of the garrison, who was resolved

to forward it to the privy council
;
and Kob, learning

by accident the day on which it was to be sent, took

his leave, and went home. The despatch which con-

tained the bond was made up by Governor Hill, and

sent from Fort William, escorted by an ensign's com-

mand, which in those countries always accompanied
the messages of government. On the third day's

march, Rob and 50 of his men met this party in Glen--

dochart, and ordering them to halt, demanded their

despatches. The officer refused ;
but Rob told him,

that he would either have their lives and the despatches

together, or the despatches alone. The ferocious looks

and appearance of Hob and his men bespoke no irre-

solution. The packet was given up ;
and Rob, having

3N
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associates, and others dispirited by the firmnes,.

displayed by the government forces, returnee

to their homes, thus verifying the observation

made by a Jacobite in reference to the clans

that whether victorious or beaten, they woulc

run away and go home. The defection

these clans was a severe blow to Mar, anc

made him abandon the idea of crossing the

Forth. He, therefore, returned to Perth with

the remains of his army, and to encourage the

friends of the Jacobite interest, circulated the

most favourable accounts of his alleged success

at Sheriffmuir, and of the state of the Cheva-

lier's affairs, although he himself began to con-

sider them desperate.
l The Duke of Argyle,

on the other hand, retired to his head-quarters

at Stirling, intending to resume offensive opera-

tions as soon as some expected reinforcements

should arrive.

The attempt of Mar to disguise the real

state of matters was too gross to
.
deceive his

adherents, and there were not a few who

already began to entertain thoughts of making
their own terms with the government: but the

taken out the bond he wanted, begged the officer
would excuse the delay he had occasioned, and wish-

ing him a good journey, left the military to proceed
unmolested. By this manoeuvre many chieftains kept
on their heads, and the forfeiture of many estates was
prevented.
"The following notices are from Mr. Moir's MSS.
"One of the causes of the repulse of part of Mar's

forces was the part which Rob Roy acted
; this Rob

Roy, or Red Robert, was uncle to the laird of Mac-
gregor, and commanded that clan in his nephew's
absence

; but on the day of battle he kept his men
together at some distance, without allowing them to

engage, though they showed all the willingness ima-
ginable ; and waited only an opportunity to plunder,
which was it seems the chief design of his coming
there. This clan are a hardy rough people, but noted
for pilfering, as they lie upon the border of the High-
lands, and this Rob Roy had exercised their talents
that way, pretty much in a kind of thieving war he
carried on against the Duke of Montrose, who had
cheated him of a small feudal estate.
"The conductof this gentleman (who was wont

as occasion served, to assume the name of Campbell'
Ins own being prohibited by act of parliament) was
the more surprising, as he had ever been remarked
for courage and activity. When desired by one of his
own officers to go and assist his friends, he remarked
If they cannot do it without me, they cannot do it

with me. It is more than probable, however that
Ins interference would have decided the day in favour
of his own party. He continued in arms for some
years, and committed great depredations in the shires
of Dumbarton and Lennox, particularly on the Duke
f Montrose's lands, defeating several detachments

fix *
redUCe ^un-" Jacobite Relics, vol. ii. pp.

1 Journal of Mar's proceedings, printed at Paris.

Highland chiefs and the principal officers

remained firm, and urged Mar to risk another

battle even with his reduced forces. The earl,

however, though personally brave, was not the

man to comply with an advice so opposed to

the rule he had laid down for himself, never

to engage without a very superior force on his

side. But had he been of a different opinion,

the receipt of the news of the re-capture of

Inverness would probably have precluded him
from moving a second time upon Stirling.

It has been remarked as a singular circum-

stance in this history of Mar's insurrection,

that the three important events which decided

its fate should have occurred in regular daily
succession. Inverness was captured on the

13th of November,
2 and on the same day

Mackintosh's forces, cooped up in Preston, had
to maintain a precarious struggle against the

attacks of Wells's army. Next day witnessed

the battle of Sheriffmuir, and at the very time

the insurgents in Preston were offering terms

of surrender, the right wings of Argyle's and

Mar's armies were pursuing, with all the con-

fidence of victory, the wings to which they
were respectively opposed. And lastly, while

on the 14th the insurgents in England were

capitulating at Preston, the two rival armies

in the north were retiring to their head-quar-

ters, each of them claiming a victory.

The arrival of the Chevalier had been Ion"O

anxiously looked for by his friends in Scotland.

He was now about to gratify their desire of

beholding his person; but James had already
missed the golden opportunity, which presented
itself at an early stage of the insurrection, of

recovering his father's crown. Had he, on

arriving at St. Malo, whither he proceeded
from Lorraine at the breaking out of the insur-

rection, instantly taken shipping, he would not

only have complied with the declared wishes

of his adherents, but would have evinced at

once a determination to maintain his claim,

.nstead of embarking, however, immediately,

"The coincidence in time, of this achievement,
with the reduction of Preston, and the battle of
Iheriffmuir, is remarkable, and was much dwelt on
.t the time. But perhaps the day of the capture of
nverness not being exactly known though it was
ertainly about the middle of November it is not
mlikely that the coincidence may have created a
endency to assign it to the 13th. "Burton's Scotland
1689-1747), vol. ii. p. 189 (note).
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as lie should have done, he spent so much

time in the shipment of supplies, which he was

desirous should precede his departure, that he

was at last altogether prevented from sailing

by some men-of-war, which appeared off the

harbour of St. Malo, and which had been sent

by the British government to intercept him.

That he might not disappoint the expectations

of his partisans, he resolved to go to Dunkirk

in quest of shipping, and having traversed the

country in disguise, he embarked at that port,

about the middle of December, on board a

small French vessel of eight guns, which had

formerly been a privateer. He was attended

by five persons only, who, to prevent suspicion,

were disguised as French officers. Among
these were the Marquis of Tynemouth, son of

the Duke of Berwick, and Lieutenant Allan

Cameron, a son of Lochiel.

Regardless of the evident risk which he ran,

by attempting a descent upon the eastern coast of

Scotland, he sailed from Dunkirk in the small

vessel in which he had embarked, after leaving

instructions to despatch after him two other

vessels that lay in the harbour with his

domestics, and some stores for the use of his

army. It was the Chevalier's intention to

have landed in the vicinity of the Frith of

Tay, and accordingly, after steering in a north-

erly direction, he stood across for the coast of

Angus, which was descried after a voyage of

five days; but observing, at some distance, a

sail, which he judged to be unfriendly, he

altered his course to northward with the de-

sign of landing at Peterhead, of which the

Earl Marischal was the feudal superior. The

vessel which carried the Chevalier came, how-

ever, sufficiently near to land to intimate by

signals to the friends of the prince in the

neighbourhood that he was on board, which

intelligence was immediately conveyed to the

camp at Perth, where it was
.
received with a

feeling of intense delight.

The Chevalier arrived off Peterhead, on the

22d of December, seven days from the date of

his departure from Dunkirk, and immediately

landed with his small retinue of five persons,

all disguised as seamen. After despatching

the vessel to France with the news of his

arrival, he and his companions took up their

abode in the town for the night. He passed

the next night at ISTewburgh, a seat of the Earl

Marischal, having previously sent Lieutenant

Cameron to Perth with the intelligence of his

landing. The Chevalier continued his journey

towards Perth, and on the 24th passed incognito

through Aberdeen, and arrived at Fetteresso,

the principal seat of the Earl Marischal, where

he remained several days. As soon as Lieu-

tenant Cameron reached Perth, the Earl of

Mar, the Earl Marischal, General Hamilton,

and about thirty other gentlemen, mounted

their horses, and set off to meet the Chevalier.

This cavalcade arrived at Fetteresso on the

27th, and the persons composing it were intro-

duced to " the king," and had the honour of

kissing his hand. After the breaking up of

the court, the Chevalier was proclaimed at the

gates of the house, and printed copies of the

declaration which he had issued in Lorraine

were immediately dispersed.
3

The Chevalier intended to have proceeded

next day on his journey to Perth, but he was

detained at Fetteresso till the 2d of January,

by two successive fits of ague, which, however,

did not prevent him from receiving addresses

from the "
Episcopal clergy of the diocese of

Aberdeen," and from the magistrates, town

council, and Jacobite inhabitants of the town.

While at Fetteresso the Chevalier exercised

some of the functions of royalty, by conferring

titles of dignity on some of his adherents. He

raised the Earl of Mar to a dukedom
; and,

according to report, conferred the honour of

knighthood upon Bannerman, the Jacobite pro-

vost of Aberdeen, who presented the address

from that city. Having recovered from his

attack, the Chevalier left Fetteresso on the 2d

of January, and went to Brechin, where he

passed the night. Next day he moved forward

to Kinnaird, and on the 4th reached Glammis

Castle, the principal seat of the Earl of Strath-

more. At Glammis Mar drew up a letter, in

which he gave a very flattering account of the

Chevalier. As the object of this letter was to

impress the people with a favourable opinion

of the Chevalier, Mar ordered it to be printed

and circulated as widely as possible. The letter

is written with address, and may still be per-

used with interest :

3 Annals of2d year ofGeorge /., p. 189.
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"Glames, 5 Jan. 1716.

" I met the king at Fetteresso on Tuesday

se'enight, where \ve staid till Friday; from

thence we came to Brechin, then to Kinnaird,

and yesterday here. The king designed to

have gone to Dundee to-day, but there is such

a fall of snow that he is forced to put it off till

to-morrow, if it be practicable then ;
and from

thence he designs to go to Scoon. There was

no haste in his being there sooner, for nothing

can be done this season, else he had not been

so long by the way. People, everywhere, as

we have come along, are excessively fond to see

him, and express that duty they ought. With-

out any compliment to him, and to do him

nothing but justice, set aside his being a prince,

he' is really the first gentleman I ever knew:

He has a very good presence, and resembles

King Charles a great deal. His presence, how-

ever, is not the best of him. He has fine parts,

and despatches all his business himself with

the greatest exactness. I never saw any body
write so finely. He is affable to a great degree,

without losing that majesty he ought to have,

and has the sweetest temper in the world. In

a word, he is every way fitted to make us a

happy people, were his subjects worthy of him.

To have him peaceably settled on his throne,

is what these kingdoms do not deserve
;
but he

deserves it so much that I hope there is a good
fate attending him. I am. sure there is nothing

wanting to make the rest of his subjects as

fond of him as we are, but their knowing him

as we do
;
and it will be odd if his presence

among us, after his running so many hazards

to compass it, do not turn the hearts, even of

the most obstinate. It is not fit to tell all the

particulars, but I assure you he has left nothing

undone, that well could be, to gain every body;
and I hope God will touch their hearts.

"
I have reason to hope we shall very quickly

see a new face of affairs abroad in the king's

favour, which is all I dare commit to paper.
" MAR"

On the morning of the 6th of January the

Chevalier left Glammis for Dundee, which
town he entered about eleven o'clock A.M. on

horseback, amidst the acclamations of the in-

habitants, the Earl of Mar riding on his right

hand, and the Earl Marischal on his left, and

followed by a train of nearly 300 adherents on

horseback. To gratify the people who flocked

round him eager to behold him and to kiss his

hand, he, at the request of his friends, remained

about an hour on horseback at the cross of the

burgh, after which he rode out to the house of

Stewart of Grandtully in the neighbourhood,

where he dined and passed the night. On the

following day he proceeded along the Carse of

Gowrie to Castle Lyon, a seat of the Earl of

Strathmore, where he dined, and thence to

Fingask, the seat of Sir David Threipland,

where he spent the night. Next day, being

Sunday, he took up his abode in the royal

palace of Scone, where he intended to stay till

the ceremony of his coronation should be per-

formed.

On Monday the Chevalier made his public

entry into Perth. He met, however, with a

cold reception, and he himself felt evidently

disappointed at the appearance of the camp.

He had heard much of the Highland chiefs and

the clans, and being desirous to see " those

little kings (the chiefs,) with their armies," a

select body of Highlanders exhibited before

him. Their appearance gave him great satis-

faction, but when he ascertained the paucity

of the number in the camp, he could not repress

the chagrin and disappointment he felt. On
the other hand, the friends of the Chevalier

were equally disappointed. Neither his appear-

ance nor demeanour on the present occasion

tended in any shape to justify the exaggerated

encomiums of Mar, and his lugubrious deport-

ment while at Perth tended more to alienate

the affections of his adherents, and depress

their spirits, than even the disappointment of

supplies from France. The following is an

account, doubtfully attributed to the Master of

Sinclair, of the appearance of the Chevalier on

his arrival at Perth, his behaviour while there,

and their consequent effects upon his followers.

" His person was tall and thin, seeming to

incline to be lean rather than to fill as he grows
in years. His countenance was pale, but per-

haps looked more so than usual, by reason he

had three fits of ague which took him two

days after his coming on shore. Yet he seems

to be sanguine in his constitution, and there is

something of a vivacity in his eye that perhaps
would have been more visible if he had not
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been under dejected circumstances, and sur-

rounded with, discouragement, which it must

be acknowledged were sufficient to alter the

complexion even of his soul as well as of his

body. His speech was grave, and not very

clearly expressive of his thoughts, nor over

much to the purpose ;
but his words were few,

and his behaviour and temper seemed always

composed. What he was in his diversions we

know not: here was no room for such things.

It was no time for mirth. Neither can I say

I ever saw him smile. Those who speak so

positively of his being like King James VII.

must excuse me for saying, that it seems to say

they either never saw this person, or never saw

King James VII.
;
and yet I must not conceal

that when we saw the man whom they called

our king, we found ourselves not at all ani-

mated by his presence ;
and if he was disap-

pointed in us, we were tenfold more so in him.

We saw nothing in him that looked like spirit.

He never appeared with cheerfulness and

vigour to animate us. Our men began to

despise him
;
some asked if he could speak.

His countenance looked extremely heavy. He
cared not to come abroad amongst us soldiers,

or to see us handle our arms or do our exer-

cise. Some said the circumstances he found

us in dejected him. I am sure the figure he

made dejected us; and had he sent us but

5,000 men of good troops, and never himself

come among us, we had done other things

than we have now done. At the approach of

that crisis when he was to defend his preten-

sions, and either lose his life or gain a crown,

I think, as his affairs were situated, no man
can say that his appearing grave and composed
was a token of his want of thought, but rather

of a significant anxiety grounded upon the

prospect of his inevitable ruin, which he could

not be so void of sense as not to see plainly

before him, at least when he came to see how
inconsistent his measures were, how unsteady
the resolution of his guides, and how impos-

sible it was to make them agree with one

another." 4

The Chevalier returned to Scone in the-even-

ing, and notwithstanding the ominous symp-
toms of the day, proceeded to form a council

4
A. true account of the proceedings at Perth, by a

Rebel.

preparatory to exercising the functions of

royalty. From Scone he soon issued no less

than six proclamations ;
one for a general

thanksgiving for his safe arrival
;
another en-

joining the ministers to pray for him in the

churches
;
a third, establishing the currency of

foreign coin
;
a fourth, ordering a meeting of

the convention of estates ;
a fifth, commanding

all fencible men from sixteen to sixty to repair

to his standard ;
and a sixth, fixing the 23d of

January for his coronation at Scone. These

assumptions of sovereign authority were, how-

ever, of a very evanescent character, as they

had scarcely been issued when the Chevalier

and his principal friends resolved to abandon

the contest as hopeless. Indeed, from the

reduced state of the army, and its deficiency

in arms and ammunition, a determination had

been come to by his party, a month before he

landed, to retire from Perth as soon as Argyle

should march against it
;
but being ignorant

of that resolution, and believing that the insur-

gents intended to defend Perth, Argyle delayed

his advance till he should be joined by large

reinforcements from England and Holland.

Though continued in the command of the

army, Argyle, for some reason or other, was

not a favourite at court. Of his fidelity there

could be no suspicion, and his conduct had

lately shown that he wanted neither zeal nor

ability to perform the task which had been

assigned him. It has been conjectured that

the leniency which he was disposed to show

towards his unfortunate countrymen was the

cause of that hidden displeasure which ended

in the dismissal of himself and of his brother,

the Earl of Islay, from all their employments.

The rejection of an application which he made

to the government for extended powers to

treat with the insurgents after the battle of

Sheriffmuir, goes far to support the supposition.

But whatever were his views, he appeared to

be in no hurry to pursue the insurgents, pro-

bably from an idea that they would disperse

of their own accord. By the arrival of a body
of 6,000 Dutch auxiliaries, and other reinforce-

ments from England, Argyle found himself,

early in January, at the head of upwards of

10,000 men, besides a large train of artillery.

Desirous of expelling the insurgents from Fife

before advancing north, a detachment of Dutch
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and Scotch troops crossed the Frith of Forth

by the duke's orders, and under cover of some

men-of-war, landed at Burntisland, of which

they took possession. On receiving this intel-

ligence the insurgents immediately abandoned

all the towns on the north side of the Frith, a

circumstance which was attended with serious

consequences to their friends at Perth, who

were in consequence entirely cut off from their

supplies of coals, at an unusually inclement

season.

About the end of January, Argyle was in

full condition to march north, but the snow,

which had fallen to a great depth, appeared to

him to offer a formidable obstruction to the

march of an army unaccustomed to a winter's

campaign ;
and which, from the insurgents

having burnt and destroyed the villages on the

road, would have to bivouac two or three

nights in the open air, exposed to all the rigours

of a northern winter. For these reasons Ar-

gyle urged, at a council of war, which was held

at Stirling, a postponement of the march;
but General Cadogan,

5 who had been sent
'

down to Scotland to hasten the duke's motions,

insisting upon an immediate advance, and hav-

ing openly accused Argyle of a want of zeal,

his Grace made preparations for marching, and

to facilitate the transport of his cannon and

waggons, issued orders for assembling some

thousands of the country people to clear away
the snow.

Although the Jacobite leaders had come to

the resolution of abandoning Perth as soon as

the Duke of Argyle should advance upon it,

5 This officer appears to have been very suspicious
of Argyle's motives, and did not hesitate to communi-
cate his opinion to his -superiors. In a letter to the
Duke of Marlborough, he says: "Argyle grows so

intolerably uneasy, that it is almost impossible to live
with him any longer ; he is enraged at the success of
the expedition, though he and his creatures attribute
to themselves the honour of it. "When I brought him
the news of the rebels having ran from Perth, he
seemed thunderstruck

;
and was so visibly concerned,

that even the foreign officers that were in the room
took notice of it Since the rebels quit-
ting Perth, he (Argyle) has sent 500 or 600 of his

Argyleshire men, who go before the army a day's
inarch, to take possession of the towns the enemy have
abandoned, and to plunder and destroy the country,
which enrages our soldiers, who are forbid under pain
of death to take the value of a farthing, though out of
the rebels' houses. Not one of these Argyle-men
appeared whilst the rebels were in Perth, and when
they might have been of some use." Cox's Marl-
borough, vol. iii. p. 612.

they nevertheless gave indications as if they

really meant to hold out. Pursuant to an

order of a council, which was held on the 16th

of January, the most strenuous exertions were

made to fortify the town, and both officers and

men vied with one another in hastening the

completion of the works. What the motives

of the leaders may have been in thus practising

a deception upon the army it is impossible to

conceive; perhaps the distant hope of being

joined by the more remote clans, the chance of

some fortunate, though unlocked for, occur-

rence in the chapter of accidents, or an idea

that their men could not be otherwise kept

together, may have been the inducing causes

of these defensive preparations; but whatever

their motives were, the apparent determination

shown by the leading men to meet the enemy,
had the most beneficial effect upon the army,
which evinced a strong desire to engage. In

this wish they thought they were to be gratified

sooner than they expected, by the arrival of

some country people at Perth who brought in-

telligence that Argyle was advancing with all

his cavalry, and 4,000 foot mounted on horses.

This news was, however, premature, and had

originated in the appearance of a reconnoitring

party of 200 dragoons, which Argyle had sent

forward on the road to Perth, on the 21st of

January, and which the fears of the people
had magnified into an army.

All doubts, however, were removed in a few

days, by the receipt of authentic intelligence

at Perth, that Argyle having completed his

arrangements, was to leave Stirling for Perth

on the 29th of January, with his whole army.
The councillors of the Chevalier were dismayed
at this intelligence, but it had quite an opposite

effect upon the mass of the army. Nothing
was to be heard in the Jacobite camp but the

voice of joy and rejoicing, and congratulations,

on the expected happy result of an encounter

with the enemy, were exchanged on all sides

between the officers and gentlemen volun-

teers, and the common soldiers and clansmen.

While the former were pledging each other in

their cups and drinking to " the good day," so

near at hand, as they thought, which was to

crown the Chevalier's arms with victory, the

latter, amid the din of the warlike bagpipe,
were to be seen giving each other a cordial
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shake of the hand as if fully assured of

success.

Whilst these congratulatory exhibitions were

going on, the councillors of the Chevalier were

deliberating upon the course they should pur-

sue; but although they sat during the whole

night they could come to no decided resolution.

When the irresolution of the council became

generally known, the men could not restrain

their indignation, and a general opinion began
to prevail among them that they had been

betrayed. Impressed with this feeling, they
became mutinous, and carried their insubordi-

nation so far as to insult the officers, whom

they supposed had betrayed them, in the

streets, and to load them with reproachful

epithets. The gentlemen volunteers also par-

ticipated in the same sentiments; and one of

them from the higher parts of Aberdeenshire

was heard to declare before a group of malcon-

tents assembled in the streets, that the clans

should take the person of the Chevalier out of

the hands of the weak councillors who sur-

rounded him, adding that he would find 10,000

gentlemen in Scotland who would hazard their

lives for him, if he was equally ready as a

prince to risk his own life in vindicating his

right to the crown. A friend of the Earl of

Mar, after remonstrating with this party, asked

what they wished their officers to do.
"
Do,"

replied a Highlander,
" what did you call us

to take arms for? Was it to run away? What
did the king come hither for? Was it to see

his people butchered by hangmen, and not

strike a stroke for their lives? Let us die like

men and not like dogs."

Amid the confusion and perplexity occa-

sioned by such a state of things, Mar convened

another meeting of the council on the evening
of the 29th, at which a resolution to retreat

was entered into chiefly at Mar's suggestion.

His reasons for advising an abandonment of

the enterprise for the present, were, 1st, the

failure of the Duke of Ormond's attempt to

invade England; 2dly, the great accession of

force which Argyle had received from abroad;

and, lastly, the reduced state of the Jacobite

forces, which did not exceed 4,000 men, and

of whom only about 2,500 were properly

fi True Account of the Proceedings at Perth, by a

Rebel.

armed. 7 Besides these there were, according
to the Master of Sinclair, other reasons of a

private nature which influenced Mar to give
the advice he did, the chief of which, says the

above-named authority, was that the Earl of

Seaforth, the Marquis of Huntly, and other

Jacobites who were in treaty with the govern-

ment, had basely resolved to deliver up the

Chevalier to the Duke of Argyle, that they

might procure better terms for themselves than

they could otherwise expect. This odious

charge, which is not corroborated by any other

writer, must be looked upon as highly impro-
bable.

Before communicating to the army the reso-

lution to retreat, a general meeting of all the

officers was held at Scone on the following

day, when they were informed of the determi-

nation of the previous evening, and of the

reasons which had led to it. It was then

secretly resolved that the Chevalier and his

principal officers should take shipping at

Montrose for France, and that the army should

be disbanded as soon as it reached the High-er

lands, or as soon as circumstances permitted ;

but to save appearances with the men, it was

given out, that as Perth was untenable, it be-

came necessary to retire to a stronger position,

where they could not only defend themselves,

but keep up a more secure and direct commu-
nication with their friends in the north. At
this time there were three ships lying in the

Tay off Dundee, which had lately arrived with

supplies from France; and to secure these for

the conveyance of the Chevalier and his fol-

lowers, a French officer and clergyman were

despatched to Dundee with orders to send

them down the coast to Montrose, there to

wait his arrival. 8

On the return of the officers to the camp,

they promulgated the order to retreat to their

men, and, as might have been anticipated, it

was received with scorn and contempt. Among
the Jacobite inhabitants of the town who had

shown themselves very zealous in the cause of

the Chevalier, the intelligence caused nothing
but dismay, as from the prominent and decided

part they had taken, they had incurred the

penalties of treason against the government.

7 Mar's Journal.
8 True Account ofilie Proceedings at Perth.
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The morning of the 31st of January was fixed

upon for the retreat, but a body of about 800

Highlanders, disliking the aspect of affairs, and

displeased with the conduct of the principal

officers, quitted Perth the preceding night for

the Highlands by way of Dunkeld. Prepara-

tory to his departure, the Chevalier went from

Scone to Perth in the evening, and took up

his residence in the house of Hay the provost,

a stanch Jacobite, where he supped and

passed the night. At ten o'clock next morning

the rebels began their march across the Tay,

which was covered with ice of extraordinary

thickness. About noon the whole army had

passed, and was on the march to Dundee along

the Carse of Gowrie.

Meanwhile, the Duke of Argyle was advanc-

ing upon Perth as fast as the nature of the

difficulties he had to contend with would admit

of. He had left Stirling on the 29th of Janu-

ary, and marched to Dunblane. Next day he

advanced as far as Auchterarder, which had

been entirely burnt by the rebels. Here they

passed the night upon the snow without "
any

other covering than the fine canopy of heaven." 9

On the following day a detachment of 200 dra-

goons and 400 foot, which had been sent for-

ward to protect the country people who were

engaged in clearing away the snow, took pos-

session of the castle of Tullibardine, the garri-

son of which had capitulated. The Duke of

Argyle had resolved to take up his quarters for

the night in this fortress
;
but receiving intelli-

gence that the rebels had retired from Perth

that morning, he ordered a party of 400 dra-

goons and 1,000 foot to hasten forward to take

possession of that town. The duke, at the head

of the dragoons, arrived at Perth about two

o'clock in the morning of the 1st of February
but the foot, who were greatly fatigued, die

not come up till ten o'clock. The remainder

of the duke's army reached Perth that evening
The distance from Stirling to Perth is only

34 miles, yet such was the obstruction that

Argyle's army met with from the snow, tha'

their march occupied three entire days. Th<

difficulties of the march and the privations

which his men had suffered by resting tw<

nights on the snow, exposed to all the severities

9 Annals of George I., vol. ii. p. 222.

f the weather, had so exhausted his men, that

t was not till the day after his arrival at Perth

hat the duke could muster a force sufficiently

strong to pursue the enemy.

On the '2d of February Argyle left Perth at

;he head of six squadrons of dragoons, three

battalions of foot, and 800 Highlanders. Ho

stopped at Errol that night, and entered Dun-

dee next day. Having learned that the Cheva-

lier had left Dundee the preceding day on his

Second Duke of Argyle.

way to Montrose, the duke sent forward a

detachment towards Arbroath, and being joined

by the remainder of his army on the 4th of

February, he despatched on the same day three

battalions of foot, 500 of his own Highland-

ers, and 50 dragoons, towards Arbroath, and

another detachment of 300 foot, and 50 dra-

goons, in the direction of Brechin
;
but their

march was retarded for some time by the snow.

On the 5th the duke followed- with the re-

mainder of the army; and while he himself, at

the head of the cavalry, took the high road to

Brechin, General Cadogan with the infantry

marched in the direction of Arbroath.

During the retreat to Montrose, suspicions

began to be entertained in the Chevalier's army,

that it was his intention to embark for France,
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notwithstanding the assurances of the principal

officers to the contrary. The unusual route

along the sea-coast gave credence to the rumour;
but when they approached Montrose, and saw

some French vessels lying at anchor off the

shore, their suspicions were confirmed, and the

men began to manifest symptoms of discontent.

The insurgent army arrived at Montrose on

the 3d of February, where it was intended they
should pass the night ;

but the Chevalier's

advisers, alarmed at the murmurings of the

troops, ordered them to march the same night

towards Aberdeen, where it was given out they

meant to make a stand till succours should

arrive from abroad. This assurance had the

desired effect upon the troops, who accordingly

began their march in the expectation that the

Chevalier would follow them. To prevent

suspicion, his horses were ordered to be brought
before the door of the house where he lodged
at the hour appointed for the march, and his

guards were ordered to mount, and to hold

themselves in readiness to accompany him.

Meanwhile the Chevalier was busily em-

ployed in making the necessary preparations

for his approaching departure. To relieve his

memory from the imputation of having volun-

tarily abandoned the brave men who had taken

up arms in his cause, it is due to him to state

that he had been all along opposed to such a

step, and it was not until he had been repeat-

edly and earnestly urged by his friends that

he could be prevailed upon to give his consent

to retire beyond seas. He said he was ready
to surfer every hardship, and expose himself to

every danger, rather than abandon those who
had risked their all in his service

;
but being

assured by his friends, that the course they
advised might be ultimately beneficial to both,

he reluctantly yielded to their entreaties. His

principal motive for acceding to their wishes

was the consideration that, if relieved from

his presence, the government might be dis-

posed to give better terms to his followers than

they would be otherwise disposed to grant.
1

Before his departure he ordered a commission

to be drawn up, by which he appointed General

Gordon commander-in-chief, with all necessary

powers, and particularly with authority to treat

1 Mar's Journal.

with the enemy. He wrote, at the same time,

a paper containing his reasons for leaving the

kingdom, and along with which he delivered

to the general all the money in his possession,

(excepting a small sum which he reserved for

defraying the expenses of himself and suite,)

with instructions, after paying the army, to

apply the residue in indemnifying the inha-

bitants of the villages
2 which had been burned,

for the losses sustained by them. At the same

time the Chevalier put the following letter to

the Duke of Argyle, which he dictated to a

secretary, into the hands of General Gordon,

respecting the appropriation of the money so

left. It is an interesting document, and ex-

hibits the humanity of the prince in a favour-

able point of view :

" FOR THE DUKE OF ARGYLE.

"Montrose, 4th February, 1716.

" It was the view of delivering this my
ancient kingdom from the hardship it lay

under, and restoring it to its former happiness

and independency, that brought me into this

country ;
and all hopes of effectuating that at

this time being taken from me, I have beer-

reduced much against my inclination, but by
a cruel necessity, to leave the kingdom with

as many of my faithful subjects as were desi-

rous to follow me, or I able to carry with me,

that so at least I might secure them from the

utter destruction that threatens them, since

that was the only way left me to show them

the regard I had for, and the sense I had of

their unparalleled loyalty.
"
Among the manifold mortifications I have

had in this unfortunate expedition, that of

being forced to burn several villages, &c., as

the only expedient left me for the publick

security, was not the smallest. It was indeed

forced upon me by the violence with which

my rebellious subjects acted against me, and

what they, as the first authors of it, must be

answerable for, not I : however, as I cannot

think of leaving this country without making
some provision to repair that loss, I have, there-

fore, consigned to the magistrates of

the sum of -
, desiring and requiring of

you, if not as an obedient subject, at least as

2
Dunning, Auehterarder, Blackford, Crieff, MuthiL

3o
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a lover of your country, to take care that it be

employed to the designed use, that I may at

least have the satisfaction of having been the

destruction and ruin of none, at a time I came

to free all. "Whether you have yet received my

letter,
3 or what effect it hath had upon you, I

am as yet ignorant of; but what will become

of these unhappy nations is but too plaine. I

have neglected nothing to render them a free

and prosperous people ;
and I fear they will

find yet more than I the smart of preferring a

foreign yoak to that obedience they owe me
;

and what must those who have so obstinately

resisted both my right and my clemency have

to answer for ] But however things turn, or

Providence is pleased to dispose of me, I shall

never abandon my just right, nor the pursuits

of it, but with mv life
;
and beseech God so to

3
It is presumed this is the letter alluded to in a

conversation between Lockhart of Carnwath and Cap-
tain Dougall Campbell, who is represented by him as

"a person of great worth and loyalty, and a bosome
friend of Argyle's." "Being with me (says Lock-

hart) at my country house, he (Campbell) asked me if

I heard Argyle blam'd for having received and given
no answer to a letter writt to him by the king whilst

he was at Perth. I told him I had, but could not

agree with those who censured him, for I had such an
abhorrence of breach of trust, that had I been the
duke's adviser, it should have been to doe, as he did

;

for tho there was nothing I so much desired as to see

him engaged in the king's cause, I wisht it done in a

way consistent with his honour. Captain Campbell
smiled and told me, he was to acquaint me of a secret

which he must previously have my solemn word I

would communicate to none, which he had given
when it was revealed to him, having however obtained

liberty afterwards to speak of it to me. After giving
him the assurance he demanded, he told me that the
letter was not delivered to the duke, for in his late

Highland progress, he saw it and anothe- to Lord Isla

in the hands of the person to whose care they were

committed, (but who that person was he would not
tell me), who receiving them unseal'd, did not, after

perusal, think it for the king's service to deliver them,
that to the duke being writt in a style by no means
to be approved of; 'and, indeed,' added Campbell,
' when I read them, I was entirely of the same mind,
and could not but think that Mar or some other per-
son, with a view of rather widening than healing the

breaches, had prevail'd with the king to write after
that manner.' The letter to Isla was writt as to a
man of business, insisting on the unhappy state of

Scotland, and that nothing but a dissolution of the
union by the king's restoration, could prevent the
utter ruin of that country. That to the duke did
invite him to return to his loyalty and duty, threaten-

ing him, if he neglected, with revenge and the utter

extirpation of his family, for what he and his prede-
cessors had done in this and the last century. I doe
not pretend to narrate the precise words of this letter,
nor did Campbell mention them as such to me

; how-
ever, I have narrated what he said was the aim and
purport of the letter.

"
Lockh'i rt Papers vol ii rrn

14, 15.

turn at last the hearts of my subjects, as that

they may enjoy peace and happiness by submit-

ting to what their interest and duty equally

require of them. As for your own particular,

you might, if you had pleased, joined interest

and greatness in your own person ; but, though

you have refused to do that, I must earnestly

request of you to do at least all in your poAver

to save your country from utter ruin, and to be

just at least to them, since you are it not to me.
" 4 I thought. to write this in my own hand,

but had not time.
" JAMES E."

This letter was accompanied by a note of the

following letter to General Gordon, written in

the Chevalier's own hand :

" General Gordon is hereby empowered, as

soon as he has no other further occasion for

the money left in his hands for the subsistence

of the troops, to forward, if he thinks fitt, the

enclosed letter to the duke of Argil, and to fill

up the blanks of my letter with the name of

the town where he shall leave the money, and

the summ he shall leave.

" JAMES E."

It was not until the eve of his departure,

that James thought of selecting the persons

he wished to accompany him in his flight, but

the near approach of the enemy, of whose

motions he had just received intelligence, and

the murmurings and jealousies of his .troops

compelling him to hasten his departure, he

was narrowed in his choice, as some of the

friends, whose presence he desired, were at

some distance from Montrose. The first indi-

vidual he pitched upon was Mar; but the earl

begged that he might be left behind with the

army. The Chevalier, however, insisted that

he should go; and on representing to him that

reasons almost equally strong existed for Mar's

departure as for his own, that his friends would

make better terms with the government Avith-

out him than with him, and that his services

could be of no use in Scotland under existing

circumstances, he gave his consent.

4 What follows is in the Chevalier's own hand-

writing. The original document is in the Fingask
family ;

of course, it had never been delivered to the

duke.
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Matters being adjusted, the Chevalier left

his lodgings privately about nine o'clock on the

evening of the 4th of February, accompanied

only by one of his domestics, and having met

Mar at his lodgings, they both proceeded by a

private way to the beach, where a boat was

lying in readiness to receive them, which car-

ried them on board a small French vessel that

lay at a little distance from the shore. The

boat was immediately sent back, and returned

in about a quarter of an hour with the Earl of

Melfort, Lord Drummond, and the remainder

of the Chevalier's suite. Being favoured with

a fresh breeze from the west-south-west, the

vessel stood directly out to sea, and after a

voyage of five days, arrived in safety at Waldam,
near Gravelines in French Flanders.

The insurgents, under General Gordon,

marched to Aberdeen, which they entered on

the morning of the 6th of February. Here

he communicated to his men the paper of in-

structions he had received from the Cheva-

lier, which, he informed them, he had been

ordered not to open till their arrival at Aber-

deen. In this writing the prince complained
of the disappointments he had met with, par-

ticularly from abroad, and informed the army
of the necessity he was under, for his own pre-

servation, to leave the country. He thanked

them for having entered so cheerfully into his

service, and imputed the failure of the enter-

prise to the apathy of others, who had not

seconded their efforts as they had promised to

do. He advised them to consult their own

safety by keeping together in a body under

General Gordon till he should order them to

disperse, and concluded by encouraging them

to hope for better times. After reading this

document, the General notified to his men that

their pay would cease after that day.

General Cadogan arrived at Montrose on the

afternoon of the 5th of February with three

regiments of foot, and 600 of Argyle's High-

landers, and the duke reached Brechin with

the dragoons the same night. The whole

royalist forces continued their march the fol-

lowing day towards Aberdeen, but they could

not overtake the insurgents, who -were nearly

two days' march in advance. The latter left

Aberdeen on the 7th, and the Duke of Argyle

entered it the following day at the head of 400

dragoons. The main body of the insurgents,

chiefly foot, marched in the direction of Old

Meldrum, but a party of about 200 horse,

among whom were many officers and gentlemen-

volunteers, took the route to Peterhead, where

some vessels were lying to carry them to

France. The Duke of Argyle, without waiting

for the coming up of the rest of his army,

immediately sent 200 dragoons, and a party of

foot under Major-General Evans, to cut off the

retreat of the latter, but he did not overtake

them. Upwards of 100 of the gentlemen

composing this party escaped to France.

Meanwhile the insurgents continued their

march westwards into Moray, and after march-

ing through Strathspey, retired into Badenoch,

where they quietly dispersed. During their

retreat, however, many, whose houses lay con-

tiguous to their route, gradually withdrew

from the ranks, so that before their arrival in

Badenoch a considerable reduction had taken

place in their numbers. Though closely pur-

sued by Argyle's troops, the insurgents did not

lose 100 men during the whole retreat, so well

and orderly was it conducted by the Jacobite

commander.

After the dispersion of the insurgents, about

160 officers and gentlemen-volunteers who had

followed the army into the Highlands, hearing

that two French frigates, destined to receive

on board such of the adherents of the Chevalier

as might be inclined to retire abroad, had

arrived off the Orkney coast, sallied from the

hills on horseback, and crossing the low coun-

try of Moray embarked in boats at Burgh-head,

and landed in Caithness. From Caithness

they proceeded to the Orkney islands, where

they had the good fortune to reach the French

ships, which carried them to Gottenburg.

Among this party were Lord Duffus, who,

being a seaman, entered into the naval service

of the King of Sweden, Sir George Sinclair,

Sir David Threipland of Fingask, and General

Eckline. Most of these refugees entered into

the Swedish army then about to invade Norway.
Thus ended an enterprise badly contrived,

and conducted throughout with little judgment
or energy. Yet notwithstanding the disad-

vantages under which it was attempted, it

might have succeeded, if the efforts of the

Scottish Jacobites had been seconded by the
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Jacobites of England; but the latter, though

decidedly hostile to the House of Brunswick,

were not inclined to risk their lives and for-

tunes in a doubtful contest, in support of the

pretensions
of a prince known to them only

by name, and to whose religion many of them

felt a deep-rooted repugnance.
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AFTER the flight and dispersion of the insur-

gents, the Duke of Argyle returned to Edin-

burgh about the end of February, where he

was magnificently entertained by the magis-

trates of the city, whence he set off for London

on the 1st of March. He had left instructions

with General Cadogan to keep up a communi-

cation with the Whig leaders in the north, and

to distribute the troops in quarters contiguous

to the adjoining Highlands, that they might
be the more readily assembled to repress any
fresh insurrection which might break out. To

keep some of the disaffected districts in check,

parties of Highlanders were placed by Lord

Lovat and Brigadier Grant, in Brahan castle

and in Erchles and Borlum
;
the former the

seat of the Chisholm, the latter that of Briga
dier Mackintosh.

The fate of the prisoners taken at Preston

remains now to be told. The first who were

tried were Lord Charles Murray, Captain Dal

ziel, brother to the earl of Carnwath, Majo

Nairne, Captain Philip Lockhart, brother to

,ockhart of Carmvath, Captain Shaftoe, and

insign Nairne: These six were tried before a

court-martial at Preston, and all, with the

ixception of Captain Dalziel, having been

proved to have been officers in the service of

Tovernment, were condemned to be shot. Lord

Jharles Murray received a pardon through the

interest of his friends. The remainder suffered

on the 2d of December.

The English parliament met on the 9th of

January, 1716. The commons agreed, on the

motion of Mr. Lechmere, to impeach Lords

Derwentwater, Nithsdale, Wintoun, Carnwath,

and Kenmure, of high treason. The articles

of impeachment were carried up to the lords

the same night, and on the next day these

3eers were brought to the bar of the house of

.ords to hear the articles of impeachment read.

They were brought back from the Tower on

the 19th, when they all pled guilty to the

iharge of high treason, except the Earl of

Wintoun, who petitioned for a longer time to

give in his answers. The rest received sen-

tence of death on the 9th of February, in

Westminster-hall. The Countess of Nithsdale

and Lady Nairne surprised the king as he was

passing through his apartments at St. James's,

and throwing themselves at his feet implored

his mercy in behalf of their husbands
;
but he

turned away from them with contemptuous

indifference. The Countess of Derwentwater

was equally unsuccessful, though introduced

by the Dukes of Richmond and St. Albans

into the king's bed-chamber, and accompanied

by the Duchesses of Cleveland and Bolton.

This refusal on the part of the king raised

up a number of advocates in both houses of

parliament, in behalf of the unfortunate noble-

men. Availing themselves of this feeling, the

ladies of the condemned lords, accompanied

by about twenty others of equal rank, waited

in the lobby of the house of peers, and at the

door of the house of commons, and solicited

the intercession of both houses. Next day

they petitioned the houses. The commons

rejected the application, and to get quit of

further importunity adjourned for six or seven

days, by a small majority; but the result was

different in the house of lords. Petitions,

craving the intercession of that house, were
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presented from the condemned peers, which

being read, after considerable opposition, a

motion was made to address his majesty to

grant them a reprieve. This occasioned a

warm debate
;
but before the vote was taken,

an amendment was proposed to the effect, that

Ms majesty should reprieve such of the peers

as should seem to deserve his mercy. It was

contended by the supporters of the original

address, that the effect of this amendment

would be to destroy the nature of the address,

as from the nature of the sentence which had

been passed, none of the condemned peers

could deserve mercy ;
but the amendment was

substituted, and on the vote being taken,

whether the address should be presented, it

was carried present, by a majority of five votes.

It is said that on one of the peers afterwards

observing to the mover of the amendment,

that it looked as if its object was to defeat the

vote, and make it of no use to the persons for

whose benefit it was intended, the proposer

observed, that such was his intention in mov-

ing it.
5

The king was evidently chagrined at the

conduct of the house, and when the address

was presented, he informed the deputation, that

on this as on all other occasions, he would do

what he thought most consistent with the

dignity of the crown, and the safety of his

people. The Earl of Nottingham, president

of the council, who had supported the petitions

of the condemned lords, together with Lord

Aylesford, his brother, Chancellor of the Duchy
of Lancaster, Lord Finch, his son, one of the

lords of the treasury, and Lord Guernsey,

master of the jewel office, were all removed

from office
;
and to show the determination of

the king, orders were issued on the same day

the address was delivered, for executing the

Earls of Derwentwater and Nithsdale, and Vis-

count Kenmure the following day. The other

three peers were reprieved to the 7th of March.

The Earl of Nithsdale, by the assistance of his

heroic wife, made his escape the night before

the execution, dressed in female attire. When
the king heard of his escape next morning, he

observed, that "
it was the best thing a man

in his condition could have done." 6

5 Annals of the Id year of George /., p. 248.
* State Trials, vol. xv.

On the morning of the 24th of February the

Earl of Derwentwater and Viscount Kenmure
were beheaded on Tower-hill. On ascending
the scaffold, Derwentwater knelt down, and

having spent some time in prayer, he got up,

and drawing a paper out of his pocket, read

a short address. He hoped for forgiveness

through the passion and death of his Saviour
;

apologised to those who might have been

scandalized at his pleading guilty at his trial,

excusing himself for doing so on the ground
that he was made to believe that it was only

a consequence of having submitted to mercy,

acknowledged as his only right and lawful

sovereign, King James III., and earnestly

hoped for his speedy restoration
;
and died, as

he had lived, a Roman Catholic. He displayed

the utmost coolness and perfect self-possession.

As soon as the remains of the Earl of

Derwentwater were removed, Viscount Ken-

mure was brought up to the scaffold. Like

Derwentwater, he expressed his regret for

pleading guilty to the charge of high treason,

and prayed for "
King James." After praying

a short time with uplifted hands, he advanced

to the fatal block, and laying down his head,

the executioner struck it off at two blows.

The Earl of Wintoun, on various frivolous

pretences, got his trial postponed till the 15th

of March, when he was brought finally up, and,

after a trial which occupied two days, was

found guilty, and received sentence of death
;

but his lordship afterwards made his escape

from the Tower and fled to France.

On the 7th of April a commission for trying

the other rebels met in the court of Common

Pleas, Westminster, when bills of high treason

were found against Mr. Forster. Brigadier Mack-

intosh, Colonel Oxburgh, Mr. Menzies of Cul-

dares, and seven of their associates, and on the

10th bills were found against eleven more.

Forster escaped from Newgate, and so well

had his friends concerted matters, that he

reached Calais in less than 24 hours. The

trials of Brigadier Mackintosh and others were

fixed for the 4th of May, but about eleven

o'clock the preceding night, the brigadier and

fifteen other prisoners broke out of Newgate,
after knocking down the keepers and disarming

the sentinels. Eight were retaken, but Mack-

intosh and seven others escaped. The trials
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of the prisoners who remained proceeded : many

of them were found guilty ;
and five, among

whom were Colonel Oxburgh and Mr. Paul, a

non-jurant clergyman of the Church of England,

were executed at Tyburn. Twenty-two prison-

ers were executed in Lancashire. The re-

mainder of the prisoners taken at Preston,

amounting to upwards of 700, submitted to

the king's mercy, and having prayed for trans-

portation, were sold as slaves to some West

India merchants ;
a cruel proceeding, when it

is considered that the greater part of these men

were Highlanders, who had joined in the insur-

rection in obedience to the commands of their

chiefs. 7

The severities exercised by the government,

and the courage and fortitude displayed by the

unfortunate sufferers, wrought an extraordinary

change in the dispositions of the people, who

began to manifest great dissatisfaction at pro-

ceedings so revolting to humanity. Though
the rebellion was extinguished, the spirit which

had animated it still remained, being increased

rather than diminished by the proceedings of

the government ;
and the Tories longed for an

opportunity of availing themselves of the uni-

versal dissatisfaction to secure a majority

favourable to their views at the next general

election. The Whigs, afraid of the result of

an early election as destructive to themselves

as a party and to the liberties of the country,

had recourse to a bold measure, which nothing
but the most urgent necessity could justify.

This was no other than a plan to repeal the

triennial act, and to prolong the daration of

parliament. It is said that at first they in-

tended to suspend the triennial act for one

election only, but thinking that a temporary
measure would appear a greater violation of

constitutional law than a permanent one, they
resolved to extend the duration of parliament'

to seven years. A bill was accordingly brought
into the house of lords on the 10th of April

by the Duke of Devonshire, which, notwith-

"
It is painful to see on the lists, the many High-

land names followed with the word 'labourer,' indi-

cating that they belonged to the humblest class. Too
implicit obedience had been the weakness, instead of
rebellion being the crime, of these men ; and in many
instances they had been forced into the service for
which they were punished, as absolutely as the French
conscript or the British pressed seaman." Burton's
Scotland (1689-1747), vol. ii. p. 211.

standing much opposition, passed both houses,

receiving the royal assent on the 7th of May.
On the same day an act of attainder against

the Earls Marischal, Seaforth, Southesk, Pan-

mure, and others, also received his majesty's

sanction. An act of attainder against the Earl

of Mar, the Marquis of Tullibardine, the Earl

of Linlithgow, Lord Drummond, and other

leaders of the insurrection, had received the

royal assent on the 1 7th of February preceding.

Besides these bills, three others were passed,

one attainting Mr. Forster and Brigadier Mack-

intosh
;
another for more effectually securing

the peace of the Highlands ;
a third appointing

commissioners to inquire into the estates of

those persons who had been attainted or con-

victed.

While the parliament was thus engaged in

devising measures for maintaining the public

tranquillity, General Cadogan was employed in

dispersing some hostile bands of the clans

which still continued to assemble with their

chiefs in the remoter parts of the Highlands.

Hearing that the Earl of Seaforth had retired

into the island of Lewis, where he had col-

lected a considerable body of his men under

the command of Brigadier Campbell of Ormun-

del, an officer who had just arrived from Mus-

covy, where he had served in the army of the

Czar, he sent a detachment into the island

under the command of Colonel Cholmondely
to reduce it. The earl, on the appearance of

this force, crossed into Ross-shire, whence he

escaped to France
;
and Campbell being aban-

doned by his men after he had formed them in

order of battle, was taken prisoner while stand-

ing in a charging posture. Another detach-

ment under Colonel Clayton, was sent into the

isle of Skye, where Sir Donald Macdonald was

at the head of about 1,000 men
;
but the chief

made no resistance, and having no assurance

of protection from the government in case of a

surrender, retired into one of the Uists, where

he remained till he obtained a ship which

carried him to France. About this time three

ships arrived among the western islands from

France with military supplies for the use of

the insurgents, but they came too late to be of

any service. Two of them, after taking 70

gentlemen on board, immediately returned to

France, and the third, which carried fifty chests
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of small arms, and one hundred and fifty barrels

of gunpowder, and other military stores, was

captured while at anchor near Uist by an Eng-
lish ship of war.

In consequence of instructions from govern-

ment, General Cadogan issued an order, which

was intimated at the different parish churches

in the north, requiring the rebels to surrender

themselves and to deliver up their arms, assur-

ing them, that such as complied should have

liberty granted to return home in safety, but

threatening to punish rigorously those who
refused to comply. This order was generally

obeyed by the common people in the Lowlands,
who had been engaged in the insurrection

;
but

few of the Highlanders seemed to regard it.

To enforce compliance, Cadogan despatched dif-

ferent detachments through the Highlands, and

took up his quarters at Blair Athole, where he

could more easily communicate with the disaf-

fected districts. He next removed to Ruthven

in Badenoch, and afterwards proceeded to Inver-

ness, where he received Glengary's submission.

Lochiel, Keppoch, and Clanranald, had re-

solved to oppose by force the delivery of their

arms; but on hearing that Clayton, who had

returned from Skye, had resolved to march

from Fortwilliam to Lochiel's house to disarm

the Camerons, these chiefs retired, and their

men delivered up their arms without resist-

ance. Having succeeded in disarming the

Highlands, the general left Inverness on the

27th of April, leaving General Sabine in

command, and proceeded to London. The

rebellion being now considered completely

extinguished, the Dutch auxiliaries were with-

drawn from Scotland, and in a short time

thereafter were embarked for Holland.

To try the prisoners confined in the castles

of Edinburgh, Stirling, Blackness, and other

places in Scotland, a commission of Oyer and

Terminer was appointed to sit at Carlisle in

December, 1716. There were nearly seventy

arraigned. Of twenty-nine who were brought
to trial, twenty-five pled guilty. Brigadier

Campbell of Ormundel, Tulloch of Tannachie,
Stewart of Foss, and Stewart of Glenbuckie,
entered a plea of not guilty. The two last

having satisfied the solicitor-general of their

innocence, he allowed a writ of noli prosequi
to be entered in their behalf, and Campbell

having escaped from the castle of Carlisle,

Tulloch alone stood his trial, but he was ac-

quitted. Sentence of death was passed upon
the twenty-five who had admitted their guilt,

and thirty-six were discharged for want of

evidence
;
but the sentence of death was never

put into execution. It was wise in the gov-

ernment to pacify the national disaffection by

showing mercy.

Following up the same humane view, an act

of grace was passed in 1717 by the king and

both houses of parliament, granting a free and

general pardon to all persons who had com-

mitted any treasonable offences, before the 6th

of May of that year, with the exception of

those who, having committed such offences,

had gone beyond the seas, and who, before

the said day, had returned into Great Britain

or Ireland without his majesty's license, or

who should on or after the said day return

into either of the kingdoms without such

license. All persons of the name and clan of

Macgregor were also excepted, as well as all

such persons as should, on the 5th of May,

1717, remain attainted for high treason. But

all such persons so attainted, unless specially

named, and who had not escaped out of prison,

were freely pardoned and discharged. Under

this act the Earl of Carnwath, and Lords

Widdrington and Nairne, were delivered from,

the Tower: seventeen persons confined in

Newgate, the prisoners still remaining in the

castles of Lancaster and Carlisle, and those in

the castles of Edinburgh and Stirling, and

other places in Scotland, including Lords

Strathallan and Rollo, were likewise released.

While the Chevalier was preparing to em-

bark for Scotland, the Earl of Stair, (the am-

bassador at the court of France,) had used

every effort to prevent him. Duclos and others

say that Stair not only applied to the Duke of

Orleans, the regent, to have the Chevalier

arrested, but that finding the regent insincere

in his promises of compliance, he sent persons

to assassinate the Chevalier on the road when

crossing France to embark for Scotland. That

Stair made such an application, and that he

employed spies to watch the progress of the

prince, are circumstances highly probable; but

both Marshal Berwick and the Earl of Mar

discredited the last part of the story, as they
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considered Stair incapable of ordering an action

so atrocious as the assassination of the prince.
8

On the return of the Chevalier, Stair, afraid

that he and his partisans
in France would

intrigue with the court, presented a memorial

to the regent in name of his Britannic majesty,

in which, after notifying the flight of the

Chevalier, and the dispersion of his forces, he

requested the regent to compel the prince to

quit France. He next insisted that such of

the rebels as had retired to France should be

ordered forthwith to depart from that country.

The removal of the Jacobite exiles from the

French court was all that the earl could at that

time obtain from the regent. By an agreement,

however, which was shortly thereafter entered

into between France and England, mutually

guaranteeing the succession to the crown of

France, and the Hanover succession according

to the provisions of the treaty of Utrecht, it

was stipulated that the Pretender should be

sent beyond the Alps, and should never be

allowed to return again to France or Lorraine

on any pretence whatever, and that none of

the rebellious subjects of Great Britain should

be allowed to reside in France.

After the suppression of the insurrection,

the leading supporters of government in Scot-

land repaired to London to congratulate George

I. on the success of his arms, and to obtain

the rewards they expected. The Duke of

Argyle, to whose exertions chiefly the king
was indebted for his peaceable accession to the

throne, and the extinction of the rebellion, was

already so overloaded with favoirs that he

could scarcely expect any addition to be made

to them, and would probably have been con-

tented with those he had obtained. The
"
squadron" party, however, which had been

long endeavouring to ruin him, now made

every exertion to get him disgraced; and being
assisted by the Marlborough faction, and a

party which espoused the interests of Cadogan,

they succeeded with the king, who dismissed

the duke and his brother, the Earl of Islay,

from all their employments, which were con-

ferred on others. General Carpenter, to whom
the success at Preston was entirely ascribed,

succeeded Argyle in the chief command of the

8 Mem. de Berwick, tome ii.

forces in North Britain; and the Duke of

Montrose was appointed Lord-Register of Scot-

land in the room of the Earl of Islay.

The aspect of affairs in the north of Europe

requiring the king's presence in his German

dominions, an act was passed repealing the

clause in the act for the further limitation of

the crown, which restricted the sovereign from

leaving his British dominions. He closed the

session on the 26th of June, and embarked at

Gravesend on the 7th of July for Holland,

where he arrived on the 9th. He proceeded

to Loo incognito, and thence set out for Pyr-

mont.

For reasons which need not be stated here,

Alberoni, the Spanish prime minister, was

eager that Great Britain should enter upon an

alliance with his country, and in his appeal to

George I. he was backed by the English minis-

ter at Madrid. George thus found himself

placed in a singular but fortunate situation.

Equally courted by France and Spain, he had

only to choose between them, and to form that

connexion which might be most conducive to

uphold the Protestant succession and to main-

tain the peace of Europe, with which the

internal peace of Great Britain and the safety

of the reigning family were intimately con-

nected. The alliance with France being con-

sidered as more likely to secure these advan-

tages than a connexion with Spain, the English

minister at Madrid was instructed by the

cabinet at home to decline the offers of Spain.
" His majesty," said secretary Stanhope, in his

letter to the minister,
"

is perfectly disposed

to enter into a new treaty with the Catholic

king, to renew and confirm the past ;
but the

actual situation of affairs does not permit him

to form other engagements, which, far from

contributing to preserve the neutrality of Italy,

would give rise to jealousies tending to dis-

turb it.
9

This was followed by the agreement with

France, to which allusion has been made, and

in January, 1717, a triple alliance was entered

into between England, France, and Holland,

by which the contracting parties mutually

guaranteed to one another the possession of all

places respectively held by them. The treaty

9 Mr. Stanhope to Mr. Doddington, March 13th.
1716.
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also contained a guaranty of the Protestant

succession on the throne of England, as well

as that of the Duke of Orleans to the crown of

France.

Baffled in all his attempts to draw England
into an alliance against the Emperor of Aus-

tria, Alberoni looked to the north, where he

hoped to find allies in the persons of the King
of Sweden and the Czar of Muscovy. Both

Peter the Great and Charles XII. were highly
incensed against the Elector of Hanover, the

former for resisting the attempts of Russia to

obtain a footing in the empire, the latter for

having joined the confederacy formed against

him during his captivity, and for having

accepted from the King of Denmark the

duchies of Bremen and Verden, Swedish pos-

sessions, which had been conquered by Den-

mark during the absence of Charles. Charles,

to revenge himself, formed the design of restor-

ing the Stuarts, and by his instructions, Goertz,

his minister in England, began to cabal with

the English Jacobites, to whom, in name of

his master, he promised to grant assistance

in any efforts they might make to rid them-

selves of the elector. It was whispered among
the Scottish Jacobites, that " the king," as

they termed the Chevalier, had some hopes of

prevailing on Charles to espouse his cause, but

the first notice on which they could place any
reliance was a letter from the Earl of Mar to

one Captain Straiton, which he directed to be

communicated to the Bishop of Edinburgh,
Lord Balmerino, and Mr. Lockhart of Carn-

wath, and in which he suggested, that as there

was a great scarcity in Sweden, the friends of

the Chevalier should purchase and send 5,000

or 6,000 bolls of meal to that country. Their

poverty, however, and the impracticability of

collecting and sending such a large quantity of

food out of the kingdom, without exciting the

suspicions of the government, prevented the

plan from being carried into execution. 1

Shortly thereafter, Straiton received another

letter from Mar, in which, after stating that

there was a design to attempt the restoration of

the prince by the aid of a certain foreign sover-

eign, and that it would look strange if his

friends at home did not put themselves in a

1 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 7.

condition to assist him, he suggested, that as

the want of money had been hitherto a great

impediment in the way of the Chevalier's suc-

cess, the persons to whom this and his first

letter were to be communicated, should per-

suade their friends to have in readiness such

money as they could procure, to be employed
when the proper opportunity offered. Mr.

Lockhart, who received a letter from the Che-

valier at the same time, undertook the task of

acquainting the Chevalier's friends in Scotland

with Mar's wish, and obtained assurances from

several persons of rank that they would attend

to the prince's request. Lord Eglinton in par-

ticular made an offer of 3,000 guineas.

The intrigues of Goertz, the Swedish minis-

ter, being discovered by the government, he

was arrested and his papers seized at the desire

of King George. This extraordinary proceed-

ing, against which the foreign ministers resident

at the British court remonstrated, roused the

indignation of Charles to the highest pitch,

and being now more determined than ever to

carry his project into effect, he, at the instiga-

tion of Alberoni, reconciled himself to the

Czar, who, in resentment of an offer made by

King George to Charles to join against Russia,

if the latter would ratify the cession of Bremen

and Verden, agreed to unite his forces with

those of Sweden and Spain for placing the

Pretender, on the throne of England. To

strengthen the interest of the Chevalier in the

north, Alberoni sent the Duke of Ormond into

Russia to negotiate a marriage between the son

of the Chevalier, and Anne the daughter of

Peter, but this project did not take effect.

The Chevalier himself, in the meantime, con-

tracted a marriage with the Princess Clemen-

tina Sobieski, but she was arrested at Inspruck

by order of the imperial government, when on

her journey to meet her betrothed husband,

and sent to a convent.

King George returned to England towards

the end of January, 1717. The parliament

met on the 20th of February, when he in-

formed them of the projected invasion, and

mentioned that he had given orders for laying

copies of papers connected therewith before

them. From these documents it appeared,

that the plan of invasion was ripe for execu-

tion, but that it was not intended to attempt
3 P
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it till the Dutch auxiliaries should be sent

back to Holland.

In consequence of the conduct of his Swedish

majesty, parliament passed a bill prohibiting

all intercourse with Sweden, and a fleet was

despatched to the Baltic under the command

of Sir George Byng, to observe the motions of

the Swedes; but the death of Charles XII.

dissolved the confederacy between Sweden and

Eussia.

"War was declared against Spain in Decem-

ber 1718; but a respectable minority in par-

liament, and the nation at large, were opposed

to it, as hurtful to the commercial interests of

Great Britain. France also followed the same

course.

The war with Spain revived the hopes of

the Jacobites, and the Duke of Ormond re-

paired to Madrid, where he held conferences

with Alberoni, and concerted an invasion of

Great Britain. The Dutch, alarmed at Or-

mond's appearance at Madrid, remonstrated

with Alberoni, as they had guaranteed the

Protestant succession, which might be endan-

gered if an insurrection in favour of the

Chevalier de St. George was encouraged by

Spain; but the cardinal assured them that the

duke had no other design in coming into

Spain but to consult his personal safety.

Meanwhile, under the pretence of sending
reinforcements into Sicily, preparations were

made at Cadiz and in the ports of Galicia for

the projected invasion, and the Chevalier him-

self proceeded to Madrid, where he was cor-

dially received and treated as King of Great

Britain. On the 10th of March, 1719, a fleet,

consisting of ten men-of-war and twenty-one

transports, having on board 5,000 men, a great

quantity of ammunition, and 30,000 muskets,
sailed from Cadiz, with instructions to join the

rest of the expedition at Corunna, and to make
a descent at once upon England and Ireland.

The Duke of Ormond was appointed com-
mander of the fleet, with the title of Captain-

general of his most Catholic Majesty; and he
was provided with declarations in the name of
the king, stating, that for many good reasons
he had sent forces into England and Scotland
to act as auxiliaries to King James.
To defeat this attempt the allied cabinets

adopted.the necessary measures. His Britannic

majesty having communicated to both houses

of parliament the advices he had received

respecting the projected invasion, they gave

him every assurance of support, and requested

him to augment his forces by sea and land.

He offered a reward of 10,000 to any one

who should apprehend the Duke of Ormond.

Troops were ordered to assemble in the north

and west of England, and a strong squadron,

under Admiral Norris, was equipped and sent

out to sea to meet the Spanish fleet. The

Dutch furnished 2,000 men, and six battalions

of Imperialists were sent from the Austrian

Netherlands; and the Duke of Orleans ordered

ships to be prepared at Brest to join the

English fleet, and made an offer of twenty bat-

talions for the service of King George.

The expedition under Ormond, with the ex-

ception of two frigates, never reached its des-

tination, having been dispersed and disabled,

off Cape Finisterre, by a violent storm which

lasted twelve days. These two ships reached

the coast of Scotland, having on board the

Earls Marischal and Seaforth, the Marquis of

Tullibardine, some field officers, 300 Spaniards,

and arms for 2,000 men. The expedition en-

tered Loch Alsh about the middle of May, and

the small force landed in the western High-

lands, when it was joined by some Highlanders,

chiefly Seaforth's men. The other Jacobite

clans, with the disappointment they formerly

experienced from France still fresh in their

recollection, resolved not to move till the whole

forces under Ormond should arrive. A differ-

ence arose between the Earl Marischal and the

Marquis of Tullibardine about the command,
but this dispute was put an end to by the ad-

vance of General "Wightman from Inverness,

with a body of regular troops. The High-
landers and their allies had taken possession

of the pass at Glenshiel; but on the approach
of the government forces they retired to the

pass at Strachell, which they resolved to de-

fend. General Wightman attacked and drove

them, after a smart action of three hours' dura-

tion, and after sustaining some loss, from one

eminence to another, when night put an end

to the combat. The Highlanders seeing no

chance of making a successful resistance, dis-

persed, during the night, among the mountains,

and the Spaniards, on the following day, surren-
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dered themselves prisoners of war. Marisclial,

Seaforth, and Tullibardine, with the other

officers, retired to the Western Isles, and man-

aged to escape to the continent. 2

After government had succeeded in putting
an end to the rebellion, it felt the necessity of

doing something, not only to allay the con-

sequent disorders in the Highlands, but also

to render the Highlanders less capable in

future of entering into rebellion, and make
them more accessible to the strong arm of the

law. The estates of most of the chiefs and

proprietors who had been engaged were for-

feited, although practically in some cases it

was found difficult to carry the forfeiture into

effect; as in the case of the Earl of Seaforth,

one of whose retainers seized the office of re-

ceiver, and transmitted the rents to the exiled

earl.

Lord Lovat, who, on account of his loyal con-

duct, had risen high in the royal favour, drew

up, in 1724, a memorial to George I. con-

cerning the state of the Highlands, charac-

terised by great insight into the source of the

existing evils, and recommending to govern-

ment the adoption of measures calculated to

remedy these.

From this memorial we learn that King

William, possibly in accordance with the re-

commendation of Breadalbane, formerly referred

to, had organized a few independent Highland

companies, which appear to have been of some

service in repressing the disorders so prevalent

in the north. 3 " The independent companies,

raised by King William not long after the

revolution, reduced the Highlanders to better

order than at any time they had been in since

the restoration. They were composed of the

natives of the country, inured to the fatigue of

travelling the mountains, lying on the hills,

wore the same habit, and spoke the same

language; but for want of being put under

proper regulations, corruptions were introduced,

and some, who commanded them, instead of

bringing criminals to justice, (as I am in-

formed) often compounded for the theft, and,

for a sum of money set them at liberty. They
are said also to have defrauded the government

-
Lockhart, vol. ii. p. 19.

3 See for the information in these paragraphs the

appendices to Jaraieson's edition of Burt's Letters.

by keeping not above half their numbers in

constant pay, which (as I humbly conceive)

might be the reason your majesty caused them

to be disbanded."

These companies being broken up in 1717,

according to Lovat and Wade, robberies went

on " without any manner of fear or restraint,

and have ever since continued to infest the

country in a public and open manner." 5

Wade entered upon his investigation in

1724, and his report shows he was competent
to undertake such a task. He computed that

of the 22,000 Highlandmen able to bear

arms, 10,000 were "vassals to superiors," well

affected to government, and the remainder had

been engaged in rebellions, and were ready,

when called upon by their chiefs,
" to create

new troubles." One of the greatest grievances

was the robberies referred to by Lovat, accom-

panied with the levying of black mail. Ac-

cording to the general, "the clans, in the

Highlands, the most addicted to rapine and

plunder, are the Camerons, on the west of the

shire of Inverness
;
the Mackenzies and others,

in the shire of Ross, who were vassals to the

late Earl of Seaforth; the M'Donalds of Kep-

poch; the Broadalbin men and the M'Gregors,
on the borders of Argileshire. They go out in

parties from ten to thirty men, traverse large

tracks of mountains, till they arrive at the low

lands, where they design to commit their de-

predations, which they choose to do in places

distant from the glens which they inhabit.

They drive the stolen cattle in the night time,

and in the day remain on the tops of the

mountains or in the woods, (with which the

Highlands abound), and take the first occasion

to sell them at the fairs or markets that are

annually held in many parts of the country.
" Those who are robbed of their cattle (or

persons employed by them), follow them by
the tract, and often recover them from the

robbers, by compounding for a certain sum of

money agreed on; but if the pursuers are in

numbers superiour to the thieves, and happen
to seize any of them, they are seldom or never

prosecuted, the poorer sort being unable to

support the charges of a prosecution. They

4 Burt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 277, 278.
5 Lovat himself commanded one of these companies,

and appears to have felt pretty sore at the loss of it.
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are likewise under the apprehension of becom-

ing the object of their revenge, by having their

houses and stacks burnt, their cattle stolen, or

hocked, and their lives at the mercy of the

tribe or clan to whom the banditti belongs.

The richer sort, to keep, as they call it, good

neighbourhood, generally compound with the

chieftain of the tribe or clan for double resti-

tution, which he willingly pays to save one of

his clan from prosecution ;
and this is repaid

him by a contribution from the thieves of his

clan, who never refuse the payment of their

proportion to save one of their own fraternity.

This composition is seldom paid in money, but

in cattle stolen from the opposite side of the

country, to make reparation to the person

injured."
6

To remedy these evils, an act for the disarm-

ing of the Highlanders was passed in the year

1716, but it was so badly put into force that

the most disaffected clans remained better

armed than ever. By the act, the collectors

of taxes were empowered to pay for the arms

delivered up; but none were given in except

such as were broken and unfit for use, which

were valued at a price far beyond what they

were worth. Not only so, but a brisk trade

appears to have been carried on with Holland

and other countries in broken and useless

arms, which were imported and delivered up
to the commissioners at, exorbitant prices.

Wade also found in the possession of the

Highlanders a great number of arms which

they had obtained from the Spaniards engaged
in the affair at Glen Shiel. Altogether he

computed that the Highlanders hostile to his

majesty were in possession of about five or six

thousand arms of various kinds. Wade further

reports that to keep the Highlanders in awe,
" four barracks had been built in different parts
of the Highlands, and parties of regular troops,
under the command of Highland officers, with
a company of 30, established to conduct them

through the mountains, was thought an effectual

scheme, as well to prevent the rising of the

Highlanders disaffected to your majesty's gov-

ernment, as to hinder depredations on your
faithful subjects. It is to be wished that,

during the reign of your majesty and your suc-

6 Hurt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 273, 274.

cessors, no insurrection may ever happen to

experience whether the barracks will effectually

answer the end proposed; yet I am humbly of

opinion, that if the number of troops they are

built to contain were constantly quartered in

them (whereas there is now in some but 30

men, and proper provisions laid in for their

support during the winter season), they might
be of some use to prevent the insurrections of

the Highlanders, though, as I humbly conceive

(having seen them all), that two of the four

are not built in as proper situations as they

might have been. As to the Highland parties,

I have already presumed to represent to your

majesty the little use they were of in hindering

depredations, and the great sufferings of the

soldiers employed in that service, upon which

your majesty was graciously pleased to counter-

mand them.
" I must farther beg leave to report to your

majesty, that another great cause of disorders

in the Highlands is the want of proper persons

to execute the several offices of civil magis-

trates, especially in the shires of Inverness,

Ross, and some other parts of the Highlands.
" The party quarrels and violent animosities

among the gentlemen equally well affected to

your majesty's government, I humbly conceive

to be one great cause of this defect. Those

here in arms for your majesty, who raised a

spirit in the shire of Inverness, and recovered

the town of that name from the rebels (their

main body being then at Perth), complain that

the persons employed as magistrates over them

have little interest in the country, and that

three of the deputy sheriffs in those parts were

persons actually in arms against your majesty
at the time of the rebellion, which (as I am

credibly informed) is true. They likewise

complain that many are left out of the com-

missions of lord lieutenants, deputy lieutenants,

sheriffs, &c., and I take the liberty to observe,

that the want of acting justices of the peace is

a great encouragement to the disorders so fre-

quently committed in that part of the country,

there being but one now residing as an acting

justice for the space of above an hundred miles

in compass."
7

He also complained that the regular troops

7
Idem, pp. 278, '279.
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laboured under great disadvantages in endea-

vouring to penetrate in the Highland fastnesses

from the want of roads and bridges.

As a remedy for these evils he proposed

"that companies of such Highlanders as are

well affected to his majesty's government be

established under proper regulations, and com-

manded by officers speaking the language of

the country, subject to martial law, and under

the inspection and orders of the governors of

Fort-William, Inverness, and the officer com-

manding his majesty's forces in those parts;"
8

that a redoubt or barrack be erected at Inver-

ness, and an addition be made to the one already

established at Killyhuimen (Fort Augustus),

at the south end of Loch Ness, and that a

small vessel, with oars and sails, be built on

the loch, capable of holding from sixty to eighty

soldiers, which Avould be a means of keeping

up communication between Inverness and Fort

Augustus, and of sending parties to the county

bordering on the lake. Further, that the

Fort Augustus.

different garrisons and castles in North Britain,

especially the castle of Edinburgh, be put in

such condition as to guard against surprise,

and that a regiment of dragoons be quartered

in the district between Perth and Inverness.

As to the civil government of the country,

Wade recommended that proper persons be

nominated for sheriffs and deputy sheriffs in

the Highland counties, and that justices of the

peace and constables, with small salaries, be

established in proper places, and that quarter

sessions be regularly held at Killyhuimen,

Kuthven in Badenoch, Fort William, and if

necessary, at Bernera, near the coast of the Isle

of Skye.

l>y an act passed in 1725, Wade was em-

powered to proceed to the Highlands and

summon the clans to deliver up their arms, and

to carry most of his other recommendations

into effect. After quelling the malt-tax riots

in Glasgow and Edinburgh, Wade set out for

the Highlands, and arrived in Inverness on the

10th of August 1725, and immediately pro-

ceeded to business. As his report contains

much interesting and valuable information on

8 "The companies were six in number: three distin-

guished by the name of large companies, consisted of

100 men each ; and three smaller companies, of 70 men
each. The former were commanded by captains, and
the latter by captain-lieutenants, each commanding
officer being, as the name implies, independent of the

others. To each company, great and small, WHS
attached the same number of subalterns, viz. two lieu-

tenants and one ensign."



486 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

the state of the Highlands at this time, we

shall give here a large extract from it.

"The laird of the M'Kenzies, and other

chiefs of the clans and tribes, tenants to the

late Earl of Seaforth, came to me in a body, to

the number of about fifty, and assured me that

both they and their followers were ready to

pay a dutiful obedience to your majesty's com-

mands, by a peaceable surrender of their arms;

that if your majesty would be graciously

pleased to procure them an indemnity for the

rents that had been misapplied for the time

past, they would for the future become faithful

subjects to your majesty, and pay them to your

majesty's receiver for the use of the public. I

assured them of your majesty's gracious inten-

tions towards them, and that they might rely

on your majesty's bounty and clemency, pro-

vided they would merit it by their future good

conduct and peaceable behaviour
;
that I had

vour majesty's commands to send the first

summons to the country they inhabited; which

would soon give them an opportunity of show-

ing the sincerity of their promises, and of

having the merit to set example to the rest of

the Highlands, who in their turns were to be

summoned to deliver up their arms, pursuant

to the disarming act
;
that they might choose

the place they themselves thought most con-

venient to surrender their arms
;
and that I

would answer, that neither their persons nor

their property should be molested by your

majesty's troops. They desired they might be

permitted to deliver up their arms at the castle

of Brahan, the principal seat of their late

superior, who, they said, had promoted and

encouraged them to this their submission
;
but

begged that none of the Highland companies

might be present ; for, as they had always been

reputed the bravest, as well as the most numer-

ous of the northern clans, they thought it more

consistent with their honour to resign their

arms to your majesty's veteran troops ;
to

which I readily consented.
" Summonses were accordingly sent to the

several clans and tribes, the inhabitants of 18

parishes, who were vassals or tenants of the

late Earl of Seaforth, to bring or send in all

their arms and warlike weapons to the castle

of Brahan, on or before the 28th of August.
" On the 25th of August T \vent to the castle

of Brahan, with a detachment of 200 of the

regular troops, and was met there by the chiefs

of the several clans and tribes, who assured

me they had used their utmost diligence in

collecting all the arms they were possessed of,

which should be brought thither on the Satur-

day following, pursuant to the summons they

had received ;
and telling me they were appre-

hensive of insults or depredations from the

neighbouring clans of the Camerons, and others

who still continued in possession of their arms.

Parties of the Highland companies were ordered

to guard the passes leading to their country ;

which parties continued there for their protec-

tion, till the clans in that neighbourhood were

summoned, and had surrendered their arms.

" On the day appointed, the several clans

and tribes assembled in the adjacent villages,

and marched in good order through the great

avenue that leads to the castle
;
and one after

another laid down their arms in the court-yard,

in great quiet and decency, amounting to 784

of the several species mentioned in the act of

parliament.
" The solemnity with which this was per-

formed, had undoubtedly a great influence over

the rest of the Highland clans
;
and disposed

them to pay that obedience to your majesty's

commands, by a peaceable surrender of their

arms, which they had never done to any of

your royal predecessors, or in compliance with

any law either before or since the Union.
" The next summons were sent to the clans

and countries in the neighbourhood of Killy-

huimen and Fort William. The arms of the

several clans of the M'Donalds of Glengary,

M'Leods of Glenelg, Chisholms of Strathglass,

and Grants of Glenmoriston, were surrendered

to me at the barrack of Killyhuimen, the 15th

of September ;
and those of the M'Donalds of

Keppoch, Moidart, Aresaig, and Glencoe
;
as

also the Camerons, and Stewarts of Appin,
were delivered to the governor of Fort William.

The M'Intoshes were summoned, and brought
in their arms to Inverness

;
and the followers

of the Duke of Gordon, with the clan of

M'Phersons, to the barrack of Ruthveii in

Badenoch.
" The inhabitants of the isles of Skye and

Mull were also summoned
;
the M'Donalds,

M'Kinnons, and M'Leods delivered their arms
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at the barrack of Bernera; and those of the

Isle of Mull, to the officer commanding at

Castle Duart, both on the 1st day of October.
" The regiments remained till that time en-

camped at Inverness
;
and this service was

performed by sending detachments from the

camp to the several parts of the Highlands

appointed for the surrender of arms. Ammu-
nition bread was regularly delivered to the

soldiers, and biscuits to the detachments that

were sent into the mountains; The camp was

plentifully supplied with provisions, and an

hospital in the town provided for the sick

men. This contributed to preserve the soldiers

in health
;
so that notwithstanding the exces-

sive bad weather and continued rains that fell

during the campaign, there died of the three

regiments no more than ten soldiers : but the

weather growing cold, and the snow falling in

the mountains, obliged me to break up the

camp, and send the troops into winter quarters.
" The new-raised companies of Highlanders

were for some time encamped with the regular

troops, performing the duty of the camp with

the rest of the soldiers. They mounted guard,

went out upon parties, had the articles of war

read and explained to them, and were regularly

paid with the rest of the troops. When they
had made some progress in their exercise and

discipline, they were sent to their respective

stations with proper orders
;
as well to prevent

the Highlanders from returning to the use of

arms, as to hinder their committing depreda-

tions on the low country.
" The Lord Lovat's company was posted to

guard all the passes in the mountains, from the

Isle of Skye eastward, as far as Inverness
;
the

company of Colonel Grant in the several passes

from Inverness southward to Dunkeld; Sir

Duncan Campbell's company, from Dunkeld

westward, as far as the country of Lorn. The

three companies commanded by lieutenants

were posted, the first at Fort "William
;
the

second at Killyhuimen ;
and the third at Ruth-

ven in Badenoch ;
and may in a short time be

assembled in a body, to march to any part of

the Highlands as occasion may require.
" The clans of the northern Highlands hav-

ing peaceably surrendered their arms, pursuant

to the several summonses sent them in your

majesty's name, and consequently exposed to

the inroads of their neighbours, to prevent this

inconvenience, (though the season of the year

was far advanced) I thought it both just and

necessary to proceed to disarm the southern

clans, who had also joined in the rebellion,

and thereby to finish the campaign by sum-

moning all the clans and countries who had

taken up arms against your majesty in the year

1715.
" Summonses were accordingly sent to the

inhabitants of the Brea of Mar, Perth, Athol,

Braidalbin, Menteth, and those parts of the

shire of Stirling and Dumbarton included in

the disarming act. Parties of the regular troops

were ordered to march from the nearest garri-

sons to several places appointed for the sur-

render of their arms, and circular letters were

sent to the principal gentlemen in those parts,

exciting them to follow the example of the

northern Highlands. The clans of these coun-

tries brought in their arms on the days and

at the places appointed by their respective

summonses, but not in so great a quantity as

the northern clans had done. The gentlemen

assured me they had given strict orders to their

tenants to bring in all the arms they had in

their possession ;
but that many of them,

knowing they were not to be paid for them, as

stipidated by the former act, several had been

carried to the forges, and turned into working
tools and other peaceable instruments

;
there

being no prohibition by the act of parliament

to hinder them from disposing of them in any
manner they thought most to their advantage,

provided they had no arms in their possession,

after the day mentioned in the summons
;
and

if the informations I have received are true,

the same thing has been practised, more or

less, by all the clans that have been summoned

pursuant to the present act of parliament,

which makes no allowance for arms delivered

up, in order to prevent the notorious frauds

and abuses committed by those who had the

execution of the former act, whereby your

majesty paid near 13,000 for broken and

useless arms, that were hardly worth the ex-

pense of carriage.
" The number of arms collected this year in

the Highlands, of the several species mentioned

in the disarming act, amount in the whole to

2,685. The greatest part of them are deposited
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in the Castle of Edinburgh, and the rest at

Fort William, and the barrack of Bernera. At

the time they were brought in by the clans,

there was a mixture of good and bad ;
but the

damage they received in the carriage, and

growing rusty by being exposed to rain, they

are of little more worth than the value of the

iron.

" In the execution of the power given me

by your majesty, to grant licences to such per-

sons whose business or occupation required the

use of arms for their safety and defence, I have

given out in the whole 230 licences to the

foresters, drovers, and dealers in cattle, and

other merchandise, belonging to the several

clans who have surrendered their arms, which

are to remain in force for two years, provided

they behave themselves during that time as

faithful subjects to your majesty, and peace-

ably towards their neighbours. The names of

the persons empowered to wear arms by these

licences are entered in a book, as also the names

of the gentlemen by whom they were recom-

mended, and who have promised to be answer-

able for their good behaviour.

" The several summonses for the surrender

of arms have been affixed to the doors of 129

parish churches, on the market crosses of the

county towns
;
and copies of the same regularly

entered in the sheriffs books in the method

prescribed by the disarming act, by which these

Highlanders who shall- presume to wear arms

without a legal qualification, are subject to the

penalties of that law which has already had so

good an effect, that, instead of gi^ns, swords,

durks, and pistols, they now travel to their

churches, markets, and fairs with only a staff

in their hands. Since the Highland companies

have been posted at their respective stations,

several of the most notorious thieves have been

seized on and committed to prison, some of

which are now under prosecution, but others,

either by the corruption or negligence of the

jailers, have been set at liberty, or suffered to

make their escape.
" The imposition commonly called black-

meal is now no longer paid by the inhabitants

bordering on the Highlands ;
and robberie.'

and depredations, formerly complained of, art

less frequently attempted than has been known
for many years past, there having been bu'

me single instance where cattle have been

tolen, without being recovered and returned

o their proper owners.

"At my first coming to the Highlands, I

caused an exact survey to be taken of the

akes, and that part of the country lying be-

ween Inverness and Fort William, which

extends from the east to the west sea, in order

o render the communication more practicable ;

,nd materials were provided for the vessel

which, by your majesty's commands, was to be

juilt on the Lake Ness
;
which is now finished

and launched into the lake. It is made in the

form of a gaily, either for rowing or sailing ;

s capable of carrying- a party of 50 or 60

soldiers to any part of the country bordering

m the said lake
;
and will be of great use for

transporting provisions and ammunition from

Inverness to the barrack of Killyhuimen,

where four companies of foot have been quar-

tered since the beginning of last October.

" I presume also to acquaint your majesty,

that parties of regular troops have been con-

stantly employed in making the roads of com-

munication between Killyhuimen and Fort

William, who have already made so good a

progress in that work, that I hope, before the

;nd of next summer, they will be rendered

both practicable and convenient for the march

of your majesty's forces between those garri-

sons, and facilitate their assembling in one

body, if occasion should require.
" The fortifications and additional barracks,

which, by your majesty's commands were to

be erected at Inverness and Killyhuimen, are

the only part of your majesty's instructions

which I have not been able to put in execu-

tion. There were no persons in that part of

the Highlands of sufficient credit or knowledge

to contract for a work of so extensive a nature.

The stone must be cut out of the quarries ;

nor could the timber be provided sooner than

by sending to Norway to purchase it
; and,

although the materials had been ready and at

hand, the excessive rains, that fell during the

whole summer season, must have rendered it

impossible to have carried on the work. I

have, however, contracted for the necessary

repairs of the old castle at Inverness, which I

am promised will be finished before next winter.

" I humbly beg leave to observe to your
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majesty, that nothing has contrihuted more to

the success of my endeavours in disarming the

Highlanders, and reducing the vassals of the

late Earl of Seafield to your obedience, than

the power your majesty was pleased to grant

me of receiving the submissions of persons

attainted of high treason. They were dispersed

in different parts of the Highlands, without

the least apprehension of being betrayed or

molested by their countrymen, and, for their

safety and protection, must have contributed

all they were able to encourage the xise of arms,

and to infect the minds of those people on

whose protection they depended. In this situa-

tion, they were proper instruments, and always

ready to be employed in promoting the interest

of the Pretender, or any other foreign power

they thought capable of contributing to a

change in that government to which they had

forfeited their lives, and from Avhom they

expected no favour. The greatest part of

them were drawn into the rebellion at the

instigation of their superiors, and, in my
humble opinion, have continued their disaffec-

tion, rather from despair than any real dislike

to your majesty's government ;
for it was no

sooner known that your majesty had em-

powered me to receive the submissions of those

who repented of their crimes, and were willing

and desirous for the future to live peaceably

under your mild and moderate government, but

applications were made to me from several of

them to intercede with your majesty on their

behalf, declaring their readiness to abandon the

Pretender's party, and to pay a dutiful obedi-

ence to your majesty ;
to which I answered,

that I should be ready to intercede in their

favour, when I was farther convinced of the

sincerity of their promises ;
that it would soon

oome to their turn to be summoned to bring
in their arms

; and, when they had paid that

first mark of their obedience, by peaceably

surrendering them, I should thereby be better

justified in receiving their submissions, and in

recommending them to your majesty's mercy
and clemency.

" As soon as their respective clans had de-

livered up their arms, several of these attainted

persons came to me at different times and

places to render their submissions to your

majesty. They laid down their swords on the

i.

ground, expressed their sorrow and concern

for having made use of them in opposition to

your majesty; and promised a peaceful and

dutiful obedience for the remaining part of

their lives. They afterwards sent me their

several letters of submission, copies of which

I transmitted to your majesty's principal secre-

tary of state.

" I made use of the proper arguments to

convince them of their past folly and rashness,

and gave them hopes of obtaining pardon from

your majesty's gracious and merciful disposi-

tion
; but, being a stranger both to their per-

son's and character, I required they would

procure gentlemen of unquestioned zeal to

your majesty's government, who would write

to me in their favour, and in some measure be

answerable for their future conduct which

was accordingly done.
" When the news came that your majesty

was graciously pleased to accept their submis-

sion, and had given the proper orders for pre-

paring their pardons, it was received with great

joy and satisfaction throughout the Highlands,
which occasioned the Jacobites at Edinburgh
to say, (by way of reproach,) that I had not

only defrauded the Highlanders of their arms,

but had also debauched them from their loyalty

and allegiance."
9

Barracks were built at Inverness, a fort

erected at Fort-Augustus, and at various places

over the country small towers or forts, each

capable of containing a small number of

soldiers.

Wade at the same time received letters of

submission from a considerable number of

chiefs and other troublesome Highlanders who
were lying under the taint of high treason.

These were expressed in terms of excessive

humility and contrition, and were fidl of the

strongest promises of future good behaviour.

Wade seems, as Burton 1
remarks, "to have

known so little of the people as to believe in

their sincerity. Yet the contemporary cor-

respondence of the Jacobites indicates, what

subsequent events confirmed, that the High-

landers, with the inscrutable diplomatic cunning

peculiar to their' race, had overreached the

' Hurt's Letters, vol. ii. pp. 303314.
Scotland (1689 1747), vol. ii. p. '217.

3Q
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military negotiator, and committed a quantity

of effective arms to places of concealment." 2

One of the greatest services rendered by Wade

to the government, and that for which he is

chiefly known to posterity, was the construc-

tion of roads through the Highlands, in order

to facilitate the march of troops, and open up

a communication between the various garrisons.

Previous to this the only substitutes for roads

existing in the Highlands were the rude tracts,

sometimes scarcely distinguishable from the

surrounding waste, made by many .generations

of Highlanders and their cattle over moun-

tains, through bogs, across rapid rivers, skirting

giddy precipices, and perfectly bewildering and

fraught with danger to any but natives. Cap-

tain Burt, one of the engineers engaged in

Wade's expedition, gives in his Letters many

graphic descriptions of the difficulties and

dangers attendant on travelling in the High-
lands before the making of these new roads.

" The old ways," he says,
"

(for roads I shall

not call them,) consisted chiefly of stony moors,

bogs, rugged, rapid fords, declivities of hills,

entangling woods, and giddy precipices."
3 As

a specimen of what the traveller might expect
in his progress among the mountains, we give

the following incident which occurred to Burt

in one of his own journeys.
4 "There was

nothing remarkable afterwards, till I came

near the top of the hill; where there was a

seeming plain, of about 150 yards, between me
and the summit.

" No sooner was I upon the edge of it, but

my guide desired me to alight; end then I

perceived it was a bog, or peat-moss, as they
call it.

" I had experience enough of these deceitful

surfaces to order that the horses should be led

in separate parts, lest, if one broke the turf,

the other, treading in his steps, might sink.

2
Among Wade's correspondents were Robert Stewart

of
Appin,

Alexander Macdonald of Glencoe, Grant,
Laird of Glenmorison, the Laird of Mackinnon, Robert
Campbell, alias Macgregor (the notorious Rob Roy),
LordOgilvy. "No doubt," writes Lockhart to the
Pretender, "the government will be at pains to mag-
nify and spread abroad their success in disarming the
Highlanders, but depend on't, it's all a jest; for few
or no swords or pistols are or will be surrendered, and
only such of their fire-arms as are of no value."
I/nckhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 195.

3 Letter xxvi., p. 191, vol. ii.

4 Letter xvi.

"The horse I used to ride having little

weight but his own, went on pretty success-

fully; only now and then breaking the surface

a little; but the other, that carried my port-

manteau, and being not quite so nimble, was

much in danger, till near the further end, and

there he sank. But it luckily happened to be

in a part where his long legs went to the bot-

tom, which is generally hard gravel, or rock
;

but he was in almost up to the back.
"
By this time my own (for distinction) was

quite free of the bog, and being frighted, stood

very tamely by himself; which he would not

have done at another time. In the mean

while we were forced to wait at a distance,

while the other was flouncing and throwing
the dirt about him; for there was no means of

coming near him to ease him of the heavy
burden he had upon his loins, by which he

was sometimes in danger to be turned upon his

back, when he rose to break the bog before

him. But, in about a quarter of an hour, he

got out, bedaubed with the slough, shaking
with fear, and his head and neck all over in a

foam.
" As for myself, I was harassed on this

slough, by winding about from place to place,

to find such tufts as were within my stride or

leap, in my heavy boots with high heels;

which, by my spring, when the little hillocks

were too far asunder, broke the turf, and then

I threw myself down toward the next protu-

berance; but to my guide it seemed nothing;
he was light of body, shod with flat brogues,

wide in the soles, and accustomed to a parti-

cular step, suited to the occasion.
" This hill was about three quarters of a

mile over, and had but a short descent on the

further side, rough, indeed, but not remarkable

in this country. I had now five computed
miles to go before I came to my first asylum,
that is, five Scots miles, which, as in the north

of England, are longer than yours as three is

to two; and, if the difficulty of the way were

to be taken into account, it might well be

called fifteen. This, except about three quar-

ters of a mile of heathy ground, pretty freu

from stones and rocks, consisted of stony

moors, almost impracticable for a horse with

his rider, and likewise of rocky way, where we
were obliged to dismount, and sometimes climb,
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aud otherwhile slide down. But what vexed

me most of all, they called it a road; and yet

I must confess it was preferable to a boggy

way. The great difficulty was to wind about

with the horses, and find such places as they

could possibly be got over."

Wade went vigorously to work in the con-

struction of his roads, selecting from the regu-

lar troops and Highland companies 500 men,

who were put on extra pay while at the work

of road-making. Notwithstanding the many
difficulties to be encountered, the inexperience

of the workmen, and the inferior tools then at

their command for such a purpose, the under-

taking was satisfactorily accomplished in about

ten years. A Scottish gentleman, who visited

the Highlands in 1737, found the roads com-

pleted, and was surprised by the improvements
which he found to have arisen from them,

amongst which he gratefully notes the exist-

ence of civilized places for the entertainment

of travellers. Formerly the only apologies for

hostelries in the Highlands were wretched

huts, often with only one apartment, swarming
with lively insects, the atmosphere solid with

smoke, and the fragile walls pierced here and

there with holes large enough to admit a man's

head. Now, however, these were replaced by
small but substantial inns built of stone,

located at distances of about ten miles from

each other along the new roads. The standard

breadth of the roads was sixteen feet, although

where possible they were made wider, and

were carried on in straight lines, unless where

this was impracticable.

Wade's main road, commencing at Perth,

went by Dunkeld and Blair-Athole to Dalna-

cardoch, where it was joined by another from

Stirling by Crieff, through Glenalmoncl, to

Aberfeldy, where it crossed the Tay, on what

was then considered a magnificent bridge of

five arches. From Dalnacardoch the road goes

on to Dalwhinny, where it again branches into

two, one branch proceeding towards the north-

west through Garva Moor, and over the Cor-

ryarrick mountain to Fort-Augustus, the other

striking almost due north to Euthven in Bad-

euoch, and thence by Delmagary to Inverness.

Another road, along the shores of .Lochs Ness

and Lochy, joined the latter place with the

strongholds of Fort-Augustus aud Fort-William.

One of the most difficult parts of the under-

taking was the crossing of the lofty Corry-

arrick, the road having to be carried up the

south side of the mountain by a series of about

fifteen zigzags. The entire length of road con-

structed measured about 250 miles.

Although these roads were doubtless of con-

siderable advantage in a military point of view,

they appear to have been of very little use in

developing the commercial resources of the

Lieutenant General Wade, Commander-in-Chief of all His

Majesty's Forces in Scotland. (From an old engrav-
ing in the possession of D. Laing, Esq.)

country.
"
They were indeed truly military

roads laid down by a. practical soldier, and

destined for warlike purposes with scarcely

any view towards the ends for which free and

peaceful citizens open up a system of internal

transit. 5
They appear to have been regarded

with suspicion and dislike by all classes of the

Highlanders. The chiefs, according to Burt,
6

complained that in time of peace they opened up
their country to strangers, who would be likely

to weaken the attachment of their vassals, and

that in time of war they laid their fastnesses

open to the enemy. The bridges, especially,

they said would render the people effeminate,

and less fit to ford the rivers in other places

where there were no such means of crossing.

The middle class again objected to them be-

"' Burton (16891747), vol. ii. p. 256.
6

Letters, vol. ii. p. 220.
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cause, their horses being unshod, and neces-

sarily so on account of the places where they

had to find pasture the gravel would soon

whet away their hoofs, and thus render them

unserviceable.
" The lowest class, who, many

of them, at some times cannot compass a pair

of shoes for themselves, allege that the gravel

is intolerable to their naked feet; and the

complaint has extended to their thin brogues."

For these reasons, allied no doubt to obstinacy

and hatred of innovation and government in-

terference, many of the Highlanders, despis-

ing the new roads, continued to walk in the

wretched ways of their fathers.

Although the Chevalier still had many ad-

herents in the south of Scotland, yet. as they

were narrowly watched by the government, it

was considered inexpedient and unsafe to cor-

respond with them on the subject of the

Spanish expedition. In the state of uncer-

tainty in which they were thus kept, they

wisely abstained from committing themselves,

and when Marischal landed they were quite

unprepared to render him any assistance, and

unanimously resolved not to move in any shape

till a rising should take place in England in

favour of the Chevalier.

As many inconveniences had arisen from a

want of co-operation among the friends of the

Chevalier in the south of Scotland, Mr. Lock-

hart, in concert with the Bishop of Edinburgh,

proposed to James that the Earls of Eglinton
and Wigton, Lord Balmerino, the Bishop of

Edinburgh, (the head of the nonjuring clergy,)

Mr. Paterson of Prestonhall, ard Captain

Straiton, should be appointed commissioners

or trustees for transacting his affairs in Scot-

land. This proposal on the whole was well

received by the Chevalier, who, however, pro-

bably influenced by the jealous schemers who
surrounded him, did not sanction the formation

of a regularly organized authoritative commis-

sion. Writing to Lockhart in February, 1721,
he says,

"
to appoint a certain number of per-

sons for this effect by commission, is by no

means, at this time, advisable, because of the

inconveniences it might draw, sooner or later,

upon the persons concern'd
; since it could not

but be expected that the present government
would, at long run, be inform'd of such a paper
which, by its nature, must be known to a great

number of people; besides, that many who

might be most fit to discharge such a trust

might, with reason, not be fond of having

their names exposed in such a matter; while,

on the other hand, numbers might be dis-

obliged for not having a share where it is not

possible all can be concerned; but I think all

these inconveniences may be obviated, the in-

tent of the proposal comply'd with, and equal

advantages drawn from it if the persons named

below, or some of them, would meet and con-

sult together for the intents above-mention'd.

The persons you propose I entirely approve, to

wit, the Earls of Eglinton and Wigton, Lord

Balmerino, the Bishop of Edinburgh, Mr.

Paterson and Captain Straiton, to whom I

would have added Mr. Harry Maul, Sir John

Krskine, Lord Dun, Pourie and Glengary."
7

Mr. Lockhart acquainted the different per-

sons, therein named, of its contents, and all of

them undertook to execute the trust reposed in

them; but as they judged it advisable to con-

ceal the powers they had received from their

friends, they requested Mr. Lockhart, when

their advice was wanted, to communicate with

them individually, and having collected their

sentiments, to give the necessary instructions

with due caution.

In June 1721, a treaty of peace was signed

at Madrid between Great Britain and Spain,

and at the same time a defensive alliance was

entered into between Great Britain, France,

and Spain. As the two last were the only

powers from whom the " Pretender" could

expect any effectual aid in support of his pre-

tensions, his long-wished-for restoration seemed

now to be hopeless, and King George secure,

as he imagined, from foreign invasion and

domestic plots, made preparations for visiting

his German dominions, and actually appointed
a regency to act in his absence. But early in

the year 1722, a discovery was made, on in-

formation received by the king from the regent

of France, that the Jacobites were busy in a

new conspiracy against the government. It

appeared that the Chevalier de St. George,
who was at Rome, was to sail from Porto-

Longone for Spain, under the protection of

three Spanish men-of-war, and there to wait

7 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 29.
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the resolutions of his friends. 8 In following

the clue given by the Duke of Orleans, it was

ascertained that all the letters, in relation to

the conspiracy, were carried to Mr. George

Kelly, an Irish clergyman, who despatched

them to their different destinations. The in-

surrection was to have taken place during the

king's absence in Hanover; but his majesty

having deferred his journey in consequence of

the discovery of the plot, the conspirators re-

solved to postpone their attempt till the disso-

lution of parliament.

The conspirators, finding they were watched

by government, became extremely cautious,

and the ministers, desirous of getting hold of

the treasonable correspondence, ordered Kelly,

the principal agent, to be arrested. He was

accordingly apprehended, but not until he had,

by keeping his assailants at bay with his sword,

succeeded in burning the greater part of his

papers. Although the papers which were

seized from Kelly, and others which had been

intercepted by government, bore evident marks

of a conspiracy, yet it became very difficult,

from the fictitious names used in them, to trace

out the guilty persons.
" We are in trace of

several things very material," observes Robert

Walpole in a letter to his brother, in reference

to this discovery,
" but we fox-hunters know

that we do not always find every fox that we

cross upon." Among other persons who were

arrested on suspicion, were the Duke of Nor-

folk, Lords North and Grey, Strafford, and

Orrery, Atterbury, Bishop of Rochester, and

Sir Harry Goring.

To check the threatened insurrection, a camp
was immediately formed in Hyde-park, and all

military officers were ordered to repair to their

respective regiments. Lieutenant-general Mac-

artney was despatched to Ireland to bring

over some troops from that kingdom, and the

states of Holland were requested to have their

auxiliary troops in readiness for embarkation.

These preparations, and the many rumours

which prevailed respecting the extent of the

conspiracy, affected public credit, and a run

took place upon the bank, but the panic soon

subsided, and public confidence was restored.

Of all the persons seized of any note, the

8 Robert Walpole to Lin brother Horace, May 1722.

Coxe.

Bishop of Rochester was the only individual

against whom a charge could plausibly be

maintained. He was equally noted for his

high literary attainments and a warm attach-

ment to the exploded dogma of passive obedi-

ence. He had written Sacheverel's defence

con amore, and he had carried his partisanship

for the house of Stuart so far, that, according

to Lord Harcourt, he offered, upon the death

of Queen Anne, to proclaim the Chevalier de

St. George at Charing-cross in his lawn sleeves,

and when his proposal was declined, he is said

to have exclaimed,
" Never was a better cause

lost for want of spirit."

After an examination before the privy-coun-

cil, the bishop was committed to the Tower on

a charge of high treason. The committal of

the bishop was highly resented by the clergy,

who considered it an outrage upon the Church

of England and the Episcopal order, and they

gave full vent to their feelings by offering up

public prayers for his health in all the churches

and chapels of London and Westminster.

The new parliament met in the month of

October, and the first thing the king did was

to announce, by a speech from the throne, the

nature of the conspiracy. A bill for suspend-

ing the habeas corpus act for a whole year was

immediately brought into the house of lords,

but as the period of suspension was double of

any suspension hitherto known, it met with

some opposition. In the commons, however,

the opposition was so violent, that Mr. Robert

Walpole found himself necessitated to invent

a story of a design to seize the bank and the

exchequer, and to proclaim the " Pretender
"

on the royal exchange. This ridiculous tale,

uttered with the greatest confidence, alarmed

the commons, and they passed the bill.

As the Catholics were siipposed to be chiefly

concerned in the conspiracy, a bill was intro-

duced into the house of commons for raising

100,000 upon the real and personal estates

of all "papists," or persons educated in the

Catholic religion, towards defraying the ex-

penses incurred by the late rebellion and dis-

orders. This bill being justly regarded as a

species of persecution, was warmly opposed by
some members, but it was sent up to the house

of lords along with another bill, obliging all

persons, being
"
papists," in Scotland, and all
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persons in Great Britain refusing or neglecting

to take the oaths appointed for the king's

person and government, to register their names

and real estates. As might have been antici-

pated, both bills were passed without amend-

ments, and received the royal assent.

Atterbury was brought up for trial on the

9th of May, 1723, and sentenced to banish-

ment under pain of death if he shoidd ever

return. He quitted the kingdom in June,

and after a short stay at Brussels, finally settled

in Paris. It is said that when crossing over to

Calais he met Lord Bolingbroke, then on his

way to England, whom he thus addressed with

a smile,
" My lord, you and I are exchanged !"

The return of this extraordinary person to

England gave rise to much speculation, and

many conjectures were hazarded as to the

reasons which had induced Walpole to promote

the return of a man whose impeachment he

had himself moved
;
but the mystery has been

cleared up by papers which have since met the

public eye. From these it appears that several

years before his appearance in England, Boling-

broke had completely broken with the Stuarts

in consequence of his deprivation of the seals.

It seems that the Earl of Mar and the duke

had a violent difference with regard to the

conduct of the expedition in 1715; and Mar,

to revenge himself upon his rival, prevailed

upon the Duke of Ormond to report in presence

of the Chevalier de St. George certain abusive

expressions which Bolingbroke, when in a state

of intoxication, had uttered in disparagement

of his master. The Chevalier, highly exas-

perated at Bolingbroke, sent for the seals, at

which his lordship was so incensed that when
the queen mother attempted to reconcile them,

Bolingbroke said that he wished his arm might
rot off if ever he drew his sword or employed
his pen in the service of the Stuarts. He,

thereupon, proffered his services to King
George, and offered to do any thing but betray
the secrets of his friends. This offer was

followed by the celebrated letter to Sir William

Wyndham, in which he dissuaded the Tories

from placing any reliance on the Pretender,
and exposed the exiled family to ridicule and

contempt ;
but his overtures were rejected by

the government, and when an act of indemnity
was hinted at, Walpole expressed in the strong-

est terms his indignation at the very idea of

such a measure. Bolingbroke, however, per-

severed
;
and Walpole having been softened

by the entreaties of the Duchess of Kendal,

one of the mistresses of the king, to whom

Bolingbroke made a present of 11,000, he

procured a pardon. In April, 1725, a bill was

brought into the house of lords for restoring

to Bolingbroke his family estate, which, after

some opposition, passed both houses.

Upon the passing of the disarming act, some

of the Highland chiefs held a meeting at Paris,

at which they resolved to apply to the Cheva-

lier de St. George, to know whether, in his

opinion, they should snbmit to the new law.

James returned an answer under cover to the

restless Atterbury, in which he advised the

chiefs rather to submit than run the risk of

ruining their followers
;
but the bishop thought

proper to keep up the letter, and having sent

off an express to Rome, James was induced to

write another letter altogether different from the

first, requiring them to resist, by force, the in-

tended attempt of the government to disarm the

Highlanders. Meanwhile, the chiefs were ap-

prised of James's original sentiments by a cor-

respondent at Rome, and of the letter which

had been sent to Atterbury's care. Unaware of

this circumstance, the bishop, on receipt of the

second letter, convened the chiefs, and com-

municated to them its contents
;
but these

being so completely at variance with the infor-

mation of their correspondent, they insisted

upon seeing the first letter, but Atterbury

refused in the most positive terms to exhibit

it, and insisted upon compliance with the

injunctions contained in the second letter.

They, thereupon, desired to know what sup-

port they were to receive in men, money, and

arms
;
but the bishop told them, that unless

they resolved to go to Scotland and take uj>

arms, he would give them no further informa-

tion than this, that they would be assisted by
a certain foreign power, whose name he was

not at liberty to mention. 9 The chiefs, dis-

satisfied with the conduct of the bishop, refused

to pledge themselves as required, and retired.

9 Abstract of a letter from one of the Highland
chiefs at Paris to Mr John Macleod, advocate, dated
the end of June, 1725. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. pp.
1923.
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The great preparations made to carry the

disarming act into effect, indicated a dread, on

the part of the government, that the High-

landers would not deliver up their arms with-

out a struggle. The Chevalier de St. George,

deceived as it would appear by the representa-

tions of Atterbury, resolved to support the

Highlanders, to the effect at least of enabling

them to obtain favourable terms from the

government.
" I find," says James, in a letter 1

to Mr. Lockhart,
"
they (the Highlanders) are

of opinion that nothing less than Utter ruin is

designed for them, and those on this side are per-

suaded that the English government will meet

with the greatest difficulties in executing their

projects, and that the clans will unanimously

agree to oppose them to the last, and if thereby

circumstances will allow them to do nothing

for my service, that they will still, by a capitu-

lation, be able to procure better terms to them-

selves than they can propose by leaving them-

selves at the government's mercy, and delivering

up their arms
; and, if so, I am resolved, and

I think I owe it to them, to do. all in my
power to support them, and the distance I am
at has obliged me to give my orders accord-

ingly ;
and nothing in my power shall be want-

ing to enable them to keep their ground against

the government, at least till they can procure

good terms for themselves, though, at the same

time, I must inform you that the opposition

they propose to make may prove of the greatest

advantage to my interest, considering the hopes

I have of foreign assistance, which, perhaps, you

may hear of even before you receive this letter.

I should not have ventured to call the High-
landers together, without a certainty of their

being supported, but the great probability there

is of it makes me not at all sorry they should

take the resolution . of defending themselves,

and not delivering up their arms, which would

have rendered them, in a great measure, useless

to their countrie
;
and as the designs of the

government are represented to me, the laying

down of their arms is only to be the forerunner

of other methods, that are to be taken to extir-

pate their race for ever. They are certainly

in the right to make the government buy their

slavery at as dear a rate as they can. The

1 Dated 23d June, ]725. Lockhart Papers, vol.

ii. p. 169.

distance I am at (Rome), and the imperfect

accounts I have had of this law, (for disarming
the Highlanders,) have been very unlucky ;

however, the orders I have sent to France I

hope will not come too late, and I can answer

for the diligence in the execution of them,

which is all I can say to you at present from

hence."

A few days after the receipt of this letter,

Mr. Lockhart went to Edinburgh, where he

found the Duke of Hamilton and the Earl of

Kincardine, two of James's "trustees," to whom
he showed the letter, and requested their

opinion as to the proposed attempt to resist

the contemplated measures of the government.

These noblemen considered that the attempt
would be rash as well as fatal, that the idea

of obtaining better terms by a temporary resist-

ance, was vain, unless the Highlanders suc-

ceed in defeating the government ;
but that if

they failed, the utter extirpation of their race

would certainly follow
;

that the Highlanders

being a body of men of such high value, as

well in relation to the interests of the exiled

family, as to those of the kingdom, it was by
no means reasonable to hazard them upon an

uncertainty, for though they should give up
their arms, it would be easier to provide them

afterwards with others, when their services

were required, than to repair the loss of their

persons ;
that with regard to foreign assist-

ance, as such undertakings were liable to many
accidents, and as the best formed designs often

turned out abortive, it was by no means ad-

visable to hazard the Highlanders, who were

hated by the government, upon the expectancy

of such aid; and that if such foreign powers
as could, and were willing to assist, would in-

quire into the true state of affairs in Scotland,

they would find that wherever a feasible at-

tempt should be made by them to restore the

exiled family, the Scots would be ready to

declare themselves.

This opinion was communicated by Mr.

Lockhart to James,
2 and he informed him at

the same time that a person of distinction, who

had been sent by the Highland Jacobite chiefs

to obtain intelligence and advice, had arrived

in Edinburgh incognito, and had informed

2 Letter from Mr. Lockhart to the Chevalier, 25th

July, 1725. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 186.
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Kincardine that the Highlanders had resolved

to make a show of submission, by giving up

part of their arms under the pretence of de-

livering up the whole, while their intention

was to retain and conceal the best and greater

part of them. Kincardine, without giving any

opinion on the subject, recommended to the

gentleman in question, as foreign assistance

might be speedily expected, the expediency of

putting off the delivery as long as possible, and

that as four or five weeks would be consumed

before the forms required by the act could be

complied with, they should retain their arms

till the expiration of that period.

The advice given by Hamilton and Eglinton

coincided with the view which James, upon

being made acquainted with the resolution of

the chief at Paris, had adopted; and in a letter

written to Mr. Lockhart by Colonel Hay, whom
he had appointed his secretary of state, and

raised to the peerage under the title of Earl of

Inverness, he signified his approbation of the

advice given by his friends, which he said was

entirely agreeable to his own sentiments from

the beginning. He stated, moreover, that the

orders he had given to assist the Highlanders

were only conditional, and in the event only

that they themselves should have resolved to

oppose the government, and that if the Bishop
of Rochester had pressed any of the chiefs at

Paris to go to arms, it was more with a view

to discover a correspondence which he suspected

one of them had carried on independent of the

others, than with any real design to induce

them to order their followers to make opposi-

tion, as that was to have depended as much

upon the chiefs at home as upon those abroad. 3

When James ascertained that the High-
landers were resolved to submit, he withdrew

the orders he had given for assisting them, and

despatched a trusty messenger to the Highlands
to acquaint them of his readiness to support
them when a proper occasion offered, and to

collect information as to the state of the coun-

try. Allan Cameron, the messenger in ques-

tion, arrived in the Highlands in August, and
visited the heads of the clans in the interest of

James, to whom he delivered the message with
Avhich he had been intrusted. It is said that

3 Lockbart Papers, vol. ii. p. 218.

General Wade was aware of his arrival, but it

does not appear that any measures were taken

to apprehend him. After four months' resi-

dence in the Highlands, Cameron ventured on

a journey to Edinburgh, where, in the be-

ginning of the year 1726, he held frequent

conferences with the Duke of Hamilton, the

Earl of Kincardine, and Lockhart of Carnwath,

on the subject of his mission and the state of

affairs, but nothing of importance was resolved

upon at these meetings, and Cameron departed

for the continent early in February.

About this time an event occurred, which,

while it tended to create factions amongst the

adherents of James, made many of them keep

either altogether aloof from any direct manage-
ment in his affairs, or abstain from entering

into any plan of co-operation for his restoration.

This was the dismissal of Mar from his post as

minister of James at Paris, on the suspicion

that he had betrayed the secrets of his master

to the British government. From his situation

he was intimately acquainted with all the

Chevalier's, affairs, and knew the name of every

person of any note in the three kingdoms who
had taken an interest in the restoration of the

exiled family, with many of whom he himself

had corresponded. The removal, therefore, of

such a person from the Jacobite councils could

not fail to excite uneasy apprehensions in the

minds of those who had intrusted him with

their confidence, and to make them extremely

cautious in again committing themselves by

any act, which, if discovered, would place them

in jeopardy. To this feeling may be ascribed

the great reserve which for several years subse-

quent to this occurrence the Jacobites observed

in their foreign relations, and the want of unity

of action which formed so remarkable a charac-

teristic in their subsequent proceedings. As

this affair forms an important link in the his-

torical chain which connects the events of the

year 1715 with those of 1745, a short account

of it is necessary.

During a temporary confinement at Geneva.

Mar had obtained a sum of money, whether

solicited or not does not appear, from the Earl

of Stair, the British ambassador at Paris, with-

out the knowledge of James. In a narrative

afterwards drawn up by Mar in his own justi-

fication, he states, that being in great straits
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lie received this money as a loan from the earl,

who was his old friend; but Colonel Hay, in

a letter to Mr. Lockhart of the 8th of Septem-

ber, 1725, states that Mar had no occasion for

such a loan, as "the king" remitted him con-

siderable supplies to Geneva, where his expense
would be trifling, as he was entertained by the

town. 4 This matter might have been over-

looked, but he, soon thereafter, accepted a

pension of .2,000 from the government, over

and above the sum of 1,500 which his

countess and daughter actually then received

by way of jointure and aliment out of the pro-

duce of his estate. Mar states that before he

agreed to receive this pension he took the

advice of General Dillon, a zealous supporter

of the interests of the Stuarts, whom he had

been accustomed to consult in all matters of

importance, and that the general advised him

to accept of the offer, as by refusing it the

government might stop his lady's jointure, and

that his estate would be sold and lost for ever

to his family; and that as he had been released

from his confinement at Geneva on condition

that he should not act or take any part against

the government of Great Britain during his

abode in France, and should return when re-

quired to Geneva, that government might in-

sist on his being sent back to Geneva, whence

he had been allowed to go to the waters of

Bourbon for his health. Mar communicated

the proposal also to James, who at once sanc-

tioned his acceptance of the pension, and as-

sured him that his sentiments in regard to

him remained unaltered. Notwithstanding this

assurance, however, there is every reason to

believe that James, not without good grounds,

had begun to suspect his fidelity; and as he

could clearly perceive that Mar had already

taken his resolution to close with the govern-

ment, he might consider it his wisest policy to

conceal his displeasure, and not to break at

once with a man who had so much in his

power to injure him and his friends.

Having thus succeeded in their advances to

Mar, the government, on receiving information

of the conspiracy in which Atterbury was con-

cerned, sent a gentleman to Paris in May, 1722,

with a letter to Mar from Lord Carteret. This

4 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 177 20G.

gentleman received instructions to sound Mar
as to his knowledge of the intended plot. On

arriving at Paris, the messenger, (who, it is

understood, was Colonel Churchill,) sent a

letter to Mar requesting a private interview.

Dillon was present when this letter was deliv-

ered, and on reading it, Mar says he showed it

to Dillon, upon which it was arranged that

Mar should instantly call upon the person who
had written the letter, and that Dillon should

remain in the house till Mar's return, when the

object and nature of the interview would be

communicated to him. On Mar's return he

and Dillon consulted together, and they both

thought that the incident was a lucky one, as

it afforded Mar an opportunity of doing James's

affairs a good service by leading the govern-

ment off the true scent, and thereby prevent

further inquiries. They thereupon drew up a

letter with that view, to be sent by Mar in

answer to Carteret's communication, which

being approved of by another person in the

confidence of the Chevalier, was sent by Mar
to the bearer of Carteret's letter. Mar immedi-

ately sent an account of the affair to James and

the Duke of Ormond, and shortly received a

letter from the former, dated 8th June, 1722,

in which he expressed himself entirely satisfied

with the course pursued by Mar on the occasion.

To justify himself still farther, Mar states, that

among the vouchers of his exculpation, there

was the copy of another letter from James,

written by him to one of his agents at Paris,

wherein he justifies and approves of Mar's con-

duct, and expresses his regret for the aspersions

which had been cast upon the earl about the

plot.

Though James thus continued to profess his

usual confidence in Mar's integrity, he had,

ever since he became acquainted with his

pecuniary obligations to Stair, resolved to with-

draw that confidence from him by degrees, and

in such a manner as might not be prejudicial

to the adherents of the exiled family in Great

Britain. But Mar, who, as James observed,
5

had put himself under such engagements that

he could not any longer serve him in a public

manner, and who, from the nature of these

engagements, should have declined all know-

5 Letter to Mr. Lockhart, 31st August, 1724. Lock-

hart Papers, vol. ii. p. 131.

3 R
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ledge of James's secrets, continued to meddle

with his affairs as formerly, by taking the

direction and management of those intrusted

to Dillon, the confidential agent of James and

the English Jacobites. In this way was Mar

enabled for several years, when distrusted by

James, to compel him in a manner to keep

on good terms with him. From the natural

timidity of James, and his anxiety to avoid an

open breach with Mar, it is difficult to say how

long matters might have remained in this

awkward state, had not the attention of the

Scottish Jacobites been drawn to Mar's pension

by the report of the parliamentary committee

concerning the conspiracy; and the representa-

tions of the Bishop of Rochester respecting

Mar's conduct, shortly after his arrival in

France, brought matters to a crisis. In the

letter last referred to, James thus intimates to

Mr. Lockhart the final dismissal of Mar. " I

have been always unwilling to mention Mar,

but I find myself indispensably engaged at

present to let my Scots friends know that I

have withdrawn my confidence entirely from

him, as I shall be obliged to do from all who

may be any ways influenced by him. This

conduct is founded on the strongest and most

urgent necessity in which my regard to my
faithful subjects and servants have the greatest

share. What is here said of Mar is not with

a view of its being made public, there being
no occasion for that, since, many years ago, he

put himself under such engagements that he

could not serve me in a public manner, neither

has he been publicly employ'd by me."

The charges made by Atterbury against Mar

were, \mo, That about the time he, the bishop,
was sent prisoner to the Tower, Mar had written

him a letter which was the cause of his banish-

ment. 2do, That he had betrayed the secrets

of the Chevalier de St. George to the British

government, and had entered into a corre-

spondence with them. 3tio, That he had ad-

vised the Chevalier to resign his right to the

crown for a pension ;
and lastly, that without

consulting James, he drew up and presented a

memorial to the Duke of Orleans, containin" a

plan, which, under the pretence of restoringO
him, would, if acted upon, have rendered his

restoration for ever impracticable.

To understand the nature of the last charge

against Mar, that he laid the scheme before the

Regent of France with a design to ruin James,

Mar refers to the plan itself for his justifica-

tion. The expulsion of the Stuarts from the

British throne had been always looked upon

by the French court as an event which, by

dividing the nation into rival factiens, would

enable France to humble and weaken an ancient

and formidable rival. To encourage the Jacob-

ites and Tories in their opposition to the new

dynasty, and to embroil the nation in a civil

war, the French ministry repeatedly promised

to aid them in any attempts they might make

to overturn the government ;
but true to the

line of policy they had laid down for them-

selves, of allowing the opposing parties in the

state to weaken each other's strength in their

contest for ascendency, they sided with the

weaker party only to prolong the struggle, in

the hope that, by thus keeping alive the spirit

of discontent, France might be enabled to

extend her power, and carry into effect her

designs of conquest.

To remove the objections which such a

policy opposed to the restoration of James,

Mar proposed that, upon such event taking

place, Scotland and Ireland should be restored

to their ancient state of independence, and

protected in their trade, and thereby enabled,

as they would be inclined, to support
" the

king in such a manner as he'd be under no

necessity of entering into measures contrary to

his inclinations to gratify the caprices, and

allay the factions of his English subjects."
6

He also proposed that a certain number of

French forces should remain in Britain after

James was restored, till he had modelled and

established the government on this footing,

and that 5,000 Scots and as many Irish troops

should be lent to the French king, to be kept

by him in pay for a certain number of years.

Mar was fully aware that such a scheme would

be highly unpopular in England, on which

account he says, that although he had long

ago formed it, he took no steps therein during

the life of Cardinal Dubois, whom he knew

to be particularly attached to the existing

government of Britain
;
but that obstacle being

removed, he laid it before the regent of France,

" Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 183.
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who, he says, he had reason to believe, received

it with approbation, as lie sealed it up, and

addressed it to the Duke of Bourbon, and

recommended it to his care. To excuse him-

self for laying the scheme before the Duke of

Orleans -without the Chevalier's knowledge, he

states that he did so to prevent James, in case

of the scheme being discovered, being blamed

by those who, for particular reasons, would be

displeased at it
;
but that immediately after

the delivery he acquainted James thereof, and

sent him a copy of it, and at the same time

represented to him the absolute necessity of

keeping it secret. Notwithstanding this in-

junction, Colonel Hay sent a copy of it to the

Bishop of Rochester, and Mar attributes the

bad feeling which Atterbury afterwards dis-

played towards him, to the proposal he made

for restoring Scotland to her independence.

The memorial was presented by Mar to the

Duke of Orleans in September, 1723; but so

little secrecy was observed, that, in the month

of January following, a statement appeared in

the public newspapers, that a certain peer, then

in Paris, had laid a plan before the regent

for restoring the exiled family. Though the

British government must have been aware, or

at all events must have suspected, after such a

notification, that Mar was the author of the

scheme, his pension was still continued, and

they even favoured him still more by allowing

the family estate, which was exposed to sale,

to fall again into the hands of the family on

favourable terms.

On reviewing the whole circumstances of

Mar's conduct, evolved by Atterbury's charges,

it must be admitted that his justification is far

from being complete. From the position in

which he placed himself as a debtor of Stair,

and a pensioner of the British government, he

could no longer be trusted with safety by his

Jacobite colleagues, and as he had come under

an obligation, as a condition of his pension,

not to act in behalf of the Stuarts, he was

bound in honour to have abstained from all

farther interference in their affairs
;
but for

reasons only known to himself, he continued

to act as if no alteration of his relations with

the exiled family had taken place since he was

first intrusted by them. Selfish in his dispo-

sition, and regardless whether the Chevalier de

St. George, or the Elector of Hanover wore

the crown, provided his ambition was gratified,

it is probable that, without harbouring any
intention to betray, he wished to preserve an

appearance of promoting the interests of the

Stuarts, in order that the compact which he

had entered into with the British government,

might, in the event of a restoration of that

family, form no bar to his advancement under

a new order of things ;
but whatever were his

views or motives, his design, if he entertained

any such as has been supposed, was frustrated

by his disgrace in 1725.

The breach with Mar was looked upon by
some of the Jacobites as a rash act on the part

of the Chevalier, and they considered that he

had been sacrificed to gratify Colonel Hay,
between whom and Mar an irreconcilable

difference had for some time existed. This

opinion had a pernicious influence upon the

councils of the Chevalier, and to the rupture

with Mar may be attributed the denouement

of an xlnhappy difference between James and

his consort, which, for a time, fixed the atten-

tion of all the European courts.

In the year 1720 the Chevalier de St. George
had espoused the Princess Clementina, grand-

daughter of John Sobieski, king of Poland,

who had born him two sons, viz. Charles

Edward, celebrated for his exploits in 1745,

and Henry Benedict, afterwards known as

Cardinal York. 7 Prince Charles was placed

under the tuition of one Mrs. Sheldon, who,

it is said, obtained a complete ascendency over

the Princess Clementina. As alleged by the

partisans of Colonel Hay, she was entirely

devoted to Mar, and served him as a spy in

the family. To counteract the rising influence

of Hay, she is represented to have incited the

princess against him to such a degree, as to

render the whole household a scene of con-

stant disturbance. But whatever may have

been the conduct of Mrs. Sheldon, there is

good reason for believing that the cause of irri-

tation proceeded entirely from the behaviour

of Hay and his lady, who appear not to have

treated the princess with the respect due to

her rank, and who, from the sway they appear

to have had over the mind of her husband,

7 The Prince was born on 31st December 1720,

the Cardinal on 6th March, 1725.
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indulged in liberties which did not become

them.

To relieve herself from the indignities which

she alleged she suffered, the princess resolved

to retire into a convent, of which resolution

the Chevalier first received notice from a con-

fidante of the princess, who also informed him

that nothing but the dismissal of Colonel Hay
from his service would induce her to alter

her resolution. The princess afterwards per-

sonally notified her determination to her hus-

band, who remonstrated with her upon the

impropriety of a step which would prejudice

them in the eyes of their friends, and make

their enemies triumph; but she remained in-

flexible.

Finding the Chevalier fully determined to

retain Colonel Hay in his service, the princess

made preparations for carrying her resolution

into effect; and, accordingly, on the morning
of Thursday, the 15th of November, 1725,

under the pretence of taking an airing in her

carriage, she drove off to the convent of St.

Cecilia, at Rome, into which she retired, with-

out taking any notice of a long letter, by way
of remonstrance, which her husband had
written her on the llth. 8

The Chevalier was anxious that his friends

should form a favourable opinion of the course

he had adopted in resisting the demand of his

wife; and, accordingly, on the morning after

her departure, he assembled all his household,
and explained to them fully the different steps
he had taken to prevent the extraordinary pro-

ceeding of the princess. He also entered into

a justification of his own conduct, and con-

cluded by assuring them that it should be his

principal care to educate his two sons in such
a manner as might contribute one day to the

happiness of the people he expected to govern.
With the same view, he immediately despatched

copies of the memoir, and of the two letters he
had written to the princess, to Mr. Lockhart,
to be shown to his friends in Scotland; but as

the memoir and letters had been made public,

copies of them were publicly hawked through
the streets of London and Edinburgh, with a

scurrilous introduction, several weeks before

8 This letter, and a previous one, dated 9th Novem-
ber, are published among the Lockhart Papers vol
11. p. 246.

Mr. Lockhart received his communication.

This was done apparently with the approbation

of the government, as the magistrates of Edin-

burgh compelled the porters of the city to cry

the papers through the streets. 9 At first, the

Jacobites imagined that these documents were

forgeries got up by the government, to make
the Jacobite cause contemptible in the eyes of

the people; but they were soon undeceived,

and great was their consternation when they
found that the papers in question were genuine.

The court of Rome seemed to approve of the

Chevalier's conduct in refusing to remove Hay;
but when it was understood that the removal

of Murray, the young princes' governor, was

considered by their mother even of more im-

portance than the dismissal of Hay, the pope
sent a message to James, intimating that if

Murray were removed and Mrs. Sheldon re-

stored to favour, a reconciliation might be

effected with the princess, that, however, he

would not insist on Mrs. Sheldon being taken

back, but that he could not approve of nor

consent to Murray being about the prince.

The Chevalier did not relish such interference,

and returned for answer, that he had no occa-

sion for the pope's advice, and that he did not

consider his consent necessary in an affair which

related to the private concerns of his family.

As James was the pensioner of his holiness,

the answer may be considered rather un-

courteous, but the Chevalier looked upon such

meddling as an insult which his dignity could

not brook. The pope, however, renewed his

application to bring about a reconciliation, and

with such earnestness, that James became so

uneasy as to express a wish, to retire from his

dominions. 1
By the efforts, however, it is be-

lieved, of the princess's friends, aided by the

repeated remonstrances of a respectable portion

of the Jacobites, the Chevalier at length reluc-

tantly dismissed Hay from his service. Ac-

cording to Mr. Lockhart, Hay and his wife

had obtained such a complete ascendency over

the Chevalier, that they had the direction of

all matters, whether public or domestic, and

taking advantage of the confidence which he

reposed in them, they instilled into his mind

9 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. pp. 242 261, 360.
1 Letters from the Chevalier to Mr. Lockhart, 3d

Dec. 1725, and 19th Jan. 1726, vol. ii. pp. 253256.
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unfavourable impressions of his best friends.

By insinuating that the princess, and every

person that did not truckle to them, were fac-

tious, and that their complaints against the

colonel and his lady proceeded from a feeling

of disrespect to himself, his temper became by

degrees soured towards his wife. To escape

from the insolence of these favourites, the

princess, as has been seen, embraced, for a

time, a conventual life; and while some of

the Chevalier's adherents, who had lost their

estates in his service, left his court in disgust,

others were ordered away. It was currently

reported at the time that Mrs. Hay was the

king's mistress, and that jealousy on the part

of the Princess Clementina was the cause of

the rupture ;
the princess herself in her letters

distinctly speaks of Mrs. Hay as " the king's

mistress," although persons who had ample

opportunities of observation could observe no

impropriety. The pertinacity with which

James clung to his unworthy favourites tended

greatly to injure his affairs.
2

The death of George I., which took place on

Sunday, the llth June, 1727, while on his

journey to Hanover, raised anew the hopes of

the Chevalier. He was at Bologna when this

intelligence reached him, and so anxious was

he to be nearer England to watch the progress

of events, and to be ready to avail himself of

the services of his friends in Britain to effect

his restoration, that he left Bologna privately

for Lorraine, the day after the news was brought

him, although the princess, who had just left the

convent, by the advice of her friends, was at the

time on her way from Rome to Bologna to join

him. The journey of the princess being publicly

known, the Chevalier availed himself of the cir-

cumstance to conceal his real design, by giving

out that he had left Bologna to meet her. On

arriving at Nancy, the Chevalier despatched
couriers to Vienna, Madrid, and Paris, an-

nouncing the object of his journey, and at the

same time sent a messenger with a letter to

Mr. Lockhart, who, in consequence of a war-

rant being issued by the British government
for his apprehension, had a few months before

taken refuge on the continent, and was then

residing at Liege. Although he expected no

2 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 339.

assistance from any foreign power, still, he

says, "the present conjuncture appears so

favourable in all its circumstances that had I

only consulted my own inclinations, I should

certainly out of hand have crossed the seas,

and seen at any rate what I could do for my
own and my subjects' delivery ;

but as on this

occasion I act for them as well as myself, and

cannot hope without their concurrence to suc-

ceed in what I may undertake in our mutual

behalf, I find myself under the necessity of

making no further steps without their advice.
"
'Tis true the disadvantages I lie under are

great and many; I have but a small stock of

money, scarce sufficient to transport what few

arms I have and what officers I may get to

follow me on this occasion. I'm sensible that

it is next to impossible that a concert should be

established amongst my friends at home, such

as would be sufficient for a rising in arms in

my favour before my arrival, and by what is

said before, the little hopes of foreign assistance

will be sufficiently seen; but with all this,

many arguments may be brought to authorise

an undertaking which at first sight might

appear rash. . . . All put together it must

be concluded that if the present conjuncture is

slip'd, it cannot be expected that we ever can

have so favorable a one for acting by ourselves,

and that we run the risk of allowing the

general affairs of Europe to be less favorable

to us than they are at present ;
so that what-

ever is not absolutely desperate ought certainly

to be undertaken, and the sooner the better.

" I desire therefore you may think seriously

on this matter, and let me have your opinion

as soon as possible, and if my going into Eng-
land be not adviseable, whether my going to

the Highlands of Scotland might not be found

proper," To this letter is appended the follow-

ing postscript in James's own handwriting.
" The contents of this will show you the con-

fidence I have in you, and I expect you will

let me know by the bearer, (Allan Cameron,)

your advice and opinion, particularly on this

important occasion." 3

From Cameron Mr. Lockhart was surprised

to learn that the Chevalier, notwithstanding

his certainty that he could look for no foreign

z
Idem, p. 356.
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aid, and that his friends, both in Scotland and

England, had made no preparations to receive

him, was not only inclined, but seemed even

resolved, to repair to the Highlands of Scot-

land, and there raise the standard of insurrec-

tion, and that Colonel Hay, whom he had so

lately discarded, was one of his counsellors on

the occasion. As Cameron, who had visited

the Highlands some time before, and was well

aware of the almost insuperable difficulties

which opposed themselves to the contemplated

step, seemed to approve of the Chevalier's

design, Mr. Lockhart expressed his wonder

that one who knew the state of the Highlands

so well, and the determination generally of the

Highlanders not to take the field again till they

saw England actually engaged, could advise his

master to risk his person, and expose the

country and his friends to certain destruction.

He observed, that there were indeed some

persons who would venture their all in any

attempt headed by the Chevalier in person, but

as matters then stood, the number of such

persons would be few, and that the great ma-

jority of those that might be expected to join

him would consist of idle persons, actuated

solely by the hopes of plunder, who would

abandon him eventually to the mercy of the

government troops that would be poured into

the Highlands, and that, under the pretence of

punishing the few who had taken up arms,,

they would ravage the country and cut off the

inhabitants, for doing which the government

only wanted such a handle.

In accordance with these sentiments, Mr.

Lockhart represented in his answer to the

Chevalier's letter, that the design he contem-

plated was one of the greatest importance, and

though it was very proper for him to put him-

self in a condition to avail himself of any
favourable circumstances that might occur, yet
that appearances did not warrant such expecta-

tions, that the people of England seemed to

have forgot all the grievances under which

they had laboured during the late reign, in

hope of a better order of things, and that until

they found themselves disappointed, he could

expect nothing from them, that with regard
to such of the people of Scotland as were

favourably disposed, they could not possibly
do any thing without being previously provided

with many material things they stood in need

of, and that before these could be supplied,

many difficulties had to be surmounted and

much time would be lost, during which pre-

parations would be made on all hands to crush

them, that although it would be of advantage

to strike a blow before the government had

time to strengthen itself at home and abroad,

yet the attempt was not advisable without

necessary precautions and provisions to insure

its success, as without these such an attempt

would be desperate, and might ruin the cause

for ever, that no man living would be happier

than he (Mr. Lockhart) to see the dawning of

a fair day, but when every point of the compass

was black and cloudy, he could not but dread

very bad weather, and such as could give no

encouragement to a traveller to proceed on his

voyage, and might prove the utter ruin of him-

self and attendants. 4 This judicious advice

was not thrown away upon the Chevalier, who

at once laid aside his design of going to Scot-

land, and retired to Avignon, where he pro-

posed to reside under the protection of the

pope; but his stay at Avignon was short, being

obliged to leave that place in consequence, it

is believed, of the representations of the French

government to the court of Rome. He returned

to Italy.

CHAPTER XXVIII.

A. D. 17391745.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 17271760.

Foreign intrigues Edinburgh A ssociatiou Maria
Theresa Jacobite intrigues Drummond of Boch-

aldy at Edinburgh, and Murray of Broughton at

Paris Plan of a French invasion Prince Charles

Edward, the Chevalier's son, arrives at Paris Pre-

parations for invasion Embarkation and failure of

the expedition Murray of Broughton proceeds to

Paris Interview with the Prince, who resolves to

proceed to Scotland.

WAR having been declared against Spain in

the year 1739, the Chevalier de St. George

despatched Lord Marischal to Madrid to induce

the court of Spain to adopt measures for his

restoration. But however willing Spain might
be to assist him, he was desirous that no

4 Lockhart Papers^ vol. ii. p. 360.
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attempt should be made without the concur-

rence of France. 5 About the same time, that

is, in the beginning of the year 1740, some of

the more zealous and leading Jacobites, in

anticipation of a war with France, held a meet-

ing at Edinburgh, and formed themselves into

an association, by which they engaged them-

selves to take arms and venture their lives and

fortunes to restore the family of Stuart, pro-

vided the King of France would send over a

body of troops to their assistance. The associ-

ation, like that which brought over King
William to England, consisted of seven persons,

viz., Lord Lovat, James Drummond, commonly
called Duke of Perth, the Earl of Traquair, Sir

James Campbell of Auchinbreck, Cameron of

Lochiel, John Stuart, brother to Lord Traquair,

and Lord John Drummond, uncle to the Duke

of Perth. 6 The conspirators despatched Drum-

mond of Bochaldy, or Balhady, (nephew to

Lochiel,) to Rome with the bond of association,

and a list of those chiefs and chieftains who

were considered by the associates to be favour-

able to the cause. Drummond was instructed

to deliver these papers into the hands of the

Chevalier de St. George, and to entreat him to

procure assistance from France in furtherance

of their design. The project was well received

by James, who, after perusing the papers,

forwarded them immediately by the same mes-

senger to Cardinal Fleury at Paris, with a

request that the court of France would grant

the required assistance. But the cardinal, with

that caution which distinguished him, would

come under no engagement, but contented

himself at first by a general assurance of con-

ditional support.

The negotiation was, however, persevered

in, but the death of the Emperor Charles VI.,

which happened on the 20th of October, drew

off the cardinal's attention to matters which

5 Letters to the Duke of Ormond and Lord Marisohal,
27th January, 1740, among the Stuart Papers. Allud-

ing to his expectations of assistance from France, the

Chevalier, in a letter (of which a copy is also in the

same collection,) written to Marischal on the llth

January, 1740, while the latter was on his way to

Madrid", says,
"

I am betwixt hopes and fears, though
I think there is more room for the first than the last,

as you will have perceived by what Lord Sempil (so

an active agent of James was called,) has I suppose
writ to you. I conclude I shall sometime next month
see clearer into these great affairs."

6 Trial of Lord Lovat, p. 21. Home's Rebellion,

p. 24.

appeared to him of greater importance. The

emperor was succeeded in his hereditary domin-

ions by his eldest daughter, Maria Theresa,

married to the Grand-duke of Tuscany, formerly

Duke of Lorraine. Though this princess suc-

ceeded under the title of the pragmatic sanction,

which had been guaranteed by England, France,

Spain, Prussia, Russia, Holland, and the whole

of the Germanic body, with the exception of

the elector-palatine, and the electors of Bavaria

and Saxony, a powerful confederacy was formed

against her by almost all these powers, to strip

her of her dominions.

Alarmed at the formidable confederacyformed

against her, the Queen of Hungary applied to

Great Britain for succour; but Sir Robert

Walpole evaded the demand, and recommended

an immediate peace with Prussia. The parlia-

ment, as well as the nation, however, had

different views
;
and as the minister saw that

he would be compelled to fulfil his engage-

ments to the house of Austria, parliament was

called upon to support the Queen of Hungary,
and maintain the liberties of Europe. The

commons cheerfully voted a sum of 300,000

to enable George II. to fulfil his engagements,

which sum was remitted to the Queen of Hun-

gary, and the contingent of 12,000 Danish

and Hessian troops, which Great Britain had

engaged to furnish, was got in readiness.

While the flames of war were thus spread-

ing over Europe, the situation of the British

ministry was every day becoming more critical

from the clamours of the Tories and the dis-

contented Whigs. Walpole had triumphed in

both houses on motions for an address to the

king to dismiss him from his presence and

councils
;
but his triumph was short, and the

approach of an election redoubled the efforts

of his enemies. Though the Jacobites required

no incentive to induce them to assist in dis-

placing a minister who had been the chief

obstacle to the restoration of the exiled family ;

yet to make perfectly sure of their aid, Lord

Chesterfield went to France, and by means of

the Duke of Ormond, obtained, it is said, a

circular letter from the Chevalier de St. George
to his friends, urging them to do every thing

in their power to ruin Walpole. To encourage

the popular clamour against the minister,

reports, the most absurd and incredible respect-
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ing him, were circulated among the people anc

believed; and while the general disconten

was at its height, the election commenced

The contests between the two parties were

extremely violent
;

but the country party

backed by the adherents of the Prince o:

Wales, who had formed a party against the

minister, prevailed. So powerful was the in

fluence of the Duke of Argyle, who had lately

joined the opposition, that out of the forty-five

members returned for Scotland, the friends oJ

the ministry could not secure above six. The

new parliament met on the 4th of December,

1741
;
and Walpole, no longer able to contend

with the forces arrayed against him, retired

from office within a few weeks thereafter.

Encouraged by appearances, and imagining
that some of the old discontented Whigs who

deprecated the system which had been pursued
since the accession of the house of Hanover,
of maintaining the foreign dominions of the

sovereign at the expense, as they thought, of

the honour and interests of the nation, Drum-
mond of Bochaldy proposed to the Chevalier

to visit England, and make overtures in his

name to the "old Whigs."
7 This plan was

highly approved of by James, who wrote him
a letter in his own hand, which was intended

to be exhibited to such persons as might seem
inclined to favour his restoration. This letter

was inclosed in a private letter containing
instructions for the regulation of his conduct
in the proposed negotiation, which it was
intended should be kept an entire secret from
the Jacobites, both in England and Scotland.

Erskine of Grange, who enjoyed the confidence
of some of the discontented Whigs, and who
privately favoured the designs of the exiled

family, was pitched upon as a fit person to

make advances to the old Whigs.
8

7 This scheme was first broached by Drummond to
Setnpil, another active agent of the Chevalier, and
communicated by him to James, who signified his
approbation of it in a letter to Sempil, dated Nov. 22

'
I approve very much in general of our mak-

ing application to the old Whigs, and take it as a new
and great mark of Balhaldy's zeal. The offer he makes
of being instrumental in that measure, I perused with
satisfaction. What you write on the subject, I shall
consider seriously on it betwixt this and next week
HuiiE next P st send y u a Packet for Balhaldv'with all that may appear proper and necessary for meon that particular." Stuart Papers.

There is, among the Stuart Papers, a copy of a
letter from the Chevalier de St. George to Mr. iScine,

In pursuance of his instructions, Drummond

departed for England about the beginning of

the year 1742, but it does not appear that at

this time he entered upon the subject of his

mission. He came privately to Edinburgh in

the month of February, and there met some of

the persons who had entered into the associa-

tion, and several others, who, in conjunction
with the original conspirators, had formed
themselves into a society, denominated by
them " the Concert of Gentlemen for manag-

ing the King's affairs in Scotland." To these,

among whom was Murray of Broughton,
Drummond represented that, on his return

from Rome, he had been extremely well re-

ceived by Cardinal Fleury, to whom he had
delivered the papers which he had carried

from Edinburgh, that the cardinal expressed

great satisfaction with the contents of these

papers, had the Pretender's interest so much at,

heart, and was so sanguine of his success, thai;

provided he had sufficient assurances from tho

friends of the exiled family in England, that

they would assist in the restoration of the

Stuarts, he would send over an army of from

13,000 to 15,000 men, the number required.
One division of this force, consisting of 1,500

men, was to be landed on the east coast of

Scotland, at or near Inverness
; another of a

similar amount in the west Highlands of Scot-

land; and the main body, which was to con-

sist of 10,000 or 12,000 men, was to be landed

as near London as possible. He added, that,

provided assistance could be obtained in Eng-
land, the projected invasion might be put in

execution the following autumn. Before leav-

ing Edinburgh, Drummond had an interview

with Cameron of Lochiel, who came to town
at his desire, and to whom he communicated
-he result of his mission to Rome and Paris. 9

After a short stay at Edinburgh, Drummond
returned to Paris, where, according to his own
account, as communicated in letters to Lord

Traquair and Lochiel, he had an audience of

the cardinal, to whom he represented matters

n such a favourable light that he promised to

sarry his design of invasion into effect in a

rery short time. The French minister, how-

3th March, 1740, thanking him for the zeal he had
hown in his cause.
9 Lord Lovat's Trial, p. 75.
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ever, though he appears to have seriously con-

templated such a step, was not yet in a condi-

tion to come to an open rupture with England ;

and to postpone the enterprise, he proposed to

Drummond that an application should be made

to Sweden for a body of troops to invade Scot-

land, and that a person from Scotland, along

with another person from France whom the

cardinal would appoint, should be sent thither

to urge the application at the Swedish court.

The cardinal gave as his reason for thus devi-

ating from his original plan, that the Swedes

being Protestants, would be more agreeable to

the people of Scotland than French or Irish

troops. In accordance with this proposal, Lord

Traquair suggested that Murray of Broughton
should be sent to Sweden on the proposed

mission, but he declined. 1

From the turn which the affair of the inva-

sion had now taken, and the time when it was

expected to take place being allowed to elapse

without any preparations on the part of France,

a suspicion began to be entertained by the

members of the Concert, that the cardinal

never had any intention to invade Scotland,

and that the whole was a scheme of Drum-

mond's to keep alive the spirit of party in

Scotland, and to make himself pass for useful

in the eyes of his employers. To ascertain the

real state of the case, Murray of Broughton, at

the suggestion of Lord Traquair, was sent to

Paris in the month of January, 1743. He
took London on his way, but before he reached

the capital, he heard of the death of Cardinal

Fleury. After staying a short time in London,

Murray went privately to Paris, where he

met Drummond and Sempil, who managed the

Chevalier's affairs in France. They stated to

him, that in all probability the scheme of in-

vasion would have been carried into effect, had

not the army of Marshal Maillebois been sent

towards Hanover instead of the coast of Flan-

ders, as at first intended
;
and that from the

interest taken by the cardinal in the affairs of

the Stuarts, he had put all the papers relating

to them into the hands of Monsieur Amelot,

the secretary for foreign affairs.
2

At an audience which Murray afterwards

had with Monsieur Amelot at Versailles, the

1 Lord Lo vat's Trial, p. 70.
2 Idem.

foreign secretary told him that, on being made

acquainted by Sempil with the cause of Mur-

ray's journey, he had informed the King of

France of it, and that his majesty had author-

ised him to assure Mr. Murray that he had the

interest of the Stuart family as much at heart

as any of the gentlemen who had signed the

memorial of association, and that as soon as he

had an opportunity he would put the scheme

into execution. 3

Shortly after this interview, Murray left

Paris for London, accompanied by Drummond,
who came over to obtain the assurances required

by the French court from the English Tories

and Jacobites. After remaining a few days in

London, Murray returned to Edinburgh, to

report to his friends the result of his mission.

Drummond stopped at London, where he met

Mr. Erskine of Grange,
4 but although overtures

were then, it is believed, made to Lord Barry-

more, Sir John Hynde Cotton, and Sir Watkiii

Williams Wynne, they declined to give any
assurance or promise of support in writing.

By desire of Drummond, Lord Traquair met

him in London shortly after his arrival to

assist him in his negotiations.
5

At first view it may appear singular, and the

circumstances must convey a very sorry idea of

the councils of the Chevalier de St. George,

that a person of so little weight and influence

as Drummond, who was utterly unknown to

the English Tories and Jacobites, should have

been sent on such an important mission; but

when it is considered that some of the leading

Jacobites were proscribed and in exile, and

that those at home were strictly watched by
the government, and were therefore afraid to

commit themselves by any overt act, it cannot

excite surprise that the Chevalier availed him-

self of the services of one whom he considered

"an honest and sensible man." 6 Drummond

3 Idem.
4 The Chevalier alludes to this meeting in a letter

to Sempil, 9th April, 1743; and in another of 16th

May following, he mentions a long paper which Mr.
Erskine had sent him on the state of affairs. Stuart

Papers.
5 Letter from the Chevalier to Sempil, 24th May,

1743. Stuart Papers.
6 Letter to Sempil, 16th March, 1740, Stuart

Papers. Drummond was not the only person employed
by the Chevalier about this time to visit his friends in

England. A Colonel Bret, and afterwards a Colonel

Cecil, with both of whom James corresponded, made

3s



506 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

was, however, considered, even by his original

employers, as a person unfit to execute the

trust reposed in him, and Lord John Drum-

mond, one of the seven who had signed the

association, was quite indignant when he found

him engaged in the mission to England.
7 Nor

was Sempil, between whom and Drummond a

close intimacy subsisted, more acceptable to

the Scottish Jacobites, some of whom he of-

fended by his forwardness. 8

During the earlier part of the year 1743, the

French ministry were too much occupied with

the war in Germany to pay much attention to

the affairs of the Stuarts
;
but towards the

close of that year they began to meditate an

invasion of Great Britain. The British parlia-

ment met in the beginning of December, when

a motion was made in the house of peers by
the Earl of Sandwich, for an address to the

crown to discontinue the Hanoverian troops in

British pay, in order to remove the national

discontent, which was represented to be so

violent, that nothing but their dismission could

appease it. The motion was negatived, but

renewed in another shape on the army estimates

being brought forward, when it shared the

same fate. The attention of the French min-

istry being drawn to these and similar discus-

sions, and to the general dissatisfaction which

seemed to pervade the people of Great Britain,

by the agents and partizans of the exiled family,

backed by the influence of Cardinal Tencin,

entered upon the project of an invasion in good
earnest. The cardinal, who now had great

influence in the councils of France, had, while

frequent journeys to England. The Duchess of Buck-

ingham made many unsolicited trips to Paris to hasten
Cardinal Fleury's motions, but James was by no means
satisfied with her officiousness. In writing to her on
20th July, 1741, he cautions her as follows :

"
I must

seriously recommend to you not to importune the old

gentleman too much. When you have given him
what lights and information have come to your know-
ledge, all the good is done, for in the present situation
one would think he should want no spur to befriend
us, and in all events he will go on in his own way,
while teazing him can serve for nothing but to make
him peevish and out of humour." The duchess must
have been possessed of some important papers, as

James, in a letter to Sempil, (2d May, 1743,) written

shortly after her death, expresses his concern lest her
papers should fall into the hands of the government.
Stuart Papers.

7 Letter from Lord John to Secretary Ed<mr among
the Stuart Papers, Feb. 25th, 1743.

8 Letter from Lord Marisch.il to Lord John Drum-
mond. Stuart Papers, Feb. 12th, 1743.

a resident at Rome, been particularly noticed

by the Chevalier de St. George, by whose in-

fluence he had been raised to the cardinalate,

and he was moved as much by gratitiide to

his patron as by ambition to bring about the

restoration of the Stuarts. The court of Ver-

sailles, indeed, required little inducement to

engage in an enterprise which, whether it suc-

ceeded or not, would at all events operate as a

diversion in favour of France in her contest

with the house of Austria, whose chief sup-

port was Great Britain
;
but it is not im-

probable that they at this time contemplated

a more serious attempt. In intimating, how-

ever, his resolution to undertake the expedition,

the King of France notified to the Chevalier

de St. George that it was to be kept a profound

secret, and that neither the Duke of Ormond

nor Lord Marischal should be told, till the

enterprise was ready to be put into execution.

The command of the troops .designed for

this expedition, amounting to 15,000 men, was

given to the celebrated Marshal Saxe; and the

naval part, consisting of thirteen ships of the

line, besides transports, collected at Dunkirk,

Calais, and Boulogne, was intrusted to Mon-

sieur de Roquefeuille, an officer of considerable

experience and capacity. This force was des-

tined for the coast of Kent, and a smaller force

was to be landed in Scotland under the com-

mand of Lord Marischal.

While the preparations for the expedition

were going on, Cardinal Tencin kept up an

active correspondence with the Chevalier de

St. George. As James felt rather disinclined

to accompany the expedition himself, he pro-

posed that his eldest son, Charles, then in his

twenty-third year, should go in his stead
;
but

as it was doubtful whether the prince would

arrive in time to join the expedition, the Che-

valier sent an express to the Duke of Ormond

requesting him to accompany the expedition,

and to act as regent, by virtue of a commission

of regency formerly granted him, until the

prince should arrive. On arriving in England,
the duke was directed to advise with the princi-

pal friends of the family, among whom he

particularly enumerated the Duke of Beaufort,

the Earls of Barrymore, Westmoreland, and Or-

rery, Lord Cobham, and Sirs Watkin Williams

Wynne, John Hynde Cotton, and Robert Abdy.
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Having obtained the consent of the French

court to this arrangement, the cardinal, upon
the completion of the preparations for the ex-

pedition, despatched a messenger to Rome to

request the attendance of the young prince at

Paris. Accordingly, on the morning of the

9th of January, 1744, Prince Charles, accom-

panied by his brother Henry and two or three

attendants, left Rome before break of day, but

they had not proceeded far when they parted,

the prince on his route to France and the duke

to Cisterna. 9 The former was disguised as a

Spanish courier, and took only one servant

along with him on his journey. To account

for the departure of the two brothers, it was

given out at Rome that they had gone to a

boar hunt, and so well was the secret of the

prince's real destination kept, that nearly a

fortnight elapsed before it was discovered. 1

Provided with passports furnished by Car

dinal Aquaviva, the prince travelled through

Tuscany and arrived at Genoa. From Genoa

he proceeded to Savona, where he embarked

in a felucca, and passing by Monaco arrived at

Antibes. From the latter place he proceeded

to Paris,, where he met Marshal Saxe and

other officers belonging to the expedition, and

after a private audience of the French king,

he set out incognito for the coast of Picardy.

The route by Genoa and Antibes was selected

as the safest, and, from the season of the year,

the most expeditious ;
but so unfavourable was

the weather, that the prince had to stop some

days at different places, and when he reached

Antibes he was recognised, and information of

his arrival there and of his departure for Paris

was sent to the British government by persons

in its interest. Hitherto the British ministry

do not appear to have had any suspicion that

the armaments at Brest, Boulogne, and other

French ports, were destined for the shores

of Britain, but the appearance of the eldest

son of the Chevalier de St. George in France

9 " My children," says James in a letter to Sempil,
9th January, 1740, "parted both this morning from

hence before day, the duke for Cisterna and the prince
Cor his long journey. We have been at so much pnins
and contrivance to cover it, that I hope the secret will

be kept for some days, perhaps for several.
"

Stuart

Papers.
1
Alluding to the discovery, James says, (letter to

Sempil, 23d January, 1740,) that it made "a great

noise, as you may believe, here," viz. at Eome.

Ktiuirl Papers.

opened their eyes to the dangers which now
menaced them. At this time the military force

in England did not exceed 6,000 men, so that

if the threatened invasion had taken place, the

result might have been disastrous to the reign-

ing family.
2

Meanwhile, the French fleet, consisting of

15 ships of the line and 5 frigates, under M.

de Roquefeuille, sailed from Brest, and for

several days displayed itself in the channel.

Knowing the object for which these ships had

put to sea, the government was greatly alarmed,

and not without cause
; for, besides the paucity

of troops in the island, they had only six ships

of the line at home ready for sea, the grand
fleet being then in the Mediterranean. The

activity and preparations of the government

corresponded with the magnitude of the danger
with which it was threatened. Orders were

instantly sent to fit out and man all the ships

of war in the different ports of the channel.

These orders were so promptly obeyed, that in

a few days- an English fleet of three ships of

100 guns, four of 90, six of 70, and six of 50,

was collected at Spithead under the command

of Sir John Norris. 3 Several regiments were

immediately marched to the southern coast of

England ;
all governors and commanders were

ordered to repair forthwith to their respective

posts ;
the forts at the mouth of the Thames

and Medway were put in a posture of defence
;

and the militia of Kent were directed to assem-

ble to defend the coast in case of an invasion.

2 About this time, if we may believe the accounts
of the Stuart party, the spirit of Jacobitism was widely
diffused in Scotland.

" The violentest Whigs," says
Mr. John Stuart in a letter to Secretary Edgar from

Boulogne, in February, 1744, "are become the most
zealous Jacobites. My friend says that the last night
of the year with us (that is to say, the prince's birth-

night,) was celebrated there (in Scotland) as publicly
as we could do it here, that he was himself in a

numerous company of people of fashion, amongst
whom were several officers of the army, that the

health of the day, the merry meeting, and a whole
train of such, were drunk publicly, that about the

third hour, when the third bottle had banished all

reserve., servants were turned out and the doors lockt,

one of the company made a speech, and filled a

bumper to the restoration, and damnation to every
one that would not help ; the whole stood to their

feet, drunk the (some words are here torn away in the

original,) and their hands to their swords : the officers

pulled the cockades out of their hats, trampled them
under feet, and then tossed them into the fire; then

called for music, and serenaded the ladies with loyal

tunes, songs," &c. Stuart Papers.
3 Memoirs of Europe, vol. ii. p. 197.
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On the 15th of February, the arrival of

Prince Charles in France, the preparations

along the French coast, and the appearance of

the French fleet in the English channel, -were

announced to parliament in a message from the

king. Both houses joined in an address, in

which they declared their indignation at the

design formed in favour of " a popish preten-

der," and assured his majesty they would take

measures to frustrate so desperate and insolent

an attempt. The city of London, the univer-

sities of Oxford and Cambridge,
4 the principal

towns in Great Britain, almost all the corpora-

tions and communities of the kingdom, the

clergy of the establishment, the dissenting

ministers, and the Quakers, or Society of

Friends, presented similar addresses. Ademand

was made from the States-general of the 6,000

auxiliaries which by treaty they had engaged
to furnish on such occasions

;
and this force

was immediately granted. Forgetful of the

wrongs which he had suffered at the hands of

the government, the Earl of Stair tendered his

services, and was reappointed commander-in-

chief of the forces in Great Britain. Several

noblemen of the first rank followed his exam-

ple, among whom was the Duke of Montague,
who was permitted to raise a regiment of horse.

Orders were sent to bring over the 6,000 British

troops from Flanders; and both houses of

parliament, in a second address, exhorted the

king to augment his forces by sea and land, in

such manner as he should think necessary at

this dangerous juncture of affairs. The habeas

corpus act was suspended for six months;
several suspected persons were taken into cus-

tody; the usual proclamation was issued for

putting the laws in execution against the

unfortunate Catholics and nonjurors, who were
ordered to retire ten miles from London

; and

every other precaution, deemed necessary for

the preservation of the public tranquillity, was

adopted.
5

Meanwhile the preparations for invasion

were proceeding rapidly at Boulogne and Dun-

* The Chevalier de St. George drew up an address
to both universities. It hears the same date (23d De-
cember, 1743,) as the two declarations published in
1745. This address was not published. Stuart Pa-
pers.

6 Smollett's H-istory of England, vol. iii. book ii.

chap. 5.

kirk, under the eye of Prince Charles. Roque-
feuille had in his excursion in the channel

come in sight of Spithead ; and, as he could

perceive no ships there, he imagined that the

English ships had retired within their har-

bours. Judging the opportunity favourable,

he detached M. de Barriel with five ships of

war to hasten the embarkation at Dunkirk,
and to order the transports thereupon to put
to sea. Roquefeuille then sailed up the chan-

nel with the remainder of his fleet as far as

Dungeness, a promontory on the coast of Kent,
off which he anchored to await the arrival of

the transports. Having received intelligence

of Roquefeuille's arrival from an English frigate

which came into the Downs, Sir John Norris

left Spithead with the British fleet, and

doubling the South Foreland from the Downs,
on the 23d of February discovered the French

fleet at anchor. Though the wind was against

him, Sir John endeavoured, by availing him-

self of the tide, to come up and engage the

French squadron ;
but the tide failing, he was

obliged to anchor when about two leagues from

the enemy. He intended to attack them next

morning, but M. de Roquefeuille, not judging
it advisable to risk an engagement, weighed
anchor after sunset, and favoured by a hard

gale of wind from the north-east which blew

during the night, ran down the channel and

got into Brest harbour. So violent was the

gale, that all the English fleet (two ships only

excepted,) parted with their cables and were

driven out to sea, and before they could have

returned to their station, the transports, under

convoy of the five ships of war despatched by
Roquefeuille, might have disembarked the

army under Marshal Saxe had the storm not

reached the French coast
;
but the tempest,

which merely forced the English ships to quit

their moorings, was destructive to the expedi-

tion, and utterly disconcerted the design of

invading England.
On the very day on which the two fleets

discovered each other, Marshal Saxe, accom-

panied by Charles Edward, arrived at Dun-

kirk, and proceeded to get his troops embarked

as fast as possible ; 7,000 men were actually

shipped, and proceeded to sea that day with a

fair wind, but in the evening the wind changed
to the east, and blow a hurricane. The embark-



FAILUKE OF THE EXPEDITION. 509

ation ceased, several of the transports which

had put to sea were wrecked, many soldiers

and seamen perished, and a considerable quan-

tity of warlike stores was lost. The remainder

of the transports were damaged to such an

extent that they could not be speedily re-

paired

Such was the result of an expedition planned
with great judgment and conducted with such

secrecy as to have escaped the vigilance of the

government till on the very eve of its being
carried into execution. After the discomfiture

it had met with from the elements, and the

formidable attitude which England, aroused to

a sense of the imminent danger she was in,

had now assumed, the French court must have

instantly abandoned, as it is believed it did

abandon, any idea of renewing the enterprise ;

but Charles Edward, sanguine of success, and

in no shape discouraged by the catastrophe

which had happened, daily importuned Marshal

Saxe to re-embark his troops and proceed to

England; but the marshal excused himself,

by urging the necessity of fresh instructions

from court and the previous repair of the

damaged transports.
6 The French ministry,

however, finally resolved to postpone the expe-

dition.

Although war may be said to have virtually

commenced between Great Britain and France

by the battle of Dettingen, which was fought

between the allies and the French in the

month of June, 1743, no formal declaration of

war was issued by either power till the month
of March following, after the expedition against

England had been given up.

After the failure and abandonment of the

enterprise, Prince Charles retired to Gravelines,

where he lived several months in private, under

the assumed name of the Chevalier Douglas.
Ever since his arrival in France he had been

forced by the French court to preserve an in-

cognito, which, though highly approved of by
Drummond and Sempil, his father's agents,

was productive of great uneasiness to the

Chevalier de St. George, who could not under-

6 The Marshal, in answer to a querulous note sent

hy the prince on llth of March, says in his answer on
the 13th, "Vous ne pouvez, Monseigneur, accuser

que les vents et la fortune des contretemps qui nous
arrivent." But he promises after the ships were re-

fitted to proceed with the expedition. Stuart Papers.

stand the reason for affecting to conceal a fact

which was notorious to all the world.
"

The preparations for invasion had raised,

not without foundation, great hopes of a

restoration in the minds of the Scottish

Jacobites; but when they ascertained that the

expedition was relinquished, they felt all that

bitterness of disappointment which the mis-

carriage of any cherished scheme is sure to

engender. They did not however despair of

effecting their object ultimately, and, in the

meantime, the leading members of the Concert

despatched a messenger to the prince to assure

him of their attachment to his cause, and in-

form him of the state of the country and the

dispositions of the people.
8 About the same

7
James, however, at first approved of the incognito.

Writing to Sempil, on 10th March, 1744, he observes,
' ' The prince will have been tired with his confine-

ment; but, as matters stand, the French court was
much in the right to keep him private, tho' that will

not, it is true, hinder the Elector of Hanover from

taking the alarm, and his measures against the inva-

sion. His views were different when writing Drum-
mond on 12th June. After complaining of the dis-

agreeable way in which the prince had been employed
on his first arrival at Gravelines, (of which no parti-
culars are given,) he continues, "I shall not be easy
till I know the prince is out of his strange and long
confinement and incognito, which must be so uneasy
to him, and, I think, does little honor to the King of

France, while it must carry something very odd with
it in the eye of the public. But there were, to be

sure, reasons for it which the public never knew, but
I hope I shall at last." Stuart Papers.

8 The arrival of this messenger, whose name was
Blair, was announced by Drummond of Bochaldy to

the prince's father, in a letter, dated 30th July, 1744:

"Yesterday night there arrived here, (at Dunkirk,)
a gentleman from Scotland sent by the Duke of Perth,
Lord Traquair, and young Lochiel, to inform the

prince of the state and disposition of that country,
and the hazard the clans run by Lord John Drum-
mond attempting to raise a regiment in your majesty's

name, which he gloriously averred to every particular,
was by his majesty's command and order; but the

dangerous effect of this was prevented by the gentle-
men of the Concert, their prudence and influence in

allowing nobody of any distinction to give either

countenance or credit to it except his brother, who, it

seems, they could not hinder from going such lengths
as brought troops about him, and forced him to ab-

scond, till such time as the government came to under-

stand that the view was absolutely private in Lord

John, and that the using your majesty's name was an

imposition for private ends, which the clans had dis-

appointed as much as they could. It would appear

exaggeration to repeat to your majesty the accounts

this gentleman brings of the real spirit and forward-

ness every man showed on hearing that the prince was

coming to them, and what an universal melancholy
succeeded that flow of spirits on being made certain of

a disappointment.
"

Stuart Papers.
It appears from the Chevalier's answer (28th August,

1744), to the above-mentioned letter, that Lord John
Drummond was authorised to raise the regiment:
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time Murray of Broughton went to Paris, by

advice of the Earl of Traquair, to ascertain the

exact situation of affairs. Here he was intro-

duced to the prince by Drummond and Sempil.

At a private interview which he had with

Charles the following day, Murray stated, that

from the absurd and contradictory nature of

the communications made by the prince's

agent at Paris, they had, as it appeared to

him, a design to impose upon him with the

intention of serving themselves. Charles

alluded to the association which had been

formed at Edinburgh, said that he did not

doubt that the King of France intended to

invade Britain in the ensuing spring, that he

was already preparing for it, and intended to

execute it as soon as the campaign in Flanders

was over; but that whether the King of France

undertook the expedition or not, he himself

was determined to go to Scotland. Murray,

thereupon, endeavoured to show him that such

an attempt would be desperate, as he could

not at the utmost expect to be joined by more

than 4,000 or 5,000 men; but notwithstanding

Murray's representations, Charles repeated his

determination of going to Scotland. Murray

says that he was so much against the under-

taking, that he spoke to Sir Thomas Sheridan

an Irish gentleman who enjoyed the prince's

confidence to endeavour to persuade him

against it, and that Sir Thomas told him, on

his arrival in Scotland, that he had done so,

but to no purpose. On returning to Scotland

Murray reported to the members of the asso-

ciation all that had passed at the conference

with the prince; and all of them, except the

Duke of Perth, declared themselves opposed
to the prince's resolution of coming to Scot-

land without troops.
19

Murray then wrote a

"I remarked what you said last post in relation to
Lord John : he had my approbation for endeavouring
to raise a Scots regiment in the French service; and
as I think that in general the more troops there be of

my subjects in that service, the better. I must re-
commend to you not to take any steps to obstruct the
raising of the said regiment. "Stuart Papers.

'J The prince's design was rumoured at Paris, and
communicated by Sernpil to the Chevalier, who, in
his answer, dated 23d February, 1745, remarks as fol-
lows: "I am noways surprised that some French
people should have a notion of the prince's going to
Scotland without troops, tho' nobody surely can enter
into such an idea except out of ignorance, and from
not knowing the true state of tilings. But I am
always alarmed at it, because I think it impossible

letter to Charles, stating the opinion of his

friends, and representing the ruinous conse-

quences which might ensue from such a rash

undertaking. This letter was committed to

the care of a gentleman who went to London

in the month of January, 1745; but he

neglected to forward it, and it was returned to

Murray in the month of April. Murray made

several attempts afterwards to forward the

letter to France, and at last succeeded; but it

never came to the hands of the prince, who

departed for Scotland before the letter reached

its destination.

During the spring of 1745, the agents of

the Chevalier de St. George renewed their soli-

citations at the French court for another expe-

dition; but Louis and his ministers were too

much occupied with preparations for the

campaign in Flanders to pay much attention

to such applications. They however continued

to amuse the Jacobite negotiators with assur-

ances of conditional support; but James began
to perceive that little or no reliance could be

placed upon such promises. To relieve him-

self from the ennui occasioned by the failure

of the expedition, and the state of seclusion in

which he was kept by the French government,

and to obtain some knowledge of military tac-

tics, Charles applied for permission to make a

campaign with the French army in Flanders;

but although he was warmly backed in his

application by his father, Louis refused to ac-

cede to his wish. Though frustrated in his

expectations of any immediate aid from France,

and denied the trifling gratification of making
a campaign, Charles manifested little of the

restlessness and hauteur which he afterwards

displayed on his return from Scotland. Though
he had much reason, as he observed, "to be

out of humour," he resolved, notwithstanding,

to bear with patience the disappointments

which he had experienced.
1

that the King of France should approve of such a pro-

ject, and that it is well known how much I should

myself be averse to it. However, it will be always
well that you use your best endeavours to refute so

dangerous a scheme, and that nobody can do more

solidly and effectually than yourself, from the lights
and knowledge you have of the affairs of Britain

;
and

I own, till I see the contrary, I shall, as long as the
war lasts, always hope that the French will take at

last some generous resolution in our favour.
"

Stuart

Papers.
1 Stuart Papers, February and March, 1745.
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To ease his mind from the anxieties which

pressed upon it, the Duke of Fitzjames and

other friends of his family, invited the prince

to pass the spring at their country-seats in the

neighbourhood of Paris, where, amid the society

of his friends and rural recreations, he seemed,

for a time, to forget the object for which he

had come to France.

CHAPTER XXIX.

A. D. 1745.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 1727 1760.

Preparations Departure of the expedition Incidents

of the voyage The Prince lands in Eriska Has
interviews with Macdonakl of Boisdale and young
Clanranald Kinlochmoidart, Dr. Cameron, and

others, visit the Prince Charles lands at Borodale

Cameron, younger, of Lochiel His interview

with the Prince Charles arrives at Kinlochmoidart
Commencement of hostilities Charles raises his

standard at Glenh'nnan Manifesto The Chevalier's

ignorance of the expedition.

FROM mere auxiliaries in the war of the Aus-

trian succession, Great Britain and France at

last entered the field as principals ;
and in the

spring of 1745, both parties were prepared to

decide their respective differences by force of

arms. The Jacobites, who looked upon war

as the harbinger to a speedy realisation of their

wishes and their hopes, awaited the result with

anxiety; though, from the policy of France, it

was not difficult to perceive that the issue,

whether favourable or unfavourable to France,

would in reality neither advance nor retard the

long looked for restoration. France, if defeated

in the field, almost on her own frontiers, would

require all her forces to protect herself; and

could not, therefore, be expected to make a

diversion on the shores of Britain. And, on

the other hand, if successful in the campaign
about to open in Flanders, she was likely to ac-

complish the objects for which the war had been

undertaken, without continuing an expensive

and dubious struggle in support of the Stuarts.

Charles Edward Stuart, the aspirant to the

British throne, seems to have viewed matters

much in the same light on receiving intelligence

of the victory obtained by the French over the

allies at Fontenoy.
2 In writing to one of his

2 This battle was fought on the lllh May, 1745.

father's agents at Paris,
3 who had sent him in-

formation of the battle, Charles observes that

it was not easy to form an opinion as to whether

the result would "
prove good or bad "

for his

affairs. He had, however, taken his resolution

to go to Scotland, though unaccompanied even

by a single company of soldiers
;
and the event

which had just occurred made him determine

to put that resolution into immediate execu-

tion. At Fontenoy, the British troops main-

tained by their bravery the national reputation,

but they were obliged to yield to numbers
;

yet, to use the words of a French historian,
"
they left the field of battle without tumult,

without confusion, and were defeated with

honour." 4 The flower of the British army
was, however, destroyed; and as Great Britain

had been almost drained of troops, Charles

considered the conjuncture as favourable, and

made such preparations for his departure as the

shortness of the time would allow.

The French government was apprised of

Charles's intentions, and though the French

ministers were not disposed openly to sanction

an enterprise which they were not at the time

in a condition to support, they secretly favoured

a design, which, whatever might be its result,

would operate as a diversion in favour of

France. Accordingly, Lord Clare, (afterwards

Marshal Thomond,) then a lieutenant-general

in the French service, was authorised to open
a negotiation with two merchants of Irish ex-

traction, named Ruttledge and Walsh, who had

made some .money by trading to the West

Indies. They had, since the war, been con-

cerned in privateering ;
and with the view of

extending their operations, had lately obtained

from the French government a grant of the

Elizabeth, an old man-of-war of sixty-six guns,

and they had purchased a small frigate of six-

teen guns named the Doutelle, both of which

ships were in the course of being fitted out for

a cruise in the north seas. .Lord Clare having
introduced Charles to Ruttledge and Walsh,

explained the prince's design, and proposed
that they should lend him their ships. This

proposal was at once acceded to by the owners,

3 Letter to Colonel 'Bryan, 16th June, 1745, in

Stuart Papers.
4 Lettres et Memoires du Marechal de Saxe. Paris,

1794.
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who also offered to supply the prince with

money and such arms as they could procure,

in fulfilment of which offer they afterwards

placed in his hands the sum of 3,800.
5

While the preparations for the expedition

were going on, Charles resided at Navarre, a

seat of the Duke of Bouillon, and occupied

himself in hunting, fishing, and shooting. A
few persons only in his own confidence were

aware of his intentions; and so desirous was

he of concealing his movements from his

father's agents at Paris, that he gave out,

shortly before his departure, that he intended

to visit the monastery of La Trappe, in the

vicinity of Eouen, and would return to Paris

in a few days.
6 The prince ordered the few

followers who were to accompany him to as-

semble at Nantes, near the mouth of the

Loire; and the better to conceal their design,

they arrived there singly, took up their resi-

dence in different parts of the town, and when

they met on the streets did not seem to recog-

nise one another. 7

When informed that every thing was in

readiness for his departure, Charles went to

Nantes in disguise, and having descended the

Loire in a fishing boat on the 20th of June,

(0. S.) 1745, embarked on the 21st on board

the Doutelle at St. Nazaire, whence he pro-
ceeded on the following day to Belleisle, where
he was joined on the 4th of July by the Eliza-

beth, which had on board 100 marines raised

by Lord Clare, about 2,000 muskets, and 500
or 600 French broad-swords. The persons
who accompanied Charles were the Marquis of

Tullibardine,
8 elder brother of James, Duke of

Athole; Sir Thomas Sheridan, who had been
tutor to Charles; Sir John Macdonald, an
officer in the Spanish service; Francis Strick-

land, an English gentleman; George Kelly, a

clergyman; ^neas or Angus Macdonald, a
banker in Paris, brother to Kinlochmoidart

;

* Home's Rebellion, p. 36.
6 Letter to Colonel O'Bryan, 20th June, 1745, An-

NO"m Sempil
'

s letter to the

,
Athol the Jacobites,the eldest son of the preceding duke The

marquis had been attainted for the share he took in
the insurrection of 1715; and the title and estates
were, in consequence of his attainder, now enjoyed bylas immediate younger brother.

and O'Sullivan, an officer in the service of

France. These were afterwards designated

the "Seven Men of Moidart." There were

also some persons of inferior note, among
whom were one Buchanan, who had been

employed as a messenger to Borne by Cardinal

Tencin, and Duncan Cameron, formerly a

servant of old Lochiel at Boulogne, who

was hired for the expedition, for the purpose,

as he informs us, of descrying the "
Long

Isle."
9

The expedition sailed from Belleisle on the

5th of July with a fair wind, which continued

favourable till the 8th, when a dead calm

ensued. On the following day, when in the

latitude of 47 57' north, and thirty -nine

leagues west from the meridian of the Lizard,

a sail was descried to windward, which proved
to be the Lion, a British man-of-war of sixty

guns, commanded by Captain Brett. When
the Lion hove in sight, the prince, for better

accommodation, was preparing to go on board

the Elizabeth; but luckily for him he laid

aside his design on the appearance of the man-

of-war. While the Lion was bearing down on

the French ships, M. D'Oe, or D'Eau, the cap-

tain of the Elizabeth, went on board the

Doutelle, where a council of war was imme-

diately held, at which it was determined, if

possible, to avoid an action
;
but if an action

became inevitable, that the Elizabeth should

receive the first broadside, and should there-

upon endeavour to board her adversary. While

this conference lasted, both ships kept running
before the wind; but the Lion being a fast

sailing vessel soon neared the Elizabeth, and,

when within nearly a mile of her, hove to for

the purpose of reconnoitring the French ships

and preparing for action. Judging an action

now unavoidable, Captain D'Oe proposed to

Walsh, one of the proprietors of the two ves-

sels, and who acted as commander of the

Doutelle, that while the Elizabeth and Lion

were engaged, the Doutelle should assist the

Elizabeth by playing upon the Lion at a dis-

tance; but Walsh declined to interfere in any

shape. The Captain of the Elizabeth there-

upon drew his sword, and taking leave, went

back to his ship, with his drawn sword in his

hand, to prepare for action. a

9 Forbes Papers, note, p. 1.
J Kirkconnel MS.
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Captain D'Oe had scarcely reached the

Elizabeth when the Lion bore down upon her.

Contrary to the plan laid down on board the

Doutelle, the Elizabeth gave the first broad-

side, which was instantly returned by the

Lion; and before the Elizabeth could get her

other side to bear upon her opponent, the lat-

ter tacked about and poured in another broad-

side into the Elizabeth, which raked her fore

and aft, and killed a great number of her men.

Notwithstanding this untoward beginning, the

Elizabeth maintained the fight for nearly five

hours, when night coming on, and both vessels

being complete wrecks, they parted as if by
mutual consent. The prince, in the Doutelle,

viewed the battle with great anxiety, and, it is

said, importuned the captain to assist the

Elizabeth, but Walsh positively refused to en-

gage, and intimated to the prince, that if he

continued his solicitations, he would order him

down to the cabin. 2

After the action was over, Captain "Walsh

bore up to the Elizabeth to ascertain the state

of matters, and was informed by a lieutenant

of the severe loss she had sustained in officers

and men, and the crippled state she was in.

He, however, offered to pursue the voyage if

supplied with a main-mast and some rigging,

but Walsh had no spare materials; and after

intimating that he would endeavour to finish

the voyage himself, and advising the com-

mander of the Elizabeth to return to France,

both ships parted, the Elizabeth on her way
back to France, and the Doutelle on her voyage
to the Western Highlands.

3

On the llth of July a sail was discovered,

which gave chase to the Doutelle
;
but being a

swift-sailing vessel she outran her pursuer.

She encountered a rough sea and tempestuous
weather on the 15th and 16th, after which the

weather became fine till the midnight of the

20th, when a violent storm arose. She stood

out the gale, however, and on the 2d came

within sight of land, which was discovered to

be the southern extremity of Long Island, a

name by which, from their appearing at a dis-

tance, and in a particular direction, to form

one island, the islands of Lewis, the TJists,

Barra, and others, are distinguished. On ap-

2 Kirkoonnel MS. Forbes Papers, p. 7.
3 Forbes Papers, p. 8.

preaching the land, a large ship, which appeared

to be an English man-of-war, was descried

between the Doutelle and the island. On

perceiving this vessel, Walsh changed the

course of the Doutelle, and stretching along
the east side of Barra, reached the strait be-

tween South Uist and Eriska, the largest of a

cluster of little rocky islands that lie off South

Uist. When near the land, Duncan Cameron,
before mentioned, was sent on shore in the

long-boat to bring off a proper pilot, and hav-

ing accidentally met the piper of Macneil of

Barra, with whom Cameron was acquainted,

he took him on board. In the strait alluded

to, the Doutelle cast anchor on the 23d of

July, having been eighteen days at sea. 4

Accompanied by his attendants, the prince

immediately landed in Eriska, and was con-

ducted to the house of Angus Macdonald, the

tacksman, or principal tenant thereof and of

the small islands adjoining. To anticipate that

prying curiosity and speculation which the

inhabitants of the western isles always display

on the arrival of strangers, the prince's com-

panions represented him as a young Irish priest,

a species of visitor by no means uncommon in

these islands, whither priests from the opposite

coast of Ireland had been long accustomed to

resort, for the purpose of giving the islanders

that religious instruction and consolation of

which, by the change in the national religion,

they had been almost debarred from receiving

from the hands of native priests. From the

tacksman of Eriska, the party learned, that

Macdonald, chief of Clanranald, and Macdonald

of Boisdale, his brother, were upon the island

of South Uist, and that young Clanranald, the

son of the chief, was at Moidart upon the main-

land. As Boisdale was understood to have

great influence with his brother, a messenger
was immediately despatched to South Uist, re-

questing his attendance on board the Doutelle.

Charles and his companions passed the night
in the house of the tacksman, but the accommo-

dation was very indifferent. They had not a

sufficient supply of beds, but the prince, regard-

less of his own ease, declined to occupy one. 5

4 Kirkconnel MS. Forbes Papers, p. 9.
5 Charles is said to have taken particular care of Sir

Thomas Sheridan on this occasion. He "went to

examine his bed, and to see that the sheets were well

aired. The landlord observing him to search the bed

3 T
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Next morning they returned to the ship.

Boisdale soon thereafter made his appearance.

Aa his brother, Clanranald, was unfit, from age

and bad health, to be of any essential service,

Charles was anxious to secure the assistance of

Boisdale, by whose means he expected that

the clan would be induced to rise in his sup-

port. Boisdale had, however, already made

up his mind upon the subject, and the result

of the interview was extremely discouraging to

Charles. At first, the prince proposed that

Boisdale should accompany him to the main-

land, and endeavour to engage his nephew to

take up arms
;
but Boisdale decidedly declined

the proposal, and even declared that he would

do every thing in his power to prevent his

brother and nephew from engaging in an enter-

prise which he considered desperate. Baffled

in his first attempt, Charles next proposed to

despatch Boisdale with a message to Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald of Sleat and the Laird of

Macleod, who had extensive possessions in the

island of Skye, requesting their assistance
;

but Boisdale informed the prince that such a

mission would be useless, as he had seen Sir

Alexander Macdonald and Macleod very lately,

that they had stated to him the probability

that the prince would arrive, but that if he

came without a body of regular troops, they

were determined not to join him, and were of

opinion that no other person would. Boisdale

added, that he was instructed by these gentle-

men to mention their resolution to the prince

in case he should meet him on his arrival, and

to advise him, should he come unprovided

with troops, to return directly to France.

Charles was sadly perplexed at Boisdale's

obduracy, but he endeavoured to soften him

by representing his affairs in the most favour-

able light ;
but the Highlander was inflexible.

Whilst this prolonged altercation was going

on, two vessels appeared making for the strait

so narrowly, and at the same time hearing him declare
lie would sit up all night, called out to him, and said,
that it was so good a bed, and the sheets were so good,
that a prince needed not be ashamed to lie on them.
The prince not being accustomed to such fires in the
middle of the room, and there being no other chimney
than a hole in the roof, was almost choked, and wa's

obliged to go often to the door for fresh air. This at
last made the landlord, Angus Macdonald, call out,
' What a plague is the matter with that fellow, that
he can neither sit nor stand still, and neither keep
within nor without doors ?' "--Jacobite Memoirs, p. 1 1 .

in which the Doutelle lay, a circumstance

which induced her commander to weigh anchor

and stand in for the mainland. Boisdale, still

pressed by the prince, remained on board till

the ship had advanced several miles in her

course, when he entered his boat, and left

Charles to ruminate over his disappointment.

The Doutelle continued her course during the

night, and next morning cast anchor in the

bay of Lochnanuagh, which partly divides the

countries of Moidart and Arisaig.
6 On ap-

proaching the strait, the Marquis of Tullibar-

dine, when about to retire below to dinner,

observed an .eagle hovering over the frigate,

which he looked upon as a happy augury, but

afraid of being taxed by his companions witli

superstition, he at first took no notice of the

circumstance. On coming upon deck after

dinner, he saw the eagle still hovering above

the vessel and following her in her course. No

longer able to restrain himself, he directed the

attention of Charles and his suite to the royal

bird, and thereafter turning to the prince, thus

addressed him :

"
Sir, I hope this is an excel-

lent omen, and promises good things to us.

The king of birds is come to welcome your

royal highness upon your arrival in Scotland."

Though foiled in his attempt upon Boisdale,

the young adventurer resolved to repeat the

same experiment upon his nephew, and accord-

ingly he immediately sent a boat on shore

with a letter to young Clanranald; ^Eneas

Macdonald also went on shore to bring off

Kinlochmoidart, his brother. Kinlochmoidart

came on board immediately, and after a short

interview with the prince, was despatched with

letters to Lochiel, the Duke of Perth, Murray
of Broughton and others.

Next day young Clanranald, accompanied

by his kinsmen, Alexander Macdonald of Glen-

alladale, ^Eneas Macdonald of Dalily and a

Highland officer (author of a journal and me-

moirs of the expedition),
7 came to Forsy, a

small village opposite to the Doutelle's anchor-

age ground. They called for the ship's boat,

and were immediately carried on board. The

feelings of the party on getting upon deck are

thus described by the writer alluded to.
" Our

hearts were overjoyed to find ourselves so near

6 Home's Rebellion (edition of 1802), p 29.
7 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 479.
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our long-wished-for prince; we found a large

tent erected, with poles on the ship's deck,

covered and well furnished with variety of

wines and spirits. As we entered this pavilion

we were most cheerfully welcom'd by the Duke

of Athole, to whom some of us had been known

in the year 1715. While the duke was talk-

ing with us, Clanranald was a-missing, and

had, as we understood, been called into the

prince's cabin, nor did we look for the honour

of seeing His R. H. at least for that night."
7

Of the conversation which took place be-

tween the prince and young Clanranald during

the three hours they were closeted together, no

account was ever given; but it is probable that

if the latter stated any objections against the

enterprise, they had been overcome before he

rejoined his companions, as no allusion is made

by the writer just quoted, to any unwillingness

on the part of the young chieftain to join the

prince. Maxwell of Kirkconnel, who men-

tions the refusal of Boisdale, says, that young
Clanranald frankly offered his services to the

prince,
8 a statement which, from the ardent

and romantic attachment for the Stuarts with

which that young chieftain was inspired, seems

to approximate nearer the truth than that of

Home, who classes Kinlochmoidart and young
Clanranald together, as joining in a positive

refusal to take up arms.

According to Home, young Clanranald and

Kinlochmoidart came on board together, and

were addressed, with great emotion, by Charles,

who had been almost reduced to despair by
his interview with Boisdale. After using all

the arguments he could for taking up arms, he

conjxired them to assist their countryman, their

prince, in his utmost need. Though well in-

clined and warmly attached to the cause, the

gentlemen in question are said to have posi-

tively refused, and to have told the prince, one

after another, that to take up arms in their

present unprepared state, without concert or

support, would bring down certain destruction

on their own heads. Charles persisted, argued,

and implored, but without effect. During this

conversation the parties walked backwards and

forwards upon the deck, and were closely eyed

by a Highlander who stood near them armed

7 Lockliarf, Papers, vol. ii. p. -179.
8 Kirkcoiiisel MS.

at all points, as was then the fashion of the

country. He was a younger brother of Kin-

lochmoidart, and had come off to the ship to

inquire for news, not knowing who was on

board. When he gathered from their discourse

that the stranger was Prince Charles, and heard

his chief and his brother refuse to take up
arms in his behalf, his colour went and came,

his eyes sparkled, he shifted his place and

grasped his sword. Charles observing his

demeanour, stopped short, and turning towards

him, put this interrogatory, "Will not you
assist me? " " I will ! I will !" exclaimed Ran-

ald
;

"
though no other man in the Highlands

should draw a sword, I am ready to die for

you." Charles, delighted with the young man's

answer, evinced his gratitude by a profusion of

thanks and acknowledgments, extolled his

champion to the skies, and said he only wished

that all the Highlanders were like him. Stung
with the prince's observation, which could be

regarded only as a reproach, and smitten by
the example set by the heroic youth, the two

Macdonalds instantly declared that they would

unsheath their swords in support of the claims

of the house of Stuart, and would use their

utmost endeavours to rouse their countrymen
to arms. 9

After the interview with the prince, Clan-

ranald returned to his friends, who had, during

the conference, been regaling themselves in the

pavilion. In about half-an-hour thereafter, the

prince entered the tent and took his seat with-

out appearing to notice any of the company.

His appearance, and the scene which followed,

are thus described by an eyewitness.
" There

entered the tent a tall youth of a most agree-

able aspect, in a plain black coat with a plain

shirt, not very clean, and a cambrick stock

fixed with a plain silver buckle, a fair round

wig out of the buckle, a plain hat with a can-

vas string having one end fixed to one of his

coat buttons
;
he had black stockings, and brass

buckles in his shoes. At his first appearance

I found my heart swell to my very throat.

We were immediately told by one Obrian, a

churchman, that this youth was also an English

clergyman, who had long been possessed with

a desire to see and converse with Highlanders.

9 Home's Rebellion, p. 29.
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"When this youth entered, Obrian forbid

any of those who were sitting to rise
;
he saluted

none of us, and we only made a low bow at

a distance. I chanced to be one of those who

were standing when he came in, and he took

his seat near me, but immediately started up

again and caused me to sit down by him upon

a chest. I at this time taking him only to be

a passenger or some clergyman, presumed to

speak to him with too much familiarity, yet

still retained some suspicion he might be one

of more note than he was said to be. He

asked me if I was not cold in that habit, (viz.

the Highland garb,) 1 answered I was so habit-

uated to it, that I should rather be so (feel

cold) if I was to change my dress for any other.

At this he laughed heartily, and next inquired

how I lay with it at night, which I explained

to him. He said that by wrapping myself so

close in my plaid I would be unprepared for

any sudden defence in the case of a surprise.

I answered that in such times of danger, or

during the war, we had a different method of

using the plaid, that with one spring I could

start to my feet with drawn sword and cocked

pistol in my hand, without being the least en-

cumbered with my bed-clothes. Several such

questions he pat to me; then rising quickly
from his seat he calls for a dram, when the

same person whispered me a second time to

pledge the stranger but not to drink to him,

by which seasonable hint I was confirmed in

my suspicion who he was. Having taken a

glass of wine in his hand, he drank to us all

round, and soon after left us." 1

Having thus secured the support of young
Clanranald, Charles selected him to execute

the commission which, his uncle, Boisdale, had
refused to undertake. Accordingly, on the

22d of July the young chieftain, attended by
Allan Macdonald, a younger brother of Kin-

lochmoidart, was despatched with letters from
the prince, to Sir Alexander Macdonald and
the laird of Macleod, to solicit the aid of their

services. These powerful chieftains, who could

raise nearly 2,000 men between them, had

promised to join the prince if he brought a

foreign force along with him, but when they
found that he had come without troops, they

1 Journal and Memoirs. Lockliart Papers, vol ii t>n
480-1.

considered themselves released from their en-

gagements, and refused to join in an enterprise

which they considered desperate.
2

During young Clanranald's absence, Donald

Macdonald of Scothouse, Dr. Archibald Cam-

eron on the part of his brother Donald Cam-

eron, younger of Lochiel, and Hugh Macdonald,

brother of the laird of Morar, came on board

the Doutelle. The latter, on his way home

from Edinburgh, had met Kinlochmoidart

crossing the water of Lochy, and had been in-

formed by him of the arrival of the prince.
3

In expectation of seeing the prince, he went to

Kinlochmoida'rt's house, where he found ^Eneas

Macdonald, brother of Kinlochmoidart, who

told him that he might see the prince the fol-

lowing day if he pleased, but cautioned him

not to accost him as such, as the prince passed

for a French abb4 with the crew of the vessel,

who were ignorant of his rank. Next day the

two Macdonalds went on board; and Charles,

being informed of the name and character of

his visitor, invited him down to the cabin.

In a conversation which ensued, Hugh Mac-

8 Maxwell of Kirkconnel. "There are not wanting
in Scotland many men to follow such examples : but
Lochiel's feeling was that of far the greater number.
The Scots have often been reproached with a spirit of

sordid gain. The truth is merely and should it not
be matter of praise ? that by their intelligence, their

industry, their superior education, they will always, in

whatever country, be singled out for employment, and
rise high in the social scale. But when a contest lies

between selfish security or advancement on one side,
and generous impulse or deep-rooted conviction on the

other; when danger and conscience beckon onward,
and prudence alone calls back

;
let all history declare

whether in any age or in any cause, as followers of

Knox or of Montrose, asCameronians or as Jacobites, the

men ay, and the women of Scotland, have quailed
from any degree of sacrifice or suffering ! The very
fact that Charles came helpless, obtained him the help
of many. Moreover, Charles was now in the very
centre of those tribes, which, ever since they were
trained by Montrose, had continued firm and devoted
adherents of the House of Stuart.

"
Mahon's England,

vol. iii. p. 314.
3 The following is part of a dialogue which took place

between them. "Said Kinlochmoidart,
' You'll see the

prince this night at my house.
' ' What number of men

has he brought along with him ?' 'Only seven,' said

Kinlochmoidart. ' What stock of money and arms
has he brought with him then? 'said Mr Hugh. 'A

very small stock of either,' said Kinlochmoidart.
' What generals or officers fit for commanding are

with him?' said Mr Hugh. 'None at all,
'

replied
Kinlochmoidart. Mr Hugh said he did not like

the expedition at all, and was afraid of the conse-

quences. 'I cannot help it,' said Kinlochmoidart,
'
if the matter go wrong, then I'll certainly be hanged,

for I am engaged already.'
"

Jacobite Memoirs, note,

p. 18.
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donald expressed his fears as to the result of

the expedition if persevered in, and hinted

that, as he had brought no forces along with

him, the most eligible course the prince could

pursue, was to return to France, and wait a

more favourable opportunity. Charles re-

marked that he did not wish to be indebted

for the restoration of his father to foreigners,

but to his own friends
;
that he had now put

it in their power to have the glory of doing

so, and that as to returning to France without

making an attempt, foreigners should never

have to say that he had thrown himself upon
his friends, that they had turned their backs

upon him, and that he had been forced to

retire for shelter to foreign lands. He con-

cluded by observing, that if he could get only

six stout trusty fellows to join him, he would

choose rather to skulk with them among the

mountains of Scotland than return to France.

Dr. Cameron also urged Charles to return, and

told him that Lcchiel had made up his mind

not to join; but Charles returned the same

answer he had given to Hugh Macdonald.

On the return from Skye of young Clanranald

and Allan Macdonald, who brought back an

absolute refusal from Sir Alexander Macdonald

and the laird of Macleod, the whole party on

board, including even Sir Thomas Sheridan,

by whose advice the prince generally acted,

importuned him to desist, chiefly on the

ground that the refusal of two such influential

and powerful chieftains would prevent others,

who were well disposed to the cause, from

joining; but Charles was immoveable, and

though without a single supporter, persisted in

his resolution. 4

Charles remained on board the Doutelle till

the 25th of July, the interval between which

day and that of his arrival in Lochnanuagh,
was spent in despatching letters and receiving

communications from his friends, and in con-

sultations with his companions and the adher-

ents who visited him, as to the means to be

adopted for raising the clans that were favour-

ably disposed. During the same interval, all

the arms, ammunition, and stores were landed
;

and every thing being in readiness for his re-

ception on shore, Charles, accompanied by his

4 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 481. Note to Jacobite

Memoirs, p. 18.

suite, landed at Borodale, a farm belonging to

Clanranald, and took up his abode in the

house of Angus Macdonald, the tenant of the

farm, who received him and his companions
with a hearty welcome. By orders of young

Clanranald, Macdonald of Glenalladale and an-

other gentleman of the clan, had collected

about 100 of their men to serve as a body-

guard to the prince, all of whom were hospita-

bly entertained at Borodale.

No situation could have been any where

selected more suitable for the circumstances

and designs of Charles than the abode he had

chosen. Besides being one of the most remote

and inaccessible places in the western High-
lands of Scotland, it was surrounded on all sides

by the territories of the most devoted adherents

of the house of Stuart, by the descendants of

the heroes of Kilsyth and Killiecrankie, in

whose breasts the spirit of revenge had taken

deep root, for the cruelties which had followed

the short-lived insurrection of 1715, and the

affronts to which they had been subjected

under the disarming act. These mountaineers

had long sighed for an opportunity of retalia-

tion, and they were soon to imagine that the

time for vengeance had arrived.

As soon as the landing of Charles was known,
the whole neighbourhood was in motion, and

repaired,
" without distinction of age or sex,"

5

to the house of Borodale, to see a man with

whose success they considered the glory and

happiness of their country to be inseparably

associated. To gratify his warm-hearted and

generous visitors, and to attain a full view of

the assembled group, Charles seated himself in

a conspicuous part of the room where a repast

had been laid out for him and his friends.

Here, amid the congregated spectators who

feasted their eyes with the sight of the lineal

descendant of a race of kings, endeared to

them by many sorrowful recollections, the

prince partook of the fare provided by his

kind host, with a cheerfulness which banished

all reflection of the past or care for the future.

At the conclusion of the repast, Charles drank

the grace-drink in English, which, of course,

was understood only by a few of the persons

present. The guest, to whom we are indebted

8 J.ocklmrt Papers, vol. ii. p. 482.
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for this account, says, that when his turn

came to propose a toast, wishing to distinguish

himself, he gave the king's health" in Gaelic

in an audible voice," Deoch slaint an Kigh."

When the prince was informed that his father's

health had been drunk, he requested the gentle-

man who had proposed it to pronounce the

words again in Gaelic, that he might repeat

them himself. This being done, Charles

repeated the words, and understanding that

the proposer was skilful in Gaelic, the prince

intimated to him that he would henceforth

take instructions from him in that language.

The same individual, afterwards, by desire,

gave also the healths of the prince, and his

brother "the duke," in Gaelic.
7 Such con-

descension and familiarityon the part of Charles

were highly gratifying to the feelings of all

present, and were better calculated to secure

the affections of the unsophisticated people,

into whose arms he had thrown himself, than

all the pomp and circumstance of regal splen-

dour.

Though the extreme rashness of young Clan-

ranald and his friends, in thus exposing them-

selves to almost inevitable destruction, be

quite inexcusable on the score of sober reason,

yet it is impossible not to admire the daring

intrepidity of the men, who, at the call of a

friendless and unprotected youth, could com-

mit themselves in a struggle with the govern-

ment even before they had ascertained that a

single clan, except their own, would join.

Their devotedness to the cause of the Stuarts

did not blind them, however, to the dangers

to which they were about to expose themselves

by declaring for the prince ;
but having now

thrown away the scabbard, they resolved to

cling to the cause which a feeling of fidelity

prompted them to espouse, reckless of the con-

sequences. "All may -judge (says a gentleman

of the clan), how hazardous an enterprise we

were now engaged in, being for some time

quite alone
;
but we resolved, notwithstand-

ing, to follow our prince, and risk our fate

with his." 8

Charles, before landing, had despatched

messengers to several of the chiefs who were

favourably disposed. From Borodale he again

7 Lockliart Papers, vol. ii. p. 483. Idem.

sent off fresh messengers to all the chiefs from

whom he expected assistance, requiring their

attendance. Some of his friends, aware of his

arrival, had, it is said, already held a meeting

to consult as to the course they should pursue ;

at which Macdonald of Keppoch had given his

opinion, that as the prince had risked his

jerson, and generously thrown himself into the

lands of his friends, they were bound, in duty

at least, to raise men instantly for the protec-

tion of his person, whatever might be the con-

sequences ;

9 but it does not appear that any

such resolution was at that time adopted.

The person pitched upon to visit Lochiel on

this occasion, was Macdonald, younger of Scot-

tiouse, who succeeded in inducing that chief to

visit the prince at Borodale, but he went with

a determination not to take up arms. On his

way to Borodale he called at the house of his

brother, John Cameron of Fassefern, who, on

being told the object of his journey, advised

Lochiel not to proceed, as he was afraid that

the prince would prevail upon him to forego

his resolution. l
Lochiel, firm in his determina-

tion, as he imagined, told his brother that his

reasons for declining to join the prince were

too strong to be overcome, and pursued his

journey.

Donald Cameron of Lochiel, on whose final

determination the question of a civil war was

now to depend, (for it seems to be universally

admitted, that if Lochiel had declined to take

up arms the other chiefs would have also

refused,) though called young Lochiel by the

Highlanders, from his father being still alive,

was rather advanced in life. His father, for

the share he had taken in the insurrection of

1715, was attainted and in exile. In conse-

quence of the attainder, young Lochiel had

succeeded to the family estates upon the death

of his grandfather, Sir Ewen Cameron, in 1719.

Sir Ewen, the reader knows, had served with

distinction under Montrose and Dundee, and

his son and grandson had inherited from the

old warrior a devoted attachment to the house

of Stuart, which no change of circumstances

had been ever able to eradicate. The Chevalier

de St. George, sensible of the inflexible inte-

grity of the young chief, and of the great influ-

9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 17.
1 Home's Rebellion, p. 42.



LOCHTEL'S INTERVIEW WITH THE PRINCE. 519

ence wliicli he enjoyed among his countrymen
on account of the uprightness of his character,

and as being at the head of one of the most

powerful of the clans, had invested him with

full powers to negotiate with his friends in

Scotland, on the subject of his restoration. 2

Knowing the confidence which was so deserv-

edly reposed in him, he was consulted on all

occasions by the Jacobites in the Highlands, and,

as has been elsewhere observed, was one of the

seven who, in the year 1740, signed the bond

of association to restore the Chevalier. Upon
the failure of the expedition of 1743,

young Lochiel had urged the prince

to continue his exertions to get

another fitted out
;
but he was averse

to any attempts being made without

foreign assistance, and cautioned the

prince accordingly.
3

Among the chiefs who were sum-

moned to Borodale, Lochiel was the

first to appear, and he immediately

had a private interview with the

prince. Charles told him that he

meant to be quite candid, and to

conceal nothing ;
he reprobated in

severe terms the conduct of the

French ministry, who, he averred,

had long amused him with fair pro-

mises, and had at last deceived him.

He admitted that he had but a small

quantity of arms, and very little

money ;
that he had left France with

out concerting anything, or even

taking leave of the French court,

that he had, however, before leaving,

written to the French king and his

ministers soliciting succours, which

he was persuaded they would send as soon

as they saw that he really had a party
in Scotland, that he had appointed Earl

Murischal his agent at the court of France,

2 A tribute to the memory of Lochiel, who died
in 1748, appeared in the Scots Magazine of that year,
part of which we quote :

Mistaken as he was, the man was just,
Firm to his word, and faithful to his trust :

He bade not others go, himself to stay,
As is the pretty, prudent, modern way ;

But, like a warrior, bravely drew his sword.
And rear'd his target for his native lord.

Humane he was, protected countries tell
;

So rude an host was never rul'd so well.

Fatal to him, and to the cause he lov'd,

and that he depended much upon the zeal and

abilities of that nobleman, who would him-

self superintend the embarkation of the suc-

cours he was soliciting .

While Lochiel admitted the engagements
which he and other chiefs had come under to

support the cause, he observed that they were

binding only in the event of the stipulated aid

being furnished
;
and as his royal highness

had come over without such support, they were

released from the engagements they had con-

tracted. He therefore reiterated his resolution

Donald Cameron of Lochiel. From the original painting in

possession of Mrs Cameron-Campbell of Monzie.

not to join in the present hopeless attempt,
and advised his royal highness to return to

France and await a more favourable oppor-

tunity. Charles, on the other hand, main-

tained, that an opportunity more favourable

. Was the rash tumult which his folly mov'd
;

CompelJ'd, by hard necessity to bear,
In Gallia's bands, a mercenary spear !

But heav'n in pity to his honest heart,
Resolv'd to snatch him from so poor a part
The mighty mandate unto death was given,
And good LOCHIEL is now a Whig in heaven.

3 Letter from Lochiel under the signature of
' '

Dan,''
Feb. 22d, 1745, in Stuart Papers.
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than the present might never occur again,

that, with the exception of a very few newly

raised regiments, all the British troops were

occupied abroad. He represented, that the

regular troops now in the kingdom were insuffi-

cient to withstand the body of Highlanders

his friends could bring into the field
;
and he

stated his belief, that if in the outset he

obtained an advantage over the government

forces, the country in general would declare in

his favour, and his friends abroad would at

once aid him, that every thing, in fact, now

depended upon the Highlanders, and that to

accomplish the restoration of his father, it was

only necessary that they should instantly de-

clare themselves and begin the war.

These arguments, which, as the result showed,

were more plausible than solid, had no effect

upon Lochiel, who continued to resist all the

entreaties of Charles to induce him to alter

his resolution. Finding the prince utterly

averse to the proposal made to him to return

to France, Lochiel entreated him to be more

moderate in his views. He then suggested,

that Charles should send his attendants back

to France; that he himself should remain

concealed in the country ;
that a report should

be circulated that he also had returned to

France, and that the court of France should

be made acquainted with the state of matters,

and informed that his friends would be ready
to take up arms upon the first notice of a land-

ing, but that nothing could be done without

foreign support. Charles, however, rejected

this proposal also, and told Lochiel, that the

court of France would never be convinced that

he had a considerable party in Scotland, till

there was an actual insurrection, without which

he was afraid they would not venture their

troops.

As a last shift, Lochiel suggested, that

Charles should remain at Borodale till he and
other friends should hold a meeting, and con-

cert what was best to be done. With an

impatience which spurned delay, Charles would
not even listen to the proposal, and declared

his firm determination to take the field, how-
ever small the number of his attendants might
be.

" In a few days," said he,
" with the few

friends that I have, I will erect the royal

standard, and proclaim to the people of Britain,

that Charles Stuart is come over to claim the

crown of his ancestors to win it, or to perish

in the attempt : Lochiel, whom my father has

often told me, was our firmest friend, may stay

at home, and from the newspapers, learn the

fate of his prince." This appeal was irresisti-

ble. "No!" exclaimed Lochiel, "I'll share

the fate of my prince ;
and so shall every man

over whom nature or fortune has given me any

power.
4

Having extorted an acquiescence from Loch-

iel, who, impelled by a mistaken but chivalrous

sense of honour, thus yielded to the prince's

entreaties in spite of his own better judgment,

Charles resolved to raise his standard at Glen-

finnan on the 19th of August. Accordingly,

he despatched letters from Borodale on the

6th, to the various chiefs who were favourably

disposed, informing them of his intention, and

requiring the presence of them and their fol-

lowers at Glenfinnan on the day appointed, or

as soon thereafter as possible. Lochiel, at the

same time, returned to his own house, whence

he despatched messengers to the leading gentle-

men of his clan to raise their men, and to hold

themselves in readiness to march with him to

Glenfinnan.

After sending off his messengers, Charles

left Borodale for the house of Kinlochmoidart,

about seven miles from Borodale, whither he

and his suite had been invited by the proprietor

to spend a few days, while the preparations

for the appointed meeting were going on.

Charles and his party went by sea, and their

baggage and some artillery were forwarded by
the same conveyance ;

but the body-guard,

which had been provided by Clanranald, pro-

ceeded by land along the heads of two inter-

vening bays. While at the hospitable mansion

of his friend, Charles expressed his sense of

the services of Kinlochmoidart in the warmest

terms, offered him a colonel's commission in

a regiment of dragoons, and promised him a

peerage.
5

During Charles's stay at Kinlochmoidart,

4
Home, p. 43.

8 As an inducement to favour his restoration, the
Chevalier de St. George promised to ennoble a consider-

able number of his friends. Patents of nobility were

accordingly made out and signed in favour of all the
Jacobite chiefs and other leading supporters of the
cause. See letter from the Chevalier to the prince,
7th Nov., 1747, in Stuart Papers.



COMMENCEMENT OF HOSTILITIES. 521

the arming of the Highlanders went on with

extraordinary alacrity ;
and several days before

the prince's departure for Glenfinnan, detached

parties of armed Highlanders were to be seen

perambulating the country in different direc-

tions. Though three weeks had elapsed since

the arrival of the prince, and although Kinloch-

moidart was only about thirty miles from Fort

William, yet so effectually had his arrival been

concealed from the officers of the government
in the Highlands, that it was not until they

received intelligence of these movements, that

they began even to suspect his arrival. Alarmed

by reports which reached him for the safety of

Fort William, around which Lochiel and Kep-

poch were assembling their men, the governor

of Fort Augustus despatched, on the 16th of

August, two companies of the second battalion

of the Scots Royals, under the command of

Captain (afterwards General) Scott, to reinforce

that garrison ;
but they did not reach their

destination, having been taken prisoners by a

party of Lochiel's and Keppoch's men. As

this occurrence may be regarded as the com-

mencement of hostilities, and as it is strongly

characteristic of the ardour with which the

Highlanders took the field at the command of

their chiefs, the details of it may not here be

considered as out of place.

At the period in question, as well as at the

time of the previous insurrection of 1715,

the country between Fort William and Inver-

ness was inhabited altogether by disaffected

clans
; mainly to overawe whom, the chain of

forts, namely, Fort William, Fort Augustus, and

Fort George, which reach across the Highlands
from the east to the west sea, was placed. In

the centre of these, or almost equidistant

between Fort William and Fort George, stands

Fort Augustus, the distance between which

and fort William is twenty-eight miles. To

keep up a regular communication between the

garrisons of the two last mentioned forts, a

road, as we have seen, was made by order of

the government along the sides of the moun-

tains which skirt the narrow lakes, which now
form part of the bed of the .Caledonian canal.

It was along this road that the detachment in

question marched. That they might reach

Fort William the same day there being no

place on the road where so many men could

i.

have taken up their quarters during night

they left Fort Augustus early in the morning
of the 16th of August, and met with no inter-

ruption till they arrived at High Bridge, within

eight miles of Fort William. This bridge,

which consists of one arch of great height, is

built across the river Spean, a mountain

torrent confined between high and steep banks.

On approaching the bridge the ears of the

party were saluted by the sound of a bagpipe,

a circumstance which could excite little sur-

prise in the Highlands ;
but when they observed

a body of Highlanders on the other side of

the bridge with swords and firelocks in their

hands, the party became alarmed.

The Highlanders who had posted themselves

at the bridge, were of Keppoch's clan, and

were under the command of Macdonald of

Tierndriech
;
and though they did not consist

of more than eleven or twelve persons, yet by

leaping and skipping about, moving from place

to place, and extending their plaids between

one another to give themselves a formidable

appearance, they impressed Captain Scott with

an idea that they were a pretty numerous body.

He therefore halted his men, and sent forward

a sergeant with his own servant towards the

bridge to reconnoitre
;
but when they came

near the bridge they were seized and carried

across by two nimble Highlanders, who unex-

pectedly darted upon them. Seeing the fate

of his messengers, knowing that he was in a

disaffected district, and ignorant of the strength

of the Highlanders, Captain Scott deemed it

more advisable to retreat than risk an encoun-

ter. He, therefore, ordered his men to face

about, and return by the road they had come.

Tierndriech had for some time observed the

march of these troops, and had sent expresses

to Lochiel and Keppoch, whose houses were

within three or four miles of High Bridge,

announcing their advance, and demanding as-

sistance. Expecting immediate aid, and not

wishing to display his weakness, which, from

the openness of the ground near the bridge,

would have been easily discernible, he did not

follow Scott immediately, but kept at a distance

till the troops had passed the west end of Loch

Lochy, and were upon the narrow road between

the lake and the mountain. The Highlanders

thereupon made their appearance, and ascend-

3 u
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ing the craggy eminences which overhang the

road, and, sheltering themselves among the

rocks and trees, began to fire down upon the

retreating party, who, in place of returning the

fire, accelerated their pace.

Before this fire had been opened, bands of

Highlanders were proceeding in the direction

of the bridge to assist in the attack. Upon

hearing the report of the fire-arms, these has-

tened to the place whence the firing proceeded,

and in a short time a considerable body joined

the party under Tierndriech. Captain Scott

continued his march rapidly along the loch,

and when he reached the east end, he observed

some Highlanders on a hill at the west end of

Loch Oich, where they had assembled appa-

rently for the purpose of intercepting him on

his retreat. Disliking the appearance of this

body, which stood in the direct way of his

retreat, Scott resolved to throw himself for

protection into Invergary castle, the seat of

Macdonell of Glengarry, and accordingly crossed

the isthmus between the two lakes. This

movement, however, only rendered his situation

more embarrassing, as he had not marched far

when he perceived another body of Highland-

ers, the Macdonells of Glengarry, coming down

the opposite hill to attack him. In this dilem-

ma he formed his men into a hollow square,

and proceeded on his march. Meanwhile,

Tierndriech having been reinforced by a party

of Keppoch's men, headed by the chief, has-

tened the pursuit, and soon came up with the

fugitives. To spare the effusion of blood, Kep-

poch advanced alone to Scott's party, required

them to surrender, and offered them quarters;

but assured them, that, in case of resistance,

they would be cut to pieces. Fatigued with a

long march, and surrounded on all sides by in-

creasing bodies of Highlanders, Captain Scott,

who had been wounded, and had had two of

his men killed, accepted the terms offered,

and surrendered. This affair was scarcely

over, when Lochiel arrived on the spot with

a party of Camerons, and took charge of the

prisoners, whom he carried to his own house

at Achnacarie. The result of this singular

rencounter, in which the Highlanders did not

lose a single man, was hailed by them as

the harbinger of certain success, and they

required no farther inducement to prosecute

the war thus auspiciously begun, as they ima-

gined.
6

Charles, to whom it may be supposed intelli-

gence of this affair was instantly sent, left

Kinlochmoidart on the 18th of August, on

which day he went by water to the seat of

Alexander Macdonald of Glenalladale, on the

side of Loch Shiel, where he was joined by

Gordon of Glenbucket, who brought with him

Captain Sweetenham, an English officer of

Guise's regiment, who had been taken prisoner

by a party of Keppoch's men while on his way
to Fort William to inspect that fortress. The

prince passed the night at Glenalladale, and

with his attendants, who amounted to about

25 persons, proceeded about six o'clock next

morning, in three boats, to Glenfinnan, and

landed within a few hours at the east end of

Loch Shiel, where the little river Finnan falls

into the lake.

Glenfinnan, the place appointed for the ren-

dezvous, is a narrow vale bounded on both

sides by high and rocky mountains, between

which the river Finnan runs. This glen forms

the inlet from Moidart into Lochaber, and at

its gorge is about fifteen miles west from Fort

William. On landing, the prince was received

by the laird of Morar at the head of 150 men,

with whom he marched to Glenfinnan, where

he arrived about eleven o'clock. Charles, of

course, expected to find a large
"
gathering of

the clans
"

in the vale awaiting his approach ;

but, to his great surprise, not a human being

was to be seen throughout the whole extent of

the lonely glen, except the solitary inhabitants

of the few huts which formed the hamlet.

Chagrined and disappointed, Charles entered

one of these hovels to ruminate over the sup-

posed causes which might have retarded the

assembling of his friends. After waiting about

two hours in anxious suspense, he was relieved

from his solicitude by the distant sound of a

bagpipe, which broke upon his ear, and by its

gradual increase, it soon became evident that a

party was coming in the direction of the glen.

While all eyes were turned towards the point

whence the sound proceeded, a dark mass was

seen overtopping the hill and descending its

side. This was the clan Cameron, amounting

6 Home, p. 46. Kirkconnel MS. Tour in the

Highlands. Lond., 1819.
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to between 700 and 800 men, with Lochiel,

their chief, at their head. They advanced in

two columns, of three men deep each, with the

prisoners who were taken in the late scuffle

between the lines.

If in the state of suspense in which he was

kept after entering Glenfinnan, the spirits of

Charles suffered a temporary depression, they

soon recovered their wonted buoyancy when

he beheld the gallant band which now stood

before him. Without waiting, therefore, for

the other clans Avho were expected to join, the

prince at once resolved to raise his standard,

and to declare open war against
" the Elector

of Hanover," as Geoige IT. was called,
" and

his adherents." The Marquis of Tullibardine,

to whom, from his rank, was allotted the

honour of unfurling the standard, took his

station on a small knoll in the centre of the

vale,
7
where, supported by two men, he dis-

played the banner, and proclaimed the Cheva-

lier de St. George as king before the assembled

host, who rent the air with their acclamations.

The flag used upon this occasion was of silk,

of a white, blue, and red texture, but without

any motto. After proclamation, a commission

from the Chevalier de St. George, appointing

his son Prince Charles regent of these king-

doms, was read by the Marquis of Tullibardine.

The reading of this commission was suc-

ceeded by the following manifesto:

" James VIII. by the Grace of God, King
of Scotland, England, France, and Ire-

land, Defender of the Faith, &c. To

all our loving subjects, of what degree

or quality soever, greeting.

"
Having always borne the most constant

affection to our ancient kingdom of Scotland,

from whence we derive our royal origin, and

where our progenitors have swayed the sceptre

7 A monument was erected by the late Alexander
M 'Donald of Glenalladale, on the spot where the stand-
ard was unfurled

;
it bears the following inscription in

Latin, Gaelic, and English: "On this spot, where
Prince Charles Edward first raised his standard, on the
19th day of August. 1745; when he made the daring
and romantic attempt to recover a throne lost by the

imprudence of his ancestors ; this column is erected by
Alexander M 'Donald, Esq. of Glenalladale, to com-
memorate the generous zeal, the undaunted bravery,
and the inviolable fidelity of his forefathers, and the
rest of those who fought and bled in that arduous and
unfortunate enterprise.

"

with glory through a longer succession of kings

than any monarchy upon earth can at this day
boast of; we cannot but behold with the

deepest concern the miseries they suffer under

a foreign usurpation, and the intolerable bur-

dens daily added to their yoke, Avhich become

yet more sensible to us when we consider the

constant zeal and affection the generality of

our subjects of that our ancient kingdom have

expressed for us on all occasions, and particu-

larly when we had the satisfaction of being

ourselves amongst them.
" We see a nation always famous for valour,

and highly esteemed by the greatest of foreign

potentates, reduced to the condition of a pro-

vince, under the specious pretence of an union

with a more powerful neighbour. In conse-

quence of this pretended union, grievous and

unprecedented taxes have been laid on, and

levied with severity in spite of all the repre-

sentations that could be made to the contrary;

and these have not failed to produce that

poverty and decay of trade which were easily

foreseen to be the necessary consequences of

such oppressive measures.
" To prevent the just resentment which

could not but arise from such usage, our faith-

ful Highlanders, a people always trained up
and inured to arms, have been deprived of

them; forts and citadels have been built and

garrisoned where no foreign invasion could be

apprehended, and a military government has

been effectually introduced, as into a conquered

country. It is easy to foresee what must be

the consequences of such violent and unpre-

cedented proceedings, if a timely remedy be

not put to them; neither is it less manifest

that such a remedy can ever be obtained but

by our restoration to the throne of our ances-

tors, into whose royal heart such destructive

maxims could never find admittance.

" We think it needless to call to mind how

solicitous we have ever been, and how often

we have ventured our royal person, to compass

this great end; which the Divine Providence

seems now to have furnished us with the

means of doing effectually by enabling our

good subjects in England to shake off the yoke,

under which they have likewise felt their share

of the common calamities. Our former expe-

rience leaves us no room to doubt of the cheer-



524 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

ful and hearty concurrence of our Scots sub-

jects on this occasion, towards the perfecting

the great and glorious work; but that none

may be deterred by the memory of past mis-

carriages from returning to their duty, and

being restored to the happiness they formerly

enjoyed, we in this public manner think fit to

make known our gracious intentions towards

all our people.
" We do therefore, by this our royal declara-

tion, absolutely and effectually pardon and

remit all treasons, and other crimes hitherto

committed against our royal father, or our-

selves. From the benefit of which pardon we

except none, but such as shall, after the pub-

lication hereof, wilfully and maliciously oppose

us, or those who shall appear or endeavour to

appear in arms for our service.

" We farther declare that we will with all

convenient speed call a free parliament; that

by the advice and assistance of such an assem-

bly, we may be enabled to repair the breaches

caused by so long an usurpation, to redress all

grievances, and to free our people from the

unsupportable burden of the malt-tax, and all

other hardships and impositions which have

been the consequences of the pretended union
;

that so the nation may be restored to that

honour, liberty, and independency, which it

formerly enjoyed.
" We likewise promise upon our royal word

to protect, secure, and maintain all our Pro-

testant subjects in the free exercise of their

religion, and in the full enjoyment of all their

rights, privileges, and immunities, and in the

secure possession of all churches, universities,

colleges, and schools, conform to the laws of

the land.

" All this we shall be ready to confirm in

our first parliament; in which we promise to

pass any act or acts that shall be judged neces-

sary to secure each private person in the full

possession of his liberty and property, to ad-

vance trade, to relieve the poor, and establish

the general welfare and tranquillity of the

nation. In all such matters we are fully re-

solved to act always by the advice of our par-

liaments, and to value none of our titles so

much as that of common father of our people
which we shall ever show ourselves to be by
our constant endeavours to promote the quie

and happiness of all our subjects. And we

shall be particularly solicitous to settle, en-

ourage, and maintain the fishery and linen

manufactures of the nation, whichwe are sensible

may be of such advantage to it, and which we

lope are works reserved for us to accomplish.
" As for those who shall appear more signally

zealous for the recovery of our just rights and

the prosperity of their country, we shall take

iffectual care to reward them according to their

respective degrees and merits. And we parti-

ularly promise, as aforesaid, our full, free, and

;eneral pardon to all officers, soldiers, and

sailors, now engaged in the service of the

usurper, whether of the sea or land, provided

that upon the publication hereof, and before

they engage in any fight or battle against our

forces, they quit the said unjust and unwar-

rantable service, and return to their duty, in

which case we shall pay them all the arrears

that shall be at that time due to them from

the usurper; we shall grant to the officers the

same commissions they shall then bear, if not

higher; and to all soldiers and sailors a grati-

fication of a whole year's pay for their forward-

ness in promoting our service.

" We farther promise and declare, that the

vassals of such as shall without regard to our

present declaration, obstinately persist in their

rebellion, and thereby forfeit all pretensions to

our royal clemency, shall be delivered from all

servitude they were formerly bound to, and

shall have grants and charters of their lands to

be held immediately of the crown, providsd

they, upon the publication of this our royal

declaration, declare openly for us, and join

heartily in the cause of their country.
" And having thus declared our gracious in-

tentions to our loving subjects, we do hereby

require and command them to be assisting to

us in the recovery of our rights, and of their

own liberties; and that all our subjects, from

the age of sixteen to sixty, do, upon the setting

up of our royal standard,immediatelyrepair to it,

or join themselves to such as shall first appear

for us in their respective shires ;
and also to seize

the horses and arms of all suspected persons,

and all ammunition, forage, and whatever else

may be necessary for the use of our forces.

"We also strictly command all receivers,

collectors, or other persons who may be seized
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of any sum or sums of money levied in the

name or for the use of the usurper, to retain

such sum or sums of money in their own

hands, till they can pay them to some person

of distinction appearing publicly for us, and

demanding the same for our use and service;

whose receipt or receipts shall be a sufficient

discharge for all such collectors, receivers, or

other persons, their heirs, &c.

"
Lastly, we do hereby require all sheriffs of

shires, stewards of stewartries, and their re-

spective deputies, magistrates of royal boroughs,

and bailies of regalities, and all others to whom
it may belong, to publish this our declaration,

at the market crosses of their respective towns

and boroughs, and there to proclaim us under

the penalty of being proceeded against accord-

ing to law, for their neglect of so necessary and

important a duty."

After this manifesto had been read, the

Marquis of Tullibardine returned to the prince's

quarters with the standard under an escort of

50 Camerons. In about an hour after the

conclusion of this ceremony, Macdonald of

Keppoch joined the prince with 300 of his

men; and in the evening some gentlemen of

the name of Macleod, displeased with the con-

duct of their chief, arrived at Glenfinnan, prof-

fered their services to the prince, and offered

to return to Skye, and raise all the men they

could in support of his cause. On arriving at

Glenfinnan, Macdonald of Tierndriech pre-

sented the prince with an excellent horse which

he had taken from Captain Scott. The ani-

mated appearance of the glen, which now re-

sounded with the martial strains of the pibroch,

contrasted strongly with the solitary gloom
which pervaded when the prince entered it.

Instead of the small party which joined him

in the morning, Charles found himself within

a few hours at the head of a body of about

1,200 brave and resolute men, warmly attached

to his person and cause, at least those of them

who were chiefs, and ready and willing to

hazard their lives in his service. Charles was

exceedingly delighted at the appearance of his

little army, and it has been observed that at

no other time did he look more cheerful or

display a greater buoyancy of spirits.
7

7 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 24.

Of the many singular circumstances attend-

ing this extraordinary insurrection, the utter

ignorance in which the personage in whose

name it was undertaken was kept, is not the

least. Charles had indeed written his father

on the eve of his departure from France,

acquainting him with the resolution he had

taken, but before his letter reached Rome, the

prince was actually at the head of his army.
The object of Charles in concealing his design
from the Chevalier is obvious. He was aware

that his father would have opposed such a rash

attempt, and might probably have applied to

the court of France to prevent his departure;

and having taken his resolution, he was deter-

mined not to put it in jeopardy by too timely
an announcement of his intentions. Whatever

opinion may now be formed of the prudence of

an undertaking, which, had it succeeded, would

have been considered as one of the boldest

strokes of political wisdom, there can be but

one sentiment as to the conduct of the prince,

in thus withholding from his parent all know-

ledge of the design he had formed for accom-

plishing the object of his daring ambition.

Though under the corrupt influence of a few

interested persons, whom he kept about his

person,
8 he still retained a sufficient portion

of filial respect to prevent him from violating

the declared injunctions of his father; and as

no opposition short of actual violence could

have induced him to forego his resolution of

going to Scotland, he avoided the disagreeable

alternative of disregarding the commands which

his father would have laid upon him by taking

the course he did.

When the Chevalier de St. George received

the prince's letter, which informed him that

he was to proceed instantly to Scotland, he was

greatly surprised and agitated;
9 but as the

step had been taken, he became reconciled to

it, and even could not help applauding the

courage of the prince in entering upon the en-

terprise. Writing to the Duke of Ormond, on

the llth of August, the Chevalier says, "I

have now by me your letters of the 14th July,

8 See extract Letter from the Chevalier to O'Bryau,
16 August, 1745, in Sticart Papers.

9
Writing to O'Bryan, he says, (11 August, 1745,)

"Je vous avoue que ma surprise et mon agitation
etoient grandes en apprennaut cette nouvelle.

"

Stuart Papers.
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and of the 27th, which, last came by the

courier, Avhich brought me an account of the

resolution the prince had taken, and executed

without consulting me, for he was very sure I

would not have approved it, tho' I cannot but

say, that the courage and sentiments he shows

on this occasion, wjll always do him honor." 1

Again in writing to his agent, Sempil, on the

same day, he observes,
" What takes me up

Avholly at present,' is the resolution the prince

has 'taken and executed, without my know-

led^e. . . . The question now is to look

forward, and not to blame what is past. It is

true, I never should have advised the prince

to have taken su<5h a step, but since it is taken

it must be supported, and whatever be the

event, it will certainly turn much to the prince's

personal honor, nay, even something may be

said to justify what he has done. The usage

he met with in France, and the dread of a

peace, were no doubt strong motives to push

him on a rash undertaking, than to sit still;

and who knows but what has happened, may,

in some measure, force the court of France out

of shame to support him, while otherwise per-

haps they had continued to neglect "him, and

then have abandoned him at last

The prince's example will, I hope, animate our

friends in England ;
he has ventured generously

for them, and if they abandon him, they them-

selves, and indeed our country, will be ruined."

It had always been the opinion of the Che-

valier an opinion which experience has shown

was well founded that no attempt on Scot-

land oould possibly succeed, unless accom-

panied by a simultaneous landing in England ;

and he now saw the necessity of enforcing this

consideration more strongly than ever upon the

court of France. In the letter which Charles

had sent him, he desired his father to write to

the King of France and Cardinal Tencin,

entreating them for support. The Chevalier,

however, did not confine himself to the king
and to the cardinal, but addressed himself also

to the Marechal de Noaillea, and the whole of

the French ministers. Alluding to the neces-

sity of supporting the prince by a descent on

England, the Chevalier says in the letter to

Ormond, from which a quotation has already

1

Sliuirt Papers.

been made ;

"
Enfin, since the step is taken,

it is certainly incumbent on all of us to do our

best to support it, and I am very sure nothing

will be wanting 011 your side for that effect.

My darkness, my anxiety, and the multiplicity

of my reflections on this occasion, are so great

that I shall not pretend to enlarge on this sub-

ject* at present. In the mean time, I now

write to Lord Marischal by the way of Paris,

and write also directly to the King of France,

and all the ministers, for without a landing in

England is soon made, humanly speaking, it

will be impossible for the prince to succeed."

He repeats almost the same observations in his
'

letter to Sempil, also referred to : "I know not

particularly the grounds he (the prince) goes

upon, but I ani afraid there is little room to

hope he will succeed, except he be vigorously

supported by the court of France
; and, there-

fore, we must all of us in our different spheres

leave nothing undone for that effect. I now

write myself to the King of France and all

the ministers, and we must be all of us more

than ever solely and wholly intent"on the great

object." .

But the Chevalier, in his anxiety to procure

early succours
.
for the prince, did not confine

himself to words. To pay off the debts which

Charles had contracted before his departure, he

immediately remitted a sum of 200,000 francs

to O'Bryan, his chief agent at Paris, and placed

another sum of 50,000 francs in the hands of

Waters, junior, his banker in Paris, at tho

disposal of O'Bryan, to meet instant contin-

gencies.
2 He afterwards remitted to Waters,

through Belloni, his banker at Rome, 80,000

Roman crowns, and promised another remit-

tance of 28,000 in a few weeks, which, ho

said, would exhaust his treasury.

In his letter to the King of France, the

Chevalier informed him that he had learned

with great astonishment the departure of the

prince for Scotland ;
that knowing well he

would never have approved of such a step, he

2 "
J'ai, (says the Chevalier to O'Bryan, 16th Aug.

'

1745,) envoye la semaine passee 200,000 francs a Paris

pour payer ce que le Prince avait einprunte avant quo
de partir, et j'espere en cas de besoin pouvoir lever

quelque argent sur quelques petits fonds qui me restent

icy, et sur les pierreries du Prince meme, mais tout

cela n'ira pas fort loin, et a moins que la France ne la

secours largement, je ne syai ce que arrive ra.
"

Stuart

Papers.
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had taken his resolution and put it into effect

without consulting him
;
but that being done,

he was obliged in sincerity to confess that he

could not but admire the conduct of the prince

in entering upon the enterprise, Avhich, he was

certain, would make a great and favourable

impression upon the minds of his adherents.

He stated, however, his conviction, that with-

out the aid of a foreign force it was utterly

impossible for the prince to succeed, and he

entreated his majesty to furnish the necessary

assistance. He reminded him that the prince

had been invited by him into France, and

'although a year and a half had since elapsed,

that he certainly had not forgot the object

which brought his son thither
;
and that a

crisis had now arrived, when the smallest delay

on the part of his majesty might be attended

with danger to the success of the brave attempt

which the prince had made, and that he might

now, at little risk and at a small expense,

finish the work which the prince was about to

commence. As to himself personally, the

Chevalier informed Louis that he had formerly

intimated, to him that he intended to resign

his rights to the prince ;
and that his inten-

tions were still the same, with this difference,

however, that while he formerly considered

that such a step would be advantageous for

his family, it had now become indispensably

necessary for his own honour, on account of

his infirmities, as he considered that he should

act rashly, and be guilty of bad faith towards

his subjects, if he pretended to take upon him-

self the cares of government, when he was

incapable of any fatigue either of body or of

mind, and consequently unable to discharge

the duties of a sovereign.

CHAPTER XXX.

A. i). 174.x

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 1727 1760.

Conduct of the Government Intelligence of the
Prince's arrival reaches Edinburgh Contradictory
reports Preparations of Sir John Cope Marches
to the North Resolves to march to Inverness
Prince Charles issue* a proclamation Leaves Glen-
finnan and crosses Corriearriok Flight of Cope to

Inverness The Prince marches South Arrives at

Perth Joined hy Lord George Murray and others

Preparations made hy the Prince Alarm in Edin-

burgh Association of Volunteers formed Munici-
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No event was less expected on the part of the

government than the" landing of Charles Ed-

ward. A flying report had, indeed, been spread

in the Highlands in the beginning of summer,

that the prince was to come over in the course

of that season
;
but no person, not in the secret

of his design, could have imagined that Charles

had any intention to risk his person without

being accompanied by a sufficient body of

troops, and no disposition appeared on the part

of France to assist him.

The report alluded to was first communicated

in a letter from "a gentleman of consideration

in the Highlands
"

to Lord President Forbes,

who, on the 2d of July, showed it to Sir John

Cope,, the commander-in-chief in Scotland.

Little credit was, however, attached to the

report, either by the writer of the letter or by
the president. Cope, though equally incredu-

lous, considered it his duty to communicate the

report to the Marquis of Tweeddale, the secre-

tary of state for Scotland
;
and to provide

against any contingency that might occur, he

proposed that the forts of Scotland should

be well provided, and that arms should be

transmitted for the use of the well-affected

clans. In an answer which the marquis wrote

upon the 9th, he ordered Cope to keep a strict

watch upon the north, but informed him, that,

as the measures he proposed were considered

by the lords of the regency acting in behalf of

the king during his majesty's absence in Han-

over, as likely to create alarm, they had declined

to enter into them. 3

But the lords of the regency were soon

aroused from their supineness by advices from

abroad that the French court was meditating

an invasion of Great Britain, and that the

eldest son of the Pretender had left Nantes in

a French man-of-war, and, according to some

accounts, was actually landed in Scotland. On
the 30th of July, the Marquis of Tweeddale

wrote to Sir John Cope, communicating to

him the news which had just been received,

and despatched letters of the same date to

Lord Milton, the Justice Clerk,
4 and to the

3
Cope's Trial, p. 105. Home, p.

51.
4
Appendix to Home's works, No. V.
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Lord Advocate, with similar intelligence, and

enjoining them to keep a strict look out, to

concert what was proper to be done in the

event of a landing, to give the necessary

orders for making the strictest inquiry into the

truth of the intelligence, and to transmit to

the marquis, from time to time, such informa-

tion as they were able to collect. The Lords

Justices, however, without waiting for a return

to these letters, issued, on the 6th of August,

a proclamation, commanding all his majesty's

officers, civil and military, and all other loving

subjects of his majesty, to use their utmost

endeavours to seize and secure the son of the

Pretender, promising at the same time a reward

of 30,000 to any one who should seize Prince

Charles, and "
bring him to justice."

The express sent by the Marquis of Tweed-

dale reached Edinburgh on the 3d of August,

but the advices which had been received in

London had preceded it. The Lord President,

in a letter written the day before to Mr. Pel-

ham,
5 mentions the alarm which, in a state of

profound tranquillity, these advices had created.

The report, however, of the prince's intended

visit was discredited by the President, who
considered the "

young gentleman's game
"
to

be then "
very desperate

"
in Scotland, the

President believing that there was riot
" the

least apparatus for his reception, even amongst
the few Highlanders who were expected to be

in his interest." As, however, where there

was so much at stake, the President wisely

judged that no report respecting the prince's

movements, however improbable, was to be

disregarded, he resolved to make his accustomed

journey to the north a little earlier than usual,

to the end that, though, as he himself observes,

his "
fighting days

" were over, he might give

countenance to the friends of government, and

prevent the seduction of the unwary, should

the report turn out well-founded. On the 8th

of August, Forbes wrote the Marquis of

Tweeddale, stating that the Lord Advocate

and Sir John Cope had informed him of the

advices which had been received from abroad,

but expressing his disbelief of the report,

which he considered "highly improbable."
"

I consider the report as improbable," he

5 Culloden Papers, p. 203.

observes,
" because I am confident that young

man cannot with reason expect to be joined

by any considerable force in the Highlands.
Some loose lawless men of desperate fortunes

may indeed resort to him
;
but I am persuaded

that, none of the Highland gentlemen, who
have ought to lose, will, after the experience
with which the year 1715 furnished them,
think proper to risque their fortunes on an

attempt which to them must appear desperate ;

especially as so many considerable families

amongst themselves have lately uttered their

sentiments
;

unless the undertaking is sup-

ported by an arm'd power from abroad, or

seconded by an invasion on some other part of

his majesty's dominions." 6 To provide against

any emergency which might arise in the north,

his lordship proposed first, that a sufficient

number of arms should be lodged in the forts

in the Highlands, with directions by whom,
and to whom they might be delivered out, a

proposal the same in substance as that made

by Sir John Cope ;
and secondly, that money

or credit should be lodged in the hands of

confidential persons in the north, for the use

of the .public service. This last-mentioned

measure he considered the more necessary, as

it could not be expected, as he observed, that

private individuals would come forward with

money, when they recollected that several

gentlemen, who, in the year 1715, had ad-

vanced large sums out of their pockets for the

public service, had not even been repaid, far

less rewarded by the government.
The Lord President, though a man of sound

judgment, and gifted with a considerable por-

tion of political foresight, was in this instance

deceived in his speculations ;
and Lord Tweed-

dale, perhaps misled by the President, ^n

whose personal knowledge of the state of the

Highlands he placed great reliance, adopted
the same views. In an answer to the Presi-

dent's letter, which the marquis wrote on the

17th of August, he thus expresses himself:
" I own I have never been alarmed with the

reports of the Pretender's son's landing in Scot-

land. I consider it as a rash and desperate

attempt, that can have no other consequence

than the ruin of those concerned in it."
7

6
Idem, p. 20 L Idem, p. 208.
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On the same day, however, on which the

President's letter to Lord Tweeddale was writ-

ten, all doubts of the arrival and landing of

the prince were removed at Edinburgh. An

express came from Lord Milton, the Justice

Clerk, then at Roseneath, to Sir John Cope,

with, a letter dated the 5th, which he had re-

ceived from Mr. Campbell of Stonefield, sheriff

of Argyle, in which was contained a copy of a

letter received by the latter from Mr. Camp-
bell of Aird, factor to the Duke of Argyle in

Mull and Morvern, announcing the landing of

the prince in Arisaig, and stating that some of

the Macdonalds were already up in arms, and

that other Highlanders were preparing to follow

their example. This news was confirmed next

day, by another express from the laird of Mac-

leod to the Lord President, dated the 3d of

August.
7

This intelligence, which at first was with-

held from the public, was shortly followed by
the arrival of the Gazette, containing the pro-

clamation for the apprehension of the prince.

Nothing was now talked of at Edinburgh but

the threatened invasion. In the state of ignor-

ance in which the public was still kept, the

most contradictory reports were circulated.

A rumour of the departure of Charles from

France had indeed been inserted in the Edin-

burgh. Courant a few days before, and the same

paper had also, on the back of this report,

stated, upon the alleged information of a

foreign journal, that the prince had actually

landed in the Highlands, and was to be sup-

ported by 30,000 men and 10 ships of war;
but neither of these statements appears to have

excited any sensation, being generally dis-

credited. 8 Now, however, every person firmly

believed that the prince had arrived. One

day it was confidently asserted that he had

landed in the western Highlands with 10,000

French troops. Next day it was affirmed with

equal confidence that he had landed without

troops ;
but that wherever he came the High-

landers to a man had joined him. On the

other hand, the Jacobites, who were in the

secret of the arrival, anxious to conceal the

fact till Charles should be ready to take the

field, industriously circulated a report that

7 Culloden Papers, p. 203.
8 Chambers 's Rebellion, p. 46.

he was still in France, and had not the least

intention of coming over. To divert the public

attention, they had recourse to the weapons of

ridicule. In their conversation they repre-

sented the preparations of the commander-in-

chief in a ludicrous light ;
and to make him

contemptible in the eyes of the public, sent

him anonymous letters containing most absurd

articles of intelligence, which they afterwards

circulated with scurrilous comments. 9

In the present crisis Sir John Cope acted with

more wisdom than has been usually ascribed

to him, and certainly with more energy than

his superiors. Not wishing, however, to trust

entirely to his own judgment, he consulted

Lord President Forbes, and the Lord Advo-

cate and Solicitor General, the law-officers of

the crown, upon the course to be adopted
under existing circumstances. No man was

better acquainted with every thing appertain-

ing to the Highlands than Forbes
;
and in

fixing upon him as an adviser, Cope showed a

laudable desire to avail himself of the best

advice and information within his reach. At

the period now in question, the insurrection

was in a merely inceptive state
; and, accord-

ing to the opinions of those best qualified to

judge, there was little probability that it would

assume a' formidable character. At all events,

sound policy dictated that the threatened

insurrection should be checked in its bud, and

as its progress could only be stopped by the

presence of a body of troops, Cope proposed,

and his proposal received the approbation of

the three public functionaries before named,

to march to the Highlands with such troops

as he could collect. The number of regular

troops in Scotland did not, it is true, amount

to 3,000 men, and some of them were newly
raised

;
but there can be little doubt that, by

a timely and judicious disposition of about

two-thirds of this force in the disaffected dis-

tricts, the embers of rebellion might have

been extinguished. The unfortunate result of

Cope's expedition detracts in no respect from

the design he thus formed, though the pro-

priety of his subsequent measures may well

indeed be questioned.

Having formed his resolution, the com-

9 Home, p. 54.
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rnander-in-chief sent expresses to the Secretary

of State for Scotland on the 9th and 10th of

August, announcing his intention of marching

to the Highlands. In pursuance of this reso-

lution he ordered a camp to be formed at Stir-

ling, and required all the officers who were

absent from their regiments, to repair to their

respective posts. About the same time he

directed the Lord President to take the com-

mand of the companies raised in the north for

Lord Loudon's Highland regiment, and notified

the appointment to the officers of the regiment

commanding in that quarter. As there was no

bread in the country through which he intended

to march, he bought up all the biscuit which

the bakers of Edinburgh and Leith had on

hand, and set all the bakers there, as well as

those of Perth and Stirling, to work night and

day to prepare a quantity of bread sufficient

to support his army for twenty-one days.
x

On receipt of Cope's letters, the Marquis of

Tweeddale laid them before the Lords of

the Treasury, who approved of the conduct of

the commander-in-chief, and particularly of

his resolution to march into the Highlands
with such troops as he could assemble. The

secretary notified the approbation of their

lordships in a letter to Cope ;
and so satisfied

were they with his plan, that when they under-

stood that the march had been delayed only
for a day or two, they sent down an express to

him, with positive orders to begin his march

to the north instantly. Their lordships seem

not to have been aware of the causes which

retarded his march, not the least of which was

the want of money, a credit for which did not

arrive till the 17th of August. The order to

march reached Edinburgh on the 19th of

August, on which day Cope, accompanied by
the Earl of Loudon and several officers, set off

for Stirling, where he arrived in the evening.

Thus, by a singular coincidence, Charles and

his opponent placed themselves at the head of

their respective armies on the same day.

The force which Cope found upon his arrival

at Stirling consisted of twenty-five companies
of foot, amounting altogether to 1,400 men,
and some of Gardiner's dragoons. Leaving
the dragoons, which could be of no use in a

1
Cope's Trial.

campaign among the mountains, behind him,

Cope began his march towards the north on

the 20th, carrying along with him four small

field-pieces, as many cohorns, and 1,000 stand

of spare arms for the use of such of the well-

affected Highlanders as might join him. He
carried also with him a considerable number

of black cattle for the use of the army. Only
a part, however, of the bread which had been

ordered had arrived; but so anxious was Cope
to obey his instructions, that he began his

march with the limited supply he had received,

after giving orders to forward the remainder

as soon as it should arrive at Stirling.

Cope halted on the 21st at Crieff. He was

here visited by the Duke of Athole, and his

younger brother, Lord George Murray, the

latter of whom, doubtless, little imagined he

was to act the conspicuous part he afterwards

did, as commander of the prince's army. The

duke attended in consequence of a notice which

Cope had sent to him and the other leading

adherents of the government, through, or in

the neighbourhood of whose territories he

meant to pass, requiring them to raise their

men
;
but neither the duke nor the other chiefs

who had been applied to seem to have been

disposed to obey the call. Lord Glenorchy,

who arrived shortly after the duke and his

brother, excused himself on the ground that

he had not had sufficient time. As Cope had

calculated upon the junction of a considerable

body of Highlanders on his route, he was ex-

ceedingly disappointed that his expectations

were not likely to be realized, and would have

instantly retraced his steps had the orders of

government allowed him a discretionary power;

but his instructions were too peremptory to

admit of a return to Stirling. Seeing, there-

fore, no use for the large quantity of spare

arms, he sent 700 of them back to Stirling

castle. This was a judicions step, as from the

want of carriages he could not have got them

transported to Inverness. 2

On the 22d the army advanced to Amulree,

where it stopped for a supply of bread. Next

day it proceeded to Tay bridge, on the 24th to

Trinifuir, reaching Dalnacardoch on the 25th

of August. Here Cope was met by Captain

2 Idem.
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Sweetenham, the officer who had been taken

prisoner when on his way to Fort William

from Ruthven, and who had been released on

his parole. This officer informed Sir John

that he was carried to Glenfinnan, where he

saw the rebels erect their standard, and that

when he left them on the 21st they amounted

to 1,400 men, that on the road to Dalwhinnie

he had met several parties of Highlanders

hastening to join them, and that on arriving

at Dalwhinnie he had been informed that they

were 3,000 strong, and were in full march

towards Corriearrick, where they intended to

meet him and give him battle. Notwith-

standing this alarming intelligence, Cope pro-

ceeded on his march, and arrived at Dalwhinnie

next day. Here he received a letter from

Lord President Forbes, written at his seat of

Culloden near Inverness, corroborating the in-

telligence received from Sweetenham of the

advance of the rebels, and of their intention to

meet him upon Corriearrick.

Corriearrick, of which the royal army had

now come within sight, and over which it was

Cope's intention to march into Lochaber, is, as

we have already seen, a lofty mountain of im-

mense extent, occupying no less than nine

miles out of the eighteen that form the last

day's march from Garviemore to Fort Augustus.

It is extremely steep on the south side, and

appears at a distance to rise almost as perpen-

dicularly as a wall. Wade, we have seen,

carried his road up this steep ascent by a series

of many traverses, the descent on the north

side being accomplished in much the same

manner. As there are several gullies and

brooks on the south side, bridges have been

thrown across, over which the road is carried.

These tortuosities, rendered absolutely neces-

sary from the nature of the ground, almost

Autograph of Sir John Cope, from an Original Manuscript in the possession of W. F. Watson, Esq.

quadruple the real distance, which, from base

to base, does not exceed five miles. As the

mountain was peculiarly fitted for the opera-

tions of Highlanders, it is evident that in at-

tempting to cross Corriearrick, Cope, if attacked,

would labour under every disadvantage ;
for

while his men could not leave the road in pur-

suit of their assailants, the latter could keep a

running fire from numerous positions, from

which it would be impossible to dislodge them.

Cope was warned by the President of the

dangers he would run, and his fears were not

a little increased by a report that, on arriving

at the bridge of Snugborough, a dangerous

pass on the north side of the mountain, he was

to be opposed by a body of Highlanders ;
and

that, while this party kept him employed, he

was to be attacked in his rear by another body,
which was to be sent round the west end of

the hill.
3

Alarmed at the intelligence he had received,

distracted by a variety of reports as to the

strength of the enemy, and disgusted with the

apathy of those on whose support he had relied,

Cope called a council of war at Dalwhinnie,

on the morning of the 27th of August, to

which he summoned every field officer, and the

commanders of the different corps of his little

army. He would have acted more judiciously

had he convened a council at Dalnacardoch,

when he first received intelligence of the ad-

vance of the Highlanders. At this meeting,

Cope laid before his officers the orders he had

received from the secretary of state to march

to the north, Avhich were too positive to be

departed from without the most urgent neces-

sity. After some deliberation, the council

were unanimously of opinion, that the gen-

3
Cope's Trial, p. 24. Chambers's Rebellion, p. 50.
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eral's original design of marching to Fort Au-

gustus over Corriearrick, was, under existing

circumstances, quite impracticable. Having

abandoned the design of crossing Corriearrick,

the council next considered what other course

should be adopted. The wisest course cer-

tainly, if practicable, would have been to march

back to Stirling, and guard the passes of the

Forth
;
but against this proposal it was urged,

that the rebels, by marching down the side of

Loch Rannoch, would be able to reach Stirling

before the king's troops, and that, by breaking

down the bridges, they would intercept them

in their retreat. As it was impossible to re-

main at Dalwhinnie, no other course therefore

remained, in the opinion of the council, but to

march to Inverness. This opinion, which was

reduced to writing, and signed by all the mem-

bers of the council, was delivered to Sir John

Cope, who, acquiescing in its propriety, im-

mediately issued an order to march. We must

now advert to the proceedings of the prince

and his friends.

Charles remained only one night at Glen-

finnan. On the 20th of August he marched

to the head of Loch Lochy, where he encamped.

At this place, a copy of the proclamation for

his apprehension was brought him, which ex-

asperated the Highlanders to such a degree that

they insisted on a counter one being issued,

offering a reward for the apprehension of " the

Elector of Hanover." Charles remonstrated

against such a step, but he was forced to

yield, and accordingly put forth the following

4 The prince thus relates the circumstances attend-

ing this affair in a letter to his father, dated from

Perth, 10th September, 1745. "There is one thing,
and out one, in which I had any difference with my
faithful Highlanders. It was about the price upon my
kinsman's head, which, knowing your Majesty's gen-
erous humanity, I am sure, .will shock you, as it did

me, when I was shown the proclamation, setting a

price upon my head. I smiled, and treated it with
the disdain I thought it deserved

; upon which they
flew into a violent rage, and insisted upon my doing
the same by him. As this flowed solely from the poor
men's love and concern for me, I did not know how to
be angry with them for it, and tried to bring them to

temper by representing that it was a mean barbarous

principle among princes, and must dishonour them in
the eyes of all men of honour

;
that I did not see how

my cousin's having set me the example, would justify
me in imitating that which 1 blame so much in him.
But nothing I could say would pacify them. Some
went even so far as to say, 'Shall we venture our
lives for a man who seems so indifferent of his own ?

'

"
Charles, Prince of Wales, &c., Regent of

the Kingdoms of Scotland, England,

France, and Ireland, and the dominions

thereunto belonging:
" Whereas we have seen a certain scandalous

and malicious paper published in the style and

form of a proclamation, bearing date the 6th

instant, wherein, under pretence of bringing to

justice, like our royal ancestor King Charles

the I. of blessed memory, there is a reward of

thirty thousand pounds sterling promised to

those who shall deliver us into the hands of

our enemies, we could not but be moved with

a just indignation at so insolent an attempt.

And though, from our nature and principles,

we abhor and detest a practice so unusual

among Christian princes, we cannot but, out

of a just regard to the dignity of our person,

promise the like reward of thirty thousand

pounds sterling to him, or those, who shall

seize and secure till our farther orders, the

person of the Elector of Hanover, whether

landed or attempting to land in any part of his

majesty's dominions. Should any fatal accident

happen from hence, let the blame be entirely

at the door of those who first set the infamous

example." This proclamation, which was dated

from the "
camp at Kinlocheill," was counter-

signed by Murray of Broughton, who had lately

joined the prince, and had been appointed his

secretary.

On the 23d, the prince advanced to Fasse-

fern, the seat of Lochiel's brother, where he

passed the night. While at Fassefern, intelli-

gence was received by the prince of the march

of Sir John Cope from Stirling. Having pre-

viously sent off his baggage under an escort of

200 Camerons towards Moy, in Lochaber,

Charles put his army in motion on the 24th,

and arrived at Moy on the following day. On
the 26th, the prince crossed the water of Lochy
with his army, and proceeded to the castle of

Invergary, in which he took up his quarters

for the night. During the night, he received

an express from Gordon of Glenbucket, ac-

quainting him, that Sir John Cope was con-

siderably advanced in his march to the north,

and that he intended to cross Corriearrick.

About the same time, he was visited by Fraser

Thus have I been drawn in to do a thing for which I

condemn myself." Jacobite Memoirs, p. 32.
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of Gortuleg, who came to him in name of Lord

Lovat, to assure him of his lordship's services.

Eraser advised him to march north, and raise

the Erasers of Stratherrick, and assured him

that Sir Alexander Macdonald, the laird of

Macleod, and many of the Mackenzies, Grants,

and Mackintoshes, would join him
;
but the

proposal was opposed by the Marquis of Tulli-

bardine and secretary Murray, the latter of

whom considered the early possession of Edin-

burgh, where he alleged there were many per-

sons ready to join the ranks of the insurgents,

of more importance than any advantages that

might be derived by remaining in the High-
lands. 5

This opinion was adopted by Charles, who
next morning proceeded to Abertarf in Glen-

garry. He was joined at Low Bridge by 260

of the Stewarts of Appin, under the command
of Stewart of Ardshiel, and at Aberchallader,

near the foot of Corriearrick, by 600 of the

Macdonells of Glengarry, under the command
of Macdonell of Lochgarry; and by a party of

the Grants of Glenmoriston. With these ac-

cessions the force under Charles amounted to

nearly 2,000 men. Charles now held a council

of war to deliberate upon the course he should

pursue, whether to advance and give battle

to Cope, or postpone an engagement till he

should receive additional strength. It was

clearly the interest of Charles to meet his ad-

versary with as little delay as possible, and as

his forces already outnumbered those opposed
to him, he could not doubt but that the result

of an engagement would be favourable to his

arms. The council, every member of which

was animated with an ardent desire to engage

Cope, at once resolved to meet him. This re-

solution corresponded with the inclinations of

the clans, all of whom, to use the expression

of Eraser of Gortuleg on the occasion, were
" in top spirits,"

6 and making sure of victory.

The determination of the council, and the

valorous enthusiasm of the clans, acting upon
the ardent mind of the prince, created an excite-

ment, to which even he, with all his dreams

of glory and ambition, had before been a

stranger. The generous and devoted people
into whose hands he had committed the des-

6 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. pp. 442 484.
8 Culloden Papers, p. 216.

tinies of his house, struck with admiration by
the condescension, and that easy yet dignified

familiarity which never fails to secure attach-

ment, were ready to encounter any danger for

his sake. No man knew better than Charles

how to improve the advantages he had thus

obtained over the minds and affections of these

hardy mountaineers. Becoming, as it were,

one of themselves, he entered into their views,

showed an anxiety to learn their language,

which he daily practised, and finally resolved

to adopt their dress. This line of policy

endeared him to the Highlanders, and to it

may be ascribed the veneration in which his

memory is still held by their descendants, at

the distance of more than a century. Having
in this way inspired his faithful Highlanders

with a portion of his own natural ardour, they
in their turn, by the enthusiasm they displayed,

raised his expectations of success to the highest

possible pitch. A remarkable instance of this

was exhibited before commencing the march

next morning, when, after putting on his

Highland dress, he solemnly declared, when in

the act of tying the latchets of his shoes, that

he would not unloose them till he came up
with Cope's army.

7

Desirous of getting possession of the defiles

of Corriearrick before Cope should ascend that

mountain, Charles began his march from Aber-

challader at four o'clock of the morning of the

27th August. His army soon reached the top

of the hill, and was beginning to descend on

the south side, when intelligence was brought

the prince, that Cope had given up his inten-

tion of crossing Corriearrick and was in full

march for Inverness. Cope had put his army
in motion the same morning towards Garvie-

more
;
but when his van reached Blarigg Beg,

about seven miles and a half from Dalwhinnie,

he ordered his troops to halt, to face about,

and, in conformity with the opinion of his

council, to take the road to Inverness by Ruth-

ven. To deceive Charles, Cope had left behind,

on the road to Fort Augustus, part of his bag-

gage, some companies of foot, and his camp
colours. The news of Cope's flight (for it was

nothing else) was received by the Highland

army with a rapturous shout, which was

7 Culloden Papers, p. 216.
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responded to by the prince, who, taking a glass

of brandy, said, with a jeering smile,
" Here's

a health to Mr. Cope ;
he is my friend, and if

all the usurper's generals follow his example, I

shall soon be at St. James's." Every man, by

the prince's orders, drank this toast in a glass

of usquebaugh.
8 The Highlanders immedi-

ately put themselves in motion, and marched

down the traverses on the south side of the

mountain with great celerity, as if in full pur-

suit of a flying enemy, on whose destruction

they were wholly bent.

The Highland army continued the same rapid

pace till it reached Garviemore, where it halted.

A council of war was then held, at which

various proposals were made for pursuing and

intercepting the enemy ;
but none of them

were agreed to. The council finally resolved

to abandon the pursuit of Cope, to march to

the south, and endeavour to seize Edinburgh ;

the possession of which was considered, par-

ticularly by secretary Murray, as of the highest

importance. This determination was by no

means relished by the clans, who were eager

for pursuing Cope, whose army they expected

to have annihilated; but their chiefs having

concurred in the resolution, they reluctantly

acquiesced. A party of 600 Highlanders, how-

ever, volunteered to follow Cope under cloud

of night ;
and undertook to give a good account

of his army, but the prince dissuaded them

from the enterprise.
9

From Garviemore, Charles despatched Mac-

donald of Lochgary with a party of 200 men,

to seize the small fort of Ruthven, in which

there was a garrison of regular troops ;
but

the vigilance of the commander rendered the

attempt abortive, and the Highlanders were

repulsed with a trifling loss. A party of

Camerons, commanded by Dr. Cameron, was

sent to the house of Macpherson of Cluny, the

chief of the Macphersons, who commanded a

company in the service of government, to

apprehend him, and succeeded. l

On the 29th of August, the Highland army
was again put in motion, and advanced towards

Dalnacardoch. At Dalwhinnie, they were

rejoined by Dr. Cameron and his party, bring-

8 Henderson's History of the Rebellion, p. 34.
9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 25.
1 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. pp. 443 485.

ng along with them Macpherson of Cluny,

who, after a short interview with the prince,

promised to raise his clan for his service. On

giving this assurance he was released, and

went home to collect his men. Next day,

lharles marched to the castle of Blair, which

lad been abandoned by the Duke of Athole

on his approach. The Marquis of Tullibardine

took possession of the castle as his own pro-

perty, and immediately assumed the character

of host, by inviting Charles and the Highland

;hiefs to supper.
2 To make his guests as com-

fortable as possible, the marquis had written a

letter from Dalnacardoch, to Mrs. Robertson of

Lude, a daughter of Lord Nairne, desiring her

to repair to the castle, to get it put in proper

order, and to remain there to do the honours

of the house on the prince's arrival. 3

At Blair, Charles was joined by Lord Nairne,

and several other Perthshire gentlemen; but

the greater part of the resident gentry had fled

on hearing of the entrance of the Highland

army into Athole. Charles reviewed his army

the morning after his arrival at the castle,

when he found that a considerable number of

his men were wanting. Some officers were

immediately sent to bring them up, and the

only reason they assigned for loitering behind,

was that they had been denied the gratification

of pursuing Cope.

From Blair, Charles sent forward Lord

Nairne, and Lochiel, with 400 men, to take

possession of Dunkeld, which they entered on

the morning of the 3d of September. In this

town they proclaimed the Chevalier. After

remaining two days at the castle of Blair,

Charles repaired on the 2d of September to

the house of Lude, where he spent the night,
4

and next day went to Dunkeld, whence he

proceeded to Lord Nairne's house, on the road

to Perth. While at dinner, the conversation

turning upon the character of the enterprise,

and the peculiarity of the prince's situation,

some of the company took occasion to express

their sympathy for the prince's father, on ac-

2 Henderson's History of the Rebellion, p. 36.
3 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 26.
4 At Lude Charles " was very cheerful, and took his

share in several dances, such as minuets, Highland
reels, &c. The first reel the prince called for was

'This is no mine ain house,' &c., and a strathspey
minuet." Jacobite Memoirs, p. 26.
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count of the state of anxiety he would be in,

from the consideration of those dangers and

difficulties the prince would have to encounter.

But Charles, without meaning to depreciate his

father's cares, observed that he did not pity

him half so much as his brother; "for," said

he,
" the king has been inured to disappoint-

ments and distresses, and has learnt to bear

up easily under the misfortunes of life; but

poor Harry ! his young and tender years make

him much to be pitied, for few brothers love

as we do." 5

Charles spent the night at Nairne-house,

and proceeded next day to Perth, which had

been taken possession of by a party of Camerons

the preceding evening. Attired in a superb

dresa of tartan, trimmed with gold, and mounted

on Captain Scott's charger, Charles entered the
"
fair city," attended by several gentlemen on

horseback. They immediately repaired to the

cross, and proclaimed the Chevalier; after

which ceremony Charles was conducted, amid

the acclamations of the people, to the house of

Viscount Stormont, which had been provided
for his residence while in Perth. The magis-
trates and some of the principal inhabitants,

following the example set by many of the

landed proprietors of the county, abandoned

the city on the appearance of the Highlanders,
and fled to Edinburgh. An advanced party
under Macdonald of Keppoch, had been sent

forward to seize Dundee; but being informed

by some of the inhabitants, who met him on

the road, that his force was too small for the

purpose, Keppoch applied for a reinforcement,

which was accordingly sent off from Perth,

about midnight, under Clanranald, These de-

tachments entered Dundee at day-break, and

captured two vessels with arms and ammuni-

tion on board, which were sent up the Tay for

the use of the royal army.

At Perth, Charles was joined by the Duke
of Perth, Lord Ogilvie and Strathallan, Robert-

son of Strowan, Oliphant of Gask, and several

other gentlemen; but the chief personage who
rallied under Charles's standard at Perth, and

was indeed among the first to appear there,

was Lord George Murray,
6 immediate younger

brother to the Duke of Athole. He was con-

5 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 468.
6 See portrait at p. 672.

ducted by his eldest brother, the Marquis of

Tullibardine, into the presence of the prince.

Lord George had taken a share in the insurrec-

tion of 1715, and was one of the few persons

who joined the Spanish forces, which were

defeated at Glenshiel in 1719. He afterwards

went abroad, and served several years as an

officer in the King of Sardinia's army; but

having obtained a pardon, he returned from

exile, and was presented to George I. by his

brother the Duke of Athole. Lord George
was tall in person, and though now past the

meridian of life, retained all the qualities of a

robust and vigorous constitution. Besides a

natural genius for military operations, in which

he had had considerable experience, Lord

George was fertile in resources, indefatigable

in application, and brave even to a fault.

With sword in hand he was always the first to

rush forward upon the enemy in the day of

battle, often saying to his men,
" I do not ask

you, my lads, to go before, but to follow me."

The accession therefore of such a man, at such

a crisis, was of the highest importance to the

Jacobite cause. Charles, when at Glenfinnan,

had conferred the post of quarter-master-general

of the army on O'Sullivan. Aware of the

brilliant qualifications of Lord George, the

prince, almost immediately on his arrival at

Perth, appointed him lieutenant-general, to the

great satisfaction of the clans, to whom he was

favourably known.

Lord George appointed the Chevalier John-

stone,
7 who had also joined the prince at

Perth, his aid-de-camp, and immediately en-

tered on his duties with alacrity. Though tho

Highlanders acted in complete subordination

to their chiefs when in the field of battle, they
had so little idea of military discipline, that

they would absent themselves without permis-

sion, and roam about the country. This hap-

pened more particularly on marches, when

7 The aiithor of the Memoirs of the Rebellion in

1745-6. He was descended, it is believed, from an
ancient and powerful family, the Johnstones of

Wamphray. When the news of the prince's landing
was confirmed at Edinburgh, where he lived with his

father, Johnstone repaired to Duncrub, the seat of

Lord Rollo, whose son was married to Johnstone's

sister; and on the 6th of September, went from Dun-
crub to Perth, accompanied by two of Lord Eollo's

daughters, who presented him to their relations the

Duke of Perth and Lord George Murray .Quarterly
Review, No. Ixxi. p. 211. Memoirs, 2d edit. p. 16.
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there was a scarcity of food, on which occasions

they would spread themselves over the whole

country, in straggling parties, in quest of pro-

visions. The inconveniences and loss of time,

and the great abuses to which such a practice

led, had been strongly felt in the former in-

surrection, and had been witnessed by Lord

George himself. To prevent a recurrence of

such evils during the present contest, the first

thing Lord George did, was to advise the

prince to appoint proper persons to fill the

commissariat department, by whose exertions

an adequate supply of food might be provided

for the use of the army, without which, he

said, it would be impossible to keep the High-

landers together for any length of time. That

no delay might take place in waiting for pro-

visions, in forced marches, or in detached en-

terprises, which required despatch, he caused a

considerable number of small knapsacks to be

made, sufficient to contain a peck of meal each,

which the men could carry on their backs

without any inconvenience. A thousand of

these knapsacks were sent to Crieff, for the

use of the Athole men, who were to march

south in that direction. 8

The march of Charles into Athole had been

so rapid and unexpected, that his friends in

that district had had no time to gather any
considerable force to join him on his route to

Perth. He was, therefore, under the necessity

of remaining a few days at Perth, to give his

adherents time to raise their men. In muster-

ing their tenants and vassals, some of them are

said to have met with considerable difficulties

from the unwillingness of their people to take

up arms, and the Duke of Perth has been

charged with the crime of shooting one or two

8 Lord George Murray's Narrative. Jacobite Me-
moirs, p. 29. Some idea may be formed of the lieu-

tenant-general's activity, from the following extract
from a letter written on 7th September, by him to his
brother the marquis, who was then busily employed
raising the men on his brother's estates.

"
I hope

the meal was with you this day 35 bolls for it was
at Inwar last night : It shall be my study to have
more meal with you on Monday night, for you must
distribute a peck a man : and, cost what it will, there
must be pocks, (small sacks,) made to each man, to
contain a peck or two for the men, to have always
with them. Buy linen, harn, or any thing ;

for these
pocks are of absolute necessity, nothing can be done
without them You may please tell yourown people, that there is a project to get arms for
them." Jacobite Memoirs, p. 31.

of his tenants, who were refractory, but the

charge does not appear sufficiently supported.
9

Another reason for Charles's stay in Perth

was the want of money. His treasury had

been completely drained by his liberal advances

for the support of his army ;
and of the few

thousand pounds which he brought with him

from France, he had only one guinea remain-

ing when he entered Perth. Taking the soli-

tary coin from his pocket, he showed it to

Kelly, one of the gentlemen who came over

with him, and told him that it was all the

money that now remained
;
but he added with

an air of confidence, that the army had received

a fortnight's pay in advance, and that before

the expiration of another fortnight he would

receive a fresh supply.
1 In order to meet

pecuniary demands, Charles had despatched a

circular from Kinlochiel on the 22d of August
to his friends in different parts of Scotland,

soliciting an immediate supply ;
but up to the

time of his arrival at Perth no money appears

to have reached him. 2
Shortly thereafter,

however, his expectations began to be realized

by some private pecuniary contributions sent

by persons well affected to his cause, but who

were afraid of openly declaring themselves. 3

But Charles did not trust to such uncertain

supplies to recruit his exhausted treasury.

Besides compelling the city of Perth to con-

tribute -500, he appointed persons in Perth,

9 " In the interior of the Highlands absolute sub-

mission seems to have been easily exacted
; but in the

outskirts, where, perhaps, there was a slight mingling
of Lowland population, and where the people were
not too blind to see that their leaders alone had an
interest in the rising, considerable opposition was
offered to the commands of the chief. This was

conspicuously visible in the Athole territory. The
chivalrous Tullibardine was much provoked by the

obstinacy of the retainers of his house in the valleys
round Dunkeld. They had to be repeatedly threat-

ened with coercive measures, and appear to have
been literally forced into the service by press-gangs
from the other clans. He had been absent from the

country during the whole interval between the rebel-

lions, and his brother, who adopted the interest of

the government, enjoyed his estate. He could not

see that this affected his divine right as chief any
more than it affected that of his royal master

;
but

the clan appear to have imperfectly participated in

such a principle, and to have abandoned, as he ex-

pressed it, the virtues of their ancestors." Burton's

Scotland after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 414.
1 Kirkcomiel MS.
2 Lord Elcho afterwards lent the prince 1,500

guineas. A curious correspondence on the subject of

repayment will be found in the Stuart Papers.
* Kirkconnel MS.
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Dundee, and other towns in the counties of

Perth and Angus, to collect the public money,

by means of which, and the contributions of his

friends, his coffers were speedily replenished.

During his stay at Perth, Charles devoted

almost all his time to the disciplining and

training of his men, in writing despatches, and

in a variety of military details to which he had

hitherto been unaccustomed. Though fond of

amusement, he never allowed it to occupy
much of his time

;
and if he accepted a con-

vivial invitation, it was more from a wish not

to disoblige than from a desire to join in the

festivities of his friends. Amid the occupa-

tions of the camp he did not, however, neglect

the outward observances of religion. For

the first time, it is believed, of his life, he

attended the Protestant service at Perth, on

Sunday the 8th of September, rather, it may
be conjectured, to please his Protestant friends,

than from any predilection for a form of wor-

ship to which he was an entire stranger. The

text appropriately chosen on this occasion by
the preacher, a Mr. Armstrong, was from

Isaiah xiv., verses 1, 2, "For the Lord will

have mercy on Jacob, and will yet choose

Israel, and set them in their own land
;
and

the strangers shall be joined with them, and

they shall cleave to the house of Jacob. And
the people shall take them, and bring them to

their place ;
and the house of Israel shall pos-

sess them in the land of the Lord for servants

and handmaids : and they shall take them

captives, whose captives they were
;
and they

shall rule over their oppressors."
4 The non-

juring Jacobite discourse delivered on the

occasion in question, would certainly form an

extraordinary contrast with the democratic

harangues to which Charles's great-grandfather,

Charles I., and his grand uncle, Charles II,

were accustomed to listen from the mouths of

the stern Covenanters.

"While Charles was thus employed at Perth,

Sir John Cope was marching from Inverness

to Aberdeen. After leaving the direct road

to Fort Augustus, Cope had proceeded by
forced marches to Inverness, where he arrived

on the 29th of August. Here he met the

Lord President, who communicated to him a

4 Caledonian Mercury, as referred to by Dr. Cham-
bers-

letter he had received on his arrival in the

north, from Sir Alexander Macdonald, inform-

ing him of the names of the chiefs who had

joined Charles, and requesting directions how
to act in the event of the insurgent chiefs

being forced to retire to the islands. After

consulting with the President, Cope resolved

to march back his army to Stirling, provided
he could obtain a reinforcement of Highlanders
from the Whig clans in the neighbourhood of

Inverness. An application was accordingly
made to the chiefs; but as it turned out

ineffectual, Cope determined to march to Aber-

deen and embark his troops for the Frith of

Forth. The feelings of alarm and anxiety with

which he was agitated on this occasion, are

thus described by himself in a letter which he

wrote from Inverness, on the 31st of August,
to Lord Milton the Justice Clerk :

"
I, from

the beginning, thought this affair might become

serious
;
and sorry I am that I was not mis-

taken : indeed, my lord, it is serious. I know

your activity and ability in business, the

whole is at stake, exert your authority,

lengths must be gone, and rules and common
course of business must yield to the necessity

of the times, or it may soon be too late. So

much fatigue of body and mind I never knew
of before

;
but my health continues good, and

my spirits do not flag. Much depends upon
the next step we take. In this country the

rebels will not let us get at them unless we had

some Highlanders with us
; and, as yet, not one

single man has joined us, though I have lugged

along with us 300 stand of arms. Isfo man
could have believed that not one man would

take arms in our favour, or show countenance

to us; but so it is."
5

It is rather singular, that on the same day
on which the above-mentioned letter was writ-

ten, the adherents of government at Edinburgh,
who had hitherto derided the attempt of the

prince, should have been at last aroused to a

full sense of the danger they were in. Lulled

by a false security, they had never, for a mo-

ment, doubted that Cope would be successful

on his expedition in the north ; but certain

intelligence, brought to them by James Drum-

mond or Macgregor, son of the celebrated Hob

8 Home, p 318.

3 Y
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Roy, who arrived at Edinburgh on the 26th,

began to open their eyes. With the object of

throwing the government party in the capital

off their guard, this man was despatched from

the Jacobite camp in Lochaber to Edinburgh,

with the necessary instructions. Enjoying in

some degree the confidence of the whig party,

he was the better fitted to impose upon them

by his misrepresentations. When introduced

to the public functionaries on his arrival, he

stated that the Highland army was not 1,500

strong, that it was chiefly composed of old

men and boys, who were badly armed, and that

from what he saw and knew of them he was sure

they would fly before Cope's army. Though

unsuccessful, as will be seen, in this branch of

his mission, he succeeded in another which he

had volunteered to perform, by getting one

Drummond, a Jacobite printer, to print the

prince's proclamations and manifestoes, which

he took care to distribute throughout the city

among the friends of the cause. When ap-

prised of the fact of the publication, the magis-

trates, without suspecting Macgregor as the

importer of these treasonable documents, issued

a proclamation, offering a large reward for the

discovery of the printer.

Edinburgh, at the period in question, and

for many years afterwards, was confined within

narrow limits. It had never been properly

fortified
;
and its castle, which majestically

overtops the city, and forms the western bound-

ary of that division now called the " Old town,"

could afford it little security. On the south

and on the east, the ancient city was bounded

by a wall varying from ten to twenty feet high.

On the north side, a lake, easily fordable, called

the North Loch, now drained and converted

into beautiful gardens, was its only defence.

In several places the old wall had been built

upon, so that dwelling houses formed part of

the wall, but these erections were overlooked

by rows of higher houses without the city.

There were no cannon mounted upon the wall,

but in some places it was strengthened by bas-

tions and embrasures. The standing force of

the city consisted of two bodies, called the

Town Guard and the Trained Bands, neither

of which now exist. The first, which, at the

time we are now treating of, amounted to 126

men, acted in lieu of a police; and though

pretty well versed in the manual and platoon

exercise, were, from their being generally old

men, unfit for military duty. The Trained

Bands, or Burgher Guard, which was composed

of citizens, and in former times amounted to a

considerable number of men, did not at the

period in question exceed 1,000. Anciently,

the tallest men were armed with pikes, and

those of a lower stature with firelocks, and

both were provided with defensive armour.

The captain of each company, eight in number,

instructed his men one day in every week in

the exercise of arms
;

6 but the pikes and ar-

mour were afterwards laid aside, and since the

Revolution the Trained Bands had appeared in

arms only once in the year, to celebrate the

king's birth-day, on which occasion they were

furnished with arms for the service of the day
from a magazine belonging to the city.

As it was obvious that, under these circum-

stances, no effectual resistance could be made

to the entrance of an army into the city, the

provost and magistrates held a meeting on the

27th of August, at which some of the principal

citizens attended, to devise means of defence.

At this meeting it was resolved to repair the

walls and to raise a regiment of 1,000 men, to

be paid by a voluntary contribution of the in-

habitants. A standing committee was, at the

same time, appointed to carry this resolution

into effect, and to advise with the Lord-Justice-

Clerk and other judges then in town, and the

crown lawyers, as to such other steps as might
be considered necessary in the present crisis.

To obtain the requisite permission to embody
the proposed regiment, an application was sent

to London by the Lord Advocate
;
and leave

to that effect was granted on the 4th of Sep-

tember. 7

Up to the 31st of August, no certain intelli-

gence had been received at Edinburgh of the

movements of the Highlanders ;
but in the

evening of that day the inhabitants were

thrown into a state of great alarm by receiving

intelligence of the march of the Highland army
into Athole, and of the ominous departure of

Cope for Inverness. Instantly the drum beat

to arms, and the town-council having met,

6 Maitland's History of Edinburgh, p. 285. Homo,
p. 67.

7 Home, p. 67.
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they ordained that the keys of the city should

be lodged with the captain of the city guard,

and ordered sentries to be placed at each of

the gates, and the city guard to be augmented.
As an additional security, Hamilton's dragoons,

then quartered in the vicinity of the city,

were kept under arms that night. The repairs

of the city walls were commenced; orders were

issued to place cannon on them, and to throw

up a ditch on the north side of the castle, and

arms were sent from the city magazine to Leith

to arm its inhabitants. These preparations,

and the hurry and bustle with which it may
be supposed they were attended, may appear

ludicrous when contrasted with the result; but

the public functionaries were bound to put the

city in as defensible a state as their means

would admit of, and without the least possible

delay.

It would have been perhaps fortunate for

the honour of the city, if on the present occa-

sion the civic authorities had been allowed, in

conjunction with the committee which had

been named, to follow out such measures as

they might have deemed necessary for defend-

ing the city; but, unluckily, there existed a

party consisting of ex-magistrates and council-

lors, who, by the course they adopted, brought
dissension among the citizens. This party, at

the head of which was ex-provost Drummond,
" a zealous loyalist, and one of the most valu-

able municipal chiefs whom Edinburgh has

possessed,"
8 had been succeeded in the town-

council by Stewart, the then provost, and his

friends, who, for five years, had kept possession

of the municipal government, to the entire ex-

clusion of Drummond and his party. Desirous

of regaining their lost power, they availed

themselves of the present opportunity, the

elections being at hand, to instil distrust of the

existing magistracy into the minds of the

electors, by representing the members of the

town-council as Jacobitically inclined, and as

indifferent to the preservation of the city from

the rebels. And indeed it appears that SteAvart

showed himself incapable of performing effectu-

ally the responsible duties of his office at this

important juncture.
9 The opposition party,

partly, no doubt, to ingratiate themselves still

8 Burton. 9
Burton, vol. ii. p. 451.

farther with the electors, the majority of whom
were whigs, and warmly attached to the govern-

ment, really showed greater zeal in organising

measures for the defence of the city. They

presented, on the 6th of September, a petition

to the provost, signed by about 100 citizens,

praying that they, the subscribers, might be

authorised to form themselves into an associa-

tion for the defence of the city, that they might
be allowed to name their own officers, and

that an application should be made by the

provost to General Guest, for a supply of arms

from the castle for their use. x

This petition was laid before an extraordinary

meeting of the council next day, and the law

officers of the crown having given their opinion

that the council could legally authorise an

arming of the inhabitants for the contemplated

purpose, they acceded to its prayer, with the

exception of that part which craved that the

volunteers should have the nomination of their

own officers, a privilege which the provost re-

served to himself, in virtue of his office of chief

magistrate. To ascertain the names of the

citizens who were willing to serve as volun-

teers, a paper was lodged, on the 9th of Sep-

tember, in the Old-church aisle, and all loyal

persons were invited by handbills to subscribe :

418 persons joined this association, and were

supplied with arms from the castle. Simul-

taneously with the formation of the association,

the magistrates exerted themselves to raise the

regiment they had petitioned for, the warrant

for which, was received by the provost on the

8th of September; but their efforts were inef-

fectual, not being able, after a week's recruiting,

to raise 200 men. This paltry force, however,

was named the Edinburgh regiment, to dis-

tinguish it from the volunteer association.

Hitherto the repairs of the city walls had

been steadily progressing, and, to the great

scandal of the more religious part of the in-

habitants, no cessation took place even upon
the Sunday ;

but although the persons employed

upon the walls might plead necessity in justifi-

cation of their work on the day of rest, they

seem to have overlooked that necessity on the

10th of September, the day when the city elec-

tions commenced. So great was the anxiety

1 Home, p. 69.
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of all classes to ascertain the names of the

craftsmen sent up by the different incorpora-

tions to the council to represent them, that a

total suspension of every business took place,

and the magistrates, who felt little difficulty in

procuring men to work upon the Sunday, now

saw the works almost entirely deserted by the

artificers employed upon them.

A few days after receipt of the intelligence

of the march of the Highlanders into the low

country, Captain Eogers, an aid-de-camp of Sir

John Cope, arrived at Edinburgh from Inver-

ness, with instructions to General Guest to

send down a number of transports to Aberdeen

to carry his men to the southern shores of the

Frith of Forth. These vessels sailed from

Leith roads on the 10th, under convoy of a

ship of war, and their return was expected

with the greatest anxiety by the inhabitants of

Edinburgh, who were continually looking up
to the weather-cocks to ascertain the direction

of the wind.

The volunteers being officered and organised,

were regularly drilled twice every day. Cannon

were brought up from Leith and mounted on

the walls, and the defensive works were pro-

ceeded with under the superintendence of

Maclaurin, the celebrated mathematician, who
had furnished the designs.

CHAPTEE XXXI.

A. D. 1745.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 17271760.

Charles leaves Perth and proceeds southwards Crosses
the Forth Proceeds towards Edinburgh Great
confusion in Edinburgh The Edinburgh volun-
teers Gardiner's and Hamilton's dragoons Meet-

ing of inhabitants Message from Prince Charles at

Corstorphine Deputations to the Prince Cope ar-

rives off Dunbar Capture of Edinburgh by the

Highlanders Arrival of Charles at Holyrood The
Chevalier de St. George proclaimed Cope marches
from Dunbar towards Haddington and Preston
The Prince leaves Edinburgh and marches towards
Preston Battle of Preston.

As early as the 7th of September, Charles had
received notice of Cope's intention to embark
at Aberdeen; and, that he might not be anti-

cipated by Cope in his design of seizing the

capital, he began to make arrangements for

leaving Perth for the south. Before the llth

his force was considerably augmented by tribu-

tary accessions from the uplands of Perthshire,

and, as his coffers had been pretty well replen-

ished, he resolved to take his departure that

day. With this view, Lord George Murray
sent an express to his brother, the Marquis of

Tullibardine, on the 7th, requesting him to

march with such forces as he had collected, on

the morning of Tuesday the 10th, so as to

reach Crieff next day, that he might be able to

form a junction with the main army at Dun-
blane or Doune the following day.

2

Charles, accordingly, left Perth on Wednes-

day the llth of September on his route to the

south. The van of the army, or rather a few

of each of the clans, reached Dunblane that

night, in the' neighbourhood of which they

encamped. The greater part of the men lagged

behind, and did not get up till next day, when

they appeared to be greatly fatigued. As this

result was imputed to the good quarters they
had enjoyed for the last eight days at Perth,

and the want of exercise, it was resolved that

henceforth the army should encamp in the

open air, and be kept constantly in motion.

On his march to Dunblane, the prince was

joined by Macdonald of Glencoe,
3 with 60

of his men, and by James Drummond or Mac-

gregor of Glengyle at the head of 255 Mac-

gregors, the retainers of Macgregor of Glen-

cairnaig.
4

Having been obliged to halt a whole day for

the remainder of his army, Charles remained

in his camp till the 13th, on which day he

crossed the Forth at the fords of Frew, almost

in the face of Gardiner's dragoons, who retired

towards Stirling on the approach of the High-
land army, without attempting to dispute its

passage. While passing by Doune, Charles

received particular marks of attention from

some of the ladies of Menteith, who had as-

sembled in the house of Mr. Edmondstone

of Cambuswallace, in the neighbourhood of

Doune to see him as he passed. A collation

had been provided for him, in the expectation

that he would have entered the house; but he

2 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 31.
3
Sixty of these Macdonalds had previously joined

at Perth.
4 The Gartmore MS. qu< ted in the appendix to

Burt's Letters makes the number only forty; but
Home gives it as above.
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courteously excused himself, and stopping be-

fore the house, without alighting from his

horse, drank a glass of wine to the healths of

his fair observers. The daughters of Mr.

Edmondstone, who served the prince on this

occasion, respectfully solicited the honour of

kissing his hand a favour which he readily

granted; but he was asked to grant a higher

favour by Miss Robina Edmondstone, cousin

to the daughters of the host. The favour

sought was the liberty
" to pree his royal high-

ness's mou." Charles not being sufficiently

acquainted with broad Scotch, was at a loss to

comprehend the nature of the request; but on

its being explained to him, he instantly caught
her in his arms, and instead of allowing her to

perform the operation, he himself kissed her

from ear to ear, to the great amusement of the

spectators, and the envy of the bold recipient's

cousins. 5

The passage of the Forth had always been

considered one of the most daring and decisive

steps which a Highland army could take. In

their own country the Highlanders possessed

many natural advantages over an invading foe,

which gave them almost an absolute assurance

of success in any contest even with forces

greatly superior in numbers; and, in the ad-

joining Lowlands, they could, if worsted, easily

retreat to their fastnesses; but their situation

was very different on the south of the Forth,

where they were more particularly exposed to

be attacked by cavalry, a species of force

which they greatly dreaded, and from which

they could, if routed, scarcely expect to escape.

It is said, but not upon sufficient authority,

that some of Charles's officers at first demurred

to the propriety of exposing the army to the

dangers of a Lowland campaign in the south,

but that he would listen to no arguments

against the grand design he had formed of

seizing the capital. To cheer his men in the

hazardous enterprise, the dangers of which now,
for the first time, began to develop themselves,
the prince is reported, on arriving on the bank

of the river, to have brandished his sword in

the air, and pointing to the other side, to have

rushed into the water, and darting across, to

have taken his station on the opposite bank,

6 Nimmo's History of Stirlingshire, edited by the
Rev. Macgregor Stirling, p. 564.

on which he stood till all the detachments had

crossed, and congratulated each successive de-

tachment as it arrived. 6 In crossing the

Forth, the prince may be said to have passed

the Rubicon : he had not only committed

himself in a struggle with a powerful govern-

ment, but he had, with intrepid daring, and

with a handful of men, entered a country

whence retreat was almost impossible.

After passing the Forth, Charles, accom-

panied by a party of his officers, proceeded to

Leckie House, the seat of Mr. Moir, a Jacobite

gentleman, where he dined; but the proprietor

was absent, having been seized by a party of

dragoons, and carried off to Stirling castle the

preceding night, in consequence of information

having been received at the castle that he was

preparing to receive and entertain the prince

at his house. The army passed the night on

the moor of Sauchie, a few miles south from

the ford. 7 The prince himself slept in Ban-

nockburn House, belonging to Sir Htigh Pater-

son, a zealous Jacobite. During this day's

march great abuses were committed by the

men in taking and shooting sheep, which the

Duke of Perth and others did every thing in

their power to prevent. Lochiel was so en-

raged at the conduct of his men, that he is said

to have shot one of them himself, as an exam-

ple to deter the rest. 8

6
Dougal Graham's Metrical History, p. 15.

7 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 487.
8
Dongal Graham, in his Metrical History of the

insurrection, as quoted by Chambers, thus alludes to

the conduct of the Highlanders on the present occa-

' Here for a space they took a rest,

And had refreshment of the best

The country round them could afford,

Though many found but empty board,
As sheep and cattle were drove away,
Yet hungry men sought for their prey ;

Took milk and butter, kirn and cheese,
On all kinds of eatables they seize;
And he who could not get a share,

Sprang to the hills like dogs for hare :

There shot the sheep and made them fall.

Whirled off the skin, and that was all
;

Struck up fire and boiled the flesh,

With salt and pepper did not fash :*

This did enrage the Cameron's chief.

To see his men so play the thief;
And finding one into the act.

He fired and shot him through the back ;

Then to the rest himself addressed,
' This is your lot I do protest,
Whoe'er amongst you wrongs a man

;

Pay what you get, I tell you plain ;

For yet
we kno_w not friend or foe,

Nor how all things may chance to go.'"

*
Anglice, trouble themselves.
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Next day Charles put his army in motion

towards Falkirk. In passing by Stirling, a

few shots were fired at them from the castle,

but without damage. Lord George Murray

sent a message to the magistrates of the town,

requiring a supply of provisions ;
on receiving

which they immediately opened the gates, and

having given notice of the demand to the in-

habitants, the dealers in provisions went out

and met the Highland army near Bannockburn,

and sold a considerable quantity of commodi-

ties to the men. The army, after receiving

this supply, resumed its march, and finally

halted on a field a little to the eastward of Fal-

kirk. Charles took up his abode in Callender

House, where he was entertained with the

greatest hospitality by the Earl of Kilmarnock,

who gave him assurances of devoted attach-

ment to his cause. By the earl, Charles was

informed that Gardiner's dragoons, who, on his

approach to Falkirk, had retired in the direc-

tion of Linlithgow, were resolved to dispute

the passage of Linlithgow bridge with him, and

that they had encamped that night in its neigh-

bourhood. 9

On receiving this intelligence, Charles im-

mediately held a council of war, at which it

was resolved to attack the dragoons during the

night. For this purpose a detachment of 1,000

well-armed men was despatched at one o'clock

in the morning under the command of Lord

George Murray. They marched with the ut-

most order, regularity, and quietness ;
but they

were disappointed in their object, as the dra-

goons had retired during the night to Kirklis-

ton, eight miles west from Edinburgh. The

detachment entered Linlithgow before break of

day, where they were joined by the prince and

the rest of the army about ten o'clock that

morning.
l The day was Sunday ;

but the

prince does not appear to have gratified the

burghers by going to church as he had done

the citizens of Perth the preceding Sunday.

He, however, partook of a repast which some

of the Jacobite inhabitants had prepared for

him. The provost preserved a neutrality by
absenting himself from town; but his wife and

daughters are said to have paid their respects

9 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 445. Forbes Papers,
p 35.

1 Idem.

to the prince by waiting upon him at the cross,

attired in tartan gowns, and wearing white

cockades, and doing themselves the honour of

kissing his hand.

Advancing from Linlithgow about four

o'clock in the afternoon, the Highland army

encamped on a rising ground, nearly four miles

east from Linlithgow, near the twelfth mile-

stone from Edinburgh, where they passed the

night. The prince slept in a house in the

neighbourhood. Next morning, Monday the

16th, Charles renewed his march eastwards,

and reached Corstorphine, the dragoons all the

while retiring before him as he approached.

Charles was now within three miles of Edin-

burgh, and could not proceed farther in a direct

line, without exposing his army to the fire of

the castle guns. To avoid them, he led it off

in a southerly direction, towards Slateford, a

small village about the distance of a mile from

Corstorphine. The prince fixed his head quar-

ters at Gray's mills, between two and three

miles from the city, and his troops bivouacked

during the night of the 16th, in an adjoining

field called Gray's Park.

When intelligence of the prince's departure

from Perth reached Edinburgh, the anxiety for

the arrival of Cope increased every hour. The

Jacobites, of whom there was a respectable

party in the city, on- the other hand, longed for

the arrival of Charles. No certain informa-

tion of the movements of the Highland army
reached Edinburgh till the morning of Sunday
the 15th, when a messenger brought intelli-

gence that the insurgents were in full march

upon the capital, and that their van had already

reached Kirkliston. The last part of this in-

formation was, however, incorrect.

At the time the messenger arrived, all the

armed volunteers, in terms of an order given

the preceding evening, were assembled in the

college yards. About ten o'clock, Drummond,
the ex-provost, who was captain of a company,

which, from its being partly composed of stu-

dents belonging to the university, was called

the college company, made his appearance.

After consultation with his brother-officers, he

informed the company of the advance of the

Highland army, that it had been proposed to

General Guest to make a stand with the two

dragoon regiments, and fight the insurgents on
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their way to the city; but that the general did

not think the measure advisable, as there was

not a body of foot to act with the dragoons to

draw off the fire of the enemy, that he (Drum-

mond), knowing that he could answer for 250

volunteers, if Provost Stewart would allow 50

of the town-guard to go along with them, had

asked the general if that number, would be

sufficient
;
and that Guest had given him an

answer in the affirmative.
"
Now, gentlemen,"

said the ex-provost,
"
you have heard the gen-

eral's opinion, judge for yourselves. If you
are willing to risk your lives for the defence of

the capital of Scotland and the honour of your

country, I am ready to lead you to the field."

The volunteers to whom Drummond seemed

particularly to address himself, threw up their

hats in the air, at the conclusion of this ad-

dress, and began a huzza, in which the rest of

the company joined.
2

Having obtained the consent of his own

company to march, he went to the other com-

panies in succession ;
but instead of advising

them to follow the example which his own

men had set, he told them that though his men

were, all of them, going out to conquer or

die with him, yet that such a resolution was

only proper for young unmarried men, who

were at liberty to dispose of their own lives.

Accordingly very few of the volunteers in the

other companies would give their consent
;
but

Drummond's company becoming clamorous,

the others seemed to yield, and Drummond

despatched a messenger to the castle to inform

General Guest that the volunteers were ready

to march out with the dragoons and engage the

rebels. At the request of the general, Provost

Stewart ordered a detachment of the town

guard and the Edinburgh regiment to accom-

pany the volunteers. General Guest, on being

informed of this, directed Hamilton's dragoons,

who were encamped on Leith links, to march

4 Home, p. 79. Mr Home says that several of these

volunteers, of which he was one, were not inhabitants

of the city, and were ignorant of the municipal cabals,

that they had little deference for the opinion either

of Guest or Dnimmond ;
but being satisfied that the

walls were untenable, and dreading the consequences
to the city if taken by storm, they considered the pro-

posal of marching out with the dragoons preferable to

keeping within the walls, as, with their assistance, the

dragoons might be able to break the force of the High-
land army, and leave to the Highlanders, if victorious,

a bloody and fatal victory.

through the city, and join Gardiner's regiment
at Corstorphine.

3

For the first time since they had been em-

bodied, the volunteers now loaded their pieces.

In terms of an order which had been issued

the preceding day, the fire-bell was rung as a

signal of approaching danger, and the volun-

teers, who had assembled in the college-yards,

instantly repaired in a body to the Lawn-

market, the appointed place of rendezvous.

Most of the city ministers had enrolled them-

selves as volunteers, but they were absent on

the present occasion, being engaged celebrating
divine service in their respective churches.

Semper parati being the motto they had

adopted in their new vocation, they had gone
to church equipped a la militaire, and when
the alarm-bell sounded, were preaching with

their swords by their sides. In an instant

the churches were deserted by the worship-

pers, and a universal panic seized all classes

on learning the intelligence. The Lawn-

market, where the volunteers had drawn up

waiting for the arrival of Hamilton's dragoons,

was soon crowded with inhabitants : many
of them, the wives, sisters, mothers, fathers,

and friends of the devoted volunteers who
clustered around them, and implored them,

by ties the most sacred, to desist from the

dangerous enterprise they were about to engage

in. The attention of the people was diverted

for a time by the appearance of Hamilton's

dragoons who rode up the street. They were

received with huzzas by the volunteers, and

the dragoons in passing huzzaed in return, and

with a gasconading air clashed their swords

against each other as they went along. The

alarm among the relatives and friends of the

volunteers was increased, and nothing was to

be heard but the cries and lamentations of

unhappy females. These doughty champions,

who never had any serious intention of expos-

ing their persons to the blows of the Highland

broad-sword, moved in appearance by the tears,

the entreaties, and embraces of their female

friends, seemed rather inclined to allow the

dragoons to shift for themselves
;
but neither

the expostulations of the men, (for the male

relations of the volunteers were equally solici-

3 Home, p. 80.
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tous with the females in dissuading the volun-

teers from marching,) nor the tears of the

women, had any effect upon the volunteers of

Drurnmond's company, who had agreed to

march.

An order being given to march, Drummond

placed himself at the head of the volunteers

of his company, and marched them up the

Lawnmarket and down the "West Bow to the

Grassmarket: they were followed by an im-

mense crowd of people lamenting their unhappy

fate. Only 42 privates of Drummond's com-

pany followed him, but he certainly expected

some accessions from the other companies.

Not a single individual, however, belonging to

them, accompanied him. Finding himself and

his little party alone, Drummond halted his

men near the "West Port, and sent a lieuten-

ant, named Lindsay, back to the Lawnmarket

to ascertain the reason why the volunteers,

who were expected to follow, had not joined

their associates. Lindsay, on his return to the

Lawnmarket, found the volunteers, who still

remained in the street, in great confusion.

Several of the officers told Lindsay that they

themselves were willing to follow Drummond
and his party, but that very few of their men

would consent to march out. On the other

hand, many of the privates complained that

they could not get one officer to lead them.

After some altercation, Lindsay, with the

assistance of Captain Sir George Preston, and

some other officers, succeeded in collecting

141, who professed a willingness to march

with the dragoons, out of about 350 volunteers

who had remained behind; Lindsay led off

these to the Grassmarket, where they joined

Drummond's party ;
but if we are to believe a

pamphleteer of the day, even this small force

was diminished by the way. The descent of

The Bow presenting localities and facilities

equally convenient for desertion, the volun-

teers are said to have availed themselves of

these on their march. The author allud-

ed to facetiously compared this falling off

"to the course of the Rhine, which rolling

pompously its waves through fertile fields,

instead of augmenting in its course, is con-

tinually drawn off by a thousand canals, and
at last becomes a small rivulet, which loses

itself in the sands before it reaches the

ocean." 4 The foot now assembled, compre-

hending the town guard and the Edinburgh

regiment, which numbered only 189, amounted,

exclusive of officers, to 36 3 men. 5

Alarmed at the departure of the volunteers,

Dr. "Wishart, principal of the university of

Edinburgh, with others of the city clergy, pro-

eeded to the Grassmarket, and with great

arnestness addressed the volunteers, and con-

jured them by every thing they held most

sacred and dear, to reserve themselves for the

defence of the city by remaining within the

walls. Principal "Wishart addressed himself

particularly to the young men of Drummond's

company, some few of whom affected to con-

temn his advice
;
but it was perfectly evident

that there was scarcely an individual present,

who did not in his heart desire to follow the

advice of the ministers. The volunteers, how-

ever, had offered to serve without the walls,

and they could not withdraw with honour.

Drummond, on the departure of the clergy,

and after a short consultation with his officers,

sent a lieutenant with a message to the provost,

to the effect, that the volunteers had resolved

not to march out of town without his express

permission, and that they would wait for his

answer. In all this we have no reason to

doubt the sincerity and courage of Drummond,
but to the great satisfaction of his men, who
were at first ignorant of the nature of the

message, an answer was returned by Provost

Stewart, stating that he was much opposed to

the proposal of marching out of town, and was

glad to find that the volunteers had resolved

to remain within the walls. No sooner was

this answer received, than Drummond returned

with his men to the college-yards, where they

were dismissed for a time. The town guard,

and the men of the Edinburgh regiment, how-

ever, although shamefully deserted by their

companions in arms, marched out of the city

on receiving an order to that effect from the

provost, and joined the dragoons at Corstor-

phine, about four miles west from Edinburgh,

4 "A True Account of the Behaviour and Conduct
of Archibald Stewart, Esq., late Lord Provost of Edin-

burgh, in a letter to a friend. London, 1748." This

pamphlet has been ascribed by a writer in the Quar-

terly Review, (No. 71, p. 172,) supposed to be Sir

Walter Scott, to the pen of Hume the Historian.
8 Home, p. 83.
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where the regiments of Hamilton and Gardiner

formed a junction.
6

Seeing no appearance of the enemy, Colonel

Gardiner retired at sunset with the two regi-

ments of dragoons, to a field between Edin-

burgh and Leith, to pass the night, leaving a

party of his men behind him to watch the

motions of the Highlanders ;
and the foot

returned at the same time to the city. To

guard the city during the night, 600 or 700

men, consisting of the trained bands, the

volunteers, and some auxiliaries from the towns

of Musselburgh and Dalkeith, were stationed

along the walls and at the different gates ;
but

the night passed off quietly. The same night,

Brigadier General Fowkes arrived from Lon-

don. Early next morning, he received an

order from General Guest, to take the com-

mand of the dragoons, and to march to a field

a little to the east of Coltbridge, about two

miles west from the city, where he was joined

in the course of the forenoon by the town

guard, and the Edinburgh regiment.

For the first time during their march, the

Highlanders descried some dragoons as they

approached Corstorphine, on the morning of

the 16th of September. This was the party

which Colonel Gardiner had left at Corstor-

phine the preceding evening. To reconnoitre

the dragoons, a few young well-armed High-
landers were sent forward on horseback, and

ordered to go as near as possible to ascertain

their number. These young men rode close

up to the dragoons, and by way of frolic or

defiance, for they could have no intention of

attacking the dragoons, fired their pistols at

them. To the utter astonishment of the High-

landers, the dragoons, instead of returning the

fire, became panic-struck, and instantly wheel-

ing about, galloped off towards the main body.

Participating in the fears of his advanced

guard, General Fowkes immediately ordered a

retreat, and between three and four o'clock in

the afternoon, the inhabitants of Edinburgh
beheld the singular spectacle of two regiments

of dragoons flying along the "
Long Dykes,"

now the site of Princes Street, when no one

pursued. The faint-hearted dragoons stopped

a short time at Leith, and afterwards proceeded

6
Home, p. 84.

to Musselburgh. The foot returned to the

city.

Several hours before the retreat of the dra-

goons, a gentleman of the city had brought in

a message from the prince, requiring a surren-

der, and threatening, in case of resistance, to

subject the city to all the rigours of military

usage ;
but no regard was paid to the message,

and although the messenger had the imprudence

(for which he was sent to prison by the pro-

vost,) to communicate the message to the

inhabitants, they manifested no great symptoms
of alarm, relying, probably, on the resistance

of the dragoons. After these had fled, how-

ever, the people became exceedingly clamorous,

and crowds of the inhabitants ran about the

streets crying, that since the dragoons had fled,

it was madness to think of resistance. The

provost, on returning from the West Port,

where he had been giving, orders after the

retreat of the dragoons, was met by some of

the inhabitants, who implored him not to per-

sist in defending the town, for if he did, they
would all be murdered. He reproved them

for their impatience, and proceeded to the

Goldsmiths' Hall, where he met the magistrates

and town council and a considerable number

of the inhabitants, who had there assembled.

After some consultation, a deputation was sent

to the law-officers of the crown, requiring their-

attendance and advice
;
but it was ascertained

that these functionaries had left the town.

The captains of the trained bands and volun-

teers were next sent for, and called upon for

their opinion as to defending the city, but they
were at a loss how to advise. The meeting
was divided upon the question whether the

town should be defended or not, and in the

course of the debate much acrimony was dis-

played by the speakers on both sides. The

hall being too small to contain the crowd

which collected, the meeting adjourned to the

New church aisle, which was immediately filled

with people, the great majority of whom called

out for a surrender, as they considered it im-

possible to defend the town. Some persons

attempted to support the contrary view, but

they were forced to desist by the noise and

clamour of the majority.

While matters were in this train, a letter

was handed in from the door addressed to the

3 z
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lord provost, magistrates, and town council of

Edinburgh. The letter was put into the hands

of Orrock, the deacon of the shoemakers, who,

on opening it, informed the meeting that it

was subscribed
"
Charles, P. E." On hearing

this announcement, the provost stopped Deacon

Orrock, who was about to read the letter, said

he would not be a witness to the reading of

such a communication, and rising from his seat,

left the place, accompanied by the greater part

of the council and a considerable number of

the inhabitants. The provost, however, re-

turned to the council-chamber with his friends,

and sent for the city assessors to give their

opinion as to -whether the letter should be read

or not. One of these lawyers appeared, but

afraid to commit himself, stated that the mat-

ter was too grave for him to give an opinion

upon. The provost still demurred, but the as-

sembly getting impatient to know the contents

of the letter, his lordship tacitly consented to

its being read. It was as follows :

"From our Camp, 16th September, 1745.

"
Being now in a condition to make our way

into the capital of his majesty's ancient king-

dom of Scotland, we hereby summon you to

receive us, as you are in duty bound to do
;
and

in order to it, we hereby require you, upon re-

ceipt of this, to summon the town-council and

take proper measures for securing the peace and

quiet of the city, which we are very desirous to

protect. But if you suffer any of the usurper's

troops to enter the town, or any of the cannon,

arms, or ammunition in it, (whether belonging
to the public or private persons,) to be carried

off, we shall take it as a breach of your duty,

and a heinous offence against the k ;ng and us,

and shall resent it accordingly. We promise
to preserve all the rights and liberties of the

city, and the particular property of every one

of his majesty's subjects. But if any opposi-

tion be made to us, we cannot answer for the

consequences, being firmly resolved at any rate

to enter the city ;
and in that case, if any of

the inhabitants are found in arms against us,

they must not expect to be treated as prisoners
of war."

After this letter was read, the clamour for

surrender became more loud and general than

ever, and, agreeably to the wish of the meeting,

a deputation, consisting of four members of the

council, was appointed to wait upon the prince

immediately, and to request that he would

grant the citizens time to deliberate on the

contents of his letter.

While the meeting was debating the question

as to the reading of Charles's letter, an incident

occurred, which, it is believed, gave the finish-

ing stroke to the mock heroism of the volun-

teers. After the retreat of the dragoons, the

volunteers had assembled, on the ringing of the

fire-bell, at their respective posts, to be in

readiness to obey any instructions which might
be sent to them. Four companies, out of the

six, were drawn up in the Lawnmarket between

four and five ojclock in the afternoon, but be-

fore they had sufficient time to recover from

the agitation into which they had been thrown

by the call to arms, a well-dressed person, un-

known to those assembled, entered the Lawn-

market from the West-Bow, in great haste,

mounted upon a grey horse, and galloping along

the lines of the volunteers, intimated, in a voice

sufficiently high to be heard by the astonished

volunteers, that he had seen the Highland

army, and that it amounted to 16,000 men!

This "
lying messenger did not stop to be ques-

tioned, and disappeared in a moment." 7
Cap-

tain Drummond, soon after this occurrence,

arrived upon the spot, and, after consulting

with his brother officers, marched up the four

companies to the castle, where they delivered

up their arms. In a short time the other com-

panies also went up and surrendered their

arms, and were followed by the other bodies of

militia that had received arms from the castle

magazine.

About eight o'clock at night, the four depu-

ties left the city to wait upon the prince at

Gray's Mill; but they had scarcely cleared the

walls, when intelligence was received by the

lord provost and magistrates, (who still re-

mained assembled in the council-chamber,) that

the transports with General Cope's army on

board had arrived off Dunbar, about 27 miles

east from Edinburgh, and that as the wind

was unfavourable for bringing them up the

Frith, Cope intended to land his troops at Dun-

7 Home, p. 91.
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bar and march to the relief of the city. As

this intelligence altered the aspect of affairs,

messengers were immediately despatched to

bring back the deputies before they should

reach their destination, but they did not over-

take them. The deputies returned to the city

about ten o'clock, and brought along with them

a letter of the following tenor, signed by Secre-

tary Murray:
" His royal highness the prince regent thinks

his manifesto, and the king his father's declara-

tion, already published, a sufficient capitulation

for all his majesty's subjects to accept with

joy. His present demands are, to be received

into the city as the son and representative of

.the king his father, and obeyed as such when

there. His royal highness supposes, that since

the receipt of his letter to the provost no

arms or ammunition have been suffered to be

carried off or concealed, and will expect a

particular account of all things of that nature.

Lastly, he expects a positive answer before

two o'clock in the morning, otherwise he will

think himself obliged to take measures con-

form."

This letter gave rise to a lengthened discus-

sion in the town-council, which ended in a re-

solution to send out a second deputation to the

prince, and, under the pretence of consulting

the citizens, to solicit a few hours' delay. The

deputies accordingly set out in a coach to the

prince's head-quarters at two o'clock in the

morning, and had an interview with Lord

George Murray, whom they prevailed upon to

second their application for delay. His lord-

ship went into the prince's apartment, and one

of the deputies overheard him endeavouring to

persuade Charles to agree to the request made

by them, but the prince refused. Lord George

having reported the failure of his attempt to

the deputies, was induced by them to return

and make another trial, but he was again un-

successful. Charles then requested that the

deputies should be ordered away, and being
offended at Lord George Murray's entreaties,

desired Lord Elcho, the son of the Earl of

Wemyss, who had just joined him, to in-

timate the order to them, which he accord-

ingly did. 8

8 Provost Stewart's Trial, p. 171.

Apprehensive of the speedy arrival of Cope,

Charles resolved not to lose a moment in ob-

taining possession of the capital. He saw that

no effectual resistance could be made by the

inhabitants in case of an assault; but as oppo-

sition might exasperate the Highlanders, and

make them regardless of the lives of the citi-

zens, he proposed to his officers that an attempt

should be made to carry the city by surprise,

which, if successful, would save it from the

horrors which usually befall a city taken by
storm. The plan of a surprise having been

resolved upon, a select detachment of about

900 men, under Lochiel, Keppoch, Ardshiel,

and O'Sullivan, was sent under cloud of night

towards the city. They marched with great

secrecy across the Borough moor, and reached

the south-eastern extremity of the city, where

they halted. A party of 24 men was thereupon

despatched with directions to post themselves

on each side of the Netherbow Port, the eastern

or lower gate of the city, and another party of

60 men was directed to follow them half-way

up St. Mary's "Wynd, to be ready to support

them, while a third body, still farther removed,

and finally the remainder of the detachment,

were to come up in succession to the support

of the rest. In the event of these dispositions

succeeding without observation from the senti-

nels on the walls, it had been arranged that a

Highlander in a lowland garb should knock at

the wicket and demand entrance as a servant

of an officer of dragoons, who had been sent

by his master to bring him something he had

forgot in the city; and that if the wicket was

opened, the party stationed on each side of the

gate should immediately rush in, seize the

guard, and make themselves masters of the

gate. The different parties having taken the

stations assigned them without being per-

ceived by the guards, the disguised Highlander
knocked at the gate and stated his pretended

errand; but the guard refused to open the gate,

and the sentinels on the walls threatened to

fire upon the applicant if he did not instantly

retire. The commanders were puzzled by this

unexpected refusal, and were at a loss how to

act. It was now near five o'clock, and the

morning was about to daAvn. The alternative

of an assault seemed inevitable, but fortunately

for the city, the Highlanders were destined to
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obtain by accident what they could not effect

by stratagem.
9

While the party at the gate was about to

retire to the main body in consequence of the

disappointment they had met with, their at-

tention was attracted by the rattling of a

carriage, which, from the increasing sound,

appeared to be coming down the High-street

towards the Netherbow Port. It was, in fact,

the hackney coach which had been hired by

the deputies, which was now on its way back

to the Canongate, where most of the proprietors

of hackney coaches at that time lived. The

Highlanders stationed at the gate stood pre-

pared to enter, and as soon as it was opened to

let out the coach, the whole party, headed by

Captain Evan Macgregor, a younger son of

Macgregor of Glencairnaig, rushed in, made

themselves masters of the gate, and disarmed

the guard in an instant. In a short time the

whole of the Highlanders followed, with drawn

swords and targets, and setting up one of those

hideous and terrific yells with which they

salute an enemy they are about to encounter,

marched quickly up the street in perfect order,

in expectation of meeting the foe;
1 but to the

surprise, no less than the pleasure, of the

Highlanders, not a single armed man was to be

seen in the street. With the exception of a

few half-awakened spectators, who, roused from

their slumbers by the shouts of the High-

landers, had jumped out of bed, and were to

be seen peeping out at the windows in their

sleeping habiliments, all the rest of the inhabi-

tants were sunk in profound repose.

Having secured the guard-house and dis-

armed the guards who were within, the High-
landers took possession of the different gates of

the city and of the stations upon the walls.

They made the guards prisoners, and replaced

them with soine of their own men, with as

much quietness as if they had been merely

changing their own guard.
2 The Highlanders

conducted themselves on this occasion with

the greatest order and regularity, no violence

being offered to any of the inhabitants, and the

utmost respect being paid to private property.
Anxious about the result, Charles had slept

only two hours, and that without taking off

9 Home, p. 96. 1 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 488.
-
Home, p. 96.

his clothes. At an early hour he received in-

telligence of the capture of the city, and imme-

diately prepared to march towards it with the

rest of the army. To avoid the castle guns,

the prince took a circuitous direction to the

south of the city, till he reached the Braid

burn, when, turning towards the city, he

marched as far as the Buck Stone,
3 a mass of

granite on the side of the turnpike road, near

Morningside. On reaching this stone, he drew

off his army by a solitary cross road, leading

to the ground now occupied by Causewayside

and Newington. Arrived near Priestfield, he

entered the king's park by a breach, which had

been made in the wall, and proceeded to the

Hunter's bog, a deep valley between Arthur's

Seat and Salisbury Crags, where his army was

completely sheltered from the guns of the

castle. 4

Charles was now within the royal domains,

and little more than a quarter of a mile from

the royal palace of Holyrood, where his grand-

father, James II., when Duke of York, had,

about 60 years before, exercised the functions

of royalty, as the representative of his brother

Charles II. Sanguine as he was, he could

scarcely have imagined that within the space

of one short month, from the time he had raised

his standard in the distant vale of the Finnan,

he was to obtain possession of the capital of

Scotland, and take up his residence in the

ancient abode of his royal ancestors. Exulting

as he must have done, at the near prospect

which such fortuitous events seemed to afford

him of realizing his most ardent expectations,

his feelings received a new impulse, when, on

coming Avithin sight of the palace, he beheld the

park crowded with people, who had assembled

to welcome his arrival. Attended by the Duke
of Perth and Lord Elcho, and followed by a

train of gentlemen, Charles rode down the

Hunter's bog, on his way to the palace. On

reaching the eminence below St. Anthony's

well, he alighted from his horse for the purpose

of descending on foot into the park below.

On dismounting he was surrounded by many

persons who knelt down and kissed his hand.

3 James IV. is said to have planted the lion standard
of Scotland on this stone, as a signal for mustering his

army, before its fatal march to Flodden.
4 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 446.
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He made suitable acknowledgments for these

marks of attachment, and after surveying for a

short time the palace and the assembled multi-

tude which covered the intervening grounds,

he descended into the park below amid the

shouts of the spectators, whose congratulations

he received with the greatest affability. On

reaching the foot-path in the park, which,

from its having been much frequented by the

Duke of York, afterwards James II., when he

resided at Holyrood, obtained the name of the

Duke's walk, Charles stopped for a few minutes

to exhibit himself to the people.
5

In person Charles appeared to great advan-

tage. His figure and presence are described

by Mr. Home, an eye-witness, as not ill-suited

to his lofty pretensions. He was in the bloom

of youth, tall 6 and handsome, and of a fair

and ruddy complexion. His face, which in its

contour exhibited a perfect oval, was remark-

able for the regularity of its features. His

forehead was full and high, and characteristic

of his family. His eyes, which were large,

and of a light blue colour, were shaded by

beautifully arched eye-brows, and his nose,

which was finely formed, approached nearer to

the Eoman than the Grecian model. A pointed

chin, and a mouth rather small, gave him,

however, rather an effeminate appearance ;
but

on the whole, his exterior was extremely pre-

possessing, and his deportment was so graceful

and winning, that few persons could resist his

attractions. The dress which he wore on the

present occasion was also calculated to set off

the graces of his person to the greatest advan-

tage in the eyes of the vulgar. He wore a

light-coloured peruke, with his hair combed

over the front. This was surmounted by a

blue velvet bonnet, encircled with a band

of gold lace, and ornamented at top with a

Jacobite badge, a white satin cockade. He wore

a tartan short coat, and on his breast the star

of the order of St. Andrew. Instead of a plaid,

which would have covered the star, he wore a

blue sash wrought with gold. His small clothes

B Locklmrt Papers, vol. ii. p. 489. Kirkconnel MS.
6 l)r. Carlyle, who almost rubbed shoulders with

him twice, describes the prince thus: "He was a

good-looking man of about 5 feet 10 inches; his hair
was dark -red and his eyes black. His features were

regular, his visage long, much sunburnt and freckled,
and his countenance thoughtful and melancholy.

"

Autobiography, p. 153.

were of red velvet. To complete his costume,

he Avore a pair of military boots, and a silver-

hilted broadsword. 7

Charles remained some time in the park

among the people, but as he could not be suffi-

ciently seen by all, he mounted his horse, a

fine bay gelding which the Duke of Perth had

presented to him, and rode off slowly towards

the palace. Every person was in admiration

at the splendid appearance he made on horse-

back, and a simultaneous huzza arose from the

vast crowd which followed the prince in tri-

umph to Holyrood House. Overjoyed at the

noble appearance of the prince, the Jacobites

set no bounds to their praises of the royal

youth. They compared him to King Eobert

Bruce, whom, they said, he resembled in his

figure as they hoped he would in his fortune. 8

The Whigs, on the other hand, regarded him

differently ;
and though they durst not avow

their opinions to the full extent, and were

forced to admit that Charles was a goodly

person, yet they observed that even in that

triumphant hour when about to enter the palace

of his fathers, the air of his countenance was

languid and melancholy, that he looked like

a gentleman and a man of fashion, but not

like a hero or a conqueror. Their conclusion

was, that the enterprise he had undertaken

was above the pitch of his mind, and that his

heart was not great enough for the sphere in

which he moved. 9

On arriving in front of the palace Charles

alighted from his horse, and entering the gate

proceeded along the piazza within the quad-

rangle, towards the Duke of Hamilton's apart-

ments. l When the prince was about to enter

the porch, the door of which stood open to

7 Dr. Chambers's Rebellion, p. 87.
8
Home, p. 100. 9 Idem.

1 It has been stated on the questionable authority
of a local tradition, that when Charles arrived in front

of the palace, a large biillet was fired from the castle,
with such direction and force as to make it descend

upon the palace, that it struck a part of the front

wall of James the Fifth's tower, near the window
which lights a small turret-chamber connected with

Queen Mary's state apartments; and that it fell into
the court-yard, carrying along with it a quantity of

rubbish which it had knocked out of the wall. If

such a remarkable incident had occurred, it could

scarcely have been overlooked by Mr. Home, who was
near the spot at the time

; and the fact that it is not
alluded to in the pages of the Caledonian Mercury,
the organ of the Jacobite party, seems conclusive that,

no such occurrence took place.
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receive him, a gentleman stepped out of the

crowd, drew his sword, and raising it aloft,

walked up stairs before Charles. The person

who took this singular mode of joining the

prince, was James Hepburn of Keith, a gentle-

man of East Lothian. When a very young

man he had been engaged in the rebellion of

1715, not from any devoted attachment to the

house of Stuart, (for he disclaimed the heredi-

tary indefeasible right of kings, and condemned

the government of James II.,) but because he

considered the union, which he regarded as

the result of the revolution, as injurious and

humiliating to Scotland, and believed that the

only way to obtain a repeal of that measure,

was .to restore the Stuarts. In speaking of

the union, he said that it had made a Scottish

gentleman of small fortune nobody, and that

Holyrood House in 1745. From an old print.

rather than submit to it, he would die a thou-

sand deaths. For thirty years he had kept

himself in readiness to take up arms to assert,

as he thought, the independence of his country,

when an opportunity should occur. Honoured

and beloved by both Jacobites and "Whigs, the

accession to the Jacobite cause of this accom-

plished gentleman, whom Mr. Home describes

as a model of ancient simplicity, manliness, and

honour, was hailed by the former with delight,

and deeply regretted by the latter,who lamented

that a man whom they so highly revered, should

sacrifice himself to the visionary idea of a re-

peal of the union between England and Scot-

land. 2

On his way to the palace Charles had been

cheered by the acclamations of the people; and
on his entering that memorable seat of his an-

'

Home, p. 101.

cestors, these acclamations were redoubled by
the crowd which filled the area in front. On

reaching the suite of apartments destined for

his reception, he exhibited himself again to the

people from one of the windows with his bon-

net in his hand, and was greeted with loud

huzzas by the multitude assembled in the court-

yard below. He replied to these congratula-

tions by repeated bows and smiles.

To complete the business of this eventful

day, the proclamation at the cross of the Che-

valier de St. George as James III., alone re-

mained. The Highlanders who entered the

city in the morning, desirous of obtaining the

services of the heralds and the pursuivants, to

perform what appeared to them an indispen-

sable ceremony, had secured the persons of

these functionaries. Surrounded by a body of

armed men, the heralds and pursuivants, several

of Avhom had probably been similarly employed
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on the accession of " the Elector of Hanover,"

proceeded to the cross, a little before one o'clock

afternoon, clothed in their robes of office, and

proclaimed King James, amid the general ac-

clamations of the people. The windows of the

adjoining houses were filled with ladies, who

testified the intensity of their feelings by sprain-

ing their voices to the utmost pitch, and with

outstretched arms waving white handkerchiefs

in honour of the handsome young adventurer.

Few gentlemen were, however, to be seen in

the streets or at the windows, and even among
the common people, there were not a few who

preserved a stubborn silence. 3 The effect of the

ceremony was greatly heightened by the ap-

pearance of Mrs. Murray of Broughton, a lady

of great beauty, who, to show her devoted at-

tachment to the cause of the Stuarts, decorated

with a profusion of white ribbons, sat on horse-

back near the cross with a drawn sword in her

hand, during all the time the ceremony lasted. 4

While the heralds were proclaiming King
James at the market-cross of Edinburgh, Sir

John Cope, who, as has been stated, arrived

in the mouth of the Frith of Forth on the 16th,

was landing his troops at Dunbar. The two

regiments of dragoons had continued their in-

glorious flight during the night, and had reached

that town, on the morning of the 17th,
" in a

condition," to use the soft expression of Mr.

Home,
" not very respectable." On arriving

at Musselburgh, they had halted for a short

time, and afterwards went to a field between

Preston Grange and Dolphinston, where they
dismounted for the purpose of passing the

night; but between ten and eleven o'clock they
were aroused by the cries of a dragoon who had

fallen into an old coal-pit full of water. Con-

ceiving that the Highlanders were at hand,

they instantly mounted their horses and fled

towards Dunbar with such precipitation and

alarm, that they dropped their arms by the

way. Next morning the road to Dunbar was

found strewed with the swords, pistols, and

firelocks, which had fallen from the nervous

hands of these cowards. Colonel Gardiner,

who had slept during the night in his own
house at Preston, near the field where the dra-

goons were to bivcuack, was surprised, when

3
Home, p. 102.

4
Boyse, p. 77-, referred to by Chambers.

he rose in the morning, to find that his men
were all gone. All that he could learn was

that they had taken the road to Dunbar. He
followed them with a heavy heart, which cer-

tainly did not lighten 'when he saw the proofs

they had left behind them of their pusillanim-

ity. These arms were collected and conveyed in

covered carts to Dunbar, where they were again

put into the hands of the craven dragoons.
5

5
Home, p. 102. The author of the pamphlet on

the conduct of Provost Stewart, already quoted, gives
a somewhat different account of the flight of the dra-

goons, but with circumstances equally ludicrous:
" Before the rebels," he observes,

" came within sight
of our king's forces, before they came within three

miles distance of them, orders were issued to the dra-

goons to wheel, which they immediately did with the

greatest order and regularity imaginable. As it is

known that nothing is more beautiful than the evolu-

tions and movements of cavalry, the spectators stood

in expectation of what fine manoeuvre they might
terminate in: when new orders were immediately issued

to retreat, they immediately obeyed, and began to

march in the usual pace of cavalry. Orders were re-

peated every furlong to quicken their pace, and both

precept and example concurring, they quickened it so

well, that, before they reached Edinburgh, they quick-
ened to a very smart gallop. They passed in inexpres-
sible rainy and confusion through the narrow lanes at

Barefoot's Parks, in the sight of all the north part of

the town (Edinburgh,) to the infinite joy of the dis-

affected, and equal grief and consternation of all the

other inhabitants. They rushed like a torrent down
to Leith, where they endeavoured to draw breath

;
but

some unlucky boy, (I suppose a Jacobite in his heart,)

calling to them that the Highlanders were approach-

ing, they immediately took to their heels again, and

galloped to Prestonpans, about six miles farther.

There, in a literal sense, timor addidit alas, their

fear added wings, I mean to the rebels. For otherwise

they could not possibly have imagined that these for-

midable enemies could be within several miles of them.

But at Prestonpans the same alarm was repeated. The
Philistines be upon thee Sampson ! They galloped to

North Berwick, and being now about twenty miles to

the other side of Edinburgh, they thought they might
safely dismount from their horses and look out for

victuals. Accordingly, like the ancient Grecian heroes,

each began to kill and dress his provisions : egit amor

dapis atque pugnx ; they were actuated by the desire

of supper and of battle. The sheep and turkies 01

North Berwick paid for this warlike disposition. But
behold the uncertainty of human happiness ! "When
the mutton was just ready to be put upon the table,

they heard, or thought they heard, the same cry of the

Highlanders. Their fear proved stronger than their

hunger; they again got on horseback, but were in-

formed time enough of the falseness of the alarm, to

prevent the spoiling of their meal. By such rudi-

ments as these, the dragoons were so thoroughly ini-

tiated in the art of running, till at last they became
so perfect at their lesson, that at the battle of Preston

they could practise it of themselves, though even there

the same good example was not wanting. I have seen

an Italian opera called Cesaro in Egitto, or Cresar in

Egypt, where, in the first scene, Caesar is introduced

in a great hurry, giving orders to his soldiers, fugge,

fugge, a'closcampo, fly, fly, to your heels! This is

a proof that the commander at the Coltbridge is not

the first hero that gave such orders to his troops.
"
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The landing of Cope's troops was finished

on "Wednesday, the 17th of September; but

the disembarkation of the artillery and stores

was not completed till the 18th. On the last-

mentioned day, Mr. Home, the author of the

history of this Rebellion, arrived at Dunbar,

and was introduced to Sir John, as a " volun-

teer from Edinburgh," desirous of communi-

cating to him such information as he had per-

sonally collected respecting the Highland army.

He told the general, that being curious to see

the Highland army and its leader, and to ascer-

tain the number of the Highlanders, he had

remained in Edinburgh after they had taken

possession thereof, that for the last-mentioned

purpose, he had visited the different parts they

occupied in the city, and had succeeded in

making a pretty exact enumeration, that

with the same view he had perambulated the

Hunter's bog, where the main body was en-

camped. and as he found the Highlanders

sitting in ranks upon the ground taking a meal,

that he was enabled to calculate their numbers

with great certainty. He stated, from the

observations he had been thus enabled to

make, that the whole Highlanders within and

without the city did not amount to 2,000 men;
but that he had been told that several bodies

of men from the north were on their march,

and were expected very soon to join the main

body at Edinburgh. In answer to a question

put by Cope, as to the appearance and equip-

ment of the Highlanders, Home stated that

most of them seemed to be strong, active, and

hardy men, though many of them were of a

very ordinary size: and if clothed like Low-

landers, would, in his opinion, appear inferior

to the king's troops ;
but the Highland garb

favoured them much, as it showed their naked

limbs, which were strong and muscular; and

their stern countenances and bushy uncombed
hair gave them a fierce, barbarous, and impos-

ing aspect. With regard to their arms, Mr.

Home said that they had no artillery of any
sort but one small unmounted iron cannon,

lying upon a cart, drawn by a little Highland
pony, that about 1,400 or 1,500 of them
were armed with firelocks and broadswords,
that their firelocks were of all sorts and sizes,

consisting of muskets, fusees, and fowling

pieces, that some of the rest had firelocks

without swords, while others had swords with-

out firelocks, that many of their swords were

not Highland broadswords but French, that

one or two companies, amounting to about 100

men, were armed, each of them with the shaft

of a pitch-fork, with the blade of a scythe

fastened to it, resembling in some degree the

Lochaber axe. Mr. Home, however, added,

that all the Highlanders would soon be pro-

vided with firelocks, as the arms belonging to

the train bands of the city had fallen into their

hands. 6

At Dunbar, General Cope was joined by
some judges and lawyers, who had fled from

Edinburgh on the approach of the Highlanders.

They did not, however, enter the camp as

fighting men, but with the intention of con-

tinuing with the king's army, as anxious and

interested spectators of the approaching con-

flict. Cope found a more efficient supporter

in the person of the Earl of Home, then an

officer in the guards, who considered it his

duty to offer his services on the present occa-

sion. Unlike his ancestors, who could have

raised in their own territories a force almost

equal to that now opposed to Sir John Cope,

this peer was attended by one or two servants

only, a circumstance which gave occasion to

many persons to- mark the great change in the

feudal system which had taken place in Scot-

land, in little more than a century.

Desirous of engaging the Highland army
before the arrival of its expected reinforce-

ments, General Cope left Dunbar on the 19th

of September, in the direction of Edinburgh.

The cavalry, infantry, cannon, and baggage-

carts, which extended several miles along the

road, gave a formidable appearance to this little

army, and attracted the notice of the country

people, who, having been long unaccustomed

to war and arms, flocked from all quarters to

see an army on the jve of battle
;
and with

infinite concern and anxiety for the result

beheld the uncommon spectacle. The army
halted on a field to -the west of the town of

Haddington, sixteen miles east from Edinburgh.

As it was supposed that the Highlanders might

march in the night time, and by their rapid

movements surprise the army, a proposal was

6 Home, p. 103.
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made in the evening, to the general, to employ
some of the young men who followed the camp,

to ride betwixt Haddington and Duddingston,

during the night, so as to prevent surprise.

This proposal was approved of by Cope, and

sixteen young men, most of whom had been

volunteers at Edinburgh, offered their services.

These were divided into two parties of eight

men each; one of which, subdivided into four

parties of two men each, set out at nine o'clock

at night, by four different roads that led to

Duddingston. These parties returned to the

camp at midnight, and made a report to the

officer commanding the piquet, that they had

not met with any appearance of the enemy.
The other party then went off, subdivided as

before, by the different routes, and rode about

till day-break, when six of them returned and

made a similar report, but the remaining two

who had taken the coast road to Musselburgh,

did not make their appearance at the camp,

having been made prisoners by an attorney's

apprentice, who conducted them to the rebel

camp at Duddingston ! The extraordinary cap-

ture of these doughty patroles, one of whom
was Francis Garden, afterwards better known

as a lord of session, by the title of Lord Gar-

denstone, and the other Mr. Robert Cunning-

ham, known afterwards as General Cunning-

ham, is thus humorously detailed by a writer

in the Quarterly Review:
" The general sent two of the volunteers who

chanced to be mounted, and knew the country,

to observe the coast road, especially towards

Musselburgh. They rode on their exploratory

expedition, and coming to that village, which

is about six miles from Edinburgh, avoided

the bridge to escape detection, and crossed the

Esk, it being then low water, at a place nigh

its junction with the sea. Unluckily there

was at the opposite side a snug thatched

tavern, kept by a cltr.nly old woman called

Luckie F ,
who was eminent for the excel-

lence of her oysters and sherry. The patroles

were both bon-vivants; one of them whom we

remember in the situation of a senator, as it is

called, of the college of justice, was unusually

so, and a gay witty agreeable companion be-

sides. Luckie's sign and the heap of shells

deposited near her door, proved as great a

temptation to this vigilant forlorn-hope, as the

wine-house to the abbess of Andonillet's mu-

leteer. They had scarcely got settled at some

right Pandores, with a bottle of sherry as an

accompaniment, when, as some Jacobite devil

would have it, an unlucky north-country lad,

a writer's
(i.

e. attorney's) apprentice, who had

given his indentures the slip, and taken the

white -cockade, chanced to pass by on his

errand to join Prince Charlie. He saw the

two volunteers through the window, knew

them, and guessed their business; he saw the

tide would make it impossible for them to re-

turn along the sands as they had come. He
therefore placed himself in ambush upon the

steep, narrow, impracticable bridge, which -was

then, and for many years afterwards, the only

place of crossing the Esk,
' and how he con-

trived it,' our narrator used to proceed,
' I

never could learn, but the courage and assur-

ance of the province from which he came are

proverbial. In short, the Norland whipper-

snapper surrounded and made prisoners of my
two poor friends, before they could draw a

trigger.'"
7

Cope resumed his march on the morning of

the 20th of September, following the course of

the post road to Edinburgh, till he came near

Haddington, when he led off his army along

another road, nearer the coast, by St. Germains

and Seaton. His object in leaving the post

road was to avoid some denies and inclosures

which would have hindered, in case of attack,

the operations of his cavalry. In its march

the army was followed by a number of specta-

tors, all anxious to witness the expected com-

bat; but they were assured by the officers that

as the army was now rendered complete by the

junction of the horse and foot, the Highlanders

would not venture to engage. As some per-

sons who ventured to express a different opin-

ion were looked upon with jealousy, it is not

improbable that the officers who thus expressed

themselves did not speak their real sentiments.

On leaving the post road the general sent for-

ward the Earl of London his adjutant-general,

with Lord Home and the quarter-master-general,

to select ground near Musselburgh, on which

to encamp the army during the night; but this

party had not proceeded far when they observed

7 Quarterly Review, vol. xxxvi. p. 177.

-i A
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some straggling parties of Highlanders advanc-

ing. The Earl of Loudon immediately rode

back at a good pace, and gave Sir John the in-

formation just as the van of the royal army

was entering the plain betwixt Seaton and

Preston, known by the name of Gladsmuir.

Judging the ground before him a very eligible

spot for meeting the Highlanders, the general

continued his march along the high road to

Preston, and halted his army on the moor,

where he formed his troops in order of battle,

with, his front to the west. His right ex-

tended towards the sea in the direction of Port

Seaton, and his left towards the village of

Preston. These dispositions had scarcely been

made when the whole of the Highland army

appeared.

The disembarkation of the royal army, and

the advance of Cope towards Edinburgh, were

known to Charles in the course of Thursday

the 19th. Judging it of importance that no

time should be lost in meeting Cope and bring-

ing him to action, Charles had left Holyrood

house on the evening of that day, and had pro-

ceeded to Duddingston, near which place his

army was encamped. Having assembled a

council of war, he proposed to march next

morning and give battle to Sir John Cope.

The members of the council having signified

their acquiescence, the prince then asked the

Highland chiefs how they thought their men
would conduct themselves on meeting a com-

mander who had at last mustered courage to

meet them. As Macdonald of Keppoch had

served in the French army, and was considered,

on that account, to be a fit judge of what the

Highlanders could do against regular troops,

he was desired by the other chiefs to give his

opinion. Keppoch observed that as the country
had been long at peace, few or none of the

private men had ever seen a battle, and that it

was not therefore very easy to form an opinion
as to how they would behave; but that he

would venture to assure his royal highness
that the gentlemen of the army would be in

the midst of the enemy, and that as the clans

loved both the cause and their chiefs, they
would certainly share the danger with their

leaders. Charles thereupon declared that he

would lead on the Highlanders himself, and

charge at their head; but the chiefs checked

his impetuosity by pointing out the ruin that

would befall them if he perished in the field,

though his army should be successful. They
declared that, should he persist in his resolu-

tion, they would return home and make the

best terms they could for themselves. This

remonstrance had the desired effect upon the

young Chevalier, who agreed to take a post of

less danger.
8

According to the calculation of Home, which

has been alluded to, the Highland army, at the

date of the capture of Edinburgh, did not ex-

ceed 2,000 men; but it was increased by about

400 more, by a party of 150 Maclauchlans who

joined it on the 18th, and by an accession of

250 Athole-men on the following day. This

force was further augmented by the Grants of

Glenmoriston, who joined the army at Dudding-
ston on the morning of Friday the 20th. In

pursuance of the resolution of the council, the

prince put himself at the head of his army on

that morning, and presenting his sword, ex-

claimed,
" My friends, I have flung away the

scabbard!" 9 This was answered by a loud

huzza, on which the army marched forward in

one column of three files or ranks towards

Musselburgh. Passing the Esk by the bridge

of Musselburgh, the army proceeded along the

post road towards Pinkie. On arriving op-

posite the south side of Pinkie gardens, Lord

George Murray, who led the van, received in-

formation that Sir John Cope was at or near

Preston, and that his intention probably was

to gain the high grounds of Fawside near Car-

berry. As there was no time to deliberate or

wait for orders, and as Lord George, who was

very well acquainted with these grounds, con-

sidered the occupation of them by the High-
landers as of great importance ;

he struck off to

the right at Edgebuckling Brae, and passing

through the fields by the west side of Wally-

ford, gained the eminence in less than half an

hour, where he waited for the rear. 1

From Fawside hill the prince descried the

army of Cope drawn up in the manner before

described, but its position being different from

8
Home, p. 108.

a Account of the battle of Prestonpans, published in

the Caledonian Mercury of 23d September, 1745.
1 Lord George Murray's Narrative, Jacobite Me-

i/ioirs, p. 36. Home, 109.
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that anticipated, Charles drew off his army to-

wards the left, and descending the hill in the

direction of Tranent, entered again, upon the

post road at some distance to the west of the

village, along which he continued his march.

On approaching Tranent the Highlanders were

received by the king's troops with a vehement

shout of defiance, which the Highlanders
answered in a similar strain. About two

o'clock in the afternoon the Highland army
halted on an eminence called Birsley Brae,

about half a mile to the west of Tranent, and

formed in order of battle about a mile from the

royal forces.

In the expectation that the Highlanders
were advancing by the usual route through

Musselburgh, Cope had taken up the position

we have described with his front to the west;

but as soon as he observed the Highlanders on

the heights upon his left he changed his front

to the south. This change of position, while

it secured Cope better from attack, was not so

well calculated for safety as the first position

was in the event of a defeat. On his right

was the east wall of a park, belonging to

Erskine of Grange, which extended a consider-

able way from north to south, and still farther

to the right was the village of Preston. The

village of Seaton was on his left, and the village

of Cockenzie and the sea in his rear. Almost

immediately in front was a deep ditch filled

with water, and a strong and thick hedge.

Farther removed from the front, and between

the two armies was a morass, the ends of which

had been drained, and were intersected by
numerous cuts. And on the more firm ground
at the ends were several small inclosures, with

hedges, dry stone walls, and willow trees.

As the Highlanders were in excellent spirits,

and eager to close immediately with the enemy,
Charles felt very desirous to comply with their

wishes; but he soon ascertained, by examining
some people of the neighbourhood, that the

passage across the morass, from the nature of

the ground, would be extremely dangerous if

not altogether impracticable. Not wishing,

however, in a matter of such importance to

trust altogether to the opinion of the country

people, Lord George Murray ordered Colonel

Ker of Gradon, an officer of some military ex-

perience, to examine the ground, and to report.

Mounted upon a little white pony he descended

alone into the plain below, and with the greatest

coolness and deliberation surveyed the morass

on all sides. As he went along the morass

several shots were fired at him, by some of

Cope's men, from the sides of the ditches
;
but

he paid so little regard to these annoyances

that, on coming to a dry stone wall which stood

in his way, he dismounted, and making a gap
in it led his horse through. After finishing

this perilous duty he returned to the army, and

reported to the lieutenant-general that he con-

sidered it impracticable to pass the morass and

attack the enemy in front, without risking the

whole army, and that it was impossible for the

men to pass the ditches in a line. 2

While his lieutenant-general was, in con-

sequence of this information, planning a differ-

ent mode of attack, the prince himself was

moving with a great part of his army towards

Dolphinstone on Cope's right. Halting op-

posite Preston tower he seemed to threaten

that flank of the English general, who, there-

upon, returned to his original position with his

front to Preston, and his right towards the sea.

As Lord George Murray considered that the

only practicable mode of attacking Cope was

by advancing from the east, he led off part of

the army about sunset through the village of

Tranent, and sent notice to the prince to follow

him with the remainder as quickly as possible.

When passing through the village Lord George
was joined by fifty of the Camerons, who had

been posted by O'Sullivan in the churchyard
at the foot of Tranent. This party being within

half cannon shot of Cope's artillery, had been

exposed during the afternoon to a fire from

their cannon, and one or two of the Camerons

had been wounded. To frighten the High-

landers, who, they imagined, had never seen

cannon before, Cope's men huzzaed at every

discharge; but the Camerons remained in their

position, till, on the representation of Lochiel,

who Avent and viewed the ground, and found

his men unnecessarily exposed, they were

ordered to retire in the direction of Tranent.

O'Sullivan, who was in the rear when this

order was given, came up on the junction of

the party, and asking Lord George the mean-

- Home, 111. Lord George Murray's Narrative in

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 37.
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ing of the movement lie was making, was told

by him, that as it was not possible to attack

the enemy with any chance of success on the

west side of the village, he had resolved to

assail them from the east, and that he would

satisfy the prince that his plan was quite prac-

ticable, that for this purpose he had ordered

the army to march to the east side of the village,

where there were good dry fields covered with

stubble, on which the men could bivouack dur-

ing the night, and that with regard to the

withdrawal of the party which O'Sullivan had

posted in the churchyard, they could be of no

service there, and were unnecessarily exposed.

On being informed of the movement made by

Lord George Murray, Charles proceeded to

follow him, but it was dark before the rear had

passed the village. To watch Cope's motions

on the west, Charles left behind the Athole

brigade, consisting of 500 men under Lord

Xairne, which he posted near Preston above

Colon-el Gardiner's parks.
3

After the Highland army had halted on the

fields to the east of Tranent, a council of war

was held, at which Lord George Murray pro-

posed to attack the enemy at break of day.

He assured the members of the council that

the plan was not only practicable, but that it

would in all probability be attended with suc-

cess, that he knew the ground himself, and

that he had just seen one or two gentlemen
who were also well acquainted with every part

of it. He added, that there was indeed a small

defile at the east end of the ditches, but if once

passed there would be no farther hinderance,

and though, from being obliged to march in a

column, they Avould necessarily consume a con-

siderable time on their march, yet when the

whole line had passed the defile they would

have nothing to do but face to the left, form in

a moment, and commence the attack. Charles

was highly pleased with the proposal of the

lieutenant-general ;
which having received the

unanimous approbation of the council, a few

piquets were, by order of Lord George, placed
around the bivouack, and the Highlanders, after

having supped, wrapped themselves up in their

plaids, and lay down upon the ground to repose
for the night. Charles, taking a sheaf of pease

3 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 38.

for a pillow, stretched himself upon the stubble,

surrounded by his principal officers, all of

whom followed his example. Before the army
went to rest, notice was sent to Lord Nairne

to leave his post with the Athole brigade at

two o'clock in the morning as quietly as pos-

sible. To conceal their position from the Eng-
lish general, no fires or lights were allowed,

and orders were issued and scrupulously obeyed,

that strict silence should be kept, and that no

man should stir from his place till directed. 4

When Cope observed Charles returning to-

wards Tranent, he resumed his former posi-

4
Idem, p. 38. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 449.

The accounts given by Home and the Chevalier John-

stone differ in some respects from that of Lord

George Murray. Home says, that Mr. Robert Ander-
son (son of Anderson of Whitbrough in East Lothian,
who had been engaged in the rebellion of 1715) had
confirmed Ker of Gradon's account of the ground after

his survey, on being consulted by Lord George Mur-

ray, that he was present at the council of war, but
did not give any opinion ;

but that after Charles and
his officers had separated, Anderson told Hepburn of

Keith that he knew the ground perfectly, and was
certain there was a better way to come at the king's

army than that which the council had resolved to

follow, that he would undertake to show them a

place where they might easily pass the morass without

being seen by the enemy, and without being exposed
to their fire, that Hepburn listened attentively to

this information, and expressed his opinion of it in

such terms that Anderson desired he would carry him
to Lord George Murray, that Hepburn advised him
to go himself to Lord George, who knew him, and
would like better to receive information from him
alone than when introduced by another person, that

when Anderson came to Lord George Murray he fonnd

him asleep in a field of cut pease with several of the

chiefs near him, that on awakening his Lordship, he

repeated what he had said to Mr. Hepburn, and
offered to lead the men through the morass, that

Lord George considering this information important,
awoke Charles, who was lying near him with a sheaf of

pease for his pillow, and who, pleased with Anderson's

information, ordered Lochiel and the other chiefs to

be called, all of whom approved of the plan of attack.

The Chevalier Johnston e says that the officers of the

army were perplexed how to act, from the apparent

impossibility of making a successful attack, but that

Anderson came to the prince in the evening very a

propos, and relieved them from their embarrassment

by informing them that there was a place in the marsh

which could be crossed with safety, and that upon
examining it Anderson's information was found to be

correct. Lord George's own account appears, how-

ever, to give the real res gestce. From it he appears
to have communicated with Anderson and Hepburn
before the council of war had assembled. As his Lord-

ship says that "at midnight the principal officers

were called again," it is probable he alludes to the

scene described by Home, when the prince himself

and the chiefs were awakened by Anderson
;
but as

Anderson was present in the council, and as Lord

George says, that, after this midnight call "all was

ordered as was at first proposed," it is very likely that

Anderson was anxious to afford some additional infor-

mation which he had formerly omitted to give.
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tlon with his front to the west and his right

to the sea. He now began to perceive that

his situation was not so favourable as he

had imagined, and that while the insurgents

could move about at discretion, select their

ground, and choose their time and mode of

attack, he was cramped in his own move-

ments, and could act only on the defensive.

The spectators, who felt an interest in the fate

of his army, and who had calculated upon
certain success to Cope's arms during the day,

now, that night was at hand, began to fore-

bode the most gloomy results. Instead of a

bold and decided movement on the part of

Cope to meet the enemy, they observed that

he had spent the day in doing absolutely

nothing, that he was in fact hemmed in by
the Highlanders, and forced at pleasure to

change his position at every movement they

were pleased to make. They dreaded that an

army which was obliged to act thus upon the

defensive, and which would, therefore, be

obliged to pass the ensuing night under arms,

could not successfully resist an attack next

morning from men, who, sheltered from the

cold by their plaids, could enjoy the sweets of

repose and rise fresh and vigorous for battle. 5

To secure his army from surprise during the

night, Cope placed advanced piquets of horse

and foot along the side of the morass, extend-

ing nearly as far east as the village of Seaton.

He, at the same time, sent his baggage and

military chest down to Cockenzie under a

guard of 40 men of the line and all the High-
landers of the army, consisting of four com-

panies, viz., two of newly raised men belong-

ing to Loudon's regiments, and two additional

companies of Lord John Murray's regiment,

which had been diminished by desertion to

fifteen men each. 6
Although the weather had

been very fine, and the days were still warm,

yet the nights were now getting cold and

occasionally frosty. As the night in question,

that of Friday the 20th of September, was

very cold, Cope ordered fires to be kindled

along the front of his line, to keep his men
warm. During the night he amused himself by

6 Home, p. 112.
6 A party of 200 Munroes followed Cope to Aber-

deen, but refused to embark as harvest-time was at

hand.

firing off, at random, some cohorns,
7
probably

to alarm the Highlanders or disturb their

slumbers, but these hardy mountaineers, if

perchance they awoke for a time, disregarded

these empty bravadoes, and fell back again

into the arms of sleep.

In point of numbers the army of Cope was

rather inferior to that of Charles
;
but many

of the Highlanders were badly armed, and

some of them were without arms. The royal

forces amounted altogether to about 2,300

men
;
but the number in the field was dimin-

ished to 2,100 by the separation of the bag-

gage-guard which was sent to Cockenzie. The

order of battle formed by Cope along the north

side of the morass was as follows : He drew

up his foot in one line, in the centre of which

were eight companies of Lascelles's regiment,

and two of Guise's. On the right were five

companies of Lee's regiment, and on the left

the regiment of Murray, with a number of

recruits for different regiments at home and

abroad. Two squadrons of Gardiner's dra-

goons formed the right wing, and a similar

number of Hamilton's composed the left. The

remaining squadron of each regiment was

placed in the rear of its companions as a reserve.

On the left of the army, near the waggon-road
from Tranent to Cockenzie, were placed the

artillery, consisting of six or seven pieces of

cannon and four cohorns, under the orders

of Lieutenant-colonel Whiteford, and guarded

by a company of Lee's regiment, commanded

by Captain Cochrane. Besides the regular

troops there were some volunteers, consisting

principally of small parties of the neighbour-

ing tenantry, headed by their respective land-

lords. Some Seceders, actuated by religious

zeal, had also placed themselves under the royal

standard. 8

Pursuant to the orders he had received,

Lord Nairne left the position he had occupied

during the night at the appointed hour, and

rejoined the main body about three o'clock in

the morning. Instead of continuing the order

of march of the preceding night, it had been

determined by the council of war to reverse it.

The charge of this movement was intrusted to

Colonel Ker, who had signalized himself by

7 LocJchart Papers, vol. ii. p. 489. 8
Home, p. 113.
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the caltn intrepidity Avith which he had sur-

veyed the marsh on the preceding day. To

carry this plan into effect, Ker went to the

head of the column, and passing along the line,

desired the men to observe a profound silence,

and not to stir a step till he should return to

them. On reaching the rear he ordered it to

march from the left, and to pass close in front

of the column, and returning along the line, he

continued to repeat the order till the whole

army was in motion. This evolution was ac-

complished without the least confusion, and

before four o'clock in the morning the whole

army was in full march. 9

The Duke of Perth, who was to command

the right wing, was at the head of the inverted

column. He was attended by Hepburn of

Keith, and Mr. Robert Anderson, son of An-

derson of Whitbrough, who, from his intimate

knowledge of the morass, was sent forward to

lead the way. A little in advance of the van

was a select party of 60 men doubly armed,

under the command of Macdonald of Glenalla-

dale, major of the regiment of Clanranald,

whose appointed duty it was to seize the

enemy's baggage. The army proceeded in an

easterly direction till near the farm of Ringan-

head, when, turning to the left, they marched,

in a northerly direction through a small valley

which intersects the farm. During the march

the utmost silence was observed by the men,

not even a whisper being heard
;
and lest the

trampling of horses might discover their ad-

vance, the few that were in the army were left

behind. The ford or path across the morass

was so narrow that the column, which marched

three men abreast, had scarcely sufficient

standing room, and the ground aloi.g it was

so soft that many of the men were almost at

every step up to the knees in mud. The path
in question, which was about two hundred

paces to the west of the stone-bridge afterwards

built across Seaton mill-dam, led to a small

wooden bridge which had been thrown over

the large ditch that ran through the morass

from east to west. This bridge, and the con-

tinuation of the path on the north of it, were
a little to the east of Cope's left. From ignor-
ance of the existence of this bridge, from

n
Jacobite Memoirs, p. 39. Lockhart Papers, vol.

ii. p. 449. Home, p. 89.

oversight, or from a supposition that the marsh

was not passable in that quarter, Cope had

placed no guards in that direction, and the

consequence was, that the Highland army,

whose march across could have been effectu-

ally stopped by a handful of men, passed the

bridge and cleared the marsh without inter-

ruption.
l

The army was divided into two columns or

lines, with an interval between them. After

the first line had got out of the marsh, Lord

George Murray sent the Chevalier Johnstone,

one of his aides-de-camp, to hasten the march

of the second, which was conducted by the

prince in person, and to see that it passed

without noise or confusion. At the remote

end of the marsh there was a deep ditch, three

or four feet broad, over which the men had to

leap. In jumping across this ditch, Charles

fell upon his knees on the other side, and was

immediately raised by the Chevalier Johnstone,

who says, that Charles looked as if he con-

sidered the accident a bad omen. 2

Hitherto the darkness had concealed the

march of the Highlanders; but the morning
was now about to dawn, and at the time the

order to halt was given, some of Cope's piquets,

stationed on his left, for the first time heard

the tramp of the Highlanders. The High-

landers then heard distinctly these advanced

guards repeatedly call out,
" Who is there?"

No answer having been returned, the piquets

immediately gave the alarm, and the cry of

"cannons, cannons; get ready the cannons,

cannoneers," resounded on Cope's left wing.
3

Charles proceeded instantly to give direc-

tions for attacking Cope before he should have

time to change his position by opposing his

front to that of the Highland army. It was

not in compliance with any rule in military

science, that the order of march of the High-

land army had been reversed; but in accord-

ance with an established punctilio among the

clans, which, for upwards of seven centuries,

had assigned the right wing, regarded as the

post of honour, to the Macdonalds. As ar-

ranged at the council of war on the preceding

evening, the army was drawn up in two lines.

The first consisted of the regiments of Clan-

Idem. 2
Memoirs, 3d edition, p. ",").

Lockhart, vol. ii. p. 491.
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ranald, Keppoch, Glengary, and Glencoe,
4 un-

der their respective chiefs. These regiments

formed the right wing, which was commanded

by the Duke of Perth. The Duke of Perth's

men and the Macgregors composed the centre
;

while tho left wing, commanded by Lord

George Murray, was formed of the Camerons

under Lochiel, their chief, and the Stewarts of

Appin commanded by Stewart of Ardshiel.

The second line, which was to serve as a reserve,

consisted of the Athole-men, the Robertsons of

Strowan, and the Maclauchlans. This body
was placed under the command of Lord

Nairne.

As soon as Cope received intelligence of the

advance of the Highlanders, he gave orders to

change his front to the east. Some confusion

took place in carrying these orders into execu-

tion, from the advanced guards belonging to

the foot not being able to find out the regi-

ments to which they belonged, and who, in

consequence, stationed themselves on the right

of Lee's five companies, and thereby prevented

the two squadrons of Gardiner's dragoons,

which had been posted on the right of the line,

from forming properly. For want of room

the squadron under Colonel Gardiner drew up
behind that commanded by Lieutenant-colonel

Whitney. In all other respects the disposition

of each regiment was the same; but the

artillery, which before the change had been on

the left, and close to that wing, was now on

the right somewhat farther from the line, and

in front of Whitney's squadron.
5

There was now no longer any impediment
to prevent the armies from coming into colli-

sion; and if Cope had had the choice he could

not have selected ground more favourable for

the operations of cavalry than that which lay

between the two armies. Tt was a level field

of considerable extent without bush or tree,

and had just been cleared of its crop of grain.

But unfortunately for the English general, the

celerity with which the Highlanders com-

* Home puts the Macdonalds of Glencoe on the left

of the second line
;
but the author of the Journal and

Memoirs, (Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 491,) an officer'

in the Highland army who was in the battle, says
that the Macdonalds of Glencoe were on the right of

the first line. The official account published in the

Caledonian Mercury by Charles, also places the Glen-

coe men in the same situation.
5 Home, p. 117.

menced the attack prevented him from avail-

ing himself of this local advantage.

After both lines of the Highland army had

formed, Charles addressed his army in these

words: " Follow me, gentlemen; and by the

assistance of God I will, this day, make you a

free and happy people."
6 He then went up to

the right wing and spent a little time in earnest

conversation with the Duke of Perth and Clan-

ranald, and, having given his last instructions

to them, returned to the station which, in com-

pliance with the wish of his council, he had

taken between the lines, where, surrounded by
his guard, he waited the signal to advance. If,

as alleged by Chevalier Johnstone, Charles ex-

hibited symptoms of alarm when he fell on

crossing the ditch, he now certainly showed

that fear had no longer a place in his mind.

The coolness and self-possession which he dis-

played when giving his orders would have

done honour to the most experienced general;

but these qualities are to be still more valued

in a young man playing the important and

dangerous game that Charles had undertaken.

The officer to whose tuition Charles had been

indebted for the little knowledge he had ac-

quired of Gaelic, mentions an occurrence in

dicative of the prince's firmness on this occasion.

In returning from the right wing to his guard
after giving his orders to the Duke of Perth

and Clanranald, he saw the officer alluded to

passing near him, and with a smile, said to

him in Gaelic,
"
Gres-ort, gres-ort!" that is,

" Make haste, make haste !" 7

By the time the arrangements for commenc-

ing the attack were completed, the morning
had fully dawned, and the beams of the rising

sun were beginning to illuminate the horizon;

but the mist which still hovered over the corn

fields prevented the two armies from seeing

each other. Every thing being now in readi-

ness for advancing, the Highlanders took off

their bonnets, and, placing themselves in an

attitude of devotion, with upraised eyes uttered

a short prayer.
8 As the Highlanders had ad-

vanced considerably beyond the main ditch,

Lord George Murray was apprehensive that

Cope might turn the left flank, and to guard

G Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 490.
'

Idem, p. 401.
8 Caledonian Mercury of 23d Sept. 1715.
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against such a contingency, he desired Lochiel,

who was on the extreme left, to order his men

in advancing to incline to the left.
9

Lord George Murray now ordered the left

wing to advance, and sent an aid-de-camp to

the Duke of Perth to request him to put the

right in motion. The Highlanders moved with

such rapidity that their ranks hroke ;
to re-

cover which, they halted once or twice before

closing with the enemy. When Cope, at day-

break, observed the first line of the Highland

army formed in order of battle, at the distance

of two hundred paces from his position, he

mistook it for bushes; but before it had ad-

vanced half way, the rays of the rising sun

bursting through the retiring mist showed the

armies to each other. The army of Cope at

this time made a formidable appearance; and

some of Charles's officers were heard afterwards

to declare, that when they first saw it, and

compared the gallant appearance of the horse

and foot, with their well-polished arms glitter-

ing in the sunbeams, with their own line broken

into irregular clusters, they expected that the

Highland army would be instantly defeated,

and swept from the field.
1

The Highlanders continued to advance in

profound silence. As the right wing marched

straight forward without attending to the

oblique movement of the Camerons to the left,

a gap took place in the centre of the line. An

attempt was made to fill it up with the second

line, which was about fifty paces behind the

first, but before this could be accomplished,

the left wing, being the first to move, had ad-

vanced beyond the right of the line, and was

now engaged with the enemy. By inclining

to the left, the Camerons gained half the

ground originally between them and the main

ditch; but this movement brought them up

directly opposite to Cope's cannon. On ap-

proaching the cannon the Highlanders fired a

few shots at the artillery guard, which alarmed

an old gunner, who had charge of the cannon,
and his assistants to such a degree that they

fled, carrying the powder flasks along with

them. To check the advance of the High-

landers, Colonel Whiteford fired off five of the

field pieces with his own hand; but though

9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 40. 1

Home, p. 118.

their left seemed to recoil, they instantly re-

sumed the rapid pace they had set out with.

The artillery guard next fired a volley with as

little effect. Observing the squadron of dra-

goons under Lieutenant-Colonel Whitney ad-

vancing to charge them, the Camerons set up
a loud shout, rushed past the cannon, and after

discharging a few shots at the dragoons, which

killed several men, and wounded the lieuten-

ant-colonel, flew upon them sword in hand.

When assailed, the squadron was reeling to

and fro from the fire; and the Highlanders

following an order they had received, to strike

at the noses of the horses without minding the

riders, completed the disorder. In a moment

the dragoons wheeled about, rode over the

artillery guard, and fled followed by the guard.

The Highlanders continuing to push forward

without stopping to take prisoners, Colonel

Gardiner was ordered to advance with his

squadron, and charge the enemy. He accord-

ingly went forward, encouraging his men to

stand firm
;
but this squadron, before it had

advanced many paces, experienced such a re-

ception, that it followed the example which

the other had just set.
2

After the flight of the dragoons, the High-

landers advanced upon the infantry, who opened

a fire from right to left, which went down the

line as far as Murray's regiment. They received

this volley with a loud huzza, and throwing

away their muskets, drew their swords and

rushed upon the foot before the latter had time

to reload their pieces. Confounded by the flight

of the dragoons, and the furious onset of the

Highlanders, the astonished infantry threw

down their arms and took to their heels. Ham-

ilton's dragoons, who were stationed on Cope's

left, displayed even greater pusillanimity than

their companions ;
for no sooner did they ob-

serve the squadrons on the right give way, than

they turned their backs and fled without firing

a single shot, or drawing a sword. 3
Murray's

2 Home, p. 119. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 40. Lockhart

Papers, vol. ii. p. 490. Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 35.
3 Old General Wightman, who commanded the cen-

tre of the royalist army at the battle of Sheriffmuir,

was present at this battle as a spectator. Mounted on

his "old cropt galloway," he posted himself by break

of day about a musket shot in the rear of Hamilton';:

dragoons, and had not taken his ground above threi>

minutes when "the scuffle
"
began. He says it lasted

about four minutes. After "all was in route," Wight-
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regiment being thus left alone on the field,

fired upon the Macdonalds who were advancing,

and also fled. Thus, within a very few minutes

after the action had commenced, the whole

army of Cope was put to flight. "With the ex-

ception of their fire, not the slightest resistance

was made by horse or foot, and not a single

bayonet was stained with blood. Such were

the impetuosity and rapidity with which the

first line of the Highlanders broke through

Cope's ranks, that they left numbers of his

men in their rear who attempted to rally behind

them
;
but on seeing the second line coming

up they endeavoured to make their escape.
4

Though the second line was not more than fifty

paces behind the first, and was always running
as fast as it could to overtake the first line, and

near enough never to lose sight of it, yet such

sjjj / ..' AftirTna.TctnMiKr?j.ra.T.tr\tstmivihtri
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Plan of the Battle of Prestonpans.

was the rapidity with which the battle was

gained, that, according to the Chevalier John-

stone,
5 who stood by the side of the prince in

the second line, he could see no other enemy

man remained in his station,
" calm arid fearless," ac-

cording to his own account, till he saw all the dragoons
out of the field, and the foot surrounded on all sides.

Ex-provost Drummond, "who (says Wightman) would

needs fight among the dragoons," was also present,
mounted on an old dragoon horse, which one Mathie

had purchased for 4, and had used as a cart horse.

Not being able to reach Gardiner's dragoons before the

battle began, Drummond joined the squadrons under

Hamilton
;
but "

to his great luck," and to the "great
comfort," of his friend Wightman, he was swept away
out of the field by the cowardly dragoons, and accom-

panied Cope to Berwick. Culloden Papers, p. 224.

1.

on the field of battle than those who were lying

on the ground killed and wounded.

Unfortunately for the royal infantry, the walls

of the inclosures about the village of Preston,

which formed their great security on their right,

now that these were in their rear, operated as a

barrier to their flight. Having disencumbered

themselves of their arms to facilitate their

escape, they had deprived themselves of their

only means of defence, and driven as they were

upon the walls of the inclosures, they would

have all perished under the swords of the High-

4 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 40.

4 B

8
Memoirs, p. 37.
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landers, had not Charles and his officers stren-

uously exerted themselves to preserve the lives

of their discomfited foes. The impetuosity of

the attack, however, and the sudden flight of

the royal army, allowed little leisure for the

exercise of humanity, and before the carnage

ceased several hundreds had fallen under the

claymores of the Highlanders, and the ruthless

scythes of the Macgregors. Armed with these

deadly weapons, which were sharpened and

fixed to poles from seven to eight feet long, to

supply the place of other arms, this party

mowed down the affrighted enemy, cut off the

legs of the horses, and severed, it is said, the

bodies of their riders in twain. Captain James

Drummond, alias Macgregor, son of the cele-

brated Rob Roy, who commanded this com-

pany, fell at the commencement of the action.

When advancing to the charge he received five

wounds. Two bullets went through his body,

and laid him prostrate on the ground. That

his men might not be discouraged by his fall,

this intrepid officer resting his head upon his

hand, called out to them,
" My lads, I am not

dead ! by God, I shall see if any of you does

not do his duty !" This singular address had

the desired effect, and the Macgregors instantly

fell on the flank of the English infantry, which,

being left uncovered and exposed by the flight

of the cavalry, immediately gave way.
6

6 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 36. In the account of the

battle published by the Highland army, Captain Mac-

gregor is stated to have been mortally wounded
;
but

he lived several years thereafter, and retired to France
in 1753. On his arrival he addressed the following
letter to Edgar, secretary to the Chevalier de St.

George. The original is thus quoted in Edgar's hand-

writing, "Rob Roy's son, May 22d, 1753:"

BOULOGNE-SUR-MER,
May 22d, 1753.

SIR. I use the freedom to beg of you to lay before

his Majesty my following unhappy case. What I am
his Majesty will see by the inclosed certificate, and
whatever little my venity might make me imagine I

have to his Majesty's protection, all I expect or desire

at present is, that assistance which is absolutely neces-

sary for the support of a man who has always shown
the strongest attachment to his Majesty's person and
cause. As long as I could stay in Scotland I never

thought to have added to his Majesty a trouble or ex-

pense ; but upon Dr. Cameron, Lochiel's brother, being
taken up, a strict search was made over all, that I had
no way of avoiding being taken but comming to this

country, where I am in a situation so uneasy, that I

am forced to applay to the generosity of the best of

kings. I flater myself that it is in my power to ac-

quaint his Majesty with something of the greatest con-

sequence to his cause and our country. But 1 think

Of the infantry of the royal army, only about

170 escaped.
7 From a report made by their

own sergeants and corporals, by order of Lord

George Murray, between 1,600 and 1,700

prisoners, foot and cavalry, fell into the hands

of the Highlanders, including about 70 officers.

In this number were comprehended the baggage-

guard, stationed at Cockenzie, which amounted

to 300 men, who, on learning the fate of the

main body and the loss of their cannon, sur-

rendered to the Camerons. 8 The cannon and

all the baggage of the royal army, together

with the military chest, containing 4,000,

fell into the hands of the victors. The greater

part of the dragoons escaped by the two roads

at the extremities of the park wall, one of

which passed by Colonel Gardiner's house in

it would be improper, unless I had the honor of being

presented to him. The general character you, Sir,

have for being ready to serve any body in distress,

leaves me no room to doubt of your interesting your-
self in my behalf, which I dare say will be of the

greatest use to me, and I am sure will be conferring
the highest obligation upon, Sir,

Your most obedient and most humble servant,
JAS. DRUMMOND.

May I request the honor of an answer
to the care of Lord Strathallan.

The following is the certificate referred to :

BOULOGNE-SUR-MER,
May ye Wd, 1753.

We the underwritten certify that it consists with

onr knowledge, that James Drummond, son to the late

Rob Roy, was imploy'd in the Prince Regent's affairs

by James, Duke of Perth, before his Royal Highness's
arrival in Scotland, and that afterwards he behaved
with great bravery in several battles, in which he re-

ceived many dangerous wounds.
STRATHALLAN.
CHARLES BOYD.

DRUMMOND.

To relieve his necessities, James ordered his banker
at Paris to pay Macgregor 300 livres, in reference to

which Lord Strathallan thus writes to Edgar, from

Boulogne-sur-Mer, on 6th Sept., 1753: "I had the

honor of yours some time ago, and deferred writing

you until I heard about the 300 livres for Mr. Drum-
mond, (Macgregor) ;

but I have never heard any more
of it. I immediately acquainted Mr. D. with the con-

tents of your letter. The attestation I signed was only
as to his courage and personal bravery, for as to any
thing else, I would be sorry to answer for him, as he
has but an indifferent character as to real honesty."
Stuart Papers.

7
According to the Chevalier Johnstone, (Memoirs,

p. 38,) 1,300 of Cope's men were killed; but Home
states the number as not exceeding 200. He says,

however, in a note, that some accounts of the battle

written by officers in the rebel army, make the num-
ber killed to have been 400 or 500. These last seem
to be nearer the truth.

8 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 41.
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the rear on their right, and the other on their

left, to the north of Preston-house. In retir-

ing towards these outlets, the dragoons, at the

entreaties of their officers, halted once or twice,

and faced about to meet the enemy; but as

soon as the Highlanders came up and fired at

them, they wheeled about and fled. Cope,

who was by no means deficient in personal

courage, assisted by the Earls of Home and

Loudon, collected about 450 of the panic-struck

dragoons on the west side of the village of

Preston, and attempted to lead them back to

the charge; but no entreaties could induce

these cowards to advance, and the whistling of

a few bullets discharged by some Highlanders

near the village, so alarmed them, that they

instantly scampered off in a southerly direc-

tion, screening their heads behind their horses'

necks to avoid the bullets of the Highlanders.

The general had no alternative but to gallop

off with his men. 9 He reached Coldstream, a

town about forty miles from the field of battle,

that night; and entered Berwick next day.

Among six of Cope's officers who were

killed, was Colonel Gardiner, a veteran soldier

who had served under the Duke of Marl-

borough, and whose character combined a

strong religious feeling with the most un-

daunted courage. He had been decidedly

opposed to the defensive system of Cope on

the preceding evening, and had counselled the

general not to lose a moment in attacking the

Highlanders; but his advice was disregarded.

Anticipating the fate which awaited him, he

spent the greater part of the night in devotion,

and resolved at all hazards to perform his duty.

He was wounded at the first onset at the head

of his dragoons ;
but disdaining to follow them

in their retreat, he joined a small body of foot,

which attempted to rally near the wall of his

own garden, and while fighting at their head

9
Report of Cope's examination. The story told by

the Chevalier Johnstone, of Cope's having effected his

escape through the midst of the Highlanders by
mounting a white cockade, seems improbable, as Cope
does not appear to have been in a situation to have

rendered such a step necessary. If any officer made
his escape in the way described, it is likely Colonel

Lascelles was the man. He fell into the hands of the

Highlanders; but in the hurry they were in, contrived

to make his escape eastward, and arrived safe at Ber-

wick. Amid the confusion which prevailed, he might
easily have snatched a cockade from a dead or wounded

Highlander, or procured one for a sum of money.

was cut down by the murderous scythe of a

Macgregor, within a few yards of his own
house. He was carried by a friend to the

manse of Tranent in an almost lifeless state,

where he expired within a few hours, and was

interred in the north-west corner of the church

of Tranent. 1
Captain Brynier of Lee's regi-

ment, who appears to have participated in

Gardiner's opinion as to attacking the High-

landers, met a similar fate. Having been at

the battle of Sheriffmuir, he was satisfied of

the capability of the Highlanders to contend

with regular troops, and dreaded the result of

an encounter if assailed by the Highlanders.

When encamped at Haddington, his brother

Colonel James Gardiner, aged 40. From the painting by
Van Deest (1727).

officers were in high spirits, and making light

of the enemy ;
but Brymer viewed matters in

a very different light.
While reading one

night in his tent he was accosted by Mr.

Congalton of Congalton, his brother-in-law,

who, observing him look pensive and grave,

when all the other officers appeared so cheer-

ful, inquired the reason. Brymer answered

that the Highlanders were not to be despised,

1
Doddridge's Life of Colonel Gardiner.
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and that he was afraid his brother officers

would soon find that they had mistaken the

character of the Highlanders, who would, to a

certainty, attack the royal army, with a bold-

ness which those only who had witnessed their

prowess could have any idea of. These gloomy

forebodings were not the result of an innate

cowardice for this officer was, as he showed,

a brave man but from a well-founded convic-

tion that Cope's men could not stand the onset

of such a body of Highlanders as Charles had

assembled. Brymer was killed, with his face

to the enemy, disdaining to turn his back when

that part of the line where he was stationed

was broken in upon by the Highlanders.
2

The loss on the side of the Highlanders was

trifling. Four officers,
3 and between 30 and 40

privates, were killed; and 5 or 6 officers, and

between 70 and 80 privates, wounded. 4

After the termination of the fight, the field

of battle presented an appalling spectacle,

rarely exhibited in the most bloody conflicts.

As almost all the slain were cut down by the

broadsword and the scythe, the ground was

strewed with legs, arms, hands, noses, and

mutilated bodies, while, from the deep gashes

inflicted by these dreadful weapons, the field

was literally soaked with gore. An instance

of the almost resistless power of the broadsword

occurred when a Highland gentleman, who led

a division, broke through Mackay's regiment:
a grenadier, having attempted to parry off with

his hand a blow made at him by the gentleman
alluded to, had his hand lopped off and his

skull cut above an inch deep. He expired on

the spot.
5

It was a most fortunate circumstance that

the Highlanders, having no revengeful feeling
to gratify on the present occasion, were easily

induced to listen to the dictates of humanity.
After the fury of their onset was abated, they
not only readily gave, but even offered quarter;
and when the action was over, appear to have

displayed an unwonted sympathy for the

8
Home, p. 121.

3 These were Captain Robert Stewart of Ardshiel's
battalion; Captain Archibald Macdonald of Kep-
poch's ; Lieutenant Allan Cameron of Lindevra

;
and

Ensign James Cameron of Lochiel's regiment.4 Account published by the Highland army.
Kirkconnel MS.

5 Caledonian Mercury, 25th September 174o.

wounded. A Highland officer thus exultingly

notices the conduct of his companions in arms.

" Now, whatever notions or sentiments the low

country people may entertain of our High-

landers, this day there were many proofs to a

diligent spectator, amidst all the bloodshed,

(which at the first shock was unavoidable,) of

their humanity and mercy; for I can, with the

strictest truth and sincerity, declare, that 1

often heard our people call out to the soldiers

if they wanted quarter; and we, the officers,

exerted our utmost pains to protect the soldiers

from their first fury, when either through their

stubbornness or want of language they did not

cry for quarters, and I observed some of our

private men run to Port Seton for ale and

other liquors to support the wounded. And
as one proof for all, to my own particular ob-

servation, I saw a Highlander supporting a

poor wounded soldier and carry him on his

back into his house, and left him a sixpence

at parting."
6

In their attentions to the wounded, the

Highlanders had a good example in Charles

himself, who not only issued orders for taking

care of the wounded, but also remained on the

field of battle till mid-day to see that his orders

were fulfilled. Finding the few surgeons he

had carried along with him inadequate to meet

the demands of the wounded, he despatched

one of his officers to Edinburgh to bring out

all the surgeons, who accordingly instantly re-

paired to the field of battle. As the High-
landers felt an aversion to bury the dead, and

as the country people could not be prevailed

upon to assist in the care of the wounded,
7

Charles experienced great obstacles in carrying

through his humane intentions. Writing to

his father, on the evening of the battle, he

thus alludes to them :

"
'Tis hard my victory

should put me under new difficulties which I

did not feel before, and yet this is the case. I

am charged both with the care of my friends

and enemies. Those who should bury the

6 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 491.
7 Lord George Murray says, that when traversing

the field of battle in the afternoon he observed that
some of Cope's men,

" who were the worst wounded,
had not been carried to houses to be dressed; and

though there were several of the country people of that

neighbourhood looking at them, I could not prevail
with them to carry them to houses, but got some of

our people to do it." Jacobite Memoirs, p. 42.
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dead are run away, as if it were no business of

theirs. My Highlanders think it beneath them

to do it, and the country people are fled away.

However, I am determined to try if I can get

people for money to undertake it, for I cannot

bear the thought of suffering Englishmen to

rot above the ground. I am in great difficulties

how I shall dispose of my wounded prisoners.

If I make a hospital of the church, it will be

lookt upon as a great profanation, and of hav-

ing violated my manifesto, in which I promised
to violate no man's property. If the magistrates

would act, they would help me out of this diffi-

culty. Come what will, I am resolved not to

let the poor wounded men lye in the streets,

and if I can do no better, I will make a hospital

of the palace and leave it to them." 8

When congratulating themselves on the vic-

tory they had obtained, the Highlanders re-

lated to each other what they had done or seen.

8 All the wounded privates of both armies were car-

ried to the different villages adjoining the field of

battle. Those of Cope's officers who were dangerously
wounded were lodged in Colonel Gardiner's house,
where surgeons attended them. In the evening, the

remainder, (who had given their parole,) accompanied
by Lord George Murray, went to Musselburgh, where
a house had been provided for their reception. Some
of them walked, but others, who were unable to do so,
had horses provided for them by his lordship. The
house into which they were put was newly finished,
and had neither table, bed, chair, nor grate in it.

Lord George caused some new thrashed straw to be

purchased for beds, and the officers on their arrival

partook of a tolerable meal of cold provisions and some

liquor, which his lordship had carried along with him.
When about to retire, the officers entreated him not to

leave them, as being without a guard, they were afraid

that some of the Highlanders, who were in liquor,

might come in and insult or plunder them. Lord

George consented, and lay on a floor by them all night.
Some of the officers, who were valetudinary, slept that

night in the house of the minister. Next day, after

the departure of the prince for Edinburgh, the officers

had quarters provided for them in Pinkie-house. The
other prisoners, privates, were quartered in Mussel-

burgh and the gardens of Pinkie for two nights, and
were afterwards removed, along with the officers, to

Edinburgh. The latter were confined for a few days
in Queensberry-house, when they were released on

parole, and allowed to reside in the city, on condition
that they should hold no communication with the
castle. The privates were confined in the church and

jail of the Canongate. Such of the wounded as could
be removed were put into the Royal Infirmary, where

great care was taken of them. One of the officers hav-

ing broke his parole by going into the castle, the others

were sent to Perth. The privates were removed to

Logierait in Athole; and the wounded were dismissed
as they recovered, on taking an oath that they should
not carry arms against the prince before the 1st of

January, 1747. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 42. Lockhart

Papers, vol. ii. p. 451. Caledonian Mercury.

Instances were given of individual prowess
Avhich might appear incredible, were it not

well-known that when fear seizes an army all

confidence in themselves or their numbers is

completely destroyed. On this occasion " the

panic -terror of the English surpassed all

imagination. They threw down their arms

that they might run with more speed, thus de-

priving themselves by their fears of the only
means of arresting the vengeance of the High-
landers. Of so many, in a condition from

their numbers to preserve order in their retreat,

not one thought of defending himself. Terror

had taken entire possession of their minds." 9

Of the cases mentioned, one was that of a

young Highlander about fourteen years of age,

scarcely formed, who was presented to the

prince as a prodigy, having, it was said, killed

fourteen of the enemy. Charles asking him if

this was true, he replied,
" I do not know if I

killed them, but I brought fourteen soldiers to

the ground with my sword." Another instance

was that of a Highlander, who brought ten

soldiers, whom he had made prisoners, to the

prince, driving them before him like a flock of

sheep. With unexampled rashness, he had

pursued a party of Cope's men to some distance

from the field of battle, along a road between

two inclosures, and striking down the hinder-

most man of the party with a blow of his sword,

called aloud at the same time,
" Down with

your arms." The soldiers, terror-struck, com-

plied with the order without looking behind

them; and the Highlander, with a pistol in

one hand and a sword in the other, made them

do as he pleased. Yet, as the Chevalier John-

stone observes, these were " the same English

soldiers who had distinguished themselves at

Dettingen and Fontenoy, and who might justly

be ranked amongst the bravest troops of

Europe."
1

After doing every thing in his power for the

relief of the wounded of both armies, and giv-

ing directions for the disposal of his prisoners,

Charles partook of a small repast upon the

field of battle, and thereafter proceeded to

Pinkie House, a seat of the Marquis of Tweed-

dale, where he passed the night.

!l Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 93.
1

Idem, p. 40.
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Colonel Gardiner's House, near Prestonpans.

CHAPTER XXXIT.

A. i). 1745.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 17271760.

Charles returns to Holyrood State of public feeling
Charles resolves to remain at Edinburgh Measures

taken to increase the army Charles's proceedings
at Edinburgh Blockade of the Castle Disorder

in the city Blockade removed Exertions of Lord
President Forbes Arrival of reinforcements at

Edinburgh Charles issues a second manifesto

Arrival of supplies from France and detachment
from the north Charles resolves to invade England

Preparations Deportment of Charles at Holy-
rood Declaration of the Highland army Prepara-
tions of the government Kiot at Perth on the

King's birth-day.

ON the evening of Sunday the 22d of Septem-

ber, the day after the battle of Preston or

Gladsmuir, as that affair is named by the High-

landers, Charles returned to Holyrood House,
and was received by a large concourse of the

inhabitants, who had assembled round the

palace, with the loudest acclamations. His

return to the capital had been preceded by a

large portion of his army, which, it is said,

made a considerable display as it marched up
the long line of street, leading from the Water-

gate to the castle, amid the din of a number
of bagpipes, and carrying along with it the

enemy's standards, and other trophies of vic-

tory which it had taken upon the field.

Apprehensive that the alarm, which Cope's
disaster would excite in the city, might obstruct

the public worsn.p on the Sunday, Charles

had sent messengers on the evening of the

battle, to the dwelling-houses of the different

ministers, desiring them to continue their min-

istrations as usual; but although the church

bells were tolled at the customary hour next

morning, and the congregations assembled, one

only of the city clergymen appeared, all the

rest having retired to the country. The minis-

ter who thus distinguished himself among his

brethren on this occasion was a Mr. Hog,

morning lecturer in the Tron church. The

two clergymen of the neighbouring parish of

St. Cuthbert's, Messrs. Macvicar and Pitcairn,

also continued to preach as usual, and many
inhabitants of the city went to hear them. No

way dismayed by the presence of the Highland

army, they continued to pray as usual for King

George ;
and Mr. Macvicar even went so far

in his prayers, as to express a hope that God

would take Charles to himself, and that instead

of an earthly crown, he would "
give him a

crown of glory." Charles is said to have

laughed heartily on being informed of Mr.

Macvicar's concern for his spiritual welfare.

To induce the ministers to return to their duty,

the prince issued a proclamation on Monday,

repeating the assurances he had so often given

them, that no interruption should be given to

public worship ;
but that, on the contrary, all

concerned should be protected. This intima-

tion, however, had no effect upon the fugitive
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ministers, who, to the great scandal of their

flocks, deserted their charges during the whole

time the Highlanders occupied the city.

In the first moments of victory, Charles felt

a gleam of joy, which for a time excluded

reflection
;
but when, after retiring from the

battle-field, he began to ruminate over the

events of the day, and to consider that it was

British blood that had been spilt, if we can

trust his own words, his spirit sunk within

him. " If I had obtained this victory," says

he to his father, in the letter already quoted,
" over foreigners, my joy would have been

complete ;
but as it is over Englishmen, it has

thrown a damp upon it that I little imagined.

The men I have defeated were your majesty's

enemies, it is true, but they might have become

your friends and dutiful subjects when they
had got their eyes opened to see the true interest

of their country, which you mean to save, not

to destroy." For these reasons he was un-

willing that the victory should be celebrated

by any public manifestation, and on being
informed that many of the inhabitants of Edin-

burgh intended to testify their joy on the occa-

sion by some public act, the prince, in the

same proclamation which enjoined the clergy-

men to return to their charges, prohibited
"
any outward demonstrations of public joy."

The news of the prince's victory was received

every where, by the Jacobites, with the most

unbounded delight. Unable any longer to

conceal their real sentiments, they now publicly

avowed them, and like their predecessors, the

cavaliers, indulged in deep potations to the

health of "the king" and the prince. But

this enthusiasm was not confined to the Jacob-

ites alone. Many persons whose political creed

was formerly doubtful, now declared unequivo-

cally in favour of the cause of the prince ;

whilst others, whose sentiments were formerly

in favour of the government, openly declared

themselves converts to an order of things which

they now considered inevitable. In short,

throughout the whole of Scotland the tide of

public opinion was completely changed in

favour of the Stuarts. The fair sex, especially,

displayed an ardent attachment to the person

and cause of the prince, and contributed not

a little to bring about the change in public

feeling alluded to. Duncan Forbes has well

described this strong revolution in public feel-

ing.
" All Jacobites, how prudent soever,

became mad
;
all doubtful people became Jacob-

ites
;
and all bankrupts became heroes, and

talked of nothing but hereditary rights and

victory ;
and what was more grievous to men of

gallantry, and if you will believe me, much

more mischievous to the public, all the fine

ladies, if you will except one or two, became

passionately fond of the young Adventurer,

and used all their arts and industry for him

in the most intemperate manner." 2

In England the news of the prince's vic-

tory created a panic, causing a run upon
the bank, which would have been fatal to

that establishment, had not the principal mer-

chants entered into an association to support

public credit by receiving the notes of the

bank in payment.
3 Scotchmen were every-

where looked upon with distrust by their south-

ern neighbours, and the most severe reflections

were indulged in against the Scottish nation.

Sir Andrew Mitchell, writing to President

Forbes, notices with deep regret this feeling

against his countrymen: "The ruin of my
country, and the disgrace and shame to which

it is, and will continue to be, exposed, have

affected me to that degree, that I am hardly

master of myself. Already every man of our

country is looked on as a traitor, as one secretly

inclined to the Pretender, and waiting but an

opportunity to declare. The guilty and the

innocent are confounded together, and the

crimes of a few imputed to the whole nation." 4

Again,
" I need not describe to you the effects

the surrender of Edinburgh, and the progress

the rebels made, had upon this country. I

wish I could say that they were confined to

the lower sort of people; but I must fairly own

that their betters were as much touched as

they. The reflections were national; and it

was too publicly said that all Scotland were

Jacobites
;
the numbers of the rebels and their

adherents were magnified for this purpose; and

he that in the least diminished them was called

a secret Jacobite?'
' 5

Elated by the news of the victory of Preston,

a party of armed Highlanders entered Aberdeen

on the 25th of September, seized the provost,

2 Culloden Papers, p. 250.
4

Id., p. 426.

3
Id., p. 227.

5
Id., p. 253.



568 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

and carrying him to the cross, held their

drawn swords over his head, till they pro-

claimed the Chevalier de St. George. They

then requested him to drink the health of " the

king," but having refused to do so, they threw

a glass of wine into his breast. Not wishingO

to have his loyalty put a second time to such

a severe test, the provost left the city, not

thinking himself safe, as he observes,
" in the

way of those who had used him in so unreason-

able and odd a manner." 6

"With the exception of the castles of Edin-

burgh and Stirling, and a few insignificant forts,

the whole of Scotland may be said to have

been now in possession of the victor. Having
no longer an enemy to combat in North Britain,

Charles turned his eyes to England; but against

the design which he appears to have contem-

plated, of an immediate march into that king-

dom, several very serious objections occurred.

If the prince could have calculated on a general

rising in England in his favour, his advance

into that kingdom with a victorious army,
before the government recovered from the con-

sternation into which it had been thrown by
the recent victory, would have been a wise

course of policy; but it would have been ex-

tremely rash, without an absolute assurance of

extensive support from the friends of the cause

in England, to have entered that kingdom with

the small army which fought at Gladsmuir, and

which, instead of increasing, was daily diminish-

ing, by the return of some of the Highlanders
to their homes, according to custom, with the

spoils they had collected. There were indeed,

among the more enthusiastic of the prince's ad-

visers, some who advocated an immediate in-

cursion into England ;
but by far the greater part

thought the army too small for such an under-

taking. These urged that although the suc-

cess which had attended their arms would cer-

tainly engage a number of friends, who either

had not hitherto had an opportunity of joining,
or had delayed doing so, because they saw little

or no appearance of success, yet it was prudent
to wait for such aid, that French succours

might now be depended upon, since the prince
had given convincing proofs of his having a

party in Scotland, that, at any rate, it was

6 Culloden Papers, p. 420.

better to remain some little time at Edinburgh,
till they saw what prospects there were of suc-

cess, and that in the mean time the army would

be getting stronger by reinforcements which

were expected from the north, and would be

better modelled and accoutred. The latter

opinion prevailed, and Charles resolved to

make some stay in Edinburgh.
7

Alluding to this resolution, Mr. Maxwell

observes,
" Those who judge of things only by

the event, will condemn this measure, and

decide positively that if the prince had marched

on from the field of battle, he would have car-

ried all before him. As the prince's affairs

were ruined in the end, it is natural to wish he

had done any thing else than what he did.

Things could hardly have turned out worse,

and there was a possibility of succeeding. But

to judge fairly of the matter, we must have no

regard to what happened, but consider what

was the most likely to happen. The prince

had but 3,000 men at the battle, where he had

100 at least killed and wounded. He might
reckon upon losing some hundreds more, who
would go home with the booty they had got,

so that he could not reckon upon more than

2,500 men to follow him into England, where

he had no intelligence, nor hopes of being

joined, nor resource in case of a misfortune.

But what would the world have said of such

an attempt had it miscarried!" 8

According to the Chevalier Johnstone,
9 the

prince was advised by his friends, that as the

whole of the towns of Scotland had been

obliged to recognise him as regent of the king-

dom, in the absence of his father, his chief

object should be to endeavour by every possible

means to secure himself in the government of

Scotland; and to defend himself against the

English armies, which would be sent against

him, without attempting for the present to

extend his views to England. There were

others who strongly advised Charles to annul

the union between Scotland and England, as

an act made during the usurpation of Queen

Anne, by a cabal of a few Scotch peers, and to

summon a Scottish parliament, to meet at

Edinburgh, to impose taxes in a legal manner,
and obtain supplies for his army. This party

7 Kirkconnel MS. 8 Id. 9
Memoirs, p. 45.
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assured the prince that these steps would give

great pleasure to all Scotland, and that the

tendency of them would be to renew the an-

cient discord between the two countries, and

that the war would thereby be made national :

they informed him, that, so far from being

prepared to run an immense risk, for the sake

of acquiring England, they wished for nothing
more than to see him seated on the throne of

Scotland. As the chief object of his ambition,

however, was to obtain the crown of England,
he rejected the proposal made to him, to con-

fine his views to Scotland.

As soon as it was determined to remain in

Scotland till the army should be reinforced,

every measure was adopted that could tend to

increase it. Letters were despatched to the

Highlands, and other parts of Scotland, con-

taining the news of the victory, and urging im-

mediate aid; and messengers were sent to

France to represent the state of the prince's

affairs, and to solicit succours from that court.

Officers were appointed to beat up for recruits,

and every inducement was held out to the

prisoners taken at Preston to join the insur-

gents. Many of these, accordingly, enlisted in

the prince's army, and were of considerable

service in drilling recruits, but before the

Highland army left Edinburgh, almost the

whole of them had deserted, and joined their

former companions at Berwick. 1 The princi-

pal person selected by Charles to go to the

Highlands, on the present occasion, was Mr.

Alexander Macleod, a gentleman of the Scottish

bar, who carried along with him a paper of in-

structions, dated the 24th of September, and

signed by secretary Murray.
2 By these in-

structions, Macleod was directed forthwith to

proceed to the Isle of Skye, to assure Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald, and the laird of Macleod,

and other gentlemen of their names, that the

prince did not impute their not having hitherto

joined him, to any failure of loyalty or zeal on

their part, for his father's cause; but to the

private manner in which he had arrived in

Scotland, which was from a desire to restore

his royal father without foreign assistance

that he was ready still to receive them with

the same affection he would have welcomed

1 Home, p. 120.
2
Appendix to Home's Rebellion, No. xxviii.

them, had they joined him on his landing,

and that as they well knew the dispositions of

the Highlanders, and their inclination to return

home after a battle, they would be sensible

how necessary it was to recruit the army with

a strong body of men from their country. After

giving them these assurances. Macleod was

directed to require of these chiefs to repair with

all possible speed with their men to Edinburgh,
where they should be furnished with arms. In

case they were found refractory, Macleod was

directed to use all proper means with the

gentlemen of their different families, to bring
them to the field with as many followers as

possible, that to encourage them to take up
arms, he was to acquaint them that the prince

had received undoubted assurances of support
from France and Spain, that the Earl

Marischal was expected to land in Scotland

with a body of troops, that the Duke of

Ormond was also expected in England, with

the Irish brigade, and a large quantity of arms,

ammunition, and money, and that before

passing the Forth, he had received letters from

the Spanish ministry, and the Duke of Bouillon,

containing positive assurances of aid. In con-

clusion, Macleod was ordered to assure these

gentlemen that the encouragement and favour

which would be shown them, if they joined the

prince's standard, would be in proportion to their

loyalty and the backwardness of their chiefs.

He was likewise directed to send for the chief

of Mackinnon, and to tell him that the prince

was much surprised that one who had given

such solemn assurances, as Mackinnon had

done, to join him, with all the men he could

collect, should have failed in his promise. As

Macleod of Swordland, in Glenelg, who had

visited the prince in Glenfinnan, had there en-

gaged to seize the fort of Bernera, and to join

Charles with a hundred men, whether his chief

joined or not, the messenger was instructed to

ask him why he had not fulfilled his engage-

ment. The result of this mission will be sub-

sequently noticed.

Seated in the palace of his ancestors, Charles,

as Prince Eegent, continued to discharge the

functions of royalty, by exercising every act of

sovereignty, with this difference only between

him and his rival in St. James's, that while

King George could only raise troops and levy
4 o
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money by act of parliament, Charles, by his

own authority, not only ordered regiments to

be raised for his service, and troops of horse-

guards to be levied for the defence of his per-

son, but also imposed taxes at pleasure. To

give eclat to his proceedings, and to impress

upon the minds of the people, by external acts,

the appearances of royalty, he held a levee

every morning in Holyrood- house, and ap-

pointed a council which met every morning at

ten o'clock, after the levee was over. This

council comprised the Duke of Perth and

Lord George Murray, the lieutenant-generals

of the army, O'Sullivan, the quarter-master-

general, Lord Pitsligo, Lord Elcho, Sir Thomas

Sheridan, Secretary Murray, and all the High-

land chiefs. 3

As nothing could injure his cause more in

the eyes of the people than acts of oppression

on the part of his troops, one of Charles's first

acts after his return to Edinburgh, was to issue

an edict granting protection to the inhabitants

of the city and the vicinity, in their persons

and properties; but farmers, living within five

miles of Edinburgh, were required, before being

entitled to the protection, to appear at the

secretary's office, in Holyrood-house, and grant

bond that they should be ready, on twelve

hours' notice, to furnish the prince with horses

for carrying the baggage of his army to Berwick-

upon-Tweed, or a similar distance, according to

their plowgates. By another proclamation put
forth the same day, viz. the 23d of September,
he denounced death or such other punishment
as a court-martial should order to be inflicted

on any soldier or person connected with his

army, who should be guilty of forcibly taking
from " the good people of Edinburgh," or of

the country, any of their goods without a fair

equivalent to the satisfaction of the parties.

These orders were in general scrupulously at-

tended to, though, in some instances, irregular-

ities were committed, under the pretence of

searching for arms. The greater part, however,
were the acts of persons who, though they wore
the white cockade, did not belong to the army.

Besides the clergymen of the city, a consid-

erable number of the volunteers had deserted

their homes in dread of punishment for having

3
Home, p. 124.

taken up arms. To induce these, as well as

the ministers of the city, to return, Charles

issued a proclamation on the 24th of September,

granting a full pardon to all or such of them,

as should, within twenty days after the publi-

cation thereof, present themselves to Secretary

Murray, or to any other member of the council,

at Holyrood-house, or at such other place as

the prince might be at the time. A few vol-

unteers only took advantage of this offer.

When the Highland army first approached

the city, the directors of the two banks then

existing, had removed all their money and notes

to the castle, Tinder the apprehension that the

prince would appropriate them to his own use.

As great inconvenience was felt in the city by
the removal of the banks, Charles issued a pro-

clamation on the 25th of September, in which,

after disclaiming any intention to seize the

funds belonging to the banks, he invited them

to resume their business in the city, pledging

himself to protect them. He declared that the

money lodged in the banks should be free from

any exactions on his part ;
and that he himself

would contribute to the re-establishment of

public credit, by receiving and issuing the

notes of the banks in payment. The banks,

however, declined to avail themselves of the

prince's offer
;
but when applied to for money

in exchange for a large quantity of their notes

in possession of the Highland army, the direc-

tors answered the demand.

As the wants of his army were many, the

next object of the prince's solicitude was to

provide against them. Anxious as he was to

conciliate all classes of the people, he had no

alternative on the present occasion, but to as-

sess the burghs of Scotland, in sums propor-

tionate to the duties of excise drawn from them.

He accordingly sent letters, dated the 30th of

September, to all the chief magistrates of the

burghs, ordering them, under pain of being

considered rebel, to repair, upon receipt, to

Holyrood-house, to get the contributions to be

paid by their respective burghs ascertained, and

for payment of which, he promised to assign

the duties of excise. For immediate use, he

compelled the city of Edinburgh, on pain of

military execution, to furnish his army with

1,000 tents, 2,000 targets, 6,000 pair of shoes,

and other articles, to the value of upwards of
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15,000, to liquidate which, a tax of 2s. 6d.

per pound was laid on the city, and in the

Canongate and Leith. From the city of Glas-

gow he demanded 15,000, a sum which was

compromised by a prompt payment of 5,500.

The prince, at the same time, despatched letters

to the collectors of the land-tax, the collectors

and comptrollers of the customs and excise, and

to the factors upon the estates forfeited in the

former insurrection, requiring all of them, upon

receipt, to repair to Holyrood-house with their

books, and to pay such balances as might ap-

pear upon examination to be in their hands,

the first and last classes, under the pain of re-

bellion and military execution, and the second

class, besides the last-mentioned penalty, under

the pain of high-treason. Charles, at the same

time, seized all the smuggled goods in the cus-

tom-houses of Leith and other sea-ports, which

being sold, yielded him 7,000. Besides the

exactions from public bodies, he compelled
several of the nobility and gentry in the neigh-

bourhood of Edinburgh to supply him with

considerable quantities of hay and oats. Par-

ties of Highlanders were sent to the seats of

the Dukes of Hamilton and Douglas, and the

Earl of Hoptoun, to carry off arms and horses.

From the last mentioned noblemen they took

nearly 100 horses. 4

For some days after the Highlanders resumed

possession of Edinburgh, a sort of tacit under-

standing existed between the garrison and them,

under which the communication between the

castle and the city continued open. A guard
of Highlanders was posted at the Weigh-house,
an old square building, which stood at the head

of West Bow, at the distance of a few hundred

yards from the fortress. This guard allowed

provisions of every description to pass, particu-

larly for the use of the officers
;
and matters

might have remained for some time in this qui-

escent state, to the great comfort of the inhabi-

tants, had not the garrison one night, most

unaccountably fired off some cannon and small

arms in the direction of the West Port. In

consequence, it is believed, of this breach of

the implied armistice, orders were given to the

guards, on the 29th of September, to block up
all the avenues leading to the castle, and allow

4 Marchant's History of the Rebellion, p. 113.

Boyse, [>.
91.

no person to pass. On being made acquainted

with this order, General Guest sent a letter, in

the evening, addressed to the Lord Provost,

intimating, that unless the communication be-

tween the castle and the city was renewed, and

the blockade removed, he would be obliged to

dislodge the Highland guards with his cannon,

and bombard the city. Nothing could be

more unreasonable and absurd than this threat.

Though willing, the citizens had it not in their

power, either to keep up the communication

with the castle, or to take off the blockade, and

though they were as unable to remove the

Highlanders from the city
"
as to remove the

city itself out of its seat,"
5 or prevent them

from acting as they pleased, yet the citizens

would be the only sufferers in the event of a

bombardment; for the Highlanders, if the city

were destroyed, would only be obliged to change
their quarters, and neither the destruction of

the one, nor the removal of the other, could be

of any service to the castle. These views were

represented to the governor by a deputation
from the city; but Guest remained inflexible,

and pleaded in his justification a peremptory

order, which he said he had received from the

king himself, and which left him no discretion.

At the earnest solicitation of the inhabitants,

Guest was prevailed upon to grant a respite for

one night. Next morning, six deputies waited

on the prince, at the palace, with General Guest's

letter, which was in reality intended for him.

After perusing the letter, Charles returned an

answer immediately to the deputies in writing,

in which he expressed surprise at the barbarity

of the orders from the castle, at a time when
it was admitted, that the garrison had six weeks

provisions on hand, that, in pleading, as Guest

had done, the directions of " the Elector of

Hanover," as an excuse, it was evident, that

the Elector did not consider the inhabitants of

Edinburgh as his subjects, otherwise he would

not have made a demand upon them which

they could not fulfil, and that, should he, the

prince, out of compassion to the citizens, com-

ply with the extravagant demand now made,
he might as well quit the city at once, and

abandon all the advantages he had obtained,

that, if any mischief should befall the city, he

8 Kirkcomiel MS.
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would take particular care to indemnify the

inhabitants for their loss, and that, in the

meantime, if forced by the threatened bar-

barity, he would make reprisals upon the estates

of the officers in the castle, and also upon all

who were " known to be open abettors of the

German government."

This letter was laid before a meeting of the

inhabitants, who sent deputies with it to

General Guest. After some altercation, he

agreed to suspend hostilities till the return of

an express from London, on condition that the

Highland army should, in the mean time, make

no attempt upon the castle. This condition

was, however, infringed by the Highlanders,

who, on the following day, discharged some

musket shots with the intention, it is supposed,

of frightening some persons who were carrying

up provisions to the castle. General Guest,

considering that he was no longer restrained

from executing his threat, immediately opened

a fire upon the guard stationed at the Weigh-

house, by which some houses were damaged
and two persons wounded. Charles retaliated

by issuing a proclamation next day, in which

he prohibited all correspondence with the

castle, under pain of death. This proclama-

tion was followed by an order to strengthen

the blockade, by posting additional guards at

several places about the castle. To revenge

this step the garrison fired at every Highlander

they could discover from the battlements, and,

by this reckless proceeding, killed and wounded

several of the inhabitants. A daring exploit

was performed at the same time by a soldier,

who slipped down from the castle, set fire to a

house in Livingston's yards, where a guard
was posted, and after shooting one of the

guards dead upon the spot, returned safe to

the fortress. Shortly after this occurrence a

party sallied out from the castle, killed some

of the guards stationed at the same place, took

an officer and a few prisoners, and put the rest

to flight.

Meanwhile General Guest sent a message to

the city, intimating that he meant to demolish

the houses where the guards were posted, but

that care would be taken to do as little damage
as possible to the city. Accordingly, on the

4th of October, about two o'clock in the after-

noon, a cannonade was opened from the half-

moon battery, near the Castle-gate, which was

kept up till the evening. When it.grew dark

the garrison made a sally, and set fire to a

foundry and a house on the Castle-hill which

had been deserted. They then dug a trench

fourteen feet broad, and sixteen feet deep,

across the Castle-hill, about half-way between

the gate and the houses on the Castle-hill, and

along the parapet made by the earth taken

from the trench on the side next the castle,

they posted 200 men, who discharged some

cartridge shot down the street, killing and

wounding some of the inhabitants. The bom-

bardment was resumed next day, with more

disastrous effect. No person could with safety

appear on the High-street, as the shots from

the Castle-hill penetrated- as far down as the

head of the old Flesh-market close, and shat-

tered several houses. At first, some of the

better informed among the citizens were dis-

posed to regard the threat of bombardment as

a mere device to induce the prince to discon-

tinue the blockade, as they could not bring

themselves to believe that the government
could have been guilty of issuing the barbarous

order alluded to by the governor of the castle
;

but the inhabitants in general entertained

more correct views, and before the cannonade

commenced, the streets were crowded with

women and children running towards the gates,

in great confusion, while many of the citizens

were to be seen carrying their most valuable

effects out of the city. During the two days
that the cannonade lasted, viz., the 4th and

5th of October, the utmost dismay prevailed

among the inhabitants, and multitudes of them

left the city, without knowing whither to flee

or where to look for shelter.

To put an end to this disastrous state of

affairs Charles issued a proclamation on the

evening of the 5th of October, removing the

blockade. In this document he stated that it

was with the greatest regret that he was hourly

informed of the many murders which were

committed upon the innocent inhabitants of

the city, by the inhuman commanders and

garrison of the castle, a practice contrary, he

observed, to all the laws of war, to the truce

granted to the city, and even exceeding the

orders which the government, it was alleged, had

given upon the occasion, that he might have,
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as he had threatened, justly chastised those

who had been instrumental in the ruin of the

capital, by reprisals upon the estates and for-

tunes of the supporters of the government ;

but as he thought it noways derogatory to the

glory of a prince, to suspend punishment, or

alter a resolution, if, by such a course, he could

save the lives of innocent men, he had allowed

his humanity to yield to the barbarity of the

common enemy. This proclamation was fol-

lowed by a cessation of the cannonade
;
but the

garrison still continued to fire occasionally at

the Highlanders whenever they made their

appearance in the neighbourhood of the castle.

The object of Guest, according to Mr. Home,
in thus annoying the town, and provoking the

Highlanders, was not to secure a supply of

provisions, of which he had already an abun-

dance, but to prevent them from inarching

into England, by keeping them occupied in the

siege of the castle. To deceive Charles, he

wrote in the beginning of the week following

the battle of Preston, several letters to the

Duke of Newcastle, one of the secretaries of

state, acquainting him that there was but a

very small stock of provisions in the castle of

Edinburgh, that he would be obliged to sur-

render, if not immediately relieved, .and recom-

mending that any troops sent to his relief,

should be forwarded by sea, to Berwick or

Newcastle, for the sake of despatch. These

letters, which were intended for the perusal of

Charles, were sent so that they might fall into

his hands; but lest any of them might find

their way to London, Guest sent a letter to the

Duke of Newcastle, by a sure conveyance,

giving him an account of the real state of the

garrison, and informing him of the deception

he was endeavouring to practise upon the

Highlanders.
5

Whilst the adherents of Charles in the High-
lands and the northern Lowlands were exert-

ing all their energies to collect reinforcements,

Lord-president Forbes was using all his influ-

ence to prevent the chiefs of doubtful loyalty

from committing themselves with the govern-

ment. To induce them to arm in its support

after the success which had attended the

prince's arms, was what he could scarcely have

6
Home, p. 127.

expected; but by persuasion, and by pointing

out in forcible terms the ruin which would be-

fall them and their families, should the prince

fail in his enterprise, he succeeded in making
them at first to waver, and finally to abandon

any design they may have entertained, of join-

ing the prince. Among others who appear to

have vacillated between two opinions, and in

their perplexity to have alternately changed
their minds, was Macleod of Macleod. This

chief, influenced probably by the solicitations of

his clansman, who had been sent to him on the

mission before alluded to, attended a meeting
of gentlemen of the name of Fraser, convened

by Lord Lovat at Beaufort, or Castle Downie,
as that seat of the chief of the Frasers was

sometimes called, on Friday the 4th of October,

and was despatched the following day to Skye,

having engaged to join the Frasers with his

men at Corriearrick on the 15th;
6 but on ad-

vising with his friend Sir Alexander Mac-

donald, he resolved to stay at home. 7

In neutralizing the efforts of the disaffected

clans, and dissuading others of doubtful loyalty

from joining the ranks of the insurgents, Pre-

sident Forbes had difficulties to contend with,

which few men could have overcome, but

which he finally surmounted by that firmness,

zeal, and indomitable perseverance, which dis-

tinguished him among all his political contem-

poraries. At its commencement, Forbes treated

the insurrection very lightly. Before his de-

parture for the north, he considered the pros-

pect of affairs very flattering, and that the

object of his journey had no appearance of

difficulty; but the alteration in public feeling,

consequent on the battle of Preston, changed
the scene. Instead of finding the ready sup-

port he anticipated from the professed adherents

of the government, he saw himself, to use his

own words,
" almost alone, without troops,

without arms, without money or credit
; pro-

vided with no means to prevent extreme folly,

except pen and ink, a tongue and some reputa-

tion; and, if you will except Macleod, whom
I sent for from the Isle of Skye, supported by

nobody of common sense or courage."
8 The

successes of the insurgents had, he observes,
" blown up the spirit of mutiny to such a pitch,

6 Home, p. 327. 7 Lovat's Trial, p. 138.
8 Culloden Papers, p. 250.
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that nothing was heard of but caballing, and

gathering together of men in the neighbour-

hood : every petty head of a tribe, who was in

any degree tinged with Jacobitism, or desperate

in his circumstances, assembled his kindred,

and made use of the most mutinous, to drag

the most peaceable out of their beds, and to

force others to list by threatening destruction

to their cattle and other effects ;
whilst we

were unable to give them any assistance or pro-

tection." 9
Exasperated at the president for

the exertions he made to obstruct the designs

of the disaffected, a plan was formed for seizing

him by some of the Erasers, a party of whom,

amounting to about 200 men, accordingly

made an attack upon the house of Culloden

during the night between the 15th and 16th

of October; but the president being upon his

guard, they were repulsed.
1 The apprehension

of such an important personage would have

been of greater service to the Jacobite cause

than the gaining of a battle.

Confiding in the loyalty and discretion of

President Forbes, the ministry had, at the sug-

gestion of the Earl of Stair, sent down to the

president, early in September, twenty commis-

sions, for raising as many independent com-

panies in the Highlands for the service of the

government. The names of the officers were

left blank in the commissions, that the pre-

sident might distribute them among such of

the well-affected clans as he might think pro-

per. The plan which his lordship laid down

for himself, in disposing of these commissions,

was to distribute them among the clans who
adhered to the government in the former in-

surrection, without neglecting such other clans,

who, though then opposed to the government,

had, on the present occasion, shown an unwill-

ingness to join the Jacobite standard. To

raise the companies, which were fixed at 100

men each, as quickly as possible, the president

resolved to leave the nomination of the officers

to the chiefs of the clans, out of whom they
were to be raised. 2 He accordingly despatched
letters to the Earls of Sutherland and Cromarty,
Lords Eeay and Fortrose, Sir Alexander Mac-

donald, the lairds of Macleod and Grant, and

other chiefs, requesting each of them to raise a

company out of their respective clans, most of

whom accordingly proceeded to enrol their

men; but from the want of money and arms,

only two companies were completed before the

end of October, and several months expired
before the whole Avere fully formed and drawn

together.
3

9 Culloden Papers, p. 246. 1 Idem. 2
Idem, p. 404.

3 The following is a list of the officers of eighteen of the independent companies, being the whole number
raised, with the dates of the delivery of their commissions on the completion of their companies, and of their
arrival at Inverness:

Captains.

1. George Monro,
2. Alexander Gun,
3. Patrick Grant,
4. George Maekay,
5. Peter Sutherland,
6. John Macleod,
7. Normand Macleod of Water.stein,
8. Normand Macleod of Bernera,
9. Donald Macdonald,

10. William Mackintosh,
11. Hugh Macleod,
12. Alexander Mackenzie,
13. Colin Mackenzie of Hilton,
14. James Macdonald,
15. John Macdonald,
16. Hugh Maekay,
17. William Hoss,
18. Colin Mackenzie,

Lieutenants.

Adam Gordon,
John Gordon,
William Grant,
John Maekay,
William Maekay,
Alexander Macleod,
Donald Macleod,
John Campbell,
William Macleod,
Kenneth Mathison,

George Monro,
John Mathison,
Alexander Campbell,
Allan Macdonald,
Allan Macdonald,
John Maekay,
Charles Ross,
Donald Mackaulav,

Ensigns.

Hugh Monro,
Kenneth Sutherland,
James Grant,
James Maekay,
John Maekay,
John Macaskill,
John Macleod,
John Macleod,
Donald Macleod,
William Baillie,

Roderick Macleod,
Simon Murchison,
John Macrae,
James Macdonald,
Donald Macdonald,
Angus Maekay,
David Ross,
Kenneth Mackenzie,

Dates of completing the companies,
and of their arrival at Inverness.

1745, Oct. 23d.

25th.

Nov. 3d.

4th.

8th.

loth.

1. TheMonros.
2 and 5. The Earl of Sutherland's men.
3. The Grants.
4 and 16. The Maekays.

6, 7, 8, and 9. The Macleods, under the laird of
Macleod.

10. A company raised in the town of Inverness.

18th.

28th.

Dec. 20th.

- 31st.

1746, Jan. 6th.

8th.

Feb. 2d.

Culloden Papers.

11. The Macleods of Assint. raised by Captain Mac-
leod of Geanies.

12 and 13. The Mackenzies of Kintail.

14 and 15. The Macdonalds of Skye.
17. The Rosses.

18. The Mackenzies of Lewis.
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If the majority of the people of Scotland

had been favourably disposed to the cause of

the Stuarts, they had now an opportunity of

displaying their attachment to the representa-

tive of their ancient monarchs, by declaring for

the prince; but Charles soon found that, with

the exception of the Highlands, and a few dis-

tricts north of the Tay, where catholicity and

non-juring episcopacy still retained a footing,

the rest of Scotland was not disposed to join

a contest for legitimacy, which they might

imagine would not, if successful, strengthen

the liberties of the nation, and might possibly

impair them. The regular line of hereditary

succession had been departed from, and it did

not seem wise after a trial of fifty-seven years,

during which period the political frame and

texture of society had undergone a complete

revolution, to place the succession on its original

footing, by restoring the son of James II.

The Jacobites, however, imbued with ideas of

indefeasible hereditary right, were deaf to every

argument founded on expediency or the will

of the nation, and contended that every de-

parture from the direct line of succession was

a usurpation, and contrary to the divine law.

No sovereign was, therefore, held by them as

legitimate, while there existed a nearer heir to

the crown in the direct line of succession; but

they did not reflect that, upon this principle,

there was scarcely a legitimate sovereign in

Europe.

Among the Lowland Jacobites who displayed

the greatest zeal on the present occasion, was

Lord Ogilvy, eldest son of the Earl of Airly,

who joined the prince at Edinburgh on the 3d

of October with a regiment of 600 men, chiefly

from the county of Forfar, where his father's

estates were situated. Most of the officers of

the regiment were either of the Airly family,

or bore the name of Ogilvy. Lord Ogilvy was

followed by old Gordon of Glenbucket, an

equally zealous supporter of the Stuarts, who
arrived at Edinburgh next day with a body of

400 men, which he had collected in Strathdon,

Strathaven, Glenlivet, and Auchindoun. Glen-

bucket had been a major-general in Mar's army,
in 1715; but he now contented himself with

the colonelcy of the regiment he had just raised,

of which he made his eldest son lieutenant-

colonel, and his younger sons captains, while

the other commissions were held by his rela-

tions or personal friends. On the 9th of Octo-

ber, Lord Pitsligo also joined the prince. He
was accompanied by a considerable number of

gentlemen from the counties of Aberdeen and

Banff, with their servants, all well armed and

mounted. These formed an excellent corps of

cavalry. He also brought with him a small

body of infantry. Lord Pitsligo, though pos-

sessed of a moderate fortune, had great influ-

ence with the gentlemen of the counties above

named, by whom he was beloved and greatly

esteemed, and having great reliance on his

judgment and discretion, they did not hesitate,

when he declared himself in favour of the

prince, to put themselves under his command.

Having been informed that there were many
persons, who, from infirmity and other causes,

were unable to join him, but were disposed to

assist him with money, horses, and arms, the

Chevalier issued a proclamation on the 8th of

October, calling upon all such persons to send

such supplies to his secretary; and as an order

had been issued, summoning the parliament to

meet on the 17th, he, by another proclamation

dated the 9th, prohibited all peers and com-

moners from paying obedience to any order or

resolution that might be published in the name

of either house, in case they should meet.

On the 10th of October, Charles issued a

second rather spirited manifesto, justifying the

step he had taken, proclaiming his father's

gracious intention to redress every grievance,

including the repeal of the union, endeavouring
to show that the government of the Elector of

Hanover was a grievous tyranny supported by

foreign mercenaries. It concluded thus :

" Let him send off his foreign hirelings, and

put the whole upon the issue of a battle; I

will trust only to the king my father's subjects,

who were, or shall be, engaged in mine and

their country's cause. But notwithstanding

all the opposition he can make, I still trust in

the justice of my cause, the valour of my
troops, and the assistance of the Almighty, to

bring my enterprise to a glorious issue.

"It is now time to conclude, and I shall do

it with this reflection; civil wars are ever at-

tended with rancour and ill-will, which party-

rage never fails to produce in the minds of

those whom different interests, principles, or
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views, set in opposition to one another: I

therefore earnestly require it of my friends, to

give as little loose as possible to such, passions :

this will prove the most effectual means to

prevent the same in the enemies of our royal

sause. And this my declaration will vindicate

to all posterity the nobleness of my undertaking,

and the generosity of my intentions."

During Charles's stay in Edinburgh the

magisterial authority was in complete abeyance,

and thieves and robbers, no longer restrained

'by the arm of power, stalked about, in open

day, following their vocation. Under pretence

of searching for arms, predatory bands, wearing

white cockades and the Highland dress, per-

ambulated the country, imposing upon and

robbing the people. One of the most noted of

these was headed by one James Ratcliffe, the

same individual who figures so conspicuously

in the Heart of Mid-Lothian, and who, having

spent all his life in the commission of acts of

robbery, had twice received sentence of death,

but had contrived to effect his escape from jail.
4

To suppress these and other acts of violence,

Charles issued several edicts, and in one or

two instances the last penalty of the law was

inflicted by his orders upon the culprits.

Early in October a ship from France arrived

at Montrose with some arms and ammunition

and a small sum of money. On board this

vessel was the Marquis Boyer d'Eguille, who

arrived at Holyrood house on the 14th of

October. The object of his journey was not

exactly known, but his arrival was represented

as a matter of great importance, and he was

passed off as an ambassador from the French

court. This vessel was soon followed by two

others in succession, one of which brought, in

addition to a supply of arms and money, some

Irish officers in the service of France. The

other had on board six .field-pieces and a com-

pany of artillerymen. These succours, though

small, were opportune, and were considered as

an earnest of more substantial ones, of which

d'Eguille gave the prince the strongest assur-

ances. To facilitate and shorten the convey-
ance of arms and cannon, and of the reinforce-

ments still expected from the north, batteries

were raised at Alloa and on the immediately

4 Caledonian Mercury, llth October, 1745.

opposite side of the Frith of Forth, across

which these were transported without any an-

noyance, although the Fox, a British man-of-

war, was stationed in the Frith.

The army of the prince continued to increase

by the arrival of several additional detachments

from the north, and before the end of October

he found that his forces amounted to nearly

6,000 men; but this number was far below

what Charles had expected. He had enter-

tained hopes that by the exertions of Lord

Lovat and other chiefs, whom he expected to

declare in his favour, about triple that number

would have been raised; but a messenger who

arrived at Edinburgh from his lordship, brought

him intelligence which Tendered his expecta-

tations less sanguine. Lovat had calculated

that he would be able to raise by his own in-

fluence a force of 4,000 or 5,000 men for

the service of Charles; and, the better to con-

ceal his design, he opened a correspondence

with President Forbes, in which, with his

characteristic duplicity and cunning, he avowed

himself a warm supporter of the government,

and succeeded for a considerable time in throw-

ing the president off his guard. By degrees, how-

ever his real intentions began to develope

themselves, and after the battle of Preston he

resolved to assemble his clan for the purpose

of joining the prince. To deceive the govern-

ment he compelled his son, (afterwards known

as General Fraser,) a youth of eighteen who

had been pursuing his studies at the university

of St. Andrews, to put himself at the head of

the clan, and afterwards pretended that his son

had, by this proceeding, acted in direct op-

position to his orders. 5 The only force raised

south of the Tay was a regiment of 450 men

which Colonel Roy Stewart formed in Edin-

burgh during the stay of the Highland army ;

for, although the prince was joined at Edin-

burgh by the Earls of Kilmarnock and Kellie,

Lord Balmerino, Maxwell of Kirkconnel, and

other south-country gentlemen, they did not

bring as many men along with them as would

have formed the staff of a company.

Having now spent nearly six weeks in Edin-

burgh, the prince considered that he could no

longer delay his intended march into England.

8 Culloden Papers, pp. 231254.
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By postponing that measure a few days longer

he might have still farther increased his force

by the return of the men who had gone home

after the battle, of. whom he had received

favourable accounts; by the accession of a

body of Gordons which Lord Lewis, brother

to the Duke of Gordon, was raising among the

followers of the family ;
and by other small

corps from the north. But it was judged that

this advantage would be more than counter-

balanced by other circumstances attendant upon

delay. The long stay of the Highland army in

Scotland had enabled the government to con-

centrate a considerable force in the north of

England, already far superior, in point of num-

bers, to the prince's troops, and this force was

about to receive large additions from the south

and from the continent. Nothing but a dread

of the Highlanders and ignorance of their real

strength kept the English army, already con-

centrated in the north, from entering Scotland
;

but terrible as was the impression made upon
the minds of the English troops, by the reports

which had been carried to England of the

prowess of the Highlanders, it was not to be

supposed, that, after the arrival of large rein-

forcements, their commanders would remain

inactive. Had the government been aware of

the weakness of the prince's army after the

battle of Gladsmuir, it would probably not

have delayed a single week in sending an army
into Scotland; but the exaggerated reports

which had been every where spread, of the

great strength of the Highland army, were fully

credited. Attempts were made by some friends

of the government, as well as by others, to

ascertain their numbers; but Charles, by per-

petually shifting their cantonments, and divid-

ing them into detached bodies, not only con-

trived to conceal his weakness, but to impress
these prying persons with an idea that he was

much stronger than he really was. 6

Another reason for hastening his march

south was the danger that the army might be

diminished by desertion if kept in a state of

inactivity. Desertions were frequent, and it

was thought that nothing but an active life

would put an end to a practice imputed to

idleness and repose, and which allowed the

(i Kirkconnel MS.

men time to think on their families, and con-

template the hardships and dangers they were

likely to undergo in a foreign land. But the

chief motive which urged Charles and his

council to put the army in motion was an ap-

prehension that their supplies of money would

be soon exhausted, in which event it would be

quite impossible to keep the army together for

a single day. By adhering to a declaration he

had made, that he would not enforce the ob-

noxious malt tax
;
the public money, which

had been collected, and was still in course of

being raised, was far from being adequate to

support the army which Charles had collected
;

and the contributions of his friends, which at

first were considerable, were now beginning to

fail. The supplies which had lately been re-

ceived from France were therefore very oppor-

tune; but without additional and early pecuni-

ary succours, which, though promised, might
not speedily arrive or might miscarry, it was

considered that unless the exchequer was re-

plenished in England, the abandonment of the

enterprise was inevitable. For these reasons,

and as the prince informed his council 7 that

he had received the strongest assurances of

support from numbers of the English Tories

and Jacobites, a unanimous resolution was

entered into to march forthwith into England.
8

Upon this resolution being adopted, the

prince despatched a messenger to France with

7 Maxwell of Kirkconnel had a very sorry opinion
of the capabilities of most of the members of the

council. After stating, that by degrees all the colonels

of the army were admitted into it, he thus proceeds :

"
I must acknowledge that very few of the members

of this assembly were either able statesmen or experi-
enced officers

;
but as those who knew least were

generally led by the opinions of those they thought
wiser than themselves, and they in their turn had

private conferences with the ablest of the prince's
secret friends in Edinburgh, things might have been

well enough conducted had there been as much har-

mony and union as the importance of the affair re-

quired ;
but an ill-timed emulation soon crept in, and

bred great dissensions and animosities. The council

was insensibly divided into factions, and came to be

of little use when measures were approved of or con-

demned, not for themselves, but for the sake of their

author. These dissensions, begun at Edinburgh, con-

tinued ever after, and their fatal influence was not

always confined to the council : by degrees it reached

the army ;
and though the prince's orders were ever

respected and punctually obeyed by the army, there

were, nevertheless, a certain discontent and diffidence

which appeared on sundry occasions, especially towards

the end, and was very detrimental to his affairs."

Kirkconnel MS.
8 Idem.

4 D
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intelligence of his intentions, anl to solicit the

French court to make a descent on England.

As this court had all along given as its reason

for not seconding the prince's designs, by send-

ing an army into England, the doubt which it

had of his having a considerable party in that

country, the messenger was instructed to repre-

sent the situation of the prince's affairs in the

most favourable point of view. This person,

by name Alexander Gordon, a Jesuit, left

Edinburgh accordingly on the 28th of October.

On arriving in France he drew up a most

nattering report, which he put into the hands

of the prince's brother, Henry, Duke of York,

then at Paris, to be laid before the French

king. In this report he stated, that while the

prince had about 12,000 men with him in

Edinburgh and its vicinity, there were 4,000

more expected to arrive that he had already

upwards of 1,000 cavalry, and that a great

number more were on their march to join him,

that almost all these troops were well armed,

and were amply provided with every necessary,

and that all the inhabitants of the counties

and towns where the prince had appeared, and

particularly those of Edinburgh and Glasgow,

had furnished the army with clothing, arms,

and money, and, in short, with every thing in

their power. He stated, that besides the High-
land chiefs and the noblemen of different coun-

ties, who had declared in favour of the prince

before the battle of Preston, a great number of

persons of distinction had since joined him

at Edinburgh, among whom he particularly

enumerated Lord Nithsdale and Kenmure, and

Maxwell of Kirkconnel, that besides these

there were many others, who, being unable to

give their personal services, had sent the prince

horses, arms, and money, and that after the

prince's father had been proclaimed in the

capital and the most jconsiderable towns in

Scotland, those who had formerly shown them-

selves least disposed to acknowledge him had

displayed the most favourable dispositions to-

wards the prince, being either subdued by the

charms of his manners, or gained over by his

manifestoes and proclamations. In short, that

by the astonishing victory he had achieved,

many persons, who would otherwise have still

been in connexion with the court of London,
had submitted themselves to the prince, who

might be said to be now absolute master of

Scotland. That with regard to England, the

people of that kingdom were ready to receive

the prince with open arms as soon as he should

appear among them with an army supported

by France, that, independently of the general

discontent of the nation with the government,

the prince was emboldened to enter England

by upwards of a hundred invitations which he

had received from the nobility of England,
and by large sums of money which he had

obtained for the payment of his troops, that

the English government, alarmed at this state

of things, had, as was reported, hesitated

accepting offers, which some counties had made

of raising bodies of militia, for fear that this

force would be employed against itself. In

fine, that such was the disposition of men's

minds throughout the whole of Great Britain,

that the fear of the prince not being supported

by foreign aid, of which the court of London

was in great dread, alone prevented the people

from openly declaring themselves, and that

every person was persuaded, that for every
thousand of foreign troops which the prince

could bring into the field, his army would

receive an accession, four times as large, from

the English people, who only wanted the pre-

sence of a foreign force to encourage them to

take up arms against the goverment.
9

The last clays of October were occupied in

making the necessary arrangements for the

march of the Highland army ; preparatory to

which, orders were issued, near the end of that

month, to call in the different parties which

were posted at Newhaven, Leith, and other

places in the vicinity of Edinburgh. The

army which, for three weeks after the battle

of Preston had lain in camp at Duddingston,

had, since the middle of October, been quar-

tered in and around the city ;
but on the 26th

of that month the main body left Edinburgh,
and encamped on a field a little to the west

of Inveresk church, with a battery of seven

or eight pieces of cannon pointing to the

south-west. l Hitherto Charles, to conceal his

weakness, had reviewed his army in detached

9 Vide the report in the Stuart Papers, and a letter

of 26th November, 1745, from Gordon to the Chevalier
de St. George, inclosing a cr py of his report.

1
Marchant, p. 130.
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portions ;
but he now ordered a general review

of his whole force on the 28th of October.

The place appointed was Leith links
;
but

being warned by a few bombs which were

thrown from the castle as the army was ap-

proaching the ground, that he might expect

some annoyance, Charles abandoned his inten-

tion, and reviewed his army on the sands

between Leith and Musselburgh.
2

Of the deportment of Charles, and the mode

in which he spent his time during his abode

at Holyrood house, it may now be necessary

to say a few words. It has been already stated

on the authority of an officer in his army,
whose memoirs are quoted by Mr. Home, that

before the meeting of his council, Charles held

a levee. The same writer adds, that after the

rising of the council, which generally sat very

long, he dined in public with his principal

officers, and that while the army lay at Dud-

dingston he rode out there after dinner, accom-

panied by his life-guards.
3 The object of these

visits was to keep the Highlanders together;

and to show them that the change of circum-

stances had not altered his disposition towards

them, he frequently supped and slept in the

camp.
4

Another writer, an eye-witness,
5

says that

" the prince's court at Holyrood soon became

very brilliant, and that every day from morning
to night therewas avast concourse ofwell-dressed

people. Besides the gentlemen that had joined

the prince, there was a great number of ladies

and gentlemen who came either from affection

or curiosity. People nocked from all quarters

to see the novelty of a court which had not

been held in Scotland for sixty years, and from

its splendour, and the air of satisfaction which

appeared in every person's countenance, one

would have thought the king was already re-

stored, and in peaceable possession of all the

dominions of his ancestors, and that the prince

had only made a trip to Scotland to show him-

self to the people, and receive their homage.

The conduct of Charles corresponded in all re-

spects with the attentions shown him. He

professed the warmest attachment to Scotland,

and was often heard to say, that should he

succeed in his attempt, he would make Scot-

-

Boyse, p. 95.
4 Kirkconnel MS.

3 Home, p 139.
5 Maxwell of Kirkconnel.

land his Hanover, and Holyrood house his

Herenhausen;
6 an expression by which he not

only marked his devotion to the Scotch nation,

but conveyed a severe rebuke upon King

George, who was justly accused of an undue

predilection for his native soil.

To mark his sense of the respect shown him,
and to ingratiate himself still more with his

new friends, Charles gave a series of balls and

entertainments in the palace, which were at-

tended by all the persons of rank and fashion

assembled in the capital. On these occasions,

the young Chevalier appeared sometimes in an

English court-dress with the blue ribbon, star,

and other insignia of the order of the garter,

and at other times in a Highland dress of fine

silk tartan, with crimson velvet breeches, and

the cross of St. Andrew. 7 His politeness,

affability, and condescension, were the theme

of universal conversation. Captivated by the

charms of his conversation, the graces of his

person, and the unwearied attentions which he

bestowed on them, the ladies entered warmly
into the prince's views; and their partizanship

became so available to his cause as to attract,

as we have seen, the especial attention of Pre-

sident Forbes. Indeed, so strong was the hold

which the spirit of Jacobitism had taken of

the hearts of the ladies of Edinburgh, that

when afterwards overawed by the presence of

an English army, they, nevertheless, continued

to wear the Jacobite badge, and treated the

approaches of the Duke of Cumberland's officers

with supercilious indifference. As Charles was

almost wholly destitute of every household re-

quisite, his female friends sent plate, china,

linen, and other articles of domestic use to the

palace.
8

At the present stage of this history, it seems

proper to record a manifesto which emanated

from Charles's army on the eve of its departure

for England, which, as an historical document

of considerable interest, shall be given entire.

It was titled,
" The declaration and admonitory

letter of such of the nobility, gentry, and free-

born subjects of his majesty, as, under the

auspicious conduct of his royal highness,

Charles, prince of Wales, steward of Scotland,

&c., have taken up arms in support of the cause

6
Henderson, p. 92. 7

Boyse, p. 89. 8 Idem.
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of their king and country." It was addressed

" unto those who have not as yet declared their

approbation of this enterprise ;
and to such as

have, or may hereafter, appear in arms against

it."

" COUNTRYMEN AND FELLOW-SUBJECTS, It is

with abundance of regret, and not without in-

dignation, that we daily hear and see this our

undertaking, which in glory and disinterested-

ness may vie with any to be met with, either

in ancient or modern history, traduced, misre-

presented, and reviled in those fulsome ad-

dresses and associations made to and in favours

of the Elector of Hanover, by. those very

bishops of the church of England, who, for so

many years, have contributed their utmost en-

deavours to abet and support every measure

the most unpopular, pernicious, and hurtful,

that the worst of ministers, be he of what party

he would, could ever devise for the undoing of

these nations.

" Is it from such patterns of virtue and piety

that the nation now must take the alarm ? Are

we by these old bugbears of popery, slavery,

and tyranny, for ever to be hindered from

pursuing our only true interest
1

? Or, is the

groundless fear of an imaginary evil to pre-

vent our shaking off the heavy yoke we daily

feel?

" What further security, in the name of God,

can a people desire for the enjoyment of their

ecclesiastical rights ? Have not both the king
and prince regent sworn in the most solemn

manner to maintain the protestant religion

throughout his majesty's dominions? Nay,

more, have they not promised to pass any laws

which shall be thought necessary for the further

security of it? Are we not protestants who now
address you ? And is it not by the strength
of a protestant army that he must mount the

throne? Can any man, or number of men,

persuade you, that we, who are your brethren,

born in the same island, and who have the

same interest, do not love ourselves, our re-

ligion, laws and liberties, as well as you do ?

"What further security can the nature of

the thing admit of? You have your prince's

promises, and here you have laid before you
the sentiments of his army; who, having

thankfully accepted of them, are determined

and resolved to set their country at liberty, by

establishing that glorious plan which has been

freely offered to us by the only rightful prince

of the British nations
;
and this must be done

before we sheath our swords.

" Our enemies have represented us as men

of low birth and of desperate fortunes. We,
who are now in arms, are, for the greatest part,

of the most ancient families of this island,

whose forefathers asserted the liberties of their

country, long, long before the names of many
of our declaimers were ever heard of. Our

blood is good, and that our actions shall make

appear. If our fortunes be not great, our virtue

has kept them low
;
and desperate we may be

truly called, for we are determined to conquer

or die.

" The justice, therefore, of the cause we now

appear for, the interest of the nation which we

support and pursue, and the glorious character

of our royal leader, may each by itself, or all

together, abundantly convince the nation, that

now at last there appears an happy and unfore-

seen opportunity of acquiring all those blessings

which a distrest nation has been so long wish-

ing for in vain.

" This golden opportunity we have laid hold

of; and injustice to ourselves and fellow-sub-

jects, are obliged thus to apprize them of the

uprightness of our intentions in carrying into

execution a scheme calculated and adapted to

those principles of liberty which the true lovers

of their country have been polishing and refin-

ing for these many years past.
"
Perhaps you may find fault that you were

not apprized of this undertaking. No. more

were we. God has conducted, the prince of

Wales has executed ;
and we are thereby in

possession of Scotland, and victorious over one

of the Elector's armies, which nothing could

have saved from total destruction but the

authority and mercy of a young conqueror,

possest of all the shining virtues which can

adorn a throne, and who may challenge the

keenest enemy of his royal family to impute to

him a vice which can blacken the character of

a prince. Compare his clemency towards all

the prisoners and wounded at the battle of

Gladsmuir, with the executions, imprisonments,

and banishments, exercised by the German

family after their success at Preston in the year
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1715, and your affections will tell you who is

the true father of the people.
" "We have hitherto only spoke to your inter-

ests: when his royal highness comes himself

amongst you, let his appearance, his modera-

tion, his affability, his tenderness and affection

for those he can truly call his countrymen,

speak to your passions ;
then you who, at the

instigation of your enemies, are noAV arming for

the defence, as you imagine, of your respective

communities, will he ahle to judge from whom

you will have the hest reason to expect protec-

tion. Thus far we can take upon us to promise
in his highness's name, that such as shall make
no resistance to our troops, though hefore our

arrival they may have been levying war against

us, may nevertheless depend upon the most

ample security for their persons and estates,

provided, by a timely surrender of their arms,

they put in our power to protect them against

the fury of the army : and how foolish will it

be, after this assurance, for any city, corpora-

tion, or county, to attempt to make head against

the combined force of a whole nation, collected

in a numerous army, and flushed with success?

Tf any misfortune, therefore, ensue from a dis-

regard of this admonition, we of his royal

highness's army declare ourselves free of all

blame therein.

" It is time for you now, countrymen ! to

lay aside all animosities, all distinctions of

families or names, and to confine your thoughts

only to the interest of these kingdoms, connect-

ing with them as you go along the sentiments

you had a few years ago.
" What transport of joy would the bulk of

.the British nation have felt upon a certain re-

markable and never-to-be-forgotten, period in

our political history, (that great change of min-

istry which happened not long ago, when the

cries of a distressed people, supported by the

interest and influence of powerful, though de-

signing men, accomplished the ruin of a mighty

minister,) how great would have been your joy
had you then had from the Elector of Hanover

such a declaration as that emitted the 10th of

this month by his royal highness, the heir and

representative of our natural and only rightful

sovereign?
" Is it possible to conceive the universal satis-

faction which such a declaration would have

occasioned, unless we judge of it by our fatal

disappointment? We leave it to yourselves to

make the application. As it is not our inten-

tion here to set forth the domestic grievances

cf the nation, nor the scandalous preference

showed upon all occasions to a pitiful foreign

concern
;
for as we address ourselves chiefly to

the friends of liberty and the constitution, we

suppose you all abundantly instructed in them :

nor would it serve but to lengthen this letter,

to enumerate the many promises in the king's

and prince's declarations and manifestoes to

his subjects upon this occasion; we have abun-

dantly explained our own motives for now ap-

pearing in arms, and would willingly use a

little serious expostulation with you, gentlemen,

who intend to oppose us.

" What then, in the name of God, do you

propose to yourselves? Is it also the interest

of Great Britain and Ireland ? Or, is it the

support of the Elector of Hanover's family in

the succession to the crown of these realms ?

If your armaments proceed from the first of

these motives, tell us what a prince can do

more to make you a free and a happy people?

What security can you have more than his

word and his army's guarantee, until the nation

shall have time abundantly to secure themselves

by parliament?
" If you be satisfied with the promises made

you, and the security of the performance, do

you disapprove of this method of bringing

about the execution by force of arms? If you

do, be so good as suggest another equally effi-

cacious.

" That by parliament, indeed, would have

been universally the most acceptable ; but we

cannot be so infatuated as to remain in eternal

bondage, unless a parliament, composed of hire-

lings, should set us at liberty; nor have we

any hopes that the Elector will strip himself

of that pecuniary influence by which alone he

has carried, over the bellies of the nation,

every destructive measure.
" On the other hand, if the dispute is to be

whether the Stuart or Hanoverian family shall

reign over Great Britain, without reference to

the interest of the nation, we need use no other

argument than the sword with such as shall

oppose us upon these principles.
" To conclude, we desire to lay this import-
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ant question before you in a new light. Sup-

pose, for it is only a supposition, that this

dreadful and unnatural rebellion, as you are

taught to call it, should be extinguished and

quashed, and every man concerned in it exe-

cuted on a scaffold; your joy, no doubt, would

be very great upon so glorious an event ; your

addresses would then be turned into thanks-

givings, your parliament would then meet

and cloath your beloved sovereign with new

powers, your standing army, which has hither-

to been looked upon as the bane of the consti-

tution, would then be consecrated as your de-

liverers; and the reverend bishops of the church

of England would be hailed from the most dis-

tant corners of the island by the glorious ap-

pellation of patriots and protectors of British

liberty. happy, thrice happy nation, who

have such an army and such a bench of bishops

ready upon this occasion to rescue them from

popery, and slavery, tyranny, and arbitrary

power !

" When, indeed, the first transport of your

joy would be over, for you are not to expect

that these halcyon days are ever to remain,

you might perhaps find, to your fatal experi-

ence, that the constitution of your country was

not in the least improved; and upon the return

of the unavoidable consequences of those evils

ull along complained of, and which now you
have so fair an opportunity of having redressed,

you would at last be sensible that we were

those who, in truth, deserved the appellation

of deliverers, patriots, and protectors of the

British liberty. But this last part of our letter

is addressed only to such as we expect to meet

with in a field of battle, and we are hopeful
that those will prove but an inconsiderable

part of the nations of Great Britain and Ire-

land; and that you, our countrymen and

fellow-subjects, upon being advised and in-

formed, as you now have been, of the whole

plan of this glorious expedition, will cheerfully

join issue with us, and share in the glory of

restoring our king and in setting our country

free, which, by the strength of our arm, the

assistance of our allies, and the blessing of Al-

mighty God, we shortly expect to see accom-

plished."

Whilst the prince and his partizans were

thus spreading the seeds of insurrection, and

endeavouring to improve the advantages they

had gained, the ministry of Great Britain,

aroused to a just sense of the impending danger,

took every possible measure to retard the pro-

gress of the insurrection. King George had

returned to London on the 31st of August.

He met with a cordial reception from the

nobility and gentry in the capital, and loyal

addresses were voted by all the principal cities,

and towns and corporations in the kingdom.
A demand was made upon the states-general

for the 6,000 men stipulated by treaty, part of

whom were landed at Berwick the day after

Cope's defeat. Three battalions of guards, and

seven regiments of foot, were ordered home from

Flanders, and .a cabinet council was held at

Kensington on the 13th of September, which

directed letters to be sent to the lords-lieuten-

ant and custodes rotulorum of the counties of

EnglandandWales to raise the militia. Marshal

Wade was despatched to the north of England
to take the command of the forces in that

quarter, and tAvo regiments, of 1,000 each,

were ordered to be transported from Dublin to

Chester. A number of blank commissions

were, as has been before stated, sent to the

north of Scotland to raise independent com-

panies ;
the Earl of London was despatched to

Inverness to take the command, and two ships

of war were sent down with, arms to the same

place.

As popery had been formerly a serviceable

bugbear to alarm the people for their religion

and liberties, some of the English bishops

issued mandates to their clergy, enjoining

them to instil into their people
" a just ab-

horrence of popery" and of arbitrary power,

both of which they supposed to be inseparably

connected
;

a proceeding which formed a

singular contrast with the conduct of their

brethren, the Scottish protestant episcopal

clergy, who to a man were zealously desirous

of restoring the Stuarts. The clergy attended

to the injunctions they had received, and their

admonitions were not without effect. Associa-

tions were speedily formed in every county,

city, and town in England, of any considera-

tion, in defence of the religion and liberties of

the nation, and all persons, of whatever rank

or degree, seemed equallyzealous to protect both.
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The parliament met on the 17th of October,

and was informed by his majesty that he had

been obliged to call them together sooner than

he intended, in consequence of an unnatural

rebellion which had broken out, and was still

continued in Scotland, to suppress and extin-

guish which rebellion he craved the immediate

advice and assistance of the parliament. Both

houses voted addresses, in which they gave his

majesty the strongest assurances of duty and

affection to his person and government, and

promised to adopt measures commensurate with

Ihe danger. The habeas corpus act was sus-

pended for six months, and several persons

were apprehended on suspicion. The Duke of

Cumberland, the king's second son, arrived

from the Netherlands shortly after the opening
of the session, and on the 25th of October a

large detachment of cavalry and infantry arrived

in the Thames from Flanders. The train-

bands of London were reviewed by his majesty

on the 28th; the county regiments were com-

pleted; and the persons who had associated

themselves in different parts of the kingdom
as volunteers, were daily engaged in the exer-

cise of arms. Apprehensive of an invasion

from France, the government appointed Ad-

miral Vernon to command a squadron in the

Downs, to watch the motions of the enemy

by sea. Cruisers were stationed along the

French coast, particularly off Dunkirk and

Boulogne, which captured several ships des-

tined for Scotland with officers, soldiers, and

ammunition for the use of the insurgents.

The birth-day of George II., which fell on

the 30th of October, was celebrated throughout
the whole of England with extraordinary de-

monstrations of loyalty. Many extravagant

scenes were enacted, which, though they may
now appear ludicrous and absurd, were deemed

by the actors as deeds of the purest and most

exalted patriotism. In Scotland, however,

with one remarkable exception, the supporters

of government did not venture upon any public

display. The exception alluded to was the

town of Perth, some of whose inhabitants took

possession of the church and steeple about

mid-day, and rang the bells. Oliphant of Gask,

who had been made deputy-governor of tho

town by the young Chevalier, and had under

him a small party, sent to desire those who

rang the bells to desist
;
but they refused to

comply, and continued ringing at intervals

until midnight, two hours after the ordinary

time. Mr. Oliphant, with his small guard and

three or four gentlemen, posted themselves in

the council-house, in order to secure about

1,400 small arms, some ammunition, &c., be-

longing to the Highland army, deposited there

and in the adjoining jail. At night seven

north-country gentlemen, in the Jacobite inter-

est, came to town with their servants, and

immediately joined their friends in the council-

house : when it grew dark the mob made bon-

fires in the streets, and ordered the inhabitants

to illuminate their windows, an order which

was generally obeyed, and the few that refused

had their windows broken. About nine o'clock

at night a party sallied from the council-house,

and marching up the street to disperse the

mob, fired upon and wounded three of them.

The mob, exasperated by this attack, rushed

in upon the party, and disarmed and wounded

some of them. After this rencontre the mob

placed guards at all the gates of the town, took

possession of the main-guard and rung the fire-

bell, by which they drew together about 200

people. They thereupon sent a message to

Mr. Oliphant, requiring him to withdraw im-

mediately from the town and yield up the arms,

ammunition, &c. Mr. Oliphant having refused,

they rang the fire-bell a second time, and

hostilities commenced about two o'clock in the

morning, and continued about three hours.

The people fired at the council-house from the

heads of lanes, from behind stairs, and from

windows, so that the party within could not

look out without the greatest hazard. About

five o'clock the mob dispersed. An Irish cap-

tain in the French service was killed in the

council-house, and three or four of Mr. Oli-

phant's party were wounded. Of the mob,

which was without a leader, four were wounded.

To preserve order, about 60 of Lord Nairne's

men were brought into the town next day,

and these were soon thereafter joined by about

130 Highlanders.
9

9 A damson's Miises Threnodie, Perth ed. of 1774.

Appendix, No. 2, p. 165.
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CHAPTER XXXIII.

A. D. 1745.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 17271760.

Han of the march of the rebels into England Com-

position of the Highland army Highland mode of

fighting March of Prince Charles into England-

Siege and capture of Carlisle Dissension in the

Prince's council Resignation of Lord George Mur-

ray Proceedings of Marshal Wade The Highland

army marches south Arrives at Manchester The

Manchester regiment Rebels march to Derby
Consternation at London Charles's council resolve

to retreat Charles desires to proceed to London

Overruled The Chevalier's agents in France

French expedition under Lord John Drummond
His arrival and proceedings Retreat of the High-
land army to Scotland Skirmish at Clifton Re-

capture of Carlisle.

WHEN Charles's resolution to march into Eng-

land was finally agreed to by his officers, the

next thing to be determined was the route to

be taken. After some deliberation the council

advised the Prince to march straight to Ber-

Avick, of which town they thought he could

easily make himself master, and thence to

Newcastle and give battle to Marshal "Wade,

who had collected a force in the neighbour-

hood of that town. If victorious, the prince

was to march to London by the east coast, so

as to favour the disembarkation of any troops

that France might send oyer destined to land

on that coast. But this plan, though unani-

mously approved of, was overturned by Lord

George Murray, who was of a very different

opinion from the rest of the council. In

presence of several of the principal officers

of the army he represented the plan of a

march along the east coast as an affair of great

difficulty, and that its advantages, if it really

had any, would be more than compensated by
the loss of time it would occasion, which at

the present juncture was very prec:.ous. He
therefore proposed that the army should march
into England by the western road, and that

to conceal its route it should march in two

columns, one by Kelso and the other column by
Moffat, so that both columns could easily join
near Carlisle, on a day to be appointed. Find-

ing that Lord George's arguments had pre-
vailed with most of the officers, Charles agreed
to his scheme, though he considered the route

by Berwick as the better of the two. l

1 Kirkconnrl MS. Lord George Murray's Narrative
in Jacobite Memoirs, p. 47.

Preparatory to their march the insurgents

removed their camp to a strong position to the

west of Dalkeith, six miles south of Edinburgh,

having that town on their left, the South Esk

in front, the North Esk in their rear, with an

opening on their right towards Polton. From

this camp a detachment was sent with three

pieces of cannon to secure the pass of the Forth

above Stirling, lest Lord Loudon should march

south with the independent companies he was

forming, and attempt to force the passage.
2

On the evening of Thursday the 31st of

October, Prince Charles finally left Holyrood

House accompanied by his life-guards, and

several of the clan-regiments, amid the regrets

of a vast concourse of spectators, most of whom
were never to see him again. He slept that

night at Pinkie .House, and went next morning

to Dalkeith, and took up his quarters in Dal-

keith House, the seat of the Duke of Buccleuch.

On that day he was joined by the clan Pherson,

under the command of their chief, Macpherson

of Cluny, by Menzies of Shien and his men,

and some small parties of Highlanders, amount-

ing altogether to between 900 and 1,000 men.

At this period the state of the insurgent

army was as follows. Of cavalry, the first troop

of horse-guards, which was commanded by
Lord Elcho, consisted of 62 gentlemen witli

their servants, under 5 officers. It amounted

in all to 1 20. The second troop, which was

commanded by the honourable Arthur Elphin-

stone, afterwards Lord Balmerino, was not

complete, and did not exceed 40 horse. A
small squadron, called the horse-grenadiers,

was commanded by the Earl of Kilmarnock,

with which were incorporated some Perthshire

gentlemen, in absence of Lord Strathallan their

commander, who had been appointed governor

of Perth and commander of the Jacobite forces

in Scotland during the stay of the Highland

army in England. These last united, amounted

to nearly 100. Lord Pitsligo was at the head

of the Aberdeen and Banffshire gentlemen,

who, with their servants, amounted to about-

120; and besides those enumerated, there was

a party of between 70 and 80 hussars, under

the nominal command of Secretary Murray as

colonel, but in reality under the direction of

2 Kirlccomul MS.
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one Baggot, an Irish, officer, who had lately

arrived from France. The infantry, all of

whom wore the Highland garb, consisted of

thirteen battalions or regiments, six of which

consisted of the clans, properly so called; of

these six regiments, three were of the Macdon-

alds, and the other three were each composed
of the Camerons, the Stewarts of Appin, and

the Macphersons. Three regiments of A thole

men, commonly called the Athole brigade, the

regiments of the Duke of Perth, Lord Ogilvy,

Glenbucket, and Roy Stewart, made up the

thirteen regiments.
3 Of the infantry, which

amounted to about 5,000 men, about 4,000

were real Highlanders. Thus the total amount

of the army did not exceed 6,000 men. 4

The clan-regiments, according to custom,

were commanded by their respective chiefs;

but in some instances, in the absence of the

chief, the regiment of the clan was commanded

by his son, and failing both, by the nearest

kinsman of the chief. In these regiments

every company had two captains, two lieuten-

ants, and two ensigns, all of Avhom were gener-

ally related, by ties of blood, to the chief.

The pay of a captain in the army was half-a-

crown per diem; that of a lieutenant two

shillings; and of an ensign one shilling and

sixpence. The front rank of each clan-regi-

ment was composed of persons who were con-

sidered gentlemen by birth, though without

3 Kirkconncl MS.
4 The Highland army about the middle of Novem-

ber, according to a list then published, was thus com-

posed :

Regiments. Colonels, Men.

Lochiel, . Cameron, youngerof Lochiel, 740

Appin, . Stewart of Ardshiel, . 360

Athole, . Lord George Murray, . 1,000
Clanranald, . Macdonald, yr. of Clanranald, 200

Keppoch, . Macdonald of Keppoch,
Glencoe, . Macdonald of Glencoe,

Ogilvy, . Lord Ogilvy,
Glenbucket. . Gordon of Glenbucket,

p , Duke of Perth (including )

rtft>
Pitsligo's foot), j

Robertson, . Robertson of Strowan,
Maclauchlan. Maclauchlan of Maclauchlan, 260
Glencairnock. Macgregor of Glencairnock, 300

Naime, . Lord Nairne, . . 200

Edinburgh, . John Roy Stewart, . "450

Several small corps, ..... 1,000
| Lord Elcho, |Horsc '

j
Lord Kilmarnock, \

'

Horse, . Lord Pitsligo's, . . 140

400
200
500

427

750

200

7,287

The numbers, however, are overrated.

fortune or means. The pay of these was one

shilling per diem. The gentlemen in the front

rank were better armed than the men in the

rear rank. All the former had targets, which

many of the latter had not. When fully

armed, as was generally the case, every gentle-

man of the front rank carried a musket and

broadsword, with a pair of pistols and a dirk

stuck in the belt which surrounded his body.

In some rare instances another dagger was

stuck within the garter of the right leg, to be

used in cases of emergency. A target, formed

of wood and leather thickly studded with nails,

covered the left arm, and enabled the wearer

to parry and protect himself from the shots or

blows of an assailant.

Thus armed, the success of a Highland army

depended more upon individual bravery than

upon combined efforts, and their manner of

fighting was, as the Chevalier Johustone ob-

serves, adapted for brave but undisciplined

troops.
"
They advance," says that writer,

" with rapidity, discharge their pieces when
within musket length of the enemy, and then,

throwing them down, draw their swords, and

holding a dirk in their left hand with their

target, they dart with fury on the enemy

through the smoke of their fire. When within

reach of the enemy's bayonets, bending their

left knee, they, by their attitude, cover their

bodies with their targets that receive their

thrusts of the bayonets, which they contrive to

parry, while at the same time they raise their

sword-arm, and strike their adversary. Having
once got within the bayonets, and into the

ranks of the enemy, the soldiers have no longer

any means of defending themselves, the fate of

the battle is decided in an instant, and the

carnage follows; the Highlanders bringing

down two men at a time, one with their dirk

in the left hand, and another with the sword.

The reason assigned by the Highlanders for

their custom of throwing their muskets on the

ground is not without its force. They say they

embarrass them in their operations, even when

slung behind them, and on gaining a battle

they can pick them up along with the arms of

their enemies; but if they should be beaten,

they have no occasion for muskets. They
themselves proved that bravery may supply

the place of discipline at times, as discipline

4 E
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supplies the place of bravery. The attack is so

terrible, that the best troops in Europe would

with difficulty sustain the first shock of it; and

if the swords of the Highlanders once come in

contact with them, their defeat is inevitable." 5

In entering upon such a desperate enterprise

as the invasion of England Avith the handful

of men he had mustered, Charles certainly

must have calculated on being supported by a

large party in that country. Indeed, his chief

reason for urging such a step was the numerous

assurances he alleged he had received from his

friends in that kingdom, that he would be

joined by a very considerable body of the

people; but there seems reason to believe, that,

in his expectations of support, he was guided

almost solely by the reports of his agents, and

that he had very little communication with any

of the parties on whose support he relied. 6 In

a memoir 7 which the prince presented to the

King of France on his return from Scotland,

he states, that, if after the battle of Preston he

had had 3,000 regular troops under his com-

mand, in addition to his other forces, he could

have penetrated into England, and marched to

London, without opposition, as none of the

English troops which were on the continent

had arrived; but the case was now widely dif-

ferent, and without a general rising, it was next

to impossible to succeed in the face of a large

regular army, which was assembling at different

points, supported by a numerous militia.

Pursuant to the plan of Lord George Murray,

the advanced guard of the first division of the

army left Dalkeith on the evening of Friday

the 1st of November, and took the road to

Peebles. The main body, consisting of the

8
Memoirs, p. 113.

6 Letters from Moor and Smart, two of the agents
of the Chevalier do St. George, will lie found among
the Stuart Papers. Smart held an appointment in

the London post-office, and is often alluded to in the

correspondence between Sempil and Drummond of

Bochaldy, and the Chevalier, as their "post-office cor-

respondent." Smart was furnished with a list of the

addresses, under which the correspondence between

the Chevalier's agents on the continent, and their

friends in England, was carried on, and, as his duty
appears to have been to examine all letters passing

through the post-office, he passed the letters to such

addresses without examination. When he found any
letters from abroad, giving information to the govern-
ment about the Jacobite party, he always burnt them.

Letter from Drammond to the Chevalier de St.

George, 19th October, 1745, among the Stuart Papers.
7 Stuart Papers.

The Duke of Perth.

Athole brigade, the Duke of Perth's regiment,

the regiments of Lord Ogilvy, Glenbucket, and

Eoy Stewart, and the greater part of the horse

followed next day. The artillery and baggage

were sent along with this column. This divi-

sion was ivnder the command of the Marquis

of Tullibardine. The second division, which

consisted of the life-guards and the clan regi-

ments, headed by the prince in person, marched

from Dalkeith on the 3d of November in the

direction of Kelso. The guards formed the

van, and the prince marched en foot at the

head of the clans with his target over his

shoulder. It was supposed that he would have

mounted his horse after proceeding a mile or

two
; but, to the surprise of every person, he

marched on foot the whole day, and continued

the same practice during the whole of the ex-

pedition, wading through mud and snow, and

it was with difficulty that he could be prevailed

upon to get on horseback, even to cross a river.

The example he thus set to his men, joined to

the condescension and affability he displayed,

endeared him to the army. Charles arrived at

Lauder the same night, and took up his resi-

dence in Thirlstane castle, the seat of the Earl

of Lauderdale.
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After despatching part of his men by a

middle course towards Selkirk and Hawick,
the prince next day marched to Kelso. As

Marshal Wade was supposed to be on his way
north from Newcastle, Charles sent his life-

guards across the Tweed, not so much for the

purpose of reconnoitring, as for amusing the

enemy. After advancing several miles on the

road to Newcastle, they halted at a village, and

made some inquiries as to quarters and accom-

modation for the army, which they stated was

on its march to Newcastle. Charles even sent

orders to Wooler, a town on the road to New-

castle, to provide quarters for his army. The

design was to keep Wade in suspense, and

draw off his attention from the movements of

the Highland army upon Carlisle. While at

Kelso, Charles sent a party of between 30 and

40 men across the Tweed, to proclaim his father

upon English ground. Having performed the

ceremony, they returned to Kelso. 8 The prince

remained at Kelso till the 6th of November,

on the morning of which day he crossed the

Tweed. The river was scarcely fordable, but

the men were in high spirits, and when up to

the middle in the water, they expressed the

ardour they felt by setting up a loud shout and

discharging their pieces.
9 After crossing the

river, the prince turned to the left, and marched

towards Jedburgh, where he arrived in a few

hours.

As his next route lay through a dreary waste

of considerable extent, he halted at Jedburgh
for the night, to refresh his men, and departed

early next morning. Marching up Rule water,

Charles led his men into Liddisdale over the

Knot o' the Gate, and after a fatiguing march

of about twenty-five miles, arrived at Haggie-

haugh upon Liddel water, where he slept.

Charles marched down Liddel water on the

following day, being Friday the 8th of Novem-

ber, and entered England in the evening.

When crossing the border, the Highlanders
drew their swords, and gave a hearty huzza;

but a damp came over their spirits, on learning

that Lochiel had cut his hand in the act of un-

sheathing his sword, an occurrence which the

Highlanders superstitiously regarded as a bad

omen. 1 Charles lay at Reddings in Cumber-

8
Marchant, p. 161. 9 Kirkconnel MS.

1 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 455.

land that night. The division belonging to

the prince's column, consisting of horse, which

had taken the middle route by Hawick and

Langholm, reached Longtown the same day.

While the eastern division was thus moving
in a circuitous direction to the appointed place

of rendezvous near Carlisle, the western column,
which started on the road to Peebles, was fol-

lowing a more direct route, by Moffat and down
Annandale. This division entered England
near Longtown. On the 9th of November,
Charles marched with his division to Rowcliff,

four miles below Carlisle, where he crossed the

river Eden, and quartered his men in the vil-

lages on the west side of the city. In the

afternoon, Charles was joined by the greater

part of the other division, under the Marquis
of Tullibardine. This march was judiciously

planned, and was executed with such precision,

that scarcely two hours elapsed between the

arrival of the two main divisions at the ap-

pointed place of rendezvous. The march, ac-

cording to the Chevalier Johnstone, resembled

on a small scale that of Marshal Saxe, a few

years before, when he advanced to lay siege to

Maestricht.

The plan for deceiving Marshal Wade suc-

ceeded so well, that that commander, who had

now an army of 11,000 men under him, had

no idea that the Highland army was marching
on Carlisle, and accordingly directed his whole

attention to the protection of Newcastle. Such

was the secrecy with which the motions of the

army were conducted, that, with the exception
of Charles and his principal officers, no person
knew its real destination. 2 On arriving in the

neighbourhood of Carlisle, desertion had dimin-

ished the prince's army by some hundreds.

The city of Carlisle, the capital of Cumber-

land, had formerly been a place of great

strength, and had, during the wars between

England and Scotland, been considered one of

the keys of England on the side of the latter;

but since the union of the crowns, its fortifica-

tions had been allowed to fall into decay. It

was surrounded by walls flanked with towers,

and a fosse or ditch. The city was protected

by a castle on the north-west, supposed to be

as old as the time of William Rufus, and by a

2 Johnstonc's Memoirs, p. 56.



588 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

citadel on the south-east, erected in the reign

of Henry the Eighth. The castle, on the pre-

sent occasion, was well furnished with artillery,

and was garrisoned by a company of invalids ;

but, like the city, its fortifications were not in

good repair.
To aid the inhabitants in defend-

ing the city, the whole militia of Cumberland

and Westmoreland had been assembled within

its walls.

When approaching the city on the 9th, a

party of the prince's horse advanced to Stan-

wix Bank, a small hill near Carlisle, to recon-

noitre; but they were forced to retire by a few

shots from the castle. The whole of the army

having passed the Eden next day, Charles pro-

ceeded to invest the city on all sides. One of

his parties, in marching round from the Irish

to the English gate, was fired upon both from

the castle and the town, but did not sustain

any loss. Having completed the investment,

the prince, about noon, sent a letter to the

mayor of the city, requiring him to open its

gates, and allow the army to enter in a peace-

able manner; promising, in case of compliance,

to protect the city from insult, but threatening

an assault in the event of a refusal. The prince

stated, that should an assault be made, he

might not have it in his power to prevent the

dreadful consequences which usually befall a

city captured in that way. An answer was re-

quired within two hours, but none was given,

and a discharge of cannon from the besieged an-

nounced their determination to hold out. In

consequence of this reception, the trenches

were opened at night, under the orders of the

Duke of Perth, at the distance of eighty yards

from the walls. Mr. Grant, an Irish officer,

of Lally's regiment, who had lately arrived

from France, and who was an experienced

engineer, ably availing himself of some ditches,

approached close t.o the city without suffering

from the fire of the besieged. The artillery

consisted of six Swedish field pieces, which

had been received from France, and of the

pieces which had been taken at Preston. 3

Having received intelligence that Marshal

Wade was advancing from Newcastle to re-

lieve Carlisle, and that he had already arrived at

Hexham, Charles resolved to meet him on some

3 Jolm.stone's Memoirs, p. 3".

of the hilly grounds between Newcastle and Car-

lisle. Leaving, therefore, a sufficient force to

blockade Carlisle, he departed with the remain-

der of the army on the morning of the 1 1th, and

reached Warwick castle about ten o'clock. He

then despatched Colonel Ker with a party of

horse, in the direction of Hexham, to recon-

noitre, and ordered his men to take up their

quarters for the night. Ker having ascertained

that the news of Wade's march was false, re-

turned to Brampton, and made his report.

After waiting two days at Brampton without

hearing any thing of Wade, a council of war was

held, at which several opinions were offered.

One opinion, in which Charles concurred, was

that the army should advance to Newcastle,

and give battle to Wade. Some of the council

thought that this Avould be a dangerous step ;

for even were they to defeat the marshal, his

army might take refuge in Newcastle, which it

was vain for them to think of taking, as, besides

the strength of the place, the army had lost

many men upon its march. Others were for

returning to Scotland till joined by a greater

body of their friends
;
but Lord George Murray

opposed all these views, and proposed, that

while one part of the party should besiege and

blockade Carlisle, the other should remain at

Brampton. The Duke of Perth seconded this

opinion, and offered to undertake the charge

of the battery, if Lord George would take the

command of the blockade. The council hav-

ing all agreed to Lord George's proposal, six of

the Lowland regiments were sent to blockade

the town, besides the Duke of Perth's, which

was to be employed on the battery.
4

Whilst the main body of the army was at

Brampton, the party left before the city occu-

pied themselves in cutting down wood in

Corby and Warwick parks, with which they

made scaling-ladders, fascines, and carriages.

On the 13th, about noon, the regiments ap-

pointed for the blockade and siege of the city

re-appeared before it. Lord George Murray
took up his quarters at Harbery, and posted

his men in the villages around the city to stop

all communication with it. The besieging

party broke ground in the evening within

musket-shot of the walls, about half-way bo-

4 Lord George Murray's Narrative, Jacobite Me-

moirs, pp. 47, i8.
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tvveen the English and Scotch gates.
5 A con-

stant firing was kept up from the city; but as

these operations were carried on under cloud

of night, the party in the trenches received no

injury. Having completed their battery, the

besiegers brought up their whole cannon, con-

sisting of thirteen pieces, to play upon the town.

iSText morning the fire from the garrison was re-

newed, but with little effect, and the besiegers,

instead of returning the fire, held up their bon-

nets on the end of their spades in derision. 6

Alarmed by the preparations of the High-

landers, and the state of affairs within the city,

a meeting of the inhabitants was held, at which

it was resolved to surrender the town. For

seven days the garrison of the city, kept in

constant alarm by the Highlanders, had scarcely

enjoyed an hour's continued repose; and while

many of the men had, from illness, absolutely

refused to assist any longer in the defence

of the city, numbers were hourly leaving it

clandestinely by slipping over the walls; so

that in several cases the officers of some com-

panies had not more than three or four men left.

In this state of matters the only alternative was

a surrender; and as a crisis appeared to be at

hand, a white flag was exhibited from the

walls, and a messenger despatched to the Duke

of Perth to request terms. His Grace sent an

express to Brampton to know the prince's

pleasure; but his Royal Highness refused to

grant any terms to the city unless the castle

surrendered at the same time. At the request

of the mayor, a cessation of arms was granted

till next day; but before the time expired,

Colonel Durand, the commander of the castle,

agreed to surrender the fortress along with the

town. The conditions were, that the liberties

and properties of the inhabitants, and all the

privileges of the town, should be preserved

inviolate; that both garrisons, on taking an

oath not to serve against the house of Stuart

for one year, should be allowed to retire, and

that all the arms and ammunition in the castle

and the city, and all the horses belonging to

the militia, should be delivered up to the

prince. This capitulation was signed by the

Duke of Perth and Colonel Durand on the

nicrht of the Hth. 7

8 LockJwtrt Papers, vol. ii. p. 493.
'

Kirkconnel J/

I lay, p.

Next morning at ten o'clock the Duke of

Perth entered the city at the head of his regi-

ment, and was followed by the other regiments
at one o'clock in the afternoon. The castle,

however, was not given up till next morning.
The Duke of Perth shook hands with the men
of the garrison, told them they were brave

fellows, and offered them a large bounty to

enlist in the service of the prince.
8 The mayor

and his attendants went to Brampton, and de-

livered the keys of the city to the prince.
9

The duke found 1,000 stand of arms in the

castle, besides those of the militia. He also

found 200 good horses in the city, and a large

quantity of valuable effects in the castle, which

had been lodged there by the gentry of the

neighbourhood for safety.
l

On the day following the surrender, the

Chevalier de St. George was proclaimed in the

city with the usual formalities; and, to give

greater eclat to the ceremony, the mayor and

aldermen were compelled to attend with the

sword and mace carried before them. Along
with the manifestoes formerly noticed, another

declaration for England, dated from Rome, 23d

December, 1743, was also read, of much the

same tenor as the others.

After the Chevalier had been proclaimed,

and the different manifestoes read, the corpo-

ration went out to meet the prince, who entered

the city under a general salute of artillery.
2

In many points of 'view the capture of Car-

lisle would have been of great importance to

the prince, if he had been strong enough to

have availed himself of the state of terror which

that event, and his subsequent advance into

the very heart of England, had thrown the

people of that kingdom; but his means were

soon found quite inadequate to accomplish his

end. Even if his resources had been much

greater than ever they were, it seems doubtful

whether the jealousies and dissensions, which,

at an early period, began to distract his coun-

cils, would not have rendered all his exertions,

for obtaining the great object of his ambition,

unavailable.

The ori.go mali, the source of the discord,

and all the misfortunes, as the Jacobites would

say, that flowed from it, are attributed by an

8 Marchant, p. 169. Boyse, p. 100.
1

Marchant, p. 169. -

Kay, p. 99. Boyse, p. 100.
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individual 3 who had good opportunities of

judging, and whose narrative appears to be

impartial, to "the unbounded ambition of

Secretary Murray, who from the beginning

aimed at nothing less than the whole direction

and management of every thing. To this pas-

sion he sacrificed what chance there was of a

restoration, though that was the foundation on

which all his hopes were built. He had an

opportunity of securing the prince's favour

long enough before he could be rivalled. He

was almost the only personal acquaintance the

prince found in Scotland. It was he that had

engaged the prince to make this attempt upon

so slight a foundation, and the wonderful suc-

cess that had hitherto attended it was placed

to his account. The Duke of Perth, whose

character indeed was well known to the prince,

judging of Murray's heart by his own, enter-

tained the highest opinion of his integrity,

went readily into all his schemes, and confirmed

the prince in the esteem he had already con-

ceived for Murray. After Mr. Kelly was gone,

there was only Sir Thomas Sheridan and Mr.

Sullivan, of those that had come along with the

prince that had any thing to say with him, and

these Murray had gained entirely. Lord George

Murray was the man the secretary dreaded most

as a rival. Lord George's birth, age, capacity,

and experience, would naturally give him

great advantage over the secretary; but the

secretary had got the start of him, and was

determined to stick at nothing to maintain his

ground.
" He began by representing Lord George as

a traitor to the prince. He assured him that

he had joined on purpose to have an oppor-

tunity of delivering him up to the government.
It was hardly possible to guard against this

imposture. The prince had the highest opin-

ion of his secretary's integrity, and knew little

of Lord George Murray, so the calumny had
its full effect. Lord George soon came to know
the suspicion the prince had of him, and was
affected as one may easily enough imagine. To
be sure, nothing could be more shocking to a

man of honour, and one that was now for the

third time venturing his life and fortune for

the royal cause. The prince was partly unde-

3 Maxwell of Kirkconnel.

ceived by Lord George's gallant behaviour at

the battle [of Preston], and had Lord George

improved that opportunity he might have per-

haps gained the prince's favour, and got the

better of the secretary ;
but his haughty and

overbearing manner prevented a thorough

reconciliation, and seconded the malice and

malicious insinuations of his rival. Lord

George did not altogether neglect making his

court. Upon some occasions he was very

obsequious and respectful, but had not tem-

per to go through with it. He now and

then broke out into such violent sallies,

as the prince could not digest, though the

situation of his affairs forced him to bear with

them.
" The secretary's station and favour had at-

tached to him such as were confident of success,

and had nothing in view but making their for-

tunes. Nevertheless, Lord George had greater

weight and influence in the council, and gener-

ally brought the majority over to his opinion,

which so irritated the ambitious secretary, that

he endeavoured all he could to give the prince

a bad impression of the council itself, and

engaged to lay it entirely aside. He had like

to have prevailed at Carlisle, but the council

was soon resumed, and continued ever after

to be held upon extraordinary emergencies. It

was not in this particular only that Murray's

ambition was detrimental to the prince's affairs.

Though he was more jealous of Lord George

Murray than of any body, Lord George was not

the only person .he dreaded as a rival. There

were abundance of gentlemen in the army, in

no respect inferior to Mr. Murray, but his early

favour gave him an opportunity of excluding

most of them from the prince's presence and

acquaintance. All those gentlemen that joined

the prince after Murray were made known
under the character he thought fit to give of

them, and all employments about the prince's

person, and many in the army, were of his

nomination. These he filled with such as, he

had reason to think, would never thwart his

measures, but be content to be his tools and

creatures without aspiring higher. Thus some

places of the greatest trust and importance were

given to little insignificant fellows, while there

were abundance of gentlemen of figure and

merit, that had no employment at all, and who
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might have been of great use had they been

properly employed."
4

Till the siege of Carlisle, Secretary Murray
had been able to disguise his jealousy of Lord

George Murray, who, from his high military

attainments, had been able hitherto to rule the

council
; but, on that occasion, the secretary

displayed his hostility openly, and Lord George

thereupon resigned his command as one of the

lieutenant-generals of the army. The circum-

stances which led to the resignation of Lord

George were these. It appears that, before the

blockading party left Brampton, he desired

Charles to give him some idea of the terms his

royal highness would accept of from Carlisle,

not with the view of obtaining powers to con-

clude a capitulation, but merely to enable him

to adjust the terms according to the prince's

intentions, and thereby save a great deal of

time. Charles not being able to come to any
resolution before Lord.George's departure, his

lordship begged of him to send his instructions

after him, that he might know how to conduct

himself in the event of an offer of surrender

by the city ;
but the secretary interposed, and

told Lord George plainly, that he considered

the terms of capitulation as a matter within

his province, and with which Lord George had

no right to interfere. 5 Lord George has not

communicated the answer he gave to Murray on

this occasion. The part of the army destined

for the blockade, though willing to take their

turn along with the rest of the army, was

averse to bear the whole burden of it. Their

commander was aware of this feeling, and, in

a letter written to his brother, the Marquis of

Tullibardine, from his head-quarters at Har-

bery, on the 14th of November, proposed a

plan which he thought would satisfy both

parties. After alluding to the indefatigable

exertions of the Duke of Perth, who had him-

self wrought in the trenches to encourage his

men to erect the battery, and the great diffi-

culties he had to encounter from the nature of

the ground, Lord George requested the marquis
to represent to the prince, that the men engaged
on the blockade would not expose themselves

either in trenches or in the open air within

cannon shot, or even within musket shot of

Kirkconnel MS. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 49.

the town, but by turns with the rest of the

army; and he proposed that it should be

decided by lot who should mount guard the

first night, second night, and so on. To carry
the views of his men into effect, Lord George

proposed the following plan, subject to the

approval of a council of war, viz., that 50 men
should be draughted out of each of the bat-

talions that remained at Brampton, with proper

officers, and at least two majors out of the six

battalions ; and that these should be sent to

Butcherly, within a mile of the battery ;
and

that as 150 men might be a sufficient guard
for the battery, the six battalions would in

this way furnish two guards, in addition to

which, he proposed that two additional guards
should be draughted, one from the Athole

brigade, and the other from General Gordon's

and Lord Ogilvy's regiments; and, by the time

these four guards had served in rotation, he

reckoned that the city would be taken, or the

blockade removed. A council of war was held

at Brampton upon this proposal, which came

to the resolution, that as soon as the whole

body forming the blockade had taken their

turn as guards, the division of the army at

Brampton should occupy its place, and form

the blockade, but that no detachments should

be sent from the different corps; nor did the

council think it fair to order any such, as these

corps had had all the fatigue and danger of the

blockade of Edinburgh.
6

Such were the circumstances which preceded
the resignation of Lord George Murray, who,
in a letter to Prince Charles dated the 15th of

November, threw up his commission, assigning
as his reason the little weight which his advice,

as a general officer, had with his royal high-

ness. He, however, stated, that as he had

ever had a firm attachment to the house of

Stuart,
" and in particular to the king," he

would serve as a volunteer, and that it was his

design to be that night in the trenches. In a

letter, which he wrote the same day to the

Marquis of Tullibardine, he stated that he was

constantly at a loss to know what was going

on in the army, and that he was determined

never again to act as an officer; but that as a

volunteer, he would show that no man wished

6 Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 49 50.
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better to the cause, and that he would do all

in his power to advance the service. At the

request of the marquis, who informed Lord

George that Charles wished to see him, Lord

George waited upon the prince, who appears

to have received him dryly. On being informed

by Lord George, that he had attended in con-

sequence of a message from the prince, Charles

denied that he had required his attendance,

and told him that he had nothing particular to

say to him. His lordship then repeated his

offer to serve as a volunteer. Charles told him

he might do so, and here the conversation

ended. In a conversation which took place

afterwards, between Lord George and Sir

Thomas Sheridan, the former entered into some

details, to show that in his station, as lieuten-

ant-general, he had had no authority, and that

others had usurped the office of general, by

using the name of the prince. He complained

that, while he was employed in the drudgery,

every thing of moment was done without his

knowledge or advice. He concluded by ob-

serving, that he had ventured his all, life,

fortune, and family, in short, every thing but

his honour, that, as to the last, he had some

to lose, but none to gain, in the way things

were managed, and that, therefore, he had

resolved upon serving in a humble capacity.
7

There appears to be no foundation for the

statement 8 that Lord George resigned his com-

mission from a dislike to serve under the Duke
of Perth, whom he never mentions but with

respect, although he was much inferior to Lord

George in ability. He has also been accused

of arrogance both to those of his own rank and

even to the prince. But as Burton 9 well re-

marks, "men of ability like Murray, unless

they preserve a rigid restraint, are apt to let

the contempt they feel for the silly people they
are embarked with become unreasonably appa-

rent, especially when they are interrupted in

their plans by those who do not understand

them." The Duke of Perth, who was a Roman
Catholic, on its being represented to him that

it might injure the prince's cause to have at

the head of the army one of his persuasion,

cheerfully resigned his commission. On this,

Ix>rd George, with whose valuable services the

7 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 52. 8 Kirkcmind MS.
u

Scotland, (16891747) vol. ii. p. 476.

army could not dispense, was persuaded to

assume his command. He thus became virtu-

ally general of the army, under the prince; for

his brother, Tullibardine, who was in a bad

state of health, took nothing upon him. 1

Although Marshal Wade must have been

duly apprised of the arrival of the Highland

army in England, yet it was not until he had

received intelligence of their march to Bramp-

ton, and of their probable advance upon New-

castle, that he began to move. He set out

from Newcastle on the 16th of November, the

day after the surrender of Carlisle; but a deep

snow, which had just fallen, so retarded his

march, that his army did not reach Ovington
till eight o'clock that night. Next day he

advanced to Hexham, where the first column

of his army arrived about four o'clock in the

afternoon
;
but the rear did not get up till near

midnight. The army, unable to proceed farther

on account of the snovw> encamped on a moor

near the town, and the men were provided

with a sufficient quantity of straw to repose

upon by the inhabitants, who kindled large

fires all over the ground to protect the troops

from the cold, which was unusually severe.

At Hexham, Wade was informed jof the reduc-

tion of Carlisle. He remained tlier^ three days
in the expectation of a thaw; but the road to

Carlisle continuing impassable, he returned to

Newcastle, Avhich he reached on the 22d of

November. 2 The conduct of Marshal Wade,
in delaying his march from Newcastle, has

been justly censured, for there can be no doubt

that had he made a movement in advance upon
Carlisle about the time the insurgents marched

to Brampton, that town would have been saved.

The sudden and unexpected success which

had attended Charles's arms in England, spread

a general alarm through all the northern and

western parts of that kingdom, and extended

even to the capital itself. Such was the alter-

nation of hope and fear in the minds of the

people of all classes, that whilst the most

trifling article of good news led them to in-

dulge in the most extravagant manifestations

of joy, the smallest reverse of fortune plunged
them into the most abject distress. Sir An-

drew Mitchell, alluding to this circumstance in

1 Kirkconnel MS. Boyse, p. 101.
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a letter to President Forbes, says, that if he

had not lived long enough in England to know

the natural bravery of the people, he should

have formed a very false opinion of them from

their demeanour at the period in question.
3

As soon as the news of the surrender of

Carlisle was known in London, the government

resolved to assemble an army of 10,000 men

in Staffordshire, under Sir John Ligonier, an

officer of considerable military experience. For

this purpose, Sir John left London on the 21st

of November, taking along with him nine old

battalions, two regiments of dragoons, and part

of his own regiment of horse. In addition to

this and the other army under Wade, a third

army, to be placed under the immediate com-

mand of his majesty, was ordered to be raised,

and encamped in the vicinity of London for

its protection. The city and castle of Chester

were put in a proper state of defence, and the

town of Liverpool raised a regiment of 700

men, who were clothed and maintained at the

expense of the inhabitants.

When mustered at Carlisle, the prince's army
amounted only to about 4,500 men. 4 The idea

of marching to London and overturning the

government with such a force, in the face of

three armies and a numerous militia, amount-

ing in all to upwards of 60,000 men, could

scarcely have been entertained by any adven-

turer, however sanguine his hopes may have

bee'n; but Charles was so full of his object, that

he shut his eyes to the great difficulties of the

enterprise, which he imagined would be sur-

mounted by the tried valour of his troops, and

the junction of a considerable party in England
devoted to his cause.

To determine upon the course to be next

pursued, Charles called a council of war a few

.days after the capture of Carlisle, in which dif-

ferent opinions were maintained. As there

was no appearance of either an invasion from

France, or an insurrection in England, some of

the members proposed returning to Scotland,

where a defensive war could be carried on till

such time as the prince should be in a condi-

tion to resume offensive operations. Others

8 Culloden Papers, p. 255.
4 The Chevalier Johnstone says it did. not exceed

4,500; and Maxwell of Kirkconnel, that it amounted
to 4,400.

were for remaining at Carlisle, and quartering
the army in the neighbourhood till they saw

whether there should be any indications of a

rising in England. A third party proposed
that they should march to Newcastle and en-

gage Wade's army. A fourth, that the army
should continue its route to London by the

west or Lancashire road, in support of which

opinion they urged, that being now in pos-

session of Carlisle, they had, at the worst, a

safe retreat. This last proposal being quite

in accordance with the prince's own senti-

ments, he declared that his opinion of marching

directly to London, in terms of the resolution

entered into at Edinburgh^ was in no respect

altered since he entered England. Lord George

Murray, who had hitherto remained silent, was

then desired by the prince to give his opinion.

His lordship entered at some length into the

question; stated the advantages and disadvan-

tages of each of the different opinions; and

concluded, by observing, that for himself he

could not venture to advise his royal highness
to march far into England, without receiving

more encouragement from the country than he

had hitherto got; but he was persuaded, that if

his royal highness was resolved to make a trial

of what could be expected, and would march

south, his army, though small, would follow

him. After Lord George had done speaking,

Charles immediately said he would venture the

trial. In giving his opinion, Lord George says
he spoke with the more caution, in consequence
of the recent circumstances which had led to

his resignation.
5

As a considerable number of men had been

collected at Perth since the prince's departure

from Scotland, and more were on their way
thither from the north, Charles, before leaving

Carlisle for the south, sent Maclauchlan of

Maclauchlan to Scotland with an order to Lord

Strathallan, to march with all the forces under

his command, and join the army in England;
but this order was disregarded.

Whilst encamped at Duddingston, the High-
landers preferred sleeping in the open air, and

had with difficulty been prevailed upon to use

the tents which had been captured at Preston

and those provided at Edinburgh. These tents

5 Lord George Murray's Narrative, Jacobite Memoirs,

p. 48. Home's Rebellion, p. 143.

4 F
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were packed up for the campaign in England:

but the party, to whose care they were intrusted,

most unaccountably left the whole of them at

Lockerby along with other baggage. The

whole, consisting of thirty cart-loads, were cap-

tured by a party of country people, who carried

them to Dumfries. After the surrender of

Carlisle, Lochiel went with a party to reclaim

the baggage, failing which, he was ordered to

exact 2,000 from the town; but before he

reached Dumfries he was recalled. The army,

therefore, being now without tents, and the

season very severe, it was resolved so to arrange

the order of march as to get the men accom-

modated in the to\wos. For this purpose, it

was determined that one part of the army

should precede the other by a day's march, the

second division always occupying the quarters

vacated by the first; but that, where the coun-

try would admit of it, there should be only

half-a-day's march betwixt them. 6

In accordance with this plan, the first divi-

sion, commanded by Lord George Murray, left

Carlisle on the 20th of November. It con-

sisted, with the exception of the Duke of

Perth's regiment, which being appointed to

guard the thirteen cannon and ammunition,

was not included in either division, of the

whole of the low country regiments,
7 six in

number, with the life-guards under Lord Elcho,

who marched at the head of the division. Each

of these regiments led the van in its turn.

This division reached Penrith the same day,

having performed a march of eighteen miles.

The second division, consisting of the clan

regiments and the remainder of the cavalry,

headed by the prince in person, left Carlisle

next day, and arrived at Penrith that night,

and entered the quarters occupied by the first

division, which marched the same day to Shap,
where it passed the night* In the march of

6 Kirkconnel MS.
7 So called, to distinguish them from the clan regi-

ments, though the greater part were Highlanders, and
wore the Highland garb, which was indeed the dress
of the whole army. Idem.

8
Charles, during his stay at Carlisle, lived in the

house of a Mr. Hymer, an attorney, to whom he paid
twenty guineas, being five guineas per diem, for the
use of his house, as noted in the prince's household

book, published in the Jacobite Memoirs. James Gib,
his master of household, appears to have grudged
Charles's liberality, as he observes that Hymer fur-
nished nothing, not even coal or candle; and, more-

the prince's division the cavalry always marched

at its head, and each of the clan regiments led

the van by turns, agreeably to the plan observed

by the division under Lord George Murray.
A garrison of about 200 men was left in Car-

lisle under the command of one Hamilton, who
had been made deputy-governor under the

Duke of Perth, on whom the governorship had

been conferred. 9

On reaching Penrith, Charles, for the first

time, heard of the march of Wade from New-

castle, and of his arrival at Hexham. Resolved

to return to Carlisle and give battle to Wade,
should he advance upon that city, Charles

remained all the next day at Penrith, waiting
for further intelligence of the marshal's move-

ments
;
but receiving information from Lord

Kilmarnock, who still remained with his horse

at Brampton, that the English general was on

his way back to Newcastle, Charles marched

to Kendal on the 23d. The van of the army,
which had arrived at Kendal on the previous

day, marched on the 23d to Lancaster, where

it halted for the night. The prince resumed

his march on the 25th, and reached Lancaster,

on which day the first division went to Gar-

stang. On the 26th the whole army reached

Preston, where it halted till the 27th. Re-

collecting the fate of the Highland army at

Preston in 1715, the Highlanders had become

possessed of the idea that they would never get

beyond that town ; but Lord George Murray,
on being informed of it, dispelled this supersti-

tious dread by crossing the bridge over the

Rlbble, and quartering a considerable number

of his men on the other side of that river. x

During his progress to Preston, Charles

received no marks of attachment from the in-

habitants of the towns and country through
which he passed ;

but at Preston his arrival

was hailed with acclamations and the ringing

of bells. With the exception, however, of Mr.

Townley, a Catholic gentleman who had been

in the French service, and two or three other

over, that he and his wife had every day two dishes of

meat at dinner, and as many at supper, at the cost of

the prince. But Charles's liberality was not confined
to landlords, for Gib states, that whenever he happened
to pass even a night in a gentleman's house, his ordi-

nary custom was to give at least five guineas of
'

drink-

money
'

to the servants.
9 Kirkconnel MS. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 49.
1 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 457.
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gentlemen, no person of any note joined him.

By dint of entreaty a few recruits were indeed

raised
;
but it was not with such levies that

Charles could expect to strengthen his army.

At Preston Charles held a council of war, at

which he repeated the assurances he alleged

he had received from his English partisans,

and gave fresh hopes of being joined by them

on their arrival at Manchester. The High-
land chiefs were prevailed upon to continue

their march. Lord George Murray proposed

to march with his column to Liverpool, and

to join the other division at Macclesfield
;
but

this proposal was overruled. 2

Accordingly, on the 28th, the Highland army
left Preston and marched to Wigan,

3 where

they passed the night. Next day the whole

army entered Manchester, amid the acclama-

tions of the inhabitants, who illuminated their

houses, and lighted up bonfires in the evening,

to express their joy. The same evening one

Dickson, a sergeant, enlisted by the Chevalier

Johnstone, from the prisoners taken at Pres-

ton, presented 180 recruits whom he had raised

in the course of the day in Manchester. This

young Scotsman, whom the Chevalier repre-

sents to have been " as brave and intrepid as

a lion," disappointed at his own ill success in

raising recruits at Preston, had requested per-

mission from Johnstone, in whose company he

was, to proceed to Manchester a day's march

before the army to make sure of some recruits

before it should arrive there. The Chevalier

reproved him sharply for entertaining so wild

and extravagant a project, which would expose

him to the danger of being taken and hanged,

and ordered him back to his company ; but

Dickson, reckless of consequences, quitted Pres-

ton on the evening of the 28th, with his mistress

and a drummer, and travelling all night, entered

Manchester next morning, and immediately

began to beat up for recruits for " The Yellow

Haired Laddie." Conceiving that the High-
land army was at hand, the populace at first

did not interrupt him
;
but when they ascer-

tained that the army would not arrive till the

evening, they surrounded him in a tumultuous

2 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 52.
3 At Wigan, Charles gave "a woman "

ten guineas
for one night for the use of her house, her husband,
"a squire, being from home." Household Book.

manner, Avith the intention of taking him

prisoner dead or alive. Dickson presented his

blunderbuss, charged with slugs, threatened to

blow out the brains of those who first dared

to lay 1 ands on himself or the two who

accompanied him
;
and by turning round con-

tinually, facing in all directions, and behaving
like a lion, he soon enlarged the circle which

a crowd of people had formed around him.

Having contrived for some time to manoeuvre

in this way, those of the inhabitants of Man-

chester, who were attached to the house of

Stuart, took arms, and flew to the assistance of

Dickson, to rescue him from the fury of the

mob
;
so that he had soon 500 or 600 men to

aid him, who dispersed the crowd in a very
short time. Dickson now triumphed in his

turn
;
and putting himself at the head of his

followers, he proudly paraded undisturbed the

whole day with his drummer, enlisting all who
oifered themselves. That evening, on present-

ing his recruits, it was found that the whole

amount of his expenses did not exceed three

guineas. This adventure gave rise to many a

joke, at the expense of the town of Manchester,

from the singular circumstance of its having
been taken by a sergeant, a drummer, and a

girl.*

The van of the prince's army, consisting of

100 horse, entered Manchester on the evening
of the 28th of November, and, to magnify their

numbers, ordered quarters to be prepared for

10,000 men. Another party of cavalry entered

the town at ten o'clock next morning, and

about two o'clock in the afternoon, Charles him-

self, accompanied by the main body, marched

in on foot, surrounded by a select body of the

clans. He wore on this occasion a light tartan

plaid belted with a blue sash, a grey wig, and

a blue velvet bonnet with silver lace, having a

white rose in the centre of the top, by which

latter badge he was distinguished from his

general officers, who wore their cockades on

one side. 5
Here, as in all the other towns

through which the Highlanders had passed,

the Chevalier de St. George was proclaimed.

The bells of the town were rung, and in the

4 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 63. This statement of

the Chevalier Johnstone's is corroborated in the main

by a contemporary journal in Marchant, p. 197.
B
Boyse, p. 103.
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evenin"
1 an illumination was made and bonfires

lighted, by order of the prince, who also issued

a proclamation requiring all persons, who had

public money in their hands, to pay it into his

treasury. The army halted a day at Man-

chester and beat up for recruits. They were

joined by some young men of the most respect-

able families in the town, by several substantial

tradesmen and farmers, and by upwards of 100

common men. These, with the recruits raised

by Dickson, were formed into a corps called

the Manchester regiment, the command of

which was given to Mr. Townley, on whom
the rank of Colonel was conferred. This regi-

ment never exceeded 300 men, and were all

the English who ever openly declared for the

prince.
6

Though Charles's reception at Manchester had

been rather flattering, yet the countenance he

received was not such as to encourage him to

proceed, and a retreat now began to be talked of.

One of Lord George Murray's friends ventured

to hint to him that he thought they had ad-

vanced far enough, as neither of the events

they had anticipated, of an insurrection in

England, or a landing from France, were likely

to take place. Lord George, who, it is under-

stood, had always a retreat in view, if not sup-

ported by a party in England or by succours

from abroad, said that they might make a

farther trial by going as far as Derby, but that

if they did not receive greater encouragement
than they had yet met with, he would propose
a retreat to the prince.

Conceiving that it was the intention of

Charles to march by Chester into Wales, the

bridges over the Mersey, on the road to Chester,
had been broken down by order of the au-

thorities; but this precaution was quite un-

necessary. After halting a day at Manchester
the army proceeded to Macclesfield on the

morning of the 1st of December, in two divi-

sions. One took the road to Stockport, and
ihe other that to Knottesford. The bridge
near Stockport having been broken down,
Charles crossed the river up to his middle
in water. At Knottesford the other division
crossed the river over temporary bridges, made
chiefly out of poplar trees laid length-ways

6 Kirkamnel MS. Johnstoue's Memoirs, p. 66.

with planks across. The horse and artillery

crossed at Chedle-ford. In the evening both

divisions joined at Macclesfield, where they

passed the night.
7

At Macclesfield Charles received intelligence

that the army of Ligonier, of which the Duke

of Cumberland had taken the chief command,
was on its march, and was quartered at Lich-

field, Coventry, Stafford, and Newcastle-under-

Lyme. The prince resolved to march for Derby.

To conceal their intentions from the enemy,
Lord George Murray offered to go with a divi-

sion of the army to Congleton, which lay on

the direct road to Lichfield, by which move-

ment he expected that the duke would collect

his army in a body at Lichfield, and thereby

leave the road to Derby open.
8 This proposal

having been agreed to, Lord George went next

day with his division to Congleton, whence he

despatched Colonel Ker at night with a party

towards Newcastle-under-Lyme, whither the

Duke of Kingston had retired with his horse,

on the approach of the Highlanders, to get in-

telligence of the enemy. Ker came to a vil-

lage within three miles of Newcastle, and had

almost surprised a party of dragoons, and suc-

ceeded in seizing one Weir, a noted spy, who
had been at Edinburgh all the time the prince

was there, and who had kept hovering about

the army during its march to give intelligence

of its motions. 9 The main body of the royal

army, which was posted at Newcastle-under-

Lyme, on hearing of the march of the division

of the Highland army upon Congleton, retreated

towards Lichfield, and other bodies that were

beyond Newcastle advanced for the purpose
of concentrating near that town, by which

7
Boyse, p. 104.

8 Lord George Murray's Narrative, in Jacobite Me-
moirs, p. 53.

9 When Weir was taken, Mr. Maxwell says, "he
was immediately known to be the same person that
had been employed in that business in Flanders, the

year before. It was proposed to hang him immediately,
in punishment of what he had done, and to prevent
the mischief he might do in case the prince did not
succeed. But the prince could not be brought to con-
sent. He still insisted that Weir was not, properly
speaking, a spy, since he was not found in the army in

disguise. I cannot tell whether the prince, on this

occasion, was guided by his opinion or by his inclina-

tion. I suspect the latter, because it was his constant

practice to spare his enemies, when they were in his

power. I don't believe there was one instance to thu

contrary to be found in his whole expedition." Kirk-
connel MS.
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movements the design of Lord George Murray
was completely answered. Having thus suc-

ceeded in deceiving the duke, Lord George

Murray, after passing the night at Congleton,

went off early next morning with his division,

and turning to the left, passed through Leek,

and arrived at Ashbourne in the evening.

Charles, who had halted a day at Macclesfield,

took the road to Derby by Gawsworth, and

entered Leek shortly after the other division

had left it. He would have remained there

till next morning; but as he considered it un-

safe to keep his army divided at such a short

distance from the royal forces, who might fall

upon either division, he set out from Leek

about midnight, and joined the other column

at Ashbourne early in the morning.
1 The

Duke of Devonshire, who had been posted in

the town of Derby, with a body of 700 militia,

on hearing of the approach of the Highland

army had retired from the town on the preced-

ing evening.
2

On the 4th of December Charles put the first

division of his army in motion, and at eleven

o'clock in the forenoon his van-guard, consist-

ing of thirty horse, entered Derby and ordered

quarters for 9,000 men. About three o'clock

in the afternoon Lord Elcho arrived with the

life-guards and some of the principal officers

on horseback. These were followed, in the

course of the evening, by the main body, which

entered in detached parties to make the army

appear as numerous as represented. Charles

himself did not arrive till the dusk of the even-

ing; he entered the town on foot, and took up
his quarters in a house belonging to the Earl

of Exeter. During the day the bells were

rung, and bonfires were lighted at night. The

magistrates were ordered to attend in the mar-

ket-place, in their gowns, to hear the usual

proclamations read; but having stated that

they had sent their gowns out of town, their

attendance was dispensed with, and the pro-

clamations were made by the common crier. 3

The fate of the empire and his own destiny

may be said to have now depended upon the

next resolution which Charles was to take.

He had, after a most triumphant career, ap-

1
Jacobite, Memoirs, p. 54. Kirkconnel MS.

2
Boyse, p. 164.

3
Marchant, p. 202. Boyse, p. 164.

preached within 127 miles of London, and

there seemed to be only another step necessary

to complete the chivalrous character of his ad-

venture, and to bring his enterprise to a suc-

cessful termination. This was, to have in-

stantly adopted the bold and decisive measure

of marching upon and endeavouring to seize

the capital. The possession of the metropolis,

where Charles had a considerable party, would

have at once paralysed the government; and

the English Jacobites, no longer afraid of

openly committing themselves, would have

rallied round his standard. The consternation

which prevailed in London when the news of

the arrival of the Highland army at Derby
reached that capital, precludes the idea that

any effectual resistance would have been offered

on the part of the citizens; and it was the

general opinion, that if Charles had succeeded

in beating the Duke of Cumberland, the army
which had assembled on Finchley Common
would have dispersed of its own accord. 4 Al-

luding, in a number of the True Patriot, to the

dismay which pervaded the minds of the citi-

zens of London, Fielding says, that when the

Highlanders, by
" a most incredible march,"

got between the Duke of Cumberland's army
and the metropolis, they struck a terror into it,

" scarce to be credited." The Chevalier John-

stone, who collected information on the spot

shortly after the battle of Culloden, says, that

when the intelligence of the capture of Derby
reached London, many of the inhabitants fled

to the country, carrying along with them their

most valuable effects, and that all the shops

were shut, that there was a prodigious run

upon the bank, which only escaped bankruptcy

by a stratagem, that although payment was

not refused, the bank, in fact, retained its

specie, by keeping it continually surrounded

by agents of its own with notes, who, to gain

time, were paid in sixpences; and as a regula-

tion had been made, that the persons who
came first should be entitled to priority of pay-

ment
;
and as the agents went out by one door

with the specie they had received, and brought
it back by another, the bona fide holders of

notes could never get near enough to present

them; that King George had ordered his

4 Johnstone s Memoirs, p. 78.
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yachts oil board of which he had put all his

most precious effects to remain at the Tower

stairs in readiness to sail at a moment's warn-

ing, and that the Duke of Newcastle, secre-

tary of state for the war department, had shut

himself up in his house a whole day,
5 deliber-

ating with himself upon the part it would be

most prudent for him to take, doubtful even

whether he should not immediately declare for

the prince.
6

The only obstacle to Charles's march upon

the capital was the army of the Duke of Cum-

berland, which was within a day's march of

Derby. From the relative position of the two

armies, the Highlanders might, with their

accustomed rapidity, have outstripped the

duke's army, and reached the capital at least

one day before it; but to Charles it seemed

unwise to leave such an army, almost double

his own' in point of numbers, in his rear, whilst

that of Wade's would advance upon his left

flank. Of the result of an encounter with

Cumberland, Charles entertained the most

sanguine hopes. His army was small, when

compared to that of his antagonist; but the

paucity of its numbers was fully compensated

by the personal bravery of its component parts,

and the enthusiastic ardour which pervaded
the bosom of every clansman. At no former

stage of the campaign were the Highlanders in

better spirits than on their arrival at Derby.

They are represented by the Chevalier John-

stone as animated to the highest pitch of en-

thusiasm, breathing nothing but a desire for

the combat; and were to be seen during the

whole day waiting in crowds before the shops
of the cutlers to get their broadswords sharp-

ened, and even quarrelling with one another

for priority in whetting those fearful weapons.
7

It was not without reason, therefore, that

Charles calculated upon defeating Cumberland;
and although there was a possibility that that

bold and daring adventurer or his army, and

perhaps both, might perish in the attempt to

seize the capital, yet the importance of the

juncture, and the probability that such a
favourable opportunity of

accomplishing his

B Burton discredits these statements, there beinghe says, no contemporary evidence in their favour
Scotland (16891747), vol. ii. p. 483.

Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 75. ?
Idem, p. 07.

object might never again occur, seem to justify

Charles in his design of advancing immediately

upon London. However, whatever might havo

been the result of the advance of the rebel

army, other counsels prevailed, and Charles

reluctantly yielded to the entreaties of his

friends, who advised a retreat. 8

On the morning after the arrival of the

Highland army at Derby, Charles held a coun-

cil of war to deliberate upon the course to be

pursued. The prince, who never for a moment

entertained the least idea of a retreat, and who
considered his own personal safety a minor

consideration, urged every argument in his

power for an immediate advance, with all the

vehemence and ardour characteristic of an en-

terprising and fanatic mind. He said that he

did not doubt, 'that, as his cause was just, it

would prevail, that he could not think of

retreating after coming so far, and that he

was hopeful there would be a defection in the

enemy's army, and that some of their troops

would join him. Lord George Murray, how-

ever, proposed a retreat, and used a variety of

arguments, which appeared to him unanswer-

able, in support of that measure. He repre-

sented to his royal highness and the council,

that they had advanced into England depending

upon French succours, or an insurrection in

that kingdom, and that they had been disap-

pointed in both, that the prince's army, by

itself, was by no means a match for the troops

which the government had assembled, that

besides the Duke of Cumberland's army, which

was between 7,000 and 8,000 men strong, and

which was expected that night at Stafford,

Marshal Wade was coming up by hard marches

by the east road with an army of 10,000 men,
and that he was already at Ferrybridge, which

was within two or three days' march of the

Highland army, that in addition to these two

armies, there was a third at least equal to

either of them already forming in the neigh-

bourhood of London, consisting of guards and

8 Burton appears to think that there was little dan-

ger of any serious consequences following the posses-
sion of London by Charles. "The days were long
past," he says,

" when the rising of a body of the Eng-
lish gentry brought a certain force into the field

;
and a

few wealthy peers and squires, with their lacqueys and

grooms, would have gone little way to help some five

thousand janissaries in keeping down the people of

England. "Scotland (16891747), vol. ii. p. 485.
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horse, with troops which the government would

bring from the coast, where they were quartered;

so that there would be three armies of regular

troops, amounting together to about 30,000

men, which would surround the Highland

army, which was not above a sixth of that

number. That, admitting that the prince

should beat Cumberland or "Wade, he might,

should he lose 1,000 or 1,500 of the best of

his men, be undone by such a victory, as the

rest would be altogether unfit to engage a fresh

army, which he must expect to encounter,

that, on the other hand, should the prince be

defeated, it could not be supposed that he or

any of his men could escape, as the militia,

who had not hitherto appeared much against

the Highland army, would, upon its defeat,

possess themselves of all the roads, and the

enemy's horse would surround them on all

sides, that as Lord John Drummond had

lately landed in Scotland with his own regi-

ment and some Irish troops from France, the

prince would have a better chance of success

by returning to Scotland, that the forces

under Lord John Drummond and the High-
landers assembled at Perth, would, when united,

form an army almost as numerous as that under

the prince, that since the court of France had

begun to send troops, it was to be hoped it

would send considerable succours, and as the

first had landed in Scotland, it was probable

the rest would follow the same route, that if

the prince was cut off, all the succours France

could send would avail nothing, and " the

king's
"

affairs would be ruined for ever, that

the prince had no chance of beating in succes-

sion the armies opposed to him, unless the

English troops should be seized with a panic,

and run away at the sight of the Highlanders,

a circumstance barely possible, but not to be

depended upon, that the whole world would

blame the prince's counsellors as rash and fool-

ish, for venturing an attempt which could not

succeed, and that the prince's person, should

he escape being killed in battle, would fall into

the enemy's hands. In fine, that nothing
short of an absolute certainty of success could

justify such a rash undertaking, but that re-

treat, which was still practicable, and of which

Lord George offered to undertake the conduct,

would givB the prince a much better chance of
]

succeeding than a battle under such circum-

stances, and would do him as much honour as

a victory.
9

Charles still persevered in his resolution,

and insisted on giving battle next morning to

the Duke of Cumberland, and advancing to

London
;
but the chiefs of the clans unani-

mously supported the views of Lord George

Murray, and represented to his royal highness,

that although they had no doubt the High-
landers could easily beat the army of the Duke

of Cumberland, though greatly superior in point

of numbers, yet such a victory could not be

obtained without loss
;
and that an army of

4,500 men opposed to the whole force of Eng-

land, could not admit of the smallest diminu-

tion, especially as they would soon have to

fight another battle before entering London

with the army on Finchley Common. But

supposing that by some extraordinary occur-

rence they should arrive at the capital without

losing a man, what a figure would such a small

body of men make amidst its immense popula-

tion? They added, that the prince ought now
to perceive clearly how little he had to expect

from his English partisans, since, after travers-

ing all the counties reputed as to have been

most attached to his family, not a single person

of distinction had declared for him. 1 With
the exception of the Duke of Perth, who, from

deference to the prince, concurred in his opin-

ion, all the persons present were for a retreat;

the duke himself at last also declaring for that

measure. 2

Finding his council resolved upon a retreat,

Charles proposed marching into Wales instead

of returning to Carlisle; but this proposal was

also opposed by all present. His royal high-

ness at last reluctantly yielded to the opinion

of his council. In conducting the retreat, Lord

George Murray offered to remain always in the

rear himself, and proposed that each regiment

J Lord George Murray's Narrative. Kirkconnel MS.
1 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 71.
2 There seems to be an apparent discrepancy between

Lord George's statement, (Jacobite Memoirs, p. 55,)

and that of the Chevalier Johnstone, (Memoirs, p. 71,)

relative to the conduct of the Duke of Perth : but the

account in the text agrees with the account of Charles

himself, (in Appendix, No. 33, to Home's Works,) who
savs, that with the exception of himself, all the mem-
bers of the council "were of opinion that the retreat

was absolutely necessary.
"
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should take it by turns till the army reached

Carlisle; and that it should inarch in such

order, that if Lord George was attacked he

might be supported as occasion required, and

without stopping the army unless assailed by

a great body of the enemy. He also stipulated

that the cannon and carriages, with the am-

munition, should be placed in the van, and

that he should not be troubled with the charge

of them. 3

To prevent any unpleasant feeling on the

part of the army on account of the retreat, and

to conceal the intelligence of their movements

as long as possible from the enemy, the council

agreed to keep the resolution to retreat secret;

but it was divulged to Sir John Macdonald,

an Irish gentleman, and an officer in the French

service, who had come over with the prince.

In the course of the afternoon, Lord George

Murray, Keppoch, and Lochiel, while walking

together, were accosted by this gentleman, who

had just dined heartily, and made free with his

bottle, and were rallied by him a good deal

about the retreat.
" What !" addressing Kep-

poch,
" a Macdonald turn his back!" and turn-

ing to Lochiel, he continued,
" For shame ! A

Cameron run away from the enemy ! Go for-

Avard, and I'll lead you." The two chiefs and

Lord George endeavoured to persuade Sir John

that he was labouring under a mistake; but he

insisted that he was right, as he had received

certain information of the retreat. 4

Disappointed at the result of the delibera-

tions of the council, Charles was exceedingly

dejected. To raise his spirits, or to ingratiate

themselves with him, some of the council, and

particularly Sir Thomas Sheridan and Secretary

Murray, though they had approved highly of

the motion to retreat in the council, now very

inconsistently blamed it. They were, however,

aware that the retreat would, notwithstanding

their opposition, be put in execution, and to

excuse themselves for agreeing to it, they

alleged that they did so, because they knew

the army would never fight well when the

officers were opposed to its wishes. The prince

was easily persuaded that he had consented too

readily to a retreat, but he would not retract

the consent he had given unless he could bring

3 Jacoldte Memoirs, p. 56. 4
Id. p. 57.

over those to whom he had given it to his own

sentiments, which he hoped he might be able to

do. With this view he called another meeting

of the council in the evening, and in the mean-

time sent for the Marquis of Tullibardine, who

had been absent from the meeting in the morn-

ing, to ask his opinion. The marquis finding

the prince bent upon advancing, declared him-

self against a retreat; but after hearing the

arguments of the advocates of that measure at

the meeting in the evening, the marquis re-

tracted his opinion, and declared himself fully

satisfied of its necessity. Having been in-

formed of the conduct of

tampered with the prince,

officers told him at meeting, that they valued

their lives as little as brave men ought to do,

and if he was resolved to march forward, they

would do their duty to the last
;
but they re-

quested, for their own satisfaction, that those

persons who had advised his royal highness to

advance, would give their opinion in writing.

This proposal put an end to farther discussion,

and Charles, finding the members of council

inflexible in their opinion, gave way to the

general sentiments. 5

Hitherto the French court had not come

under any written engagement to support the

enterprise of Charles ;
but after the news of

the capture of Edinburgh reached France, a

treaty was entered into with the French

crown. By this treaty, which was signed at

Fontainebleau, on the 24th of October, by the

Marquis D'Argenson, on the part of the French

king, and by Colonel O'Bryen, on the part of

Prince Charles, as regent of Scotland, the

French king among other things agreed to

furnish the prince with a body of troops to be

taken from the Irish regiments in the service

of France, along with other troops, to serve

under his royal higlmess, to defend the pro-

vinces.

Lord John Drummond, who commanded a

regiment in the French service, known by the

name of Royal Scots, was appointed to the

command of the troops destined for Scotland.

Preparations were immediately made to fit out

the expedition, and Lord John received written

instructions, dated from Fontainebleau, October

5 Mem. Kirkconnel MS.
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28th, and signed by the French king, requiring

him. to repair immediately to Ostend, to super-

intend the embarkation of the troops. By
these instructions, Lord John was directed to

disembark the troops if possible upon the coast

between Edinburgh and Berwick, and as soon

as he had landed to give notice of his arrival

to Prince Charles, and that the succours which

he had brought were entirely at the disposal of

the orders of the prince, to which Lord John

himself was directed to conform, either by join-

ing his army, or acting separately, according to

the views of Charles. Lord John was also in-

structed to notify his arrival to the commander

of the Dutch troops lately arrived in England,
and to intimate to him to abstain from hostili-

ties, agreeably to the capitulations of Tournay
and Dendermonde. He was required to ask a

prompt and categorical answer as to how he

meant to act without sending to the Hague, as

the states-general had declared to the Abbe de

la Ville, that they had given positive orders to

the commanders of these troops not to infringe

the said capitulations ;
and if, notwithstanding

such notification, the Dutch troops should com-

mit acts of hostility against those of the King
of France, his lordship was ordered to confine

closely such Dutch prisoners he might make,
and to listen to no terms which would recognise

a violation of the capitulations, or dispense

the King of France from enforcing the en-

gagement that had been entered into with

the Dutch, as to the exchange of prisoners of

war. 6

Lord John Drummond accordingly proceeded
to the coast, and having completed the em-

barkation of the troops, he set sail from Dun-

kirk about the middle of November, carrying

along with him his own regiment, a select de-

tachment from each of the six Irish regiments
in the service of France, and Fiz-James's regi-

ment of horse, so called from the Duke of Ber-

wick, natural son of James the Second, who
had been their colonel. Along with these troops

were embarked a train of artillery and a con-

siderable quantity of arms and ammunition.

The forces embarked amounted to about 1,000

men, but they did not all reach their destina-

tion, as some of the transports were taken by

" See these instructions in the Stuart Papers.

English cruisers, and others were obliged to

return to Dunkirk.

From Montrose, where he arrived about the

end of November, Lord John despatched part

of his forces to Aberdeen to aid Lord Lewis

Gordon, and proceeded with the rest to Perth,

where he established his head-quarters. In

terms of his instructions, he sent a messenger
to England with a letter to Count Nassau, the

commander-in-chief of the Dutch auxiliaries,

notifying his arrival, and requiring him to ob-

serve a neutrality. He also carried letters to

the commanders of the royal forces. The

bearer of these despatches, having obtained an

escort of eight dragoons at Stirling, proceeded
to Edinburgh, and having delivered a letter to

General Guest, the commander of the castle,

went on to Newcastle, and delivered letters to

the Count and Marshal Wade. The Marshal,

however, refused to receive any message
" from

a person who was a subject of the king, and in

rebellion against his majesty." At the same

time his lordship sent another messenger with

a letter to Lord Fortrose, announcing his

arrival, and urging him. to declare for the

prince as the only mode he had of retrieving

his character. To induce him to join, Lord

John informed his lordship that the prince had

entered Wales, where he had about 10,000

friends, and that " his royal highness, the

Duke of York," accompanied by Lord Marischal,

would immediately join him at the head of

10,000 men. 7

Apprehensive that Lord John would cross

the Forth above Stirling, two regiments of foot,

and Hamilton's and Gardiner's dragoons, which

had arrived at Edinburgh from Berwick, on

the 14th of November, began their march to

Stirling, on the 7th of December, to guard the

passages of the Forth, and were joined at Stir-

ling by the Glasgow regiment of 600 men,
commanded by the Earl of Home. Lord John

Drummond, however, it appears, had no in-

tention of crossing the Fortli at this time.

Almost simultaneously with Lord John

Drummond's expedition, the French ministers

appear to have contemplated a descent upon

England under Lord Marischal, preparatory to

which, Prince Henry repaired, by invitation,

7 Home, Appendix, No. 35.

4o
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to Paris. Twelve thousand men were to have

been employed upon this expedition ;
but the

retreat of Charles from Derby, and the diffi-

culty of transporting such a large force to Eng-

land, seem to have prevented its execution.

On arriving at Derby, Charles had sent for-

ward a party on the road to London to take

possession of Swarkstone bridge, about six

miles from Derby. Orders had been given to

break down this bridge, but before these orders

could be put in execution, the Highlanders

had possessed themselves of it. The Duke of

Cumberland, who, before this movement, had

left Stafford with the main body of his army

for Stone, returned to the former place, on the

4th of December, on learning that the High-

land army was at Derby. Apprehending that

it was the intention of Charles to march to

London, he resolved to retire towards North-

ampton, in order to intercept him ;
but finding

that the young Chevalier remained at Derby,

his royal highness halted, and encamped on

Meriden Common in the neighbourhood of

Coventry.
8

Agreeably to a resolution which had been

entered into the previous evening, the High-

land army began its retreat early on the morn-

ing of the Gth of December, before daybreak.

Scarcely any of the officers, with the exception

of those of the council, were aware of the reso-

lution, and all the common men were entirely

ignorant of the step they were about to take.

To have communicated such a resolution to the

army all at once, would, in its present dispo-

sition, have produced a mutiny. To keep the

army in suspense as to its destination, a quantity

of powder and ball was distributed among the

men, as if they were going into action, and by
some it was insinuated that "Wade was at hand,

and that they were going to fight him ;
whilst

by others it was said that the Duke of Cum-
berland's army was the object of their attack. 9

At the idea of meeting the enemy, the High-
landers displayed the greatest cheerfulness;

but as soon as they could discriminate by day-

light the objects around them, and could dis-

cover by an examination of the road, that they
were retracing their steps, nothing was to be

heard throughout the whole army, but expres-

8
Boyse, p. 106.

9 Kirkconnel MS. Johnstone's Memoirs, p, 78.

sions of rage and lamentation. Had it sustained

a defeat, the grief of the army coiild not have

been more acute. Even some of those who

were in the secret of the retreat, and thought

it the only reasonable scheme that could be

adopted, could scarcely be reconciled to it

when about to be carried into effect. 1

Charles himself partook deeply of the dis-

tress of his men. Overcome by the intensity

of his feelings, he was unable for a time to

proceed with the army, and it was not until

his men had been several hours on their march

that he left Derby. Forced in spite of himself

to give a reluctant assent to a measure, which,

whilst it rendered useless all the advantages

he had obtained, rendered his chance of gaining

the great stake he was contending for extremely

problematical ;
his spirits sunk within him,

and an air of melancholy marked his exterior.

In marching forwards, he had always been

first up in the morning, put his men in motion

before break of day, and had generally walked

on foot
;
but in the retreat, his conduct was

totally changed. Instead of taking the lead,

he allowed the army to start long before he

left his quarters, kept the rear always behind

waiting for him, and when he came out, mounted

his horse, and rode straight forward to his next

quarters with the van. 2

After the first burst of indignation had in

some degree subsided, and when the men began
to speculate upon the reasons which could have

induced the retreat, a statement was given out

that the reinforcements expected from Scot-

land were on the road, and had already entered

England, that Wade was endeavouring to

intercept them, that the object of the retro-

grade movement was to effect a junction with

them, and that as soon as these reinforce-

ments had joined the army, the march to Lon-

don would be resumed. It was hinted that

they would probably meet these reinforcements

about Preston or Lancaster. The prospect thus

held out to them of a speedy advance upon

London, tended to allay the passions of the

men, but they continued sullen and silent dur-

ing the whole of the day.
3

1 Kirkconnel MS.
a Lord George Murray's Narrative in Jacobite Me*

moirs, p. 59.
3 Kirkconnel MS.
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The army lay the first night at Ashbourne.

It reached Leek next day ;
but that town being

too small to accommodate the army, Elcho's

and Pitsligo's horse, and Ogilvy's and Roy
Stuart's regiments of foot, went on to Maccles-

field, where they passed the night. The re-

mainder of the army came next day to Maccles-

field, and the other division, which had passed

the night there, went to Stockport. On the

9th both divisions met on the road to Man-

chester, and entered that town in a body.

There had been considerable rioting and con-

fusion in Manchester on the preceding day.

Imagining from the retreat that the Highland

army had sustained a reverse, a mob had col-

lected, and, being reinforced by great numbers

of country people with arms, had insulted the

Jacobite inhabitants, and seemed disposed to

dispute the entrance of the Highland army
into the town

;
but upon the first appearance

of the van, the mob quietly dispersed, and

order was restored. 4 In the retreat some abuses

were committed by stragglers, who could not

be prevented from going into houses. As Lord

George Murray found great difficulty in bring-

ing these up, he found it necessary to appoint

an expert officer out of every regiment to assist

in collecting the men belonging to their different

corps who had kept behind, a plan which he

found very useful. 5

It was Charles's intention to have halted a

day at Manchester, and he issued orders to that

effect
;
but on Lord George Murray represent-

ing to him that delay might be dangerous, the

army left that town on the forenoon of the

10th, and reached Wigan that night. Next

day the army came to Preston, where it halted

the whole of the 12th. From Preston the

Duke of Perth was despatched north with

100 horse, to bring up the reinforcements from

Perth. 6
-

The prince arrived at Lancaster late in the

evening of the 1 3th. On reaching his quarters,

Lord George Murray found that orders had

been given out, that the army was to halt there

all the next day. On visiting Charles's quar-

toi-s next morning, Lord George was told by
the prince that he had resolved to fight the

enemy, and desired him to go along with

4 Kirkconnel MS. 5 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 58.
6 Kirkconnel MS.

O'Sullivan, and reconnoitre the ground in the

neighbourhood for the purpose of choosing a

field of battle. His lordship, contrary to the

expectations of those who had advised Charles

to fight, and who supposed that Lord George
would have opposed that measure, offered no

advice on the subject. He merely proposed

that as the ground suitable for regular troops

might not answer the Highlanders, some High-
land officers should also inspect the ground,

and as Lochiel was present, he requested that

he would go along with him, a request with

which he at once complied. With an escort

of horse and foot, and accompanied by Lochiel

and O'Sullivan, Lord George returned back

about two miles, where he found a very fine

field upon a rising ground sufficiently large for

the whole army, and which was so situated,

that from whatever quarter the enemy could

come, the army would be completely covered

till the enemy were close upon them. After

surveying these grounds very narrowly, and

taking three of the enemy's rangers prisoners,

the reconnoitring party returned to Lancaster.

From the prisoners Lord George received infor-

mation that the corps called the rangers was

at Garstang, and that a great body of Wade's

dragoons had entered Preston a few hours after

he had left it. His lordship reported to the

prince the result of the survey, and told him

that if the number of his men was sufficient to

meet the enemy, he could not wish a better

field of battle for the Highlanders ;
but Charles

informed him that he had altered his mind,
and that he meant to proceed on his march

next day.
7

It is now necessary to notice the movements

of the Duke of Cumberland and Marshal

Wade. By retaining possession of Swark-

stone bridge for some time after his main body
left Derby, Charles deceived Cumberland as to

his motions, and the Highland army was two

days' march distant from the duke's army
before he was aware of its departure from

Derby. As soon, however, as he was apprised
of the retreat, the duke put himself at the

head of his horse and dragoons, and 1,000

mounted volunteers, furnished by some of the

gentlemen of Warwickshire, for the purpose of

7 Jacobite Memoirs, {>.
60. Kirkconnel MS.
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stopping the Highlanders till the royal army

should come up, or, failing in that design, of

harassing them in their retreat. He marched

by Uttoxeter and Cheadle; but the roads

being excessively bad, he did not arrive at

Macclesfield till the night of the 10th, on

which day the Highland army had reached

Wigan. At Macclesfield the duke received

intelligence that the Highlanders had left

Manchester that day. His royal highness

thereupon sent orders to the magistrates of

Manchester to seize all stragglers belonging to

the Highland army; he directed Bligh's regi-

ment, then at Chester, to march to Maccles-

field, and, at the same time, ordered the Liver-

pool Blues to return to Warrington, where

they had been formerly posted. Early on

the llth, he detached Major Wheatley with

the dragoons in pursuit of the Highlanders.

Meanwhile Marshal Wade having held a coun-

cil of war on the 8th, at Ferrybridge, in York-

shire, had resolved to march by Wakefield and

Halifax into Lancashire, in order to intercept

the insurgents in their retreat northwards.

He accordingly came to Wakefield on the 1 Oth

at night, where, learning that the van-guard of

the Highland army had reached Wigan, he

concluded that he would not be able to over-

take it, and therefore resolved to return to his

old post at Newcastle by easy marches. He,

however, detached General Oglethorpe with

the horse to join the duke. This officer

Carlisle, from Stanwix Bank 1745.

crossed Blackstone Edge with such expedition,

that he reached Preston on the same day that

the Highlanders left it, having marched about

100 miles in three days, over roads at any
time unfavourable, but now rendered almost

impassable by frost and snow. At Preston,

Oglethorpe found the Georgia rangers, and was

joined by a detachment of Kingston's horse,

commanded by Lieutenant-colonel Mordaunt.

Here these united forces halted nearly a whole

day, in consequence of an express which the

Duke of Cumberland had received from Lon-

don, announcing that a French expedition from

Dunkirk had put to sea, and requiring him

to hold himself in readiness to return to the

capital. This information was afterwards

found to be erroneous
;
bat it was of service to

the Highlanders, who, in, consequence of the

halt of the royal forces, gained a whole day's

march a-head of their pursuers.

In his retreat, the chief danger the prince

had to apprehend was from the army of Wade,

who, by marching straight across the country

into Cumberland, might have reached Penrith

a day at least before the prince ;
but by the

information he received of the route taken by
Wade's cavalry, he saw that the danger now
was that the united cavalry of both armies
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might fall upon his rear before he could reach

Carlisle. He therefore left Lancaster on the

15th; but the rear of his army was scarcely

out of the town when some of the enemy's

horse entered it. The town bells were then

rung, and the word being given from the rear

to the front, that the enemy was approaching,

the Highlanders formed in order of battle; but

the alarm turning out to be false, the army
continued its march to Kendal. The enemy's

horse, however, followed for two or three

miles, and appeared frequently in small parties,

but attempted nothing. The army entered

Kendal that night, where they were met by
the Duke of Perth and his party. In his way
north, the duke had been attacked in this town

by a mob, which he soon dispersed by firing

on them
;
but in the neighbourhood of Penrith

he met with a more serious obstruction, having
been attacked by a considerable body of militia,

both horse and foot, and being vastly outnum-

bered, was obliged to retreat to Kendal. 9

As Lord George Murray considered it im-

possible to transport the four-wheeled waggons

belonging to the army to Shap, he proposed to

the prince to substitute two-wheeled carts for

them,
1 and as he was afraid that no provisions

could be obtained at Shap, he suggested that

the men should be desired to provide them-

selves with a day's provision of bread and

cheese. Orders were accordingly issued agree-

ably to these suggestions, but that regarding

the waggons seems not to have been attended

to
;
and by some oversight, the order about the

provisions was not communicated to many of

them till they were on their march next morn-

ing. The consequence was, that the men who
were unprovided returned to the town, and

!( Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 460. Kirkconnel MS.
1 Maxwell of Kirkconnel gives a different version of

this matter from that of Lord George Murray. After

stating that his lordship represented to Charles the

dangerous situation he might be in if the united armies
of Wade and Cumberland-overtook him before reaching
Carlisle, he says that Lord George

"
proposed to avoid

them by sacrificing the cannon and all the heavy
baggage to the safety of the men, which was now at

stake. He observed that the country is mountainous
betwixt Kendal and Penrith, and the roads, in many
places, very difficult for such carriages ;

but the prince
was positive not to leave a single piece of his cannon
He would rather fight both their armies than give
such an argument of fear and weakness. He gave
peremptory orders that the march shoiild be continued
in the same order as hitherto, and not a single carriage
to be left at Kendal.

"

much confusion would have ensued, had not

Lord George Murray sent some detachments of

the rear with officers into the town to preserve

order, and to see the men return to the army.
This omission retarded considerably the march

of the army. The difficulties which Lord

George Murray had anticipated in transporting

the waggons across the hills were realised, and

by the time he had marched four miles and got

among the hills, he was obliged to halt all

night, and take up his quarters at a farm

house about a gun-shot off the road. The

Glengarry men were in the rear that day, and

though reckoned by his lordship not the most

patient of mortals, he says he " never was

better pleased with men in his life," having
done all that was possible for men to do. 2

With the exception of the Glengarry regi-

ment, the army passed the night between the

16th and 17th at Shap.
3 On the morning of

the 17th, Lord George received two messages
from Charles, ordering him upon no account

to leave the least thing, not so much as a

cannon ball behind, as he would rather return

himself than that any thing should be left.

Though his lordship had undertaken to con-

duct the retreat on the condition that he

should not be troubled with the charge of the

baggage, ammunition, &c., he promised to do

all in his power to carry every thing along

with him. To lighten the ammunition wag-

gons, some of which had broken down, his

lordship prevailed upon the men to carry about

200 cannon balls, for which service he gave

the bearers sixpence each. "With difficulty the

rear-guard reached Shap that night at a late

hour. Here he found most of the cannon, and

some of the ammunition with Colonel Roy
Stuart and his battalion. 4 The same night,

the prince with the main body arrived at Pen-

rith. Some parties of militia appeared at inter-

vals; but they kept at a considerable distance,

without attempting hostilities. 5

2 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 63.
3 In the prince's Household Book, printed among

the Jacobite Memoirs, the following entries occur :

Dec. 17th, at Shape, Tuesday.
To ale, wine, and other provisions, 4 17

The landlady for the use of her house, 2 2

N. B. The landlady a sad wife for imposing.
4 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 65.
5 Kirkconnel MS.
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Early in the morning of the 18th, the rear-

guard left Shap; but as some of the small car-

riages were continually breaking, its march was

much retarded. It had not proceeded far when

some parties of English light-horse were ob-

served hovering at some distance on the emi-

nences behind the rear-guard. Lord George

Murray notified the circumstance to the prince

at Penrith; but as it was supposed that these

were militia, the information was treated lightly.

No attempt was made to attack the rear-guard,

or obstruct its progress, till about mid- day,

when a body of between 200 and 300 horse,

chiefly Cumberland people, formed in front of

the rear-guard, behind an eminence near Clifton

Hall, and seemed resolved to make a stand.

Lord George Murray was about to ascend this

eminence, when the party was observed march-

ing two and two abreast on the top of the hill.

They suddenly disappeared to form themselves

in order of battle behind the eminence, and

made a great noise with trumpets and kettle-

drums. At this time two of the companies of

Roy Stuart's regiment, which the Duke of

Perth had attached to the artillery, were at the

head of the column. The guns and ammuni-

tion waggons followed, behind the two other

companies of the same regiment. The Glen-

garry regiment, whichmarched with Lord George

Murray at its head, was in the rear of the

column. Believing, from the great number of

trumpets and kettle-drums, that the English

army was at hand, the rear-guard remained for

a short time at the bottom of the hill, as if at

a loss how to act in a conjuncture which ap-

peared so desperate. It was the opinion of

Colonel Brown, an officer of Lally's regiment,

who was at the head of the column, that they
should rush upon the enemy sword in hand,
and either open a passage to the army at Pen-

rith, or perish in the attempt. The men of

the four companies adopting this opinion, im-

mediately ran up the hill, without informing
Lord George Murray of their resolution; and

his lordship, on observing this movement, im-

mediately ordered the Glengarry men to proceed
across the inclosure, and ascend the hill from

another quarter, as they could not conveniently

pass the waggons which had almost blocked

up the roads. The Glengarry men, throwing
off their plaids, reached the summit of the hill

almost as soon as the head of the column, on

gaining which, both parties were agreeably

surprised to find, that the only enemy in view-

was the light horse they had observed a few

minutes before, and who, alarmed at the ap-

pearance of the Highlanders, galloped off in

disorder. One of the fugitives fell from his

horse, and was cut to pieces in an instant by
the Highlanders.

6

The rear-guard resumed its march, and on

reaching the village of Clifton, Lord George

Murray sent the artillery and heavy baggage
forward to Penrith under a small escort. Being
well acquainted with all the inclosures and

parks about Lowther Hall, the seat of Lord

Lonsdale, about the distance of a mile from

Clifton, Lord George Murray, at the head of

the Glengary regiment and some horse, ex-

amined these parks and inclosures in the hope
of falling in with the light horse

; but, although

he saw several of them, he only succeeded in

making two prisoners. By these prisoners

Lord George was informed that the duke him-

self, with a body of 4,000 horse, was about a

mile behind him. As Clifton was a very good

post, Lord George Murray resolved to remain

there; and on his return to the village he sent

Colonel Roy Stuart with the two prisoners to

Penrith, to inform Charles of the near approach

of the duke, and that he would remain at Clif-

ton till further orders. In the event of the

prince approving of his intention of making a

stand at Preston, his lordship requested that

1,000 men might be sent him from Penrith.

On returning to Clifton from Lowther parks,

Lord George found the Duke of Perth there;

and, besides Colonel Roy Stuart's men, who

amounted to about 200, he also found the

Macphersons with their chief, Cluny Macpher-

son, and the Stewarts of Appin, headed by
Stewart of Ardshiel. 7

Before the return of Colonel Roy Stuart

from Penrith, the enemy appeared in sight,

and proceeded to form themselves into two

lines upon Clifton moor, about half a mile from

the village. The Duke of Perth thereupon

rode back to Penrith to bring up the rest of

the army to support Lord George, who he sup-

posed would, from the strength of his position,

6 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 87.
7 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 66.
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be able to maintain himself till joined by the

main body. The duke was accompanied by
an English gentleman who had attended Lord

George during the retreat, and, knowing the

country perfectly well, had offered to lead with-

out discovery the main body a near \fay by the

left, by which movement they would be enabled

to fall upon the enemy's flank. Had Lord

George received the reinforcement he required,

his design was to have sent half of his men

through the inclosures on his right, so as to

have flanked the duke's army on that side,

whilst it was attacked on the other by the

other half. He expected that if he succeeded

in killing but a small number of Cumberland's

horse that the rest would be thrown into dis-

order, and that as they would be obliged to

retreat through a lane nearly a mile long, be-

tween Lord Lonsdale's inclosures, that they

would choke up the road, and that many of

them would be unable to escape. In absence

of this reinforcement, however, the Lieutenant-

general was obliged to make the best disposi-

tions he could with the force he had with him,

which amounted to about 1,000 men in all,

exclusive of Lord Pitsligo's horse and hussars,

who, on the appearance of the enemy, shame-

fully fled to Penrith. 8

The dispositions of Lord George were these.

Within the inclosures to the right of the high-

way he posted the Glengarry men, and within

those to their left he placed the Stewarts of

Appin and the Macphersons. On the side of

the highway, and close to the village of Clifton,

he placed Colonel Roy Stuart's regiment. As
some ditches at the foot stretched farther to-

wards the moor on the right than on the left,

and as that part was also covered by Lord

Lonsdale's other inclosures, the party on the

right could not easily be attacked
;
and they

had this advantage, that they could with their

fire flank the enemy when they attacked the

left. To induce the enemy to believe that his

numbers were much greater than they were,

Lord George, after exhibiting the colours he

had at different places, caused them to be

rolled up, carried to other places, and again

unfurled. 9

About an hour after the Duke of Cumber-

Jacobite Memoirs, p. 68. Idem, p. 67.

land had formed his men, about 500 of his

dragoons dismounted and advanced forward to

the foot of the moor, in front of a ditch at

the bottom of one of three small inclosures

between the moor and the places where Roy
Stuart's men were posted at the village. At

this time Colonel Stuart returned from Penrith,

and, after informing Lord George that the

prince had resolved to march immediately to

Carlisle, and that he had sent forward his

cannon, he stated that it was his royal high-

ness's desire that he should immediately retreat

to Penrith. From the situation in which the

Lieutenant-general was now placed, it was

impossible to obey this order without great

danger. The dismounted horse were already

firing upon the Highlanders, who were within

musket-shot
; and, if retreat was once begun,

the men might get into confusion in the dark,

and become discouraged. Lord George pro-

posed to attack the dismounted party, and

stated his confidence that he would be able

by attacking them briskly to dislodge them ;

Cluny Macpherson and Colonel Stuart con-

curring in Lord George's opinion, that the

course he proposed was the only prudent one

that could be adopted, they agreed not to

mention the message from the prince.

In pursuance of this determination, Lord

George Murray went to the right where the

Glengarry men were posted, and ordered them,
as soon as they should observe him advance

on the other side, to move also forward and

keep up a smart fire till they came to the

lowest ditch. He observed that if they suc-

ceeded in dislodging the enemy from the hedges
and ditches, they could give them a flank fire

within pistol-shot ;
but he gave them particular

injunctions not to fire across the highway, nor

to follow the enemy up the moor. After

speaking with every officer of the Glengarry

regiment, his lordship returned to the left, and

placed himself at the head of the Macphersons,
with Cluny by his side. It was now about an

hour after sunset, and the night was somewhat

cloudy ;
but at short intervals the moon, which

was in its second quarter, broke through and

afforded considerable light. The Highlanders
had this advantage, that whilst they could see

the disposition of the enemy, their own move-

ments could not be observed. In taking their
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ground the dismounted dragoons had not only

lined the bottom inclosures which ran from

east to west, directly opposite the other in-

closures in which the Highlanders were posted,

but some of them had advanced up along two

hedges that lay south and north.

The Highlanders being ready to advance,

the Stewarts and Macphersons marched for-

ward at the word of command, as did the

Macdonalds on the right. The Highlanders

on the right kept firing as they advanced ;
but

the Macphersons, who were on the left, came

sooner in contact with the dragoons, and re-

ceived the whole of their fire. When the

balls were whizzing about them, Cluny ex-

claimed, "What the devil is this?" Lord

George told him that they had no remedy but

to attack the dragoons, sword in hand, before

they had time to charge again. Then draw-

ing his sword, he cried out,
"
Claymore," and

Cluny doing the same, the Macphersons rushed

down to the bottom ditch of the inclosure,

and clearing the diagonal hedges as they went,

fell sword in hand upon the enemy, of whom
a considerable number were killed at the lower

ditch. The rest fled across the moor, but

received in their flight the fire of the Glen-

garry regiment. In this skirmish only twelve

Highlanders were killed
;
but the royal forces

sustained a loss of about one hundred in killed

and wounded, including some officers. The

only officer wounded on the side of the High-
landers was Macdonald of Lochgarry, who
commanded the Glengarry men. Lord George

Murray made several narrow escapes. Old

Glenbucket, who, from infirmity, remained at

the end of the village on horseback, had lent

him his target, and it was fortunate for Lord

George that he had done so. By means of

this shield, which was convex, and covered

with a plate of metal painted, his lordship pro-

tected himself from the bullets of the dragoons,

which cleared away the paint off the target in

several places.
1 The only prisoner taken on

this occasion was a footman of the Duke of

Cumberland, who stated that his master would
have been killed, if a pistol, with which a

Highlander took aim at his head, had not

1 Jacobite Memoirs, T>. 72. LockJiart Papers, vol.
ii. p. 463.

missed fire. This man was sent back to his

royal highness by the prince.
2

After remaining a short time at Clifton after

the skirmish, Lord George went to Penrith,

where he found the prince ready to mount for

Carlisle. His royal highness was very well

pleased with the result of the action. The

men who had been engaged halted at Penrith

a short time to refresh themselves
;
and the

prince, after sending Clanranald's and Kep-

poch's regiments as far back as Clifton bridge,

to induce the inhabitants to believe that he

meant to fight the Duke of Cumberland, left

Penrith for Carlisle with the main body.

Next morning the whole army reached Carlisle,

where the prince found letters, though rather

of an old date, from Lord John Drummond
and Lord Strathallan. Lord John gave him

great encouragement from the court of France,

and informed his royal highness that it was

the desire of the King of France that the prince

should proceed with great caution, and if

possible avoid a decisive action till he received

the succours the king intended to send him,

which would be such as to put his success

beyond all doubt, and that, in the mean time,

he (Lord John) had brought over some troops

and a train of artillery, sufficient to reduce all

the fortresses in Scotland. Lord Strathallan

gave a very favourable account of the state of

the army assembled at Perth, which he repre-

sented as better than that which the prince

had with him. As nothing positive, however,

was known at Carlisle of the operation of the

Jacobite forces in the north, Charles resolved

to continue the retreat into Scotland. Con-

trary to the opinion of Lord George Murray,

who advised him to evacuate Carlisle, Charles

resolved to leave a garrison there to facilitate

his return into England, of which at the time

he had strong hopes when joined by the forces

under Lords Strathallan and Drummond 3 As

Carlisle was not tenable, and as the Highland

army could easily have re-entered England

independent of any obstruction from any garri-

son which could be put into it, the conduct

of Charles in leaving a portion of his army
behind has been justly reprehended ;

but there

is certainly no room for the accusation which

2 Johnstone's Memoirs, n. 92. 3 Kirkconnel MX.
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has been made against him, of having wilfully

sacrificed the unfortunate garrison.
4 It was

not without difficulty that Charles could make

up a garrison. The Duke of Perth was un-

willing to allow any of his men to remain
;

and appearing to complain in the presence of

the prince that a certain number of the Athole

men had not been draughted for that service,

Lord George Murray told him, also in the

prince's presence, that if his royal highness

would order him, he would stay with the

Athole brigade, though he knew what his fate

would be. 5 The number of men left in gar-

rison amounted to about 400. Mr. Hamilton

was continued in the command of the castle,

and Mr. Townley was made commandant of

the town.

The Highland army halted the whole of the

19th in Carlisle, and departed next day for

Scotland. The Esk, which forms part of the

boundary between England and Scotland on

the west, was, from an incessant rain of several

days, rendered impassable by the nearest road

from Carlisle
;
but at the distance of about

eight miles from Carlisle it was still fordable.

The army reached the place, where they in-

tended to cross, about two o'clock in the after-

noon. Before crossing the water, the following

route was fixed upon by the advice of Lord

George Murray, whose opinion had been asked

by Charles in presence of some of his officers,

viz., that Lord George, with six battalions,

should march that night to Ecclefechan, next

day to Moffat, and there halt a day; and

after making a feint towards the Edinburgh

4
Alluding to the retention of Carlisle, Mr. Maxwell

observes,
" This was perhaps the worst resolution the

prince had taken hitherto. I cannot help condemn-
ing it, though there were specious pretexts for it. It

was, to be sure, much for the prince's reputation upon
leaving England, to keep one of the keys of it, and
he was in hopes of returning before it could be taken

;

but he could not be absolutely sure of that, and the

place was not tenable against a few pieces of artillery,
of battering cannon, or a few mortars. It's true he
had a good many prisoners in Scotland, and might
look upon them as pledges for the lives of those he
left in garrison ;

but that was not enough. He did
not know what kind of people he had to deal with,
and he ought to be prepared against the worst that
could happen. The lives of so many of his friends

ought not to have been exposed without an indispen-
sable necessity, which was not the case

;
for blowing

up the castle, and the gates of the town, would have

equally given him an entry into England."
5 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 73.

road, as if he intended to march upon the

capital, to turn off to Douglas, then to Hamil-

ton and Glasgow, that the prince should go
with the clans and most of the horse that

night to Annan, next day to Dumfries, where

they should rest a day ;
then to Drumlanrig,

Leadhills, Douglas, and Hamilton, so as to be

at Glasgow the day after the arrival in that

city of Lord George's division.

Though the river was usually shallow at the

place fixed upon for passing, it was IIOAV swol-

len, by continued rains, to the depth of foui

feet. The passage was not without its dangers ;

but as the river might be rendered impassable

by a continuation of the rain during the night,

and as it was possible that the Duke of Cum-
berland might reach the Esk next morning, it

was resolved to cross it immediately. After

trying the water to ascertain that the ford was

good, a body of cavalry formed in the river, a

few paces above the ford, to break the force of

the stream, and another body was likewise

stationed in the river below the ford to pick

up such of the infantry as might be carried

away by the violence of the current. This

arrangement being completed, the infantry

entered the river a hundred men abreast, each

holding one another by the neck of the coat,

by which plan they supported one another

against the rapidity of the river, leaving suffi-

cient intervals between their ranks for the

passage of the water. Lord George Murray,
who was among the first to enter the water in

his philibeg, says, that when nearly across,

there were about 2,000 men in the water at

once. The appearance of the river, in the

interval between the cavalry, presented an ex-

traordinary spectacle. As the heads of the

Highlanders Avere generally all that was seen

above the water, the space of water occupied

in the passage looked like a paved street. Xot

one man was lost in the transit
;
but a few

girls who had followed their lovers in their

adventurous campaign, were swept away by
the current. After the army had passed, the

pipes began to play ;
and the Highlanders,

happy on setting their feet again on Scottish

ground, forgot for a time the disappointment

they had suffered at Derby, and testified their

6 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 73.

4 H
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joy by dancing reels upon the northern bank

of the Esk. 7

The expedition into England, though not

signalised by any great military achievement

will always hold a distinguished place in the

annals of bold and adventurous enterprise.

It was planned and carried through in all its

details with great judgment ;
and if circum-

stances had not delayed its execution, it might

have terminated in success. From the con-

sternation into which the English people were

thrown by the invasion of the Highland army,
8

7 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 74. Johnstone's Memoirs,

p. 99.
8 "The terror of the English," says the Chevalier

Johnstone, Memoirs, p. 101, "was truly inconceiv-

able, and in many cases they seemed quite bereft of

their senses. One evening as Mr. Cameron of Locliiel

entered the lodgings assigned to him, his landlady, an
old woman, threw herself at his feet, and with uplifted
hands and tears in her eyes, supplicated him to take

her life, but to spare her two little children. He asked
her if she was in her senses, and told her to explain
herself

;
when she answered, that every body said the

Highlanders ate children, and made them their com-
mon food. Mr. Cameron having assured her that they
would not injure either her or her little children, or

any person whatever, she looked at him for some
moments with an air of surprise, and then opened a

press, calling out with a loud voice, 'Come out chil-

dren ; the gentleman will not eat you.
'

The children

immediately left the press where she had concealed

them, and threw themselves at his feet. They affirmed
in the newspapers of London that we had dogs in our

army trained to fight, and that we were indebted for

our victory at Gladsmuir to these dogs, who darted
with fury on the English army. They represented
the Highlanders as monsters, with claws instead of
hands. In a word, they never ceased to circulate,

every day, the most extravagant and ridiculous stories

with respect to the Highlanders. The English soldiers

had indeed reason to look upon us as extraordinary
men, from the manner in which we had beaten them
with such inferior numbers, and they probably told
these idle stories to the country people by way of palli-

ating their own disgrace." The able editor of John-
stone's Memoirs relates in a note to the above, that
Mr. Halkston of Rathillet, who was in the expedition,
stated that the belief was general among the people
of England, that the Highlanders ate children:" While the army lay at Carlisle he was taken ill, and
went with a few of his companions to a farmer's house
in the neighbourhood, where he remained several days.
Perceiving his landlady to be a young woman, he asked
her if she had any children, and where they were.
When she found that he was no cannibal, she told him
the truth was, that all the children were sent out of
the way for fear the Highlanders should devour them."
A Derby gentleman, who had a party of forty men

quartered in his house, in a letter which appeared in
all the newspapers of the period, describes most of
them as looking

"
like so many fiends turned out of

hell to ravage the kingdom and cut throats
;
and under

their plaids nothing but various sorts of butcherin^
weapous were to be seen." He complains that theyhad eaten up "near a side of beef, eight joints of
mutton, four cheeses, with abundance of white and
brown bread, (particularly white,) three couples of
fowls, and would have dr.ims continually, as well as

it seems certain, that without the aid of a

regular army their militia would scarcely have

ventured to oppose the march of the High-
landers to the metropolis ;

but after the re-

turn of the British forces from Flanders, the

arrival of the Dutch auxiliaries, and the

assembling of the armies under "Wade and

Ligonier, the attempt appeared to be hopeless.

It was not, however, until the retreat from

Derby that the government was relieved from

its anxiety for the safety of the monarchy.
The Duke of Cumberland halted at Penrith

on the 20th of December, and marched next

day to Carlisle, which he invested the same-

day. As he was under the necessity of sending
to Whitehaven for heavy cannon, the fire from

his batteries did not commence till the morning
of the 28th. During the blockade the garri-

son fired repeatedly upon the besiegers, but

with little effect. A fire was kept up by the

besiegers from a battery of six eighteen-pound-

ers, during the 28th and 29th. Another bat-

tery of three thirteen-pounders was completed
on the 30th; but on the first fire from the old

battery that day, the besieged hung out a

white flag, and offered hostages for a capitula-

tion. The Duke of Cumberland, on observing

this signal, sent one of his aides-de-camp with

a note, desiring to know its meaning ;
to which

Governor Hamilton answered, that the object

was to obtain a cessation for a capitulation,

and desiring to know what terms his royal

highness would grant to the garrison. The

only condition the duke would grant was, that

rhe garrison should not be put to the sword,

but be reserved for the king's pleasure; and

Hamilton, seeing the impossibility of hold-

ing out, surrendered the same day. The gar-

rison, including officers, consisted of 114 men
of the Manchester regiment; of 274 men, also

including officers, chiefly of the Scotch low

ountry regiments, and a few Frenchmen and

[rishmen. The number of cannon in the

trong-ale, beer, tea, &c
"

In the midst of this general
levastation our host was convulsed with "unavoidable

aughter to see these desperadoes, from officers to the

jommon men, at their several meals, first pull off their

jonnets, and then lift up their eyes in a most solemn

manner, and mutter something to themselves, by way
of saying grace, as if they had been so many pure
primitive Christians ! ! !

"
This is merely a specimen

)f the many ridiculous stories with which the English
ournals of the period were crammed.



THE HIGHLAND ARMY ARRIVES AT GLASGOW. Gil

castle was sixteen, ten of which had been left

by the Higliland army on its return to Scot-

land. Among the prisoners were found twelve

deserters from the royal forces, who were im-

mediately hanged. The officers were kept

prisoners in the castle, but the privates were

confined in the cathedral and town-jail. The

whole were afterwards dispersed in several

jails through England. The Duke of Cumber-

land, after putting Bligh's regiment in garrison

at Carlisle, returned to London, in consequence

of an order from court. 9

CHAPTER XXXIV.

A. D. 174546.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 1727 1760.

The Highland .army returns to Scotland Arrives at

Glasgow Proceedings of the Jacobites in the North
Arrest and escape of Lord Lovat Skirmish at

Inverury Alarm at Edinburgh Arrival of an

English array The Prince at Glasgow Marches
towards Stirling Investment and surrender of the
town Skirmishing on the Forth Highland army
reinforced Hawley's army arrives at Falkirk Pre-

parations for battle Battle of Falkirk.
:

PURSUANT to the plan of march fixed upon at

crossing the Esk, the Highland army separated,

and Lord George Murray, at the head of the low

country regiments, proceeded to Ecclefechan,

where he arrived on the night of the 20th, and

marched next day to Moffat. The prince, at

the head of the clans, marched to Annan,
where he passed the night of the 20th. The
horse of the prince's division under Lord Elcho

were, after a short halt, sent to take possession

of Dumfries, which they accomplished early

next morning, and the prince, with the clans,

came up in the evening. In no town in Scot-

land had there been greater opposition dis-

played to the restoration of the house of Stuart

than in Dumfries, from the danger to which

the inhabitants supposed their religious liber-

ties, as presbyterians, would be exposed under

a catholic sovereign. This feeling, which was

strongly manifested by them in the insurrection

of 1715, had now assumed even a more hostile

appearance from the existence of the new body
of dissenters called "

Seceders," which had

9
ttoyse. p. 129.

lately left the bosom of the established church

of Scotland, and which professed principles

thought to be more in accordance with the

gospel than those of their parent church. A
body of these dissenters had volunteered for

the defence of Edinburgh shortly after Charles

had landed, and, on his march for England, a

party of them had taken up arms, and had

captured and carried to Dumfries thirty wag-

gons-belonging to the Highland army, which

had been left at Lockerby by the escort ap-

pointed to protect them. To punish the in-

habitants for their hostility, Charles ordered

them to pay 2,000 in money, and to contri-

bute 1,000 pairs of shoes. About .1,100 only
were raised; and, in security for the remainder,

Mr. Crosbie, the provost, and a Mr. Walter

Riddel, were carried off as hostages. The

prince also levied the excise at Dumfries, and

carried off some arms, horses, &c. Some out-

rages were committed in the town by the

Highlanders, who told the inhabitants that

they ought to think themselves gently used,

and be thankful that their town was not

burned to ashes.

After halting a day at Dumfries, the prince

proceeded Avith his division up Nithsdale on

the evening of the 23d, and passed the night

at Drumlanrig, the seat of the Duke of Queens-

berry. Next day he entered Clydesdale, and

halted at Douglas. The prince slept that

night in Douglas castle. He reached Hamil-

ton on the 25th, and took up his residence in

the palace of the Duke of Hamilton. Next

day the Chevalier occupied himself in hunting,

an amusement of which he was uncommonly

fond, and to which he had been accustomed

from his youth. The division under Lord

George Murray, after halting a day at Moffat,

where, being Sunday, his men heard sermon in

different parts of the town from the episcopal

ministers who accompanied them, proceeded

by Douglas and Hamilton, and entered Glas-

gow on Christinas day. On the evening of

the 26th the prince also marched into Glasgow

on foot at the head of the clans. Here he re-

solved to halt and refresh his men for a few

days after their arduous march, and to provide

them with clothing, of which they stood greatly

in need. In passing through Douglas and

Lesinahago, the Highlanders pillaged and
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burnt some houses, in revenge for the capture

of Macdonald of Kinlochmoidart, who, in his

way south from the Highlands, had been seized

on Brokencross moor, near Lesmahago, by the

country people, headed by a student of divinity

named Linning, and carried to Edinburgh

castle. 1

Before noticing Charles's proceedings at

Glasgow, it is necessary to give a short sum-

mary of those of his friends in the north, up
to the period of his arrival in that city.

When intelligence of the Chevalier's march

into England, and his unexpected success at

Carlisle was received in the north, the zeal of

the Jacobites was more and more inflamed.

Whilst the Erasers, headed by the Master of

Lovat, blockaded Fort Augustus, Lord Lewis

Gordon was busily employed in raising men,
and levying money by force and threats of

military execution, in the shires of Banff and

Aberdeen. Of two battalions which his lord-

shop raised, one was placed under the com-

mand of Gordon of Abbachie, and the other

under Moir of Stonywood. To relieve Fort

Augustus, the Earl of London left Inverness

on the 3d of December with 600 men of the

independent companies, and passing through
Stratherrick during a very severe frost, reached

Fort Augustus without opposition, and having

supplied the garrison with every thing neces-

sary for its defence, returned to Inverness on

the 8th, after notifying to the inhabitants of

Stratherrick the risk they would incur should

they leave their houses and join the in-

surgents.
2

As the future progress of the insurrection in

the Highlands depended much upon the

Frasers, Lord Loudon, in conjunction with
Lord President Forbes, resolved to march to

Castle Downie, the seat of Lord Lovat, and to

obtain the best satisfaction that could be got
for the peaceable behaviour of that powerful
clan. For this purpose, two companies of the

Mackenzies, which had been posted near Bra-

han, were called into Inverness on the 9th of

December, and after
allowing the detachment,

which had been at Fort Augustus, one day's
rest, his lordship left Inverness on the 10th,
taking along with him that detachment and

1 Culhden Papers, p. 263. =
Idem, p. 461.

the two companies, amounting together to 800

men, and proceeded to Castle Downie. The

earl prevailed upon Lord Lovat to go with him

to Inverness, and to live there under his own

eye, until all the arms of which the clan Avere

possessed, (and of which he promised to obtain

the delivery,) were brought in. But instead

of delivering the arms on the day fixed, being
the 14th of December, he made excuses and

fresh promises from day to day till the 21st,

when Lord Loudon, thinking that he was de-

ceived, placed sentries at the door of the house

where Lord Lovat resided, intending to com-

mit him to the castle of Inverness next morn-

ing; but his lordship contrived to escape dur-

ing the night through a back passage, and,

being very infirm, was supposed to have been

carried off on men's shoulders. 3

Next in importance to the keeping down of

the Erasers, was the relief of the shires of Banff

and Aberdeen from the sway of Lord Lewis

Gordon. To put an end to the recruiting and

exactions of this nobleman, the laird of Mac-

leod was sent the same day that Lord Loudon

proceeded to the seat of Lord Lovat with a

body of 500 men, composed of 400 of his own

kindred, and 100 of the Macleods of Assint, to-

wards Elgin, and these were to be followed by
as many men as could be spared from Inver-

ness, after adjusting matters with Lord Lovat.

Accordingly, on the 13th, 200 men were de-

tached under Captain Munro of Culcairn, to

follow Macleod to Elgin and Aberdeen, and

these were again to be followed by other small

bodies, and by Lord Loudon himself, as soon

as matters were finally settled with Lovat. The

escape of that wily old chief, however, put an

end to this part of the plan, as it was con-

sidered dangerous to reduce the force near In-

verness any farther, while Lord Lovat was at

large.

In the meantime Macleod reached Elgin,

where he received intelligence that a party of

200 of the insurgents had taken possession of

the boats on the Spey at Fochabers, and that

they intended to dispute the passage with him.

Macleod advanced to the banks of the Spey on

the 15th; but the insurgents, instead of wait-

ing for him, retired on his approach, and he

3 Culloden Papers, p. 461.
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passed the river without molestation. On the

16th and 17th he marched to Cullen and Banff.

Meamvhile Munro of Culcairn arrived with his

detachment at Keith, where he was joined by
Grant of Grant at the head of 500 of his clan,

and on the 18th they proceeded, in conjunc-

tion, to Strathbogie. Next day it was agreed

upon between Macleod and Culcairn, that

whilst the former should march next morning

from Banff to Old Meldrum, which is twelve

miles from Aberdeen, the latter, with Grant

and his men, should at the same time proceed

to Inverury, which is about the same distance

from Aberdeen; but Grant, apprehensive that

his own country would be harassed in his ab-

sence, returned home. 4

When Lord Lewis Gordon heard of the

arrival of Macleod at Inverury, he resolved to

attack him. With his own regiment, the men

whom Lord John Drummond had sent, and

a battalion of 300 Farquharsons, commanded

by Farquharson of Monaltry, he left Aber-

deen on the 23d, and arrived near Inverury

with such expedition and secrecy, that he

almost surprised Macleod in his quarters. It

was late before Lord Lewis reached the place,

and Macleod had barely time to put his men

under arms, and to seize some advantageous

posts in the town. Day-light had disappeared

before the action commenced; but the light of

the moon enabled the combatants to see one

another. Both sides continued to fire for some

time; but Lord John Drummond's soldiers and

the Farquharsons having advanced close upon
the Macleods, the latter fled, and never halted

till they had recrossed the Spey. Very few

men were killed on either side ; but the victors

took forty-one prisoners, among whom were

Mr. Gordon, younger of Ardoch; Forbes of

Echt; Maitland of Petrichie; and John Chal-

mers, one of the regents of the university of

Aberdeen. 5

Shortly after this skirmish, Lord Lewis Gor-

don marched his men to the general rendezvous

at Perth, where, about the time of Prince

Charles's return from England, about 4,000
men were collected. These consisted of the

Mackintoshes, the Frasers, the part of the

Mackenzies attached to Charles, and the Far-

4 Culloden Papers, p. 462.
5 Kirkconnel MS. Home, 159.

quharsons ;
of recruits sent from the Highlands

to the clan regiments that had gone to Eng-

land; of the forces raised by Lord Lewis Gor-

don, Sir James Kinloch, and other gentlemen
in the low country of the north; and of the

troops brought over from France by Lord John

Drummond.

While this mixed body lay at Perth, a dis-

agreement occurred between the Highlanders
and the other troops, which might have led to

serious consequences if the arrival of an order

sent by the prince from Dumfries, requiring

them to hold themselves in readiness to join

him, had not put an end to the dispute. This

disagreement was occasioned by the conduct of

Lord Strathallan and his council of officers, on

receiving the order which Charles had sent

from Carlisle by Maclauchlan of Maclauchlan,

to march with all their forces, and to follow

the army into England. This order, contrary

to the opinion of Maclauchlan and all the

Highland officers, they had considered it inex-

pedient to obey. The result was, that the

Highland officers caballed together, and re-

solved to march; but as the Highlanders had

no money, as many of those who had come last

from the Highlands wanted arms, and as Lord

Strathallan was in possession cf the money,

arms, ammunition, and stores, they could not

proceed. In this dilemma they entered into a

combination to seize the money and arms, and,

persisting in their resolution to march, matters

were proceeding to extremities when Hollo of

Powhouse arrived at Perth with the order

alluded to, which at once put an end to the

dispute.
6

The inhabitants of Edinburgh, relieved from

the presence of the Highland army, had lived

for five weeks in a state of comparative security.

Public worship had been resumed in several of

the city churches on the 3d of November, and

in all of them on the 10th. The state officers

who had retired to Berwick, did not, however,

return till the 13th, when they entered the

city with an air of triumph, which accorded ill

with their recent conduct as fugitives. On the

following day, Lieutenant-general Handasyde

arrived, as before stated, at Edinburgh with

Price's and Ligonier's regiments of foot, and

6
Home, p. 160.
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Hamilton's and Ligonier's (lately Gardiner's,)

dragoons; and, on the 7th of December, these

troops were sent west to Stirling, where, in

conjunction with the Glasgow and Paisley

militia, amounting to nearly 700 men, com-

manded by the Earl of Home, they guarded

the passes of the Forth. In the mean time,

exertions were made to re-embody the Edin-

burgh regiment; but these do not appear to

have been attended with success. With the

exception of some young men who formed

themselves into a volunteer company, few of

the inhabitants were disposed to take up arms,

as they were fully sensible, that without a

sufficient force of regular troops, no effectual

resistance could be opposed to the Highlanders,

should they return to the city.

In this situation of matters, the news of the

Highlanders having crossed the Esk in their

retreat from England, reached Edinburgh, and

threw the civil and military authorities into a

state of consternation. Ignorant of the route

the Highlanders meant to follow, they were

extremely perplexed how to act. They natur-

ally apprehended another visit, and their fears

seemed to be confirmed by the return to Edin-

burgh of the regular troops from the west, on

the 23d of December, and by the arrival of the

Glasgow regiment the next day, all of whom
had retreated to Edinburgh on the approach of

the Highlanders. A resolution was adopted

by the public authorities to put the city in a

proper state of defence, and, on the 29th, a

paper was read in the city churches, acquaint-

ing the inhabitants, that it had been resolved

in a council of war to defend the city. Next

day a considerable number of men from the

parishes in the neighbourhood, who had been

provided with arms from the castle, entered

the city, and were drawn up in the High Street.

The men of each parish marched by themselves,
and were attended in most instances by their

respective ministers. 7 These were joined by
other small corps, one of the most remarkable
of which was a body of Seceders, belonging to

the associated congregations of Edinburgh and

Dalkeith, carrying a standard with the inscrip-
tion, "For Religion, Covenants, King, and

Kingdoms."

7
Home, p. 1C2.

Had the Highlanders chosen to march upon

Edinburgh, the resolution to defend it would

not have been carried into effect, as it was the

intention of the regular troops to have retired

to Berwick on their approach; but, fortunately

for the reputation of the new defenders of the

capital, an army under Lieutenant-general

Hawley was now on its march into Scotland.

This gentleman, who had just been appointed
commander-in-chief in Scotland, though de-

scribed by the Duke of Newcastle as " an

officer of great ability and experience,"
8 was in

fact a man of very ordinary military attain-

ments, and in no way fitted for the important

duty which had been assigned him. His

whole genius lay, as Mr. John Forbes of Cul

loden observed to his father, the president, in

the management' of a squadron, or in prosecut-

ing with vigour any mortal to the gallows.

He had a very sorry opinion of the prowess of

the Highlanders, whom he was confident of

beating, if his troops were in good condition,

without regard to the numbers of their oppo-

nents;
9 but he was destined soon to find out

his mistake.

To expedite the march of the English army,
the gentlemen and farmers of Teviotdale, the

Merse, and the Lothians furnished horses, by
means of which the first division of the royal

army, consisting of a battalion of the Scots

Royals and Battereau's foot, reached Edinburgh
as early as the 2d of January, where they were

shortly joined by Fleming's and Blakeney's

regiments, that of Major-general Huske, by

Hawley himself, by the regiments of Wolfe

(not, as has been supposed, the immortal

general of that name) and Cholmondeley,
Howard's (the old Buffs) and Monro's, and by
Barrel's and Pulteney's. At Dunbar, Aber-

lady, and ether places, these troops were en-

tertained by the proprietors in East Lothian,
who allowed each soldier a pound of beef, a

pound of bread, a glass of spirits, and a bottle

of ale. 1
They were also feasted at Edinburgh

at the expense of the city, where they were

courteously received by the terrified inhab-

itants, who furnished them with blankets, and

evinced great anxiety to make them comfort-

3 Cullodcn Papers, p. 264. 9 Idem, p. 265.
1 Scots Magazine, vol. viii. p. 32.
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able. 3 The citizens also illuminated their houses
;

and such as declined had their windows broken

by the mob, who also demolished with an un-

sparing hand all the windows of such houses as

were uninhabited. On his arrival in the city,

the commander-in-chief justified Mr. Forbes's

opinion by causing one gallows to be erected

in the Grassmarket, and another between Leith

and Edinburgh, on which it is supposed he

meant to hang such unfortunate victims as

might fall into his hands. 4

To return to Charles. On his arrival at

Glasgow, his first care was to provide for the

necessities of his men, who were in a most

pitiable plight from the want of clothing. He
ordered the magistrates to furnish the army
with 12,000 shirts, 6,000 cloth coats, 6,000

pairs of stockings, and 6,000 waistcoats. En-

raged at the conduct of the citizens for having
subscribed to the fund for raising troops against

him, the prince sent for Euchanan the provost,

and demanded the names of the subscribers,

and threatened to hang him in case of refusal;

but the provost, undismayed, replied that he

would name nobody except himself, that he

had subscribed largely, as he thought he was

discharging a duty, and that he was not afraid

to die in such a cause. The provost had to

pay a fine of 500 as the penalty of his refusal. 5

The mansion which Charles occupied during

his residence in Glasgow belonged to a rich

merchant named Glassford. It was the best

house in the city, and stood at the western ex-

tremity of the Trongate, but has long since

disappeared. "While in Glasgow he ate twice

a-day in public. The table was spread in a

small dining-room, at which he sat down with-

out ceremony with a few of his officers in the

Highland dress. He was waited upon on these

occasions by a few Jacobite ladies. Charles

courted popularity, and, to attract attention,

dressed more elegantly in Glasgow than at any
other place;

6 but the citizens of Glasgow kept

3 "The zeal (says General Wightmau) which the

inhabitants have shown in accommodating the troops,
will help to ridd us of the suspicion of Jacobitism

;
but

we have a pack of vermin (Qu. Jacobites?) within our

walls, who take unaccountable libertys, of whom I

hope we shall be for ever ridd ere long.
"

Culloden

Papers, p. 470.
4 Culloden Papers, p. 270.
5

Boyse, p. 131.
6 Household Book in Jacobite Memoirs, p. 155.

up a reserve, which made Charles remark, with

a feeling of mortifying disappointment, that he

had never been in a place where he found fewer

friends. Though dissatisfied with the people,

he seemed, however, greatly to admire the regu-

larity and beauty of the buildings.
7

Having refitted his army, Charles, within a

few days after his arrival, reviewed it on Glas-

gow Green, in presence of a large concourse of

spectators, and had the satisfaction to find that,

with the exception of those he had left at Car-

lisle, he had not lost more than 40 men during
his expedition into England. Hitherto he had

carefully concealed his weakness, but now,

thinking himself sure of doubling his army in

a few days, he was not unwilling to let the

world see the handful of men with which he

had penetrated into the very heart of England,
and returned in the face of two powerful armies

almost without loss. 8

Abandoning, in the mean time, his project

of returning to England, Charles resolved to

lay siege to the castles of Stirling and Edin-

burgh. He depended much for success upon
the artillery and engineers brought over .by

Lord John Drummond, and looked confidently

forward for additional succours from France in

terms of the repeated assurances he had received.

Having determined on beginning with Stirling,

he sent orders to Lord Strathallan, Lord John

Drummond, Lord Lewis Gordon, and other

commanders in the north, to join him forthwith

with all their forces. To accelerate a junction

with the forces at Perth, the prince marched

his army from Glasgow on the 4th of January,

1766, in two divisions; one of which, com-

manded by the prince, took the road to Kilsyth,

where it passed the night. Charles himself

took up his quarters in Kilsyth house, then

belonging to Mr. Campbell of Shawfield. Mr.

Campbell's steward, it is said, was ordered to

provide every thing necessary for the comfort

of the prince, under a promise of payment, but

was told next morning that the bill should be

allowed to his master at accounting for the

rents of Kilsyth, which was a forfeited estate.

Next day Charles marched towards Stirling,

and encamped his division at Denny, Bannock-

burn, and St. Ninians. He passed the night

7
Boyse, p. 132. 8 Kirkconncl MS.
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at Bannockburn-house, the seat of Sir Hugh

Paterson, where he was received with Jacobite

hospitality.
The other division, consisting of

six battalions of the clans, under Lord George

Murray, spent the first night at Cumbernauld,

and the next at Falkirk, where they fixed their

quarters.

Preparatory to the siege of the castle, Charles

resolved to reduce the town of Stirling. The

inhabitants, encouraged by General Blakeney,

the governor of the castle, determined to defend

the town; and a body of about 600 volunteers,

all inhabitants of the town, was supplied by

the governor with arms and ammunition from

the castle, and promised every assistance he

could afford them. He told them, at the same

time, that if they should be overpowered they

could make a good retreat, as he would keep

an open door for them. Animated by the

activity of the magistrates and the clergymen

Stirling, about the beginning of the 18th Century. From Slezer's Theatrum Scotia:

of the town among whom the Eev. Ebenezer

Erskine, the father of the Secession,
9 who

commanded two companies of Seceders, was

particularly distinguished the inhabitants pro-

ceeded to put the town in a posture of defence.

On the afternoon of Saturday the 4th of

January, the Highlanders had nearly sur-

rounded the town
;
but they did not complete

the investment till next day, which was partly

occupied in cutting down some trees intended
for fascines, on which they meant to construct

a battery. About eight o'clock in the evening
they sent a drummer to the east gate with a

message; but, being fired upon by the sentinels,
he threw away his drum and fled. The insur-

9 Now embodied in the United Presbyterian Church.

gents fired several shots into the town during
the night, which were responded to by the

volunteers, who were all under arms, and posted

in different parties at the different by-ways and

paths into the town, and at such parts of the

wall as were deemed insufficient. During the

night the utmost alarm prevailed among the

inhabitants, and few of them went to bed.

Some fled from the town, and others retired

into the castle; but the magistrates and the

other principal inhabitants remained all night

in the council chamber in which they had as-

sembled, to give such direction and assistance

as might be necessary, in case an assault should

be attempted during the night.
!

1
History of Stirling, p. 146.
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Next morning the insurgents were discovered

erecting a battery within musket-shot of the

town, almost opposite to the east gate, in a

situation where the cannon of the castle coulil

not be brought to bear upon them. The volun-

teers kept up a constant fire of musketry upon

them; but, in spite of this annoyance, the

Highlanders completed the battery before noon.

Charles, thereupon, sent a verbal message to

the magistrates, requiring them instantly to

surrender the town
; but, at their solicitation,

they obtained till ten o'clock next day to make

up their minds. The message was taken into

consideration at a public meeting of the in-

habitants, and the question of surrender was

long and anxiously debated. The majority

having come to the resolution that it was im-

possible to defend the town with the handful

of men within, two deputies were sent to Ban-

nockburn, the head-quarters of the Highland

army, who offered to surrender on terms;

stating that, rather than surrender at dis-

cretion, as required, they would defend the

town to the last extremity. After a negotia-

tion, which occupied the greater part of Tues-

day, the following terms of capitulation were

agreed upon: viz., that no demand should be

made upon the town revenues, that the in-

habitants should not be molested in their per-

sons or effects, and that the arms in the town

should be returned to the castle. Pending
this negotiation, the Highlanders, to terrify the

inhabitants into a speedy submission, as is

supposed, discharged twenty-seven shots from

the battery into the town, which, however, did

no other damage than beating down a few

chimney tops. After the arms were carried

into the castle, the gates were thrown open on

Wednesday the 8th, and the Highlanders en-

tered the town about three o'clock in the after-

noon. 2

Being in want of battering cannon for a

siege, Charles had, before his departure from

Glasgow, sent orders to Lord John Drummond,
to bring up the pieces which he had brought
over from France. As General Blakeney had

broken down part of Stirling bridge, to prevent
the insurgents at Perth from crossing the Forth

at Stirling, some of the battering cannon were

History of Stirling, p. 150.

sent to the Frews, and were transported across

that ford by means of floats, while the rest

were brought to Alloa as a nearer road for the

purpose of being transported across the Frith

of Forth. Great difficulty was experienced in

getting over these pieces, and as there was but

a small guard along with them, they might
have fallen into the hands of a party of troops

sent up the Frith by Hawley, had not Lord

George Murray, on hearing of their embarka-

tion, sent over Lochiel with his. regiment,

which had lately been augmented by recruits,

and was now 700 strong.
3

As there were no ships at Alloa, Lord George
seized a vessel lying off Airth to transport his

cannon across the Frith. This was a fortunate

circumstance, as two sloops of war, the Pearl

and Vulture, sailed up the Frith next tide

from Leith roads to seize all the vessels and

boats in the neighbourhood, and otherwise to

obstruct the conveyance of the cannon. Gen-

eral Hawley, about the same time, viz., on the

8th of January, sent up some armed boats, and

a small vessel with cannon from Leith, manned
with 300 men under the command of Lieuten-

ant-colonel Leighton, to destroy all the works

the Highlanders had made to cover the passage
of their cannon. The sloops of war anchored

in Kincardine roads, whence, on the morning
of the 8th, two long boats well manned were

sent up towards Airth, in conjunction Avith the

other boats and small armed vessel, to burn

two vessels lying in the neighbourhood which

could not be launched till the spring tides.

This service they effected without the loss of a

single man, though the boats were fired upon

by the Highlanders who were posted in the

village. Having been prevented from returning

to the station off Kincardine, by the lowness

of the tide, the Highlanders opened a battery

of three pieces of cannon next morning upon
the flotilla, but without doing it any damage.
The Highlanders are said to have had two of

their cannon dismounted on this occasion by
the fire from the sloop, and to have sustained

a loss of several men, including their principal

engineer.
4

3 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 77.
4 General Hawley, alluding to this affair, in a letter

to the lord-president, 12th Jan. 1745-6, says, "We
have had a small brush with them (the Highlanders)

4 I
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Apprehensive that the flotilla would next

attempt to set fire to the other vessel, Lord

George Murray erected a battery of four guns

at Elphinstone Pans to command the river,

and to keep off the sloops of war, should they

attempt to come up. lu addition to the troops

stationed at Airth, his lordship sent a rein-

forcement of between 300 and 400 men from

Ealkirk, which arrived at Elphinstone and

Airth on the 10th. At this time the vessel

which had been seized at Airth was lying at

Alloa, and had taken two out of seven pieces

of cannon, with some ammunition on board.

To capture this vessel, a large boat, having 50

soldiers on board, along with the boats belong-

ing to the sloops of war, well manned and

armed, were sent up the river during the night

of the 10th, with instructions to lie all night a

mile above Alloa, in order to intercept the

vessel should an attempt be made to carry her

up the river during the night. Unfortunately,

however, for this design, the boats grounded

after passing the town, and the Highlanders

who were posted in the town, having, by this

accident, come to the knowledge that the enemy
was at hand, immediately beat to arms, and

commenced a random fire from right to left,

which forced the boats to retreat down the

river. Next morning, however, the two sloops

of war, accompanied by some smaller vessels,

went up the river with the tide, and casting

anchor opposite to, and within musket-shot of

the battery, opened a brisk fire. Three of the

smaller vessels anchored in a convenient place

to play upon the village of Elphinstone, and

two more hovered along as if inclined to land

some soldiers, with which they were crowded.

The firing was kept up on both sides, for up-

wards of three hours, without much damage
on either side. The cable of one of the sloops

of war having been cut asunder by a cannon

shot, an accident which forced her from her

station, and the two pilots in the other having
each lost a leg, the assailants abandoned the

enterprise, and fell down the river with the

ebb-tide. Being now relieved from the pre-

yesterday at Airth, up the Forth with 300 men in

boats; killed and wounded about -fifty, with their

chief French engineer; crippled two of their guns,
burnt all their boats, and hindered their transporting
their great cannon from Alloway for some days.

"

CiModen Papers, p. 266.

sence of the enemy, Lord George brought over

the cannon and stores without further oppo-
sition. 5

On the 12th of January, two days after he

had taken possession of the town, Charles

broke ground before Stirling castle, between

the church and a large house at the head of

the town, called Marr's work. Here he raised

a battery against the castle, upon which he

mounted two sixteen-pounders, two pieces of

eight, and three of three. The prince there-

upon summoned General Blakeney to surrender,

but his answer was, that he would defend the

place to the last extremity ; that as honour

had hitherto been his rule through life, he

would rather die than stain it by abandoning
his post, and that his royal highness would

assuredly have a very bad opinion of him,

were he to surrender the castle in such a

cowardly manner. To prevent any intelli-

gence of their operations being carried to the

enemy, the Highlanders shut the gates of the

town, and placed guards at all the outlets.

The siege went on very slowly, and Charles

soon perceived that he had chosen a bad situa-

tion for his battery, which was so exposed to the

fire of the castle, that its works were speedily

demolished, and the cannon dismounted.

"While the siege was going on, the forces in

the north under Lord Strathallan and Lord

John Drummond began to arrive at Stirling.

By these reinforcements the prince's army was

increased to 9,000 men, all in the highest

spirits. The Macdonalds, the Camerons, and

the Stvarts, were now twice as numerous as

they were when the Highland army entered

England, and Lord Ogilvy had got a second

battalion, under the command of Sir James

Kinloch, as lieutenant-colonel, much stronger

than the first. The Erasers, the Mackintoshes,

and Farquharsons, were reckoned 300 men

each, and in addition to these, the Earl of

Cromarty, and his son, Lord Macleod, had

also brought up their men. 7

Conceiving himself in a sufficiently strong

condition to give battle to the Highlanders,

General Hawley began to put the troops he

5 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 78. Kirkconnel MS. Scots

Magazine, vol. viii.

6 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 116.
7 Kirkconnel MS.
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had assembled at Edinburgh in motion towards

the west. His force amounted to upwards of

9,000 men, of whom 1,300 were cavalry, and

he might in a few days have increased it con-

siderably by the addition of some regiments

which were on their march to join him. He
had also reason to expect the immediate arrival

in the Frith of Forth of a body of 6,000

Hessians who had embarked at Williamstadt

on the 1st of January, by which accession his

army would have been almost doubled. Im-

patient, however, to acquire a renown which

had been denied to Cope, his predecessor, of

whose capacity he had been heard to speak

very contemptuously, Hawley resolved not to

wait for his expected reinforcements, but to

seize the laurels which were in imagination

already within his grasp.

Accordingly, on the morning of the 13th

of January, the first division of the royal army,

consisting of five regiments of foot, together

with the Glasgow regiment of militia, and

Hamilton's and Ligonier's dragoons, all under

the command of Major-general Huske, left

Edinburgh and marched westward to Liiilith-

gow. Hearing that preparations had been

made at Linlithgow for the reception of these

troops, and that provisions and forage had been

collected in that town for the use of Hawley's

army, Lord George Murray left Falkirk at four

o'clock the same morning for Linlithgow, with

five battalions of the clans for the purpose of

capturing these stores. He was joined on the

road by Lord Elcho's and Lord Pitsligo's troops

of life-guards, whom he had ordered to meet

him. Before sunrise he had completely sur-

rounded the town, and as Lord George had

been informed that Huske's division was to

enter the town at night, he called his officers

together before marching into town, and hav-

ing told them the object for which they had

come, he desired .that they would continue

ready to assemble in the street on a moment's

warning, in order to march wherever they might
be directed. After taking possession of the

town, and apprehending a few militia, Lord

George sent forward some patrols on the road

to Edinburgh, to reconnoitre while the High-
landers were engaged in seizing the articles

prepared for the royal forces
;
but they had

scarcely been an hour in town when these

advanced parties discovered a body of dragoons

advancing in their direction. Two of the

patrols came back at full speed, and having

given Lord George notice of their approach, he

marched with his men out of the town. The

dragoons retired as the Highlanders advanced.

Their horse, with 200 of the best foot, followed

them about two miles
;
but the main body re-

turned to Linlithgow, where they dined. With

the exception of a few small reconnoitring

parties, the advanced body also returned to the

town
;
but in less than an hour one of these

parties came in with information that the dra-

goons were again returning with a large body
of horse and foot. Lord George resolved to

attack them when the half of them should

pass the bridge, half a mile west from the

town, and after waiting with his men on the

streets till Huske had reached the east end of

the town, he retired in the expectation that the

royalist general would follow him; but Huske,

who marched above the town, though he fol-

lowed the Highlanders to the bridge, did not

pass it. Lord George returned to Falkirk, and

by orders of the prince marched next day to

Bannockburn. 8

On the 14th other three regiments marched

from Edinburgh towards Borrowstownness, to

support the division under Huske, and these

were followed next day by three additional

regiments. With these forces Huske marched

on the 16th to Falkirk, and encamped to the

north-west of the town with his front towards

Stirling. In the evening he was joined by the

remainder of the army, and the artillery, con-

sisting of ten pieces of cannon. General Haw-

ley himself arrived at Callander House the

same evening. Next morning the army was

joined by Cobham's dragoons, who had just

arrived from England, and by about 1,000

Argyleshire men, chiefly Campbells, under the

command of Lieutenant - colonel Campbell,

afterwards Duke of Argyle. Besides this

corps, this whig clan furnished another of

1,000 men, which was posted about Inverary,

under Major-general Campbell, the colonel's

father, to guard the passes. Along with the

army was a company called the Yorkshire

Blues, raised, maintained, and commanded, bv

8 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 79. Kirkconnel MS.
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a gentleman of the name of Thornton. Several

volunteers, among whom were several clergy-

men, also accompanied the army on this oc-

casion.

Having received intelligence of the advance

of the royalists to Falkirk, Charles, on the

evening of the 16th, ordered the different de-

tachments of his army to concentrate upon

Plean moor, about seven miles from that town,

and two miles to the east of Bannockburn,

where his head-quarters were. He, however,

left several battalions, amounting to about 1,000

men, in Stirling, under the Duke of Perth, to

push on the siege of the castle. Nobody sup-

posed that the prince, in issuing this order,

had any other object in contemplation than to

review his army, and of so little importance

was it considered, that although the order was

immediately made known on all sides, it was

near twelve o'clock next day before the differ-

ent parts of the army arrived from their quar-

ters.9 After the army had been drawn up in

line of battle, Charles called a council of war,

and for the first time stated his intention of

giving immediate battle to Hawley. That

general had, it is believed, been informed of

the probability of an attack, but he treated the

information lightly, and instead of attending
to the affairs of his camp, spent the morning
at Callander House with the Countess of Kil-

marnock, with whom he breakfasted. 1 The

Torwood, once a forest of great extent, cele-

brated as the chief retreat of the heroic "Wallace,

but now greatly decayed, lay between the two

armies
;
and through what was once the middle

of the forest, the high road from Stirling to

Falkirk, by Bannockburn, passes.

From information which Charles had re-

ceived, he supposed that Hawley would have

advanced and offered him battle; but seeing
no appearance of him, he put his army in mo-
tion about mid-day, towards Falkirk. While
the main body of the army marched in two
columns along the moor, on the west side of

the Torwood, where they could not be seen

from Hawley's camp, a third body of horse

and foot, under Lord John Drummond, ap-

peared upon the high road which runs through
the centre of the Torwood, and moved about,

9
Kirkconnel MS. l Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 120.

displaying their colours in view of the enemy;

as if they intended to attack Hawley's camp.
The object of this parade was to draw off the

attention of the enemy from the main body,
which was advancing unperceived towards Fal-

kirk, by a different route. After the two

columns had advanced about half a mile, Lord

George Murray received an order from the

prince to delay passing the water of Carron till

night, as he did not think it advisable to cross

in the face of the enemy, but his lordship hav-

ing satisfied his royal highness of the impro-

priety of the order, he was allowed to proceed.

Ignorant of the approach of the main body of

the Highlanders, Hawley's officers thought the

demonstration made by the body on the high
road unworthy of attention; but they were

aroused from 'their apathy by a countryman,
who arrived in the camp with intelligence that

the Highlanders were close upon them. Two
of the officers immediately ascended a tree,

and, by means of a telescope, descried the

Highland army marching towards Falkirk, by
the south side of the Torwood. This was a

little before one o'clock, and the officers having
communicated the circumstance to Lieutenant-

colonel Howard, their commanding officer, he

went to Callander House and informed the

general of it. Instead, however, of ordering

his men to get under arms, Hawley directed

that they should merely put on their accoutre-

ments. This order was obeyed, and the troops

sat down to dinner, but before they had finished

their repast, they were summoned to arms.

When the Highlanders came in sight of the

water of Carron, the town of Falkirk, and the

enemy's camp, also opened upon their view.

It was now between one and two o'clock, and

some well-mounted scouts, who were on the

opposite side of the water, on observing the

Highlanders, immediately rode off at full gallop,

and reported that the Highland army was

about to cross the Carron at Dunnipace. The

alarm which this intelligence produced in the

royalist camp was very great. Hawley was

instantly sent for, and the commanding officers,

who were exceedingly perplexed, formed their

regiments as quickly as possible upon the

ground in front of the camp. The general,

instantly mounting his horse, galloped to the

camp, and in his haste left his hat behind him.
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In taking the circuitous route by the south

side of the Torwood, Charles had a double ob-

ject in view to conceal his approach from the

enemy as long as he could, and to obtain pos-

session of Falkirk moor, about two miles south-

Avest of Hawley's camp, and which, from the

nature of the ground, was considered well fitted

for the operations of a Highland army. Sus-

pecting that it was the prince's design to secure

the heights of the moor, Hawley at once deter-

mined to prevent him, if possible, and accord-

ingly on his arrival at the camp he ordered the

three regiments of dragoons to march towards the

moor, and take possession of the high ground
between them and the insurgents. He also

directed the infantry to follow them with fixed

bayonets. This was a rash and inconsiderate

step, as Hawley had never examined the ground,
which he found, when too late, was by no

means a suitable field of battle for his troops.

In ordering his army to march up the moor,
the English commander is said to have been

impressed with the idea that the Highlanders
did not mean to attack him, but to give him
the slip, and march back to England, and that

his object was to intercept them and bring
them to action. 2 This explanation, however,
is by no means satisfactory.

After crossing the Carron at Dunnipace

Steps, the main body of the Highlanders
stretched along the moor in two parallel lines,

about two hundred paces asunder. The column

next the royal army consisted of the clan regi-

ments which had been in England, and of the

recruits which had lately arrived from the

Highlands, with the Erasers, and a battalion

of the Earquharsons. The other column, which

was to the right of the last mentioned, con-

sisted of the Athole brigade, the Maclauchlans,
the battalions of Ogilvy and Gordon, and Lord

John Drummond's regiment. After reachingo
the bottom of the hill, the columns faced to

the left, and began to ascend the eminence.

Almost simultaneously with this movement,

Hawley's dragoons, proceeding along the eastern

wall of Bantaskin inclosures, rapidly ascended

the hill also, followed by the foot with fixed

bayonets. At this instant, the sky, which till

then had been unusually serene, became sud-

2
Home, p. 176.

denly overcast, and before the foot had ad-

vanced far, a violent storm of wind and rain

burst from the south-west, which beat directly

in the faces of the soldiers, and retarded their

march up the hill. A running contest seemed

now to take place between the dragoons and

the advanced divisions of the Highland columns,

consisting of the Macdonalds and the Athole

men, to gain the summit of the ridge of the

moor. Both parties reached the top of the hill

about the same time, and possessed themselves

of two eminences, within musket-shot of each

other. To prevent the dragoons gaining the

advantage of the ground and the wind, the

Macdonalds and Athole men had advanced

with such rapidity, that they had left the rear

of the columns considerably behind, and on

reaching the height of the moor, they halted to

give time to the rear to come up.

Meanwhile Lord George Murray, who com-

manded the right wing, proceeded to make the

necessary arrangements for battle. In form-

ing, the two columns merely faced to the left,

by which simple movement the eastern column

at once became, as originally designed, the

front line. When completed, the order of

battle of the Highland army was as follows.

On the extreme right of the first line, stood

the Macdonalds of Keppoch, next to these the

Macdonalds of Clanranald, and in succession

the regiment of Glengary, a battalion of Far-

quharsons under Farquharson of Bumarrel,
3

the Mackenzies, the Mackintoshes, the Macr

phersons under Cluny their chief, the Erasers

under the Master of Lovat, the Stuarts of

Appin, and the Camerons, who formed the

extreme left of this line. The second line,

which chiefly consisted of the low country

regiments, was composed of the Athole brigade,

which formed the right wing, of Lord Ogilvy's

regiment of two battalions in the centre, and

of the regiment of Lord Lewis Gordon, also of

two battalions, which formed the left of the

line. At the distance of about twenty yards

in the rear of the centre of the second line, the

prince was stationed with some horse and foot,

and was joined before the commencement of

3 There was another battalion of the Farquharsons
under Farquharson of Moualtry, which, having the

charge of the cannon belonging to the insurgent army,
was not iu the buttle.
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the action by Lord John Drummond, with a

large body of horse, the Irish piquets and the

other troops, with which he had made the feint,

as a corps de reserve. Some of the horse

guards under Lords Elcho and Balmerino, and

also some of the hussars, who were on the

right of the prince, were sent farther to the

right to protect the flank, but they were pre-

vented from extending farther, by a morass,

which covered the right wing, and were obliged

to draw up behind the Athole men. At the

opposite extremity on the left of the prince,

Lord Pitsligo's and Kilmarnock's horse were

stationed. 4

The infantry of the royal army was also

formed in two lines, with a body of reserve in

the rear; but the disposition of the cavalry, as

will be seen, was altogether different from that

of the insurgent army. The first line consisted

of the regiments of Ligonier, Price, Royal

Scots, Pulteney, Cholmondeley, and Wolfe,

and the second of those of Battereau, Barrel,

Fleming, Munro, and Blakeney. The names

of the regiments are here given according to

the order they stood, beginning with the right.

Behind the right of the second line, Howard's

regiment was stationed as a reserve. The

Glasgow regiment, and other Lowland militia,

were posted as another body of reserve, near

some cottages behind the left of the dragoons;
and the Argyleshire men were placed at some

distance from the right of the royal army, to

watch the motions of the forces under Lord

John Drummond, who seemed, before they

joined the two columns on the moor, to threaten

an attack upon the camp. The left of the

dragoons was directly opposite to Keppoch's

regiment, but by keeping large intervals be-

tween their squadrons, their right extended as

far down as the centre of Lord Lovat's regi-

ment, which stood the third from the left of

the insurgent army. In consequence of this

extension of the front line of the royal army,
Lochiel's regiment, which was upon the left

extremity of the opposite line, was outflanked

by three of the royal regiments. With the ex-

ception of one or two regiments in each line,

which, by their proximity to the top of the

moor, had reached ground somewhat level, the

* Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 501. Kirkconncl MS.
Home, p. 168. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 85.

rest of the king's infantry stood on the declivity

of the hill, and so great was the inequality of

the ground, that the opposite wings alone of

either army were visible to each other. Between

the right of the royal army and the left of that

of the insurgents, there was a ravine, which,

beginning on the declivity of the hill, directly

opposite the centre of the Fraser battalion, ran

in a northerly direction, and gradually widened

and deepened till it reached the plain. The

right of the royal army was commanded by
Major-general Huske, the centre by Hawley
himself, and the left by Brigadier Cholmon-

deley, but the three regiments of dragoons on

the left were under the immediate command of

Lieutenant -colonel Ligonier. The colonel's

own dragoon regiment, formerly Gardiner's,

was stationed on the extreme left. Hamilton's

dragoons were posted on the right, and Cob-

ham's in the centre.

In the action about to commence, the com-

batants on both sides were deprived of the use

of their artillery. The Highlanders, from the

rapidity of their march, left their cannon behind

them, and those belonging to Hawley's army,

consisting of ten pieces, stuck fast in a swamp
at the bottom of the hill. The royal forces

were greatly superior to the Highlanders in

numbers, but the latter had the advantage of

the ground, and having the wind and the rain

in their backs, were not annoyed to the same

extent as their adversaries, who received the

wind and rain directly in their faces. 5

The right wing of the Highland army and

Hawley's cavalry had remained upwards of a

quarter of an hour within musket-shot of each

other, waiting the coming up of the other forces,

when General Hawley sent an order to Colonel

Ligonier, to attack the Highlanders. At the

time this order was despatched, some of his

troops destined for the centre of his second line

had not reached their posts, but Hawley, impa-
tient of delay, and led astray by a mistaken

though prevalent idea, that the Highlanders
could not stand the shock of cavalry, resolved

to commence the action with the dragoons only.

5 Some accounts make Hawley's forces of all descrip-
tions at 15,000, being nearly double the number of

the Highlanders, who amounted to 8,000; but these

statements are exaggerated. Hawley's army, including
the Argyleshire men, did not probably exceed 10,000
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Ligonier, who appears to have entertained more

correct notions on this subject than the general-

issimo, was surprised at the order
;
hut he pro-

ceeded to put it in execution. 6

Before advancing, Colonel Ligonier made
several motions, with the design of drawing off

the fire of the Highlanders, and riding in among
them, and breaking their ranks

;
but they did

not fire a shot. Conjecturing that the dragoons
were to be supported by a body of infantry in

then" rear, Lord George Murray, to whom no

such description of force was discernible at the

time, sent Colonel Roy Stuart and Anderson,
the guide at the battle of Preston, forward on

horseback to reconnoitre. On receiving their

report that they had not observed any foot,

Lord George resolved to anticipate his opponent

Ligonier, by attacking the dragoons. Accord-

ingly he gave orders to the right wing to advance

slowly, and, passing along the line, desired the

men to keep their ranks, and riot to fire till he

gave "them orders. Lord George, with his sword

in his hand, and his target on his arm, then

took his station at the head of the first line,

which, with the second, continued to advance

in good order. The dragoons, on observing the

approach of the Highlanders, also began to

move forward, and were instantly at the full

trot. They came up in very good order, till

within pistol-shot of the first line of the High-

landers, when Lord George Murray presented

his piece as the signal to fire. The Highlanders,

thereupon, discharged a volley with such pre-

cision and effect, that the dragoons were entirely

broken, and many of them were killed and

wounded. Hamilton's and Ligonier's regiments

instantly wheeled about, and galloped down
the hill, riding over and trampling upon some

of their party, and carrying along with them a

company of the Glasgow regiment. Cobham's

regiment, which had just returned from foreign

service, however, stood its ground for some

time, and breaking through the first line of the

Highlanders, trampled many of them under

foot. A singular combat then ensued. De-

prived of the use of their broadswords, some of

the Highlanders, who lay stretched on the

ground, had recourse to their dirks, which they

plunged into the bellies of the horses. Others

seized the riders by their clothes, and dragging
them from their horses, stabbed them with the

same weapon. In this melee the chief of

Clanranald made a narrow escape, having been

trodden down, and before he was able to rise a

horse fell dead upon him, the weight of which

prevented him from extricating himself without

assistance. While in this perilous situation,

he saw a dismounted dragoon and a Highlander

struggling near him, and for a time the issue

seemed doubtful. The anxiety of the chief,

whose own preservation seemed to depend on

the success of his clansman, was soon relieved,

when he saw the Highlander throw his antag-

onist, and instantly despatch him with his dirk.

The Highlander thereupon came up to the pros-

trate chief, and drew him from under the horse.

The dragoons, unable any longer to contend

with the Macdonalds, galloped off to the right

between the two armies, and received the fire

of the remainder of the front line of the Hi<rh-O

landers, as they went along, as far down as

Lord Lovat's regiment.

Afraid that, after the flight of the dragoons,
the Highlanders would commence a disorderly

pursuit, Lord George Murray ordered the Mac-

donalds of Keppoch to keep their ranks, and

sent a similar order to the two other Macdonald

regiments. But notwithstanding this command
of the lieutenant-general, and the efforts of the

officers, who, with drawn swords and cocked

pistols, endeavoured to restrain them from an

immediate pursuit, a considerable number of

the men of these two regiments, along with all

the regiments on their left, as far down as the

head of the ravine, rushed down the hill in

pursuit of the enemy. They were received

with a volley from some of the regiments on

the left of the first line of the royal army, and

having returned the fire, the Highlanders threw

away their muskets, and drawing their swords,

rushed in upon the enemy. Unable to resist

the impetuosity of the attack, the whole of the

royal army, with the exception of Barrel's regi-

ment, and part of the regiments of Price and

Ligonier, gave way. At first the Highlanders

supposed that the rout was complete, and

General Hawley himself, who was huddled off

the field among a confused mass of horse and

foot, was of the same opinion ;
bnt the High-

landers were undeceived, when coming near the

6 Home, p. 175.



624 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

bottom of the hill, they received a fire in flank

from these regiments, which threw them into

great disorder, and obliged them to retire up

the hill. The Camerons and the Stuarts, who

were on the opposite side of the ravine, suffered

also from the fire of this body, and were like-

Avise obliged to fall back. 7

Meanwhile Lord George Murray, Avho ob-

served the confusion in Hawley's army, was

moving down the hill with the Athole men in

good order, for the purpose of attacking it on

its retreat. He had sent orders by Colonel

Ker, to the reserve to advance on the left, and

having met scattered parties of the Macdonalds

returning up the hill, he endeavoured to rally

them as he marched down, but without effect.

Before reaching the bottom of the hill, Lord

George obtained a complete view of the disorder

Plan of the Battle of Falkirk.

which prevailed in the enemy's ranks. With

the exception of the three regiments of foot,

and Cobham's dragoons, which were marching

rapidly towards Falkirk, and covering the rear

of the other fugitives, the remainder of the

royal army was running off to the right and

left, by forties and fifties; but as Lord George
had not more than 600 or 700 men with him,
and as the rest of the Highland army was scat-

tered over the face of the hill, he resolved to

halt at its foot. Here he was joined by the

Irish piquets, and by Lord John Drummond,

7 Lord George Murray's Narrative in Jacobite Me-
moirs, p. 85. Kirkconnd MS. Home, p. 171. Cul-
loden Papers, p. 272. Jolinstone's Memoirs, p. 122.

and other officers. Some of the officers advised

a retreat towards Dunipace, that the men

might obtain shelter during the night from

the rain, which was excessive; but his lord-

ship strongly advised that they should en-

deavour to obtain possession of Falkirk imme-

diately, while the confusion lasted, declaring

that he would either lie in the town or in

paradise. While this discussion was going on,

the prince arrived, and approved highly of the

views of his lieutenant-general. Charles was

advised, in the meantime, to retire to some

house on the face of the hill, till the result of

the attempt should be known.

It was now almost dark, and aa the fires of
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Hawley's camp indicated an apparent intention

on his part to retain possession of the town,

the officers assembled at the bottom of the hill,

considered it unsafe to advance farther, till

they had ascertained the state of matters. To

procure intelligence, Mr. Drurmnond, eldest

son of Lord Strathallan, and Oliphant, younger
of Gask, entered Falkirk, disguised as peasants,

and having ascertained that General Hawley,
after issuing orders to set fire to his tents, had

abandoned the town, and was retreating on

Linlithgow, they immediately returned to their

friends with the information. The body col-

lected at the foot of the hill now advanced

upon Falkirk, in three detachments; one of

which, under Lochiel, entered the town at the

west end, another under Lord George Murray,
at the centre, and the other, under Lord John

Drummond, by a lane called the Cow wynd, at

the east end. Some stragglers, who had re-

mained behind, were taken prisoners, one of

whom fired at Lord John Drummond, when

about to seize him, and wounded him slightly

in the arm. Information of the occupation of

the town, by the Highlanders, was sent to the

prince, who immediately repaired thither, and

took up his residence in a house which fronts

the steeple.

So great was the disorder that existed in the

Highland army, occasioned by the rash and

impetuous conduct of the Macdonalds, in leav-

ing their ranks, and by the check received from

the three regiments, that it was about four hours

after the close of the battle, which lasted

scarcely twenty minutes, before the greater

part of the army had any information of the

result. The Highlanders were dispersed in

every direction over the hill, and the different

clans were mingled together pell-mell. The

confusion was greatly increased by the ob-

scurity of the night, and for several hours they
wandered over the moor, uncertain whether

they were to meet friends or foes. Early in

the evening, many of the Highlanders had re-

tired from the field of battle, either thinking it

lost, or intending to seek shelter from the

weather. During this disorder, the fate of

the prince himself was equally unknown.

Early in the action, he had sent one of his

aides-de-camp with an order; but, on returning
with an answer, the prince was no more to be

seen. The officer, in searching for him, fell in

with the prince's own life-guards, drawn up in

order of battle, near a cottage on the edge of

the hill, with their commander, Lord Elcho, at

their head; but his lordship could give him
no information respecting the prince. Lord

Lewis Gordon, and several chiefs of the clans,

ignorant even of the fate of their own regi-

ments, met together at the seat of Mr. Prim-

rose, at Dunipace, where they were joined

by other officers all equally ignorant of the

result of the battle. At length, about eight

o'clock in the evening, all doubt was re-

moved from the minds of this party, by the

arrival of Macdonald of Lochgarry, who an-

nounced that the Highland army had obtained

a complete victory, that the English were

flying in disorder towards Edinburgh, and

that the prince was in possession of Falkirk,

and in the quarters which had been occupied

by General Hawley. He added, that he had

been sent to Dunipace, by the prince, with

orders to the rest of the army to repair to Fal-

kirk next morning by break of day.
9

Partly from the darkness of the evening, and

partly from the impossibility of collecting a

sufficiently numerous body of the Highlanders

together, the prince was unable to continue

the pursuit. About 1,500 of them had en-

tered the town, but so intent were they upon

securing the spoils of the English camp, that it

was with difficulty that sufficient guards could

be got for the town, and the prince's person,

during the night. Besides, the Highlanders
had been upon their legs for twelve hours,

without receiving any refreshment, and were

completely drenched to the skin, so that even

had pursuit been otherwise practicable, they
must have speedily desisted from excessive

fatigue, and might probably have suffered from

the dragoons which covered the rear of Haw-

ley's foot.

In addition to seven pieces of cann6n which

had been abandoned by the captain of the

train at the commencement of the action,

Hawley left behind him all his baggage, and a

large quantity of military stores. Owing to

the rain, very few of his tents, to which he

had set fire, were consumed. Besides the

Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 12".

4 K
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materiel of the royal army, several standards

and stands of colours fell into the hands of the

victors. According to the official returns, the

loss of the English, in killed, wounded, and

missing, was 280, including a considerable

number of officers; but these returns are sup-

posed to be greatly underrated. x There were

sixteen officers killed on the government side,

viz., Colonel Sir Robert Munro of Foulis;

Lieutenant-colonel Whitney of Ligonier's regi-

ment of dragoons ;
Lieutenant-colonel Biggar of

Munro's regiment; Lieutenant-colonel Powell

of Cholmondeley's regiment ;
five captains and

one lieutenant of Wolfe's ;
and four captains

and two lieutenants of Blakeney's regiment.

Sir Robert's regiment, which consisted chiefly

of his own clan, had particularly distinguished

itself at the battle of Fontenoy ;
but on the

present occasion it partook of the panic which

had seized the other regiments on the left, and

fled, leaving its colonel alone and unprotected.

In this situation Sir Robert was attacked by

six men of Lochiel's regiment, and, for some

time gallantly defended himself with his half-

pike. He killed two of his assailants, and

Avould probably have despatched more, had not

a seventh come up and shot him in the groin

with a pistol. On falling, the Highlander

struck him two blows across the face with his

broadsword, which killed him on the spot.

Dr. Munro of Obsdale, his brother, who, from

fraternal affection, had attended Sir Robert to

the field to afford him any medical assistance

he might require, was standing close by his

brother when he fell, and shared his fate at

the hands of the same Highlander, who, after

firing a pistol into his breast, cut him down
with his claymore. The bodies of the two

brothers having been recognised the next day,

were honourably interred in one grave in the

churchyard of Falkirk in presence of all the

chiefs. 2

The loss on the side of the Highlanders
amounted only to about 40 men, among whom

1 Mr. Home, who was in the engagement, states,
that Hawley had about 300 or 400 private men killed.
Maxwell of Kirkconnel, who was also present, reckons
his loss at between 400 and 500 killed, and some
hundreds of prisoners. The Chevalier Johnstonu
makes, men 600 killed, and 700 prisoners. Such also
is the estimate of the author of the Journal and Me-
moirs printed among the Lockhart Papers.

2 CvModen Papers, p. 268.

were two or three captains, and some subaltern

officers. They had, however, nearly double

that number wounded. Besides Lord John

Drummond, young Lochiel and his brother, and

Dr. Archibald Cameron, were slightly wounded.

Hawley's army could boast of only one prisoner,

who fell into their hands by mere accident.

This was Major Macdonald of Keppoch's regi-

ment, cousin to the chief. Having pursued

the flying English farther than any other per-

son, he was in the act of returning to his

corps, when in his way he observed, in the

dusk of the evening, a body of men at some

distance standing in a hollow near the bottom

of the hill. Imagining this body to be Lord

John Drummond's regiment and the French

piquets, he ran forward towards the party with

his sword still 'drawn, and when near them,

cried out with a feeling of strong emotion,
"
Gentlemen, what are you doing here 1 Why

don't ye follow after the dogs, and pursue

them'?" Scarcely, however, had he uttered

these words, Avhen he discovered that the body
he accosted was an English regiment, (Barrel's,)

and the cry, "Here is a rebel ! here is a rebel !

"

at once met his ears. Escape being impossible,

the major, thinking that he would not be dis-

covered by the colour of his white cockade,

which was quite dirty with the rain and the

smoke of the firing, pretended that he was one

of their own Campbells ;
but General Huske

observed that it was easy to discover what the

prisoner was by his sword, the blade of which

was covered over with blood and hair. Huske

gave orders " to shoot the dog instantly," and

a party of musketeers immediately presented

their pieces at the major's breast
;
but Lord

Robert Ker generously interposed, and, beat-

ing down the muskets, saved the major's life.

The general having refused to receive the

major's arms, they were accepted by Lord

Robert. When pulling his pistol from his

belt, previously to surrendering his arms, Huske

was alarmed, and exclaimed with an oath, that
" the dog

" was going to shoot him
;
but Mac-

donald indignantly observed, that he was more

of a gentleman than to do any such thing, and

that he was only pulling off his pistol to deliver

it up.
3 The major was carried to Edinburgh,

3 Note in the prince's household book in Jacobite

Memoirs, p. 158.
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and committed to the castle next day, and,

after a few months' confinement, tried, con-

victed, and executed.

The victory would have been complete by
the utter annihilation of the English army,

had the prince taken the usual precautions to

preserve unity of action among the different

sections of his undisciplined host. Early in

the morning, Lord George Murray had sub-

mitted a plan of the battle to his royal high-

ness, and requested that he would name the

officers that were to command, and assign them

their different stations
;
but with the exception

of Lord George himself, who was appointed to

march at the head of the army, and who con-

sequently had the command of the right wing,

no other appointment appears to have been

made. It seems to have been understood by
Charles himself, that Lord John Drummond
was to have commanded the left wing ;

but if

such was the case, Lord John could have

obtained no distinct notification thereof, as he

never appeared in his place. It is maintained

by Lord George Murray, that had there been

an officer in command on the left, to have

brought up two or three battalions from the

second line, or from the corps de reserve so as

to have extended the first line still farther to

the left, and thus to have faced the English

regiments which outflanked them, the whole

of Hawley's foot must have been taken or

destroyed, and that few even of the horse

would have escaped, as the Highlanders would

not have given over the chase till they had

reached Linlithgow, and that, in short, had

the three regiments which outlined the High-
landers been faced, the battle would not have

lasted ten minutes, as these regiments, instead

of keeping their ground, pouring in part of

their fire on the left flank of the Highlanders,
and compelling those who attacked the right

and centre of Hawley's foot sword in hand to

retire to their former ground, would have given

way with the rest of the main body. In the

absence of Lord John Drummond, it was the

duty of O'Sullivan, who, as adjutant-general,

was chiefly intrusted by the prince with the

formation of the left wing, to have brought up
men for the purpose of extending the line; but

instead of riding along the line as he should

have done before the action, none of the officers

of the first line of the Highland army saw him
till the battle was over. 4 "While Lord John

Drummond could not but be sensible of the

error which had been committed on the left,

he retaliated upon the lieutenant-general, by

ascribing the escape of Hawley's army to the

conduct of Lord George himself, who prevented

part of the right wing from joining in the

charge upon the foot, after the flight of the

dragoons.

The English imputed their defeat chiefly to

the violence of the storm, which was full in

their faces during the action; but this, though

certainly a formidable difficulty, was not the

only one they had to encounter. To a com-

bination of unfortunate circumstances, and not

to any particular incident, is to be ascribed the

result which ensued; but mainly to Hawley's ig-

norance of the resistance which the Highlanders
could oppose to cavalry. He had been major
of Evans's dragoons at the battle of Sheriffmuir,

where that regiment and the Scots Greys, led

by the Duke of Argyle, after getting over a

morass, which the intense frost of the preceding

night had rendered passable, attacked the flank

of the insurgent army, which conceived itself

secure from that quarter, and rode down, and

drove off the field several regiments of High-
landers. Imagining from this precedent, that

the Highlanders could not withstand the

charge of cavalry, he observed one day in a

company of officers in Elanders, who were

talking of the battle of Preston, that " he knew

the Highlanders; they were good militia; but

he was certain that they could not stand against

a charge of dragoons, who attacked them well." 5

Under this impression he began the battle with

his dragoons, before his infantry had been fully

formed into line; but he soon saw the conse-

quences of his indiscretion.

Though the field of battle is about twenty-

six miles distant from Edinburgh, the intelli-

gence of Hawley's defeat was known there be-

fore nine o'clock at night, by the arrival of

some spectators who had witnessed the action,

and by some of the dragoons who, impelled by

fear, did not halt till they reached the capital.

The English general passed the evening of the

battle at Linlithgow, and marched next morn-

4 Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 91, 92, 94. 5
Home, p. 177.
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ing with the mass of his army to Edinburgh,

where he arrived about four o'clock in the

afternoon. A prey to disappointment and

vexation, the appearance of Hawley on the

morning after the battle is said by an observer

to have been most wretched, and even worse

than that of Cope a few hours after his

"
scuffle," when the same person saw him at

Fala on his retreat to Berwick. 6

Before the return of Hawley's army, the

greatest consternation prevailed among the

friends of the government at Edinburgh from

the reports of the fugitives, Avho brought

accounts of the total rout and dispersion

of the army, exaggerated by the relation

of circumstances which had no existence,

save in their own territied imaginations; but

the arrival of the greater part of the army

served to dissipate their fears in some measure.

Since the commencement of the rebellion,

however, to its final close, never were the ap-

prehensions of the supporters of the existing

government more alarmingly excited than on

the present occasion, when they saw the veteran

troops, who had fought the battles of Dettingen

and Fontenoy, return from Falkirk discomfited

by a body of undisciplined mountaineers whom

they had been taught to despise. The Jacob-

ites, on the other hand, exulted at the victory,

and gave expression to their feelings by openly

deriding the vanquished.
7

The prince spent the 18th, the day after the

battle, at Falkirk; but, as the rain fell in tor-

rents during the greater part of that day, few

of the officers quitted their lodgings. Not-

withstanding the unfavourable state of the

weather, the slain were interred by order of

the prince, and a considerable body of High-
landers marched to Linlithgow, of which they
took possession. Charles now took the advice

of his friends as to the use he should make of

his victory. Some were for following up the

blow which had been struck, and driving

Hawley out of Scotland. Others were for

marching directly to London before the enemy
had time to recover from their consternation.

They argued that it was not to be supposed
that Hawley would again face the prince and
his victorious army till he should receive

Culloden Payers, p. '267. Id., p. 272.

new reinforcements; that even then the troops

which had been beaten would communicate

terror to the rest; and that the prince's army,

flushed with victory, could never fight with

greater advantages on their side. There were

others, however, who thought differently, and

maintained that the capture of Stirling castle

was the chief object at present; that it had

never been before heard of that an army em-

ployed in a siege, having beaten those that

came to raise it, had made any other use of

their victory than to take the fortress in the

first place; that any other conduct would argue

a great deal of levity; and that it was of the

utmost importance to obtain possession of the

castle, as it opened an easy and safe communi-

cation between the prince, (wherever he might

happen to be,) 'and his friends in the north.

This last view was supported by M. Mirabelle

de Gordon, a French engineer of Scotch extrac-

tion, who gave the prince the strongest assur-

ances that the castle would be forced to sur-

render in a few days, and added, moreover,

that if the prince^ went immediately upon
another expedition he would be obliged to

sacrifice all his heavy artillery which he could

not carry with him into England.
8 The opin-

ion of an individual, decorated with an order,

and who was consequently considered a person

of experience and talents, had great weight

with the prince, who, accordingly, resolved to

reduce the castle of Stirling before commencing

any other operations; but Charles discovered,

when too late, that Mirabelle's knowledge as

an engineer was extremely limited, and that he

had neither judgment to plan nor knowledge

to direct the operations of a siege. This per-

son, whose figure was as eccentric as his mind,

was called, in derision, Mr. Admirable by the

Highlanders.
9

During the prince's short stay at Falkirk, a

misunderstanding took place between a party

of the Camerons and Lord Kilmarnock, which

had nearly proved fatal to that nobleman. As

this incident affords a remarkable illustration

of clanship, the particulars cannot fail to be

interesting. Lord Kilmarnock, having passed

the evening of the battle in his house at Cal-

lander, came next morning to Falkirk with a

8 Kirkconnel MS. 9 Jolmstone's Memoir?, p. 117.
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party of his men, having in their custody some

Edinburgh volunteers, who, having fallen be-

hind Hawley's army in its march to Linlithgow,

had been taken and carried to Callander House.

Leaving the prisoners and their guard standing

in the street, opposite to the house where the

prince lodged, his lordship went up stairs and

presented to him a list of the prisoners, among
whom was Mr. Home, the author of the Tragedy
of Douglas and the History of the Rebellion.

Charles opened the window to survey the pri-

soners, and while engaged in conversation with

Lord Kilmarnock about them, as is supposed,

with the paper in his hand, a soldier in the

uniform of the Scots Royals, carrying a musket

and wearing a black cockade, appeared in the

street, and approached in the direction of the

prince. The volunteers who observed this

man coming up the street were extremely sur-

prised, and, thinking that his intention in

coming forward was to shoot the prince, ex-

pected every moment to see him raise his piece

and fire. Observing the volunteers, who were

within a few yards of the prince, all looking

in one direction, Charles also looked the same

way, and seeing the soldier approach appeared

amazed, and, calling Lord Kilmarnock, pointed

towards the soldier. His lordship instantly

descended into the street, and finding the

soldier immediately opposite to the window

where Charles stood, the earl went up to him,

and striking the hat off the soldier's head,

trampled the black cockade under his feet.

At that instant a Highlander rushed from the

opposite side of the street, and, laying hands

on Lord Kilmarnock, pushed him violently

back. Kilmarnock immediately pulled out a

pistol, and presented it at the Highlander's

head; the Highlander in his turn drew his

dirk, and held it close to the earl's breast.

They stood in this position about half a minute,

when a crowd of Highlanders rushed in and

drove Lord Kilmarnock away. The man with

the dirk in his hand then took up the hat, put
it on the soldier's head, and the Highlanders
marched off with him in triumph.

This extraordinary scene surprised the pri-

soners, and they solicited an explanation from

a Highland officer who stood near them. The

officer told them that the soldier in the royal

uniform was a Cameron: "Yesterday," con-

tinued he,
" when your army was defeated ho

joined his clan; the Camerons received him
with joy, and told him that he should wear his

arms, his clothes, and every thing else, till he

was provided with other clothes and other

arms. The Highlander who first interposed
and drew his dirk on Lord Kilmarnock is the

soldier's brother
;
the crowd who rushed in are

the Camerons, many of them his near relations
;

and, in my opinion," continued the officer,
" no colonel nor general in the prince's army
can take that cockade out of his hat, except
Lochiel himself." 1

An accident occurred about the same time,

which had a most prejudicial effect in thinning
the ranks of the Highland army. The High-

landers, pleased with the fire-arms they had

picked up upon the field of battle, were fre-

quently handling and discharging them. Afraid

of accidents, the officers had issued orders pro-

hibiting this abuse, but to no purpose. One
of Keppoch's men had secured a musket which

had been twice loaded. Not aware of this cir-

cumstance, he fired off the piece, after extract-

ing one of the balls, in the direction of some

officers who were standing together on the

street of Falkirk. The other ball unfortunately
entered the body of ^neas Macdonell, second

son of Glengary, who commanded the Glengary

regiment. He survived only a short time, and,

satisfied of the innocence of the man that shot

him, begged with his last breath that he might
not suffer. To soothe the Glengary men
under their loss, the prince evinced by ex-

ternal acts that he participated in their feel-

ings, and, to show his respect for the memory
of this brave and estimable youth, attended

his funeral as chief mourner; but nothing the

prince was able to do could prevent some of

the men, who felt more acutely than others the

loss of the representative of their chief, from

returning to their homes.

On Sunday the 19th, the prince returned to

Bannockburn, leaving Lord George Murray
with the clans at Falkirk. At Bannockburn

he issued, by means of a printing-press which

he had carried with him from Glasgow, an ac-

count of the battle of Falkirk, a modest docu-

ment when compared with that of Havvley,

1
Home, p. 180.
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who gravely asserted that had it not been for

the rain his army would have continued in his

camp,
"
being masters of the field of battle !"

After the battle of Falkirk, the Duke of

Perth again summoned the castle of Stirling

to surrender, but the governor returned the

same answer he had sent to the first message.

The prince therefore resumed the siege on his

return to his former head quarters, and fixed

his troops in their previous cantonments. An

able mathematician, named Grant, who had

heen employed many years with the celebrated

Cassini, in the observatory at Paris, and who

had conducted the siege of Carlisle, had at the

commencement of the siege communicated to

the prince a plan of attack, by opening trenches

and establishing batteries in the church-yard.

He had assured the prince that this was the

only place where they could find a parallel

almost on a level with the batteries of the

castle; and that if a breach were effected in

the half-moon, which defended the entry to

the castle, from a battery in the church-yard,

the rubbish of the work would fill the ditch,

and render an assault practicable through the

breach. In consequence, however, of a re-

monstrance from the inhabitants, who stated

that the fire from the castle in the direction of

the church-yard would reduce the greater part

of the town to ashes, the prince abandoned this

plan, and consulted M. Mirabelle, with the

view
of^ ascertaining whether there was any

other practicable mode of making an attack on

the castle with effect. To borrow an expres-
sion of the Chevalier Johnstone, in reference

to the conduct of Mirabelle on this occasion,

that it is always the distinctive mark of ignor-
ance to find nothing difficult, not even the

things that are impossible, this eccentric per-

son, without the least hesitation, immediately
undertook to open the trenches on the Gowling
or Gowan hill, a small eminence to the north
of the castle, about forty feet below its level. 2

As there were not above fifteen inches depth
of earth above the rock, it became necessary to

supply the want of earth with bags of wool
and earth, an operation which occupied several

days. On breaking ground a fire was opened
on the trenches from the castle, which was

3
Johnstone's Me.iwirs, p. 118.

renewed from time to time during the progress

of the works, and was answered from the

trenches ;
but the fire from the castle was not

sufficiently strong to hinder the operations,

which, from the commanding position of the

castle guns, could have been easily prevented.

The design of General Blakeney in thus allow-

ing the besiegers to raise their works, was, it

is understood, to create a belief among them,

that the castle would not be tenable against

their batteries, and by this impression to in-

duce the Highland army to remain before the

fortress till Hawley should be again in suffi-

ciently strong condition to advance from Edin-

burgh. Having, on the evening of the 28th,

completed the battery on the Gowan hill, which

consisted of three pieces of cannon, the rebels

quickly raised another on a small rocky emi-

nence called the Ladies' hill, on the south-east

of the town. They were both unmasked on

the morning of the 29th, and immediately

opened with a brisk fire, which shattered two

of the embrasures of the castle. As the guns
of the batteries were pointed upwards, the balls

generally went over the castle, and the few

that struck the Avails produced little effect
;

but the case was totally different with the be-

sieged, Avho, from their elevated situation, from

which they could see even the shoe-buckles of

the French artillerymen behind the batteries,

poured down a destructive fire upon the be-

siegers from two batteries mounting together

thirteen pieces, which dismounted the besiegers'

guns, broke their carriages, and forced them

to retire with considerable loss. Thus defeated

in their attack, the rebels abandoned the siege

after wasting three weeks in a fruitless attempt
to obtain possession of a post, which could

have been of no essential service to them,
and before which they lost some of their best

men, chiefly among the French piquets, whom
least of all they could spare.

CHAPTER XXXV.

A. D. 1746.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 172" 1760.

Duke of Cumberland sent down to Scotland Marches
westward Siege of Stirling castle raised High-
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land army retreats to the north Council held at

Crieff Duke of Cumberland pursues and arrives at

1'erth Arrival of Hessians Rout of Moy Capture
of the town and castle of Inverness by Charles

Duke of Cumberland arrives at Aberdeen High-
landers capture Fort Augustus Expedition against
Lord London Expedition of Lord George Murray
into Athole Duke of Cumberland's movements
Takes possession of Old Meldrum and Strathbogie

Insurgents retreat across the Spey Re-capture of

the Hazard sloop-of-war Siege of Fort William by
the insurgents Siege abandoned.

UNWILLING any longer to intrust the manage-
ment of the war to a general who had given

such a signal proof of incapacity as Hawley
had done, the government, immediately on

receipt of his despatches, sent down the Duke

of Cumberland to Scotland, to take the com-

mand of the army, and to retrieve if possible

the lost reputation of the heroes of Dettingen

and Fontenoy. The duke was beloved by
the army, and enjoyed its confidence, circum-

stances which rendered him peculiarly fitted

to supersede Hawley, who, after his return

to Edinburgh, had by his severities become

unpopular with the soldiers. Another rea-

son for putting the duke at the head of the

army opposed to Prince Charles, was the

favourable effect which, it was supposed, the

appearance of a prince of the blood would have

upon the minds of the people of Scotland, and

which, it was expected, Avould neutralise the

influence of his kinsman. But apart from his

rank as the son of the king, Prince William

had little to recommend him to the especial

notice of a nation, rather fastidious in its

respect for princes. His conduct while in

Scotland showed that humanity, the brightest

ornament which can adorn the soldier hero,

had no place in the catalogue of his virtues.

With a cruelty, partly the result, perhaps, of

the military school in which he was trained,
3

3 " But the Duke was no common man. He be-

longed to an age when high command was in a great
measure a royal science, which men of inferior rank
had scanty opportunities of studying. He was con-

nected with the cluster of German princes, among
whom, after the enticing example of the house of

Brandenburg, a knowledge of the art of war was
deemed a good speculation as a means of enlarging
their dominions in the tangled contests created among
the German states by every European war. After

Frederick himself, perhaps none of these princes
would have been so capable of successful appropria-
tions of territory as the young man whose warlike

pursuits were thrown into a different channel by his

connection with the British throne. Though the sub-

ject of a constitutional government, however, he re-

tained the spirit of the German soldier-prince. Mili-

and which fortunately has few parallels among
civilised nations, he pursued his unfortunate

victims, the misguided but chivalrous ad-

herents of the fallen dynasty, with a relentless

perseverance which disgusted even his own

partisans.

Having received his instructions, the duke

lost no time in preparing for his journey. He
left London on the 25th of January, attended

by Lord Cathcart, Lord Bury, Colonels Con-

way and York his aides-de-camp, and arrived

at Holyrood House on the 30th. He was

waited upon by the state-officers, the magis-

trates of the city, the professors of the uni-

versity, and the clergy, all of whom were

graciously received. His royal highness was

presented with the freedom of the city in a

gold box. In the afternoon he held a sort of

drawing-room, which was attended by a con-

siderable number of ladies very richly dressed.

The most conspicuous among them was a Miss

Ker, who wore a busk, at the top of which

was a crown done in bugles, surrounded with

this inscription,
" Britain's Hero, William,

Duke of Cumberland." To celebrate his arrival

the city was illuminated in the evening, but

although the Jacobites, from prudential mo-

tives, concurred in this demonstration, their

windows were broken by the mob. 4

In the course of the day the duke inspected

the army. His appearance revived the spirits

tary law was the first of all laws
;
and to military

necessity everything must yield. He followed the

course which, perhaps, most men brought up in his

school would have followed, if in possession of the

same power ;
but in a constitutional country it had

the character of brutal severity, and after having, as

he deemed it, done his stern duty, he left behind him
an execrating country to find that his little nephews
ran away and hid themselves,in terror of his notorious

cruelty."* Burton's Scotland, (1689-1748), vol. ii.

p. 507.

* "The bravery of the Duke of Cumberland," says the first

historian of our day, "was such as distinguished him even

among the princes of his brave house. The indifference with
which he rode about amidst musket-balls and cannon-balls,
was not the highest proof of his fortitude. Hopeless maladies

horrible surgical operations far from unmanning him, did
not even discompose him. With courage, he had the virtues

which are akin to courage. He spoke the truth, was open in

enmity and friendship, and upright in all his dealings. But
his nature was hard ; and what seemed to him justice, was
rarely tempered with mercy. He was therefore, during many
years, one of the most unpopular men in England. The

severity with which he treated the rebels after the battle of

Cnlloden, had gained him the name of "the butcher." His

attempts to introduce into the army of England, then in a most

disorderly state, the rigorous discipline of Potsdam, had excited

still stronger disgust. Nothing was too bad to be believed of

him. Many honest people were so absurd as to fancy that if

he were left regent during the minority of his nephews, there

would be another smothering in the tower." Macaulay's Essays
Chatham.
4
Marchant, p. 328.
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of the soldiers, who, it is said, desired nothing

so much as an opportunity of wiping away the

disgrace of their late defeat. Such being the

favourable disposition of the troops, it was

resolved in a council of war held in the even-

ing to march next morning to the relief of

Stirling castle. Accordingly, early in the

morning the army, which, by recent reinforce-

ments, had been increased to fourteen battal-

ions of foot, and four regiments of dragoons,

besides the Argyleshire men, left Edinburgh

in two divisions, preceded by Hamilton's and

Ligonier's dragoons. One of these divisions,

comprising eight battalions, at the head of

which the duke was to place himself, proceeded

towards Linlithgow, and the other, consisting

of six battalions under the command of Briga-

dier Mordaunt, marched in the direction of

Borrowstownness. The duke himself left Holy-

rood House at nine o'clock in the morning,
in presence of a large assemblage of citizens,

who, from curiosity, had collected before the

palace at an early hour to witness his departure.

He entered a splendid coach, which, with

twelve beautiful horses, had been presented to

him by the Earl of Hopetoun, and was accom-

panied in his progress through the city by

many persons of distinction, and by a crowd

of citizens. On reaching Castlebarns, a place
about a quarter of a mile from the West-port,

by which he left the city, the duke mounted
his horse, and taking off his hat thanked the

people for their attentions. He told them
that he was in great haste to fulfil the object
of his mission, and concluded by wishing
them farewell. This short address was received

with a loud huzza. The duke then took leave

of the nobility and gentry who surrounded

him, and at parting said,
" Shall we not have

one song?" He then began to sing an old

Scottish song :

"Will ye play me fair?

Highland laddie, Highland laddie."

But before he had finished the first stanza he
stretched forth his hand, and, putting spurs to

his horse, went off at full gallop to join the

army.
5

The duke took up his quarters for the night
at Linlithgow with the eight battalions, and

5
Mai-chant, p. 329.

Mordaunt stopped at Borrowstowness with the

other division. The dragoons were quartered

in the adjacent villages, and the Argyleshire

men were posted in front towards the river

Avon. Early next morning, the duke received

intelligence that the main body of the Highland

army, quartered at Falkirk, had retired to the

Torwood, where, they gave out, they intended

to make a stand. Determined that no time

should be lost in following the insurgents, the

duke, after reviewing his army in the morning,
advanced towards Falkirk. Several parties of

the Highlanders, who were seen hovering on

the hills between Falkirk and Linlithgow, re-

tired with precipitation on his approach; but

some stragglers were brought in by his advanced

scouts, who reported that the Highlanders,
afraid to risk another battle, on account of the

increase of the royal army, and the diminution

of their own by desertion, were repassing the

Forth in great confusion. Two great explo-

sions, like the blowing up of magazines, which

were heard from a distance, seemed to confirm

this intelligence. On reaching Falkirk, the

duke found that all the wounded soldiers who
had been made prisoners in the late action, had

been left behind by the insurgents in their re-

treat. His royal highness halted at Falkirk

with the main body of his army, and immedi-

ately detached Brigadier Mordaunt with the

Argyleshire men and all the dragoons, in pur-
suit of the Highlanders. The duke passed the

night in the house which Charles had occupied
on the evening of the late battle, and slept in

the same bed on which the prince had reposed.

Next morning Prince William marched to Stir-

ling, of which Brigadier Mordaunt had taken

possession the previous evening. He compli-
mented General Blakeney on his defence of the

castle, and was informed by the latter that, had

the siege continued much longer, he (Blakeney)
must have surrendered for want of ammunition

and provisions.

In his march the duke was accompanied by
several officers of the English army, who had

been taken prisoners at Preston, and who,
under the pretence of being forcibly released

by armed parties of country people in Angus
and Fife, had broken their parole, and returned

to Edinburgh. The Duke of Cumberland, who

appears to have thought it by no means dis-
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honourable to break faith with rebels, not only

absolved these officers from their parole, but

sent circulars to all the other officers, who con-

tinued prisoners of war, releasing them from

the solemn obligation they had undertaken not

to serve against Prince Charles for a certain

time, requiring them to join their respective

regiments, and threatening with the loss of

their commissions such of them as should refuse

to return immediately to the service. Only a

few officers had the virtuous courage to refuse

compliance, declaring their sense of the insult

offered to men of an honourable profession, by

remarking that the duke was master of their

commissions, but not of their probity and

honour. 6

It was not without considerable reluctance

that Charles had been induced to consent to a

retreat. So late as the 28th of January, on

which day he received information at Bannock-

burn that the Duke of Cumberland was expected

at Edinburgh in a day or two, he had sent

Secretary Murray to Falkirk to acquaint Lord

George Murray, that it was his intention to

advance and attack the Duke of Cumberland,
when he should reach Falkirk, and to request

his lordship to remain there till the duke came

to Linlithgow. Lord George did not express

any disapprobation of Charles's design, but

immediately drew up a plan of the battle in

contemplation, which he carried to Bannock-

burn, and showed to Charles. The prince,

who was in high spirits, expressed himself

much pleased with the plan, which differed in

some respects from that he had sketched pre-

vious to the late battle
; but, to his utter aston-

ishment, he received a packet from Lord George

Murray by an aid-de-camp, containing a repre-

sentation by his lordship and all the chiefs,
7

who were with him at Falkirk, advising a re-

treat to the north.

In this paper, after stating that they con-

sidered it their duty,
" in this critical juncture,"

to lay their opinions in the most respectful

6 Kirkconnel MS. Jolmstone's Memoirs, p. 167.

Among the honourable few were Sir Peter Halket,
lieutenant-colonel of Lee's regiment ; Mr. Ross, son of

Lord Ross
; Captain Lucy Scott

; Lieutenants Farquhar-
son and Gumming ; and Mr. Home has been justly
censured for suppressing in his history this fact, and
others equally well known to him.

7 These were Lochiel, Keppoch, Clanranald, Ard-

shicl, Lochgary, Scothouse, and the Master of Lovat.

I.

manner before his royal highness, they pro-

ceeded to say, that they were certain that a

vast number of his troops had gone home since

the battle of Falkirk, and that, notwithstanding
all the endeavours of the commanders of the

different corps, they found that the evil was

hourly increasing, and that they had it not in

their power to prevent it, that as they were

afraid Stirling castle could not be taken so soon

as was expected, they could, from the inequality

of their numbers to that of the enemy, antici-

pate nothing but utter destruction to the few

troops that might remain behind, should the

enemy advance before the castle fell into Prince

Charles's hands. For these reasons, they gave
it as their opinion, that the only way to extri-

cate his royal highness, and those who remained

with him, out of the imminent danger which

threatened them, was to retire immediately to

the Highlands, where the army could be use-

fully employed the remainder of the winter in

taking the forts in the north, that they were

morally certain they could keep as many men

together as would answer that end, and would

hinder the enemy from following them to the

mountains at that season of the year, and

that, in spring, they had no doubt that an army
of 10,000 effective Highlanders could be

brought together, who would follow his royal

highness wherever he might think proper.

Such a plan, they maintained, would certainly

disconcert his enemies, and could not but be

approved of by his royal highness's friends

both at home and abroad, and that if a land-

ing should happen in the meantime, the High-
landers would immediately rise either to join

the invaders, or to make a powerful diversion

elsewhere. On considering the hard marches

which the army had undergone, the season of

the year, and the inclemency of the weather,

his royal highness, they said, as well as his

allies abroad and his adherents at home, could

not fail to approve of the proposal, that the

greatest objection to the retreat was the diffi-

culty of saving the artillery, particularly the

heavy cannon; but that it would be better

that some of these were thrown into the Forth,

than that his royal highness and the flower of

his army should be exposed to the risk they

inevitably would, should the proposed retreat

not be agreed to, and put in execution without

4L
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loss of time; and that they thought that it

would be the greatest imprudence to risk the

whole on so unequal a chance, when there were

such hopes of succour from abroad, besides the

resources his royal highness would have from

his adherents at home. In conclusion, they

informed the prince that they had just been

apprised, that numbers of their people had

gone off, and that many were sick, and not in

a condition to fight. They added, that nobody

was privy to the address but the subscribers ;

and they assured him that it was with great

concern and reluctance they found themselves

obliged to declare their sentiments in so dan-

gerous a situation, a declaration which no-

thing could have prevailed upon them to make

but the unfortunate diminution of the army by

desertion. 8

According to a statement made by John

Hay, who occasionally acted as secretary to the

prince, Charles was so transported with rage,

after reading this paper, that he struck his

head against the wall of the room till he

staggered, and exclaimed most violently against

Lord George Murray. To dissuade the sub-

scribers from their resolution, Charles sent Sir

Thomas Sheridan to Falkirk, who, not succeed-

ing in his mission, returned to Bannockburn,

accompanied by Keppoch and several other

chiefs. These argued the matter with Charles

himself, and ultimately prevailed upon him to

consent to a retreat. 9 This retreat was con-

demned by some of the prince's flatterers
;
but

the simple fact, stated by Patullo the muster-

master of the prince's army, that, before the

retreat, the army had been diminished by de-

sertion to 5,000 men, fully justifies the advice

given by Lord George Murray and the chiefs

at Falkirk. 1 Even Sir Thomas Sheridan, the

especial favourite of the prince, admitted the

necessity of the retreat, for reasons apart from

the reduction of the army,
2

In order to make the retreat with as little

loss as possible, horses and carriages were
ordered in from all quarters, under the pretext
of carrying the field artillery and ammunition
towards Edinburgh, whither it was given out

that the army was to march immediately. The
8 No. 39 of Appendix to Homo.
11 No. 40 of Idem. 1 No. 30 of Idem.
2 Vide Letter from Sir Thomas in Stuart Papers,

dated from the Castle of Blair, 8th December, 1746.

army, however, began to suspect the design,

and every person, not in the secret, looked de-

jected. During the 30th, a great deal of bustle

took place in the country in collecting horses

and carriages, but with little effect, as the

country people, who also began to conjecture

that a retreat was intended, were not disposed

to attend to the order. 3 At length the design

of these preparations became apparent when,
in consequence of a previous arrangement,
Lord George Murray left Falkirk with the

clans on the evening of the 31st for Bannock-

burn, leaving behind him Elcho's, Pitsligo's,

and Kilmarnock's horse, who were directed to

patrol betwixt Falkirk and Linlithgow till ten

o'clock that night. Lord George continued

at the prince's quarters till after twelve o'clock

at night, when it was agreed that the army
should rendezvous at nine o'clock next morn-

ing near St. Ninians; and a message was

directed to be sent to the Duke of Perth and

Lord John Drummond, both of whom were at

Stirling, to be ready to inarch between nine

and ten o'clock, but not to evacuate the town

without further orders. However, after Lord

George had left the prince's quarters for his

own, these orders were countermanded without

his knowledge, and orders were sent to Stirling

to evacuate it by break of day.
4

The appointed rendezvous at St. Ninians

never took place, for the private men, ima-

gining when they first heard of the retreat

that the danger was much greater and nearer

than it really was, had begun at day-break
to take the road to the Frews. Before the

hour appointed for assembling, many of them

had arrived at that ford, so that when Charles

left his quarters for St. Ninians, scarcely a

vestige of his army was to be seen. Officers

were sent after some parties, who were still

visible, for the purpose of stopping them, but

without effect. The troops in Stirling, in

terms of the orders they had received, after

spiking their cannon, also marched to the

Frews, so that the prince and Lord George

Murray found themselves almost deserted.

Charles finding it impossible to recall his

troops, marched off with some of the chiefs

and the few troops that remained with him. 5

3 KirkconnelMS. 4 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 100. 5 Idem.
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On the morning of the retreat the church of

St. Ninians, in wliich the insurgents had fifty

barrels of gunpowder, blew up with a terrible

explosion, which was heard by the Duke of

Cumberland's army at Linlithgow. Whether

it happened from accident or design, is a point

which cannot be ascertained. If from design,

it must have been the act of some unknown

individual, as there was no warning given to

any person to keep out of the way. That it

could not have been perpetrated by any person

in the prince's interest, seems very evident'

from the fact, that Charles himself was near

enough to have suffered injury, and that some

of the Highlanders, as well as several of the

inhabitants of the village, were killed. 6
Yet,

such was the spirit of misrepresentation which

prevailed at the time, that, without the least

assignable motive, the odium of the act was

thrown upon Charles.

When this explosion took place, Lord George

Murray was still at his head quarters. He

thought the castle-guns had fired a volley ;
and

on repairing to the town about an hour after the

explosion, he was utterly amazed to find that

the besiegers had disappeared. He, therefore,

sent an aid-de-camp to call off some horse he

had posted near Falkirk, and proceeded im-

mediately, with the few troops that remained

with him, to the Frews.

The Highland army was quartered that night

at Doune, Dunblane, and adjacent villages,

and continued to retire next day, the 2d of

February, in a very disorderly manner. The

prince halted at Crieff, where he reviewed his

army, and, according to the statement of one

of his officers,
7 his army was found not to have

lost above 1,000 men by desertion. Charles,

who had consented to a retreat on the supposi-

tion that his army had lost a third of its num-

bers from this caxise, is said to have been deeply

affected on this occasion. Lord George Mur-

ray's enemies did not let slip the opportunity of

reproaching him, and, indeed, all the chiefs who
had signed the representation, with deception ;

but the author above referred to observes, that

their mistake, if there really was a mistake,

can be easily accounted for, if people will

divest themselves of prejudice, and examine

6 Kirkconncl Maxwell of Kirkconncl.

the circumstances impartially. He observes,

that, from the battle of Falkirk up to the time

of the Duke of Cumberland's march from Edin-

burgh, the country being absolutely secure, the

Highlanders had indulged their restless dis-

position by roaming about all the villages in

the neighbourhood of their quarters, and that

numbers of them were absent several days from

their colours that their principal officers

knowing for certain that some had gone home,

imagined that such was also the case with all

who were not to be found in their respective

quarters, but that all the stragglers had got to

Crieff and appeared at the review. Without

questioning such a respectable authority as Mr.

Maxwell, who may be right in the main fact,

as to the number of the army at Crieff, it seems

more likely that the army had recruited its

ranks on the retreat to Crieff, by overtaking

the deserters on their homeward route, than

that 2,000 or 3,000 men should have been

absent on a sojourn in the neighbourhood of

their camp.

After the review, the prince held a council

of war, to deliberate upon the course to be

pursued. At no former meeting did heats and

party animosities break out to such an extent

as at this council. Lord George Murray com-

plained greatly of the flight, and requested

to know the names of the persons who had

advised it; but the prince took the whole

blame on himself. After a great deal of

wrangling and altercation, it was determined

that the army should march north to Inverness

in two divisions, that the horse and low-

country regiments should proceed along the

coast road, and that the prince, at the head of

the clans, should take the Highland road. 8

Lord George, after other officers had refused,

agreed to take the command of the coast divi-

sion, which arrived at Perth late that night.

The prince remained at Crieff, and passed the

night at Fairnton, a seat of Lord John Drum-

mond, in the neighbourhood. Next day, being

the 4th, Charles marched from Crieff to Dun-

keld, and thence to Blair Athole, where he re-

mained several days, till he heard of the arrival

of the other division at Aberdeen.

It would have been quite impossible, under

* KLrkcoiinel MS.



C36 GENERAL HISTORY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

almost any circumstances, for the Duke of

Cumberland's army to have overtaken the

Highlanders; but slow as the movements of

such an army necessarily were, it met with an

obstruction which retarded its progress nearly

three days. This was the impassable state of

Stirling bridge, one arch of which had, as

formerly mentioned, been broken down by

General Blakeney to embarrass the intercourse

between the Highland army when in the south,

and its auxiliaries in the north. It was not

till the morning of the 4th of February that

the bridge was repaired, on which day the

English army passed over. The advanced

guard, consisting of the Argyleshire Highland-

ers and the dragoons, went on to Crieff, and

the foot were quartered in and about Dun-

blane, where the duke passed the night. Next

day he proceeded to Crieff, and on the 6th ar-

rived at Perth, of which his advanced guard

had taken possession the previous day.

Lord George Murray marched from Perth

for Aberdeen with his division on the 4th. He
left behind thirteen pieces of cannon, which

were spiked and thrown into the Tay, a great

quantity of cannon balls, and fourteen swivel

guns, that formerly belonged to the Hazard

sloop-of-war, which had been surprised and

taken at Montrose by the Highlanders. These

pieces were taken out of the river next day by
the royal troops.

Having learned at Perth the different routes

taken by the Highland army, and that it had

gained two or three days' march in advance,
the Duke of Cumberland resolved to halt a

few days to refresh his men. From Perth

parties were sent out to perambulate the neigh-

bouring country, who plundered the lands and
carried off the effects of the prince's adherents.

The Duchess Dowager of Perth and the Vis-

countess of Strathallan were apprehended,
carried to Edinburgh, and committed to the

castle.

Shortly after his arrival at Perth, the Duke
of Cumberland received an express announcing
the arrival in the Frith of Forth of a force of

about 5,000 Hessians, under the command of
the Prince of Hesse, son-in-law of George IT.

These auxiliaries had been brought over from
the continent to supply the place of the Dutch

troops, who had been recalled by the states-

general in consequence of the interference of

the French government, which considered the

treaty entered into between the King of Great

Britain and Holland, by which the latter

agreed to furnish these troops to suppress the

rebellion, as a violation of the capitulations of

Tournay and Dendermonde.

The fleet which conveyed the Hessian troops

anchored in Leith roads on the 8th of February,

having been only four days from Williamstadt.

The troops were disembarked at Leith on the

9th and the following day, and were cantoned

in and about Edinburgh. On the 15th of

February the Duke of Cumberland paid a visit

to the Prince of Hesse, his brother-in-law, at

Edinburgh. On that evening they held a

council of war in Milton-house, the residence

of the lord-justice-clerk. In consequence of

the sudden and disorderly retreat of the High-

landers, an opinion had begun to prevail among
the friends of the government at Edinburgh,
that it was the intention of the insurgents to

disperse themselves, and that Charles would

follow the example set by his father in 1716,

by leaving the kingdom. Impressed with this

idea, the generals who attended the council

gave it as their unanimous opinion that the

war was at an end, and that the duke had no-

thing now to do but to give orders to his

officers to march into the Highlands, as soon

as the season would permit, and ferret the in-

surgents out of their strongholds, as it appeared
evident to them that they would never risk a

battle with an army commanded by the Duke
of Cumberland. After the officers had de-

livered their sentiments, the duke requested

Lord Milton to give his opinion, as he knew
the Highlands and Highlanders better than

any person present. His lordship at first de-

clined doing so, as he was not a military man,
but being pressed by the duke, he began by

expressing a hope that he might be mistaken

in the opinion he was about to give, but he

felt himself bound to declare, from all he knew
of the Highlands and Highlanders, that the

war was not at an end, and that as the king's

troops could not follow the Highlanders among
their fastnesses in the winter season, they

would, though now divided and scattered, unite

again, and venture another battle before giving

up the war. Acquiescing in the views of Lord
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Milton, whose opinion turned out correct, the

duke returned to Perth next day \o put his

army in motion towards the north. 9

Meanwhile, the Highland army was proceed-

ing in its march to Inverness. After remaining

a few days at Blair-Athole, Charles marched

to Ruthven in Badenoch, the barrack of which

was taken and blown up by a party under

Gordon of Glenbncket, who made the small

garrison prisoners. He reached Moy castle, a

seat of the laird of Mackintosh, about ten

miles from Inverness, on the 16th of February,

with an advanced guard of about 50 men. As

Charles's forces were widely scattered, he re-

solved to halt at Moy till he should concen-

trate a force sufficient to attack the Earl of

Loudon, who was posted at Inverness with

2,000 men.

Hearing of Charles's arrival at Moy castle,

and that he had not above 500 or 600 men

with him, Lord Loudon formed a design to

seize him during the night while off his guard,

The better to conceal his project, his lordship,

at three o'clock in the afternoon, completely

invested Inverness on all sides, posting guards

and a chain of sentinels round the town, with

positive orders not to suffer any person to

leave it on any pretext whatever. He ordered,

at the same time, 1,500 men to hold them-

selves in readiness to march at a moment's

warning; and, having assembled them without

noise, he put himself at their head, and in-

stantly set off, planning his march so as he

might arrive at the castle of Moy about eleven

o'clock at night.
1

Notwithstanding the secrecy, however, with

which Lord Loudon concocted his scheme, the

plan was divulged by the imprudence or per-

fidy of some persons intrusted with the secret.

According to one account (for there are

several), the design was communicated to Lady

Mackintosh, a zealous Jacobite, by Eraser of

Gorthleck, in a letter which he sent to her,

and in another letter which she received at the

same time from her mother, who, though a

whig, felt a repugnance to allow Charles to be

made a prisoner in her daughter's house, in

which he had taken up his residence as a

guest.
2 Another account is, that while some

8
Home, p. 194. ' Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 145.

a Home, p. 197.

English officers were drinking in a tavern in

Inverness, waiting the hour of their departure,

a girl of thirteen or fourteen years of age, who

happened to wait on them, paid great attention

to their conversation, and, from certain ex-

pressions chopped by them, discovered their

design, that she immediately left the house,

escaped from the town, notwithstanding the

Lady Anne Mackintosh, 1745. -From original painting in

possession of The Mackintosh.

vigilance of the sentinels, and immediately

took the road to Moy, running as fast as she

was able, without shoes or stockings, which, to

accelerate her progress, she had taken off, and

that on arriving she informed Lady Mackin-

tosh of the design against the prince.
4 The

Jacobite Memoirs, however, have furnished a

third version of this affair, which appears to

be more correct in the details. It is there

stated that Lady Mackintosh's mother, who

lived in Inverness, having received notice of

Lord London's design, despatched a boy, about

fifteen years of age, named Lauchlan Mackin-

tosh, to Moy, to apprise the prince thereof,

4 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 1 i.i.
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that the boy, finding he could not pass by

Lord Loudon's men without running the risk

of being discovered, concealed himself behind

a wall till they had passed, when, taking a

different road, he reached Moy and gave the

alarm. The prince, who was in bed, was

instantly awakened, and, jumping out, put on

his clothes, left the house with a guard of

about thirty men, and disappeared in a neigh-

bouring wood. 5

As soon as Lady Mackintosh was informed

of Lord Loudon's design, she sent five or six

of her people, headed by a country blacksmith,

named Eraser, to watch the advance of Loudon's

troops. This man, with a boldness almost in-

credible, formed the extraordinary design of

surprising the advancing party, in the expec-

tation that they would fall a prey to a panic.

"With this view, he posted his men on both

sides of the road to Inverness, about three

miles from Moy, and enjoined them not to fire

till he should give directions, and then not to

fire together, but one after the other, in the order

he pointed out. After waiting for some time,

the party was apprised of the advance of Lord

Loudon's troops by the noise they made in

marching. When the head of the detachment,

which consisted of 70 men under the laird of

Macleod, was within hearing, the blacksmith

called out with a loud voice,
" Here come the

villains who intend to carry off our prince;

fire, my lads
;
do not spare them

; give them

5 Stewart's Statement in Jacobite Memoirs. The
statement given by Mr Hume, that Lady Mackintosh
concealed Lord Loudon's design from the prince, and
that he knew nothing of his lordship's march till

next morning, is certainly erroneous. He says that
" without saying a word to Charles or any of his com-

pany, she (Lady Mackintosh) ordered five or six of her

people, well armed, under the conduct ot a country
smith, to watch the road from Inverness, and give
notice if they should perceive any number of men
coming towards Moy ;" and that "

Charles, for whose

safety the lady had provided so effectually, knew no-

lliing of Lord Loudon's march till next morning ; for

he was up and dressed when the smith and his party
came to Moy, and gave an account of their victory. It

is clear, however, that the blacksmith and his party
were sent out by Lady Mackintosh before the arrival

of the boy, as Gib, the prince's master of the house-

hold, who was sleeping in his clothes in the Castle of

Moy when the boy arrived, says expressly that the
blacksmith's adventure "happened much about the
the time when the boy (I.auchlan Mackintosh) arrived
at Moy to give the alarm. It is probable, however,
that the blacksmith and his party were sent out by
I .Ally Mackintosli without the prince's knowledge."

no quarter." He thereupon discharged his

piece in the direction of the detachment, and

his party, after following his example, ran in

different directions, calling upon the Mac-

donalds and Camerons to advance on the right

and left, and repeating aloud the names of

Lochiel and Keppoch. Impressed with the

belief that the whole Highland army was at

hand, the advanced guard instantly turned its

back, and communicating its fears to the rear,

a scene of indescribable confusion ensued.

The sauve-qui-peut which burst forth from the

discomfited legions of Napoleon on the -plains

of Waterloo, was not more appalling to the

flying French than were the names of the

Camerons and Macdonalds to the ears of Lord

Loudon's troops on the present occasion. In

the hurry of their flight many were thrown

down and trodden upon, and so great was the

panic with which the fugitives were seized,

that the flight continued till they got near In-

verness. The Master of Ross, who accom-

panied the party, and was one of those who
were overwhelmed, observed to Mr. Home,
that he had been in many perils, but had

never found himself in such a grievous condi-

tion as that in which he was at the rout of

Moy.
6 In this affair the laird of Macleod's

piper, reputed the best in Scotland, was shot

dead on the spot. On the dispersion of Lord

Loudon's party, Charles returned to the castle.

Having assembled his men next morning,
Charles advanced upon Inverness with the in-

tention of attacking Lord Loudon, and taking

revenge for the attempt of the preceding night ;

but his lordship, not feeling inclined to wait

for the prince, retired into Ross-shire, by cross-

ing the Moray Frith at the ferry of Kessock.

Charles took immediate possession of Inverness,

and laid siege to the castle then named Fort

George. This structure, which was situated

on a hill to the south-west of Cromwell's fort,

had been raised at the Revolution; and had

cost the government, since its erection, above

50,000. The castle was fortified in the

modern manner, being a regular square with

four bastions, and it commanded the town and

the bridge over the river Ness.

This fortress had a garrison of eighty regular

'

Homo, p. 198.
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troops; but, on his departure from Inverness,

Lord Loudon threw into it two of the inde-

pendent companies, one of Grants, and the

other of Macleods. The castle on the present

occasion mounted sixteen pieces of cannon, and

was well provided with ammunition and pro-

visions. The prince summoned the fortress to

surrender, but Grant of Eothiemurchus, the

governor, refused to comply. Though Charles

had left his heavy artillery behind, he found

no difficulty in reducing this fort, as the little

hill on which it was built was so contiguous to

the town that it could be easily approached on

that side, without exposure to its fire. It was

resolved to undermine the castle and blow it

up; but, after a siege of two days, and when

the mine had been completed, the garrison sur-

rendered. This event took place on the 20th

of February. The prince, however, did not

spare the fortress, which he blew up immedi-

ately after the surrender; a sergeant in the

French artillery, who was charged with the

operation, losing his life on the occasion. 7

On the same day that Charles arrived at

Moy, the division under Lord George Murray
had reached Spey side; and the day before

Fort George surrendered he had arrived with

his men in the neighbourhood of Inverness. In

consequence of a great fall of snow, which took

place on the day Lord George inarched from

Aberdeen, his march had been most fatiguing ;

and the French piquets and Lord John Drum-

mond's regiment were obliged to halt a day at

Kintore and Inverury. After giving the prince

an account of his march, Lord George, con-

templating the possibility of a retreat to the

Highlands, mentioned a plan, devised by him

and Lord Pitsligo, to assess the shires of Banff,

Moray, and Nairn in 5,000 bolls of meal,

for the use of the army; and he proposed
that the greater part of it should be sent to the

Highlands for subsistence, in case of retreat

thither. The prince approved of the plan ;

but directed that the whole of the meal, when

collected, should be brought to Inverness. 8

With the exception of two detachments,

which took possession of Blair and Castle

Menzies, the army of the Duke of Cumberland

lay inactive at Perth till the 20th of February,

7 Jolinstone's Memoirs, p. 1 49.
8 Jacobite Memoirs, \i.

104.

on which day he put his army in motion for

the north, in four divisions. He sent notice

to the Prince of Hesse to march to Perth, and

in his way to leave two battalions at Stirling.

At the same time he directed the remains of

Ligonier's and Hamilton's dragoons to be can-

toned at Bannockburn, and St. George's dra-

goons to be posted at Bridge of Earn. With
the assistance of these cavalry regiments, which

were placed under the command of the Earl of

Crawford, it was thought that the Prince of

Hesse would be able to check the insurgents,
and prevent their progress south, should they

give the duke the slip. In marching north,

the duke's army took the road along the coast,

as Lord George Murray had done. On the

27th of February the army arrived at Aberdeen,
where the duke took up his quarters, till the

advance of spring should enable him to take

the field. A few days before his arrival, a ves-

sel from France had landed at Aberdeen three

troops of Fitz-James's horse, with five officers,

and a piquet of Berwick's regiment. These

troops, with a party of men under Moir of Stony-

wood, left Aberdeen on the duke's approach.

Compelled by circumstances to abandon,

within the short space of three weeks, the

whole tract of low country from the Avon to

the Don, on which he chiefly relied for the

subsistence of his army, followed by a large

army with powerful resources in its rear, which

it could render speedily available, and narrowly
watched by the forces under Lord Loudon, the

situation of Charles now became very critical.

The fertile province of Moray and part of the

adjacent territory had, by the expulsion of

Lord Loudon from Inverness, no doubt come

into his possession ;
but he could not expect to

maintain his ground in this district for any

length of time without a precarious struggle.

He had it in his power, whenever he pleased,

to retire into the neighbouring Highlands,

where his pursuers would scarcely venture to

follow him; but, without previously securing

a supply of provisions from the Low country,

he could not keep his army together in a dis-

trict where the means of subsistence were ex-

tremely scanty. The possibility of such a re-

treat was contemplated by Lord George Murray ;

but, from aversion to such a design, or from

want of foresight, Charles, as just stated, over-
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ruled his lordship's proposal to send a supply

of provisions to the Highlands.

Judging from the slowness of the Duke of

Cumberland's motions, that a considerable time

would elapse before he would venture to cross

the Spey, Charles resolved to employ the inter-

val in carrying through a series of operations

which he and his friends projected. The

principal of these were the reduction of Fort

Augustus and Fort William, and the dispersion

of Lord Loudon's army. To secure subsistence

for his army, he cantoned the greater part of

the division which had marched by Aberdeen

between that town and Inverness; and, as after

the retreat from Stirling he had directed any

supplies that might be sent him from France

to be landed to the north of Aberdeen, he

occupied all the little towns along that coast.

As this district was generally disaffected to the

government, it was an easy matter to guard it

with the few troops that were dispersed over

it; and no danger was to be apprehended till

the English army came up, when the various

parties were directed to fall back from post to

post as the duke advanced. 9

The first enterprise that Charles undertook,

after capturing Fort George, was the siege of

Fort Augustus. To reduce this fortress, and

with the ulterior view of laying siege to Fort

William, Brigadier Stapleton was sent into

Stratherrick with the French piquets and a

detachment of Lord John Drummond's regi-

ment, and appeared before Fort Augustus about

the end of February. Without waiting for his

artillery, which consisted of a few pieces found

at Fort George, he attacked the old barrack

and carried it immediately, the garrison retiring

to the fort. Mr. Grant, who had succeeded

M. Mirabelle as chief engineer, since the siege

of Stirling, opened a trench upon the 3d of

March. The garrison held out two days, when,
in consequence of the explosion of the powder

magazine by the falling of a shell, the fortress

surrendered, and the garrison, which consisted

of three companies of Guise's regiment, were

made prisoners of war. Leaving Lord Lewis

Gordon with a few troops in command of the

place, the brigadier marched to Fort William,
which he invested on the land side. l

9 Kirkconnel MS.
1
Home, p. 199. Kirkconnel .1/5.

Pursuant to his plan of operations, the prince,

in the beginning of March, sent Lord Cromarty
with a detachment, consisting of his own regi-

ment, the Mackintoshes, Macgregors, and Bar-

risdale's men, to drive the forces under Lord

Loudon out of Ross-shire. Finding that his

lordship was unable to accomplish the task

which had been assigned him, Charles de-

spatched Lord George Murray to his assistance

with the Macdonalds of Clanranald and a

battalion of Lochiel's regiment. He reached

Dingwall the first night, where he found Lord

Cromarty's detachment
;
but his lordship had

been absent two days at his own house with a

strong guard of Mackenzies. Lord George
marched next day for Tain, where he under-

stood Lord Loudon was posted ; but on the

road he learned that his lordship had crossed

the Dornoch Frith to Sutherland, and had

quartered his troops in the town of Dornoch

and the neighbourhood. Not having any boats

to carry his men across the frith, his lordship,

after consulting his officers, returned to Ding-

wall, where he quartered his men. The reason

of retiring a day's march farther back was to

throw Lord Loudon off his guard, as it was

contemplated to bring boats along the coast

and attempt the passage. There was nothing
to prevent the detachment marching round the

head of the frith
;
but Lord Loudon having a

sufficiency of boats, might have eluded his

pursuers by recrossing to Tain
; and, as Lord

George would, by such a course, have been

several days' march from Inverness, the main

body of the Highland army would have been

in a critical situation, if the Duke of Cumber-

land's army had reached the neighbourhood of

Inverness, while the corps under Lord George

Murray was on the north side of the Frith

of Dornoch. 2 After sending notice to Lord

Cromarty of the disposition of his forces, and

that the Duke of Perth would take the com-

mand, Lord George returned to Inverness the

following day, to execute a design he and Mac-

pherson of Cluny had concerted, to surprise

the castle of Blair, and to beat up the quarters

of the government troops in Athole, who, from

information he had received, had committed

great excesses in that district.

2 Jacobite Mcnwirs, p. 105.



EXPEDITION AGAINST LORD LOUDON. 641

To carry the enterprise against Lord Loudon

into execution, all the fishing boats that could

be collected on the coast of Moray were brought
to Findhorn. A few gentlemen, to whom the

charge of collecting this small flotilla had been

intrusted, had conducted the matter with such

secrecy and expedition, that no person in the

government interest was aware of it
;
but after

the boats were all in readiness, a difficulty pre-

sented itself in getting them across the Moray
frith without being perceived by the English
cruisers that were continually passing along the

coast. Moir of Stonywood, however, under-

took to convey the boats to Tain, and he ac-

cordingly set out one night with this little

fleet, and arrived at his destination next morn-

ing without being observed by the enemy.
3 On

the flotilla reaching Tain, the Duke of Perth

divided his force into two parts; and while,

with one of them, he inarched about by the

head of the frith, he directed the other to cross

in the boats. Under cover of a thick fog this

division landed without being discovered, and

the duke, having united his forces on the north

side of the frith, advanced upon Dornoch.

When near that town, he came up with a party

of 200 men, who were on their march to join

Lord Loudon. This party instantly fled; but

Major Mackenzie, who commanded it, with

four or five officers, and sixty privates, were

made prisoners. Among the officers was a son

of Mr. Macdonald of Scothouse, who was taken

prisoner by his own father. 4 The main body,

under Lord Loudon, abandoned Dornoch in

great consternation, and fled north towards

Glenmore, pursued by the Jacobite forces.

Both parties marched all night ;
but the fugi-

tives kept ahead of their pursuers. After a

chase of about thirty miles, the Duke of Perth

discontinued the pursuit, and halted at the

head of Loch Shin. While following the

enemy during the night, great anxiety prevailed

among the Macdonalds in the Duke of Perth's

detachment, lest, in the event of an engage-

:i Kirkconnel MS.
4 Johustone's Memoirs, p. 164. Johnston c gives an

affecting account of the paternal anxiety of Scothouse

when ordered to set out as one of the detachment to

attack Lord Loudon. Not anticipating the landing of

the prince in Scotland, he had applied for and obtained

a commission for his son in Lord London's regiment,
and his alarm now was lest his son should fall by his

own hands.

ment, they might not be able, notwithstanding

their white cockades, to distinguish themselves

from the Macdonalds of Skye, who, like the

other Macdonalds, wore heather in their bon-

nets. 5
Upon reaching the head of Sutherland-

shire, Lord Loudon separated his army. Ac-

companied by the lord-president and the laird

of Macleod, he marched to the sea-coast with

800 of the Macdonalds and Macleods, and

embarked for the Isle of Skye. Part of his

own regiment, with several officers, took refuge

in Lord Reay's country. Finding that Lord

London's troops had dispersed, the Duke of

Perth returned to Inverness, leaving Lord

Cromarty in Sutherland with a sufficient force

to keep Lord Sutherland and Lord Eeay's

people in check. The dispersion of Lord

London's army was considered of such im-

portance by Charles, that he immediately de-

spatched an officer to France with the intelli-

gence.
6 In this expedition, several vessels in

the Frith of Dornoch, having some valuable

effects on board, fell into the hands of the

insurgents.

Before Lord George Murray set out on his

expedition into Athole, Macpherson of Cluny
had secured the passes between that country

and Badenoch, to prevent all comnmnication

between these districts. About the middle of

March Lord George left Inverness with 400

men of the Athole brigade; and, on entering

Badenoch, he was joined by Cluny with 300

Macphersons. On the 16th of March the

whole detachment set out from Dalwhinnie in

the dusk of the evening, and did not halt till

they reached Dalnaspidal, about the middle of

Drummochter, where the body was divided

into a number of small parties, in each of

which the Athole men and the Macphersons
were proportionally mixed.

Hitherto, with the exception of Macpherson
of Cluny and Lord George, no person in the

expedition knew either its destination or object.

The time was now come for Lord George to

explain his design, which he said was to sur-

prise and attack before day-light, and as nearly

as possible at the same time, all the posts in

Athole occiipied by the royal forces. As an

5 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 305.
6 Vide Letter from Colonel Warren to the Chevalier

de St. George, of 9th May, 1746, in the Stuart Papers.
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encouragement, he offered a reward of a guinea

to every man who should surprise a sentinel at

his post. There were about thirty posts in all,

including the different houses at which the

royal troops were quartered; but the principal

posts, more especially selected for attack, were

Bun-Eannoch, the house of Keynnachin, the

house of Blairfettie, the house of Lude, the

house of Faskally, and the inn at Blair, where,

as Lord George Murray was informed, several

officers of the twenty-first regiment were quar-

tered. After the different parties had dis-

charged their duty by attacking the posts

assigned them, they were ordered to meet at

the bridge of Bruar, about two miles north

from Blair, as the general rendezvous for the

detachment.

Having received their instructions, the dif-

ferent parties set out immediately: and so well

was the scheme of attack laid, that betwixt

three and five o'clock in the morning, the

whole posts, though many miles distant from

one another, were carried. At Bun-Eannoch,

where there was a late-wake held that night,

the sentinel was surprised, and the whole of

the party, (Argyleshire men,) while engaged in

that festivity, were taken prisoners, without a

shot being fired on either side. The sentinel

at Keynnachin being more upon his guard, dis-

charged his piece and alarmed his friends, who

defended themselves for a short time by firing

from the windows, till the party broke into

the house, and killing one man, made prisoners

of the rest. At Blairfettie, where there were

fifty Argyleshire men stationed, the sentinel

was surprised, and the party, with the proprie-

tor of the mansion at their head, entered the

house before the soldiers within knew that

they were attacked. They endeavoured to de-

fend themselves, but were obliged to surrender.

Lady Blairfettie was in bed at the time, and

knew nothing of the affair, till informed by
a servant that her husband was below, and

wished to see her immediately. On coming
down stairs she found the garrison disarmed,
the prisoners in the dining-room, and about a

dozen of her husband's tenants and servants

standing over them with drawn swords. Blair-

fettie, thinking that his wife had been harshly

treated, desired her to point out any of the

prisoners who had used her ill; but she an-

swered that she had 110 other complaint to make

than this, that the prisoners had eaten all her

provisions, and that she and her children were

starving.
7 The parties at Faskally, at Lude,

and the bridge of Tilt, were also taken; but

that in the inn of Blair, after some resistance,

escaped to the castle. Three hundred prisoners

were taken by Lord George's parties, without

the loss of a single man. While beating up
the different posts, a party, by order of Lord

George, secured the pass of Killiecrankie. 8

Having been apprised, by the arrival of the

party from the inn of Blair, of the presence of

the enemy, Sir Andrew Aghew, who held the

castle of Blair, instantly got his men under

arms, and left the castle to ascertain who they

were that had attacked his posts. Information

of this circumstance was brought about day-

break by an inhabitant of the village to Lord

George Murray, who was then at the bridge of

Bruar with a party of twenty-five men only

and a few elderly gentlemen, waiting for the

different parties he hail despatched the previous

night. This intelligence was of the utmost

importance to Lord George and his party, all

of whom would otherwise have probably fallen

into the hands of the garrison. Lord George

immediately consulted the gentlemen around

him as to the course they should pursue.

Some advised an immediate retreat in the direc-

tion of Dalwhinnie, but others were for crossing

the nearest hills, and retiring by roads along

which it would be difficult for the garrison to

follow them. His lordship, however, was op-

posed to both opinions, as by quitting his post

he was afraid that his different parties, as they

came to the appointed place of rendezvous,

would be surprised, and made prisoners. While

pondering how to extricate himself from the

dilemma in which he was placed, he espied a

long unfinished turf-wall which ran across a

field near the bridge. An idea at once occurred

to him, that by disposing the few men that

were with him behind this wall at a consider-

able distance from one another, and by dis-

playing the colours of both regiments in front,

he might deceive Sir Andrew Agnew's detach-

ment, by inducing them to believe that they
were to be opposed by a large body of men.

7 Note by the Editor of Johnatone's Memoirs, p. 155.
9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 107.
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Having disposed his small party in the way
described, Lord George directed the pipers,

(for luckily he had with him the whole pipers

of his detachment,) to keep their eyes fixed

upon the road to Blair, and the moment they
saw any military appear in that direction, to

strike up at once with all their bagpipes. Just

as the sun was rising above the horizon, Sir

Andrew Agnew's men appeared, and their ears

were instantly saluted by the noise of the bag-

pipes, when the pipers commenced playing one

of their most noisy pibrochs. The party be-

hind the wall then drew their swords, and, as

they had been previously ordered by Lord

George, kept brandishing them above their

heads. This ruse succeeded completely, and

Sir Andrew, alarmed by the noise and the

spectacle before him, at which he took only a

short glance, ordered his men to the right

about, and retired into the castle. 9

Being now relieved from all apprehension of

attack, Lord George remained at his post till

joined by about 300 of his men, when he

marched to Blair, and invested the castle.

Blair Castle as it stood in 1745-6 before being dismantled. Copied by permission from
an old drawing in possession of His Grace the Duke of Athole.

Having no battering-cannon, and only two

small field-pieces, which could make no im-

pression on walls that were seven feet thick,

he resolved to blockade the castle, which he

expected would be forced to surrender in two

or three weeks for want of provisions. To cut

off the communication between the castle and

the neighbouring country, Lord George placed

a guard of 300 men at the village of Blair,

where he was himself stationed, and another

near the Mains, at some stables which had

been recently erected. Being joined by 400

or 500 men belonging to the district, who had

been formerly in the Highland army, Lord

George detached a party to Dunkeld, where

they remained till the approach of the Hessians

from Perth. This party then retreated to Pit-

lochrie, two miles below the pass of Killie-

cranlde, where they remained several days,

* Home, p. 205.

during which time repeated skirmishes took

place between them and the hussars, and some

of St. George's dragoons. During the time

the Athole men kept possession of Pitlochrie,

Lord George Murray went there generally twice

every day to ascertain the state of matters.

The Hessians showed no disposition to leave

Dunkeld, where they had taken up their quar-

ters, till the 1 3th of March, on which day a

large body of them came up as far as the

Haugh of Dalskean, about two miles from Pit-

lochrie. The dragoons and hussars continuing
to advance, the Athole men retired to the foot

of the pass of Killiecrankie, where they halted

to dispute the passage; but after remaining
six hours waiting for the Hessians, they were

informed that a great part of them had re-

turned to Dunkeld. 1

At this time the garrison of Blair castle was

j Memoirs, p. 1(19.
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reduced to great distress from the want of pro-

visions, and if the blockade had been continued

a few days longer they must have surrendered;

but, fortunately for the besieged, Lord George

Murray was ordered to return immediately to

Inverness, in consequence of the expected

advance of the Duke of Cumberland. Accord-

ingly, on the 31st of March, Lord George sent

off his two pieces of cannon, that he might

not be impeded in his march, and about ten

o'clock at night he drew off the party from the

pass to Blair, taking his departure for Inver-

ness, at two o'clock next morning. Finding

the pass clear, Lord Crawford went through it

the same morning, but the Hessians, alarmed

at the dreadful aspect which it presented,

positively refused to enter the pass. As, from

the expresses which Lord George Murray re-

ceived, he was led to infer that the Duke of

Cumberland was about to leave Aberdeen, his

lordship made a most rapid march, having per-

formed the journey in seventy hours, four only

of which he devoted to sleep. Cluny's men
were left at Ruthven, to guard Badenoch from

the incursions of the royal troops in Athole. 2

To facilitate his march to the north, and to

clear as much of the low country as possible

from the presence of the insurgents, the Duke
of Cumberland sent several detachments from

Aberdeen, to scour the country, and possess

themselves of certain posts between the Don
and the Spey. One of these detachments, con-

sisting of four battalions of infantry, the Duke
of Kingston's horse, and Cobham's dragoons,
under the command of General Bland, left

Aberdeen on the 12th of March, and took

possession of Old Meldrum, Inverury, and Old

Rayne. Bland was preceded on his march by
the Argyleshire men, and 100 of the laird of

Grant's followers under the eldest son of that

chief. At this time the insurgent forces on
the east of the river Spey, which had been

placed under the command of Lord John

Drummond, were stationed as follows. Lord
Strathallan's horse, which had been lately

separated from Lord Kilmarnock's, and the

hussars, occupied Cullen; part of the battalions
of Roy Stewart and Gordon of Avochy, con-

sisting of about 400 men, with 50 horse, were

2 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 1 ] 0.

quartered at Strathbogie, and the remainder

were cantoned in Fochabers, and the villages

along the Spey.
3

Having received intelligence of the occupa-
tion of Strathbogie by the Highlanders, the

Duke of Cumberland sent orders on the 16th,

to General Bland to march thither with all the

troops under his command, and endeavour to

surprise the forces there assembled, and failing

in that design, to attack them and drive them

across the river. To sustain General Bland,
should occasion require, Brigadier Mordaunt

marched by break of day next morning to Old

Meldrum, with four battalions and four pieces

of cannon. About the same time General

Bland left Old Meldrum for Strathbogie, and

almost succeeded in surprising the insurgents,

who were ignorant of his approach till he came
near the place. At the time the news of

General Eland's march reached Strathbogie
some of the Highlanders were absent, having
been sent the preceding night for the purpose
of intercepting the young laird of Grant, who
was returning to his own country with a com-

mission to raise a regiment out of his clan, and

who was to pass within a few miles of Strath-

bogie. The party, however, did not succeed,

as Mr. Grant got the start of them, and took

up his quarters for the night in a strong castle

belonging to Lord Forbes, which they found

it impossible to force without artillery. This

party returned to Strathbogie about one o'clock

in the afternoon, greatly fatigued from want of

rest, and found that intelligence had been re-

ceived of Eland's advance. This news was

fully confirmed by the arrival of some scouts,

who came back at full speed with information

that a large body of horse and foot was at

hand. 4

Alarmed at the unexpected approach of the

enemy, the officers at Strathbogie were at first

at a loss how to act. There was danger in re-

treat as well as in attempting to remain. It

was impossible that the men, who were in

want of sleep and refreshment, could march

far without halting; and as they had left

several stragglers behind, it appeared certain

that, in the event of a retreat, these would be

picked up by Eland's cavalry. On the other

3 Kirkconnel MS. 4 Idem.
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hand, from the vast numerical superiority of

the English forces, it was dreaded that the

small party would not be able to make an

effectual resistance, and that in the event of a

defeat the whole would easily fall into the

enemy's hands. In this dilemma it was re-

solved to remain an hour at Strathbogie, to

give time to the stragglers to come up, and

then to retreat. At this time the van of

Bland's detachment had begun to appear, and

before the hour had elapsed the whole was in

sight, and the van within a quarter of a mile

of the village. The small party of guards then

marched out towards the enemy, and while

they formed between the village and the bridge

of Bogie, as if intending to dispute the passage

of the bridge, the foot left the village. After

they had cleared the village, and the enemy's

cavalry had begun to file along the bridge, the

small body of horse retired after the foot, to-

vards the river Deveron, which they crossed.

They thereupon formed again on the other side

)f the river to stop the enemy's horse, who

:iad pursued them at full speed from Strath-

bogie to the river side, but they did not at

iirst attempt the passage, a circumstance which

enabled the foot to gain the adjoining hill

without molestation, where, from the nar-

rowness of the road and the rockiness of the

jjround on each side of it, they were perfectly

safe from the attacks of cavalry. With the

exception of some volunteers among the cavalry,

who followed half-way up the hill, and skir-

mished with a few of the guards who were left

behind to observe their motions, the rest of

the cavalry gave over the pursuit. The High-

landers, however, did not halt till they reached

Fochabers. Next day they crossed the Spey,

along with the other troops which had been

cantoned on the east side, and took up their

quarters in the villages on the opposite side. 5

From Strathbogie, General Bland sent for-

ward a detachment of 70 Campbells, and 30

of Kingston's horse, to occupy Keith, but they

were not allowed to hold this post long. Major

GlasgoAV, an Irish officer in the service of

France, having offered to the prince to carry it

with a detachment of 200 men, he was allowed

to attempt the enterprise, and succeeded, the

8 Kirkcouiiel MS.

village having been invested on all sides be-

fore the enemy was aware of the attempt. On
this occasion they became the victims of a

Little stratagem. After recrossing the Spey,
Lord John Drummond sent a body of horse

and foot across every morning. The foot re-

mained generally all day at Fochabers, and

the horse patrolled on the road between that

village and Keith. On the 20th of March, a

small party of Bland's light horse having ap-

peared on the top of the hill that overlooks

Fochabers, the party occupying the village,

apparently alarmed, left it in a hurry, much
iarlier than usual, and repassed the river. The

design in thus repairing across the river before

the usual time, was to throw the party at Keith

off their guard, who, fancying themselves secure,

took no precautions against surprise. After it

had grown quite dark, Glasgow crossed the

Spey with his detachment, consisting of 200

foot and 40 horse, and marching direct to

Keith, arrived there unperceived about one

o'clock in the morning. The Campbells, who
were quartered in the church, formed in the

church-yard, and a smart fire was kept up for

some time between them and their assailants;

but upon being promised quarter, if they sub-

mitted, they laid down their arms. Of the

whole party, including the horse, not above five

or six escaped. Captain Campbell who com-

manded the detachment, a non-commissioned

officer, and five privates were killed. Glasgow
had twelve of his men killed or wounded.

The advantages obtained by the insurgents

in their expeditions into Athole and Suther-

land, and by the reduction of Fort Augustus,

were in some degree balanced by the loss of

the Prince Charles, formerly the Hazard sloop

of war, and the capture of some treasure and

warlike stores which she had brought from

France for the use of Charles's army; and by
the abandonment of the siege of Fort William.

Early in November the Hazard, a vessel

mounting sixteen guns and some swivels, with

a crew of 80 men, had anchored at Ferriden,

opposite Montrose. The object of her com-

mander, in taking this station, was to prevent

the insurgents from taking possession of the

town. At this time a party of Lord Ogilvy's

men, under the command of Captain David

Ferrier, held Brechin, of which Ferrier had
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been appointed deputy-governor by the prince

before his march into England; and to hinder

the approach of this party towards Montrose,

a fire was kept up at intervals for three days

and nights from the Hazard, the only effect of

which was to annoy the inhabitants exceed-

ingly. To put an end to such a state of matters,

Ferrier formed the design of capturing the

vessel by raising a battery at the entrance of

the river, and thereby to prevent her getting

out to sea. In pursuance of this plan he en-

tered Montrose one night, and possessed him-

self of the island on the south side of the town,

opposite to where the Hazard lay. Next day

the Hazard attempted to dislodge the party

from the isle by her fire, but without success.

In the afternoon of the following day a vessel

carrying French colours was observed at sea,

standing in towards the river; this turned out

to be a transport from France, with a party

of Lord John Drammond's regiment, some

Irish piquets, and six pieces of artillery. On

observing this vessel, the Hazard fired a gun
to leeward as a decoy ; but, upon a signal from

the party on the island, the commander of the

French vessel ran her on shore out of reach of

the Hazard's guns. The crew then landed the

six guns, and a fire was opened from them

upon the Hazard next morning from both sides

of the river, on each of which three of the

pieces had been planted. With the exception,

however, of having some of her rigging cut,

s!ie sustained no damage. Before the arrival

of Ferrier's party, Captain Hill, the commander
of the Hazard, had taken four six-pounders,
and two four-pounders, belonging to the town,
which he had put on board a vessel in the

harbour; but, by oversight, he left this vessel

at the quay, and the consequence was, that she

fell into the hands of the insurgents. This

circumstance was fatal to the Hazard; for,

finding that the guns lately landed were not

sufficient to force the Hazard to surrender,

Captain Ferrier carried the four six-pounders
to the Dial hill, from which he fired upon her;
and her commander, seeing escape hopeless,
after hoisting a flag of truce, and making an
ineffectual attempt for permission to leave the

river, surrendered. 7

7
Jacobite Memoirs, p. 112.

This vessel, being a first-rate sailer, was a

great acquisition to the insurgents, and had

made several trips to France. On the present

occasion the Prince Charles, as the Hazard was

now named by the Highlanders, was returning

from France, having on board several officers

and some privates, a supply of arms and am-

munition, and a quantity of gold coin, amount-

ing to between 12,000 and 13,000 sterling.

She was observed, on the 24th of March, off

the Banffshire coast, by the Sheerness man-of-

war, which immediately gave chase. The

Prince Charles taking a north-west course,

endeavoured to escape by entering the Pent-

land frith
;
but the Sheerness followed her into

that dangerous gulf ;
and after a running fight,

in which the Prince Charles is said to have

lost 36 men, the latter ran ashore on the sands

of Melness, on the west side of Tongue bay,

near the house of Lord Reay, on the 25th of

March. The officers, soldiers, and crew, im-

mediately landed with the treasure, which was

contained in small boxes, and carried it to the

house of William Mackay of Melness, where it

remained during the night. The dispersion of

Lord London's forces, an event which was con-

sidered at the time highly favourable to the

interests of Charles in the north, turned out,

in the present instance, to be very prejudicial.

Part of them, as has been stated, had, upon
their dispersion, retired into that wild and

barren region called Lord Reay's country ;
and

when the Prince Charles arrived in Tongue

bay, there was a party of these troops quartered

in the neighbourhood. On receiving notice of

the landing, Lord Reay sent some persons in a

boat across the bay, to ascertain the strength

of the party that had disembarked
; and, on

being informed that it was not numerous, it

was concerted between him and some of Lord

London's officers, to attack the party next

morning with such forces as they could collect.

Early next morning the French, conducted by

George Mackay, younger of Melness, who had

undertaken to lead them to Inverness, left Mel-

ness
;
but they had not proceeded far, when

they were attacked, two hours after day-break,

by a body of men, consisting of fifty of Lord

Reay's people headed by his lordship's steward

and a similar number of Lord London's troops.

After a short resistance, during which four or



SIEGE OF FORT WILLIAM BY THE INSURGENTS. 647

six of their men were killed and as many
wounded, the whole party, consisting of 20

officers and 120 soldiers and sailors, surren-

dered.

As Charles's coffers were almost exhausted

at this time, the loss of such a large sum of

money pressed with peculiar severity upon the

army, which he had, in consequence, great

difficulty in keeping together. Though spar-

ing in his troops, the King of France had not

been remiss in sending Charles pecuniary sup-

plies, nor had the King of Spain been unmind-

ful of him
;
but the remittances sent by these

sovereigns did not all reach their destination,

some of them having been intercepted by
British cruisers on their way. Reckoning,

however, the sums drawn and received from

various sources, Charles must have got no

inconsiderable sum
;
but he appears to have

paid little attention to his pecuniary concerns,

and a system of peculation is said to have been

practised by the persons intrusted with the

management, which told heavily upon his

means. His principal steward in particular,

to whom the administration of the finances

was committed, is alleged not to have been

scrupulously honest, and he is said to have

contrived matters so as to prevent open detec-

tion. His underlings did not omit the oppor-

tunity which occasion offered, of filling their

pockets : a system of imposition was also prac-

tised by means of false musters. 8 Under such

circiimstances the early exhaustion of Charles's

military chest is not to be wondered at. In this

situation, seeing the impossibility of recruiting

his finances at Inverness, he had resolved to

return to the south country ;
but other circum-

stances induced him to forego his intention.

Judging from the unfortunate result of the

siege of Stirling castle, neither Lord George

Murray nor Brigadier Stapleton had any hopes

of reducing Fort William, which, besides being

a strong place, was regularly fortified
; but, as

Lochiel, Keppoch, and other chiefs, whose

properties lay in its neighbourhood, were very

desirous to obtain possesion of a fortress which

perpetually annoyed them, and the garrison of

which had, during the prince's expedition into

England, made frequent sallies, and burnt the

8 Kirkconnel MS.

houses of the country people, and carried off

their cattle, they did not object to the siege.
9

To assist the troops under Stapleton, the

Camerons and the Macdonalds of Keppoch
were ordered to Fort William. Mr. Grant the

engineer proposed to begin the siege by erect-

ing a battery on a small hill, called the Sugar-

loaf, which overlooked the fortress about 800

yards off
;
and as he observed that one of the

bastions projected so far that it could not be

defended by the fire of the first, he proposed
to arrive at it by a trench and blow it up ;

but, while in the act of reconnoitring, he

received a violent contusion from a cannon-

ball, which completely disabled him. Briga-

dier Stapleton, having no other engineer, was

obliged to send to Inverness for M. Mirabelle,

the singular personage formerly alluded to.

Meanwhile, the besieged heightened the para-

pets of the walls on the side where they dreaded

an attack, and raised the two faces of the bas-

tions seven feet high.
x

For several days a skirmishing was kept up
between the garrison and two sloops of war

stationed in the river, on the one side, and the

besiegers on the other, with varied success
;
but

the insurgents having completed a battery on

the Sugar-loaf on March 20th, opened the siege

that evening. On account of its distance from

the fortress, and the smallness of the cannon,

which consisted of six and four-pounders only,

little execution was done. Next day the be-

siegers erected a new battery at the foot of the

Cowhill, within half the distance of the other,

which was also opened, but with little better

effect. On the 22d, Brigadier Stapleton sent

a drummer to Captain Scott, the commanding

officer, with a letter, requiring him to surrender,

but his answer was, that he would defend the

place to the last extremity. The bombardment

was thereupon renewed on both sides for some

hours, but at last the garrison silenced the be-

siegers by beating down their principal battery.

The besiegers then erected a third battery, and

the bombardment continued, with little inter-

mission, till the 31st, when the garrison made

a sally, forced one of the batteries erected upon
a place called the Craigs, about a hundred

yards from the walls, and captured several

9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 106. Kirkconncl MS.
1 Idem.
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pieces of cannon and two mortars. Notwith-

standing this disaster, they continued to annoy

the besieged from five cannon which they had

still mounted, but with no other damage to

the garrison than the destruction of the roofs

of most of the houses. At length, on the 3d

of April, Brigadier Stapleton, in consequence

of instructions he had received from the prince

to join him immediately, raised the siege, and,

after spiking his heavy cannon, marched for

Inverness with the piquets, taking his field

pieces along with him. He left the Highland-

ers behind, on the understanding that they

were to follow him with as little delay as pos-

sible. The loss sustained on either side was

trifling.
2

Abounding as the prince's enterprise did, in

many brilliant points, there is, unquestionably,

no part of it more deserving of admiration than

that which now presents itself, near the end of

his short, but very eventful career. At Glads-

muir and at Falkirk, almost the whole of the

prince's energies were directed to a single point,

but at Inverness he projected a number of ex-

peditions, attacks, and sieges, and conducted

them with an energy and promptitude which

astonished the government. The whole force

he was able to collect, after his retreat to the

north, did not exceed 8,000 men; and, although
there was no certainty that the Duke of Cum-
berland might not advance immediately from

Aberdeen, which is only a hundred miles from

Inverness, yet he separated his forces, and,
while with one detachment he kept General

Bland in check, he, almost at the same time,

carried on a series of operations with the isolated

parts of his army in the distant territories of

Athole, Lochaber, and Sutherland.

CHAPTEE XXXVI.
A. i). 1746.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 17271760.

Duke of Cumberland marches north Crosses the Spey
-Proceedings of Charles Duke of Cumberland

arrives at Nairn Prince Charles leaves Inverness
and forms his army on Drummossie Moor Night-
march to Nairn Its failure Highland army returns
to Culloden Advance of the Duke of Cumberland

* Scots Magazine. Home, p. 212. KirJasonnd MS.

Preparations for battle Battle of Culloden Pro-

ceedings of Cumberland Tumult in royal army-
Barbarities committed by the troops Skirmish at

Golspie Charles arrives at Glenboisdale The Chiefs

retire to Ruthven Lord George Murray resigns his

command Letter from Charles He lands in Ben-
becula Proceedings of the Duke Association of

Chiefs Devastations committed by the royal troops

Apprehension of Lord Lovat and others Mac-
donald of Barisdale and Glengarry Escape of the

Duke of Perth and others Suppression of the re-

bellion.

HAVING spent upwards of five weeks at Aber-

deen, the Duke of Cumberland began to prepare

for his march to the north. As it was his in-

tention to proceed by the coast road, he had

ordered a number of victualling ships to ren-

dezvous at Aberdeen; and early in April, these

vessels, escorted by several ships of war pro-

vided with artillery, ammunition, and other

warlike stores, had arrived at their destination,

for the purpose of following the army along

the coast and affording the necessary supplies.

About this time the weather had become favour-

able, and though still cold, the snow had dis-

appeared, and a dry wind which had prevailed

for some days had rendered the river Spey, the

passage of which was considered the most

formidable obstacle to his march, fordable. 3

3 The publication of the Forbes Papers has brought
to light the meanness and rapacity of the Duke of

Cumberland and General Hawley. The duke lived,
all the time he was at Aberdeen, in the house of Mr.
Alexander Thomson, advocate, and, although he made
use of every kind of provisions he found in the house,
and of the coals and candles, he did not pay Mr.
Thomson a single farthing, nor did he even thank
him. He left, however, six guineas for the servants,
a boy and two women, one of whom had washed and
dressed his linen. Mrs. Gordon of Hallhead was in-

duced to yield possession of her house in the town to

General Hawley, under a promise that the greatest
care would be taken of every thing in the house.

Having represented that she was unable to furnish

linen and other necessaries for Hawley and his suite,
Mrs. G. was informed, that as the general would bring
every thing with him, she might lock up all she had,
and that all that was wanted was the use of two of her

maid-servants to do the work of the house. Mrs. G.

accordingly secured her effects tinder lock and key;
but Hawley had not been above a day in the house
when he sent a messenger to Mrs. G. demanding de-

livery of all her keys, and threatening, in case of

delay, to break open all the locks. Having received
the keys, the general sent Major Wolfe, one of his

aides-de-camp, to Mrs. G. in the evening, who inti-

mated to her that she was deprived of every thing
except the clothes on her back. The poor lady then
desired to have her tea, but the major told her that it

was very good, and that tea was scarce in the army.
She next asked for her chocolate, and the same answer
was returned. She expressed a wish to get other

things, particularly her china, but the gallant major
j

told her that she had a great deal of it, that it was
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Accordingly, on the 8th of April the duke

left Aberdeen with the last division of his

army, consisting of six battalions of foot and a

regiment of dragoons. The whole regular force

under his command amounted to about 7,200

men, comprehending fifteen regiments of foot,

two of dragoons, and Kingston's horse. Be-

sides these, there were the Argyleshire men

and other militia, whose united numbers may
be stated at 2,000. At the time of the duke's

departure, six battalions, with Kingston's horse

and Cobham's dragoons, under Major-general

Bland, were stationed at Strathbogie, and three

battalions at Old Meldrum, under Brigadier

Mordaunt. The duke quartered the first night

at Old Meldrum and the next at Banff, where

two spies were seized and hanged. One of

them was caught while in the act of notching

upon a stick the number of the duke's forces. 4

On the llth the duke marched to Cullen, and

at Portsoy he was joined by the remainder of

his army, which had been stationed at Old

Meldrum and Strathbogie. The army being

too numerous to obtain quarters in the town,

the foot encamped for the night on some

ploughed fields in the neighbourhood, and the

very pretty, and that the general and his friends were

very fond of china themselves ; but perhaps she might
get back some of it. Mrs. G. petitioned the Duke of

Cumberland to order her property to be restored to

her. The duke, it is said, promised to grant the prayer
of the petition, but no prohibitory order was issued,
and General Hawley proceeded to pack up every thing
in the least portable, and shipped the best things off

to Edinburgh a fortnight before he left Aberdeen.
Mrs. Gordon gives a very minute catalogue of the effects

carried off, which she values at 600. Among those
abstracted were the whole of her husband's body-
clothes, three wigs, "with several shirts and night-
gowns of Bob's," (Mr. Gordon's sou). He carried off

all the china and other crockeiy ware, and did not
leave a single teacup or plate, -all the wine glasses
and decanters, the linens and table napery, and even
the kitchen towels. He stript the beds of every thing,
and left the bare posts standing. In short, he cleared
the house of almost every thing, of empty bottles,

larding pens, iron skewers, flutes, music books, two
canes with china heads, wash-balls, &c. &c. Mrs.
Gordon insinuates that the Duke of Cumberland par-

ticipated in the spoil. In a letter written by Thomas
Rowdier, Esq. of Ashley, near Hath, brother of Mrs.

Gordon, to the Rev. Robert Lyon, who lived in Lady
Cotton's family in London, he observes, that a Mrs.

Jackson, who knew Mrs. Gordon's china well, recog-
nised part of it one day in the window of a china shop
in London, and having the curiosity to inquire of the

shopkeeper from whom he had bought it, was informed
that he had purchased it from a woman of the town,
who told him that the Duke of Cumberland had given
ib to her.

4
Ray, p. 313.

I.

horse were quartered in Cullen and the adjacent

villages. The Earl of Findlater, who, with his

countess, had accompanied the army on its

march from Aberdeen, on arriving at his seat

at Cullen, made a present of two hundred

guineas to the troops.

Next day, being Saturday, the 12th of

April, the duke put his army again in motion,

and, after a short march, halted on the moor

of Arrondel, about five or six miles from the

river Spey. He then formed his army into

three divisions, each about half a mile distant

from the other, and in this order they advanced

towards the Spey. The left division, which

was the largest, crossed the river by a ford

near Gormach, the centre by another close by
Gordon castle, and the division on the right

by a ford near the church of Belly. In their

passage, the men were up to their waists in the

water, but, with the exception of the loss of

one dragoon and four women, who were carried

away by the stream, no accident occurred.

The Duke of Perth, who happened at this

time to be with the Highland forces appointed

to defend the passage of the Spey, not thinking

it advisable to dispute the position against

such an overwhelming force as that to which

he was opposed, retired towards Elgin on the

approach of the Duke of Cumberland. The

conduct of the Duke of Perth, and of his

brother, Lord John Drummond, has been cen-

sured for not disputing the passage of the

Spey, but without reason. The whole of the

Highland forces along the Spey did not exceed

2,500 men, being little more than a fourth of

those under the Duke of Cumberland. Not-

withstanding this great disparity, the High-

landers, aided by the swollen state of the river,

might have effectually opposed the passage of

the royal army had it been attempted during

the month of March, but a recent drought had

greatly reduced the quantity of water in the

river, and had rendered it fordable in several

places to such an extent, that at two of them

a whole battalion might have marched abreast.

As some of the fords run in a zig-zag direction,

some damage might have been done to the

royal army in crossing; but as the Duke of

Cumberland had a good train of artillery, he

could have easily covered his passage at these

places.
4 M
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The departure of the Duke of Cumberland

from Aberdeen was not known at Inverness

till the 12th, on the morning of which day in-

telligence was brought to Charles that he was

in full march to the north with his whole

army. Shortly after his arrival at Inverness,

Charles had formed the design, while the Duke

of Cumberland lay at Aberdeen, of giving him

the slip, by marching to Perth by the Highland

road, so as to induce the duke to return south,

and thus leave the northern coast clear for the

landing of supplies from France. With this

view, he had directed the siege of Fort William

to be pushed, and, calculating upon a speedy

reduction of that fortress, had sent orders to

the Macdonalds, the Camerons, and the Stew-

arts, who were engaged in the siege, imme-

diately on the capture of the fort to march into

Argyleshire, and, after chastising the whigs in

that district, and giving an opportunity to their

friends there to join them, to proceed to Perth. 5

Charles, however, for the present, laid aside

the intention of marching south, and knowing

that the Duke of Cumberland would advance

from Aberdeen early in April, he gave orders

for concentrating his forces at Inverness, and,

as soon as he was informed of the duke's march,

he renewed these orders, by sending expresses

every where to bring up his men. Those who

had been at the siege of Fort William were

already on their march, but Lord Cromarty

was at a considerable distance with a large

body of men, and could scarcely be expected

to arrive in time if the duke was resolved on

an immediate action. 6

Besides the men who were absent on the

expeditions in Lochaber and Sutherland, there

were many others who had returned to their

homes, either discontented with the situation

in which they found themselves after they
came to Inverness, or to see their families or

friends. Up to the period of their arrival

there, they had received their pay punctually,
but at Inverness the face of affairs was com-

pletely changed in this respect, and instead of

money the troops were reduced to a weekly
allowance of oatmeal. The men murmured at

first at the stoppage of their pay, but their

clamours were quieted by their officers, who

6
Home, App. No. 41. 6 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 120.

gave them assurances that a supply of money
would soon be received from France. This

expectation would have been realised, but for

the misfortune which befell the Prince Charles,

and in consequence of that event, the soldiers

began to murmur afresh, and some of them

seeing no pressing occasion for their attendance,

and choosing rather to enjoy a frugal repast

with their friends at home than serve without

pay, left the army. These absentees, how-

ever, had no intention of abandoning the ser-

vice, and were resolved to rejoin their colours

as soon as they saw a probability of coming to

action. Accordingly, many of those who had

returned to their homes set out of their own
accord to rejoin the army, on hearing of the

Duke of Cumberland's advance, though few of

them arrived in' time for the battle. 7

Reduced in numbers as the prince's army
was from the causes alluded to, they still

burned with impatience to meet the enemy;
and when intelligence of the Duke of Cumber-

land's march from Aberdeen reached Inverness,

it was hailed with joy by the portion there

assembled. From the fatigues and labours

they had experienced during the campaign,
and the numerous inconveniences to which

they had been subjected from the want of pay,

there was nothing the Highlanders dreaded

more than another march to the south; but the

near prospect they now had of meeting the

English army upon their own soil, and of

putting an end to the war by one bold and

decisive blow, absorbed for a while all recollec-

tion of their past sufferings. By drawing the

Duke of Cumberland north to Inverness, it was

generally supposed that the prince could meet

him on more equal terms than at Aberdeen, as

he would have a better and more numerous

army at Inverness, than he could have carried

south. This unquestionably would have been

the case had Charles avoided a battle till he

had assembled all his troops, but his confidence

on the present occasion got the better of his

prudence.

After crossing the Spey, the Duke of Cum-

berland halted his army on the western bank,

and encamped opposite to Fochabers, but the

horse afterwards repassed the river and took

"

KLrkcontiel MS.
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up their quarters in the town. Here, as at

Cullen, every precaution was taken to prevent

surprise. Early next morning he raised his

camp, and passing through Elgin, encamped
on the moor of Alves, nearly midway between

Elgin and Forres. The Duke of Perth, who
had passed the previous night at Forres, re-

tired to Nairn upon his approach. The Duke
of Cumberland renewed his march on the 14th

and came to Nairn, where the Duke of Perth

remained till he was within a mile of the town,

and began his retreat in sight of the English

army. In this retreat, Clanranald's regiment,

with the French piquets and Fitz-James's

horse, formed the rear. To harass the rear,

and retard the march of the main body till

some of his foot should come up, the Duke of

Cumberland sent forward his cavalry. Several

shots were exchanged between the duke's

cavalry and the French horse, and in expecta-

tion of an engagement with the duke's ad-

vanced guard, consisting of 200 cavalry and

the Argyleshire men, the Macdonalds of Clan-

ranald, and the Stewarts of Appin, were ordered

back to support the French. These regiments

accordingly returned and took ground, and

Fitz-James's horse formed on their right and

left. The duke's advanced guard thereupon

halted, and formed in order of battle, but as

the main body of "the English army was in full

march the rear recommenced their retreat.

The advanced guard continued to pursue the

Highlanders several miles beyond Nairn, but

finding the chase useless, returned to the main

body which was preparing to encamp on a plain

to the west of Nairn. 8

Neither at the time when Charles received

intelligence of the Duke of Cumberland's march

to Aberdeen, nor till the following day (Sun-

day), when news was brought to him. that the

English army had actually crossed the Spey,

does Charles appear to have had any intention

of speedily risking a battle. He probably

expected that with the aid of the reinforce-

ments he had sent to support the Duke of

Perth, his grace would have been able, for some

time at least, to maintain a position on the

western bank of the river, and that time would

be thus afforded him to collect the scattered

s Kirkcoimel MS. Lockliart Papers, vol. ii. p. 507.

portions of his army, before being compelled,

by the advance of the Duke of Cumberland, to

come to a general engagement. But whatever

his intentions were anterior to the receipt of

the intelligence of the English army having
crossed the Spey, that circumstance alone made

him determine to attack the Duke of Cumber-

land without waiting for the return of hi?

absent detachments.

Accordingly, on the morning of the 14th,

Charles ordered the drums to beat, and the

pipes to play, as the signal for summoning his

men to arms. After those who were in the

town had assembled in the streets, the prince

mounted his horse, and putting himself at their

head, led them out to Culloden, about four

miles from Inverness. 9
Leaving part of his

men in the parks around Culloden house,

Charles went onward with his first tfoop of

guards and the Mackintosh regiment, and ad-

vanced within six miles of Nairn to support

the Duke of Perth, but finding him out of

danger, he returned to Culloden, where he was

joined by the whole of the duke's forces in the

evening. Lochiel also arrived at the same

time with his regiment. That night the High-
landers bivouacked among the furze of Cul-

loden wood, and Charles and his principal

officers lodged in Culloden house.

Having selected Drummossie moor for a

field of battle, Prince Charles marched his

army thither early on the morning of the 15th,

and drew his men up in order of battle across

the moor, which is about half a mile broad.

His front looked towards Nairn, and he had

the river of that name on his right, and the

Enclosures of Culloden on his left. This moor,
which is a heathy flat of considerable extent

about five miles from Inverness and about a

mile and a half to the south-east of Culloden

house, forms the top of a hill which, rising at

Culloden, dies gradually away in the direction

of Nairn. The ascent to the moor is steep on

both sides, particularly from the shore. In

pitching upon this ground, Charles acted

on the supposition that the Duke of Cumber-

land would march along the moor, which

was better fitted for the free passage of his

army than the common road between Nairn

9 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 518.
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and Inverness, which was narrow and incon-

venient.

In expectation that the Duke of Cumber-

land would advance, Charles sent forward on

the road to Nairn some parties of horse to

reconnoitre, but they could observe no appear-

ance of any movement among the royal troops.

The ground on which the army was now formed

had been chosen without consulting Lord

George Murray, who, on arriving on the spot,

objected to it, on the footing that though in-

terspersed with moss and some hollows, the

ground was generally too level, and conse-

quently not well suited for the operation of

Highlanders. He therefore proposed to look

out for more eligible ground, and at his sug-

gestion Brigadier Stapleton and Colonel Ker

were sent about ten o'clock to survey some

hilly glbund on the south side of the water of

Nairn, which appeared to him to be steep and

uneven, and of course more advantageous for

HighlandersT Ai^er an absence of two or three

hours, these- officers returned and reported

that the ground they had been appointed to

examine was rugged and boggy, that no cavalry

could act upon it, that the ascent on the side

next the river was steep, and that there were

only two or three places, about three or four

miles above, where cavalry could pass ; the

banks of the river below being inaccessible.

Ou receiving this information, Lord George

Murray proposed, in the event of Cumberland's

forces not appearing that day, that the army
should cross the water of Nairn, and draw up
iu line of battle next day, upon the ground
which had been surveyed ;

and that, should

the Duke of Cumberland not venture to cross

after them and engage them upon the ground
in question, they might watch a favourable

opportunity of attacking him with advantage.
In the event of no such opportunity offering,
his lordship said he would recommend that

the army should, with the view of draw-

ing the duke after them, retire to the neigh-

bouring mountains, where they might attack

him at some pass or strong ground. This pro-

posal met with the general approbation of the

commanding officers; but Charles who, two

days before (when a suggestion was made to

him to retire to a strong position till all his

\rrny should
assemble), had declared his reso-

lution to attack the Duke of Cumberland even

with a thousand men only, declined to accede

to it. His grounds were that such a retrograde

movement might discourage the men, by im-

pressing them with a belief that there existed

a desire on the part of their commanders to

shun the English army ;
that Inverness, which

was now in their rear, would be exposed, and

that the Duke of Cumberland might march

upon that town, and possess himself of the

greater part of their baggage and ammunition. 1

Concluding from the inactivity of the Duke
of Cumberland that he had no intention of

marching that day, Charles held a council of

war in the afternoon, to deliberate upon the

course it might be considered most advisable

to pursue in consequence of the duke's stay at

Nairn. According to Charles's own statement,

he had formed the bold and desperate design of

surprising the English army in their camp dur-

ing the night; but, desirous of knowing the

views of his officers before divulging his plan, he

allowed all the members of the council to speak
before him. After hearing the sentiments of

the chiefs, and the other commanders who were

present, Lord George Murray proposed to at-

tack the Duke of Cumberland during the night,

provided it was the general opinion that the

attack could be made before one or two o'clock

in the morning. Charles, overjoyed at the

uggestion of his lieutenant-general, imme-

diately embraced him, said that he approved
of it, that in fact he had contemplated the

measure himself, but that he did not intend to

have disclosed it till all the members of the

louncil had delivered their sentiments.

Had the army been in a condition to sustain

he fatigue of a night-march of ten or twelve

miles, the plan of a night attack was un-

questionably the best that could have been

(Sevised under existing circumstances. If sur-

prised in the dark, even supposing the duke to

lave been on his guard, a night attack appeared
o afford the only chance of getting the better

of his superiority in numbers and discipline,

and of rendering his cavalry and cannon, in

which his chief strength lay, utterly useless.

A Particular Account of tlie Battle of Culloden.
In a. letter from an officer (Lord George Murray) of

he Highland army to his friend in London. London,
1749, p. 4. No. 42 of Appendix to Home. Jacobite

Memoirs, p. 121.
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But the Highland army, from some unaccount-

able oversight on the part of the persons who

had the charge of the commissariat department,

was in a state bordering upon starvation, and

consequently not able to perform such a fatigu-

ing march. Although there was a quantity of

meal in Inverness and the neighbourhood suffi-

cient for a fortnight's consumption, no care

had been taken to supply the men with an

allowance on leaving Inverness, and the con-

sequence was, that during this and the preced-

ing day very few of them had tasted a particle

of food. To appease their hunger a single

biscuit was distributed to each man, but this

pittance only increased the desire for more
;
and

hunger getting the better of patience, some of

the men began to leave the ranks in quest of

provisions. In spite, however, of the depriva-

tion under which they laboured, the army was

never in higher spirits, or more desirous to meet

the enemy; and it was not until all hopes of an

immediate engagement were abandoned that

the men thought of looking out for the means

of subsistence. 2

The expediency of a night attack was ad-

mitted by all the members of the council,

but there were a few who thought that it

should not be ventured upon until the ar-

rival of the rest of the army, which might

be expected in two or three days at farthest.

Keppoch with his Highlanders had just come

up and joined the army; but the Mackenzies

under Lord Cromarty, a body of the Erasers

whom the Master of Lovat had collected to

complete his second battalion, the Macphersons
under Cluny, their chief, the Macgregors under

Glengyle, a party headed by Mackinnon, and

a body of Glengarry's men under Barisdale,

were still at a distance, though supposed to be

all on their march to Inverness. The minority

objected that, should they fail in the attempt,

and be repulsed, it would be difficult to rally

the Highlanders, that even-supposing no spy

should give the Duke of Cumberland notice of

their approach, he might, if alarmed by any of

his patrols, have time to put his army in order

in his camp, place his cannon, charged with

cartouch-shot, as he pleased, and get all his

horse in readiness to pursue the Highlanders if

Kirlcconncl MS. Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p 518.

beat off. Besides these objections, they urged
the difficulty of making a retreat if many of

their men were wounded, from the aversion of

the Highlanders to leave their wounded be-

hind them. They, moreover, observed that

they had no intelligence of the situation of the

duke's camp; and that even could a safe re-

treat be made, the fatigue of marching forwards

and backwards twenty miles would be too

much for men to endure, who would probably
have to fight next day.

3

All these arguments were however thrown

away upon Charles, who, supported by the

Duke of Perth, Lord George Murray, Lord

John Drummond, Lochiel, and others, showed
the utmost impatience for an immediate at-

tack. Those who supported this view were not

insensible to the danger which might ensue

should the attack miscarry; but, strange to

say, they were urged to it from the very cause

to which the failure Avas chiefly owing, the

want of provisions. Apprehensive that if the

army was kept on the moor all night, many of

the men would go away to a considerable dis-

tance in search of food, and that it would be

very difficult to assemble them speedily in the

event of a sudden alarm, they considered an

immediate attack, particularly as Charles had

resolved to fight without waiting for reinforce-

ments, as a less desperate course than remain-

ing where they were. 4

To prevent the Duke of Cumberland from

obtaining any knowledge of the advance of the

Highlanders from the spies who might be

within view of his army, Charles fixed upon
eight o'clock for his departure, by which time

his motions would be concealed from observa-

tion by the obscurity of the evening. Mean-
while the commanding officers repaired to their

respective regiments to put their men in readi-

ness
;
but between six and seven o'clock an

incident occurred which almost put an end to

the enterprise. This was the departure of a

large number of the men, who, ignorant of the

intended march, went off towards Inverness

and adjacent places to procure provisions and

quarters for the night. Officers from the dif-

ferent regiments were immediately despatched
on horseback to bring them back, but no per-

!
' Particular Account of the Battle of Cullodrn, p. ft.

*
Idem, p.

9.
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suasion could indues the men to return, who

gave as their reason for refusing that they were

starving. They told the officers that they

might shoot them if they pleased, but that they

would not go back till they got some provi-

sions. 5 By this defection Charles lost about

2,000 men, being about a third of his army.

This occurrence completely changed the as-

pect of affairs, and every member of the council

who had formerly advocated a night attack

now warmly opposed it. Charles, bent upon

his purpose, resolutely insisted upon the mea-

sure, and said that when the march was begun

the men who had gone off would return and

follow the rest. The confidence which he had

in the bravery of his army blinded him to every

danger, and he was prompted in his determina-

tion to persist in the attempt from an idea that

Cumberland's army having been that day en-

gaged in celebrating the birth-day of their

commander, would after their debauch fall an

easy prey to the Highlanders.

Finding the prince fully resolved to make

the attempt at all hazards, the commanding
officers took their stations, waiting the order

to march. The watchword was,
"
King James

the VIII.," and special instructions were issued

to the army, that in making the attack the

troops should not make use of their fire-arms,

but confine themselves to their swords, dirks,

and bayonets ;
and that on entering the Duke

of Cumberland's camp they should cut the

tent strings and pull down the poles, and that

wherever they observed a swelling or bulge

in the fallen covering, they should strike and

push vigorously with their swords and dirks. 6

Before marching, directions were given to sev-

eral small parties to possess all the roads, in

order to prevent any intelligence of their march

being carried to the Duke of Cumberland.

In giving his orders to march, Charles em-

braced Lord George Murray, who immediately
went off at the head of the line, about eight' O

o'clock, preceded by two officers, and about

thirty men of the Mackintosh regiment, who
from their knowledge of the country were to

act as guides. Though the whole army marched
in one line, there was an interval in the middle

as if it consisted of two columns. The Athole

5 Particular Account, p. 10.
8 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 508.

men led the van, and next to them were the

Camerons, who were followed by the other

clans. The low country regiments, the French

piquets, and the horse, formed the rear. Lord

John Drummond was in the centre, or at the

head of the second column
;
and the Duke of

Perth and Charles, who had Fitz-James's and

other horse with him, were towards the rear.

Besides the party of Mackintoshes, who served

as guides in front, there were others of that

clan stationed in the centre and rear, and

generally along the line, to prevent any of the

men from losing their way in the dark. 7 The

plan of attack, as laid down by Lord George

Murray, was as follows : The army was to

have marched in a body till they passed the

house of Kilraick or Kilravock, which is about

ten miles from' Culloden, on the direct road

to Nairn. The army was then to have been

divided, and while Lord George Murray
crossed the river Nairn with the van, mak-

ing about one-third of the whole, and marched

down by the south side of the river, the re-

mainder was to have continued its march

along the north side till both divisions came

near the duke's camp. The van was then to

have re-crossed the river, and attacked the

royal army from the south, while the other

part was to have attacked it at the same time

from the west. 8 "With the exception of Charles,

who promised upon his honour not to divulge

it to any person, and Anderson, who acted as

guide at the battle of Preston, no person was

made privy to the plan, as its success depended

upon its secrecy.

In the outset of the march the van pro-

ceeded with considerable expedition, but it

had gone scarcely half a mile when Lord

George Murray received an express ordering

him to halt till joined by the rear column,

which was a considerable way behind. As a

halt in the van always occasions a much longer

one in the rear when the march is resumed,

Lord George did not halt but slackened his

pace to enable the rear to join. This, how-

ever, was to no purpose, as the rear still kept

behind, and although, in consequence of

numerous expresses enjoining him to wait,

Lord George marched slower and slower, the

7 Particular A ccount, p. 1 0.
8
Appendix to HoniP, No. 42.
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rear fell still farther behind, and before he had

marched six miles he had received at least fifty

expresses ordering him either to halt or to

slacken his pace. The chief cause of the stop-

page was the badness of the roads.

About one o'clock in the morning, when

the van was opposite to the house of Kil-

ravock, Lord John Drummond came up and

stated to Lord George Murray that unless

he halted or marched much slower the rear

would not be able to join. The Duke of

Perth having shortly thereafter also come up
to the front and given a similar assurance, his

lordship halted near a small farm-house called

Yellow Knowe, belonging to Rose of Kilravock,

nearly four miles from Nairn, and about a mile

from the place where it was intended the van

should cross the river. In the wood of Kil-

ravock the march of the rear was greatly re-

tarded by a long narrow defile occasioned partly

by a stone wall; and so fatigued and faint had

the men become, by the badness of the road,

and want of food, that many of them, unable

to proceed, lay down in the wood. This cir-

cumstance was announced to Lord George

Murray by several officers who came up from

the rear shortly after the van had halted.

Nearly all the principal officers, including the

Duke of Perth, Lord George Murray, Lord

John Drummond, Lochiel, and General O'Sul-

livan, were now in the van, and having ascer-

tained by their watches, which they looked at

in a little house close by, that it was two o'clock

in the morning, they at once perceived the

impossibility of surprising the English army.

The van was still upwards of three, and the

rear about four miles from Nairn, and as they

had only been able to advance hitherto at a

rate little more than a mile in the hour, it was

not to be expected that the army in its ex-

hausted state would be able to accomplish the

remainder of the distance, within the time

prescribed, even at a more accelerated pace.

By a quick march the army could not have

advanced two miles before day-break; so that

the Duke of Cumberland would have had

sufficient time to put his army in fighting

order before an attack could have been made.

These were sufficient reasons of themselves for

abandoning the enterprise, but when it is con-

sidered that the army had been greatly dimin-

ished during the march, and that scarcely

one-half of the men that were drawn up the

day before on Drummossie moor remained, the

propriety of a retreat becomes undoubted. 9

Lord George Murray, who had never con-

templated any thing but a surprise, and whose

calculation of reaching Nairn by two o'clock in

the morning would have been realised had the

whole line marched with the same celerity as

the first four or five regiments, would have

been perfectly justified in the unexpected situ-

ation in which he was placed, in at once order-

ing a retreat
;

l but desirous of ascertaining

a Home, Appendix, No. 42. True Account, &c. p. 11.
1 In the letter which Lord George, under the signa-

ture of De Valignie, addressed to his friend Hamilton
of Bangour, dated from Emerick, 5th August, 1749,
he thus justifies himself for having ordered a retreat

without the prince's orders: "They say, why return

from Kilraick without the Prince's positive orders? he
was general, and without his immediate orders no

person should have taken so much upon him. My
answer to this is. (waiving what Mr. O'Sullivan said

from the Prince, *) that all the officers were unan-

imous; that as it could not be done by surprise, and
before day-break, as had been proposed and under-
taken with no other view, it was impossible to have

success; for it was never imagined by any one that it

was to be attempted but by a surprise. Whatever

may be the rules in a regular army, (and it is not to

be supposed I was ignorant of them, )
our practice had

all along been, at critical junctures, that the com-

manding officers did every thing to their knowledge
for the best. At Gladsmuir (the plan of which attack
I had formed,) I was the last that passed the defile of

the first line, and the first that attacked
;
and gained

in going on a good part of the ground we had left be-

twixt us and the main ditch, by the front having, on
account of the darkness, marched a little too far.

When I came up with the enemy's cannon, I did not

stay to take them, but went on against both foot and

dragoons, being very quickly followed by our right. I

received no orders (nor did 1 wait for any, otherwise
the opportunity would have been lost,) from the time
I passed the defile till the battle was over. At Clif-

ton, where I expected to have been supported by all

our army, John Roy Stuart brought me orders from
the Prince to retreat, for he had ordered the march for

Carlisle, which was begun. The officers who were
with me agreed in my opinion, that to retreat when
the enemy were within less than musket-shot would
be very dangerous, and we would probably be destroyed
before we came up with the rest of our army. We
had nothing for it but a brisk attack; and therefore,
after receiving the enemy's fire, we went sword in

hand and dislodged them
;
after which we made our

retreat in good order. I own I disobeyed orders; but
what I did was the only safe and honourable measure
I could take, and it succeeded. At the battle of

Falkirk I never received an order or message from his

Royal Highness after I passed the water at Dunipace
till the battle was over. I could say much more on

* " Mr. O'Sullivan said, (he had .just come up to the front,)
he. had just then come from the Prince, who was very desirous
the attack should be made : but as Lord George Murray led
the van, and could judge of the time, he left it to him whethej
to do it or not." Particular Account, p. 12.
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the sentiments of the officers about him, he re-

quested them to state their views of the course

they thought it most advisable to adopt. There

were several gentlemen present, who, having

joined the Athole brigade as volunteers, had

marched all night in the front: and as the

Duke of Perth, Lord John Drummond, and

the other officers, seemed at a loss what to

resolve upon, Lord George Murray requested

the volunteers to give their free opinion, as

they were all equally interested in the con-

sequences. Without hesitation all these gentle-

men, eager to come to an engagement, were for

marching, but most of the officers, particularly

Lochiel and his brother, Dr. Cameron, were of

a different opinion, in which they were backed

by Lord George Murray, who observed that if

they could have made the attack within the

time prescribed they would certainly have suc-

ceeded, especially if they could have surprised

the enemy; but to attack in daylight an army
that was nearly double their number, and which

would be prepared to receive them, would be

considered an act of madness. 2

Among the volunteers the most conspicuous

was Mr. Hepburn of Keith. While arguing

for an attack with Lord George Murray, the

beating of a drum was heard in the Duke of

Cumberland's camp.
" Don't you hear," said

Lord George ;

" the enemy are alarmed
;
we

can't surprise them." " I never expected," said

Hepburn,
" to find the red coats asleep ;

but

they will be drunk after solemnising the Duke
of Cumberland's birth-day. It is much better

to march on and attack them than to retreat,

for they will most certainly follow, and oblige

us to fight when we shall be in a much worse

condition to fight them than we are now."

While this altercation was going on, Mr. John

Hay, then acting as interim-secretary to the

prince instead of Secretary Murray, who was

unwell, came up and informed Lord George
that the line had joined. Gathering from the

conversation he overheard that a retreat was

this subject ;
all I shall now add is, that at the time

we returned from Kilravock there was no officer of any
distinction with the prince, (except Sir Thomas Sheri-
dan be reckoned one,) they being all in the van.

Brigadier Stapleton was indeed in the rear, but he
knew nothing of the ground there, and his people were
only to have been a corps do reserve, and not in the
attack."

Particular A ccount, <tc. p. 1 2.

resolved upon, he began to argue against it,

but being unsuccessful he immediately rode

back to Charles, who was in the rear of the

first column, and told him that unless he came

to the front and ordered Lord George to go on

nothing would be done. Charles, who was on

horseback, rode forward immediately towards

the front, to ascertain the cause of the halt,

and on his way met the van in full retreat.

He was no doubt surprised at this step, and in

a temporary fit of irritation, is said to have re-

marked that Lord George Murray had betrayed

him;
3 but Lord George immediately convinced

him " of the unavoidable necessity ofretreating."
4

The army marched back in two columns, by
a different but more direct route than that by
which it had advanced. In returning they
had a view of the fires in the Duke of Cumber-

land's camp. The greater part of the army
arrived at Culloden, whither it had been agreed

upon to proceed, about five o'clock in the

morning, and the remainder did not remain

long behind. The quick return of the army

suggests an idea that had it marched in double

columns towards Nairn by the shortest route,

it might have reached its destination at least

an hour sooner than the time contemplated by
Lord George Murray, but there was great

danger, that, by adopting such a course, the

Duke of Cumberland would have obtained

notice of the advance of the Highlanders.

3 Mr. John Hay's account of the Retreat, No. 43 of

Appendix to Home's Rebellion. This statement has

been hitherto supposed to rest upon the single authority
of Hay; and Mr. Home has been blamed for making
it, as it was not confirmed by others. The same state-

ment, however, is also made by Mr. Maxwell of Kirk-

connel, a much more respectable authority than Hay.
Mr. Home had the Kirkconnel MS. in his possession
when writing his history, but seldom refers to it. Mr.
Maxwell's words are:

" The prince was incensed beyond
expression at a retreat, begun in direct contradiction

to his inclination and express orders. In the first

moments he was convinced he was betrayed, and ex-

pressed himself to that purpose. He was confirmed

in this opinion by those who never missed an oppor-

tunity of loading Lord George Murray, but when he
knew that this step had been taken in concert with
Lochiel and others, whom he had never distrusted, he
did not know what to think or what to do ; thus per-

plexed he arrived with the army at Culloden." See

also narrative by the Rev. George Innes in Jacobite

Memoirs, who says, (p. 289,) that some persons posi-

tively said, that when the prince met the Duke of

Perth's regiment returning, he cried out, "I am be-

trayed; what need I give orders, when my orders are

disobeyed."
4 Answer by the Prince to Mr. Home's query, Home's

Rebellion, No. 44 of the Appendix.
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On arriving at Culloden, the prince gave

orders to bring provisions to the field
;
but the

calls of hunger could not brook delay, and

many of the common men as well as officers

slipped off to Inverness and the neighbourhood
in quest of refreshment. Others, from absolute

exhaustion, lay down on the ground, and sought

a momentary respite in the arms of sleep.

Charles himself, with his principal officers,

went to Culloden house, where, sullen, dejected,

and silent, they for a time stared at one another

with amazement, instead of deliberating upon
the course they ought to pursiie at this critical

juncture. A search was made for food, but

with the exception of a little bread and a small

quantity of whisky, which was procured for

the prince with great difficulty, no refreshment

of any kind could be obtained. 5

After a short repose the men were aroused

from their slumbers by their officers, who in-

formed them that the Duke of Cumberland's

army was approaching. There were others

OldCullodou House. From Original Sketch in possession of Duncan Forbes, Esq., of Cullodeii.

whom, hunger had kept awake, and who having |

seized and killed some cattle and sheep which
j

they found at Culloden, were preparing a re- I

past, but few of them had time to make any I

thing ready before the alarm was given. The

intelligence of Cumberland's advance was first

brought to Culloden house about eight o'clock

by one Cameron, a lieutenant in Lochiel's regi-

ment, who, having fallen asleep at the place

where the halt was made, had been left behind.

As Fitz-James's horse and others had gone to

Inverness to refresh, and as those who remained

5 Kirkconnel MS. Lockliart Papers, vol. ii. p. 519.

Particular Account, p. 14.

6 Kirkconnel MS.

I.

were, from the hard duty they had performed

for several days and nights, unfit for patrolling,

Charles had no means of ascertaining whether

the troops that were approaching were merely

an advanced party, or the whole of the English

army. That nothing might be left to conjecture

at such an important crisis, some officers were

instantly despatched to Inverness, to bring

back the men whom hunger had driven thither,

and the Highlanders at Culloden were got

ready as quickly as possible, and marched

through the parks of Culloden in battalions,

as they happened to be lying, to Drummossie

moor, on a part of which, about half a mile to

the west of the place where they had been

4o
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drawn up the day before, the army halted.

Lord George Murray now renewed his proposal

to pass the water of Nairn, and take up a posi-

tion on the ground which had been surveyed

the previous morning, as being much better

litted for Highlanders than the level on which

they stood. An additional reason for passing

the Nairn was, that Macpherson of Cluny, who

was expected every moment with his clan, was

to come on the south side. Charles, however,

again rejected this judicious advice, for the

reasons he had formerly given.
7 By retiring

beyond Inverness, or among the fastnesses to

the south of the water of Nairn, an action

might have been easily avoided for several

days ; and, as the projected night attack had

miscarried, it would certainly have been a wise

course to have shunned an engagement till the

men had recovered their strength and spirits ;

but Charles, over-sanguine in all his calcula-

tions, and swayed by his creatures and syco-

phants, was deaf to the suggestions of wisdom.

It seems strange that a retreat to Inverness

was not proposed. By retiring into the town,

and occupying the grounds in the neighbour-

hood, a delay of twenty-four hours might have

been obtained, as it is not likely that the Duke

of Cumberland would have attempted to force

the town, or a strong camp, the same day he

marched from Nairn. By postponing the en-

gagement till next day, a very different result

might have happened, as the Highlanders, who
were in a starving condition, would have had

time to procure provisions and recruit from

their fatigue ;
and numbers, who were not able

to come up in time to Culloden, would have

rejoined the ranks at Inverness.

The Duke of Cumberland had been informed

of the night march towards Nairn by some

Highland spies whom he had in his pay, and
who had mixed with the insurgents as they
marched

;
but the spies were ignorant of the

intended surprise, which was kept a profound
secret from the Highland army. Judging from

the intelligence brought by the last person that

arrived in his camp, that the Highlanders were

coming directly in his front, the duke con-

sidered himself free from surprise, as the

Argyleshire men lay on the plain to the west

7 Particular Account, p ] 4.

of his camp, while a party of dragoons patrolled

all night between Nairn and the sea. He
therefore ordered his men to take some rest,

but to keep their arms in readiness. He ap-

pears not to have anticipated an attack during

the night, but to have imagined that Charles

merely meant to take ground during the night,

and to attack him early next morning. In

expectation of a battle, the duke had formed

his army by break of day, and, having ascer-

tained that the Highland army had retreated,

he began his march towards Inverness about

five o'clock. 8 The English army had, as anti-

cipated, celebrated the birth-day of their com-

mander
;
but although they were amply sup-

plied with bread, cheese, and brandy, at the

duke's expense, the men had not exceeded the

bounds of moderation. 9

Before commencing the march, written in-

structions, which had been communicated to

the commanders of the different regiments,

were read at the head of every company
in the line. These instructions were, that if

the persons to whom the charge of the train

or baggage horses was entrusted should ab-

scond or leave them, they should be pun-

ished with immediate death
;
and that if any

officer or soldier misconducted himself during

the engagement, he should be sentenced. The

infantry marched in three parallel divisions or

columns, of five regiments each, headed by
General Huske on the left, Lord Sempill on

the right, and General Morclaunt in the centre.

The artillery and baggage followed the first

column on the right, and the dragoons and

horse, led by Generals Hawley and Bland,

were on the left, forming a fourth column.

Forty of Kingston's horse and Argyleshire men
formed the van. 1

The charge of forming the Highland army
in line of battle on this important occasion was

intrusted to O'Sullivan, who acted in the

double capacity of adjutant and quarter-master

general. This officer, in the opinion of Lord

George Murray, a high authority certainly, was

exceedingly unfit for such a task, and com-

mitted gross blunders on every occasion of

8 Home, p. 2-26.

u
Boyse, p. 1 55.

1

Boyse, p. 156. English official ticeomi'; of tlia

battle.
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moment. In the present instance, he did not

even visit the ground where the army was to

be drawn up, and he committed a "
fatal error"

by omitting to throw down some park walls

upon the left of the English army, which were

afterwards taken possession of by the Duke of

Cumberland, it being found afterwards impos-
sible to break the English Hues, from the de-

structive flank-fire which was opened from

these walls upon the right of the Highland

army, as it advanced to the attack. 2 While

the Duke of Cumberland was forming his

line of battle, Lord George Murray was very
desirous to advance and throw down these

walls
;
but as such a movement would have

broken the line, the officers about him con-

sidered that the attempt would be dangerous,

and he therefore did not make it.
3

The Highland army was drawn up in three

lines. The first, or front line, consisted of the

Athole brigade, which had the right, the Cam-

erons, Stewarts of Appin, Erasers, Macintoshes,

Maclachlans, Macleans, John Roy Stewart's

regiment, and Farquharsons, united into one

regiment ;
the Macleods, Chisholms, Macdon-

alds of Clanranald, Keppoch, and Glengarry.

The three Macdonald regiments formed tho

left. Lord George Murray commanded on the

right, Lord John Drummond in the centre, and

the Duke of Perth on the left, of the first line.

There had been, a day or two before, a violent

contention among the chiefs about precedency

of rank. The Macdonalds claimed the right

as their due, in support of which claim they

stated, that as a reward for the fidelity of

Angus Macdonald, Lord of the Isles, in pro-

tecting Robert the Bruce for upwards of nine

months in his dominions, that prince, at the

battle of Bannockburn, conferred the post of

honour, the right, upon the Macdonalds, that

this post had ever since been enjoyed by them,

unless when yielded from courtesy upon parti-

cular occasions, as was done to the chief of the

Macleans at the battle of Harlaw. 4 Lord

George Murray, however, maintained that, un-

der the Marquis of Montrose, the right had

2 See a curious and interesting letter in the Stuart

Papers, from Lord George Murray to the prince, writ-

tt-n from Ruthven the day after the battle.
" Particular A ccount, p. 1 5.

4 Loclchart Papers, vol. ii. p. 510.

been assigned to the Athole men, and he in-

sisted that that post should be now conferred

upon them, in the contest with the Duke of

Cumberland's army. In this unseasonable de-

mand, Lord George is said to have been sup-

ported by Lochiel and his friends. Charles

refused to decide a question with the merits

of which he was imperfectly acquainted ; but,

as it was necessary to adjust the difference

immediately, he prevailed upon the command-

ers of the Macdonald regiments to waive their

pretensions in the present instance. The Mac-

donalds in general were far from being satisfied

with the complaisance of their commanders,

and, as they had occupied the post of honour

at Gladsmuir and Falkirk, they considered

their deprivation of it on the present occasion

as ominous. 5 The Duke of Perth, while he

stood at the head of the Glengarry regiment,

hearing the murmurs of the Macdonalds, said,

that if they behaved with their usual valour

they would make a right of the left, and that

he would change his name to Macdonald
;
but

these proud clansmen leant a deaf ear to him.

The second line of the Highland army con-

sisted of the Gordons under Lord Lewis Gor-

don, formed in column on the right, the Erench

Royal Scots, the Irish piquets or brigade,

Lord Kilmarnock's foot guards,
6 Lord John

Drummond's regiment, and Glenbucket's regi-

ment in column on the left, flanked on the

right by Fitz- James's dragoons, and Lord

Elcho's horse-guards, and on the left by the

Perth squadron, under Lords Strathallan and

Pitsligo, and the prince's body-guards under

Lord Balmerino. General Stapleton had the

command of this line. The third line, or re-

serve, consisted of the Duke of Perth's and

Lord Ogilvy's regiments, iinder the last-men-

tioned nobleman. The prince himself, sur-

rounded by a troop of Fitz-James's horse, took

his station on a very small eminence behind

the centre of the first line, from which he had

a complete view of the whole field of battle.

The extremities of the front line and the centre

were each protected by four pieces of cannon.

5 Lncl-Jiarl Papfrs, vol. ii. p. 510. KirJcconnel MS.
6 These guards were originally a body of cavalry,

cnlled the horse-grenadiers, but they were dismounted,
and their horses were given to the men of Fitz-James's

regiment, who had landed in Scotland without horses.
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The English army continued steadily to ad-

vance in the order already described, and,

after a march of eight miles, formed in order

of battle, in consequence of the advanced

guard reporting that they perceived the High-

land army at some distance making a motion

towards them on the left. Finding, however,

that the Highlanders were still at a consider-

able distance, and that the whole body did

not move forward, the Duke of Cumberland

resumed his march as before, and continued to

advance till within a mile of the position oc-

cupied by the Highland army, when he ordered

a halt, and, after reconnoitring the position of

the Highlanders, again formed his army for

battle in three lines, and in the following order.

The first line consisted of six regiments,

viz. the Royals, (the 1st,) Cholmondeley's, (the

34th,) Price's, (the 14th,) the Scots Fusileers,

(the 21st,) Monro's, (the 37th,) and Barrel's,

(the 4th). The Earl of Albemarle had the

command of this line. In the intermediate

spaces between each of these regiments were

placed two pieces of cannon, making ten in

all. The second line consisted of five regi-

ments, viz. those of Pulteney, (the 13th,)

Bligh, (the 20th,) Sempil, (the 25th,) Li-

gonier, (the 48th,) and Wolfe's, (the 8th,)

and was under the command of General

Huske. Three pieces of cannon were placed

between the exterior regiments of this line and

those next them. The third line or carets de

reserve, under Brigadier Mordaunt, consisted

of four regiments, viz. Battereau's, (the 62d,)

Howard's, (the 3d,) Fleming's, (the 36th,) and

Blakeney's, (the 27th,) flanked by Kingston's

dragoons, (the 3d). The order in which the

regiments of the different lines are enumerated,
is that in which they stood from righu to left.

The flanks of the front line were protected on

the left by Kerr's dragoons, (the llth,) con-

sisting of three squadrons, commanded by
Lord Ancrum, and on the right by Cobham's

dragoons, (the 10th,) consisting also of three

squadrons, under General Bland, with the

additional security of a morass, extending to-

wards the sea; but thinking himself quite
safe on the right, the duke afterwards ordered

these last to the left, to aid in an intended

attack upon the right flank of the Highlanders.
The Argyle men, with the exception of 140,

who were upon the left of the reserve, were

left in charge of the baggage.

The dispositions of both armies are consid-

ered to have been well arranged; but both

were better calculated for defence than for at-

tack. The arrangement of the English army
is generally considered to have been superior

to that of the Highlanders; as, from the regi-

ments in the second and third lines being placed

directly behind the vacant spaces between the

regiments in the lines respectively before them,

the Duke of Cumberland, in the event of one

regiment in the front line being broken, could

immediately bring up two to supply its place.

But this opinion is questionable, as the High-
landers had a column on the flanks of the

second line, which might have been used either

for extension or echelon movement towards

any point to the centre, to support either the

first or second line.

In the dispositions described, and about the

distance of a mile from each other, did the two

armies stand for some time gazing at one an-

other, each expecting that the other would

advance and give battle. Whatever may have

been the feelings of Prince Charles on this

occasion, those of the Duke of Cumberland

appear to have been far from enviable. The

thoughts of Preston and Falkirk could not fail

to excite in him the most direful apprehen-
sions for the result of a combat affecting the

very existence of his father's crown
;
and that

he placed but a doubtful reliance upon his

troops, is evident from a speech which he now
made to his army. He said that they were

about to fight in defence of their king, their

religion, their liberties, and property, and that

if they only stood firm he had no doubt he

would lead them on to certain victory; but as

he would much rather, he said, be at the head

of one thousand brave and resolute men than of

ten thousand if mixed with cowards, if there

were any amongst them, who, through timid-

ity, were diffident of their courage, or others,

who, from conscience or inclination, felt a re-

pugnance to perform their duty, he requested

them to retire immediately, and he promised
them his free pardon for doing so, as by re-

maining they might dispirit or disorder the

other troops, and bring dishonour and disgrace

on the army under his command.
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As the Highlanders remained in their posi-

tion, the Duke of Cumberland again put his

army in marching order, and, after it had ad-

vanced, with fixed bayonets, within half a

mile of the front line of the Highlanders, it

again formed as before. In this last move-

ment the English army had to pass a piece of

hollow ground, which was so soft and swampy,
that the horses which drew the cannon sank;

and some of the soldiers, after slinging their

firelocks and unyoking the horses, had to drag

the cannon across the bog. As by this last

movement the army advanced beyond the

morass which protected the right flank, the

duke immediately ordered up Kingston's horse

from the reserve, and a small squadron of Cob-

ham's dragoons, which had been patrolling, to

cover it; and to extend his line, and prevent

his being outflanked on the right, he also at

same time ordered up Pulteney's regiment, (the

13th,) from the second line to the right of the

royals- and Fleming's, (the 36th,) Howard's,

Battle of Oullodeii.

(the 3d,) and Battereau's, (the 62d,) to the right

of Bligh's, (the 20th,) in the second line, leaving

Blakeney's, (the 27th,) as a reserve.

During an interval of about half an hour

which elapsed before the action commenced,

some mano3uvring took place in attempts by
both armies to outflank one another. While

these manoeuvres were making, a heavy shower

of sleet came on, which, though discouraging

to the duke's army, from the recollection of the

untoward occurrence at Falkirk, was not con-

sidered very dangerous, as they had now the

wind in their backs. To encourage his men,

the Duke of Cumberland rode along the lines

addressing himself hurriedly to every regiment

as he passed. He exhorted his men to rely

chiefly upon their bayonets,
7 and to allow the

Highlanders to mingle with them that they

7 ' ' The great object of the duke, before recommencing
his march, had been to prepare his men for a firm re-

ception of the Highland charge. He knew that on

this all depended, and that the two previous disasters

had been caused by the men not being rightly disci-

plined to receive the novel mode of attack. Some
writers on military tactics had, in the meantime, pro-

posed alterations on the complex infantry movements
of the day, for the purpose of evading the Highlander's

target, by directing the bayonet against his right
breast. The men were trained during the winter, in

some measure, to such a change of motion, but it

appears to have rather been for the purpose of giving
them a confidence that might make them steady, than

from any belief in the absolute efficacy of the change.
"

Burton's Scotland from Revolution, vol. ii. p. 519.
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might make them " know the men they had to

deal with." After the changes mentioned had

been executed, his royal highness took his sta-

tion behind the royals, between the first and

second line, and almost in front of the left of

Howard's regiment, waiting for the expected

attack. Meanwhile, a singular occurrence took

place, characteristic of the self-devotion which

the Highlanders were ready on all occasions to

manifest towards the prince and his cause.

Conceiving that by assassinating the Duke of

Cumberland he would confer an essential service

on the prince, a Highlander resolved, at the

certain sacrifice of his own life, to make the

attempt. With this intention, he entered the

English lines as a deserter, and being granted

quarter, was allowed to go through the ranks.

He wandered about Avith apparent indifference,

eyeing the different officers as he passed along,

and it was not long till an opportunity occurred,

as he conceived, for executing his fell purpose.

The duke having ordered Lord Bury, one of

his aides-de-camp, to reconnoitre, his lordship

crossed the path of the Highlander, who, mis-

taking him, from his dress, for the duke, (the

regimentals of both being similar,) instantly

seized a musket which lay on the ground, and

discharged it at his lordship. He missed his

aim, and a soldier, who was standing by, imme-

diately shot him dead upon the spot.
8

In expectation of a battle the previous day,

Charles had animated his troops by an appeal
to their feelings, and on the present occasion

he rode from rank to rank encouraging his men,
and exhorting them to act as they had done at

Prestonpans and at Falkirk.

The advance of Lord Bury, who went forward

within a hundred yards of the insurgents to

reconnoitre, appears to have been considered

by the Highlanders as the proper occasion for

beginning the battle. Taking off their bonnets,
the Highlanders set up a- loud shout, which

being answered by the royal troops with a

huzza, the Highlanders about one o'clock com-
menced a cannonade on the right, which was
followed by the cannon on the left; but the

fire from the latter, owing to the want of can-

noneers, was after the first round discontinued.

The first volley from the right seemed to create

fi

Royso, p. 159.

some confusion on the left of the royal army,
but so badly were the cannon served and

pointed, that though the cannonade was con-

tinued upwards of half an hour, only one man
in Bligh's regiment, who had a leg carried off

by a cannon-ball, received any injury. After

the Highlanders had continued firing for a

short time, Colonel Belford, who directed the

cannon of the duke's army, opened a fire from

the cannon in the front line, which was at

first chiefly aimed at the horse, probably either

because they, from their conspicuous situation,

were a better mark than the infantry, or because

it was supposed that Charles was among them.

Such was the accuracy of the aim taken by the

royal artillery, that several balls entered the

ground among the horses' legs, and bespattered
the prince with the mud which they raised;

and one of them struck the horse on which he

rode two inches above the knee. The animal

became so unmanageable, that Charles was

obliged to change him for another. 9 One of

his servants, who stood behind with a led

horse in his hand, was killed on the spot.

Observing that the wall on the right flank of

the Highland army prevented him from attack-

ing it on that point, the duke ordered Colonel

Belford to continue the cannonade, with the

view of provoking the Highlanders and induc-

ing them to advance to the attack. These, on

the other hand, endeavoured to draw the royal

army forward by sending down several parties

by way of defiance. Some of these approached
three several times within a hundred yards of

the right of the royal army, firing their pistols

and brandishing their swords; but with the

exception of the small squadron of horse on

the right, which advanced a little, the line re-

mained immoveable.

Meanwhile, Lord George Murray, observing
that a squadron of the English dragoons and a

party of foot, consisting of two companies of

the Argyleshiremen, and one of Lord Loudon's

Highlanders, had detached themselves from the

left of the royal army, and were marching down
towards the river Nairn, and conceiving that

it was their intention to flank the Highlanders,
or to come upon their rear when engaged in

front, he directed Gordon of Avochy to advance

9 i5oswell's Tour to the Hebrides, p. 228.
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with his battalion, and prevent the foot from

entering the inclosure; but before this battalion

could reach them, they broke into the inclosure,

and throwing down part of the east wall, and

afterwards a piece of the west wall in the rear

of the second line, made a free passage for the

dragoons, who formed in the rear of the prince's

army. Upon this, Lord George ordered the

guards and Fitz-James's horse to form opposite

to the dragoons to keep them in check. Each

party stood upon the opposite sides of a ravine,

the ascent to which was so steep, that neither

could venture across in presence of the other

with safety. The foot remained within the

inclosure, and Avochy's battalion was ordered

to watch their motions. 1 This movement took

place about the time the Highlanders were

moving forward to the attack. 2

It was now high time for the Highlanders to

come to a close engagement. Lord George had

sent Colonel Kerr to the prince, to know if he

should begin the attack
;
the prince ordered

him to do so,
3 but his lordship, for some reason

or other, delayed advancing. It is probable

he expected that the duke would come forward,

and that by remaining where he was, and re-

taining the wall and a small farm house on

his right, he would not run the risk of being

flanked. Perhaps he waited for- the advance

of the left wing, which, being not so far for-

ward as the right, was directed to begin the

attack, and orders had been sent to the Duke

of Perth to that effect
;
but the left remained

motionless. Anxious for the attack, Charles

sent an order by an aid-de-camp to Lord

George Murray to advance, but his lordship

1 Kirkconnel MS.
- Mr. Home says that about a hundred men were

stationed in the inolosure, who were put to the sword

by the dragoons when they entered ; but he is certainly
mistaken. Mr. Maxwell of Kirkconnel, from whom
Mr. Home took his description of the battle, does not

mention such an occurrence. In the memoir by a

Highland officer, (Colonel Ker, ) printed among the

Lockhart Papers, it is stated, (p. 520,) that to guard

against any attempts that might be made to break

down the walls of the inclosure, there were two bat-

talions placed facing outward, covering the right of

the two lines, to observe the motions of the English;
and that

" when the attack began, the Campbells threw

down a great part of the wall of the inclosure for the

dmgoons on the duke's left, to pass to the rear of the

prince's army, which they did without receiving one

shot from the two battalions that were placed to observe

their motions." P. 521.
3 Lockhart Papers, vol. ii. p. 521.

never received it, as the bearer was killed by
a cannon-ball while on his way to the right.

He sent a message about the same time to

Lochiel. desiring him to urge upon Lord George
the necessity of an immediate attack.

Galled beyond endurance by the fire of the

English, which carried destruction among the

clans, the Highlanders became quite clamor-

ous, and called aloud to be led forward without

further delay. Unable any longer to restrain

their impatience, Lord George had just resolved

upon an immediate advance, but before he had

time to issue the order along the line, the Mack-

intoshes, with a heroism worthy of that brave

clan, rushed forward enveloped in the smoke

of the enemy's cannon. The fire of the centre

field-pieces, and a discharge of musketry from

the Scotch Fusileers, forced them to incline a

little to the right ;
but all the regiments to

their right, led on by Lord George Murray in

person, and the united regiment of the Mac-

lauchlans and Macleans on their left, coming
down close after them, the whole moved for-

ward together at a pretty quick pace. When
within pistol-shot of the English line, they

received a murderous fire, not only in front

from some field-pieces, which for the first time

were now loaded with grape-shot, but in flank

from a side battery supported by the Camp-

bells, and Lord Loudon's Highlanders. Whole

ranks were literally swept away by the terrible

tire of the English. Yet, notwithstanding the

dreadful carnage in their ranks, the Highlanders

continued to advance, and, after giving their

fire close to the English line, which, from the

density of the smoke, was scarcely perceptible

even within pistol-shot, the right wing, con-

sisting of the Athole Highlanders and the

Camerons, rushed in sword in hand, and broke

through Barrel's and Monroe's regiments, which

stood on the left of the first line. These regi-

ments bravely defended themselves with their

spontoons and bayonets ;
but such was the

impetuosity of the onset, that they would

have been entirely cut to pieces had they not

been immediately supported by two regiments

from the second line, on the approach of which

they retired behind the regiments on their

right, after sustaining a loss in killed and

wounded of upwards of 200 men. After break-

ing through these two regiments, the Highland-
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ers, passing by the two field-pieces which had

annoyed them in front, hurried forward to

attack the left of the second line. They were

met by a tremendous fire of grape-shot from

the three field-pieces on the left of the second

line, and by a discharge of musketry from

Bligh's and Seinpill's regiments, which carried

havoc through their ranks, and made them at

first recoil; but, maddened by despair, and

utterly regardless of their lives, they rushed

upon an enemy whom they felt but could not

see, amid the cloud of smoke in which the

assailants were buried. The same kind of

charge was made by the Stewarts of Appin, the

Erasers, Mackintoshes, and the other centre

regiments, upon the regiments in their front,

driving them back upon the second line, which

they also attempted to break
;
but finding them-

selves unable, they gave up the contest, not,

however, until numbers had been cut down

at the mouths of the cannon. While advanc-

ing towards the second line, Lord George Mur-

ray, in attempting to dismount from his horse,

which had become unmanageable, was thrown;

but, recovering himself, he ran to the rear and

brought up two or three regiments from the

second line to support the first
; but, although

they gave their fire, nothing could be done,

all was lost. Unable to break the second line,

and being greatly cut up by the fire of Wolfe's

regiment, and by Cobham's and Kerr's dra-

goons, who had formed en potence on their

right flank, the right wing also gave up the

contest, and turning about, cut their way back,

eword in hand, through those who had advanced

and formed on the ground they had passed
over in charging to their front.

In consequence of the unwillingness of the

left to advance first as directed, Lord George

Murray had sent the order to attack from right
to left

; but, hurried by the impetuosity of the

Mackintoshes, the right and centre did not

wait till the order, which required some min-

utes in the delivery, had been communicated

along the line. Thus the right and centre had
the start considerably, and quickening their

pace as they went along, had closed with the

front line of the English army before the left

had got half way over the ground that sepa-
rated the two armies. The difference between
the right and centre and the left was rendered

still more considerable from the circumstance,

as noted by an eye-witness,
4 that the two armies

were not exactly parallel to one another, the

right of the prince's army being nearer the

duke's army than the left. Nothing could be

more unfortunate for the prince than this iso-

lated attack, as it was only by a general shock

of the whole of the English line that he had

any chance of a victory.

The clan regiments on the left of the line,

apprehensive that they would be flanked by

Pulteney's regiment and the horse which had

been brought up from the corps de reserve, did

not advance sword in hand. After receiving

the fire of the regiments opposite to them, they

answered it by a general discharge, and drew

their swords for the attack
;
but observing that

the right and centre had given way, they turned

their backs and fled without striking a blow.

Stung to the quick by the misconduct of the

Macdonalds, the brave Keppoch, seeing him-

self abandoned by his clan, advanced with his

drawn sword in one hand and his pistol in the

other
;
but he had not proceeded far, when he

was brought down to the ground by a mus-

ket-shot. He was followed by Donald Roy
Macdonald, formerly a lieutenant in his own

regiment, and now a captain in Clanranald's,

who, on Keppoch's falling, entreated him not

to throw away his life, assuring him. that his

wound was not mortal, and that he might

easily join his regiment in the retreat; but

Keppoch refused to listen to the solicitations of

his clansman, and, after recommending him to

take care of himself, the wounded chief received

another shot, and fell to rise no more. 5

Fortunately for the Highlanders, the Eng-
lish army did not follow up the advantages it

had gained by an immediate pursuit. King-
ston's horse at first followed the Macdonalds,

some of whom were almost surrounded by

them, but the horse were kept in check by the

French piquets, who brought them off. The

dragoons 011 the left of the English line were

4 Maxwell of Kirkconnel.
5 In retiring from the field, Captain Roy Macdonald

received a musket bullet, which passed in at the sole

of the left foot and came out at the buckle. "With dif-

ficulty he reached Bun Chraobg, two miles beyond
Inverness, where he procured a horse and set off for

the Isle of Skye, but his foot had swelled so much
that he could not put it in the stirrup. Jacobite

Memoirs, p. 425.
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in like manner kept at bay by Ogilvy's regi-

ment, which faced about upon them several

times. After these ineffectual attempts, the

English cavalry on the right and left met in

the centre, and the front line having dressed

its ranks, orders were issued for the whole to

advance in pursuit of the Highlanders.

Charles, who, from the small eminence on

which he stood, had observed with the deepest

concern the defeat and flight of the clan regi-

ments, was about proceeding forward to rally

them, contrary to the earnest entreaties of Sir

Thomas Sheridan and others, who assured him

that he would not succeed. All their expos-

tulations would, it is said, have been in vain,

had not General O'Sullivan laid hold of the

bridle of Charles's horse, and led him off the

field. It was, indeed, full time to retire, as the

whole army was now in full retreat, and was

followed by the whole of Cumberland's forces.

To protect the prince and secure his retreat, most

of his horse assembled about his person ;
but

there was little danger, as the victors advanced

very leisurely, and confined themselves to cut-

ting down some defenceless stragglers who fell

in their way. After leaving the field, Charles

put himself at the head of the right wing, which

retired in such order that the cavalry sent to

pursue could make no impression upon it.

At a short distance from the field of battle,

Charles separated his army into two parts.

One of these divisions, consisting, with the ex-

ception of the Erasers, of the whole of the

Highlanders and the low country regiments,

crossed the water of Nairn, and proceeded
towards Badenoch

;
and the other, comprising

the Erasers, Lord John Drummond's regiment,
and the Erench piquets, took the road to

Inverness. The first division passed within

pistol-shot of the body of English cavalry,

which, before the action, had formed in the

rear of the Highland army, without the least

interruption. An English officer, who had the

temerity to advance a few paces to seize a

Highlander, was instantly cut down by him
and killed on the spot. The Highlander, in-

stead of running away, deliberately stooped

down, and pulling out a watch from the pocket
of his victim, rejoined his companions.

6 From

6 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 196.

the plainness of the ground over which it had

to pass, the smaller body of the prince's army
was less fortunate, as it suffered considerably

from the attacks of the duke's light horse be-

fore it reached Inverness. Numerous small

parties, which had detached themselves from

the main body, fell under the sabres of the

cavalry ;
and many of the inhabitants of the

town and neighbourhood, who, from motives

of curiosity, had come out to witness the battle,

were slaughtered without mercy by the fero-

cious soldier}', who, from the similarity of their

dress, were perhaps unable to discriminate them

from Charles's troops. This indiscriminate

massacre continued all the way from the field

of battle to a place called Mill-burn, within a

mile of Inverness. Not content with the pro-

fusion of bloodshed in the heat of action and

during the pursuit, the infuriated soldiery, pro-

voked by their disgraces at Preston and Fal-

kirk, traversed the field of battle, and mas-

sacred in cold blood the miserable wretches

who lay maimed and expiring. Even some

officers, Avhose station in society, apart alto-

gether from the feelings of humanity, to which

they were utter strangers, should have made

them superior to this vulgar triumph of base

and illiberal minds, joined in the work of

assassination. To extenuate the atrocities com-

mitted in the battle, and the subsequent slaugh-

ters, a forged regimental order, bearing to be

signed by Lord George Murray, by which the

Highlanders were enjoined to refuse quarters

to the royal troops, was afterwards published,

it is said, under the auspices of the Duke of

Cumberland
;
but the deception was easily seen

through. As no such order was alluded to in

the official accounts of the battle, and as, at the

interview which took place between the Earl

of Kilmarnock and Lord Balmerino, on the

morning of their execution, both these noble-

men stated their entire ignorance of it, no

doubt whateve'r can exist of the forgery. The
4 I O /

conduct of Charles and his followers, who never

indulge^ in any triumph over their vanquished

foes, but always treated them with humanity
and kindness, high as it is, stands still higher

when contrasted with that of the royal troops

and their commander. 7

7 One of the duke's sycophants says, that after the

"4 r
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From the characteristic bravery of the High-

landers, and their contempt of death, it is not

improbable that some of those who perished,

as well on the field after the battle as in the

flight, did not yield their lives without a des-

perate struggle ;
but history has preserved one

case of individual prowess in the person of

Golice Macbane, which deserves to be recorded

in every history relating to the Highlanders.

This man, who is represented to have been of

die gigantic stature of six feet four inches and

a quarter, was beset by a party of dragoons.

When assailed, he placed his back against a

wall, and though covered with wounds, he de-

fended himself with his target and claymore

against the onset of the dragoons, who crowded

upon him. Some officers, who observed the

unequal conflict, were so struck with the despe-

rate bravery of Macbane, that they gave orders

to save him ; but the dragoons, exasperated by
his resistance, and the dreadful havoc he had

made among their companions, thirteen of

whom lay dead at his feet, Avould not desist

till they had succeeded in cutting him down. 8

According to the official accounts published

by the government, the royal army had only

50 men killed, and 259 wounded, including

18 officers, of whom 4 were killed. Lord

Robert Kerr, second son of the Marquis of

Lothian, and a captain of grenadiers in Barrel's

regiment, was the only person of distinction

killed
;
he fell covered with wounds, at the

head of his company, when the Highlanders
attacked Barrel's regiment. The loss on the

side of the Highlanders was never ascertained

with any degree of precision. The number of

the slain is stated, in some publications of the

period, to have amounted to upwards of 2,000

men, but these accounts are exaggerated. The
loss could not, however, be much short of 1,200

fatigue of the battle was over, his royal highness retired
to a place near the field to refresh 'himself

; and that,
after sitting a short time, he rose and took "

a serious
walk to view the multitudes that lay dead on the
gr6und. He was followed by some of his attendants,
who observed him in deep meditation. He laid his
hand upon his breast, and with his eyes lifted up to

heaven, was heard to say, Lord, what am I! that 1
should be sparedt when so many brave men lie dead
upon the spot ! an expression of such deep humility
towards God, and compassion towards his fellow crea-

tures, as is truly worthy a Christian hero ! ! ! "Mar-
chant, p. 396.

8 Cromek's Remains of Nithsdale and Galloway
Song, p. 200. Henderson's History, p. 60.

men. The Athole brigade alone lost more

than the half of its officers and men, and

some of the centre battalions came off with

scarcely a third of their men. 9 The Mackin-

toshes, who were the first to attack, suffered

most. With the exception of three only, all

the officers of this brave regiment, including

Macgillivray of Drumnaglass, its colonel, the

lieutenant- colonel, and major, were killed in

the attack. All the other centre regiments also

lost several officers. Maclauchlan, colonel of

the united regiment of Maclauchlan and Mac-

lean, was killed by a oannon ball in the begin-

ning of the action, and Maclean of Drimmin,

who, as lieutenant-colonel, succeeded to the

command, met a similar fate from a random

shot. He had three sons in the regiment, one

of whom fell in the attack, and, when leading

off the shattered remains of his forces, he missed

the other two, and, in returning to look after

them, received the fatal bullet. Charles Fraser,

younger of Inverallachie, the lieutenant-colonel

of the Fraser regiment, and who, in the absence

of the Master of Lovat, commanded it on this

occasion, was also killed. When riding over

the field after the battle, the Duke of Cumber-

land observed this brave youth lying wounded.

Raising himself upon his elbow, he looked at

the duke, who, offended at him, thus addressed

one of his officers: "Wolfe, shoot me that

Highland scoundrel who thus dares to look on

us with so insolent a stare." Wolfe, horrified

at the inhuman order, replied that his commis-

sion was at his royal highness's disposal, but

that he would never consent to become an

executioner. Other officers refusing to commit

this act of butchery, a private soldier, at the

command of the duke, shot the hapless youth

before his eyes.
1 The Appin regiment had 17

officers and gentlemen slain, and 10 wounded;

and the Athole brigade, which lost fully half

its men, had 19 officers killed, and 4 wounded.

The fate of the heroic Keppoch has been

already mentioned. Among the wounded, the

principal was Lochiel, who was shot in both

ancles with some grape-shot, at the head of his

regiment, after discharging his pistol, and while

in the act of drawing his sword. On falling,

fl Jacobite Memoirs, p. 124.
1 Chambers 's Rebellion, and authorities referred to

there.
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his two brothers, between whom he was ad-

vancing, raised him up, and carried him off the

field in their arms. To add to his misfortunes,

Charles also lost a considerable number of

gentlemen, his most devoted adherents, who

had charged on foot in the first rank.

Lord Strathallan was the only person of dis-

tinction that fell among the low country regi-

ments. Lord Kilmarnock and Sir John Wed-

derburn were taken prisoners. The former, in

the confusion of the battle, mistook, amidst the

smoke, a party of English dragoons for Fitz-

James's horse, and was taken. Having lost

his hat, he was led bare-headed to the front

line of the English infantry. His son, Lord

Boyd, who held a commission in the English

army, unable to restrain his feelings, left the

ranks, and, going up to his unfortunate parent,

took off his own hat, placed it on his father's

head, and returned to his place without utter-

ing a word.

At other times, and under different circum-

stances, a battle like that of Culloden would

have been regarded as an ordinary occurrence,

of which, when all matters were duly con-

sidered, the victors could have little to boast.

The Highland army did not exceed 5,000 fight-

ing men
;
and when it is considered that the

men had been two days without sleep, were

exhausted by the march of the preceding night,

and had scarcely tasted food for forty-eight

hours, the wonder is that they fought so well

as they did, against an army almost double in

point of numbers, and which laboured under

none of the disadvantages to which, in a more

especial manner, the overthrow of the High-

landers is to be ascribed. 2
Nevertheless, as

the spirits of the great majority of the nation

had been sunk to the lowest state of despond-

ency by the reverses of the royal arms at

Preston and Falkirk, this unlooked-for event

2 The ground was totally unsnited to Highland tac-

tics. "It is impossible to look on this waste, with

the few green patches still marking the graves where
the slain were covered up in heaps, without a feeling
of compassion for the helplessness of a Highland army
in such a place. It is a wide Hat muir, with scarcely
a curve, where the mountaineers had nothing to aid

their peculiar warfare, in high or rugged ground. A
better field for steady disciplined troops could not

exist. They could see everywhere around, and it was

impossible either to surprise them, or subject them, as

at Killier-rankie or Falkirk, to a rush from the higher

ground." Burton after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 518.

was hailed as one of the greatest military

achievements of ancient or modern times
;

and the Duke of Cumberland, who had, in

consequence, an addition of .25,000 per an-

num made to his income by parliament, was

regarded as the greatest hero of ancient or

modern times. In its consequences, as entirely

and for ever destructive of the claims of the

unfortunate house of Stuart, the battle was

perhaps one of the most important ever fought.

Though vanquished, the Highlanders retired

from the field with honour, and free from that

foul reproach which has fixed an indelible stain

upon the memories of the victors.

After the carnage of the day had ceased, the

brutal soldiery, who, from the fiendish delight

which they took in sprinkling one another with

the blood of the slain,
"
looked," as stated by

one of themselves,
" like so many butchers

rather than an army of Christian soldiers,"
3

dined upon the field of battle. After his men
had finished their repast, the Duke of Cumber-

land marched forward to take possession of

Inverness, and on his way received a letter,

which had been addressed to General Bland,

signed by six of the French officers in the in-

surgent army, offering in behalf of themselves

and their men to surrender unconditionally to

his royal highness. As he was about to enter

the town he was met by a drummer, who

brought him a message from General Stapleton,

offering to surrender and asking quarter. On

receiving this communication, the duke ordered

Sir Joseph Yorke, one of his officers, to alight

from his horse, who with his pencil wrote a

note to General Stapleton, assuring him of

fair quarter and honourable treatment. The

town was then taken possession of by Captain

Campbell, of Sempill's regiment, with his com-

pany of grenadiers.

After securing his prisoners in the town, the

Duke of Cumberland released the soldiers who

had been confined in the church of Inverness

by the insurgents, and who, if the government
accounts be correct, had suffered great hard-

ships. They had indeed, about a week before

the battle of Culloden, been almost stripped of

their clothes by an officer of the Highland

army, to clothe a new corps he had raised; but

3 Scots Mag. vol. viii. p. 192.
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a complaint having teen brought to Lord

George Murray on the subject, he obtained an

order from the prince, in consequence of which

the clothes were restored. 4 The duke on the

present occasion presented each of these men

with a guinea, and gave orders that they should

be taken care of.

Besides the military prisoners, several gentle-

men supposed to be disaffected to the govern-

ment were apprehended by the duke's orders,

shut up with the common prisoners, and were

for some time denied the use of bedding. Nor

did the softer sex, whose Jacobite predilections

had pointed them out as objects of displea-

sure, escape his resentment. Several ladies,

among whom were Ladies Ogilvy, Kinloch,

and Gordon, were seized and kept in durance

in the common guard, and were limited along

with the other prisoners to the miserable pit-

tance of half-a-pound of meal per day, with

scarcely as much water as was necessary to

prepare it for use. As the wounded prisoners

were utterly neglected, many who would have

recovered, if properly treated, died of their

wounds
;
and so much were the rites of Christian

sepulture disregarded by the royal officers, that

the bodies of these unfortunate victims were

carried naked through the streets by beggars,

who were employed to inter them in the church-

yard.
5

Knowing that there were several deserters

from the royal army among the insurgents, the

duke ordered a strict inspection to be made of

the prisoners in order to find them out. No
less than thirty-six were recognised, and being

brought to a summary trial, were convicted,

and suffered the death of traitors. Among
these was one Dunbar, who had been a sergeant
in Sowle's regiment. He had taken a suit of

laced clothes from Major Lockhart at the battle

of Falkirk, which being found in his possession,
he was dressed in them, and hanged, and his

body exposed for forty-eight hours on the

gibbet. A young gentleman of the name of

Forbes, a relative of Lord Forbes, is also said

to have perished on this occasion. He had
served as a cadet in an English regiment, but,

being from principle attached to the Jacobite

interest, had joined the standard of the prince.

*
Jacobite Memoirs, p. 129. 5

Idem, p 236
6
Boyse, p. 164.

An incident occurred after the execution of

this unfortunate gentleman, which assumed an

alarming appearance, and might have led to

serious consequences had the war been con-

tinued. Before Forbes was cut down from the

gibbet, an English officer, with a morbidness

of feeling which seems to have seized the officers

as well as the common soldiers of the army,

phmged his sword into the body of Forbes,

exclaiming, at the same time, that "all his

countrymen were traitors and rebels like him-

self." This exclamation being heard by a

Scottish officer who was standing hard by, the

offended Scotchman immediately drew his

sword, and demanded satisfaction for the in-

sult offered to his country. The Englishman

instantly accepted the challenge, and in a short

time the combat became general among the

officers who happened to be on the spot. The

soldiers, seeing their officers engaged, beat to

arms of their own accord, and drew up along
the streets, the Scotch on one side and the

English on the other, and commenced a warm
combat with fixed bayonets. Information of

this affray having been brought to the Duke
of Cumberland, he hastened to the scene of

action, and by his persuasions put an end to

the combat. He found the Scotch greatly ex-

cited by the affront offered them
;
but he soothed

their wounded feelings by complimenting them

for their fidelity, their courage, and exemplary
conduct. 7

Notwithstanding the massacres which were

committed immediately after the battle, a con-

siderable number of wounded Highlanders still

survived, some of whom had taken refuge in a

few cottages adjoining the field of battle, while

others lay scattered among the neighbouring

inclosures. Many of these men might have

recovered if ordinary attention had been paid

to them; but the stern duke, considering that

those who had risen in rebellion against his

father were not entitled to the rights of hu-

manity, entirely neglected them. 8
But, bar-

barous as such conduct was, it was only the

7 Johnstone's Memoirs, p. 203.
8 " It is not necessary to believe all tlie Jacobite sto-

ries tending to show a wanton and fiendish indul-

gence, by the duke and his most distinguished fol-

lowers, in cruelty and any kind of bloody work for its

own sake; nor to admit that he ridiculed President

Forbes as the old woman who spoke about humanity
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prelude to enormities of a still more revolting

description. At first the victors conceived

that they had completed the work of death by

killing all the wounded they could discover;

but when they were informed that some still

survived, they resolved to despatch them. A
Mr. Hossack, who had filled the situation of

provost of Inverness, and who had, under the

direction of President Forbes, performed im-

portant services to the government, having

gone to pay his respects to the Duke of Cum-

berland, found Generals Hawley and Huske

deliberating on this inhuman design. Ob-

serving them intent upon their object, and

actually proceeding to make out orders for

killing the wounded Highlanders, he ventured

to remonstrate against such a barbarous step.

"As his majesty's troops have been happily

successful against the rebels, I hope (observed

Hossack) your excellencies will be so good as

to mingle mercy with judgment." Hawley,

in a rage, cried out,
" D n the puppy ! does

he pretend to dictate here 1 Carry him away !"

Another officer ordered Hossack to be kicked

out, and the order was obeyed Avith such in-

stantaneous precision, that the ex -
provost

found himself at the bottom of two flights of

steps almost in a twinkling.
9

In terms of the cruel instructions alluded

to, a party was despatched from Inverness the

day after the battle to put to death all the

wounded they might find in the inclosure ad-

joining the field of Culloden. These orders

were fulfilled with a punctuality and delibera-

tion that is sickening to read of. Instead of

and the laws. What he did was, we may be assured

from his character, not done in a spirit of wantonness,
but after a sense of duty. But that duty led him to

severity. He was a soldier according to the German
notions of a soldier, and a rebel province was a com-

munity to be subjected to martial law. Many of the

insurgents, attempting to escape or hide themselves

when detected by well-known peculiarities, were put
to death by the soldiery, who, even when they made
a mistake and slew the wrong man, could not easily

be punished. The duke, brought up in the German

military school, seems to have been unable to distin-

guish between a rebellion suppressed in constitutional

Britain, where all men are supposed to be innocent

but those proved to be guilty, and a revolted Ger-

man province, where every accorded grace to the un-

fortunate people proceeds from the will of the con-

queror. Thus there was a propensity to subject all

the northern districts to something too closely re-

sembling military law or license." Burton's Scotland

after Revolution, v. ii. pp. 522, 523.
9 Letter from a gentleman in London to his friend

in Bnth. Bath, 1751, reprinted in Jacobite Memoirs.

despatching their unfortunate victims on the

spot where they found them, the soldiers drag-

ged them from the places where they lay wel-

tering in their gore, and, having ranged them on

some spots of rising ground, poured in volleys

of musketry upon them. Next day parties

were sent to search all the houses in the neigh-

bourhood of the field of battle, with instruc-

tions to carry all the wounded Highlanders

they could find thither and despatch them.

Many were in consequence murdered
;
and the

young laird of Macleod was heard frankly to

declare, that on this occasion he himself saw

seventy-two persons killed in cold blood. The

feelings of humanity were not, however, alto-

gether obliterated in the hearts of some of the

officers, who spared a few of the wounded. In

one instance the almost incredible cruelty of

the soldiery was strikingly exemplified. At a

short distance from the field of battle there

stood a small hut, used for sheltering sheep

and goats in cold and stormy weather, into

which some of the wounded had crawled. On

discovering them the soldiers immediately se-

cured the door, to prevent egress, and there-

upon set fire to the hut in several places, and

all the persons within, to the number of be-

tween thirty and forty, perished in the flames. l

Another instance of fiendish cruelty oc-

curred the same day. Almost immediately

after the battle, nineteen wounded officers of

the Highland army, unable to follow their

retiring companions, secreted themselves in a

small plantation near Culloden house, whence

they were afterwards carried to the court-yard

of that mansion, where they remained two

days in great torture weltering in their blood,

and without the least medical aid or attention

but such as they received from the president's

steward, who, at the hazard of his own life,

alleviated the sufferings of his unhappy coun-

trymen by several acts of kindness. These

wretched sufferers were now tied with ropes

by the brutal soldiery, thrown into carts, and

carried out to a park wall at a short distance

from Culloden house. Being dragged out of

the carts, they were ranged in order along the

wall, and were told by the officer in command

of the party to prepare for death. Such of

1 Idem.
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them as retained the use of their limbs fell

down upon their knees in prayer; but they

had little time allowed them to invoke mercy,

for in a minute the soldiers received orders to

fire, and, being posted at the distance of only

two or three yards from the prisoners, the un-

fortunate gentlemen were almost all instantly

shot dead. That the butchery might be com-

plete, the soldiers were ordered to club their

muskets and dash out the brains of such of

their miserable victims as exhibited any symp-

toms of life, an order which, horrible to tell,

.was actually fulfilled. A gentleman named

John Eraser, who had been an officer in the

Master of Lovat's regiment, alone survived.

He had received a ball, and being observed to be

still in life, was struck on the face by a soldier

with the butt end of his musket. Though one

of his cheek bones and the upper part of his

nose were broken, and one of his eyes dashed

out by the blow, he still lived, and the party,

thinking they had killed him, left him for

dead. He would probably have expired on

the spot, had not the attention of Lord Boyd,

son of the Earl of Kilmarnock, when riding

past, been fortunately attracted by the number

of dead bodies he observed lying together.

Espying, at a little distance from the heap, a

body in motion, his lordship went up, and hav-

ing ascertained from the mouth of the sufferer

who he was, he ordered his servant to carry

Mr. Eraser to a cottage, near at hand, which

he named, where he lay concealed for three

months. He lived several years afterwards,

but was a cripple during life.
2

By the capture of Inverness, a considerable

quantity of ordnance and military stores fell

into the hands of the royal army. Including
those taken on the field of battle, there were

30 pieces of cannon, 2,320 firelocks, 190 broad-

swords, a large quantity of musket cartridges,

1,019 cannon balls, a quantity of musket shot,

37 barrels of gunpowder, and 22 ammunition

carts, besides tents, cantines, pistols, saddles,

<fec. To encourage the soldiers to collect the

arms which the Highlanders had left on the

field, they were allowed half-a-crown for every

musket, and a shilling for every broadsword
which they brought into the camp at Inver-

Letter from a gentleman in London, &c.

ness. For every stand of colours the sum of

sixteen guineas was allowed, and no less than

fourteen of these were captured or picked up

upon the field, all of which were burnt on the

4th of June at the market cross of Edinburgh,

by the hands of the common hangman, after

being carried in mock procession from the

castle by a party of chimney-sweeps.

Two days after the battle the Earl of Cro-

marty, his son, Lord Macleod, several officers,

and 153 private men, were landed at Inverness

from the Hound sloop of war, which had con-

veyed them from Sutherland, where they had

been taken prisoners by a party of Lord Suth-

erland's people on the preceding day, viz., the

15th of April, under the following circum-

stances. Having received instructions to rejoin

the main body of the Highland army at Inver-

ness, the earl was about proceeding to fulfil

them, when a plan was formed by the Mackays
and the Earl of Sutherland's people to cut him

off. Uniting their forces, consisting of three

independent companies, near Golspie, they re-

solved to attack the Earl of Cromarty, early in

the morning of the 1 5th of April, in flank and

in rear. In pursuance of this resolution, Cap-
tain Macallister, who commanded the Earl of

Sutherland's militia, marched with his com-

pany towards the water of Golspie, and having
in his march received intelligence that Cro-

marty's regiment had marched towards the

ferry, but that the earl himself with the greater

part of his officers was at Dunrobin castle, he

sent Ensign John Mackay, with a party of 26

men, to intercept him. The earl left the castle

with 14 officers on horseback, and a small

party of well-armed foot, to join his men, and

would have fallen into an ambuscade which

Ensign Mackay had laid for him, had not some

of the Mackays begun to fire too soon. Lord

Cromarty immediately retraced his steps and

took refuge in the castle, from the top of the

tower of which he displayed a white flag and

rang a bell, as a signal that he was attacked.

The earl's men began immediately to march

back to his relief, upon which Mackay and his

oarty retired to the adjacent high grounds.

Meanwhile, the two independent companies,

which were to attack Cromarty's men in flank,

arrived at the hill of Culmaly, to the north

.vest of Golspie, and observing the insurgents
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returning from the ferry, and drawing up in

order of battle on a rising ground about a mile

west from Golspie, they concealed themselves

on the top of the hill : Captains Gray and

Sutherland, the commanders of the two com-

panies, then descended the hill to reconnoitre.

They compiited Cromarty's force to be between

400 and 500 men
; and, having resolved to

attack them, they returned to their men and

gave orders to that effect. To deceive the in-

surgents as to the extent of their numbers, they

marched down the hill in open column, keep-

ing a distance of about twenty paces between

each rank
;
and so well did this ruse succeed,

that the insurgents, struck with a panic, fled

towards the ferry, and Avere pursued by the

two companies, who, attacking them in flank,

killed a considerable number, and took 178 pri-

soners. The two companies thereupon marched

to Dunrobin castle, which they invested. The

earl held out the castle till the evening, when,

despairing of relief, he requested the com-

manders of the companies to hold a conference

with him in the castle on the subject of a sur-

render. While engaged in conversation, En-

sign Mackay, who had entered the castle along

with the two captains, went down stairs, and

having informed the earl's men below that he

had surrendered, induced them to deliver up
their arms. Having secured their arms, he took

the keys from the porter, and, opening the gates,

admitted his party. He then went up stairs

with them, and, entering the dining-room,

seized the earl, Lord Macleod, and the whole

officers.
3

Whilst the Duke of Cumberland was deli-

berating upon the course he should adopt for

finally suppressing the rebellion, his unfortu-

nate kinsman, disheartened by his recent dis-

aster, was entirely occupied with thoughts of

his own personal safety. After leaving the

field, Charles, escorted by a large body of

horse, crossed the river Nairn at the ford of

Falie, about four miles from the field of battle.

Having halted a short time on the south side

of the Nairn, during which he held a consulta-

tion with his friends, Charles dismissed the

horse and most of his attendants, with instruc-

tions to assemble at Ruthven in Badenoch,

3
Life, of George, Karl of Cromarty : London, 1746.

l>oyse, p. 155.

where they were directed to wait for further

orders. Taking along with him Sir Thomas

Sheridan, O'Sullivan, Captain O'Neil, John

Hay, and a few other persons, Charles set out

for Gortuleg, the residence of Lord Lovat's

steward, where he arrived about sunset. There,

for the first and only time, the prince met

Lord Lovat, who, on learning the cause of the

Prince's unexpected visit, became, it is said,

almost frantic, and, anticipating the fate which

awaited him, called out to those around him to

chop off his head. In a little time the aged
chief regained his self-possession, and entered

into conversation with Charles and his follow-

ers in relation to their future prospects. As it

was not considered safe to pass the night so

near the royal troops, Charles and his party,

after partaking of some supper, left Gortuleg
about ten o'clock for Invergarry, the seat of

Macdonell of Glengarry. Before leaving Gor-

tuleg, the prince took the precaution to change
his dress.

The prince and his party arrived at the

mansion of Invergarry about four o'clock in the

morning, where Charles began to experience a

foretaste of the hardships he was destined to

endure. This ancient castle, ever since its first

erection, had never been in such a cheerless

condition as that in which Charles now found

it. Unprovided with furniture or provisions,

and inhabited by a solitary domestic, it seemed

to warn the unfortunate fugitives that they
were unwelcome within its walls, and that they
must speedily look out for a more hospitable

place of retreat. Overcome by fatigue, the

whole party lay down upon the floor, in their

clothes, and fell asleep. After reposing several

hours, they rose, but had nothing to eat till

Edward Burke, servant to Alexander Macleod,
one of the party, observing a net in the water

of Garry, pulled it out and caught two salmon,
on which they dined.

With the exception of O'Sullivan, O'Neil,

and Edward Burke, who, from his knowledge
of the country, was selected as the prince's

guide, all the party took leave of Charles at

Tnvergarry. Before leaving the castle, Charles,

in order the more effectually to disguise him-

self, put on Burke's coat; and at three o'clock

in the afternoon, he set out for Loch Arkaig
in Lochaber, accompanied by his three atten-
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dants, and took up his quarters for the night

in the house of Donald Cameron of Glenpean.

Charles slept the following night, that of Friday

the 18th, at Mewholl, where he and his small

partywere well entertained. From Mewboll they

set out next morning for Glenboisdale. At

Loch Morar they waited several hours for a boat

to carry them across
; but, not finding one, they

were obliged, from the road being impractica-

ble for horses, to abandon them and to walk on

foot to Glenboisdale, which they reached on Sun-

Lord George Murray. From the original painting by permission of
His Grace the Duke of Athole.

day the 20th, after great fatigue, having crossed

two lofty ranges of mountains in their route.

Presuming that Charles still meant to make
a stand, Lord George Murray and the other
chiefs who remained with the army retired to

Ruthven, where, including Cluny's men whom
they met on their retreat, they assembled a force
of between 2,000 and 3,000 men. From the
want of provisions it was impossible to keep
such a body together for any length of time

;

and a message from Charles, two or three days
after the battle, desiring them to disperse, hast-
ened an event which seemed to be inevitable.
In thus resigning the contest which by his in-

considerate rashness he had provoked, Charles

showed that he was not possessed of that mag-

nanimity which many of his followers ascribed

to him. Notwithstanding their recent reverse,

there existed no unwillingness on the part of

the brave men who had risked their all for him

to continue the war. They might not have, it

is true, succeeded in vindicating the claim of

an ungrateful prince in the field; but, under

his leadership, they might have made a gallant

stand, and forced the government to grant them

favourable terms. In extenuation of

the prince's conduct, on the present

occasion, it is but fair to add, that he

was under the influence of a set of

contemptible advisers, who prejudiced

him against his best friends, and in-

stilled into his mind a conviction that

he had been betrayed at Culloden.

How far the conduct of Lord George

Murray, after that event, may have de-

termined Charles to take the course he

did, cannot now be ascertained
; but if

Charles, in the midst of his perplexity

immediately after the battle, hesitated

as to the course he should pursue, his

reception of the following document,
under the hand of Lord George Mur-

ray, was certainly not calculated to

induce him to continue the contest.

"MAY IT PLEASE YOUR ROYAL HIGHNESS.

"As no person in these kingdoms
ventured more frankly in the cause

than myself, and as I had more at

stake than almost all the others put

together, so, to be sure, I cannot but be

very deeply affected with our late loss and pre-

sentsituation
; but I declare, thatwere yourroyal

highness's person in safety, the loss of the cause,

and the misfortunate and unhappy situation of

my countrymen, is the only thing that grieves

me, for I thank God I have resolution to bear

my own family's ruin without a grudge. Sir,

you will, I hope, upon this occasion, pardon

me, if I mention a few truths, which all the

gentlemen of our army seem convinced of.

"It was highly wrong to have set up the

royal standard without having positive assur-

ances from his Most Christian Majesty, that

he would assist you with all his force : and as
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your royal family lost the crown of these realms

upon the account of Erance, the world did and

had reason to expect that France would seize

the first favourable opportunity to restore your

august family.
" I must also acquaint your royal highness,

that we were all fully convinced that Mr.

O'Sullivan, whom your royal highness trusted

with the most essential things with regard to

your operations, was exceedingly unfit for it,

and committed gross blunders on every occasion

of moment. He whose business it was, did

not so much as visit the ground where we were

to be drawn up in line of battle, and it was a

fatal error to allow the enemy these walls upon
their left, which made it impossible for us to

break them, and they, with their front fire,

and flanking us when we went upon the attack,

destroyed us without any possibility of our

breaking them, and our Athole men have lost

a full half of their officers and men. I wish

Mr. O'Sullivan had never got any other charge

in the army than the care of the baggage,

which, I am told, he had been brought up to

and understood. I never saw him in time of

action, neither at Gladsmuir, Falkirk, nor in

the last, and his orders were vastly confused.
" The want of provisions was another mis-

fortune which had the most fatal consequence.

Mr. Hay, whom your royal highness trusted

Avith the principal direction of ordering pro-

visions of late, and without whose orders a boll

of meal or farthing of money was not to be

delivered, has served your royal highness egre-

giously ill. When I spoke to him, he told me
the thing is ordered, it will be got, &c.; but he

neglected his duty to such a degree, that our

ruin might probably have been prevented had

he done his duty. In short, the three last

days which were so critical, our army was

starved. This was the reason our night march

was rendered abortive, when we possibly might
have surprised and defeated the enemy at

Nairn ;
but for want of provisions a third of

the army scattered to Inverness, &c., arid the

other who marched had not spirits to make it

so quick as was necessary, being really faint for

want of provisions.
" The next day, which was the fatal day, if

we had got plenty of provisions we might have

crossed the water of Nairn, and drawn up so

T.

advantageously, that we would have obliged

the enemy to come to us, for they were resolved

to fight at all hazards at prodigious disadvan-

tage, and probably we would in that case have

done by them as they unhappily have done by
us. In short, Mr. O'Sullivan and Mr. Hay
had rendered themselves odious to all our army,
and had disgusted them to such a degree, that

they had bred a mutiny in all ranks, that had

not the battle come on, they were to have

represented their grievances to your royal high-

ness for a remedy. Eor my own part, I never

had any particular discussion with either of

them
; but I ever thought them uncapable

and unfit to serve in the stations they were

placed in.

" Your royal highness knows I always told

I had no design to continue in the army. I

would of late, when I came last from Athole,

have resigned my commission
;
but all my

friends told me it might be of prejudice to the

cause at such a critical time. I hope your royal

highness will now accept of my demission.

What commands you have for me in any other

situation, please honour mo with them. I am,
with great zeal, Sir, your royal highness's most

dutiful and humble servant,

' GEORGE MURRAY.

"RUTHVEN, nth April, 1746.

" I have taken the liberty to keep 500 pieces,

which shant be disposed upon except you give

leave." 4

It would appear from the preceding docu-

ment that Lord George Murray, who, of all

men, was the best judge of the propriety of

trying another campaign, did not in the least

contemplate that Charles would abandon the

enterprise. His own opinion was, that the war

should be continued
;
and when he heard that

Charles had resolved to depart fcr Erance, he

sent Secretary Hay to Glenboisdale with a

message to Charles, to dissuade him against

such a step ;
but Charles informed Hay that

his resolution was fixed. Lord George main-

tained that the Highlanders
" could have made

a summer's campaign without the risk of any
misfortune : they could have marched through

4 From tlie Stuart Papers.
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the hills to places in Banffshire, Aberdeen-

shire, the Mearns, Perthshire, Lochaber, and

Argyleshire, by ways that regular troops could

not have followed ;
and if they (the regular

troops) had ventured among the mountains, it

must have been attended with great danger

and difficulty : their convoys might have been

cut off, and opportunities would have offered

to attack them with almost a certainty of suc-

cess. And though the Highlanders-had neither

money nor magazines, they would not have

starved in that season of the year so long as

there were sheep and cattle : they could also

have separated themselves in two or three dif-

ferent bodies, got meal for some days' provi-

sionj met again at a place appointed, and

might have fallen upon the enemy when they

least expected: they could have marched in

three days what would have taken regular

troops five : nay, had those taken the high

roads as often as they would have been obliged

upon account of their carriages, it would have

taken them ten or twelve days. In short, they

might have been so harassed and fatigued that

they must have been in the greatest distress

and difficulties, and at length probably been

destroyed, at least much might have, been ex-

pected by gaining of time : perhaps the High-

landers might have been enabled to have made

an offensive instead of a defensive war."5

After receiving Charles's orders to disperse,

the officers at Ruthven, to use an expression of

one of themselves,
6 " took a melancholy leave of

each other," and went off in different directions

to secure their personal safety, and the com-

mon men proceeded straight to their respective

homes.

While Secretary Hay was at Boisdale,

Charles drew up a letter to the chiefs, stating

the reasons of his departure, which he inclosed

in one to Sir Thomas Sheridan,
7 with instruc-

tions to show it to them, but to keep it as long
back as he conveniently could. He stated that

it was " of the last consequence
"

to conceal

his departure on some pretext or other, which
he enjoined him to contrive, and to recommend,

particularly to every person to whom he showed
the paper, to follow the same course. In using

8 Account of the Battle of Culloden, <L-c. : Loud. 1749.
'' Maxwell of Kirkconuel.
' Stuart Papers.

this precaution Charles probably wished to keep

the government in ignorance of his design to

leave the kingdom. The letter to the chiefs,

which, though written on or before the 23d of

April, the date of the letter to Sir Thomas

Sheridan, is post-dated the 28th, with the view,

perhaps, of allowing Sir Thomas to withhold

it for a few days, by which time Charles ex-

pected that he would be on his way to the

Long island, where he expected to find a vessel

to carry him to France. The letter to the chiefs

runs thus:

" FOR THE CHIEFS,
' When I came into this country, it was

my only view to do all in my power for your

good and safety. This I will always do as

long as life is 'in me. But alas ! I see with

grief I can at present do little for you on this

side the water, for the only thing that can now

be done is to defend yourselves till the French

assist you, if not to be able to make better

terms. To effectuate this, the only way is to

assemble in a body as soon as possible, and

then to take measures for the best, which yon
that know the country are only judges of. This

makes me be of little use here
; whereas, by

my going into France instantly, however dan-

gerous it be, I will certainly engage the French

court either to assist us effectually and power-

fully, or at least to procure you such terms as

you would not obtain otherways. My pre-

sence there, I flatter myself, will have more

effect to bring this sooner to a determination

than any body else, for several reasons; one of

which I will mention here; viz. it is thought
to be a politick, (policy,) though a false one,

of the French court, not to restore our master,

but to keep a continual civil war in this coun-

try, which renders the English government
less powerful, and of consequence themselves

more. This is absolutely destroyed by my leav-

ing the country, which nothing else but this

will persuade them that this play cannot last,

and if not remedied, the Elector will soon be as

despotick as the French king, which, I should

think, will oblige them to strike the great

stroke, which is always in their power, how-

ever averse they may have been to it for the

time past. Before leaving off, I must recom-

mend to you, that all things should be decided
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by a council of all your chiefs, or, in any of

your absence, the next commander of your
several corps with the assistance of the Duke
of Perth and Lord George Murray, who, I am

persuaded, will stick by you to the very last.

My departure should be kept as long private

and concealed as possible on one pretext or

other which you will fall upon. May the

Almighty bless and direct you."
8

At Glenboisdale Charles was joined by

Clanranald, Lockhart, younger of Carnwath,
^Eneas Macdonald, the banker, and several

other adherents, who endeavoured to dissuade

him from embarking for the isles, where, from

the number of cruisers which hovered among
the Hebrides, they considered he would run

greater risk than if he remained on the main-

land. Charles seemed disposed to adopt this

advice
;
but 0'Sullivan being averse to it, and

having represented the great probability of

speedily finding a ship among the isles to con-

vey him to France, and the great danger of

staying where he was, the prince adhered to

his determination of seeking a temporary re-

fuge in the Long island. With the intention

of soliciting the protection of Sir Alexander

Macdonald and the laird of Macleod, Charles

sent to Kinlochmoidart for one Donald Mac-

leod, a trustworthy person whom he wished

to intrust with his despatches. Macleod had

been at Inverness shipping a cargo of meal for

Skye when Charles entered that town, and

had been employed to accompany ^Eneas Mac-

donald to the island of Barra, for the purpose
of bringing over a sum of about ,380, which

was lying there. They had reached Kinloch-

moidart, on their way back, and were about

setting out for Inverness, when Macdonald re-

ceived a letter from the prince announcing his

defeat, and requesting him to repair to Boro-

dale. On receiving this message Macleod im-

mediately set out, and in passing through a

forest in the vicinity of Glenboisdale, he ob-

served a solitary wanderer aiuong the trees,

who immediately came forward and asked him

if he was Donald Macleod of Gualtergill in

Skye. Macleod answered that he was, and

having recognised the prince in the person of

8 From a copy among the Stuart Papers thus quoted
on the back in Charles's own hand: " The Prince's
Letter to ye Chiefs in parting from Scotland, 1746,"

his interrogator, he stated that he was at his

service.
"
Then," said the prince,

"
you see,

Donald, I am in distress. I therefore throw

myself into your bosom
;
do with me what you

like. I hear you are an honest man, and fit

to be trusted." The aged Highlander doubt-

ing his capacity to serve him, Charles stated

to him the nature of the mission on which he

intended to send him. Macleod, startled at

the proposal, positively refused to undertake the

task; and having remonstrated with Charles

upon the impropriety of asking the protection

of men who had, contrary to their promise,

taken part against him, he abandoned his de-

sign.
9

During the few days that Charles spent at

Glenboisdale, he is said to have wavered in

his plans. Though informed of the dispersion

of his troops, he had hopes that a good many

might still be collected as occasion offered.

He is said even to have entertained thoughts

of again assembling his scattered forces, and

acting on the defensive. He sent a few men,

with whom Clanranald had supplied him, on

all sides to obtain intelligence, but they

learned nothing favourable; and accounts

which he received from the Isle of Skye, that

Lord London was about to come over immedi-

ately to the coast of Arisaig, joined to a report,

which, however, turned out to be false, that a

detachment of the Duke of Cumberland's army
had already reached Fort Augustus, hastened

his departure from the mainland. l

Accordingly, on the evening of the 26th of

April, Charles, accompanied by O'Sullivan,

O'Neil, Allan Macdonald, a catholic priest of

Clanranald's family, and Edward Burke, em-

barked in an eight-oared boat at Borodale, in

the bay of Lochnanuagh, where a few months

before he had landed full of hope and enthu-

siasm. Besides the persons enumerated, and

Donald Macleod who acted as pilot, there were

seven boatmen. Charles sat down in the bot-

tom of the boat at the feet of the pilot. Mac-

leod, who observed indications of an approach-

ing storm, had advised Charles to postpone his

voyage till next day; but the prince was so

intent upon proceeding, that he would not put
off his departure. Four pecks of oatmeal

9 Miicleod's Narrative in Jacobite Memoirs.
1 Kirkconnel MS.
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were all the provision the whole party carried

along with them, and the only cooking utensil

was a pot which Macleod had taken care to

provide.

Charles soon had occasion to repent of his

obstinacy in not listening to the advice of the

aged mariner; for before the boat 'had pro-

ceeded far, a storm arose, which is described

by Macleod as the most violent he had ever

witnessed, though he had been all his life a

seafaring man. The danger was greatly in-

creased by the darkness of the night, and to

add to the distress of the party, the rain

poured down in torrents. Vivid flashes of

lightning which threw a momentary gleam over

the face of the troubled deep, and the crash

of the thunder which rolled over the heads of

the affrighted party, increased the horrors of

the scene. Unprovided with a compass, they

were entirely ignorant of the course they were

steering ;
but they had, from the violence of

the tempest, no alternative but to go before

the wind, and in the event of escaping the

fury of the waves, running the risk of being

driven upon Skye, where the prince might fall

into the hands of the militia who were in that

island. But all their apprehensions of danger

on this score were removed, by discovering at

day-break that they were on the coast of the

Long island. At seven o'clock in the morn-O

ing they landed with great difficulty at Rossi-

nish, a point of land on the north-east of

Benbecula, one of the islands which form the

group called the Long island. Having secured

their boat, Charles and his party entered an

uninhabited hut, in which they kindled a fire

to warm themselves and dry their clothes,

which were saturated with rain and salt-water.

Charles purchased a cow, which was immedi-

ately slaughtered ;
and which, with the small

quantity of meal provided by Donald Macleod,

served to support the party during the time

they remained on the island. 2

Meanwhile the Duke of Cumberland was

using every effort to capture the persons of the

young Chevalier and his principal adherents.

For this purpose, several detachments were

sent out by the duke from his camp at Inver-

- Genuine and True Journal of the most miraculous

Kscape of the young Chevalier, by an Englishman.
London, 174 (

J. Macleod's Narrative.

ness in different directions, and as he was de-

sirous that Charles should not fall alive into

his hands, his instructions to the commanders

of the detachments were to make no prisoners.

One of these detachments, under Colonel Cock-

ayne, proceeded to Moy castle, and after shoot-

ing some fugitives who had taken refuge in

that mansion, and massacring some old men,
women and children, returned to Inverness,

carrying along with them Lady Mackintosh,

who, on her arrival there, was committed to

custody by the duke. Another party went to

castle Downie, the seat of Lord Lovat, which

they burnt to the ground, having previously

secured a large quantity of booty, which they

carried to Inverness. A body of 600 Grants

was sent into the Erasers' country to reduce

and disarm that powerful clan
;
and the Mon-

roes, Mackays, and Sutherlands, were scattered

over the shires of Ross, Cromarty, Sutherland,

and Caithness, to keep the disaffected in these

counties in check. To secure the passages to

the isles, Lord Fortrose, son of the Earl of

Seaforth, proceeded to raise the Mackenzies,

and orders were given along the coast to pre-

vent any suspicious persons from making their

escape by sea. Cobham's and Lord Mack
Ker's dragoons were posted along the east

coast, and bodies of militia were stationed at

the passes leading into the Highlands to inter-

cept all persons who might attempt to escape

to the lowlands. The pass of Stirling Avas also

guarded by a detachment posted at the Fords

of the Frew, and the Edinburgh regiment was

spread along the south side of the Frith of

Forth, to apprehend such of the insurgents as

might attempt to cross that arm of the sea.

Besides these different detachments, a body of

1,700 militia, under the Earl of London, the

laird of Macleod, and Sir Alexander Mac-

donald, the last of whom had raised his men

before the battle of Culloden, and another

body of 800 Argyleshire men under General

Campbell, afterwards Duke of Argyle, spread

themselves over Lochaber, all eager to secure

the person of the prince. In short, no means

were neglected to attain this object ;
and the

eager pursuers required no other stimulus to

urge them on than the splendid reward of

30,000, which had been offered for the cap-

ture of the royal fugitive.
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The departure of Charles from Lochna-

uuagh was not known at Inverness till some

days after he had sailed, and the place of his

destination become a matter of interesting spe-

culation. No doubt could exist that he de-

signed to seek refuge among the western is-

lands, and as St. Kilda is the most distant and

the least frequented of the Avhole, it was sup-

posed that Charles had repaired thither. Act-

ing on this supposition, General Campbell col-

lected some sloops of war and transports, and

having embarked a considerable body of troops,

set sail for St. Kilda. After touching at Barra

and some other islands, and searching for the

prince, he approached St. Kilda, the inhab-

itants of which, alarmed at the sight of the

fleet, fled and concealed themselves in the

cliffs of the rocks. Landing with some of

his forces, the general inquired at some of

the inhabitants, whom he discovered in their

recesses, what had become of the " Pretend-

er;" but these people answered, with great

simplicity, that they had never heard of such

a person, that they had indeed been informed

that their laird (Macleod) had lately been at

war with a woman a great way abroad, and

that he had overcome her. This, they added,

was all they knew of the affairs of the world.

General Campbell, however, not satisfied with

this statement, made a search over the island,

but not finding any strangers, returned to the

main land after visiting South Uist.

Anticipating the utter ruin which awaited

them and their followers, if no attempt was

made to resist the meditated designs of the

Duke of Cumberland, several chiefs and others 4

held a meeting at Mortlaig on the 8th of May,
at which they entered into a bond for their

mutual defence, and agreed never to lay down
their arms, or make a general peace, without

the consent of the whole. They may be sup-

posed to have come to this resolution the more

readily, as a sum of 35,000 louis d'ors had been

received a few days before by two French

frigates which had arrived on the west coast.

By the bond of association, the chiefs agreed,

3 Genuine and True Journal, p 7. Home, p. 245.
4 There were twelve or thirteen gentlemen present ;

among whom were Lochiel, young (Jlauranald, Baris-

dale, Dr. Cameron, John Roy Stewart, old Glcnluuk-

et, Secretary Murray, and Cameron of Dun^nllon.
Lord Lovat was also present, Imt by accident

and solemnly promised, with the utmost expe-

dition, to raise in behalf of the prince and in

defence of their country, as many able-bodied

armed men as they could on their respective

properties, and they further promised and

agreed, that the following clans, viz., Lochiel,

Glengarry, Clanranald, Stewarts of Appin,

Keppoch, Barisdale, Mackinnons and Mac-

leods, should assemble on Thursday, the 15th

of May, at Auchnacarry, in the braes of Loch-

aber. To facilitate the junction of the diifer-

ent corps with all possible speed, it was agreed

that the Frasers of Aird and the other Jacobite

clans on the north side of the river Ness, should

join the people of Glenmoriston and Glengarry,

and that the Frasers of Stratherrick, the Mack-

intoshes and Macphersons, should assemble

and meet at the most convenient place in Bade-

noch on the same day ;
that the Macgregors,

and Menzies' and Glenlyon's people should

march to Eannoch and join the Eannoch and

Athole men, and be kept in readiness to receive

intelligence and orders to meet the main body
in the braes of Mar, or at any other place that

might be considered convenient, that Gordon

of Glenbucket and Colonel Roy Stewart should

intimate the resolutions of the meeting to Lord

Lewis Gordon, Lords Ogilvy and Pitsligo, the

Farquharsons, and the other principal gentle-

men in the north, who were to be directed to

fix a place of rendezvous among themselves,

and that Macpherson of Cluny and Colonel

Eoy Stewart should advertise the principal

gentlemen of the Mackintoshes of the resolu-

tions adopted by the meeting. The better to

conceal their designs from the Duke of Cum-

berland, the assembled chiefs agreed not to dis-

cover or reveal to any of their men or inferior

officers, the agreement they had entered into,

nor the day and place of rendezvous, till they

had assembled their respective corps. It was

finally agreed, that should any one engaged in

the association make separate terms for him-

self, he should be looked upon as a traitor to

the prince, and be treated by his associates as

an enemy.
5

The associated chiefs had been too sanguine

in their expectations, not one of them being

able, for various reasons, to meet on the day

1

Appendix to Home, No. xlvii.
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appointed. Clanranald's people refused to

leave their own country, and many of Glen-

garry's had delivered up their arms. Loch-

garry came with a small party to Invermely on

the 20th of May; but, after staying one night,

he crossed Loch Arkaig and did not return.

Lochiel and Barisdale met at Auchnacarry, the

place of rendezvous, on the 21st or 22d of May,

but with very few men, and they were almost

surprised by a large party of the government

forces on the morning of the 23d, who took an

officer and two of Lochiel's men prisoners.

The Highlanders immediately dispersed, and

Lochiel, seeing no chance of making an effec-

tual stand under existing circumstances, wrote

a circular to his brother chiefs, advising them

to disperse their people ; but, as great expec-

tations were entertained that the French king

would send assistance, he requested them to

preserve their arms as long as possible.

Conceiving that the only effectual mode of

suppressing the rebellion was to march into

the Highlands with the whole of his army, the

Duke of Cumberland began, about the middle of

May, to make preparations for his journey. He

had in the beginning of that month issued a

proclamation, ordering the insurgent clans to de-

liver up their arms; but little attention was

paid to this mandate, and the continuance of

considerable armed parties convinced him that

the Highlands could never be reduced without

the presence of a considerable army stationed

in a central district. Having pitched upon
Fort Augustus for his new head-quarters, the

duke left Inverness, on the 23d of May, with

eleven battalions of foot and Kingston's horse,

and reached Fort Augustus next day. Charles

had intended to make this place a rallying

point in case of a defeat
;
but his plan was

rejected by the chiefs, and, that it might not

be serviceable to the royal troops, the buildings
had been blown up. No- accommodation being
therefore found for the duke's army, a camp
was formed in the neighbourhood, and a turf

hut with doors and windows, and covered with

green sods and boughs, was erected by Lord

Loudon's Highlanders for the use of his royal

highness.
6

Resolving to inflict a signal chastisement

6
Boysc, p 169.

upon the rebels, the duke sent, from his camp
at Fort Augustus, detachments of his troops in

all directions, which devastated the country

with fire and sword, and committed excesses

scarcely paralleled in history, resembling,

though perhaps on a njinor scale, those com-

mitted by the hosts of Hyder AH, when that

merciless destroyer burst into the Carnatic. The

seats of Lochiel, Glengarry, Kinlochmoidart,

Keppoch, Cluny, Glengyle, and others, were

plundered and burnt to the ground, and great

numbers of the houses of the common people

shared the same fate. 7
Major Lockhart, whose

name, by his cruelties on this occasion, has

obtained an infamous notoriety, marched with

a detachment into the country of the Macdon-

alds of Barisdale, and laid waste and destroyed

their dwellings. Some of these poor people

had obtained protections from Lord London
;

but the major disregarded them, and told the

people who had them, that not even a warrant

from heaven should prevent him from execut-

ing his orders. Another corps, under Lord

George Sackville, ravaged the country about

the glens of Moidart, while others carried fire

and desolation through other districts. Not

contented with destroying the country, these

bloodhounds either shot the men upon the

mountains, or murdered them in cold blood.

The women, after witnessing their husbands,

fathers, and brothers murdered before their

eyes, were subjected to brutal violence, and

then turned out naked, with their children, to

starve on the barren heaths. A whole family

was inclosed in a barn, and consumed to ashes.

So alert were these ministers of vengeance, that

in a few days, according to the testimony of a

volunteer who served in the expedition, neither

house, cottage, man, nor beast, was to be seen

within the compass of fifty miles : all was ruin,

silence, and desolation. Deprived of their

cattle and their small stock of provisions by
the rapacious soldiery, the hoary-headed matron

and sire, the widowed mother and her helpless

offspring, were to be seen dying of hunger,

7 The booty taken must have been considerable, as

in one instance, that of Glengarry House, the party
who plundered it, consisting of 200 men, had the fol-

lowing allowances made as their shares, viz., every
captain, 11 5s.; each subaltern, 5 18s.; a sergeant,

1 10s.; a corporal, 1; and every common soldier,

15s., clear of all deductions. Boyse, p. 169.
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stretched upon the bare ground, and within

view of the smoking ruins of their dwellings.

It may seem surprising that the Highlanders

did not avenge themselves upon their oppres-

sors, by assassinating such stragglers as fell in

their way. It cannot be supposed that men
in whose bosoms the spirit of revenge must

have taken deep root, would have spared their

relentless adversaries from any scruple as to

the mode of despatching them; nor can it be

imagined that the Highlanders could not have

selected fit occasions when they might have

inflicted vengeance upon individuals. The

reason of their forbearance probably was, that

such a system of warfare, if adopted, would

lead to acts of retaliation on the part of the

military, and thus increase their calamities.

Only one instance is known where an injured

person attempted to avenge himself. This was

the case of a Highlander who had his house

burned, his cattle plundered, and his son killed,

while defending his family, who were turned

out in the snow. Vowing revenge, he watched

the officer who was the author of this inhuman

outrage, and who, he was informed, was to be

distinguished by a cloak of a particular kind.

This officer riding one day with Captain' George
Munro of Culcairn in a shower of rain, lent

him his cloak; and while marching in it with

a party of men along the side of Loch Arkaig,

the captain was shot by the enraged Highlander,

who perceived the cloak, but could not distin-

guish the difference of person. The man

escaped, and although he was well known, and

might have been afterwards apprehended, he

was allowed to pass unpunished.
8

Of the immense quantity of cattle carried

off by Cumberland's troops, some idea may be

formed from the fact mentioned in a journal of

the period,
9 that there were sometimes 2,000

in one drove. Intelligence of such a vast

8 "Colonel Grant of Moy, who died in April, 1822,
in his 90th year, was walking along the road with a

gun on his shoulder when Culcairn was shot. A turn
of the road concealed him from the soldiers at the

moment, but when he came in sight with his gun, they
immediately seized him upon suspicion, and carried

him to Fort William. After a short confinement he
was released. Colonel Grant entered the 42d as a

volunteer or soldier of fortune, and afterwards got a

cadetship in India, from which he returned with a

handsome fortune nearly fifty years ago." Stewart's

Sketches, vol. i. note p. 280.
9 Scots Magazine, vol. viii. p. 287.

accumulation of live stock reaching the ears of

the graziers of the south, numbers of them

went to Fort Augustus well provided with

money, which they laid out to great advantage.

Some of the people, impelled by starvation,

repaired to the camp to solicit from the spoilers

some of their flocks, to preserve an existence;

but their supplications were unheeded, and they

were doomed to behold their cattle sold and

driven away, while famine stared them in tho

face.

The atrocities committed by the English

Duncan Forbes of Culloden, Lord President.

From Original Painting at Culloden House.

must have been revolting to the humane mind

of Lord President Forbes. On paying his

respects to the duke at Inverness, he hinted

to his highness that the laws of the country
should be observed even by his army; but

the duke, who entertained very different

ideas, not relishing such an intrusion upon his

authority, cut the worthy president short with

this exclamation, "The laws of the country,

my Lord! I'll make a brigade give laws, by
God!" Judging farther remonstrance to be
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vain, Forbes dropped the subject, and was

compelled to deplore in silence the cruelties

Avhich he could not prevent. He might have

represented the matter to the government ;
but

he was perhaps unwilling to run the risk of

incurring its displeasure, and thereby deprive

himself of the chance of being afterwards use-

ful in saving many families from ruin. l

The enormities of the lawless soldiery were

not confined to the Highlands, but extended

to all the adjoining lowland districts where the

spirit of disaffection was known to exist. The

houses of the low country Jacobite gentry were

plundered and destroyed, and the chapels of

the nonjurant episcopal clergy, as well as the

more humble and secluded places of worship

belonging to the Catholics, were either razed or

burnt to the ground.
"
Rebel-hunting

" was

the term adopted by the ruffians of the British

army to designate their bloody occupation.

To complete the work of extermination, the

duke issued a proclamation, denouncing the

punishment of death, by hanging, against every

person who should harbour the insurgents, and

a similar fate was declared to await such as

should conceal arms, ammunition, or any other

thing belonging to them, or should not imme-

diately deliver up to persons authorized by the

duke to receive the same, any property or effects

in their possession belonging to the rebels. In

compliance with a requisition made by the

duke, the General Assembly of the Church of

Scotland, about the end of May, enjoined the

ministers of the different parishes to read a

proclamation from the pulpits, in which they

themselves, and every well affected person,

1 How far any remonstrance on the part of the presi-
dent would have been attended to may be judged from
the following statement :

" When he visited London
in the end of the year, (1746,) for the purpose of settling
the accounts he had run with the loyal Highland
militia, he, as usual, went to court. The king, whose
ear had been offended with repeated accounts of the
conduct of the military, thus addressed him: 'My
lord-president, you are the person I most wished to
see. Shocking reports have been circulated of the
barbarities committed by my army in the north

; your
lordship is, of all men, the best able to satisfy me.'
'I wish to God,' replied the president, 'that I could,
consistently with truth, assure your majesty that such
reports are destitute of foundation.' The king, as was
his custom, turned abruptly away from the president ;

whose accounts, next day, were p'issed with difficulty:
and, as report says, the balance, which was immense,'
never fully paid \\p."Antijacobin Review, vol. xiii.

Review of Home's History of the Rebellion.

were ordered by his royal highness to use every

exertion to discover and seize the unfortunate

fugitives; and to facilitate their discovery and

apprehension, the clergy were required to fur-

nish lists of the names of all persons in their

respective parishes who had had any share in

the insurrection. Many clergymen, including

those of Edinburgh, with feelings of humanity
and independence which did them honour, re-

fused to read this proclamation, or to comply

with the order requiring them to give in the

names of such of their parishioners as had been

engaged in the rebellion. The government,

equally intent with its sanguinary general upon
the destruction of the unfortunate adherents of

the house of Stuart, offered rewards for appre-

hending such of the fugitives as might land

in Ireland, and' instructions were sent to the

British ministers at foreign courts in alliance

with George II., to seize all who might seek

refuge in the territories of such powers.

The guilt of all these acts of bloodshed and

rapine has been laid to the charge of the Duke

of Cumberland, and the single fact that he

issued no orders to put an end to the enormi-

ties which were daily committed, almost under

his own eyes, and with his perfect knowledge,

seems of itself sufficient to justify the charge.

But when taken in connexion with his san-

guinary order not to make prisoners, the

proofs of his criminality, or rather unconsti-

tutional severity, are evident. Though the

foul stain of wanton cruelty must ever attach

to the British army on the present occasion,

from the commander down to the private,

there were some redeeming exceptions among
the officers, who alleviated the sufferings, and,

in some instances, saved the lives of the de-

voted Highlanders. "I think myself," says

Mr. Maxwell,
" bound in justice to let the

reader know that there were in the duke of

Cumberland's army officers of all ranks, whom
neither the prospect of ingratiating themselves

and making their fortunes, nor the contagion of

bad example were able to corrupt. Some of

those that had done the government the most

essential services were as conspicuous now for

their humanity as formerly for their courage

and conduct. It might be indiscreet to be parti-

cular at present ;
but their names, which are

written with indelible characters in the hearts
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of those poor people that owe to them the pre-

servation of their being, will be carefully

handed down to posterity. They are already

known, and even, in the worst of times, meet

with the applause they deserve from all those

that have a fellow-feeling for their species."

With the honourable exceptions here alluded

to, neither the duke nor the submissive slaves

of his tyrannical will ever appear to have felt

the least compunction for the miseries they in-

flicted upon the unfortunate Highlanders. On
the contrary, they seem to have revelled amidst

the ruin and desolation which they spread

around
;
and when their occupation of " rebel-

hunting
" was gone, by the destruction of their

victims, they endeavoured to relieve the ennui

of repose by ludicrous and indecent diversions.

Horse and foot races were instituted by the

royal duke, who did not think it beneath his

dignity to induce the women of the camp to

enter the lists, and to expose themselves in a

way at which decency revolts. 2 This species

of amusement produced great insubordination

in the army, for the soldiers got very fond of

it, and, according to a volunteer, most of them

had horses, which they bought and sold with

one another at a low price, and on which

they rode about, neglecting their duty, and

consequently it became necessary to publish

an order to part with them, otherwise they

were all to be shot. "I saw," continues the

same writer,
" a soldier riding on one of these

horses, when, being met by a comrade, he asked

him,
'

Tom, what hast thou given for the Gal-

loway?' Tom answered,
' Half-a-crown.' To

which the other replied, with an oath,
' He is

too dear
;
I saw a better bought for eigjiteen-

pence.' Notwithstanding the low price, the

2 A letter from Fort Augustus, dated June 27, 1746,
which made the round of the public journals at the

time, thus describes these pastimes :

" Last Wednes-

day the duke gave two prizes to the soldiers to run

heats for on bare-backed Galloways taken from the

rebels, when eight started for the first, and ten for the

second prize. These Galloways are little larger than

a good tup, and there was excellent sport. Yesterday
his royal highness gave a fine Holland smock to the

soldiers' wives, to be run for on these Galloways, also

bare-backed, and riding with their limbs on each side

of the horse like men. Eight started, and there were
three of the finest heats ever seen. The prize was won,
with great difficulty, by one of the Old Buff's ladies.

In the evening, General Hawley and Colonel Howard
run a match for twenty guineas on two of the above

shelties: which General Hawley won by about four

inches."

vast quantities of cattle, such as oxen, horses,

sheep, and goats, taken from the rebels, and

bought up by the lump by the jockies and

farmers from Yorkshire and the south of Scot-

land, came to a great deal of money, all which

was divided amongst the men that brought
them in, who were sent out in parties in search

of the Pretender; and they frequently came to

rebels' houses, which they had left, as their

owners would not be reduced to obedience.

These our soldiers commonly plundered and

burnt, so that many of them grew rich by their

share of spoil."

"When the zeal and activity of the military in

pursuing the leading fugitives on the one hand,

and the great care of the government to prevent

their escape to the continent on the other, are

considered, it is surprising that so many suc-

ceeded in their attempts to leave the kingdom.
Besides the Earls of Cromarty and Kilmarnock,

and Lord Macleod, the only other Jacobite

chiefs who fell into the hands of the govern-

ment were the Marquis of Tullibardine, Lords

Balmerino and Lovat, and Secretary Murray.

The Marquis being unable, from the bad state of

his health, to bear the fatigue of running from

covert to covert, surrendered himself, on the

27th of April, to a Dumbartonshire gentleman,

who committed him to the castle of Dumbar-

ton
;
and Lord Balmerino, by the advice of Mr.

Grant, younger of Rothiemurchus, most un-

wisely delivered himself up at Inverness, two

days after the battle of Culloden. After hav-

ing the mortification of witnessing, from the

summit of a mountain, the conflagration of his

seat of Castle Downie by the king's troops,

Lord Lovat took refuge in the western parts of

Inverness-shire, and finally concealed himself

in the hollow of a tree which grew on a small

island in Loch Morar, where he was appre-

hended early in June by a party from the

Furnace sloop of war. When discovered, he

was wrapt up in a blanket; and, though he had

between five and six hundred guineas in his

pocket, had been obliged to live twelve days

in his miserable retreat on oatmeal and water.

Being unable, from his great age and infirmity,

to ride, he was carried in a litter to the royal

camp at Fort Augustus. Secretary Murray con-

trived to escape from the Highlands, and sought

for safety in the house of his brother-in-law,
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Mr. Hunter of Polmood, in Peebles-shire ;
but

information having been given of his retreat,

he was apprehended on the morning of Satur-

day, the 28th of June, by a party of St. George's

dragoons, carried to Edinburgh,, and committed

the same evening a prisoner to the castle.

Macdonald of Barisdale and his son were

also taken prisoners, but were almost imme-

diately set at liberty. That a man who had

taken such an active part in the insurrection

as Barisdale did should have been liberated

unconditionally is very improbable ;
and it was

generally understood that he had entered into

an engagement to apprehend the prince, and

deliver him. up to the Duke of Cumberland.

So strong were the suspicions of Charles and

his friends of Barisdale's treachery, that when

Colonel Warren arrived in the "West Highlands

for the purpose of transporting Charles to

France, he actually seized Barisdale and his

son, and carried them along with him to that

country as prisoners. A list of charges, in the

shape of interrogatories, was afterwards drawn

up by Charles at Paris, to each of which Baris-

dale was required to make a direct and parti-

cular answer in writing ;
but the nature of his

answers, if he made any, is not known. There

may have been no foundation for these grave

charges ;
but well or ill founded, an opinion

long prevailed in the Highlands that Barisdale

had been unfaithful.

If Glengarry's apprehension proceeded upon
the information of the gentlemen of his own

clan, they must have had better grounds for

taking the extraordinary step they are alleged

to have done than the mere assertion of Baris-

dale
;
but the charge against Glengarry seems

highly improbable, as it is scarcely credible,

if, as stated, they had letters from him in their

possession, advising them to take up arms in

support of Charles, while he himself kept back,
that he would, by such a perfidious act, have

put himself in their power. Glengarry, after

his apprehension, was sent to London, and,

along with the other chief prisoners, was com-

mitted to the Tower, where he suffered a long
and tedious confinement. Young Glengarry
had been taken up some months previously
and sent to the Tower, in which he was kept a

close prisoner for twenty months.

Notwithstanding the sanguinary ferocity

with which Cumberland's soldiers hunted

down the unfortunate fugitives, the lives of a

considerable number of those who were taken

or surrendered themselves were saved from

immediate destruction by the interference of a

few humane persons, who did everything in

their power to put a stop to the exterminating

system of these bloodhounds. Though they
thus escaped the merciless sword of the de-

stroyer, they were nevertheless doomed to suffer

the most extraordinary privations. After hav-

ing been cooped up in the loathsome prisons of

the north, without any attention to their wants,

many of them were afterwards huddled to-

gether in the holds of ships, where they were

condemned unheeded to pine away, and, amidst

a mass of filth and corruption, to inhale the

seeds of pestilence and death. Of 157 persons
who were immured for eight months in the

hold of one transport, only 49 survived the

cruel treatment they received. 3

Meanwhile several of the chiefs of the insur-

rection succeeded in effecting their escape to

the Continent. The Duke of Perth, Lord

John Drummond, Lords Elcho and Nairne,

Maxwell of Kirkconnel, and others, embarked

at Lochnanuagh, on board one of the French

ships which arrived on the western coast about

the end of April. The Duke of Perth, who had

been long in bad health, died on the voyage.
Another party of twelve or thirteen persons,

including Lords Pitsligo and Ogilvy, and Hun-

3 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 300. William Jack, one of
the prisoners, in a letter to his friends in Elgin (Me-
moirs, p. 299), says that the sailors used to amuse
themselves by hoisting the prisoners up to the yard-
arm and dropping them into the sea, and that they
would tie them to the mast and flog them

;
that for

several months they had no bed-clothes, and that they
used to dig holes among the ship's ballast, consisting of
black earth and small stones, to keep themselves warm.
John Farquharson of Aldlerg, himself a prisoner, in a
letter to the Ilev. Mr. Forbes, published among the
Forbes papers, gives an appalling description of the
miseries of his fellow prisoners on their voyage from
Inverness to London. He says that from hunger, bad

usage, and exposure
"

to all weathers, they were seized
witli a kind of plague which carried them off by doz-

ens;" and that "a good many of those who would
have outlived their sickness, were wantonly murdered
by the sailors, by dipping them in the sea in the crisis

of their fevers.
"

After arriving in the Thames, the
common prisoners were put into Tilbury Fort, and
would have perished for want had not some humane
people supported them. The officers were marched
rank and file to Southwark jail, amid the hootings ot

a tumultuous mob, who loaded them with scornful

epithets, and assailed them with brickbats, stones, and
other missiles.



CHARLES LEAVES BENBECULA AND LANDS IN THE ISLE OF GLASS. 683

ter of Burnside, after skulking some time in

Buchan, got a vessel which conveyed them to

Bergen in Norway. The British consul ap-

plied to the governor to have them secured,

but he disregarded the application, and the

party proceeded to Sweden. Stewart of Ard-

shiel, and General 0' Sullivan also succeeded in

reaching France. Old Glenbucket, after being

hunted from place to place, eluded his pursuers

by assuming the garb of a beggar, and allowing

his beard to grow. In the month of Novem-

ber he escaped to Norway in a Swedish vessel.

Lord George Murray remained in concealment

in Scotland till the month of December, when,

after paying a private visit to his friends at

Edinburgh, he took shipping at Anstruther in

the Frith of Forth, and reached Holland in

safety.

CHAPTER XXXVII.

A. D. 1746.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 17271760.

Charles leaves Benbecula and lands in the island of

Glass Proceeds to Harris Iffurt Glass Benbe-
cula Removes to South Uist Meets Miss Flora

Macdonald Charles proceeds to Skye Goes to

Kingsburgh House Portree Proceeds to Haasay
Eeturns to Skye Goes to Ellagol Interview with

the Laird of Mackinnon, with whom he proceeds to

the Mainland Arrives in Loch Nevis in Moidart
Arrest of Malcolm Macleod, Macdonald of Kings-
burgh, and Flora Macdonald Pursuit of Charles

Proceeds to Morar Borodale Glen Morar Narrow

Escapes Reaches Glenshiel Entertained by rob-

bers in a cave Death of Roderick Mackenzie, who
is mistaken for the Prince - Charles arrives in

Strathglass Braes of Glengarry Cameron of Chines

Auchnacany Narrow Escape of Charles Ben-
alder Cage fitted for Charles's reception The
Prince embarks at Borodale, and arrives safely in

France.

THE storm which drove Charles with such

rapidity upon the distant shores of Benbecula

continued for fourteen hours after he had

landed. Accommodating himself to the new

situation in which he was placed, he manifested

no symptoms of dejection at his reverse of for-

tune, partook cheerfully along with his com-

panions of the homely fare before him, and

with an old sail for a bed, reposed upon the

floor of his lowly dwelling. In Benbecula the

prince was visited by old Clanranald, to whom
the island belonged ;

and having afterwards

had an interview in South Uist with Boisdale,

Clanranald's brother, Charles was advised by
him to proceed to Stornoway, the principal

seaport in the island of Lewis, and there give

out that he and his company were the crew of

a merchant ship belonging to the Orkneys,
which had been wrecked on the isle of Tiree,

and under the pretence of returning home, hire

a vessel for that purpose, and escape to France. 4

Accordingly, after passing two days in Ben-

becula, Charles and his party set sail for Stor-

noway on the 29th of April; but in consequence
of a strong gale of wind from the south-west,

they were obliged to put in next morning at

the small isle of Scalpa or Glass, near Harris,

about half way between Benbecula and Storno-

way. They landed about two hours before

daybreak, and were conducted by Donald Mac-

leod to the house of Donald Campbell, a farmer,

known to Macleod, to whom they were intro-

duced as merchants shipwrecked on their voyage

to the Orkneys. The prince and O'Sullivan

took the name of Sinclair, and the latter passed

off as Charles' father. The whole party was

hospitably entertained by Campbell, who lent

Macleod a boat with which he proceeded next

day, the 1st of May, to Stornoway to hire a

vessel, leaving Charles and his friends behind.

Having succeeded in hiring a small vessel of

forty tons, Macleod sent an express to Charles

announcing his success, and requesting him to

proceed to Stornoway. This message was re-

ceived on the 3d of May, and the prince left

the isle of Glass next day; but the wind prov-

ing contrary, he Avas obliged to land in Loch

Seaforth, in the island of Lewis, a considerable

distance from Stornoway. Here Allan Mac-

donald took his leave. Accompanied by O'Sul-

livan, O'Neil, and his guide, Charles set out on

foot for Stornoway, over a wild and trackless

waste, in a very dark and rainy night. The

guide lost his way, and the party did not reach

the neighbourhood of Stornoway till next day
at noon. This mistake, on the part of the

conductor, was a fortunate circumstance, as the

advanced hour of the day prevented Charles

from entering the town, where he might have

been seized by the inhabitants, who having re-

ceived information from the Presbyterian mini-

ster of South Uist, that the prince had landed

4 Lockharf Papers, vol. ii. p. 541.
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in Lewis with 500 men, with a design of burn-

ing their town, carrying off their cattle, and

forcing a vessel to carry him to France, after-

wards rose in arms to oppose him. Charles

stopped at the Point of Aryuish, about half a

mile from Stornoway, and sent in the guide to

acquaint Macleod of his arrival, and to bring

out some refreshment, as he and his fellow-

travellers had been eighteen hours without

food. Donald immediately repaired to the

spot with some brandy, bread, and cheese, and

found Charles and his two companions standing

on a moor extremely fatigued and all wet to

the skin. Donald then took them to the house

of Mrs. Mackenzie of Kildun, at Arynish, where

the prince went to bed. Returning to Storno-

way, Macleod was quite amazed to find the

town in commotion, and above 200 men under

arms. Unable to comprehend the meaning of

this sudden rising, Donald went directly into

the room where the gentlemen who had taken

upon them the rank of officers had assembled,

and inquired the cause of such a strange pro-

ceeding. He was instantly assailed with abuse

by every person present: they informed him of

the intelligence they had received from Uist of

Charles's landing, and of his alleged intentions,

and they accused Macleod as thp cause of the

calamity with which they were threatened.

Unable to deny the fact of Charles's arrival in

Lewis, Macleod at once admitted it, and to

allay their fears he informed them, that so far

from having a body of 500 men along with

him, as represented, he was attended by two

companions only; "and yet." said Donald, with

an air of defiance,
"
let me tell you farther,

gentlemen, if Seaforth himself were here, by
G he durst not put a hand to the prince's

breast !

" 5 The gentlemen present then declared

that they had no intention to do the prince
the least harm, and the only thing they required
of him was to leave the island. Donald offered

instantly to comply, and requested them to

give him a pilot, but they refused; and although
he offered the most liberal payment he could

not obtain one. Alarmed for the consequences
of being privy to the prince's escape, the master

of the vessel which had been hired, either sus-

pecting the object, or let, as is supposed, into

5 Macleod's Narrative in Jncobiic Memoirs.

the secret by Macleod, refused to implement

his bargain.
6

Returning to the prince, Macleod informed

him of these disagreeable occurrences. A pro-

posal was made to fly to the moors; but Charles,

thinking that such a step would encourage his

enemies to pursue, he resolved to pass the

night at Kildun. Here the party killed a cow,

for which the lady refused payment, but being

pressed by Macleod she at last took the money.
Edward Burke performed the duties of cook;

but the prince, on the present occasion, super-

intended the culinary department, and with

his own hands prepared a cake of oatmeal,

mixed with the brains of the cow, and baked

it upon a stone before the fire. At daybreak
next morning the party left the island, carrying

along with them a small stock of beef, two

pecks of meal, and abundance of brandy and

sugar. At this time the prince, O'Sullivan,

and O'Neil had only six shirts amongst them,

and being often drenched with rain, they were

frequently obliged to take off the wet ones

before the others were half dry. Conceiving

that he would be more secure on the mainland

than among the islands, Charles resolved to

return thither, and ordered the boatmen to

carry him to' Bollein in Kintail; but they re-

fused on account of the length of the voyage,

which they considered dangerous in an open
boat. They, therefore, proceeded southwards

along the coast; but they had not proceeded

far when they observed two large vessels at a

distance sailing northwards, and making to-

wards them. To avoid these ships they put
into the small isle called Euirn or Iffurt, near

Harris, a little to the northward of the island

of Glass. On landing, the prince and his at-

tendants went to the summit of a little hill

to observe the ships. Charles thought they

were French, but his companions considered

them English. He was desirous to ascer-

tain the fact, but the boatmen could not be

prevailed upon to go out and reconnoitre

them. It is probable that these were the two

frigates from Nantz, which arrived in Loch-

nanuagh the day after Charles's departure

from that place, and having landed the

money, arms, and ammunition they had

(i Lockliarl, Papers, vol. ii p. 5-11. Kirlcc-onncl MS
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brought over for his service, were returning to

France. 7

The little island on which Charles now was,

was inhabited by a few fishermen, who, ima-

gining the prince's boat to be a press-boat be-

longing to one of the ships of war, ran away
to conceal themselves, leaving their fish be-

hind. Charles and his party fared upon some

nf the fish which they found drying upon the

beach. Unwilling to deprive the poor fisher-

men of any part of their hard-earned spoils

without an equivalent, the prince was about

laying down some money on the place from

which the fish were taken
; but on one of his

followers representing to him that by doing so

the fishermen might suppose that some person
of note had visited the island, and that such

an idea might lead to bad consequences, he

desisted. Charles remained in this desolate

island four days, during all which time he and

his party lay in a wretched hut, resembling a

hog-sty, and so wretchedly roofed that they
were obliged to spread the boat's sail over the

top of it. They lay upon the bare floor, with-

out any covering, and to prevent surprise, kept
watch by turns.

Resolving to return to Glass to pay Donald

Campbell a visit, Charles left the little island

of Iffurt on the 10th of May, and coursed along
the shores of the Long Island till he arrived

at the isle of Glass. Understanding that

Campbell had absconded, from an apprehen-
sion that he would be seized for having en-

tertained the prince, a rumour to that effect

having got abroad, the prince left Glass the

same day. There being no wind, the boatmen

were obliged to row all night ;
but about day-

break, the wind began to rise, and hoisting

sail, they scudded along the coast of Harris.

Having no fresh water on board, they were

forced, from lack of other provisions, to use

oatmeal made up with salt water, of which

Charles partook heartily. This salt water

drammach, as this extraordinary preparation

was called, was qualified with a dram of

brandy, which the prince distributed from a

bottle he held in his hand.

In coursing along Harris, Charles, while

crossing the mouth of Finsbay, espied a ship

7 Kirkcmnel MS.

of war, commanded by Captain Ferguson, lying

in the bay, at the distance of about two

musket shots, which immediately gave them

chase. The ship followed them three leagues ;

but they escaped among the rocks at the point
of Roudil in the Harris. They then kept close

to the shore, and in passing along the coast of

North Uist were observed by another war ves-

sel lying in Lochmaddy, which also gave them

chase. Charles reached Benbecula after a very
close pursuit, and had scarcely landed when a

storm arose, which drove the vessels that

pursued him off the coast. After this escape,

Charles could not help remarking, that Provi-

dence would not permit him to be taken at

this time.

It being low water when Charles landed in

Benbecula, one of the boatmen went among
the rocks in quest of shell-fish, and found a

crab, which he held up to the prince with an

expression of joy. Taking up a pail which lay

in the boat, Charles immediately proceeded to

the spot where the boatman stood, and, in

conjunction with him, soon filled the pail with

crabs. The party then proceeded to a small

hut which lay at the distance of two miles.

Charles carried the pail, which Macleod in-

sisted on relieving him of; but Charles refused

to part with it, observing that he and the

rest of the company might carry the baggage.

The door of the hovel was so low, that the

party could only enter by creeping in on their

hands and knees
;
but to make the entry easier

for the prince, Burke dug away part of the

ground, and put heather below the prince's

knees. From this homely residence, Charles

sent a message to old Clanranald, acquainting

him of his return to Benbecula, and of the

difficulties with which he was beset. Clan-

ranald repaired without delay to the hut, and

promised Charles all the assistance in his power
to enable him to leave the kingdom. Lady

Clanranald, at the same time, sent Charles

half-a-dozen of shirts, some shoes and stock-

ings, a supply of wine and brandy, and other

articles, to make his situation as comfortable

as circumstances would admit of. After pass-

ing several days in this miserable habitation,

Charles, by the advice of Clanranald, removed

to South Uist, and took up his abode near the

hill of Coradale, in the centre of the island,
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which was considered a more secure place of

retreat.

When on the eve of leaving Benbecula,

Charles despatched Donald Macleod in Camp-

bell's boat, which he still retained, to the

mainland, with letters to Lochiel and Secre-

tary Murray, desiring to know how affairs stood,

and requesting that a supply of cash and

brandy might be sent to him. Donald met

Lochiel and Murray at the head of Loch Ar-

kaig; but Murray, from whom he was desired

to obtain the money, informed him that he

had none to spare, having only sixty louis-

d'ors, which he meant to keep for his own

necessities. Donald received letters from

Lochiel and Murray to the prince, and, having

found the means, he purchased two ankers of

brandy, at a guinea each, for the use of the

prince, with which he returned after an ab-

sence of eighteen days.
8

On his return he found the prince in a more

comfortable dwelling than that in which he

had left him. He had removed to South Uist

on the 16th of May, and lived in the house of

one of Clanranald's tenants, situated upon
Coradale. The house not being water-tight,

two cow-hides were placed upon four sticks

to prevent the rain from falling upon him

when asleep. The house in which the prince

lodged was called the Forest house of Glen-

coradale, and though the situation was re-

mote, it was the best that could be devised

for securing a retreat either to the hills or to

the sea, according to circumstances. There

being abundance of game in the island, the

prince occupied himself almost daily in his

favourite amusements of hunting and shoot-

ing. His dexterity in shooting birds upon
the wing was particularly remarked. To

vary his recreation, he frequently went down
to the sea-shore, and going on board a small

boat, caught, with hand -lines, some small

fishes, called lyths by the inhabitants. Clan-

ranald and his lady did every thing in their

power to render his situation agreeable ;
and

Clanranald placed twelve able men at his dis-

posal to serve as guides through the island,

and to execute any orders Charles might give
them.

While Charles was thus passing his time in

8 Mucleod's Narrative.

South Uist, his situation every day was becom-

ing more and more critical. The Long island,

as the principal group of the Hebrides is called,

was surrounded on every side by cutters, sloops

of war, and frigates. Upwards of fifteen hun-

dred militia and some regular troops were

landed in different parts of the island, and a

guard was posted at every ferry in the archi-

pelago to prevent any person from getting out

of it without a passport. Charles was made

aware of his danger ;
but he declined to leave

the Long island till he should receive some

farther intelligence, which Clanranald endea-

voured to obtain by crossing over to the main-

land. At length the peril of Charles became so

imminent, that there appeared no possibility of

an escape. He had already spent three weeks

in South Uist
;
and though his residence was

known to upwards of a hundred persons, all of

whom were probably aware of the splendid

reward which had been offered for his appre-

hension, yet such was the fidelity of these poor

people, that not one of them betrayed their

trust, by giving notice to the emissaries of

the government of the place of his concealment

He lived in comparative security in South Uist

till about the middle of June, when, in con-

sequence of the presence of a body of militia

in the island of Eriska, which lies between

Barra and South Uist, he found it absolutely

necessary to shift his quarters. He accordingly

left South Uist in Campbell's boat with his

four companions, on the 14th of June, and

landed in the small isle of Wia or Fovaya, be-

tween South Uist and Benbecula, in which he

remained four nights ;
and on the 18th, the

prince, O'Neil, and Burke, went to Eossin-

ish, leaving 0'Sullivan and Macleod in Wia.

Charles passed two nights at Eossinish
;
but

receiving information that some militia were

approaching Benbecula, he resolved to return

to Coradale. O'Sullivan and Macleod antici-

pated Charles's design by bringing the boat to

Eossinish during the night, and having set sail,

they encountered a violent storm, accompanied
with a heavy rain, which forced them to land

upon the rock called Achkirside-allich at Uish-

inish Point, in a cleft of which they took up
their qiiarters. At night, finding their enemies

within two miles of them, they sailed again, and

arrived safely at a place called Celiestiella.
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whence they steered towards Loch Boisdale
;

but, observing a boat in their way, they re-

turned to their former place, where they passed

the night. They proceeded to Loch Boisdale

next day, where they were informed that Bois-

dale had been made a prisoner, a circumstance

which perplexed Charles exceedingly, as Bois-

dale, from his perfect knowledge of the differ-

ent places of concealment in the Long island,

was the chief person on whom he relied for

directions in his various movements. Charles

skulked some days about Loch Boisdale, where

he and his attendants received occasional sup-

plies of food from Lady Boisdale. 9

During the time the prince remained in

Loch Boisdale, he was kept in a perpetual state

of alarm by the vessels of war which hovered

off the coast of South Uist. At one time no

less than fifteen sail were in sight ; and two of

them having entered the Loch, Charles and

his companions abandoned the boat, and fled

to the mountains. The vessels having gone

out to sea, Charles and his party returned to

the boat, in which they had left a small stock

of provisions ;
and having taken out the sails

for the purpose of covering them, they lay in

the fields two nights on the south side of the

Loch. Eemoving the third night farther up
the inlet, they passed two other nights in the

same way, suffering all the time the greatest

privations. Hitherto the military had not

visited South Uist
; but information was

brought on the last of these days to Charles,

that a party, under Captain Caroline Scott, an

officer celebrated, along with General Hawley,

Major Lockhart, and others, for his cruelties,

had just landed at the head of a body of 500

regulars and militia, within a mile and a half

of the place where Charles then was. On

receiving this alarming intelligence, Charles

instantly resolved to separate his party ;
and

leaving O'Sullivan, Macleod, and Burke, with

the boatmen, to shift for themselves, he and

O'Neil went off to the mountains, carrying only

two shirts along with them. The faithful

Macleod was so affected at parting that he shed

tears. l

9 Genuine and True Journal, p. 16.
1

O'Neil's, Burke's, and Macleod's Narratives, in

Jacobite Memoirs. Macleod was. taken prisoner a few

days afterwards in Benbeeula, by Lieutenant Allan

Beset with dangers on every hand, Charles

and his companion directed their steps towards

Benbecula, and, about midnight, came to a

Macdonald, of Knock, in Sleat, in the island of Skye.
lie was put on board the Furnace, and brought down
to the cabin before General Campbell, who examined
him most minutely. The general asked him if he had
been along with the Pretender? "Yes," said Donald,"

I was along with that young gentleman, and I winna

deny it."
" Do you know," said the general,

" what

money was upon that gentleman's head ? No less a

sum than thirty thousand pounds sterling, which
would have made you and your family happy for ever."

"What then ?" replied Donald, "what though I had

gotten it ? I could not have enjoyed it for two days.
Conscience would have gotten the better of me

;
and

although I could have gotten all England and Scotland
for my pains, I would not have allowed a hair of his

body to be touched if I could hinder it, since he threw
himself upon my care." Campbell observed that he
could not much blame him. Donald was sent to Lon-

don, but released on the 10th of June, 1747. When
he arrived in Leith from London, on his return to

Skye, he had no money to carry him thither
;
but his

wants were supplied by the Rev. Robert (afterwards

bishop) Forbes, an episcopal clergyman in Leith,
who set a subscription on foot in that town, and in

Edinburgh, "to make out," as the bishop says, "for
honest Palinurus, if possible, a pound sterling, for

every week he had served the prince in distress
; and,"

continues the worthy bishop, "I thank God I was so

happy as to accomplish my design directly." In ac-

knowledgment of his fidelity, Donald was presented
by Mr. John Walkinshaw of London, with a large
silver snuff-box, handsomely chased, and doubly gilt
in the inside. Upon the lid of this box there was the

representation of an eight-oared boat, with Donald at

the helm, and the eight rowers making their way
through a very rough and tempestuous sea. The Long
island is seen in the distance upon one of the extremi-

ties of the lid, and the boat appears to be just steer-

ing into Rossinish, the point of Benbecula where
Charles landed after leaving Lochnanuagh. On the

other end of the lid there was a landscape of the end
of the isle of Skye, as it appears opposite to the Long
island, on which the sites of Dunvegan and Gualtergill
are marked. The clouds were represented as heavy
and lowering, and the rain descending ;

and above
the clouds, i. e.

,
near the hinge, the following motto

was engraved : "Olim hsec meminisse juvabit. Aprilis
26to, 1746." Upon the bottom, and near the edge of

the lid, was this inscription, "Quid Neptune, paras?
Fatis agitamur iniquis." The following words were

engraved on the bottom of the box : "Donald Mac-
leod of Gualtergill, in the isle of Skye, the faithful

Palinurus, set. 68, 1746." Below which there was a

representation of a dove with an olive branch in its

bill. Donald never put any snuff into this box, and
when asked the cause by Mr. Forbes, he exclaimed,
" Snefishin in that box ! Na, the diel a pickle sneeshin

shall ever go into it till the King be restored ; and

then, I trust in God, I'll go to London, and then I will

put sneeshin in the box, and go to the Prince, and

say, 'Sir, will you take a sneeshin out o* my box ?
' "

jaeobitc Memoirs.

Burke, the other trust-worthy individual, who was a

native of North Uist, skulked about the hill of Eval,
in his native island, for seven weeks, living part of the

time on sea-weed and limpets. He afterwards took

refuge in a cave, and, when the troubles had subsided,
went to Edinburgh, where, unheeded, he spent the

remainder of his days as a sedan -carrier or chairman.
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hut into which O'Neil entered. Providen-

tially for Charles, O'Neil here found Miss

Flora Macdonald, with whom he had got lately

acquainted at Ormaclade, the seat of Clanra-

nald, in Benbeeula, when on a visit to the

chief, whose kinswoman she was. This lady,

whose memory will ever be held in esteem by

posterity, for her generous and noble disinter-

estedness in rescuing the prince from the im-

minent perils which surrounded him, was the

daughter of Macdonald of Milton, in the island

of South Uist. Her father left her an orphan

Avhen only a year old, and her mother had

married Macdonald of Armadale, in the isle of

Skye, who commanded one of the militia com-

panies raised in that island by Sir Alexander

Macdonald, and was now in South Uist at the

head of his corps. Miss Macdonald was about

twenty-four years of age, of the middle size,

and to the attractions of a handsome figure

and great vivacity, she added the more esti-

mable mental qualities of good sense, bland-

ness of temper, and humanity. The hut in

which O'Neil now met Miss Macdonald be-

longed to her only brother, Angus Macdonald

of Milton, in whose family she then resided.

As O'Neil recollected that Miss Macdonald

had expressed, in his presence, an earnest

desire to see the prince, and had offered to do

any thing in her power to protect him, it oc-

curred to O'Neil that, on the present occasion,

she might render an essential service to the

prince if, after dressing him in female attire,

she would pass him off as her maid-servant,

and carry him to Skye. O'Neil at once pro-

posed his plan to the young lady; but she

thought it fantastical and dangerous, and at

first positively refused to engage in it. As

parties of the Macdonald, Macleod, and Camp-
bell militia were roaming over the island of

South Uist in quest of Charles, as no person
could leave the island without a passport, and
as there was a guard posted at every ferry, and
the channel between Uist and Skye covered

with ships of war, the utter hopelessness of

such an attempt appeared evident. Bent, how-

ever, upon his plan, O'Neil was resolved to

try what effect Charles's own presence would
have upon the young lady in inducing her to

yield, and he accordingly introduced her to

the prince. Miss Macdonald was so strongly

impressed with his critical and forlorn state,

that, on seeing Charles, she almost instantly

consented to conduct him to Skye. She de-

scribes the prince at this time as in a bad state

of health; and though of a thin and weak

habit of body, and greatly worn out by fatigue,

yet exhibiting a cheerfulness, magnanimity,
and fortitude, which those only who saw him

could have credited. 2

Having thus given her consent to O'Neil's

proposal, Miss Macdonald instantly proceeded

to Clanranald's house to procure the necessary

requisites for the intended voyage to Skye. In

crossing one of the fords on her way to Orma-

clade, she and her man-servant, Neil Mac

Eachan,
3 not having passports, were taken pri-

soners by a party of militia, and, being de-

tained till next morning, were brought before

the commanding officer, who luckily turned

out to be her own step-father, Captain Hugh
Macdonald. Having stated to him her inten-

tion of proceeding to Skye to her mother, she,

without difficulty or suspicion, procured a pass-

port from her stepfather, for herself, a man-

servant, and her maid, who, in the passport,

was called Betty Burke, (the name the prince

was to assume,) and who was recommended

by Captain Macdonald to his wife as an excel-

lent spinner of flax, and a faithful servant. 4

Next day at four o'clock in the afternoon,

Charles received a message from Miss Mac-

donald, who had reached Ormaclade, inform-

ing him that "
all was well

;

" on receiving

which, he and O'Neil resolved to join her im-

mediately; but, to their great consternation,

the messenger informed them that they could

not pass either of the fords that separated

South Uist from Benbecula as they were both

2 Flora Macdonald's Narrative. Home's Works,
vof. iii. App. No. 45.

3 Father of the welf-known Marshaf Macdonald,
Duke of Tarentum.

4 The letter by Armadale to his wife, was as fol-

lows :

"
I have sent your daughter from this country

lest she should be any way frightened with the troops

lying here. She has got one Betty Burke, an Irish

2firl, who, as she tells me, is a good spinster. If her

spinning pleases yon, you may keep her till she spin
all your lint; or, if you have any wool to spin, you
may employ her. 1 have sent Neil Mackechan along
with your daughter, and Betty Burke to take care of

them. I am your dutiful husband,
"HUGH MACDONALD."

" June 22, 1746."

It has been suspected that Armadale was privy to

liis step-daughter's design.
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guarded by the military. In their perplexity,

an inhabitant offered to convey them in his

boat to Benbecula
;
and they were accordingly

landed on a promontory of that island. They
dismissed the boat, after having given orders

to the boatmen to meet them on the opposite

side of the island, and proceeded on their jour-

ney; but they had not gone far when they

observed that the land on which they stood

was surrounded by water. Thinking that the

pilot had made a mistake, they hallooed after

the boat, but in vain, as it was already far

from the shore. As it was high water, Charles

and his companion imagined that they could

obtain a dry passage on the subsiding of the

tide; but they were disappointed. The situa-

tion of the prince now appeared dismal. After

escaping so many dangers, he had at present

no prospect but to starve upon a desert island.

Nevertheless, he kept up his spirit; and, after

a laborious search, he succeeded in finding a

ford, by which he and his companion crossed. 5

Charles and his companion arrived at Rossi-

nish, the place of rendezvous, about midnight,

wet to the skin, and exhausted with hunger
and fatigue. Finding that a party of military

was stationed at a short distance, they retired

to another place, about four miles from Rossi-

nish, whence O'Neil went to Ormaclade to as-

certain the reason why Miss Macdonald had

not kept her appointment. In explanation,

she informed him, that conceiving the prince

would be safer in North Uist than in Skye,

she had engaged a cousin of her own in North

Uist to receive him into his house. This gen-

tleman, however, having afterwards declined

to run the risk of harbouring the prince, Miss

Macdonald made the necessary preparations

for her voyage. Having hired a six-oared

boat to carry her to Skye, which she ordered

to be in readiness at an appointed place the

following day, Miss Macdonald left Ormacladw

on the 27th of June, along with Lady Clan-

ranald, a Mrs. Macdonald and Mac Eachan, all

of whom were conducted by O'Neil to the

place where Charles lay concealed, about eight

miles from Ormaclade. On entering the hovel,

they found Charles employed in roasting, for

dinner, the heart, liver, and kidneys of a sheep

5 Kirkconnel MS.

upon a wooden spit. The ladies began to

compassionate the prince upon his unfortunate

situation
;
but he diverted their attention from

this melancholy subject by some facetious ob-

servations. He remarked that the wretched

to-day may be happy to-morrow, and that all

great men would be better by suffering as he

was doing. The party dined in the hut, Miss

Macdonald sitting on the right, and Lady Clan-

ranald on the left hand of the prince.

After dinner, Charles put on the female

attire, which had been provided for him by the

ladies. It was coarse and homely, and con-

sisted of a flowered linen gown, a light-coloured

quilted petticoat, a white apron, and a mantle

of dun camlet made after the Irish fashion, with

a hood. Whilst Charles was putting on this

extraordinary dress, several jokes were passed
on the singularity of the prince's appearance.

The ladies and Neil Mac Eachan returned to

Ormaclade, and in the evening again met

Charles and his companion on the sea-shore,

at a mile's distance from that house. They sat

down to supper on the sea-side
;
but before

they had finished, a messenger arrived with

information that General Campbell and Cap-
tain Ferguson had arrived at Ormaclade with

a large party of soldiers and marines, in quest

of Charles. Lady Clanranald went imme-

diately home, and, on reaching her house, was

interrogated very strictly by these officers as to

the cause of her absence
;
but she excused her-

self by saying that she had been visiting a sick

child. 6

After the departure of Lady Clanranald,

Charles and his protectress went down to the

beach, where their boat lay afloat, so as to be

in readiness to embark in case the military

should appear. They kindled a fire upon a

rock
;
but they had scarcely warmed them-

selves, when they were thrown into a state of

alarm by the appearance of four boats full of

armed men, apparently making towards the

shore. They instantly extinguished their fire,

and concealed themselves behind some rocks.

Fortunately th;y were not observed by the

boats, which, in" ^ad of coming to land, sailed

6 Soon after this occurrence, Lady Clanranald was
taken prisoner, and sent to London. On 1st Novem-

ber, Clanranald, and Boisdale his brother were also

apprehended, and shipped for London. They were

discharged in the month of June following.
4 s
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along the shore, within a gun-shot of the spot

where Charles lay concealed. Judging it un-

wise to put to sea during the day, Charles de-

ferred his voyage till the evening, and accord-

ingly embarked, at eight o'clock on the 28th

of June, for Skye, accompanied by Miss Mac-

donald and Neil Mac Eachan. The prince

was extremely sorry to part with O'Neil, his

only remaining companion, and entreated Miss

Macdonald to allow him to accompany them
;

but, as she had only three passports, she abso-

lutely refused to accede to the request.
7

When Charles le.ft the shores of Benbecula

the evening was clear and serene, and a gentle

and favourable breeze rippled over the bosom

of the deep; but as they proceeded to sea the

sky began to lower, and they had not rowed

above a league when the wind rose, the sea

became rough, and a tempest ensued which

seemed to threaten them with destruction.

Miss Macdonald and the boatmen grew alarmed,

but Charles showed the greatest composure,

and, to revive their drooping spirits, alternately

related some amusing stories and sang several

songs, among which was an old spirited air

composed on the occasion of the restoration of

Charles II. In the passage Miss Macdonald

fell asleep, and Charles took every precaution

to prevent her being disturbed.

The wind having shifted several times during
the night, the boatmen had not been able to

keep a regular course, and when day-light

appeared next morning, they found themselves

out of sight of land without knowing where

7 A few days after parting with Charles, this trusty
officer being betrayed by a person in whom he had con-

fided, was taken prisoner. Being brought before Cap-
tain Ferguson, and refusing to give any information
about the prince, he was stripped, ordered to be put
into a rack, and to be whipt. When the last part of

this order was about to be executed, he was saved from
the intended ignominy by a lieutenant of the Scotch

Fusileers, who, drawing his sword, threatened Fer-

guson with his vengeance if he used an officer in such
an infamous manner. O'N'eil says that, four days
after he was taken, General Campbell sent him word,
upon his parole of honour, that if he had any money
or effects in the country, and would send them to him,
they should be safe

; and that as he had always ima-

gined that the word of honour was as sacredly kept
in the English army as in others, /ie went with a de-
tachment for his money and goldw'/atch, which he had
hid among the rocks; that he J^t to General Camp-
bell by Captain Campbell of Skipness, 450 guineas,
his gold watch, broadsword and pistols; but that

although he repeatedly applied to him to return him
his property, he never obtained it ! O'Neil's Narra-
tive in Jacobite Memoirs.

they were. Having no compass, they proceeded
at random; but they had not sailed far when

they perceived some of the headlands of Skye.
Favoured by the wind, they soon gained the

point of Waternish, on the west of the island.

In passing along this point they were fired

upon by a party of Macleod militia, who called

upon them to land; but they continued their

course, and, to prevent suspicion, plied their oars

very slowly. Charles told the boatmen "not

From Original Painting by I. Mackluin, 1747.

to fear the villains j" but they assured him that

they did not care for themselves : their only

fear was for him. "No fear of me!" was

Charles's reply. Encouraged by the undaunted

bravery of the prince, the boat's crew applied

themselves with energy to their oars; on ob-

serving which the Macleods continued to fire

at the boat till it got out of reach of their

shot, but did no harm. "Whilst the bullets

were falling about the boat, Charles, it is said,

requested Miss Macdonald to lie down in the

bottom of the boat in order to avoid them; but

she heroically declined the proposal, and de-

clared that, as she was endeavouring to preserve
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the life of her prince, she would never degrade

herself by attending to the safety of her own

person while that of her master was in jeopardy.

She even solicited Charles to occupy the place

he had assigned for her. The prince, as the

danger increased, became more urgent; but no

entreaties could prevail upon Miss Macdcnald

to abandon her intrepid resolution, till Charles

offered to lie down also. Both accordingly

lay down in the bottom of the boat, till out of

reach of the bullets of the militia.

After escaping this danger they entered a

small creek, and the party, after taking a short

rest, proceeded to Kilbride, and landed near

Mugstot or Moydhstat, the seat of Sir Alex-

ander Macdonald, near the northern extremity

of Skye. Sir Alexander was at this time with

the Duke of Cumberland at Fort Augustus;

and, as his lady was known to be a warm friend

of the prince, Flora resolved to proceed to

Moydhstat and acquaint her of Charles's arrival.

Lady Margaret Macdonald had inherited the

spirit of Jacobitism from her father Alexander,

Earl of Eglintoun; and, as she knew that her

husband was a Jacobite at heart, she was less

scrupulous to assist the prince in his necessities.

Knowing her good intentions, Charles had,

about a week before his arrival in Skye, written

her a letter, which was sent inclosed in one

from Hugh Macdonald of Balishair, in North

Uist, to his brother Donald Eoy Macdonald,

who was requested to deliver the letter into

her ladyship's own hand. Balishair announced

in the letter to his brother, that, as a very

strict search was making in the Long island

for Charles, he intended to seek refuge upon a

small grass island, called Fladdachuan, belong-

ing to Sir Alexander Macdonald, lying to the

north of Trotternish, with only one tenant

upon it, and requesting him to keep a sharp

look-out for the prince, to meet him upon
Fladdachuan and provide him with necessaries.

He was desired to show the letter to Lady

Margaret, and after she had perused it to throw

it into the fire
;
and he also requested that her

ladyship should do the same with the letter

sent her. The letter was accordingly delivered

to Lady Margaret by Donald Eoy, who burnt

his own, as directed
; but, on begging Lady

Margaret to put hers into the fire, she rose up,

and, kissing the letter, exclaimed,
" No ! T

will not burn it. I will preserve it for the

sake of him who wrote it to me. Although

King George's forces should come to the

house, I hope I shall find a way to secure the

letter." 6

Leaving Charles in the boat, Miss Flora, ac-

companied by Neil Mac Eachan, set out for

Mugstot, to apprise Lady Margaret of her arri-

val. It was a fortunate circumstance that

Charles was left behind, as there was a militia

officer of the name of Macleod in the house,

who, on Miss Macdonald's entering the room

where he was sitting, questioned her very closely

as to her journey; but she answered his inter-

rogatories so readily, and with such apparent

candour and simplicity, that he had not the

least suspicion that she was any way concerned

about the prince. Charles's arrival was not

altogether unexpected, as she had been informed

the day before by Mrs. Macdonald, wife of

John Macdonald of Kirkebost, in North Uist,

who had come from the Long island, of the

probability of his appearing speedily in Skye.

Lady Margaret, on being informed of the

prince's arrival in her neighbourhood, was

greatly alarmed for his safety. Her active

benevolence was ever seconded by superior

talents
; and, on the present occasion, she dis-

played a presence of mind and readiness of

invention, which corresponded with these high

qualifications. Mr. Macdonald of Kingsburgh,
Sir Alexander's factor, being then in the house,

she resolved to consult him in this emergency.

Desirous also to avail herself of the services

of Captain Eoy Macdonald, who had visited

Fladdachuan in quest of the prince, she sent

an express to Trotternish, where he then re-

sided, requesting his immediate attendance at

Mugstot. Mounting his horse, he repaired to

the spot, and found Lady Margaret and Kings-

burgh walking together, in serious conversa-

tion. On dismounting, Lady Margaret came

up to him and exclaimed,
" Donald Eoy, we

are ruined for ever !

"
After a long consulta-

tion, Lady Margaret proposed that, as the

prince could not remain long in Skye without

being discovered, he should be conducted to

old Eaasay, who was himself concealed with

some select friends, and that, in the mean time,

6
Roy Macdonald's Narrative among the Forbes

Papers.
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he should take up his residence in Kingsburgh

house.

During the time this consultation lasted,

Charles remained upon the shore, at a short

distance from the foot of the garden. Kings-

burgh proposed to go and acquaint him with

their determination; but, lest he might be

observed by some of the military about the

house, Neil Mac Eachan was sent to inform him

that Kingsburgh meant to visit him, and to

request that he would retire behind a neigh-

bouring hill to escape observation. Taking

with him some wine and provisions, Kings-

burgh repaired to the spot where Mac Eachan

had left Charles. To his great surprise, how-

ever, Charles was not to be seen, and he in

vain searched for him in the neighbourhood of

the place where he expected to meet him.

Despairing of finding the prince, Kingsburgh

would have returned to Mugstot ;
but the

bounding of a flock of sheep at a distance, in-

dicating that some person was at hand, Kings-

burgh went forward to the place whence the

sheep had fled, where he found the prince

sitting on the ground. Charles started up
when he saw Kingsburgh approaching. He
advanced cautiously towards him, holding a

large knotted stick in his hand, as if intending

to knock down the stranger.
" I am Mac-

donald of Kingsburgh, come to serve your

highness," said the good Highlander, as he ap-

proached.
"
It is well," answered Charles,

who went forward to receive his friend. They
then saluted each other, and the prince took

some refreshment. Kingsburgh then mentioned

Lady Macdonald's plan, with which Charles

having expressed himself satisfied, they both

proceeded to Kingsburgh house.

Till the departure of Kingsburgh to meet

Charles, the uneasiness of Lady Macdonald

was extreme. Flora too, who had remarked

her anxiety, had her misgivings lest the prince

should be discovered
;
but with her wonted

firmness she kept up the conversation with the

commander of the detachment, till dinner was

announced, by which time Charles was on his

way to Kingsburgh. After dinner, Miss Mac-

donald rose to depart ;
but Lady Macdonald,

in order to deceive the officer, pressed her to

remain, and put her in mind that she had

promised on a former occasion to make some

stay the first time she should visit Moydhstat.

Flora, however, excused herself, on the ground

that she was anxious to be with her mother,

who, in the absence of her husband, could not

but feel uneasy in such troublesome times.

With apparent reluctance Lady Margaret at

length accepted her apology, under the con-

dition that she should make amends for her

sudden departure by making a longer stay at

Moydhstat on her next visit.

Miss Macdonald accordingly proceeded on

her journey, accompanied by Neil Mac Eachan,

and by Mrs. Macdonald, the lady formerly

mentioned, who was attended by a male and

female servant. The whole party, who were

on horseback, soon overtook the prince and

Kingsburgh, who had gone so far by the com-

mon road. Mrs. Macdonald, who had never

seen the prince before, was desirous of obtain-

ing a view of his countenance, and made several

attempts to look him in the face, but Charles

always turned his head aside to avoid her gaze.

Mrs. Macdonald's maid observing this, and

being struck with the uncouth appearance of

the prince, remarked to Miss Flora, that she had

never before seen such an impudent looking

woman as the one with whom Kingsburgh was

walking, and stated her impression, that the

singular looking stranger was either an Irish-

woman, or a man in woman's clothes. Miss

Macdonald informed the girl that she was quite

right in her conjecture that the extraordinary

looking female was an Irishwoman, for she

knew her, having seen her before. The maid

then exclaimed,
" Bless me, what long strides

the jade takes, and how awkwardly she manages
her petticoats !

" To put an end to the prying

curiosity of Mrs. Macdonald's maid, and to

prevent the servants of that lady from observ-

ing the route which the prince and Kingsburgh
were about to take across the hills, Miss Mac-

donald called upon the party to ride faster, as

they had a long way to travel. They accord-

ingly set off at the trot, and, when the party

were out of sight, the two pedestrians, to avoid

the militia, who were on all the public roads,

went off by an unfrequented path, and arrived

at Kingsburgh house about eleven o'clock at

night, where they were almost immediately

joined by Miss Macdonald and Neil Mac

Eachan.
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Not expecting her husband home at such a

late hour, Mrs. Macdonald had undressed, and

was just going into bed, when one of her

maid servants entered her bed-room, and in-

formed her that Kingsburgh had arrived, and

had brought company with him, and that Miss

Flora Macdonald was among the guests. Mrs.

Macdonald sent down word to Flora, that be-

ing sleepy and undressed she hoped she would

excuse her for not coming down stairs, but

begged that she would use her freedom, and

help herself to anything she might require.

Immediately upon the departure of the servant

down stairs, a young girl, a daughter of Kings-

burgh, entered her mother's apartment in a

great hurry, and, with looks of surprise, in-

formed her, that her father had brought to

the house the most " odd inuckle ill-shaken-

up wife she had ever seen, and taken her into

the hall too !

"
Before Mrs. Macdonald had

time to form any conjecture on the subject,

Kingsburgh himself entered his wife's bed-

chamber, and desired her to dress herself as

fast as she could, and got some supper ready
for his guests. Mrs. Macdonald asked the

names of her visitors, but Kingsburgh said he

had no time for explanation ;
and after telling

her that she would know the whole matter in

time, and urging her to make haste, he returned

to his friends in the hall.

In compliance with her husband's desire,

Mrs. Macdonald proceeded to dress herself,

and sent her daughter down for her keys, which

she had left in the hall. The girl went, but

she returned almost instantly in a state of

alarm, and told her mother that she was afraid

to venture into the hall, as the tall woman was

walking up and down in it. Mrs. Macdonald

then went down herself
;
but on observing the

prince striding through the hall she hesitated

to enter, and calling to her husband requested

him to go in and bring her the keys. Kings-

burgh, however, refused to humour the pusil-

lanimity of his wife, and she was at length

obliged to enter.

When Mrs. Macdonald entered the hall,

Charles, who, during the altercation between

her and her husband, had taken a seat, rose

up, and advancing, immediately saluted her

agreeably to the Highland practice. Mrs. Mac-

donald, little expecting the roughness of a male

chin under a female attire, began to tremble,

and, without saying a word to the silent and

mysterious being who stood before her, she

hastened out of the hall, and going to her

husband importuned him to inform her who
the stranger was. She had not the least idea

that the person who saluted her was the prince ;

and, imagining that the stranger was some

nobleman or gentleman in disguise, she inquired
if he knew what had become of the prince.

Smiling at her simplicity, Kingsburgh said to

her,
" My dear, the person in the hall is the

prince himself." Alarmed at this unexpected

announcement, she exclaimed,
" The prince !

then we are all ruined : we will all be hanged
now!" "Hout," replied Kingsburgh, "we can

die but once
;
and if we are hanged for this we

shall die in a good cause, doing only an act of

humanity and charity. But go," continued he,
" make haste with supper ; bring us eggs,

butter, cheese, and whatever else can be got

quickly ready."
"
Eggs, butter, and cheese !

"

rejoined Mrs. Macdonald,
" what a supper is

that for a prince !" "Oh! wife," replied

Kingsburgh,
"
you know little how this good

prince has lived of late
;
this will be a feast to

him. Besides, to make a formal supper would

make the servants suspect something ;
the less

ceremony, therefore, the better
;
make haste,

and come to supper yourself." Mrs. Mac-

donald, doubtful of her own capabilities to

conduct herself properly before royalty, ex-

claimed,
" / come to supper ! I know not how

to behave before Majesty !

" " You must come,"

replied Kingsburgh,
" the prince will not eat

one bit without you ;
and you will find it no

difficult matter to behave before him, so oblig-

ing and easy is he in his conversation." 7

At supper Charles placed Miss Flora on his

right hand, and Mrs. Macdonald on his left.

He always conferred the above mark of distinc-

tion on his young protectress, and whenever

she came into any room where he was sitting,

he always rose up on her entry. Charles made

a hearty supper, and drank a bumper of brandy
to the health and prosperity of Kingsburgh and

his wife. After supper he smoked a pipe, a

practice which he was obliged to adopt in his

wanderings, to mitigate a toothache with which.

7 Genuine and True Journal, p. 29.
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he was troubled. 8 - Having drunk a few glasses

of wine, and finished his pipe, Charles went

to bed.

After Charles went to bed, Miss Flora, at

the desire of Mrs. Macdonald, gave her a rela-

tion of the prince's adventures, in as far as

she had been personally concerned. When

she finished her recital, Mrs. Macdonald asked

her what had become of the boatmen who

brought the prince and her to Skye. Miss

Macdonald answered, that they had been sent

directly back to South Uist. Mrs. Macdonald

observed that it was wrong to have sent the

boat back immediately, as in case of capture on

their return, the boatmen might disclose the

business which brought them to Skye, and the

prince's pursuers might in consequence over-

take him before he could leave that island.

Mrs. Macdonald was right in her conjecture;

for the boatmen were seized on their return to

South Uist, and being threatened with torture,

and ultimately with death, revealed all they

knew, giving even a minute description of the

prince's dress. To lessen the dangers of a

discovery of the prince's route, Flora advised

the prince to change his clothes next day, a

proposal which met with his cordial approba-

tion, as he found the female attire very cum-

brous.

The luxury of a good bed had not been en-

joyed by Charles for many weeks. Three, or

at most four, hours' sleep was all he had gen-

erally been accustomed to during his wander-

ings; but, on the present occasion he slept ten

hours without interruption, and might have

added a few more to the number, had he not

been wakened by Kingsburgh, who was pre-

vailed upon by Miss Macdonald, contrary to his

own inclination, to rouse the prince. In talking
of Charles's intended departure, Kingsburgh,

acting upon Flora's suggestion, urged upon the

prince the propriety of changing his dress, lest

8 " Donald Macleod said the prince used to smoke a

great deal of tobacco ; and as in his wanderings from
place to place the pipes behoved to break and turn
into short cutties, he used to take quills, and putting
one into another, 'and all,' said Donald, 'into the end
of the cutty, this served to make it long enough, and
the tobacco to smoke cool.

'

Donald added, that he
never knew, in all his life, any one better at finding
out a shift than the prince was, when he happened to
be at a pinch, and that the prince would sometimes
sing them a song to keep up their hearts. "Jacobite
Mennoirs, p. 401.

the circumstance of his being in female attire

might transpire, and Kingsburgh offered him

a Highland dress of his own. Charles at once

assented to the proposal; but, to prevent sus-

picion among the servants, and to keep them

in ignorance of the nature and description of

the new dress in which Charles was to travel,

it was arranged that he should leave the house

in the same dress he entered it, and, when out

of reach of observation, assume that offered to

him by his kind entertainer.

Having dressed himself, the ladies went into

his chamber to pin his cap, put on his apron,

and adjust the other parts of his dress. Before

Miss Macdonald put on the cap, Mrs. Macdon-

ald requested her, in Gaelic, to ask Charles for

a lock of his hair. Flora declined, desiring

her, at the same time, to make the application

herself to his Royal Highness. The prince,

though unable to comprehend what they were

saying, clearly perceived that they were disput-

ing about something, and, desiring to know
the subject of altercation, was informed thereof

by Mrs. Macdonald. Charles then told her

that her request was granted, and laying down

his head upon Flora's lap, he desired her to

cut off a lock. She complied, and divided the

destined relic between them. Before leaving

the house Kingsburgh thought there was an

article of dress that Charles might instantly

change without much risk. This was his shoes,

which were so much worn that his toes pro-

truded through them. He, therefore, presented

a new pair of his own to his Royal Highness,

and, taking up the out-worn brogues, said to

Charles,
" I will faithfully keep them till you

are safely in St. James's; I will introduce my-
self by shaking them at you, to put you in

mind of your night's entertainment and protec-

tion under my roof." The prince, amused

with the quaintness of the idea, could not re-
*

frain from smiling, and, to humour the joke,

enjoined his host to keep his promise. Kings-

burgh kept the shoes as long as he lived, and

after his death they were purchased by a zealous

Jacobite gentleman, who gave twenty guineas

for them. 9

On being dressed, the prince partook of

breakfast, and having taken a kind leave of

" Boswi-ll's Tour.
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Mrs. Macdonald, left Kingsburgh house for

Portree, where it had been concerted he should

embark for the island of Raasay. He was ac-

companied by Miss Flora and Kingsburgh, who
carried under his arm the suit of clothes de-

signed for the prince. When Charles left the

house, Mrs. Macdonald went up stairs to the

room in which he had slept, and, folding the

sheets in which he had lain, put them carefully

aside, declaring that henceforth they should

never again be washed or used till her death,

when they should serve her as a winding sheet;

to which use they were accordingly applied, in

fulfilment of injunctions she delivered before

her death. l After walking a short distance

from the house, Charles and Kingsburgh entered

a wood, where the prince threw off his female

attire, and put on the clothes which his good
friend had provided. These consisted of a

tartan short coat and waistcoat, with philibeg
and short hose, a plaid, and a wig and bonnet.

When Charles had shifted, he embraced Kings-

burgh, and thanked him for his valuable ser-

vices, which he assured him he would never

forget. Charles, conducted by a guide, then

set out on foot across the hills, and Miss Mac-

donald took another and a shorter way on

horseback, to obtain intelligence, and prevent
a discovery.

In consequence of the resolution to proceed
to Raasay, Donald Roy had been despatched
from Mugstot by Kingsburgh the preceding

day, in quest of John Macleod, the young laird

of Raasay, to ascertain from him the place of his

father's concealment, in order to communicate

to the latter Charles's design of placing himself

under his protection. When it is considered,

that Macleod, the laird of Raasay, was himself

a fugitive for the part he had taken in the in-

surrection, such a design may appear singular;

but the prince had only a choice of difficulties

before him, and the little island of Raasay,
which was then clear of troops, appeared to

1 When Dr. Johnson visited Kingsburgh, in com-
pany with Mr. Boswell, in 1774, he slept in the same
bed that Charles had occupied twenty-eight years be-
fore. "To see (says Boswell) Dr. Samuel Johnson in
that bed, in the isle of Skye, in the house of Miss
Flora Macdonald, struck rne with such a group of ideas,
as it is not easy for words to describe, as they passed
through the mind. He smiled and said,

'
I have had

no ambitious thoughts in it.'" Tour to the Hebrides.

offer the securest retreat. Donald Roy met

young Raasay at Portree, who informed him
that his father was skulking in Knoydart; but

offered to send an express for him, being certain

his father would run any risk to serve the

prince in his distress. Donald Roy then pro-

posed that he should conduct Charles to the

mainland, to the place where old Raasay was;
but young Raasay said that such a step would
be too dangerous at that time, and that it would
be better to conceal the prince in the isle of

Raasay till his father should be informed of

Charles's intention to put himself under his

protection. As they could not trust a Portree

crew, the difficulty of transporting the prince
to Raasay, without observation, occurred. Dr.

Murdoch Macleod, a brother of young Raasay,
who had been wounded at the battle of Cullo-

den, being informed of this dilemma, said he

would risk his life once more for the prince,
and it having occurred to him that there was a

little boat upon a fresh water lake in the

neighbourhood, the two brothers, with the aid

of some women, by extraordinary exertions,

brought the boat to sea, over a Highland mile

of land, one half of which was bog, and the

other a steep precipice. The two brothers,

with the assistance of a little boy, rowed the

boat, which was very old and leaky, to Raasay.
Malcolm Macleod, young Raasay's cousin,

who will be frequently mentioned in the sequel,

was then in the island. He had been a captain
in the prince's service, and was considered by
his cousin a proper person to accompany them
on their expedition. They accordingly waited

on Malcolm, who offered to provide a boat; but

he proposed, that as his cousin, young Raasay,
had not been engaged in the insurrection, he

should not run any risk by holding com-

munication with the prince, more particularly

as Charles could be brought over without his

assistance. Young Raasay declared his resolu-

tion to see the prince, if the result should be

the loss both of his estate and his head;
and Malcolm, seeing that any farther attempt
to dissuade him would be fruitless, exclaimed,
" In God's name then let us proceed." Malcolm

Macleod pitched upon two strong men, named
John Mackenzie and Donald Macfriar, to row
the boat; but, when they came to the beach,

they declined to leave the shore till informed
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of their destination. They were then sworn

to secrecy, and being told the object of their

voyage, professed the utmost alacrity to go to

sea. The whole party accordingly set off from

Raasay on Monday evening, the 30th of June,

and landed about half a mile from Portree.

By this time Miss Macdonald had arrived at

the inn, where Donald Roy was in waiting to

receive her and the prince. Leaving young

Raasay and his brother in the boat, Malcolm

Macleod, accompanied by Macfriar, went to-

wards the inn, and in walking from the shore

he observed three persons proceeding in the

direction of the inn, who happened to be the

prince, Neil Mac Eachan, and a little boy who

had served as Charles's guide from Kingsburgh.

Donald Roy Macdonald had left the inn

shortly after Miss Macdonald's arrival, for the

purpose of meeting Charles; but, after remain-

ing out about twenty minutes without seeing

him, he returned to the house, afraid lest the

rain, which fell in torrents, might fester a

wound in his foot which he had received at

the battle of Culloden, and which was still

open. He had scarcely entered the inn, when

Macnab, the landlord, informed him that a

boy wanted to see him. The boy, whose name
was Macqueen, having informed Donald Roy
that a gentleman who was waiting a little above

the house wished to speak with him, he went

out and met the prince, who caught him in his

arms. Donald then conducted him into the

inn. Charles was wet to the skin, and the

water poured down from his clothes. The
first thing he asked for was a dram, on taking
which he proceeded to shift himself. He put
on a dry shirt; but before he had replaced the

other habiliments which he had thrown off, a

supply of roasted fish, bread, cheese, aad butter

was brought into the room, which the prince
attacked with such avidity that Donald Roy
could not help smiling; and being observed by
the prince, he remarked that he believed the

prince was following the English fashion.
" What fashion do you mean?" said the prince.
"
Why," replied Donald Roy,

"
they say the

English, when they are to eat heartily, throw
off their clothes." The prince smiling, said,
"
They are in the right, lest anything should

incommode their hands when they are at work."

Asking for some drink, Charles was told that

there were no liquids of any sort in the hous;)

but whisky and water, not even milk, of which

he had desired a little. The only substitute

in the room for a tumbler or jug was a dirty-

looking bucket, which the landlord used for

throwing the water out of his boat, and the

mouth of which was broken and rough from

the frequent use to which it had been thus

applied. Donald Roy, who had previously

quaffed out of the bucket, handed it to Charles,

who took it out of his hand, and after looking

at it, stared Donald in the face. As the land-

lord was in the room, Donald was afraid that,

from the shyness of Charles to drink out of a

dish to which no objection perhaps had ever

before been stated, he might think he had a

visitor of distinction in his house, and he there-

fore went up to 'Charles, and in a gentle whisper
desired him to drink out of the obnoxious

vessel without ceremony. Charles taking the

hint, put the pail to his head, and took a

hearty draught of water. -

Malcolm Macleod, on being informed of the

prince's arrival at the inn, had returned to the

boat, and with his cousins waited anxiously for

the prince. On the landlord of the inn leaving
the room, Donald Roy, who had grown impa-
tient to get away, urged the prince to depart;

but Charles showed no inclination to leave the

inn, and even proposed to remain there all

night, as the rain was still heavy. Donald

told him that as the house he was in was fre-

quented by all kinds of people, he would incur

danger by remaining; for the very appearance
of a stranger would excite speculation among
the country people, who were always desirous

to know who the persons were that came

among them. Charles assented to the correct-

ness of Donald's observations, but called for

some tobacco that he might smoke a pipe before

his departure. There being no tobacco in the

house but roll or pigtail, Charles said it would

answer very well; and the landlord, at the re-

quest of Donald Roy, brought in a quarter of

a pound in the scales in which it had been

weighed. The price was fourpence halfpenny,
and Charles gave the landlord a sixpence.

Donald Roy desired him to bring in the differ-

ence. The prince smiled, and on the change

"
Donald Hoy's Narrative among the Forbes Papers.
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being brought he refused to receive it. Donald,

however, insisted that he should take the three

halfpence, because he considered that in his

present situation he might find " bawbees
"

very useful. 3

When about to leave the inn, Charles soli-

cited Donald Roy to accompany him to Raasay,

observing that he had always found himself

safe in the hands of the Macdonalds, and that

as long as he had a Macdonald with him he

would still think himself safe. This faithful

attendant, whilst he stated his inclination to

serve the prince in his distress, represented to

him the impossibility of following him from

place to place, in consequence of the wound in

his left foot, which rendered him incapable of

enduring fatigue; and that as ae would be

obliged from his lameness to travel occasionally

on horseback, his presence would only endanger
the safety of the prince. He agreed, however,

to meet Charles in Raasay in a few days, and

stated that, in the mean time, he would remain

in Skye, and collect for the future guidance of

the prince such information as he could, in

relation to the movements and plans of his

pursuers.

Before leaving Portree Charles had a most

painful task to perform, that of parting with

the amiable and high-minded young woman,

who, during three eventful days, had with

generous sympathy, and at the imminent hazard

of her own life, watched over him with the

tenderest solicitude and affection, and rescued

him from the many perils with which he had

been environed. He repaid Miss Flora a small

sum of money he had borrowed from her, and,

presenting her with his own portrait in minia-

ture, saluted her. He then returned her his

sincere thanks for the great assistance she had

afforded him, and taking leave, expressed a

hope that, notwithstanding the present unfa-

vourable aspect of his affairs, he should yet meet

her in St. James's. He also took farewell of

Neil Mac Eachan, who certainly at that time

had no expectation that he was to be one of

those who were afterwards to accompany the

prince to France.

Charles had brought along with him from

Kingsburgh, four shirts, a cold fowl, some

3 Donald Roy's Narrative.

sugar, and a bottle of brandy. To this small

stock he added at Portree a bottle of usque-

baugh. He tied this bottle to his belt at one

side, and at the other the bottle of brandy, and

the shirts and cold fowl which were put up in

a handkerchief. Thus provided, Charles left

the inn, accompanied by Donald Roy, on the

morning of the 1st of July, while it was yet

dark. The landlord, surprised perhaps at the

early departure of his guests, cast a look after

them as they went out at the door, which

being observed by Charles's conductor, he

led tlio prince off in a direction opposite to

that they had to go, till out of view of the

landlord, and then making a circle they went

down towards the shore, and in their way met

Malcolm Macleod, who conducted the prince

to the boat. He then took leave of Donald

Roy, whom he enjoined not to mention the

place of his destination to- any person, not

even to his fair protectress. Donald returned

to the inn, and was immediately accosted by
his host, who expressed a strong desire to

know the name of the gentleman who had left

his house. Donald told him, with apparent

unconcern, that the stranger who had gone

away was Sir John Macdonald, an Irish gentle-

man, and a brother rebel, who, having got free

of his enemies, had been skulking among his

friends, the Macdonalds of Skye ; and that,

tired of remaining in one place, and afraid of

being discovered in the island, he had set out

for the mainland to seek an asylum among the

other Macdonalds. The landlord, whom he

enjoined to secrecy, apparently satisfied with

this explanation, said that he was strongly

impressed with an idea that the gentleman was

the prince in disguise, as he observed some-

thing about him that looked very noble. 4

Portree, a small bay opposite the island of

Raasay, from which Charles was about to de-

part, had derived its name, which signifies the

King's Port, from the circumstance of King
James the Fifth having landed there during his

excursion amongst the western islands. Charles

left this creek after midnight, under the protec-

tion of the enthusiastic young laird of Raasay,
to whom Malcolm Macleod introduced liin.

when he entered the boat. As the two boat

Macleod's No.rralivc.

4 T
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men had served in the prince's army, the whole

party, with the exception of young Eaasay him-

self, were under the ban of the government,

and the young laird, whose only motive in

not joining the insurrection was probably a

desire to save the estate, now fearlessly put his

life and fortune in jeopardy, when the risk

was even greater.

Charles slept a little upon the passage, and

reached Eaasay about day-break, a few hours

after his departure from Portree. The party

landed at a place called Glam, about the dis-

tance of ten miles from that haven. Charles,

Malcolm, and Murdoch Macleod took up their

abode in a wretched hut which some shepherds

had lately erected. They had no bedding of

any sort, and were obliged to repose upon some

heath. On entering the hut they kindled a

fire and partook of some provisions. On this,

as on other occasions, Charles, to please the

Highlanders, nevertasted wheat-bread or brandy
while oat-bread and whisky lasted, for, he

observed, that these last were his "own country
bread and drink." Young Eaasay had nothing
to dread from his own people ; and, lest the

military might revisit the island, he placed
the two boatmen upon different eminences to

watch their approach. He visited Charles and

his friends occasionally, and always carried

provisions along with him. Though compara-

tively secure, Charles was very uneasy in his

new retreat
;
and frequent starts and exclama-

tions in his slumbers indicated the agitated

workings of his mind. Malcolm Macleod
often overheard him in his sleep muttering

imperfect sentences, in Italian, French, and

English. One of his expressions in English
was,

" God I poor Scotland !

" 5

During Charles's stay in Eaasay, no person
visited the island, but he and his friends were

kept in a state of uneasiness by a person who
prowled about without any apparent business,
and who had come into the island to sell a roll

of tobacco. He had arrived about twelve or

fourteen days before Charles. Having disposed
of his merchandise very speedily, it was ex-

pected that he would have departed, but con-

tinuing to stroll up and down the island in an
idle way, he was suspected to be a spy. Mal-

5
T.oswell's Tour.

colm Macleod happening to see him approach-

ing the hut one day, a council of war was held

by Charles and his friends. The three Mac-
leods were for putting the poor tobacco vender

to death, and Malcolm Macleod offered to go
out immediately and shoot him through the

head
;
but Charles indignantly reprobated the

inhuman proposal
" God forbid (said he)

that we should take away a man's life who

may be innocent, while we can preserve our

own." John Mackenzie, who sat as sentinel

at the door, overhearing the debate, said to

himself in Gaelic,
"
Well, well : he must be

shot : you are the king, but we are the parlia-

ment, and will do what we choose." Observ-

ing his friends smile, Charles asked what John
had said

;
and being told the man's observation

in English, the' prince observed that he was a

clever fellow; and, notwithstanding his perilous

situation, laughed loud and heartily.
6 Not-

withstanding Charles's remonstrances, the

stranger would have been despatched had he
entered the hut, but luckily he walked past
without looking into it. It was afterwards

ascertained that the stranger himself was a

fugitive from the, Highland army.
7 While

Charles resided in this hut, he and his com-

panions indulged in a great deal of conversa-

tion. Alluding to passing events and his pre-
sent situation, the prince observed that his

life was to be sure a very hard one
; but that

he would rather live in the way he then did

for ten years, than fall into the hands of his

enemies, not because he believed they would
dare to take away his life publicly, but because

he dreaded being poisoned or assassinated.

He was very particular in his inquiries at Dr.

Macleod about the wound he had received at

6 "John Mackenzie is alive (in 1774); I saw him
at Raasay's house. About eighteen years ago he hurt
one of his legs when dancing, and being obliged to
have it cut off, he now was going about with a wooden
leg. The story of his being a Member of Parliament
is not yet forgotten. I took him out a little way from
the house, gave him a shilling to drink Raasay's health,
and led him into a detail of the particulars which I

have just related. With less foundation, some writers
have traced the idea of a Parliament, and of the British
Constitution in rude and early times. I was curious
to know if he had really heard or understood any
thing of that subject, which, had he been a greater
7Tian, would probably have been eagerly maintained.
'

Why, John,' said I, 'did you think he should be con-
trolled by a Parliament ?

' He answered,
'

I thought,
Sir, there were many voices against one.'

"
Boswell.

7
Idem, p. 227. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 270.
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Culloden, from, a ball which entered at one

shoulder and went across to the other. He
threw out some reflections upon the conduct of

some of his officers at Culloden, but confessed

that perhaps it was rash in him to do so.

Talking of the different Highland corps, the

Macleods asked Charles which, in his opinion,

were the best soldiers
;
but he evaded a direct

answer, said he did not Iik5 comparisons among
such corps ;

and that they were all best. 8

Charles resided two days in Eaasay, when

becoming uneasy, and thinking the island too

narrow and confined for the purpose of con-

cealment, he resolved to depart. Understanding
that he expected a French ship at Lochbroom,

Malcolm Macleod offered to carry him thither,

but Charles declined the proposal on account of

the danger of the voyage in a small boat. He

expressed a wish to go to Trotternish in Skye,

but his friends attempted to dissuade him, as

they considered him safer in Raasay. Persist-

ing however in going, the whole party, includ-

ing the two boatmen, left Eaasay on the evening
of the 2d of July, in the same boat which

they had used to carry them into the island.

After they had gone a little off the shore the

wind began to blow hard, and soon increased

to a gale. The sea became so very rough,

that the waves broke over the boat and almost

tilled it with water. All on board begged the

prince to return, but he declined, observing,

that as Providence had carried him through so

many dangers, he did not doubt of the same

care now as before. About eleven o'clock at

night they landed at a place in Skye, called

Nicolson's rock, near Scorobreck in Trotter-

nish, after a very boisterous voyage of about

fifteen miles. There was a large surf on the

shore, and there being no convenient landing

place, they had to jump out among the water.

Charles was the third man who leapt into the

sea. Standing in the surf, the whole party,

including Charles, laid hold of the. boat and

drew it up on dry ground.

On this desolate coast, the royal wanderer

could find no other resting-place than a cow-

house, belonging to Mr. Nicolson of Scoro-

breck, about two miles from that gentleman's

seat. The party entered this wretched hovel

8 Boswell's Tour.

and took a little refreshment of oat cakes,

which had mouldered down into very small

crumbs, and some cheese. Charles being wet

to the skin, Malcolm Macleod advised him to

put on a dry shirt. This he declined, and

continued to sit in his wet clothes. Overcome

with fatigue he fell asleep; but he enjoyed
little sound repose. He would frequently

start in his sleep, look briskly up, and stare

boldly around him, as if about to fight the

persons around him. " Oh poor England !

poor England !" were the exclamations he

would sometimes utter, with a deep sigh,

during these disturbed moments.

In all his wanderings it was the constant

practice of Charles to conceal his future move-

ments from every person with whose services

he was about to dispense, so as to prevent any
clue to his discovery. "Wishing to get quit of

young Eaasay and his brother, he despatched
the former to look out for Donald Eoy, and he

desired the latter to go to a place called Cam-

mistinawag, where he would meet him. Mur-

doch Macleod and the two boatmen then took

leave. At parting he presented Murdoch

with a case, containing a silver spoon, knife,

and fork, which he requested him to keep till

they met.

The prince and Malcolm Macleod remained

in the hut till seven o'clock in the morning,
when Charles, taking the little baggage in his

hand, walked out, and desired Malcolm to fol-

low him. Macleod took the bundle out of

Charles's hand, and followed him in silence

till out of sight of the cow-house, when Charles

taking a direction Malcolm did not like, this

faithful adherent went up to him and asked

him where he was going, as he was afraid that

he might fall into the hands of one of the

numerous military parties, who were dispersed

over the island.
"
Why, Macleod, (replied

Charles,) I now throw myself entirely into

your hands, and leave you to do with me
what you please ; only I want to go to Strath,

Mackinnon's country. I hope you Avill ac-

company me, if you think you can lead me safe

enough into Strath." Malcolm declared that

he would go with his royal highness wherever

he pleased, and offered to bring him safe into

that part of Skye which belonged to the chief

of Mackinnon, provided he would consent to
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go by sea; but Macleod objected to a journey

over land which he considered would be at-

tended with dangers from the soldiers. Charles,

however, insisted on going by land, and ob-

served that they could now do nothing with-

out danger. The better to prevent a discovery,

Charles proposed that he should act the part

of Macleod's servant, and that he should as-

sume the name of Lewis Caw, there being at

the time a young surgeon of that name, who

had been in the prince's service, skulking in

Skye, where he had some relations. Observ-

ing that his scarlet tartan waistcoat with gold

twist buttons, was finer than that worn by

Macleod, which was of plain ordinary tartan,

Charles exchanged it for Macleod's. Then

taking the bag which contained his linen out

of Malcolm's hands, Charles threw it over his

shoulder, and set out on his perilous journey,

preceded by the faithful Malcolm, who, to

complete the deception, had proposed that

Charles should keep up his new character of a

gilly, or footman, by walking in the rear.

Strath, the country of the Mackinnons, was

at a considerable distance, and the route to it

which these two travellers took lay through
one of the wildest and most mountainous dis-

tricts of the island. Though a good pedes-

trian, Malcolm could scarcely keep his dis-

tance ahead of Charles, whose locomotive

powers were surprising, there being few persons
who could match him at walking. Alluding
to his celerity of foot, he told Malcolm that

provided he got out of musket-shot, he had no

dread of a pursuit by English soldiers, but he

had not the same confidence if chased by a

party of Highland militia. He asked Mal-

colm what they would do in the event of

meeting any person among the mountains,
who might attempt to kill or take them.
" That depends upon their numbers," replied
Malcolm

;

"
if there should be no more than

four of them, I'll engage to manage two."
" And I," rejoined Charles,

"
will engage to

manage the other two." Malcolm, in his

turn, asked Charles what they should do if

attacked by a party of English soldiers,
"
Fight,

to be sure," was the reply.

As Malcolm expected that they would fall

in with some of the country people before they
came to the end of their journey, by whom,

from his being well known in the island, he

might be recognised, he desired Charles not to

evince any anxiety when he (Malcolm) should

speak to them, but remove to a short distance

and sit down till the conversation ended. They
met a few of these people from time to time,

on which occasion Charles not only observed

the injunction of Malcolm, but superadded
the customary menial duty, of touching his

bonnet when addressed by his supposed mas-

ter. With the exception of a bottle of brandy,
the two travellers appear to have had no other

sustenance during their long and fatiguing

journey. When reduced to a single glass,

Charles urged Malcolm to take it, lest he

should faint with the excessive fatigue. Mal-

colm refused, and insisted that the prince him-

self should drink it, but Charles resolutely

refused, and compelled Malcolm to drain the

bottle. Malcolm then hid the bottle in a

thick bush of heath, where he found it about

three years thereafter. Honest Macleod long

preserved it "as a curious piece," which he

expected would one day make a figure in

Westminster. 9

When opportunity offered, the prince and

Malcolm relieved the tediousness of the jour-

ney, by conversing on a variety of topics.

The conversation happening to turn upon Lord

George Murray, Charles observed that his

lordship, whether from ignorance or with a

view to betray him, he would not say, miscon-

ducted himself in not obeying orders, and that

in particular, for two or three days before the

battle of Culloden, Lord George scarcely did

anything he desired him to do. When Mal-

colm told him of the many atrocities committed

after that battle, he appeared amazed, and

said,
"
Surely that man who calls himself the

duke, and pretends to be so great a general,

cannot be guilty of such cruelties. I cannot

believe it." Talking of the fatigues he was

obliged to undergo, the prince said,
" Do you

not think, Macleod, that God Almighty has

made this person of mine for doing some good

yet? When I was in Italy, and dining at the

king's (his father's) table, very often the sweat

would have been coming through my coat

with the heat of the climate, and now that 1

9 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 478.
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am in a cold country, where the climate is

more trying, and exposed to different kinds of

fatigues, I really find I agree equally with

both. I have had (pointing to his kilt) this

philibeg on now for some days, and I find I

do as well with it as any of the best breeches

I ever put on. I hope in God, Macleod, to

walk the streets of London with it yet."
1 A

man holding such sentiments as these was not

likely to be easily discouraged.

When approaching Mackinnon's bounds,

Malcolm stated to the prince his apprehen-

sions, that, disgiiised as he was, he was afraid

he would still be recognised by some of Mac-

kinnon's people, who had been out in his ser-

vice. He, therefore, suggested that Charles

should disguise himself still further. The

prince then proposed to blacken his face with

powder; but Macleod objected to this plan,

which, he said, would tend rather to discover

than to conceal him. "
Then," observed

Charles,
" I must be put into the greatest dis-

habille possible ;" and pulling off his wig, and

putting it into his pocket, took out a dirty

white napkin, which Malcolm, at his desire,

tied about his head close to his eyebrows. He
then put off his bonnet, tore the ruffles from

his shirt, and took the buckles out of his

shoes, and made Macleod fasten them with

strings. Charles now asked his friend if he

thought he would still be recognised, and on

Malcolm answering that he thought he would,

Charles said,
" I have so odd a face, that no

man that ever saw me once but would know
me again." In Malcolm's opinion, Charles,

though almost a Proteus, could never disguise

his majestic mien and carriage ;
and he declared

that there was not a person who knew what

the air of a noble or great man was, that would

not, upon seeing the prince, however disguised

he might be, at once perceive something about

him that was not ordinary, something of the

stately and grand.
2

They had not gone far after this conversa-

tion, when Malcolm Macleod's opinion was

verified, for no sooner had the travellers entered

Strath, than Charles was recognised by two

men of Mackinnon's clan, who had been out

in the insurrection. They stared at the prince

1 Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 477-8.
" Idem. p. 480.

for a little, and on discovering him, lifted up
their hands and wept bitterly. Malcolm begged
that they would compose themselves, lest by

showing so much concern they might discover

the prince. After cautioning them not to men-

tion the meeting to any one, he swore them to

secrecy upon his naked dirk, and then dis-

missed them. They kept their word.

Being within two miles of the laird of Mac-

kinnon's house, Malcolm asked him if he

wished to see the old chief
;

"
No," said Charles,

"
by no means. I know Mackinnon to be as

good and as honest a man as any in the world
;

but he is not fit for my purpose at present.

You must conduct me to some other house,

but let it be a gentleman's house." They then

proceeded, at Malcolm's suggestion, to a place

called Ellagol, or rather Ellighiul, near Kil-

vory or Kilmaree, where they arrived in the

morning after a journey of twenty-four High-
land miles, being upwards of thirty English
miles. At Ellagol there lived one John Mac-

kinnon, who had served as captain under the

laird of Mackinnon, and had married a sister

of Malcolm. Being desirous to ascertain the

state of matters in the neighbourhood before

conducting Charles into the house of his brother-

in-law, Malcolm left the prince at a little dis-

tance from the house, and went forward to

make the necessary inquiries. He found that

Mackinnon was from home
;
and on informing

his sister that he had come to stay a short time

at Ellagol, if he could do so with safety, she

assured him that he would be perfectly safe,

as there were no military people about the

place, and that he was very welcome. Mal-

colm then told her that he had nobody along
with him but one Lewis Caw, son of Mr. Caw,
a surgeon in Crieff, whom, being a fugitive like

himself, he had engaged as his servant, but

that he had fallen sick. Mrs. Mackinnon felt

interested in the stranger, and requested her

brother to bring him in.

Charles accordingly entered with the baggage
on his back, and, taking off his bonnet, made
a low bow, and sat down at a distance from

Malcolm. Mrs. Mackinnon looked at the

prince, and instantly her sympathy was excited.

"Poor man!" she exclaimed, "I pity him.

At the same time, my heart warms to a man
of his appearance." Malcolm having told his
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sister that lie was almost famishing with hun-

ger, she set before him a plentiful Highland

breakfast. Charles still sitting at a respectful

distance, Malcolm invited him, as there were no

strangers in the house, to draw near and share

with him, there being abundance for both.

Charles appeared very backward to obey the

summons to eat, and said that though in an

humble station, he knew better how to conduct

himself, than by sitting at the same table with

his master ;
but Malcolm pretended to insist

upon compliance, Charles rose from his seat,

made a profound bow, and advancing towards

the table, sat down, and attacked the viands

without farther ceremony.

In the course of their journey, Charles and

his companion had fallen into a bog during

the night, and as their feet and legs were still

dirty, Malcolm desired the servant-maid in

Gaelic, as she could not speak English, to

bring some water into the room, and as he was

much fatigued, to wash them. Whilst in the

act of washing Macleod's feet, he said to the

girl,
" You see that poor sick man there. I

hope you'll wash his feet too : it will be a great

charity; for he has as much need as I have."
" No such thing," said she,

"
although I wash

the master's feet, I am not obliged to wash the

servant's. What ! he's but a low country
woman's son. I will not wash his feet indeed."

Malcolm, however, with much entreaty, pre-

vailed upon the girl to wash Charles's feet and

legs ; but being rather rough in her treatment,

he implored Malcolm to desire her not to rub

so hard. 3

After this operation the wearied travellers

went to bed
; and at the desire of Malcolm,

Mrs. Mackinnon went out of the house, and
sat down upon a neighbouring knoll, where
she kept watch, whilst her guests remained in

bed. Charles, who had thrown himself upon
the bed in his clothes, slept two hours only ;

3 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 482. Boswell, in his Tour,
gives a different version of this story. "After this

(breakfast) there came in an old woman, who, after
the mode of ancient hospitality, brought warm water
and washed Malcolm's feet. He desired her to wash
the feet of the poor man who attended him. She
at first seemed averse to this from pride, as thinkinghim beneath her, and in the periphrastic language of
the Highlanders and the Irish, said warmly, 'Though
I wash your father's son's feet, why should I wash
Ins father's son's feet ?' She was, however, persuaded
to do it."

but Malcolm slept much longer. When Mal-

colm awoke, he was surprised to find Charles

out of bed dandling Mrs. Mackinnon's child,

singing to it, and appearing as alert as if he

had been in bed all night. He expressed a

hope that the little boy Neil Mackinnon

whom he carried in his arms, would be one day
a captain in his service.

Informed that his brother-in-law was seen

approaching the house, Malcolm went out to

meet him. After the usual salutations, Mal-

colm, pointing to some ships of war that were

hovering about the coast, said to Mackinnon,
"What if the prince be on board one of them 1

?"

"God forbid," replied Mackinnon, "I would

not wish that for anything."
"
What," said

Malcolm,
"

if he were here, John ? Do you
think he would be safe enough 1" "I wish

we had him here," rejoined Mackinnon,
" for

he would be safe enough." Macleod, now fully

assured that his brother-in-law might be con-

fided in, said,
"
Well, then, he is now in your

house." Mackinnon, transported with joy,

was for running directly in and paying his

obeisance to the prince ;
but Malcolm stopped

him for a little, till he should recover from his

surprise.
" When you go in," continued Mal-

colm,
"
you must not take any notice of him,

lest the servants or others observe you. He

passes for one Lewis Caw, my servant.." Mac-

kinnon promised to observe faithfully the in-

junction given him, which he thought he

would be able to fulfil; but, as soon as he

entered the house, he could not avoid fixing

his eyes upon Charles; and unable to repress

his feelings at the spectacle he beheld, this

generous and faithful Highlander, turning his

face aside, burst into tears. To prevent sus-

picion, Mackinnon, at Malcolm's desire, left

the room to compose himself.

Before being introduced to the prince, Mac-

kinnon sent away all his servants from the

house on different messages, and, during their

absence, a consultation was held as to Charles's

future destination. It was then resolved that

he should proceed to the mainland immedi-

ately ; and John Mackinnon was directed to

go and hire a boat, as if for the sole use of his

brother-in-law. As the laird of Mackinnon

was old and infirm, and could be of little ser-

vice to Charles in his present situation, Mac-
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kinnon was enjoined not to say anything

about Charles to his chief, should he fall in

with him. Meeting the old chieftain, how-

ever, on his way, Mackinnon, unable or un-

willing to conceal the fact of the prince's ar-

rival at Ellagol, disclosed the secret, and

mentioned that he was going to hire a boat to

carry Charles to the mainland. Gratified with

the intelligence, the chief desired his clansman

not to give himself any further trouble about

a boat, as he would provide a good one him-

self, and would wait upon the prince imme-

diately. John returned to Ellagol, and having

informed Charles of the interview with the

laird, the latter said that he was sorry that

Mackinnon had divulged the secret; but as

there was now no help for it, he would com-

port himself according to circumstances. In a

short time the aged chief appeared, and after

doing homage to the royal wanderer, conducted

the prince to a neighbouring cave, where he

found Lady Mackinnon, who had laid out a

refreshment of cold meat and wine, of which

the whole party partook.

Before the arrival of the chief, Malcolm

Macleod had represented to the prince, that,

being within the laird's bounds, it would be

necessary to allow him to direct everything in

relation to the voyage, and, to prevent a dif-

ference of opinion arising between him and the

chief, he suggested the propriety of remaining

behind. Charles, extremely unwilling to part

with one who had rendered him such impor-

tant services, insisted upon his going along

with him to the mainland
;
but Malcolm in-

sisting on the other hand that the measure

was proper, Charles, with much reluctance,

consented to part with the faithful Macleod.

About eight o'clock at night the party left

the cave, and proceeded towards the place

where the boat lay. In their way they ob-

served two English men-of-war standing in for

the island, before the wind, under a press of

sail. Malcolm thereupon entreated the prince

to defer his voyage till such time, at least, as

these vessels should take another course, more

particularly as the wind was against him
;
but

Charles disregarded the admonition, and ob-

served, that after so many escapes, he had no

apprehensions of being caught at that time; that

Providence would still take care of him; and

that he had no doubt of obtaining a favourable

wind immediately. Recollecting his sham ap-

pointment with Murdoch Macleod, for not

keeping which Malcolm promised to make his

apology, Charles thought the least thing he

could do was to notify his departure, which he

accordingly did, by writing him a short note,

delivering it to Malcolm. 4 He then desired

Malcolm to light his pipe, as he wished to en-

joy a smoke with him before parting. Snap-

ping his gun, Malcolm, by means of the flash

in the pan, lighted some tow which he held at

the mouth of the pipe whilst Charles blew it.

As the pipe was extremely short, Charles's

cheek was scorched with the blaze of the tow.

At parting, Charles presented him with a sil-

ver stock-buckle, and then embracing Malcolm

in his arms, saluted him twice, and begging

God to bless him, put ten guineas into his

hand. Malcolm at first positively refused to

accept the money, as he perceived that the

prince's purse was much exhausted ;
but

Charles insisted upon his taking it, and assur-

ing him that he would get enough for all his

wants upon the mainland, Malcolm yielded.

Having procured a better pipe, Charles pre-

sented the one with which he had been smok-

ing to Malcolm, who preserved it with great

care.
5

Between eight and nine o'clock in the even-

ing of Friday, the 4th of July, the prince de-

1 The following is a copy of the note :

"
SIR, I thank God I am in good health, and

have got off as designed. Remember me to all friends,

and thank them for the trouble they have been at.

I am, Sir, your humble servant.
" JAMES THOMSON."

"
ELLIQHIUL, July ith, 1746.''

5 This 'cutty,' as a small tobacco-pipe, almost worn

to the stump, is called in Scotland, was presented by
Malcolm, when at London, to Dr. Burton of York, a

fellow-prisoner, who got a fine shagreen case made
for it. Jacobite Memoirs, p. 487. Mr. Boswell gives

the following sketch of this worthy Highlander in hi<

Tour to the Hebrides: "He was now_(1774) sixty-

two years of age, hale and well proportioned, with a

manly countenance, tanned by the weather, yet hav-

ing a ruddiness in his cheeks, over a great part of

which his rough beard extended. His eye was quick
and lively, yet his look was not fierce

;
but he ap-

peared at once firm and good-humoured. He wore a

pair of brogues, tartan hose which came up nearly to

his knees, a purple camblet kilt, a black waistcoat, a

short green cloth coat bound .with gold cord, a yellow

bushy wig, a large blue bonnet with a gold threal

button. I never saw a figure which gave a more per-

fect representation of a Highland gentleman. .1 wished

much to have a picture of him just as he was. I found

him fraiik anl polite in the true sense of the word."
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parted for the mainland, accompanied by the

chief and John Mackinnon. The observation

of Charles, that he would obtain a fair wind

after putting to sea, had made a deep impres-

sion upon the superstitious mind of the gen-

erous Malcolm, who accordingly sat down

upon the side of a hill to watch the expected

change, which, according to him, took place

very soon, for the crew had not rowed the boat

half a mile from the shore in the direction of

the ships, before the wind chopped about, and

whilst it favoured the prince, drove the men-

of-war out of sight.
1

After a rough voyage, the party reached a

place called Little Mallag or Malleck, on the

south side of Loch Nevis between Morar and

Knoydart, distant about thirty miles from the

place where they had embarked. At sea they

met a boat, containing some armed militia. No

attempt was made to board, and a few words

were exchanged in passing. Charles's visit to

Skye soon became public, and the fact of his

having been harboured and protected by certain

persons in that island could not be disguised.

Malcolm Macleod's connexion with the prince

being reported, he was apprehended a few days

after Charles's departure for the mainland, put
on board a ship, and conveyed to London,
where he remained a prisoner till the 1st of

July, 1747, when he was discharged without

being asked a single question. Kingsburgh
also was taken up and conveyed to Fort Au-

gustus, where, after being plundered of his

shoe-buckles, garters, watch, and money, he

was thrown into a dungeon, and loaded with

irons. He was discharged by mistake for an-

other person of the same name, but was brought
back, and afterwards conveyed to Edinburgh,
and committed to the castle, in which he re-

mained till the 4th of July, in the same year.
Flora Macdonald was also apprehended

about the same time by a party of militia,
while on her way to the house of Donald
Macdonald of Castleton in Skye, who had sent
her notice that Macleod of Talisker, an officer

of an independent company, had requested him
to send for her. She was put on board the
Furnace Bomb, and afterwards removed to

Commodore Smith's floop, and treated with

1 True Journal, p. 17.

, great kindness and attention by him and Gen-

eral Campbell. She was confined a short time

in Dunstaffnage castle. After being conveyed
from place to place, she was put on board the

Eoyal Sovereign, lying at the Nore, on the

28th of November, and carried up to London
on the 6th of December following, where she

remained in confinement till July in the fol-

lowing year, when she was discharged, at the

especial request according to the tradition of

her family of Frederick, Prince of Wales,
father of George III., without a single question

having been put to her. After her liberation,

Miss Macdonald was invited to the house of

Lady Primrose, a zealous Jacobite lady, where

she was visited by a number of distinguished

persons, who loaded her Avith presents. She
and Malcolm Macleod returned to Scotland

together in a post-chaise provided by Lady
Primrose, and, on their way, paid a visit to

Dr. Burton at York, who had been previously
liberated from jail. This gentleman having
asked Malcolm his opinion of the prince, the

trusty Highlander replied, that " he was the

most cautious man he ever saw, not to be a

coward, and the bravest, not to be rash." Few

persons, now-a-days, will be disposed to concur

in this eulogium, for though personally brave,

Charles was extremely rash and inconsiderate. 2

2 The subsequent history of the estimable Flora
Macdonald may be stated in a few words. After her
return to Skye, she married, in 1750, young Mac-
donald of Kingsburgh, whom she accompanied to
North Carolina, America, probably in 1774. Young
Kingsburgh joined the Koyal Highland Emigrant
Regiment, embodied in 1775, but was taken prisoner
in 1776 and committed to Halifax gaol. He after-

wards served with the regiment in Canada, holding
the rank of captain, and, at the close of the war, re-

turned to Scotland on half-pay. The vessel in which
Flora and her husband sailed was attacked by a French

privateer, and while Flora, with characteristic spirit,
stood on deck, animating the seamen, she was thrown
down and had her arm broken. The wanderers, how-
ever, arrived in Skye, and never afterwards left it. Flora
died on the 4th of March 1790, aged 68, andwas interred
in the churchyard of Kilmuir, in a spot set apart for

the graves of the Kingsburgh family. Kingsburgh
died on the 20th September 1795. Flora had seven
children five sons and two daughters; the sons all

became officers in the army, and the daughters officers'

wives. Dr Johnson and Boswell visited Skye in the
autumn of 1773, and were entertained at Kings-
burgh house by Flora and her husband. Flora,
then aged about 51, is described by Johnson as a
woman of middle stature, soft features, gentle manners,
and elegant presence; and by Boswell as "a little

woman, of a genteel appearance, and uncommonly
mild and well-bred." See Carruthers' Edition of Bos-
well's Tour to the Hebrides, p. 143.
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As parties of the military were known to be

stationed at a short distance from the place

where Charles and his party landed, they were

afraid to leave it, and slept three nights in the

open air on the banks of Loch Nevis. On the

fourth day the old laird and one of the boat-

men ventured a little way into the country in

quest of a place of concealment
;

and the

prince, along with John Mackinnon and the

other three boatmen, proceeded up the loch

close to the shore. In turning a point, they

unexpectedly came upon a boat tied to a rock,

and so near as to touch her with their oars.

This boat belonged to a militia party who were

seen standing on the shore, and were at once

recognised by their badge, which was a red

cross on their bonnets. This party immedi-

ately hailed the boat, and demanded to know
whence they came. The boatmen answered

that they were from Sleat. The militiamen

then ordered the boat to come ashore; but the

boatmen continuing to row, the militaryjumped
into their boat and gave chase. Charles, who

lay in the bottom of the boat with John Mac-

kinnon's plaid spread over him, wished to get

up and attempt to escape by jumping ashore,

but Mackinnon would not allow him, as he

considered the experiment very dangerous.

During the pursuit, Charles, who was anxious

to know the relative progress of the two boats,

kept up a conversation with the trusty High-

lander, who assured him from time to time

that the pursuers did not gain upon them.

Both parties were equal in point of numbers;
and as Mackinnon contemplated the possibility

of the militiamen overtaking them, he directed

the boatmen to keep their muskets close by
them, but not to fire till he should give the

word of command by firing first.
" Be sure,

(said John,) to take an aim. Mark well, and

there is no fear. We will be able to manage
these rogues, if we come to engage them."

Charles, begging that no lives might be sacri-

ficed without an absolute necessity, Mackin-

non said he would not fire if it could be avoid-

ed; but if compelled to do so in self-defence,

their own preservation required that none of

the assailants should escape to tell the news of

their disaster. Observing a wood at some dis-

tance which reached down to the water, Mac-

kinnon directed the boatmen to pull in that

direction; and on reaching the shore, the

prince, followed by Mackinnon and one of the

boatmen, sprang out of the boat, and plunging
into the wood, nimbly ascended the hill. The

alarm into which they had been thrown gave

place to feelings of a very different description,

when, on reaching the summit of the hill, they

perceived their pursuers returning from their

fruitless chase. 3

Finding himself much fatigued, Charles

slept three hours on this eminence, and return-

ing down the hill, crossed the loch to a small

island near the seat of Macdonald of Scot-

house. Understanding that old Clanranald

was there on a visit, Charles sent Mackinnon

to solicit his protection, but the old chief

positively refused to receive him. Upon Mac-

kinnon's return the party repassed the loch,

and returned to Mallag, where they rejoined

the old laird. After refreshing themselves,

they set out for the seat of Macdonald of Mo-

rar, about eight miles distant. In crossing the

promontory between Loch Nevis and Loch Mo-

rar they passed a shieling, or cottage, where they

observed some people coming down towards

the road. Afraid that he would be known,

the prince made John Mackinnon fold his

plaid for him, and threw it over his shoulder

with his knapsack upon it. To disguise

himself still further, he tied a handkerchief

about his head. In this attire Charles passed

for Mackimion's servant. A grandson of Mac-

donald of Scothouse, who was at the shieling,

gave the party a draught of milk. At another

shieling they procured another draught; and,

as the night was dark and the road bad, they

took a guide along with them to conduct them

across the ford to Morar's house. When they

came to this ford, an amusing occurrence took

place. Mackinnon, desirous to keep Charles

dry in crossing, desired the guide to be so good

as tiarry
" this poor sick fellow," (pointing to

the prince,) upon his back across the ford, as

it was then pretty deep; but the guide indig-

nantly answered,
" The deil be on the back he

comes, or any fellow of a servant like him; but

I'll take you on my back, Sir, if you please,

and carry you safely through the ford."
"
No,

by no means," said Mackinnon, "if the lad

Jacobite Memoirs, pp. 488-90, 492.

4 U
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must wade, I'll wade along with him, and help

him, lest any harm should happen to him;"

on saying which, he laid hold of Charles's arm,

and they crossed the ford together. Both

Charles and Mackinnon were pleased to find

that the guide had no suspicion that the pre-

tended sick person was the prince.

A little before day-break the party arrived

at the end of their journey, but were disap-

pointed to find that the mansion, where they

expected to meet with a hospitable reception,

had been burnt to the ground, and that its

proprietor had been obliged to take up his

abode in a bothy or hut in the neighbourhood.

Morar, who had acted as lieutenant-colonel of

Clanranald's regiment, gave the prince a hearty

welcome. Having entertained Charles and his

party, he conducted them to a cave for secu-

rity, and went off in quest of young Clan-

ranald, whom the prince was most anxious to

see. After some hours' absence Morar returned,

and, reporting that he could not find Clan-

ranald, Charles told him that as he had failed

in meeting with that young chief, he would

put himself under Morar's charge. According
to Mackinnon's statement, Morar declined to

take such a responsibility upon him, and even

declared that he did not know any person to

whose care he could commit Charles's person.

The prince, stung by the altered demeanour of

Morar, thus accosted him :

" This is very hard.

You were very kind yesternight, Morar ! and

said you could find out a hiding-place, proof

against all the search of the enemy's forces;

and now you say you can do nothing at all for

me ! You can travel to no place but what I

will travel to; no eatables or drinkables can

you take but what I can take a share along
with you, and be well content with them, and
even pay handsomely for them. When fortune

smiled upon me and I had pay to give, I then

found some people ready enough to serve me;
but now that fortune frowns on me, and I

have no pay to give, they forsake me in my
necessity." The chief of Mackinnon and his

clansman were highly indignant at Morar, and
insisted that he must have seen young Clan-

ranald, and that he had been advised to his

present course, but Morar resolutely denied
the charge. Charles in great distress ex-

claimed,
" God Almighty : look down upon

my circumstances, and pity me
;
for I am in

a most melancholy situation. Some of those

who joined me at first, and appeared to be fast

friends, now turn their backs upon me in my
greatest need : and some of those again who
refused to join me, and stood at a distance, are

now among my best friends
;
for it is remark-

able that those of Sir Alexander Macdonald's

following have been most faithful to me in m y

distress, and contributed greatly to my preser-

vation." Then turning round to Mackinnon,
he said,

" I hope, Mr. Mackinnon, you will

not desert me too, and leave me in the lurch
;

but that you will do all for my preservation you
can." The old laird, thinking that these words

were meant for him, said, with tears in his

eyes,
" I never will leave your royal highness

in the day of danger ;
but will, under God, do

all I can for you, and go with you wherever

you order me." ' ; Oh no!" rejoined Charles,
" that is too much for one of your advanced

years, Sir
;
I heartily thank you for your readi-

ness to take care of me, as I am well satisfied

of your zeal for me and my cause
;
but one of

your age cannot well hold out with the

fatigues and dangers I must undergo. It was

to your friend John here, a stout young man,
I was addressing myself."

" Well then," said

John, "with the help of God, I will go

through the wide world with your royal high-

ness, if you desire me." 4

Disappointed in his inquiries after Clan-

ranald, and unsuccessful, if John Mackinnon's

statement be correct, in his application to Mo-

rar, Charles resolved to go to Borodale, and

solicit the assistance of " honest old ^Eneas

Macdonald." Accordingly, after taking leave

of the laird of Mackinnon, Charles set off for

Borodale, accompanied by John Mackinnon,
under the direction of a boy, a son of Morar,
as guide. The party reached Borodale, on the

morning of the 10th of July, before day-break.

As was the case at Morar, the house of the pro-

prietor had been burnt by a body of troops,under

Captain Ferguson, and Borodale was residing in

a hut hard by the ruins of his mansion. Boro-

dale was in bed when Charles arrived, and the

door was shut. Mackinnon called upon Borodale

to rise, who, knowing his voice, got up, and

4 Jacobite Memoirs, p. 494.
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throwing some blankets about him, went to

the door. Mackinnon asked him if he had

heard any thing of the prince.
"
No," replied

the old gentleman.
" What would you give,"

rejoined John,
" for a sight of him?" " Time

was," said the warm-hearted Highlander,
" that

I would have given a hearty bottle to see him

safe
;
but since I see you I expect to hear some

news of him." "
Well, then," replied Mac-

kinnon,
" I have brought him here, and will

commit him to your charge. I have done my
duty, do you yours."

" I am glad of it," said

Borodale,
" and shall not fail to take care of

him : I shall lodge him so secure that all the

forces in Britain shall not find him out." John

Mackinnon then took his leave, and returned

to Ellagol ;
but he had scarcely reached his

house when he was apprehended by a party of

militia, and along with his chief, who was also

captured by another party at Morar, the morn-

ing after Charles's departure, conveyed to Lon-

don, and kept in confinement till July, 1747.

Borodale conducted his guest to a hut in a

neighbouring wood, where he entertained him

in the best manner he could for three days,

and in the meantime, Charles despatched John

Macdonald, junior, one of Borodale's sons,

with a letter to Alexander Macdonald of

Glenaladale, who had been in his service as

Major of the Clanranald regiment.
5 Receiv-

ing, shortly after this express had been sent,

information of the laird of Mackinnon's cap-

ture, and judging that his residence in the

wood was not safe, Borodale, accompanied by
his son Ronald, who had been a lieutenant in

Clanranald's own company, conducted Charles

to an almost inaccessible cave four miles east-

ward, in which he directed him to remain till

Glenaladale should arrive.

Charles's letter was punctually delivered to

Glenaladale, who, two days after it was written,

viz. on the 15th of July, met Borodale at an

appointed place, and paid a visit to Charles.

Next day Borodale received a letter from his

son-in-law, Angus Mac Eachan, residing in the

glen of Morar, who had served as surgeon to

Glengarry's regiment, informing him that a

rumour was beginning to prevail in the country,

that the prince was in concealment about Boro-

6 Author of the Journal and Memoirs, printed
iniong the Lockhart papers, beginning at p. 579.

dale
;
and representing the danger Charles

would be in, by remaining on Borodale's lands

any longer, he offered him a more secure

asylum, in a place he had prepared for him.

Before accepting this offer, Ronald Macdonald

was sent to reconnoitre the place. Next day,
John Macdonald was despatched to view the

coast, and ascertain the motions of the mili-

tary ;
and having brought intelligence that he

saw a boat approaching that part of the coast

where the grotto was situated, Charles, without

waiting for the return of Ronald Macdonald,

immediately left the cave, and set off for the

glen of Morar, to the place prepared for him.

He was accompanied by Glenaladale, Borodale,

and John Macdonald junior, son of the latter.

They were met, at a place called Corrybeine

Cabir, by Borodale's son-in-law, who informed

Charles that Clanranald was waiting a few

miles off, to conduct him to a safe place of

concealment he had prepared for him. Charles

would have proceeded to meet Clanranald, but

as the evening was far advanced, and as he

was much nearer his intended quarters in Glen

Morar than the place where Clanranald was,

he proceeded onward, intending to communi-

cate with him next day.

Borodale, who had proceeded to Glen Morar

in advance of the party to procure some neces-

saries, received information, on his arrival there,

that some men-of-war with troops on board,

under General Campbell, had anchored in Loch

Nevis. He thereupon despatched two men to

Loch Nevis, by way of Loch Morar, to observe

General Campbell's motions, and having re-

ceived farther intelligence, that Captain Scott

had arrived with a party in the lower part of

Arisaig, he returned to Charles, and communi-

cated to him the information he had received.

Being assured that Charles was upon one of

the promontories betwixt Loch Hourn and

Loch Shiel, the English commanders had

formed a chain of posts across the heads of

these and the intermediate arms of the sea, so

as to intercept him should he attempt to escape

by land into the interior; and to catch him,

should he venture to return to the islands,

cruisers and boats were stationed at the mouths

of the lochs. The sentinels along this line,

which extended to the length of thirty miles,

were placed so near one another in the day
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time, that no person could pass without being

seen by them, and at night fires were lighted

at every post, and the opposite sentinels passed,

and repassed one another, from fire to fire. To

cross such a chain during the day was quite

impossible, nor did a passage by night appear

more practicable.

Finding thus, that Clanranald's country

was wholly surrounded by the government

troops, and that he would not be able to

join that chief, Charles resolved to leave it

immediately. To lessen the risk of discovery,

by reducing the number of his companions, he

took leave of Borodale and his son-in-law, and

attended by Glenaladale, his brother Lieuten-

ant John Macdonald, who had been an officer

in the French service, and John Macdonald

junior, Borodale's son, set out in the morning

of the 18th of July, and by mid-day reached

the summit of a hill called Scoorvuy, at the

eastern extremity of Arisaig. Here they rested

and took some refreshment, and Glenaladale's

brother was then despatched to Glenfinnan,

to obtain intelligence, and to direct two men

Avhom Glenaladale had stationed there, to join

the prince about ten o'clock at night, on

the top of a hill called Swernink Comchan,
above Loch Arkaig in Lochiel's country.

After Lieutenant John Macdonald's depar-

ture, Charles set out with his two remaining

companions, and at two o'clock came to the

top of a neighbouring hill, called Fruigh-vein.

Observing some cattle in motion, Glenaladale

went forward to ascertain the cause, and

found that these cattle belonged to some of

his own tenants, who were driving them away
out of the reach of a body of 600 or 700

troops, who had come to the head of Loch

Arkaig, to hem in th<? prince. As Charles and
his friends meant to pass in that direction,

they were greatly disconcerted at this intelli-

gence, and resolved to alter their course.

Glenaladale sent one of his tenants to Glenfin-

nan, which was only about a mile off, to recall

his brother and the two men; and at the same
time he sent another messenger for Donald
Cameron of Glenpean, who had removed with
his effects to a neighbouring hill, on the ap-
proach of the troops, that he might ascertain
from him the situation of the troops about
Fort Augustus, and to obtain his .assistance in

conducting the prince through the chain of

posts. As they waited the return of the mes-

sengers, one of the tenants' wives, regretting

the condition of Glenaladale her lordlord, and

desirous of giving him some refreshment,

milked some of her cows, and brought the

milk to him. Observing the woman approach-

ing, Charles covered his head with a handker-

chief, and passed for one of Glenaladale's ser-

vants, who had got a headach. Though this

refreshment, from the excessive heat of the

day, was very seasonable, yet they would have

gladly dispensed with the obtrusive kindness

of the warm-hearted female. That Charles

might participate in the present, without ob-

servation from the donor, Glenaladale prevailed

upon her, though with some difficulty, to re-

tire, and leave her dish behind.

After a short absence the messenger who

had been despatched to Glenfinnan returned

without finding Glenaladale's brother, or the

two men who had, before his arrival there,

departed for the appointed place of rendezvous.

He brought the alarming intelligence, that a

hundred of the Argyleshire militia had arrived

at the foot of the hill on which the prince

now stood. . "Without waiting for the return

of the other messenger, the party set out about

sunset on their hazardous attempt. They tra-

velled at a pretty quick pace till about eleven

o'clock at night ;
when passing through a hol-

low way between two hills, they observed a

man coming down one of them in their direc-

tion. Charles and young Macdonald kept

behind, and Glenaladale went forward to as-

certain whether this person was friend or foe.

Strange to tell, the suspected individual was

Donald Cameron of Glenpean, the very person

whom, of all others, Glenaladale wished to see.

He was immediately conducted to Charles, to

whom he communicated such information as

he had obtained about the government troops.

Undertaking to guide the prince and his

companions past the guards, Cameron con-

ducted them over roads almost impassable in

day-light ;
and after travelling all night, they

arrived about four o'clock in the morning of

the 19th of July, on the top of a hill in the

braes of Loch Arkaig, called Mamnyn-Callum,
from which they could perceive the enemy's

camp about a mile distant. Being informed



NARROW ESCAPE OF THE PRINCE. 709

by their guide, that the hill on which they now
stood had been searched the previous day,

they supposed there would not be a second

search for some time, and they therefore re-

solved to remain on the hill all the day. They

lay down to rest, and after sleeping two hours,

the whole party, with the exception of Charles,

rose to keep watch. Aboiit ten o'clock they

observed a man at a little distance coming up
the hill. As there was a probability that

Cameron, being generally acquainted with the

inhabitants of that part of the country, might
know this person, he was sent forward to speak

with him, and was agreeably surprised to find

that he was no other than Glenaladale's bro-

ther, who not meeting the prince at the place

appointed, had become alarmed for his safety,

and was in search of him.

The whole party remained on the top of the

hill all the day, and about nine o'clock at

night set out in a southern direction. About

one o'clock in the morning they came to a place

called Corrinangaull, on the confines of Knoy-
dart and Loch Arkaig, where Cameron expected

|

to have met some of the Loch Arkaig people,

i who had fled with their cattle on the approach

Loch Arkaig. Anhnacarry, seat of Cameron of Lochiel, in middle distance.

of the soldiery. Cameron had calculated on

getting a supply of provisions from these peo-

ple, as the prince and his party had only a

small quantity of butter and oatmeal, which

they could not prepare for want of fire. Per-

ceiving some huts down the face of the hill,

Glenaladale's brother and the guide, at the risk

of being observed by some of the sentinels who
were going their rounds, ventured down to

them, in expectation of meeting some of the

country people, and obtaining a supply of pro-

visions
;
but they found these shielings unin-

habited. Judging themselves no longer safe

i
on the top of the hill, the whole party shifted

their quarters, and went to a fastness in the brow

of a hill at the head of Lochnaigh, about a

mile distant from the troops. They lay down

in this retreat to take some rest. With the

exception of Charles, they all awoke after a

short repose; and it was resolved that, dan-

gerous as the experiment might be, Glenala-

dale's brother and the guide should again go in
1

quest of provisions, of which they now stood

in very great need. Leaving, therefore, Glen-

aladale, and Borodale's son to stand sentry over

Charles, they set off, while it was yet dark, on
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their errand. The place which the weary wan-

derers had chosen for their nocturnal abode

commanded a view of the lake, and when the

sun rose, Charles and his friends observed

the enemy's camp at the head of Lochnaigh.

They would have gladly removed to a greater

distance, but they resolved to wait for the re-

turn of the foraging party, who arrived about

three o'clock in the afternoon, with two small

cheeses, which were all the provisions they

could procure. They also brought the alarm-

ing intelligence, that about a hundred soldiers

were marching up the opposite side of the hill

to search for some of the country people, who

were supposed to have fled thither for shelter.

As it was not improbable that this party

would in the course of their examination

find out the place where Charles and his

friends lay concealed, the most direful appre-

hensions must have seized the minds of the

unhappy fugitives. Seeing no possibility of

leaving their retreat without observation,

whilst the soldiers were on the hill, they re-

solved to remain and abide the result. The

soldiers made a general and narrow search all

around, but fortunately did not come to the

place where the wanderers lay. After the

search was over the soldiers returned to their

camp; and about eight o'clock in the evening
Charles and his friends left their place of con-

cealment, and, travelling at a very quick pace
till it became dark, ascended a steep hill

called Drimachosi, on arriving at the top of

which, they observed the fires of a camp directly
in their front, which in passing onward they

imagined they could scarcely avoid. Deter-

mined, however, to make the attempt, what-

ever might be the consequences, they proceeded

forward, and came so near the posts as to hear

the soldiers talking together.

In passing over the top of this mountain
Charles made a very narrow escape. Down a

steep and pathless descent a small stream glided,
the waters of which spreading among a mixture
of grass and heath, with which the descent was

covered, rendered it slippery, and of course

very dangerous. When about to descend,
Charles's foot slipped, and he would have un-

doubtedly fallen headlong down the precipice,
and been dashed to pieces, had not Cameron,
who preceded him, seized him by one of his

arms, and held him fast with one hand, whilst,

with the other, he laid hold of the heath to

prevent both from tumbling down together.

In this situation, Cameron held Charles till

Glenaladale came down, who, laying hold of

the prince's other arm, rescued him from his

danger. Arriving at the bottom, they crept

up the next hill, and, on reaching its summit,

perceived the fires of another camp at the foot

of the hill, directly in the way they intended

to go down.

To pass this post seemed to be an undertak-

ing utterly hopeless, and certain destruction

appeared inevitable in the attempt ; yet ex-

tremely dangerous as it was, the party resolved

to make it. Unwilling, however, to expose
the prince to such great risk, before putting

the practicability of the measure to the test,

Cameron, entirely regardless of his own safety,

proposed to make the experiment himself be-

fore Charles ventured to pass.
" If I succeed,"

said the generous Highlander, "and return

safe, then your royal highness may venture,

and I shall conduct you." At this time

Cameron's nose began to itch, a circumstance

which was regarded by Donald as a dangerous
omen. Whilst rubbing his nose, he could not

avoid stating his apprehensions to Charles
;
but

these superstitious fears did not divert him

from his purpose. Cameron accordingly went

forward, and, in a short time, returned to his

companions with the agreeable information

that he had entirely succeeded. No doubt

now existing of the practicability and even the

safety of the attempt, the whole party set off

about two o'clock in the morning. Turning a

little westward, Cameron conducted them to

the channel of a small brook, through which

they crept on their hands and feet to escape

observation
;
and watching their opportunity

when the backs of the sentinels were turned

towards one another, quietly passed between

them. After they were out of danger from

the guards, Charles came up to Glenpean, and

jocularly said to him, "Well, Donald, how
does your nose do now ?

" " It is better now,"
answered Cameron,

" but it still yucks (itches)

a little."
"
Aye, Donald," rejoined the prince,

as if taking the hint,
" have we still more

guards to go through
1

?"

Having thus fortunately cleared the line of
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posts, the party proceeded in their course, and,

at about the distance of two miles, came to a

place called Corriscorridill, on the Glenelg side

of the head of Loch Hourn, where they stopped,

and, having chosen a secure place, sat down

and took some refreshment. They had no

bread
;
but Charles supplied the deficiency by

covering a slice of the dry cheese with oatmeal.

He partook of this coarse fare cheerfully, and

washed it down with some water from a neigh-

bouring spring. They remained in this retreat

till eight o'clock in the evening.

It being now evident that Charles could not

remain with any chance of safety in the West

Highlands, Glenaladale proposed, that instead

of going eastward, as Charles intended, he

should proceed north into Ross-shire, and seek

an asylum among that part of the Mackenzies

who had not joined in the insurrection, and

whose territory had not, on that account, been

visited by the military. Charles resolved to

adopt the advice of his kind friend
;
and as

Cameron was unacquainted with the route, he

and Glenaladale left the covert to look out for

a guide. Before they had gone far, however,

they were astonished to find that they had

passed all the day within cannon-shot of two

little camps, and they perceived, at the same

time, a company of soldiers driving some sheep
into a hut, for the purpose, as they supposed,
of being slaughtered. Returning to their place
of concealment, they apprised Charles of their

discovery ; and as no time was to be lost in

providing for their safety, the whole party

immediately set off, and about three o'clock

next morning, July the 27th, reached Glenshiel,

in the Earl of Seaforth's country. As their

small stock of provisions was exhausted, Glen-

aladale and Borodale's son went forward in

quest of a supply, and to find out a guide to

conduct them to Pollew, where it was reported
some French vessels had been. Whilst Glen-

aladale was conversing with some country peo-

ple about a guide, a Glengarry man, who had
been chased that morning by a party of soldiers

from Glengarry, after they had killed his father,

came running up. This man, who had served

in the prince's army, was recognised at once

by Glenaladale, and as he knew him to be

trustworthy, he resolved to keep him in reserve

as a guide, in case they should be obliged to

change their plan, and to remain about Glen-

garry. Having procured some provisions, Glen-

aladale and his companion returned to Charles,

and after the whole party had partaken of the

food, they retired to the face of an adjacent

hill, and lay down to rest in a cave. They

slept till between four and five o'clock in the

afternoon, when Cameron, who had acted so

faithfully, took his leave, as he was unac-

quainted with that part of the country. After

Cameron's departure, Glenaladale, observing

the Glengarry man returning to his own coun-

try, stepped out of the cave and prevailed upon
him to remain in a by-place for a short time,

as he said he had something to communicate

to him. Glenaladale, on his return, stated his

plan to Charles, which was to keep the Glen-

garry man without explaining to him any thing,

till such time as he could ascertain whether

he could depend upon getting a guide to Pol-

lew, failing which he would retain the Glen-

garry man. Charles approved of what Glenala-

dale had done. About seven o'clock, Glenala-

dale repaired to a place where he had appointed
a man, who had promised to procure a guide,

to meet him, and having found this person,

was informed by him that he could not get one,

and that the only French vessel that had

touched at Pollew had gone away. Glenala-

dale, therefore, dismissed this person, and re-

turning to Charles, informed him of what had

passed. They then gave up the idea of proceed-

ing farther into Ross-shire, and the Glengarry

man, having been introduced to the prince,

cheerfully undertook to conduct him to Strath-

glass or Glenmoriston, to either of which dis-

tricts he intended, according to circumstances,

to shape his course. 6

6 Mr. Home mentions an interview with one Macraw
in the Braes of Kintail, which is not even alluded to
in the narrative of the prince's escape, drawn up by
Glenaladale and others, and printed among the Lock-
hart Papers. If such an interview took place, its

omission can only be fairly accounted for by supposing
that the writer of that part of the narrative (Captain
Alexander Macdonald, a younger brother of the Laird
of Dallely,) was not aware of it. The following is Mr.
Home's account of this affair :

"After having crossed the line of posts, Glenaladale,

thinking the West Highlands a very unsafe place for

Charles, resolved to conduct him to the Ross-shire

Highlands, amongst those Mackenzies who remained

loyal, and therefore were not visited with troops.
These Mackenzies, Glenaladale thought, would not

betray Charles
;
and the person whom he had pitched

upon to confide in was Sir Alexander Mackenzie of
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Accordingly the whole party, accompanied

by their new guide, set out through Glenshiel

at a late hour; but they had not proceeded

more than half-a-mile, when Glenaladale

stopped short, and, clapping his hand upon

his side, declared that his purse, containing 40

guineas, which the prince had given him for

defraying expenses,was gone. Thinking that he

had left it at their last resting place, Glenala-

dale proposed to go back in quest of it, and de-

sired theprince to remainbehind an adjacent hill

till he returned ;
but Charles was averse to the

proposal, though the purse contained his whole

stock of money. Glenaladale, however, went

back along with Borodale's son, and, on arriving

at their last resting place, found the purse, but

its contents were gone. Recollecting that a

little boy had been at the place with a present

of milk from a person whom Glenaladale had

visited, he supposed that the boy might have

taken away the purse, and he and his com-

panion proceeded to the house of Gilchrist

M'Rath, the person alluded to, and found the

boy, who, as he had conjectured, had stolen

the purse of gold. By means of Gilchrist, the

money was restored to Glenaladale, with the

exception of a trifle.

The temporary loss of the purse was a very

Coul. Charles and his attendants, setting out for

Ross-shire on foot, suffered greatly in their journey
from want of provisions ;

and when they came to the
Braes of Kintail, inhabited by the Macraws, a barbar-
ous people, among whom there are but few gentlemen,
necessity obliged them to call at the house of one

Christopher Macraw. Glenaladale, leaving Charles
and the French officer at some distance, went to Mac-
raw's house, and told him that he and two of his
friends were like to perish for want of food, and desired
him to furnish them with some victuals, for which
they would pay. Macraw insisted upon knowing who
his two friends were, which Glenaladale seemed unwill-

ing to tell. Macraw still insisted, and Glenaladale
told him at last that it was young Clan Ronald and a
relation of his. Notwithstanding the consequence of
the persons, Macraw, though rich for an ordinary
Highlander, made Glenaladale pay very dear for some
provisions he gave him. Having received the money,he grew better humoured, and desired Glenaladale and

le other two to pass the night in his house, which

11 j
In the course of tllc conversation theyIked of the times, and Macraw exclaimed against the

Highlanders who had taken arms with Charles and
said .that they and those who still protected him were
tools and madmen; that they ought to deliver them-
selves and their country from distress by givin^ him
U

' a
?
d

m,king
the reward which government had

tiered. That night a Macdonald who had been in the
el army came to Macraw's house. At first sight heknew Charles, and took an opportunity of warningGlenaladale to take cave that Christopher should not

discover the quality of his guest
"

fortunate occurrence for Charles and his friends,

as, during Glenaladale's absence, an officer and

two privates passed close by the place where

Charles stood, having come by the very road

he and his party had intended to proceed. As

they went in the direction taken by Glenaladale

and his companion, Charles grew very uneasy
about his friends, lest they should, on their

return, meet with this party ; but returning by
a different way, they rejoined the prince with-

out interruption. Charles was overjoyed at the

return of his friend
; and, witli reference to his

late providential escape, observed,
" Glenala-

dale, my hour, I see, is not come
;
for I believe

I should not be taken though I had a mind to

it." The party now continued their journey.
In passing over the field of Glenshiel, the Glen-

garry man entertained Charles with an account

of the action which happened there in 1719.

Charles, it is said, could not help admiring the

sagacity of his guide, who, though he had not

been in the battle, gave as circumstantial and

accurate an account of it as if he had been

present.
7

Travelling all night, Charles and his friends

arrived on the side of a hill above Strath-

chluaine, where, fixing upon a secure place of

retreat, they reposed till near three o'clock in

the afternoon of the following day, viz., 28th

of July. They then continued their journey

along the hill-side
;
but they had not travelled

above a mile when they heard the firing of

small arms on the hill above them, which they

judged to proceed from some of the troops who
were engaged in their usual occupation of

shooting the people who had fled to the moun-

tains with their cattle and effects. To avoid

these bloodhounds the party took a northern

route, and ascended a high hill between the

Braes of Glenmoriston and Strathglass. They
reached the summit of this mountain at a late

hour, and sought repose for the night in an open

cave, in which they could neither lie nor sleep.

They had no fuel, and as they were wet to the

skin with a heavy rain which fell during the

whole of the day, they passed a most uncom-

fortable night. Charles felt himself very cold,

and he endeavoured to warm himself by smok-

ing a pipe.

1 Kirkconnel MS.
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Resolving again to go to Pollew, Glenala-

iale's brother and the Glengarry man were

despatched, about three o'clock in the morning
of the 29th, in quest of some trusty persons to

conduct the prince thither, and were appointed

to meet Charles and the rest of the party on

the top of a neighbouring hill. Charles and

his friends set off about five o'clock, and, after

a walk of two hours, reached the top of the

appointed hill, where they met the guide, who
stated that he was directed by some proper

persons he had found out, to desire Glenaladale

to repair to a hill in the Braes of Glenmoriston,

called Corambian, where they promised to come

at an appointed hour with some victuals. The

persons alluded to were a party of seven men,

who, having been engaged in the insurrection,

had formed themselves into a sort of predatory

fraternity ; intending, perhaps, to resume their

former habits of industry when the persecutions

of the government ceased. These had taken

up their abode in a romantic cave on the side

of Corambian, and seldom removed to any con-

siderable distance from their rocky den, unless

compelled by the necessity of providing for

their immediate wants.

As directed, Charles and his friends pro-

ceeded to Corambian, and when they came

near the cave, Glenaladale and the guide went

forward, leaving Charles and the other two

Macdonalds at a little distance. All the in-

itiates of the den were present except one, and

having killed a sheep that day, had just sat

down to dinner. Glenaladale said he was glad
to see them so well provided, and they invited

him to sit down and share with them. He
then said he had a friend with him, outside,

for whom he must beg the same favour. Be-

ing asked by them who the friend was, he an-

swered that it was young Clanranald, his chief.

Nobody could be more welcome, they said,

than the young chief; and they added, that

they were willing to purchase food for him at

the point of their swords. Gienaladale then

left the cave and brought in Charles, who,

being immediately recognised by its residents,

had every respect shown him by these men,
who fell on their knees before him. It is al-

most unnecessary to add, that Charles, who
had scarcely tasted food for forty-eight hours,

made ample amends for his long fast. After
I.

dinner, Charles's entertainers made up a bed

for him of ferns and tops of heath, on which

he was soon lulled asleep by the gentle mur-

murs of a purling stream that ran through the

grotto close to his bedside.

The dress which Charles wore at this time

is thus described by Mr. Home, who obtained

his information from Hugh Chisholm, one of

the seven persons who were in the cave at the

time Charles resided in it.
8

Upon his head

he had a wretched yellow wig and a bonnet,

and about his neck a clouted handkerchief.

He wore a coat of coarse, dark-coloured cloth,

a Stirling tartan vest, much worn, a pretty

good belted plaid, tartan hose, and Highland

brogues tied with thongs, so much worn that

they would scarcely stick upon his feet. His

shirt, the only one he had, was of the colour

of saffron. The inhabitants of the cave had

no change of dress to offer their guest ;
but au

incident occurred which enabled them to sup-

ply his wants. Hearing that a detachment of

government troops, under Lord George Sack-

ville, was marching from Fort-Augustus to

Strathglass, and knowing that they must pass

at no great distance from their abode, the rob-

bers resolved to make an attempt upon their

baggage. For this purpose they placed them-

selves between two hills, near the road to Strath-

glass, where, free from observation, they awaited

the detachment. It soon appeared, and after

it had passed, the Highlanders fired at some

officers' servants, who were a considerable dis-

tance behind, and, rushing down upon them,

seized and carried off some portmanteaus, in

which they found every thing that Charles

stood in need of.

The search for Charles, which had hitherto

been pursued with the most persevering assi-

duity, now began to slacken, in consequence

of an occurrence, which, it was supposed, ren-

dered farther search unnecessary. Among
other persons who had joined Charles at Edin-

burgh, there was a young man of respectable

family, named Roderick Mackenzie. He had

8 Chisholm was at Edinburgh many years after the

rebellion, and was visited by several persons out of

curiosity, some of whom gave him money. In shak-

ing hands with his benefactors lie always gave the left

hand, and excused himself for offering that hand by
stating that as he had shaken hands at parting with
the prince, he was resolved never to give his right
hand to any man till he saw the prince again.

4 X
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served as one of the prince's life-guards. Be-

ing about the same age as Charles, tall and

somewhat slender, like the prince, and with

features resembling, in some degree, those of

Charles, he might, with ordinary observers,

who had not been accustomed to see them

together, have passed for the prince. As he

could not venture with safety to Edinburgh,

where he had two maiden sisters living, he

fled to the Highlands after the battle of Cul-

loden, and, while skulking among the hills of

Glenmoriston, was surprised by a party of

soldiers, about the middle of July. Mackenzie

endeavoured to escape; but being overtaken,

he turned round upon his pursuers, and, draw-

ing his sword, bravely defended himself. He
was shot by one of the soldiers, and as he fell,

he exclaimed,
" You have killed your prince !

you have killed your prince !" and immediately

expired. Overjoyed at their supposed good

fortune, the soldiers cut off the young man's

head, and hurried to Fort-Augustus with their

prize. The Duke of Cumberland, convinced

that he had got the head of his relative, had

it, it is said, packed up, and ordering a post-

chaise, went off to London, carrying the head

along with him. Shortly after his arrival,

however, the deception, which had been of

essential service to Charles, was discovered. 9

Being pretty secure in Coiraghoth, as the

cave was called, Charles remained three days
in this retreat, during which he recruited so

well that he considered himself able to en-

counter any hardships. The whole party then

shifted their quarters to another hill, about

two miles off, and took up their abode in an-

other cave, on the 2d of August. After stay-

ing four days in their new dwelling they were

again obliged to shift, in consequence of infor-

mation they received, that one Campbell, a

steward of Lord Seaforth and captain of mili-

tia, had pitched his camp at a little distance,
to graze a large herd of cattle. Leaving one
of their party behind to watch Campbell's
motions, they set off in a northerly direction,
and travelled to the heights of Strathglass.
Charles was conducted to a sheep-cot, in which
a bed was made up for him, consisting of turf,
with the grass-side uppermost, and a pillow of

Chamber's Rebellion. Stewart's Sketches, i. 59.

the same. He remained in this hovel three

days, during which an express was sent to Pol-

lew, to ascertain whether a report which had

reached him of some French vessels having
been seen off the coast, was correct. On the

supposition that the report would turn out to be

well founded, the party followed the express,

and crossing along the moor, put up at another

shieling for the night, and about twelve o'clock,

next day, August the 10th, arrived at a place

called Glencanna, and passing the day in a

neighbouring wood, repaired at night to a

village hard by. About two o'clock next morn-

ing they scrambled up a hill on the north side

of Glencanna, and sending off two of their

number to forage for provisions, they waited

two days in a neighbouring shieling for the

return of their messenger from Pollew. The

express arrived, and brought notice that a

French ship had been upon the coast, and

had landed two gentlemen, who had gone to

Lochiel's country in quest of the prince. In

expectation of meeting these gentlemen, Charles

resolved to retrace his steps.

Upon the 13th of August they crossed the

water of Casina, and passing near the house of

young Chisholm, arrived at a place called Fas-

sanacoil in Strathglass, about two o'clock in

the morning. They concealed themselves in

a thick wood, and some of the party were

despatched as scouts to the Braes of Glengarry

and Lochaber, to ascertain whether the search

for the prince was over, and if the troops had

returned to their camp at Fort-Augustus. Hav-

ing ascertained on the return of their spies that

the government troops had returned to their

head-quarters, the whole party left the wood,

where they had remained three days, and, on the

morning of the 17th of August, set out through

an unfrequented road, and again reached the

Braes of Glenmoriston. Passing the day on

the top of a hill, they continued their journey

at night ;
but they had gone scarcely a mile,

when they received information that a strong

party of military were among the heights of

Glengarry in quest of the prince. They, there-

fore, stopped short in their journey till they

should ascertain the motions of the enemy,

and passed the remainder of the night in a

shieling.

Charles being now extremely desirous of
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opening a communication with his friends in

Lochaber, which was by this time almost free

from troops, despatched two messengers on the

morning of the 18th of August to Loch Arkaig
in quest of Cameron of Clunes, to inform him

that Glenaladale wished to meet him at a con-

venient place. Another of the party was, at
'

lie same time, sent to the Braes of Glengarry
to ascertain if the troops were still in that

quarter. Having ascertained, by the return of

this messenger, who came back next day, that

the roads were clear, Charles and his party, con-

sisting altogether of ten persons, set out in the

afternoon of the 19th, and passing under the

favour of a fog through Glenmoriston and Glen-

lyne, arrived late at night in the Braes of Glen-

garry. The river Garry was swollen to a great

height by the heavy rains which had fallen for

some days ;
but some of the party having ascer-

tained that it was fordable, Charles and his

friends waded across with the water up to their

middle. After passing the river, they pro-

ceeded onward about a mile in a very dark

night, and finding no covert, remained on the

side of the hill during the night, without shelter,

amid a torrent of rain. Next morning they con-

tinued their course over hills and moors till they
reached a height near a place called Achna-

salt, or Achnasual, where the messengers sent

to Loch Arkaig had been appointed to meet

them. The rain having poured down without

intermission all night and during the day, the

situation of these forlorn wanderers had become

very uncomfortable
; and, to add to their

distress, their whole stock of provision was

exhausted. As none of the messengers had

arrived, they were exceedingly perplexed what

to do
;
but they were soon relieved from their

anxiety by the appearance of Peter Grant, one

of the most active of the seven men, who

brought notice from Cameron of Clunes that

ho could not meet Glenaladale that night, but

that he would visit him at the appointed place

of rendezvous next morning, and in the mean-

time directed him to pass the night in a wood

about two miles distant. Before setting out

for their new quarters, of which they received

a favourable report from two of the party, who
were sent to examine the place, Glenaladale,

with the consent of the prince, sent a messenger
to Lochgarry, who lay concealed a few miles

off, acquainting him with their arrival at Ach-

nasual, and requesting him to meet them in

the wood. After entering the wood, fortune

threw a buck in their way, which one of the

party immediately shot. Having kindled a

fire, they roasted the flesh, and made a hearty

meal, but without bread or salt. Lochgarry

joined them the same night.

At ten o'clock next morning, August the

15th, Cameron of Clunes came to the wood,

and conducted Charles to another forest at the

foot of Loch Arkaig, in which he lay all night.

With the exception of Hugh Chisholm and

Peter Grant, all the Glenmoriston men took

their leave. Charles expressed a wish to go
to Rannoch, or Badenoch, where Lochiel and

Cluny were
;
but upon Clunes informing him

that he could not pass without great danger,

as all the ferries were strictly guarded, he gave

up his design, and, early next morning, sent a

messenger to Lochiel, desiring his attendance.

Concluding that Charles was to the north of

the lakes, these chiefs had, about this period,

sent Dr. Cameron and the Rev. John Cameron

by different routes, to obtain information

respecting the prince. On arriving within a

few miles of the place where Lochiel was,

Charles's messenger met the Doctor and the

two French officers who had lately landed.

As the messenger was desired to communicate

no information about Charles to any person

but Lochiel himself, he declined to answer any

questions respecting the prince; but having

stated that he had business of the utmost im-

portance with Lochiel, the Doctor conducted

him to his brother. Lochiel being unable,

from, the state of his wounds, to travel to a

distance, then sent his brother to wait upon
the prince, and to make his apology.

Dr Cameron, accompanied by two servants,

arrived at the foot of Loch Arkaig on the 19th

of August, and when near the place of Charles's

concealment, he met Cameron of Clunes. At

this time Charles and one of Clunes's sons were

sleeping on the mountain, and Peter Grant was

keeping watch
; but, nodding upon his post,

Grant did not observe the approach of the

party till they were pretty near. He instantly

awaked Charles and his companion. Camerou

and Grant proposed that they should flee to the

top of the mountain, but Charles thought dif-
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ferently. He said he considered there was more

danger in attempting to escape than in remain-

ing where they were; and he proposed that

they should take up a position behind some

stones, take aim, and fire upon the party when

they came nearer. He said that, as Grant and

he were good marksmen, they would certainly

do some execution, and that he had in reserve

a brace of pocket pistols, which, for the first

time, he produced. Fortunately, however,

before a single shot was fired, the person of

Clunes was recognised among the party. The

joy of Charles and of young Cameron, at the

narrow escape which the friends of the one and

the father of the other had made, may be

easily conceived. When informed by Dr.

Cameron that Lochiel was well, and almost

recovered of his wounds, the prince expressed

the unbounded satisfaction he felt by fervently

returning thanks to God three times. The

appearance of Charles at this time was singular,

and even terrific. He was bare-footed, and his

beard had grown to a great length. He wore

a dirty shirt, an old black tartan coat, a plaid,

and a philibeg, carried a musket in his hand,

and wore a pistol and dirk by his side. Had he

not had one of the best and soundest constitu-

tions ever enjoyed by a prince, he must ere this

have fallen a victim to the numerous privations

he had suffered
;
but his health remained unim-

paired, and his flow of spirits continued. His

companions had killed a cow on the present

occasion, and when Dr. Cameron arrived a part

of it was preparing for dinner. Charles partook

heartily of the beef, which was seasoned by a

supply of bread from Fort-Augustus, a com-

modity to which he had been for some time

unaccustomed.

Next day the party went to a wood called

Torvuilt, opposite to Achnacarry, where they
held a council. Charles now proposed to go

south, and join Lochiel
;
but one of the party

mentioning that he had seen a paragraph
in some newspapers, that had been brought
from Fort-Augustus, which stated that he and
Lochiel had passed Corryarrick with 30 men,
he judged it advisable to defer his journey for

a few days, as a search might be made for him
about that mountain. In the meantime it was

agreed that Dr. Cameron should visit Lochaber
to procure intelligence, and that Lochgarry

should go to the east end of Loch Lochy, and

remain upon the isthmus between the lakes, to

watch the motions of the troops. They accord-

ingly left Charles the same day, and Cameron

and Clunes, after conducting the prince and his

party to another hut in the neighbourhood, also

took leave.

Charles remained eight days in the neigh-

bourhood of Achnacarry. Having expressed a

strong desire to see the French officers who had

landed at Pollew, they were brought to him.

These gentlemen had come from Dunkirk in a

small vessel, with 60 others, who had formed

themselves into a company of volunteers under

these two officers. Two of the volunteers

landed along with the officers, and were taken

prisoners. One of them, named Fitzgerald, a

Spanish officer, was hanged at Fort William,
on the ground of having been a spy in Flan-

ders, and the other, a M. de Berard, a French

officer, was afterwards exchanged upon the

cartel. The officers fell in with Mr. Alexander

Macleod, one of Charles's aides-de-camp, to

whom they delivered some despatches they had

brought over to the French ambassador, and

they continued to wander in Seaforth's coun-

try till Lochgarry, hearing that they had letters

to the prince, sent a Captain Macraw and his

own servant to find them out and bring them

to Lochiel, as the prince could not be found.

When brought to Lochiel, he suspected them
to be government spies. On Charles express-

ing his wish to see these officers, the Rev. John

Cameron, who had lately joined, told him what

his brother Lochiel thought of them, and ad-

vised him to act with great caution. The prince

confessed that it appeared a very suspicious

circumstance, that two men, without knowing
a word of Gaelic, and being perfect strangers
in the country, should have escaped so long if

they were not really spies ;
but as they had told

Lochiel that they had never seen the prince,

he thought that he might see them safely by a

stratagem, without being known to them. He
therefore wrote them a letter to this effect :

that, in order to avoid falling into his enemies'

hands, he had been under the necessity of re-

tiring to a distant part of the country, where

he had no person with him except one Captain
Drummond and a servant, and, as he could not

remove from the place of his concealment with-
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out danger, he had sent Captain Drummond
with the letter

;
and as he could repose entire

confidence in him, he desired them to deliver

any message they had to Drummond. This

letter the prince proposed to deliver himself, as

Captain Drummond, and the officers being sent

for, were introduced to him under his assumed

name. He delivered them the letter, which

they perused, and he then obtained from them

all the information they had to communicate,

which, as his affairs then stood, was of little

importance. They remained with him two

days, and put many questions about the prince's

health, his manner of living, &c. Thinking
the packet they had delivered to Mr. Macleod

might be of use, Charles sent for it
;
but as the

letters were in cipher he could make nothing
of them, not having the key.

About this time Charles made a very narrow

escape, under the following circumstances.

Information having been sent to the camp at

Fort-Augustus that Charles or some of his

principal adherents were in the neighbourhood
of Loch Arkaig, a party was despatched in

quest of them. One of Clunes's sons and

Cameron the minister had gone to the strath

of Clunes to obtain intelligence, and had en-

tered a hut which Clunes had built for his

family after his house had been burnt. They
had not, however, been half-an-hour within,

when a little girl came running into the house,

in great haste, and said that she saw some

soldiers approaching. At first they thought
that the child was mistaken, as Lochgarry had

promised to place a guard between Fort-Au-

gustus and Clunes, to give intelligence of the

approach of troops ;
but going out of the house,

they found that the girl was correct in her in-

formation. It was then about eight o'clock in

the morning, and the prince, with one of

Clunes's sons and Peter Grant, was sleeping in

a hut on the face of the hill on the other side

of the water of Kaig, about a mile from

Clunes's hut. Whilst old Cameron, therefore,

remained to watch the motions of this party,

one of his sons and the minister went off to

arouse Charles. Crossing the water under

cover of the wood, they came within pistol-

shot of the soldiers, who proceeded down into

the strath. When awaked and informed of

his danger, Charles, with great composure,

called for his gun, and, looking down the vale,

saw a number of soldiers demolishing Clunes's

hut and searching the adjacent woods. 1

Charles and his attendants immediately resolved

to remove to a distance, and to conceal their

flight, ascended the hill along the channel of

a torrent which the winter rains had worn in

the face of the mountain. Clearing this hill

without being seen, they proceeded to another

mountain, called Mullentagart, of a prodigious

height, and very steep and craggy. They re-

mained all day on this hill without a morsel

of food. One of Clunes's sons came to them

about twelve o'clock at night with some

whisky, bread, and cheese, and told them that

his father would meet them at a certain place

in the hills, at a considerable distance, with

provisions, and the young man returned to let

his father know that he might expect them.

Charles and his attendants set out for the ap-

pointed place at night, and travelled through
most dreadful ways, amongst rocks and

stumps of trees, which tore their clothes and

limbs. Such were the difficulties they en-

countered, that the guides proposed to halt and

rest till the morning, but Charles, though ex-

ceedingly exhausted, insisted on going on, that

they might not break their appointment with

Clunes. Worn out at last with fatigue and

want of food, the prince was not able to pro-

ceed farther without assistance. Though al-

most in the same situation themselves, the

Highlanders offered him their aid, and two of

them laying hold each of an arm, supported

him till he arrived at the end of this very la-

borious journey. They met Clunes and his

son, who had already killed a cow and dressed

a part of it for their use.

Charles remained in this remote place with

his companions till the arrival of Lochgarry and

Dr. Cameron. They informed him that they

had been with Lochiel and Cluny, and that it

had been concerted among them that the prince

should come to their asylum for some time;

and they added, that Cluny would meet his

Royal Highness at Auchnacarry, on a certain

day, in order to conduct him to Badenoch.

Being also informed by them that the passes

1 The party in question consisted of about two hun-

dred of Lord London's Highlanders, under Captain
Grant cf Knockando, Strathspey.
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were not so strictly guarded as formerly,

Charles crossed Loch Arkaig, and took up his

abode in a fir wood belonging to Lochiel, on

the west side of the lake, to wait the arrival

of Cluny. Impatient to see two such tried

friends as Lochiel and Cluny, Charles would

not wait for Cluny's coming to Auchnacarry,
but set out for Badenoch with such guides as

he had. Next day Charles arrived at a place

called Corinauir, in Badenoch, where he passed
the night. Cluny had passed on to Auchna-

rarry the same day by another way. Lochie],

in a small miserable hovel on the side of the

hill, at a place called Mellenauir, or Millanuir,
attended by Macpherson of Breakachie, Allan

Cameron, his principal servant, and two ser-

vants of Cluny.

On the morning of the 30th of August,
Charles, accompanied by Lochgarry, Dr. Ca-
meron and two servants, set out for Melle-

They were all armed, and on approach-
nauir.

who had skulked in his own country about two
nonths had sought an asylum among the
Braes of Rannoch, where he was attended bySir Stewart

Thriepland, an Edinburgh physi-
cian, for the cure of the wounds he had received

his ancles. On the 20th of June they fell
with Macpherson of

Cluny, who conducted
them to a more secure retreat on Benalder,

proprt o
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who had since that time lived on' this moul'
ith his friend Cluny, was now

residing

ing the hut they were mistaken by Lochiel
for a party of militia, who, he supposed,
had been sent out in search of him from a

camp a few miles of. From the lame-
ness in his feet, Lochiel was not in
a condition to attempt an escape, but
there seemed to be little danger, as

both parties were equal in point of

numbers, and the party in the hut
had this advantage, that they could
fire their first volley without being
observed, and as they had a consider-
able quantity of fire arms, they could

discharge another volley or two before
the advancing party could reload their

pieces. The danger to which Charles
and his friends were now exposed
was greater than that which Dr Ca-
meron and Climes had run, as, on
the present occasion, the party in
the hut, resolving to receive their

supposed enemies with a general dis-

charge of all the firearms, had actually-

planted and levelled their pieces; but

happily for Charles and his friends,

they were recognised just as Lochiel
and his attendants were about giving
their fire. Upon making this foi

tunate discovery Lochiel left the hut,
and, though very lame, went forward

to meet the prince. On coming up to Charles
Lochiel was about to kneel, but Charles pre-
vented him, and clapping him on the shoulder,
said, Oh no, my dear Lochiel, we do not know
who may be looking from the top of yonder
hills, and if they see any such motions they
will

immediately conclude that I am here."
Charles always considered Lochiel as one of his
best friends, and placed the greatest confidence
in him; and the generous chief showed, by
his unbounded attachment to the prince, that
this confidence was not misplaced. The meet-
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ing, therefore, of two such friends, after so

many perils and escapes, was extremely joyous.

After they had recovered from the first trans-

ports of their joy, Lochiel conducted Charles

into the hut, where the latter beheld a sight to

which his eyes had not been accustomed for

many months. Besides abundance of mutton,

the hut contained an anchor of Avhisky, of

twenty Scotch pints, some good dried beef

sausages, a large well-cured bacon ham, and

plenty of butter and cheese. On entering the

prince took a hearty dram, and drank to the

health of his friends. Some minced collops

were then prepared for him with butter in a

large saucepan, which Lochiel and Cluny always
carried about Avith them, being the only fire-

vessel they had. The pan was set before Charles

with a silver spoon. He took this repast with

great gusto, and was so delighted with this

little change in his circumstances, that he could

not help exclaiming, with a cheerful counte-

nance,
"
Now, gentlemen, I live like a prince."

After dinner he asked Lochiel if he had always
fared so well during his retreat.

"
Yes, Sir,"

answered Lochiel
;

" for near three months past

I have been hereabout with my cousin Cluny ;

he has provided for me so well that I have

had plenty of such as you see, and I thank

Heaven your Royal Highness has got through
so many dangers to take a part." Finding, on

his arrival at Auchnacarry, that Charles had

departed with his friends for Badenoch, Cluny
had retraced his steps, and he reached Mellen-

auir two days after Charles's arrival there. On

entering the hut Cluny would have kneeled

before Charles, but the prince prevented him,

and giving him a kiss, said,
" I am sorry,

Cluny, you and your regiment were not at

Culloden : I did not hear till very lately that

you were so near us that day."

The day after his return to Mellenauir, Cluny,

thinking it time to remove to another retreat,

conducted the prince and his attendants to a

little shieling called Uiskchibra, about two

miles farther into Benalder. This hut was

very bad and extremely smoky; but Charles

accommodated himself, as he had always done,

to circumstances. After passing two nights in

this miserable abode, he was conducted to a

very extraordinary and romantic habitation,

called the Cage, which Cluny had fitted up

for Charles's reception. From the description

given by Cluny of this remarkable retreat, it

will be seen how well adapted it was for the

purpose of concealment.
"
It was," says Donald Macpherson,

"
situ-

ated in the face of a very rough, high, and

rocky mountain, called Letternilichk, still a

part of Benalder, full of great stones and

crevices, and some scattered wood interspersed.

The habitation called the Cage, in the face of

that mountain, was within a small thick bush of

wood. There were first some rows of trees laid

down, in order to level a floor for the habitation
;

and as the place was steep, this raised the lower

side to an equal height with the other
;
and

these trees, in the way of joists or planks,

were levelled with earth and gravel. There

were betwixt the trees, growing naturally on

their own roots, some stakes fixed in the earth,

which, with the trees, were interwoven Avith

ropes, made of heath and birch twigs, up to

the top of the Cage, it being of a round or

rather oval shape; and the whole thatched

and covered over with fog. This whole fabric

hung, as it Avere, by a large tree, Avhich reclined

from the one end all along the roof to the other,

and Avhich gave it the name of the Cage ;
and

by chance there happened to be two stones

at a small distance from one another, in the

side next the precipice, resembling the pillars

of a chimney, where the fire Avas placed. The

smoke had its vent out here, all along the face

of the rock, which Avas so much of the same

colour, that one could discover no difference in

the clearest day. The Cage was no larger

than to contain six or seven persons ;
four of

Avhom were frequently employed playing at

cards, one idle looking out, one baking, and

another firing bread and cooking."
2

2
Appendix to Home's Works, vol. iii. No. 4(5.

Cluny himself had several places of concealment on

his estate. "He lived for nine years chiefly in a

cave, at a short distance from his house, which was
burnt to the ground by the king's troops. This cave

was in the front of a woody precipice, the trees and

shelving rocks completely concealing the entrance.

It was dug out by his own people, who worked by
night, and conveyed the stones and rubbish into a

lake in the neighbourhood, in order that no vestige of

their labour might betray the retreat of their master.

In this sanctuary he lived secure, occasionally visit-

ing his friends by night, or when time had slackened

the rigour of the search. Upwards of one hundred

persons knew where he was concealed, and a reward

of 1,000 was offered to any one who should give
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Charles's deliverance was now nearer at hand

than he or his friends probably expected.

Several small vessels had arrived on the west

coast, from time to time, to carry him off to

France ;
but the persons in charge of these not

being able to find him had returned home.

Charles knew this, and now that he was able

to keep up a communication with his friends,

he took care to provide against a similar recur-

rence. He was at a considerable distance from

the coast, but matters were so concerted that,

if a French vessel appeared, he could easily get

the intelligence. There were some of his parti-

sans skulking near the west coast, who, though

they did not know where he himself was, had

instructions to convey the news to others who

information against him ; and as it was known that

he was concealed on his estate, eighty men were con-

stantly stationed there, besides the parties occasionally

marching into the country to intimidate his tenantry,
and induce them to disclose the place of his conceal-

ment. But though the soldiers were animated with
the hope of the reward, and though a step of promo-
tion to the officer who should apprehend him was

superadded, yet so true were his people, so strict to

their promise of secrecy, and so dexterous in convey-
ing to him the necessaries he required, in his long
confinement, that not a trace of him could be dis-

covered, nor au individual found base enough to give
a hint to his detriment. At length, wearied out with
this dreary and hopeless state of existence, and taught
to despair of pardon, he escaped to France in 1755,
and died there the following year.

"
Stewart's Sketches,

3d Edition, vol. i. p. 62.
" The late Sir Hector Munro, then a lieutenant in

the 34th regiment, and from his zeal and knowledge
of the country and the people, intrusted with the
command of a large party, continued two whole years
in Badenoch, for the purpose of discovering the chief's

retreat. The unwearied vigilance of the clan could
alone have saved him from the diligence of this party.
At night Cluny came from his retreat to vary the

monotony of his existence, by spending a few of the
dark hours convivially with his friends. On one oc-
casion he had been suspected, and got out by a back
window just as the military were breaking open the
door. At another time, seeing the windows of a house
kept close, and several persons going to visit the
family after dark, the commander broke in at the
window of the suspected chamber, with two loaded

Sistols,

and thus endangered the life of a lady newly
elivered of a child, on account of whose cgnfinement

these suspicious circumstances had taken place. This
shows that there was no want of diligence on the part
of the pursuers. Cluny himself became so cautious,
while

living
the life of an outlaw, that on parting

with his wife, or his most attached friends, he never
told them to which of his concealments he was going,
or suffered any one to accompany him, thus ena-
bling them, when questioned, to answer, that thev
knew not where he was." Idem.

It may be here stated en passant that Cluny did not
leave Scotland from his "dreary and hopeless state of
existence," but in compliance with a special request
made to him by Prince Charles. See a letter from
the prince to Cluny, of 4th Sept., 1754, amon^ the
Stuart Papers.

were concealed in the interior, who would again

communicate it to persons in the knowledge of

the prince's place of retreat. For some time

Colonel Warren, of Dillon's regiment, had been

exerting himself to induce the French govern-

ment to fit out an expedition to rescue Charles

from his toils. He at last succeeded in pro-

curing two vessels of war, L'Heureux and La
Princesse de Conti, with which he departed
from St. Malo about the end of August. In

the event of his bringing the prince safe away,
the Chevalier de St. George had promised to

make him a Knight Earonet, a dignity which

he afterwards conferred upon him. 3

These vessels arrived in Lochnanuagh early

in September, and Captain Sheridan, a son of

Sir Thomas Sheridan, and a Mr. O'Beirne, a

lieutenant in the French service, immediately
landed and waited upon Glenaladale, who, they
were informed, knew where Charles was. This

faithful friend, happy at the prospect of escape
which now offered, set off the same night for

the place where he expected to find Charles,

to communicate to him the agreeable intelli-

gence ;
but to his great sorrow he found the

prince gone, and he could fall in with no per-

son who could give him the least information

of his route. Clunes, from whom Glenaladale

expected to get tidings of Charles, had, in con-

sequence of the destruction of his hut, gone to

another quarter, and was not to be found.

Whilst ruminating over his disappointment, a

poor woman accidentally came to the place

where he was, and he had the good fortune to

ascertain from her the place of Clunes's retreat.

Having found him out, he and Clunes instantly

despatched a messenger to Charles with the

joyful intelligence; and Glenaladale then re-

turned to Lochnanuagh, to notify to Colonel

Warren that Charles might be speedily ex-

pected in that quarter.

The messenger arrived at Benalder on the

13th of September, on which day Charles left

his romantic abode, and, after taking leave of

Cluny, set off on his journey for the coast,

accompanied by Lochiel and others. He at

the same time sent off confidential messengers
in different directions, to acquaint such of his

3 Vide several letters from Colonel Warren to the
Chevalier de St. George and others, among Stuart

Papers.
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friends as he could reach, announcing the ar-

rival of the ships, that they might have an

opportunity of joining him if inclined. As

Charles and his friends travelled only by night,

they did not reach Borodale, the place of em-

barkation, till the 19th. On the road Charles

was joined by Lochgarry, John Eoy Stewart,

Dr. Cameron, and other gentlemen who in-

tended to accompany him to France. Besides

these, many others had left their different

hiding places on hearing of the arrival of the

French vessels, and had repaired to the coast

of Moidart, also waiting for the arrival of him

for whose sake they had forfeited their lives,

intending to adopt the bitter alternative of

bidding an eternal adieu to their native land.

The number of persons assembled was about a

hundred.

The career of Charles in the hereditary do-

minions of his ancestors was now ended. At-

tended by seven persons only, he had, with

daring hardihood, landed about fourteen months

before on the spot where he was destined to

depart as a fugitive, and, with a handful of

men, had raised the standard of insurrection

and set the whole power of the government at

open defiance. The early part of his progress

had been brilliant. With a few thousand

undisciplined mountaineers, he had overrun

land, in the face of three hostile armies, had

carried dismay to the capital. The retreat

from Derby, the merit of which belongs to

Lord George Murray exclusively, quieted for a

time the apprehensions of the government ;

but the defeat at Falkirk again convinced it

that the succession settlement was still in

danger ;
and that, perhaps, at no distant day,

the young and daring adventurer might place

the son of James II. upon the throne from

which his father had been expelled. Even

after his retreat to Inverness, the supporters of

the house of Hanover could have no assurance

that the Duke of Cumberland's army might
not share the fate of its predecessors, in which

event the new dynasty would probably have

ceased to reign ;
but the triumphs of Charles

were at an end, and the fatal field of Culloden,

after witnessing the bravery of his troops, be-

came the grave of his hopes. Then commenced

that series of extraordinary adventures and won-

derful escapes, of which some account has been

i.

given, and which could scarcely have been

credited had they not been authenticated be-

yond the possibility of dispute. During the

brilliant part of his career Charles had dis-

played great moderation and forbearance
;
and

though his spirits sank when compelled to re-

treat, yet in the hour of adversity, when beset

with perils and exposed to privations which

few princes could have endured, he exhibited

uncommon fortitude, strength of mind, and

cheerfulness.

In his wanderings Charles laid down a rule

to himself, to which he scrupulously adhered,

never to intrust any person from whom he

was about to depart with the secret of his

route, so that, with the exception of the few

friends who were about him for the time being,

none of those to whom he had been formerly
indebted for his preservation knew the place

of his retreat. This was a wise precaution, but

was attended with this disadvantage, that it

prevented him from acquiring early information

of the arrival of the French vessels upon the

coast. But no means he was able to take for

his own security could have saved him, had he

not had a guarantee in the incorruptible fidelity

of the persons into whose hands he committed

himself. At the risk of their own destruction

they extended to him the aid of their protec-

tion, and relieved his necessities. Many of

these persons were of desperate fortunes, and

there were others in the lowest ranks of life
;

yet, among nearly 200 persons to whom Charles

must have been known during the five months

he wandered as a fugitive, not one ever offered

to betray him, though they knew that a price

of 30,000 was set upon his head. History no-

where presents such a splendid instance of dis-

interested attachment to an unfortunate family.

Accompanied by Lochiel, Lochgarry, John

Eoy Stewart, Dr. Cameron, and a considerable

number of other adherents, Charles departed

from Lochnanuagh on the 20th of September,

and had a favourable passage to the coast of

France, where he landed on Monday the 29th

of September. He immediately proceeded to

Morlaix, whence he despatched Colonel Warren

the same day to Paris, to announce his arrival

to the French court. He also sent at the same

time a letter to his brother Henry, to the same

effect, and enclosed a similar one to his father;

4 Y
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CHAPTER XXXVIII.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN : George II., 17271760.

A. D. 1746-1747.

Commission of Oyer and Terminer Trial of prisoners

Francis Townley Jemmy Dawson Lords Kil-

marnock. Cromarty, and Jklmerino Execution of

these noblemen Other executions Trials at Car-

lisle and York Trial and execution of Mr. Eatcliffe

Trial and execution of Lord Lorat Act of Indem-

nity passed.

WHILST the issue of the contest remained

doubtful, the government took no steps to pun-

ish the prisoners who had fallen into their

hands at Carlisle ;
but after the decisive affair

of Culloden, when there appeared no chance of

the Jacobite party ever having it in their power

to retaliate, the government resolved to vindi-

cate the authority of the law by making ex-

amples of some of the prisoners.

As it was intended to try the prisoners at

different places for the sake of convenience, an

act was passed empowering his majesty to try

them in any county he might select.

On the 24th and 25th of June bills of indict-

ment were found against 36 of the prisoners

taken at Carlisle, and against one David Mor-

gan, a barrister, who had been apprehended in

Staffordshire. The court then adjourned till

the 3d of July, on which day the prisoners were

arraigned. Three only pleaded guilty. The

rest applied for a postponement of their trials on

the ground that material witnesses for their

defence were at a considerable distance. The
court in consequence ruled that in cases where

witnesses were in England the trial should be

put off to the 15th of July, and where they
were in Scotland, to the 25th of the same month.

The court accordingly met on the 15th of

July, and proceeded with the trial of Erancis

Townley, Esquire, before a grand jury, at the

court-house, Southwark, This unfortunate

gentleman had been colonel of the Manchester

regiment. He was of a respectable family in

Lancashire. Obliged to retire to Erance in 1728,
he had obtained a commission from the King
of France, and had served at the siege of

Philipsburgh under the Duke of Berwick, who
lost his life before the walls of that place. He
continued sixteen years in the French service

;

and after his return to England had received a

commission to raise a regiment. A plea was

set up by his council, that holding a com-

mission in the French service he was entitled

to the benefit of the cartel as well as any other

French officer, but this was overruled, and he

was found guilty. On the next and two fol-

lowing days eighteen other persons, chiefly offi-

cers in the said regiment, were brought to trial.

Five were attainted by their own confession

of high treason, twelve on a verdict of high
treason of levying war against the king, and

one was acquitted. These seventeen persons,

along with Townley, were all condemned to

death, and nine of them, including Townley,
were selected for execution on the 30th. The

rest were reprieved for three weeks.

Kensington common was the place destined

for the execution of these unfortunate men,
most of whom met their fate with fortitude and

resignation. The execution was accompanied
with the disgusting and barbarous details usual

at that time in cases of treason.

Two singular and interesting circumstances

occurred at this execution. The one was the

attendance of a younger brother of Lieutenant

Thomas Deacon's, of the Manchester Regiment,
and one of those who had obtained a reprieve.

At his own request he was allowed to witness

the execution of his brother in a coach under

the charge of a guard. The other was one of

a very affecting description. Hurried away by
the impetuosity of youth, James Dawson, one

of the sufferers, the son of a Lancashire gentle-

man, had abandoned his studies at St. John's

college, Cambridge, and had joined the Jacob-

ite standard. He and a young lady of good

family and handsome fortune were warmly
attached to each other, and had Dawson been

acquitted, or, after condemnation, found mercy,
the day of his enlargement was to have been

that of their marriage. When all hopes of

mercy were extinguished, the young lady re-

solved to witness the execution of her lover,

and so firm was her resolution, that no persua-

sions of her friends could induce her to aban-

don her determination. On the morning of

the execution she accordingly followed the

sledges to the place of execution in a hackney

coach, accompanied by a gentleman nearly re-

lated to her, and one female friend. She got
near enough to see the fire kindled which was
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to consume that heart she knew was so much
devoted to her, and to observe the other ap-

palling preparations without committing any
of those extravagances her friends had appre-

hended. She had even the fortitude to re-

strain her feelings while the executioner was

pulling the cap over the eyes of her lover; but

when he was thrown off she in an agony of

grief drew back her head into the coach, and,

crying out,
" My dear, I follow thee, I follow

thee; sweet Jesus, receive both our souls to-

gether!" fell upon the neck of her female com-

panion, and instantly expired.
4

The principal witness against Townley,

Deacon, Dawson, and others, was Samuel

Maddock, an ensign in the same regiment, who,
to save his own life, turned king's evidence

against his former comrades. 3

The individuals next proceeded against were

persons of a higher grade. The Marquis of

Tullibardine escaped the fate which awaited

him, having died of a lingering indisposition

in. the Tower on the 9th of July; but on the

23d of that month the grand jury of the county
of Surrey found bills for high treason against

the Earls of Kilmarnock, and Cromarty, and

Lord Balmerino. Lord-chancellor Hardwicke

was appointed Lord High Steward for the trial

of these peers. The indictments being certified,

the house of lords fixed the 28th of July for

the day of trial. Accordingly, on the day ap-

pointed the three lords proceeded from the

Tower towards Westminster-hall, where the

trial was conducted with great pomp and cere-

mony.
After the indictments had been read, the

Earls of Kilmarnock and Cromarty pleaded
"
guilty," and threw themselves entirely upon

the king's mercy. Before pleading to his indict-

ment, Lord Balmerino stated that he was net

at Carlisle at the time specified in the indict-

ment, being eleven miles off when that city

was taken, and he requested to know from his

grace if it would avail him any thing to prove
that fact. Lord Hardwicke said that such a

circumstance might, or might not, be of use to

him; but he informed him that it was con-

4 Shenstone has commemorated this melancholy
event in his plaintive ballad of 'Jemmy Dawson.'

5 Carlisle in '45, p. 244.

trary to form to permit him to put any ques-

tions before pleading to the indictment, by

saying whether he was guilty or not guilty.

His grace desiring his lordship to plead, the

intrepid
6 Balmerino apparently not understand-

ing the meaning of that legal term, exclaimed,

with great animation, "Plead! Why, I am

pleading as fast as I can." The lord-high-

steward having explained the import of the

phrase, the noble baron answered,
" Not guilty."

The trial then proceeded. Four witnesses

were examined. One of them proved that he

saw Lord Balmerino ride into Carlisle on a bay
horse the day after it was taken by the High-

landers; that he saw him afterwards ride up
to the market-place with Ms sword drawn at

the head of his troop of horse, which was the

second troop of Charles's body guards, and

was called Elphinstone's horse. Another wit-

ness deponed that he saw his lordship ride into

Manchester at the head of his troop, and that

he was there when the young Chevalier was

proclaimed regent. Two other witnesses proved
that his lordship was called colonel of his

troop, that he always acted in that station,

gave orders on all occasions to his officers, and

that he was in great favour with Prince

Charles. The evidence on the part of the

crown having been finished, the lord-high-

steward asked the prisoner if he had any thing

to offer in his defence, or meant to call any
witnesses. His lordship replied that he had

nothing to say, but to make an exception to

the indictment which was incorrect in charg-

ing him with being at Carlisle at the time it

was taken by the Highlanders. The peers

then resolved to take the opinion of the judges

upon the point, and these were unanimously of

opinion, that, as an overt act of treason and

other acts of treason had been proved beyond

contradiction, there was no occasion to prove

explicitly every thing that was laid in the in-

6 "He is," says Walpole,
" the most natural, brave

old fellow I ever saw : the highest intrepidity, even to

indifference. At the bar he behaved like a soldier

and a man
;
in the intervals of form, with carelessness

and humour. ... At the bar he plays with his fingers

upon the axe, while he talks to the gentleman gaoler ;

and one day, somebody coming up to listen, he took
the blade and held it like a fan between their faces.

During the trial a little boy was near him, but not
tall enough to see ; he made room for the child, and

placed him near himself."
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dictinent; and that, of course, the prisoner's

objection was not material. The peers then

unanimously found Lord Balmerino guilty of

high treason, after which, the other two lords

were brought to the bar, and were informed

by the lord-high-steward, that if either of

them had any thing to move in arrest of judg-

ment, they must come prepared on the Wed-

nesday following at eleven o'clock, and state

their objections, otherwise sentence of death

would be awarded against them. The three

lords were then carried back to the Tower in

coaches, and the axe, which was in the coach

with Lord Balmerino, had its edge pointed to-

wards him.

The court accordingly met again on Wed-

nesday the 30th of July, when the lord-high-

steward addressed the prisoners ;
and begin-

ning with Lord Kilmarnock, asked him if he

had any thing to oifer why judgment of death

should not be passed against him. His lord-

ship stated, that having, from a due sense of

his folly, and the heinousness of his crimes,

acknowledged his guilt, he meant to offer no-

thing in extenuation, but to throw himself

entirely on the compassion of the court, that

it might intercede with his majesty for his

royal clemency. He then, in a somewhat

humble speech, urged several reasons why he

should be treated with clemency, expressing

great contrition for having, somewhat against

his own inclination, joined in the " unnatural

scheme." He concluded by stating, that if

after what he had stated their lordships did

not feel themselves called upon to employ their

interest with his majesty for his royal cle-

mency, that he would lay down his life with
the utmost resignation, and that his last mo-
ments should " be employed in fervent prayer
for the preservation of the illustrious house of

Hanover, and the peace and prosperity of

Great Britain."

The Earl of Cromarty began a most humil-

iating but pathetic appeal, by declaring that
he had been guilty of an offence which merited
the highest indignation of his majesty, their

lordships, and the public; and that it was
from a conviction of his guilt that he had not

presumed to trouble their lordships with any
defence. "

Nothing remains, my lords," he con-

tinued, "but to throw myself, my life, and

fortune, upon your lordships' compassion ; but

of these, my lords, as to myself is the least

part of my sufferings. I have involved an

affectionate wife, with an unborn infant, as

parties of my guilt, to share its penalties ;
I

have involved my eldest son, whose infancy

and regard for his parents hurried him down

the stream of rebellion. I have involved also

eight innocent children, who must feel their

parent's punishment before they know his

guilt. Let them, my lords, be pledges to his

majesty ;
let them be pledges to your lord-

ships ;
let them be pledges to my country for

mercy ;
let the silent eloquence of their grief

and tears
;

let the powerful language of inno-

cent nature supply my want of eloquence and

persuasion ; let me enjoy mercy, but no longer

than I deserve it
;
and let me no longer enjoy

life than I shall use it to deface the crime I

have been guilty of. Whilst I thus intercede

to his majesty through the mediation of your

lordships for mercy, let my remorse for my
guilt as a subject ;

let the sorrow of my heart

as a husband
;

let the anguish of my mind as

a father, speak the rest of my misery. As

your lordships are men, feel as men
;
but may

none of you ever suffer the smallest part of

my anguish. But if after all, my lords, my
safety shall be found inconsistent with that of

the public, and nothing but my blood can atone

for my unhappy crime
;

if the sacrifice of my
life, my fortune and family, is judged indis-

pensably necessary for stopping the loud de-

mands for public justice ;
and if the bitter cup

is not to pass from me, not mine, but thy will,

God, be done."

When the lord-high-steward addressed Lord

Balmerino, he produced a paper, and desired

it might be read. His grace told his lordship
that he was at liberty to read it if he pleased ;

but his lordship replied that his voice was too

IOAV, and that he could not read it so distinctly

as he could wish. One of the clerks of parlia-

ment, by order of the lord-high-steward, then

read the paper, which was to this effect :

That although his majesty had been empowered

by an act of parliament, made the last session,

to appoint the trials for high treason to take

place in any county he should appoint ; yet, as

the alleged act of treason was stated to have

been committed at Carlisle, and prior to the
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passing of the said act, he ought to have been

indicted at Carlisle, and net in the county of

Surrey, as the act could not have a retrospec-

tive effect. His lordship prayed the court to

assign him counsel to argue the point. The

peers, after consideration, agreed to his petition

for counsel, and at his request assigned him

Messrs. Wilbraham and Forrester, and ad-

journed the court to the 1st of August.

The three prisoners were again brought back

from the Tower. On that day the lord-high-

steward asked Lord Balmerino if he was then

ready by his counsel to argue the point, which

he proposed to the court on the previous day.

His lordship answered, that as his counsel had

advised him that there was nothing in the

objection sufficient to found an arrest of judg-

ment upon, he begged to Avithdraw the objec-

tion, and craved their lordships' pardon for

giving them so much trouble. The prisoners

then all declaring that they submitted them-

selves to the court, Lord Hardwicke addressed

them in a suitable speech, and concluded by

pronouncing the following sentence :

5 " The

judgment of the law is, and this high court

doth award, that you, William. Earl of Kil-

marnock
; George, Earl of Cromarty ;

and Ar-

thur Lord Balmerino, and every of you, return

to the prison of the Tower from whence you
came : from thence you must be drawn to the

place of execution : when you come there, you

must be hanged by the neck, but not till you
are dead

;
for you must be cut down alive

;

then your bowels must be taken out and burnt

before your faces
;
then your heads must be

severed from your bodies
;
and your bodies

must be divided each into four quarters ;
and

these must be at the king's disposal. And God

Almighty be merciful to your souls." Then

the prisoners were removed from the bar, and

after taking a cold collation which had been

prepared for them, were carried back to the

Tower in the same order and form as before.

The Earl of Kilmarnock immediately pre-

sented a petition to the king for mercy, and

also another, a copy of the first, to the Prince

of Wales, praying his royal highness's inter-

5 As will bo seen, the more barbarous and ignomi-
nious part of the sentence was not carried into effect

;

Kilmarnock and Balmerino were put to "death by
simple decapitation.

cession with his majesty in his behalf; and a

third to the Duke of Cumberland for a similar

purpose. In this last mentioned petition he

asserted his innocence of charges which had

been made against him, of having advised the

putting to death of the prisoners taken by the

Highland army before the battle of Culloden,

and of advising or approving of an alleged

order for giving no quarter to his majesty's

troops in that battle. In the petitions to the

king and the Prince of Wales, the earl declared

that he had surrendered himself at the battle

of Culloden, at a time when he could have

easily escaped ;
but he afterwards admitted

that the statement was untrue, and that he was

induced to make it from a str5ng desire for

life
;
that he had no intention of surrendering ;

and that, with the view of facilitating his

escape, he had gone towards the body of horse

which made him prisoner, thinking that it was

Fitz-James's horse, with the design of mount-

ing behind a dragoon. These petitions were

entirely disregarded.

The Earl of Cromarty, with better claims to

mercy, also petitioned the king. In support

of this application the countess waited upon
the lords of the cabinet council, and presented

a petition to each of them
; and, on the Sunday

following the sentence, she went to Kensington-

palace in deep mourning, accompanied by Lady

Stair, to intercede with his majesty in behalf

of her husband. She was a woman of great

strength of mind, and though far advanced in

pregnancy, had hitherto displayed surprising

fortitude
;
but on the present trying occasion

she gave way to grief. She took her station

in the entrance through which the king was to

pass to chapel, and when he approached she

fell upon her knees, seized him by the coat,

and presented her supplication, fainted away
at his feet. The king immediately raised her

up, and taking the petition, gave it in charge

of the Duke of Grafton, one of his attendants.

He then desired Lady Stair to conduct her to

one of the apartments. The Dukes of Hamil-

ton and Montrose, the Earl of Stair and other

courtiers, backed these petitions for the royal

mercy by a personal application to the king,

whc granted a pardo-n to the earl on the 9th

of August.
The hi^h-minded Balmerino disdained to
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compromise his principles by suing for pardon,

and when he heard that his fellow-prisoners had

applied for mercy, he sarcastically remarked,

that as they must have great interest at court,

they might have squeezed his name in with

their own. From the time of his sentence

down to his execution, he showed no symptoms

of fear. He never entertained any hopes of

pardon, for he said he considered his case

desperate, as he had been once pardoned before.

When Lady Balmerino expressed her great con-

cern for the approaching fate of her Lord, he

said,
" Grieve not, my dear Peggy, we must all

die once, and this is but a few years very likely

before my death must have happened some

other way : therefore, wipe away your tears
;

you may marry again, and get a better hus-

band." About a week after his sentence a

gentleman went to see him, and apologising

for intruding upon him when he had such a

short time to live, his lordship replied,
" Oh !

Sir, no intrusion at all : I have done nothing

to make my conscience uneasy. I shall die

Avith a true heart, and undaunted
;
for I think

no man fit to live who is not fit to die
;
nor

am I any ways concerned at what I have done."

Being asked a few days before his execution in

what manner he would go to the scaffold, he

answered,
" I will go in the regimentals which

I wore when I was first taken, with a woollen

shirt next my skin, which will serve me instead

of a shroud to be buried in." Being again
asked why he would not have a new suit of

black, he replied,
" It would be thought very

imprudent in a man to repair an old house

when the lease of it was near expiring ;
and

the lease of my life expires next Monday."
The king could not but admire the high bear-

ing and manly demeanour of this unfortunate

nobleman
; and when the friends of the other

prisoners were making unceasing applications
to him for mercy, he said,

" Does nobody inter-

cede for poor Balmerino 1 He, though a rebel,
is at least an honest man." According to Wai-

pole, Balmerino was "jolly with his pretty

Peggy
"
almost to the very last.

On the llth of August an order was signed
in council for the execution of the Earl of Kil-

marnock and Lord Balmerino, and on the 12th
two writs passed the great seal, empowering
the constable of the Tover to deliver their

bodies to the sheriffs of London, for execution

on Monday the 18th. The order for their exe-

cution on the 18th of August having been

announced to the unfortunate noblemen by Mr.

Foster, a dissenting clergyman, Lord Kilmar-

nock received the intelligence with all the com-

posure of a man resigned to his fate, but at the

same time with a deep feeling of concern for

his future state. Balmerino, who perhaps had

as strong a sense of religion as Kilmarnock,
received the news with the utmost unconcern.

He and his lady were sitting at dinner when
the warrant arrived, and, being informed of it,

her ladyship started up from the table and

fainted away. His lordship raised her up, and,

after she had recovered, he requested her to

resume her seat .at table and finish her dinner.

On the Saturday preceding the execution,

General Williamson, at Kilmarnock's desire, as

is supposed, gave him a minute detail of all the

circumstances of solemnity and outward terror

which would accompany it.

Balmerino was not actuated with the same

feeling of curiosity as Kilmarnock was to know
the circumstances which would attend his exe-

cution, but awaited his fate with the indiffer-

ence of a martyr desirous of sealing his faith

with his blood. The following letter, written

by him on the eve of his execution, to the

Chevalier de St. George, strikingly exemplifies

the cool intrepidity of the man, and the ster-

ling honesty with which he adhered to his

principles :

"
SIE, You may remember that, in the year

1716, when your Majesty was in Scotland, 1

left a company of foot, purely with a design to

serve your Majesty, and, had I not made my
escape then, I should certainly have been shot

for a deserter.

" When I was abroad I lived many years at

my own charges before I ask'd any thing from

you, being unwilling to trouble your Majesty
while I had any thing of my own to live upon,
and when my father wrote me that he had a

remission for me, which was got without my
asking or knowledge, I did not accept of it till

I first had your Majesty's permission. Sir,

when His Royal Highness the Prince, your

son, came to Edinburgh, as it was my bouriden

and indispensable duty, I joyn'd him, for which
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I am to-morrow to lose my head on a scaffold,

whereat I am so far from being dismayed, that

it gives me great satisfaction and peace of mind

that I die in so righteous a cause. I hope, Sir,

on these considerations, your Majesty will pro-

vide for my wife so as she may not want bread,

which otherwise she must do, my brother hav-

ing left more debt on the estate than it was

worth, and having nothing in the world to give

her. I am, with the most profound respect,

Sir, your Majesty's most faithful and devoted

subject and servant,
" BALMERINO.""

" TOWER OF LONDON, ")

17th August, 1746."]"

On Monday, the 18th of August, great pre-

parations were made on Tower-hill for the

execution. At ten o'clock the block was fixed

on the stage, covered with black cloth, and

several sacks of sawdust were provided to be

strewed upon the scaffold. Soon after the two

coffins were brought and placed upon the scaf-

fold. Upon Kilmarnock's coffin was a plate

with this inscription,
" Gulielmus Comes de

Kilmarnock, decollatus 18 Augusti, 1746, setat.

suse 42," with an earl's coronet over it, and

six coronets over the six handles. The plate

on Balmerino's coffin bore this inscription,

8 The original of the above letter, from which this

copy was taken, is among the Stuart Papers, and is

written in a remarkably bold and steady hand. The
Chevalier sent a copy of this letter to Charles on 20th

January, 1747.
"

I send you," says he,
" a copy of

poor Lord Balmerino's letter. I shall inquire about
his widow, and send her some relief if she stands in

need of it.
"

Stuart Papers. James was as good as his

word. See Mr. Theodore Hay's letter to Secretary

Edgar, of 10th June, 1747, and Lady Balmerino's

receipt, 18th May following, for 60, in the Stuart

Papers. The letter of Lord Balmerino, and the cir-

cumstances of his death, are feelingly alluded to in a

letter written by Lady Balmerino to the Chevalier,
from Edinburgh, on 15th June, 1751: "Before my
dear lord's execution, he leaving this world, and hav-

ing no other concern in time but me, wrote a letter to

your Majesty, dated 17th August, 1746, recommending
me and my destitute condition to your Majesty's com-
miseration and bounty. You are well informed of his

undaunted courage and bfehaviour at his death, so that

even your Majesty's enemies and his do unanimously
confess that he died like a hero, and asserted and added
a lustre which never will be forgot to the undoubted

right your Majesty has to your three realms. He had
the honour to have been in your Majesty's domestick
service in Italy, and ever preserved, before his last

appearance, an inviolable, constant attachment to your
royal house and interest, which at last he not only
confirmed by his dying words, but sealed it with his

blood, than which a greater token and proof it is not of

a subject to give of his love and fidelity to his sov-

ereign.

" Arthurus Dominus de Balmerino, decollatus

18 Augusti, 1746, eetat. suse 58," surmounted

by a baron's coronet, and with six others over

the handles.

These preparations were completed about

half-past ten, when the sheriffs, accompanied

by their officers, went to the Tower, and, knock-

ing at the door, demanded " The bodies of

William, Earl of Kilmarnock, and Arthur,
Lord Balmerino." General Williamson there-

upon went to inform the prisoners that the

sheriffs were in attendance. When told that

he was wanted, Lord Kilmarnock, who had

just been engaged in prayer with Mr. Foster,

betrayed no fear, but said, with great com-

posure,
"
General, I am ready; I'll follow you."

On leaving the Tower, Kilmarnock and Bal-

merino met at the foot of the stair. They em-

braced each other, and Balmerino said,
" I am

heartily sorry to have your company in this

expedition." The ill-fated noblemen were then

brought to the Tower-gate, and delivered over

to the sheriffs. When the prisoners were leav-

ing the Tower, the deputy-lieutenant, according

to an ancient usage, cried,
" God bless King

George !" to which Kilmarnock assented by a

bow, but Balmerino emphatically exclaimed,
" God bless King James !" The prisoners

were then conducted to the house fitted up for

their reception, and, being put into separate

apartments, their friends were admitted to soo

them. When the prisoners arrived at the door

of the house, some persons among the crowd

were heard asking others,
" Which is Lord

Balmerino T' His lordship, overhearing the

question, turned a little about, and, with a

smile, said,
" I am Balmerino, gentlemen, at

your service."

About eleven o'clock Lord Balmerino sent a

message to Lord Kilmarnock requesting an

interview, which being consented to, Balmerino

was brought into Kilmarnock's apartment.

The following dialogue, as reported by Mr.

Foster, then ensued. BALMERINO " My lord,

I beg leave to ask your lordship one question."

KILMARNOCK " To any question, my lord,

that you shall think proper to ask, I believe I

shall see no reason to decline giving an an-

swer." B. " Why then, my lord, did you ever

see or know of any order signed by the prince,

to give no quarter at Culloden?" K. "
No, my
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lord." B. "Nor I neither; and therefore it

seems to be an invention to justify their own

murders." K. "
No, my lord, I do not think

that inference can be drawn from it; because,

while 1 was at Inverness, I was informed by

several officers that there was such an order,

signed 'George Murray;' and that it was in

the duke's custody. B. " Lord George Mur-

ray! Why, then, they should not charge it

upon the prince." After this conversation the

prisoners tenderly saluted each other, and Bal-

merino, after bidding his friend in affliction

an eternal and happy adieu, added, with a

countenance beaming with benignity, "My
dear lord, I wish I could alone pay the reckon-

ing and suffer for us both."

Lord Kilmarnock appeared to be most anx-

ious to impress upon the minds of those who

were with him the sincerity of his repentance

for the crime for which he was about to suffer.

He declared himself fully satisfied with the

legality of King George's title to the crown,

and stated that his attachment to the reigning

family, which had suffered a slight interrup-

tion, was then as strong as ever. He spent a

considerable time in devotion with Mr. Foster,

till he got a hint from the sheriffs that the

time was far advanced, his rank as an earl giv-

ing him a melancholy priority on the scaffold.

After Mr. Foster had said a short prayer, his

lordship took a tender farewell of the persons
who attended him, and, preceded by the sher-

iffs, left the room followed by his friends.

Notwithstanding the great trouble he had

taken, in accordance with the wish of Mr.

Foster, to familiarise his mind with the out-

ward apparatus of death, he was appalled when
he stepped upon the scaffold at beholding the

dreadful scene around him, and, turning round
about to one of the clergymen, said,

"
Home,

this is terrible!" He was attired in a suit of
black clothes, and, though his countenance was

composed, he had a melancholy air about him,
which indicated great mental suffering. Many
of the spectators near the scaffold were so much
affected by his appearance that they could not
refrain from tears, and even the executioner
was so overcome that he was obliged to drink
several glasses of spirits to enable him to per-
form his dreadful duty.

Mr. Foster, who had accompanied his lord-

ship to the scaffold, remained on it a short

time in earnest conversation, and having quit-

ted it, the executioner came forward and asked

his lordship's forgiveness in executing the very

painful task he had to perform. The unhappy
nobleman informed the executioner that he

readily forgave him, and presenting him a purse

containing five guineas, desired him to have

courage. His lordship then took off his upper

clothes, turned down the neck of his shirt

under his vest, and undoing his long dressed

hair from the bag which contained it, tied it

round his head in a damask cloth in the form

of a cap. He then informed the executioner

that he would drop a handkerchief as a signal

for the stroke about two minutes after he had

laid his head down upon the block. Either

to support himself, or as a more convenient

posture for devotion, he laid his hands upon
the block. On observing this the executioner

begged his lordship to let his hands fall down,
lest they should be mangled or break the blow.

Being told that the neck of his waistcoat was

in the way, he rose up, and with the help of

Colonel Craufurd, one of his friends, had it

taken off. The neck being now made com-

pletely bare to the shoulders, the earl again
knelt down as before. This occurrence 'did

not in the least discompose him, and Mr.

Home's servant, who held the cloth to receive

his head, heard him, after laying down his

head the second time, put the executioner in

mind that in two minutes he would give the

signal. He spent this short time in fervent

devotion. Then, fixing his neck upon the

block, he gave the fatal signal ;
his body re-

mained without the least motion till the stroke

of the axe, which at the first blow almost se-

vered the head from the body. A small piece

of skin which still united them was cut through

by another stroke. The head, which was re-

ceived into a scarlet cloth, was not exposed, in

consequence, it is said, of the earl's own re-

quest, but along with the body, was deposited

in the coffin, which was delivered to his friends,

and placed by them in the hearse. The scaf-

fold was then strewed over with fresh saw-

dust, and the executioner, who was dressed in

white, changed such of his clothes as were

stained with blood.

The first act of this bloody tragedy being
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now over, the under-sheriff went to Balmerino's

apartments to give him notice that his time

was come. " I suppose," said his lordship on

seeing this functionary enter,
" my Lord Kil-

marnock is no more." Being answered in the

affirmative, he asked the under-sheriff how the

executioner had performed his duty, and upon

receiving the account, he said, "then it was
well done, and now, gentlemen, (continued the

inflexible Balmerino, turning to his friends,) I

will detain you no longer, for I desire not to

protract my life." During the time spent in

Kilmarnock's execution Balmerino had con-

versed cheerfully with his friends, and twice

refreshed himself with a bit of bread and a

glass of wine, desiring the company to drink

him " a degree to heaven." Saluting each of

his friends in the most affectionate manner, he

bade them all adieu, and leaving them bathed

in tears, he hastened to the scaffold, which he

mounted with a firm step.

The strong feeling of pity with which the

spectators had beheld the handsome thougn
emaciated figure of the gentle Kilmarnock gave

place to sensations of another kind, when they
beheld the bold and strongly-built personage
who now stood on the stage before them.

Attired in the same regimentals of blue turned

up with red which he had worn at the battle of

Culloden, and treading the scaffold with a firm

step and an undaunted air, he gloried in the

cause for which he suffered, and forcedthe assem-

bled multitude to pay an unwilling tribute of

admiration to his greatness of soul. His friends,

on beholding the apparatus of death, expressed

great concern
;
but his lordship reproved their

anxiety. His lordship walked round the scaf-

fold, and bowed to the people. He then went

to the coffin, and reading the inscription, said

it was correct. With great composure he exa-

mined the block, which he called his
"
pillow

of rest." He then put on his spectacles, and,

pulling a paper from his pocket, read it to the

few persons about him, in which he declared

his firm attachment to the house of Stuart, and

stated that the only fault he had ever com-

mitted deserving his present fate, and for which

he expressed his sincere regret, was in having
served in the armies of the enemies of that

house, Queen Anne and George I. He com-

plained that he had not been well used by the

lieutenant of the Tower, but that having re-

ceived the sacrament the day before, and read

several of the Psalms of David, he had for-

given him, and said that he now died in charity
with all men.

Calling at last for the executioner, that func-

tionary stepped forward to ask his forgiveness,

but Balmerino interrupted him, and said,
"
Friend, you need not ask my forgiveness ;

the execution of your duty is commendable."

Then, presenting him with three guineas, his

lordship added,
"
Friend, I never had much

money ;
this is all I have, I wish it was more

for your sake, and I am sorry I can add nothing
else to it but my coat and waistcoat." These

he instantly took off, and laid them down on

the coffin. He then put on the flannel waist-

coat which he had provided, and a tartan

cap on his head, to signify, as he said, that

he died a Scotchman
;
and going to the block,

placed his head upon it in order to show the

executioner the signal for the blow, which

was by dropping his arms. Eeturning then

to his friends, he took an affectionate fare-

well of them, and, surveying the vast num-
ber of spectators, said,

" I am afraid there are

some who may think my behaviour bold
; but,"

addressing a gentleman near him, he added,
"
remember, Sir, what I tell you ;

it arises from

a confidence in God, and a clear conscience."

Observing at this moment the executioner

with the axe in his hand, he went up, and,

taking it from him, felt the edge. On return-

ing the fatal instrument, Balmerino showed

him where to strike the blow, and encour-

aged him to do it with resolution,
"
for in that,

friend," said he,
" will consist your mercy."

His lordship, then, with a countenance beam-

ing with joy, knelt down at the block, and ex-

tending his arms, said the following prayer :

"
Lord, reward my friends, forgive my

enemies, bless the prince and the duke, and

receive my soul." He then instantly dropt
his arms. The executioner, taken unawares by
the suddenness of the signal, hurriedly raised

the axe, and missing his aim, struck the ill-fated

lord between the shoulders, a blow which, it has

been said, deprived the unfortunate nobleman

of sensation
;
but it has been averred by some

of the spectators, that Balmerino turned his

head a little round upon the block, gnashed
4z
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his teeth, and gave the executioner a ghastly

stare. Taking immediately a better aim, the

executioner gave a second blow, which almost

severed the head from the body, and deprived

the noble victim of life. The body having

fallen from the block, it was instantly replaced,

and the executioner, once more raising the

fatal weapon, finished his task. The head was

received in a piece of red cloth, and deposited

along with the body in the coffin, and being

put into a hearse, was carried to the chapel of

the Tower, and buried with that of Lord Kil-

marnock, near the remains of Lord Tullibardine.

Mr. Humphreys, curate of the chapel, read the

funeral service, and when he came to the words,
" Ashes to ashes, dust to dust," two gentlemen,

friends of the deceased, took up the spades and

performed the office of the grave-diggers.

For a time the unhappy fate of the two lords

almost exclusively engaged the attention of the

public; and in private circles, as well as in the

periodicals of the day, the conduct and bear-

ing of the unfortunate noblemen were viewed

and commented upon according to the parti-

alities and feelings of the parties. By the

whigs, and generally by all persons of a real or

affected seriousness of mind, Kilmarnock was

regarded as a perfect model of the dying Chris-

tian, who, though he had been guilty of base

ingratitude to the government, and had told a

falsehood at his trial, had fully atoned for his

offences by his contrition
;

whilst his com-

panion in suffering was looked upon as an

incorrigible rebel, who had braved death with

an unbecoming levity. The Jacobites, how-

ever, and even some of the friends of the revo-

lution settlement, whilst they could not but

admire the calm resignation of Kilmarnock,

heartily despised the cringing pusillanimity
which he displayed to soften the resentment of

the government. Balmerino was viewed by
them in a very different light. Whilst the

Jacobites looked upon him as an illustrious

martyr, who had added a lustre to their cause

by his inflexible intrepidity and the open
avowal of his sentiments, the other section of

his admirers applauded his courage, and paid a

just tribute to his honesty. The more dispas-
sionate judgment of posterity has done ample
justice to the rectitude and magnanimity of this

unfortunate nobleman.

The next victims to the offended laws were

Donald Macdonald, of the Keppoch family,

who had served as a captain in the regiment

of that chief, Walter Ogilvy, a young man of

good family in Banffshire, a lieutenant in Lord

Lewis Gordon's regiment, and James Nicolson,

who had kept a coffee-house in Leith. These

three, with one Alexander Macgrowther, who

also held a commission in the Highland army,

were taken at Carlisle. When brought to the

bar of the court at St. Margaret' s-hill, the three

first pleaded guilty, and begged for mercy; but

Macgrowther attempted to defend himself on

the ground that he was forced into the insur-

rection by the Duke of Perth against his will,

having as a vassal no power to withstand the

commands of his superior.
6 This defence, cor-

responding in very many cases with reality, and

which was also made by many of the Scotch pri-

soners, was overruled. On the 2d of August
these four persons were condemned, and Mac-

growther having been afterwards reprieved, the

remainder suffered on Kennington-common, on

the 22d of the same month. Macdonald and

Nicolson were executed in their Highland dress.

The same revolting process of disembowelling,

&c., practised iipon the bodies of Townley and

his companions, was gone through; but the

spectators were spared the revolting spectacle,

which was witnessed on that occasion, of cut-

ting down the prisoners whilst alive.

At Perth, on the 19th of September, Captain

Crosby, who had deserted from the British

army in Flanders, and come to Scotland with

the French troops, was hanged, and two de-

serters were shot. A singular incident hap-

pened on this occasion. To carry the sentence

against Crosby into execution on the day ap-

pointed, the hangman of Perth was secured in

the town prison; but having apparently no

certainty that he would perform his painful

duty, the hangman of Stirling was sent for by
the magistrates, who, upon his appearance,

liberated the timorous functionary. The hang-

man immediately fled the place. Captain

Crosby was brought to the place of execution

on the appointed day, but before the time for

6 ' ' The general plea and defence of the prisoners at

Carlisle was that they were forced into the rebellion

i.e., they were put under influences by clanship and
such like, morally equivalent to force." Carlisle in

'45, p. 257.
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throwing him off arrived, the executioner dropt

down dead. After remaining a considerable

time at the place of execution the guard was

returning with Crosby to the prison, when an

infamous criminal, who was a prisoner in the

jail, offered to hang the captain for a reward

of ten guineas and a free pardon. The autho-

rities having acceded to the demand of this

ruffian, Crosby was immediately carried back

to the place of execution, and suffered with

great fortitude. 7

The sittings at St. Margaret's-hill were re-

sumed on the 23d of August, and were con-

tinued from time to time for about two months.

Bills were found against thirty-two persons,

besides Lord Macleod and Secretary Murray;
but these last were not brought to trial. Of

the thirty-two tried no less than twenty-two

were convicted at different times, all of whom
received sentence of death on the 15th of No-

vember. Of these, eight of the principal were

ordered for execution on the 28th of that month.

Among these were Sir John Wedderburn, John

Hamilton, Andrew Wood, Alexander Leith,

and James Bradshaw. Sir John Wedderburn

had acted as receiver in the counties of Perth

and Angus of the ale and malt arrears raised

by the Highland army; Hamilton had been

governor of Carlisle; Wood, a youth of two-

and-twenty, had distinguished himself as a

volunteer in Roy Stewart's regiment; Leith

had served as a captain in the Duke of Perth's

regiment, and though old and infirm, had been

remarkable for zeal and activity; and Brad-

shaw had shown his devotion to the cause of

the Stuarts by giving up a lucrative business

as a merchant in Manchester, and expending
all his wealth to promote it. He entered the

Manchester regiment; but thinking that he

could be of more use by marching with the

Highland army into Scotland than by remain-

ing at Carlisle, he joined Lord Elcho's corps, and

was taken prisoner after the battle of Culloden.

On the morning of the execution tw<> of the

prisoners of the name of Farquharson and

Watson obtained a reprieve, as also did

one Lindsay, just as he was about to step
into the sledge. The effect upon this man's

feelings, when his pardon was announced,

7 True Copies of the Papers wrote by Arthur Lord
Balmerino and others, published in the year 1746.

was such, that his life appeared for a time in

danger. The five prisoners were then drawn

to the place of execution in two sledges, where

their doom was sealed. Bradshaw read a

paper, in which he declared that he had joined
" the king's forces" from a principle of duty

only, and that he never had reason since to be

convinced that he had been mistaken
;
but

that, on the contrary, every day's experience

had strengthened his opinion that what he had

done was right and necessary. He stated that

he had had the misfortune to fall into the

hands of the most ungenerous enemy he be-

lieved ever assumed the name of a soldier,
" the pretended duke of Cumberland, and

those under his command," whose inhumanity,
he observed, had exceeded every thing he could

have imagined,
" in a country where the name

of a God is allowed of." He expressed his

firm conviction, that the order attributed to

Charles to give no quarter was " a malicious,

wicked report, raised by the friends of the

usurper
"
to excuse the cruelties committed by

his troops in Scotland. After a high eulogium

upon the qualifications of the prince, the paper

concluded with a prayer for the preservation

of "
King James the Third, the Prince of Wales,

and the Duke of York."

Besides the trials at Southwark, other trials

took place at Carlisle and York, chiefly of

prisoners taken at Culloden. No less than 382

of these unfortunate beings had been brought
to Carlisle

;
but as the trial of such a great

number of persons, with a view to capital

punishment, might appear extremely harsh,

and would be inconvenient, a proposal was

made to the common prisoners, who formed

the great mass, that, with certain exceptions,

only one in every twenty, chosen by lot, should

be tried, and that the remainder should be

transported. This proposal was acceded to by
a considerable number. By this means the num-

ber for trial was reduced to 1 27, who were imme-

diately separated from the others, and with the

exception of two Sir Archibald Primrose and

Captain Hay thrust into one room in the

keep of the castle, where their miseries in-

duced many to hatch futile plots for escape.
8

The judges adjourned to the 9th of Septem-
ber

; and, in the mean time, they repaired to

8 Carlisle in '45, p. 247-50.
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York, where the grand jury found bills against

75 persons confined there. The judges resumed

their sittings at Carlisle for the trial of the pri-

soners there, on the 9th of September, on

which, and the two following days, the pri-

soners, against whom bills had been found,

were arraigned. Bills were found against 15

more on the 12th, making a total of 134. Of

these, 11 pled guilty when arraigned; 32 en-

tered the same plea when brought to trial ;
48

were found guilty, of Avhom 11 were recom-

mended to mercy, 36 acquitted, 5 remanded

to prison till further evidence should be pro-

cured, and 1 obtained delay on ar allegation

of his being a peer. The judges resumed their

sittings at York on the 2d of October, and sat

till the 7th. Of the 75 persons indicted, 2

pled guilty when arraigned, 52 when brought

to trial, and 16 were found guilty, 4 of whom

were recommended to mercy. All these re-

ceived sentence of death. Five only were ac-

quitted.

Of the 91 prisoners under sentence at Car-

lisle, 30 were ordered for execution
;
9 of whom

were accordingly executed at Carlisle on the

18th of October. 9 Six were executed at

Brampton on the 21st of the same month,

and 7 suffered at Penrith. Seven out of the

30 were reprieved, and 1 died in prison. All

those who were executed underwent the usual

process of unbowelling.

Among those who suffered at Carlisle on

October 18th, were Major Donald Macdonald of

lynedrish he who, short-sighted, unwittingly

allowed himself to be made prisoner after the

battle of Falkirk. He was one of the first to

join Prince Charles after his landing, and it is

supposed that Sir Walter Scott had him in his

mind, when he drew the character of Fergus

M'lvor, in Waverley. Another was the brave

and chivalrous laird of Kinloch-Moidart, de-

scribed as a plain honest man, exceedingly

3 One of them, Cappock, (created Bishop of Carlisle

by Charles,) made a long speech in support of the
claims of the house of Stuart. He prayed for "

King
James," Prince Charles, and the rest of the Stuart
family, called King George an usurper, and when
found guilty, he thus addressed his fellow-prisoners
at the bar: "Never mind it, my boys; for if
our Saviour was here, these fellows would condemn
him." Observing Brand extremely dejected, he said
to him, "What the devil are you afraid of? We
shan't

^be
tried by a Cumberland jury in the other

world." Scots Mag. vol. viii. p. 498.
'

cool-headed, and fitted for either the cabinet

or the field, but unable to resist the persuasions

of his brother ^Eneas Macdonald, the Paris

banker, who accompanied Charles to Scotland

and the fascination which the prince seems

to have exercised on those whom he personally

addressed. An acquaintance of Macdonald's

visited him when he was confined a prisoner

in Edinburgh Castle, and asked him how he

came to engage in so desperate an undertaking,

which never had a probability of success 1 "I

myself was against it," he replied;
"
but, Lord

man, what could I do when the young lad

came to my house I" 1

On the 1st of November 10 of the prisoners

condemned at York suffered in that city, and

on the 8th of .the same month, 11 others

suffered the same fate. Another prisoner

suffered on the 15th November. The work

of death closed at Carlisle on the 15th of De-

cember by the immolation of 1 1 more victims.

Out of the 77 persons who thus suffered, it

is remarkable that, with the solitary exception

of Lord Kilmarncck, they all maintained, to

the very last, the justice of the cause for Avhich

they suffered. The more enthusiastic among
them even openly declared that they would

continue to support the claim of the exiled

family to the crown if set at liberty.

Notwithstanding this useless waste of human

blood, the government did not consider the

work of destruction complete till the lives of

two individuals, who lay more especially under

its ban, were sacrificed, as the last atonement

to public justice. These were Charles Ratcliffe

and Lord Lovat. The former was a younger

brother of the Earl of Derwentwater, who
suffered in 1716, and whose title Mr. Ratcliffe

had assumed. He had been engaged in the

former insurrection, taken at Preston, and con-

demned, but made his escape out of Newgate ;

and after passing some years in France and

Italy, married the Countess of Newburgh at

Paris. He had visited England privately in

1733, and returned again two years thereafter,

when he appeared openly in public. Solicit-

ing his pardon without success, he returned to

France, where he remained till November,

1745, when he was made prisoner on board

a French vessel, on her way to Scotland

1 Carlisle in '45, pp. 254 and 266.
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with supplies for Prince Charles. He was

arraigned at the bar of the court of king's

bench on the 21st of November, 1746, upon
his former sentence ;

but he refused either to

plead or to acknowledge the authority of the

court, on the ground that he was a subject of

France, where he had resided thirty years, and

honoured with a commission in the service of

his most Christian majesty. Being brought to

the bar next day, his former sentence being

read over to him, he pleaded that he was not

the person therein mentioned
;
but his identity

being clearly established, he was ordered to be

executed on the 8th of December. His aunt,

Lady Petre, did every thing in her power to

save him, or at least to procure a respite till

his lady should arrive from Paris, but without

success. Some demur seems, however, to have

existed, as the preparations for his execution

were so long delayed, that the carpenters were

obliged to work on the scaffold on Sunday the

day before the execution, and all the following

night.

The preparations for his execution were

somewhat the same as those in the cases of

Kilmarnock and Balmerino. He was dressed

in a suit of scarlet, faced with black velvet

trimmed with gold, a gold-laced waistcoat, and

wore a white feather in his hat. When he

came upon the scaffold he took a tender farewell

of his friends, and after spending about seven

minutes in prayer on his knees, he rose, and

pulling off his clothes, went forward to the

block, on which he placed his head to try how
it fitted. He then spoke to the executioner as

if giving him directions, and kneeling down

again, and fixing his head upon the block, in

about two minutes he gave the signal to the

executioner, who, as in the case of Balmerino,

did not complete his work till he had given

the third blow. The head was received in a

scarlet cloth. Without the levity of Balmerino,

Mr. Eatcliffe displayed the same manly forti-

tude and contempt of death exhibited by that

unfortunate nobleman. He died, as he had

lived, a Catholic
;
and so warmly was he at-

tached to the faith of his ancestors, that when

some zealous Protestant objected to him that

some of the tenets of his religion were contrary

to reason, he is said to have Avished, that for

every such tenet, the belief of which was re-

quired by the church, there were twenty, that

he might have a larger field for exercising his

faith. 1 His body was delivered over to his

friends, and interred by them, on the llth of

November, at St. Giles's-in-the-fields, near the

remains of his brother.

The last scene of this bloody tragedy ended

with the trial and execution of the aged Lord

Lovat, who had been confined in the Tower

since the 15th of August. He was impeached

by the House of Commons on the llth of

December, and was brought to the bar of the

House of Peers on the 18th, when the articles

of impeachment were read to him. 2 At his

own desire, four gentlemen were assigned him

for counsel, and he was appointed to put in

answers to the articles of impeachment on or

before the 13th of January. The trial, which

was appointed to take place on the 23d of Feb-

ruary, was postponed to the 5th, and after-

wards to the 9th of March, on which day it

commenced. The articles of impeachment
were in substance, that he had compassed and

imagined the death of the king, that he had

corresponded with the Pretender, accepted a

commission from him to be a lieutenant-general

of his forces, and another to be general of the

Highlanders, and that he had accepted a patent

from the Pretender creating him Duke of

1
Boyse, p. 176.

2 The Laird of Macleod, in a letter to Lord-president
Forbes, dated 18th December, 1746, says,

"
1 saw un-

happy Lovat to-day. Except for the feebleness of his

limbs, his looks are good. He asked me several general

questions, and particularly about you; said he was

resigned, and ready to meet his fate, since it was God's

will; asked after his children, &c." In another letter

to the president, written two days thereafter, he again
alludes to his lordship:

" Lovat behaved well at the

bar of the house of peers, and they say with spirit.

Granville and Bath spoke very strongly with regard to

the seizure of his estate and effects; and that matter is

ordered to be rectified, except in so far as private cre-

ditors come in the way.
"

Sir Andrew Mitchell, how-

ever, who was more of a courtier than Macleod, viewed

matters in a different light. In a letter to the presi-

dent, 26th December, 1746, he remarks, "Your lord-

ship will have heard an account of Lord Lovat's be-

haviour; and, therefore, I shall not trouble you with

the particulars; only, I must observe, there was neither

dignity nor gravity in it: he appeared quite uncon-

cerned; and what he said was ludicrous and buffoon -

ish; but his petition for the restoration of his effects,

&c., was bold and well worded; which, however, would
have been passed over without notice, had not Lord
Granville bounced, and Lord Bath vapoured, and pro-
cured an order to be entered in the Journals, and have

by that acquired to themselves a sort of popularity,
which you know they very much wanted. No Scots

nobleman spoke on this occasion; they are prudent
and cautious. God bless them !

"
Culloden Papers.
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Fraser, that he had met with armed traitors,

and had raised great numbers of armed men

for the service of the Pretender and his son,

and had traitorously levied a cruel and un-

natural war against his majesty, that he had

Simon, Lord Lovat. (From Hogarth's Picture.)

sent a treasonable letter to the son of the Pre-

tender when in arms within the kingdom,

that he had also sent treasonable letters tc

other persons, then openly in arms against the

king, that he had assisted the rebels in their

traitorous designs, and had sent his eldest son,

and many of his name, family, and dependents,

to the assistance of the Pretender's eldest son,

and had given them instructions in tlie pro-

secution of the rebellion, and finally, that he

had traitorously, both in person and by letters,

held correspondence with the eldest son of

the Pretender, and with divers persons em-

ployed by him, and particularly with Murray
of Broughton, the two Lochiels, John Roy
Stewart, Dr. Cameron, and others. To all these

charges Lord Lovat gave a pointed denial.

They were, however, fully established by the

strongest proofs. The written evidence con-

sisted of papers found in his lordship's strong

box, besides some letters which lie had written

to Prince Charles, the last of which having

come into the hands of Murray of Broughton,

in his capacity of secretary to the prince, were

basely delivered up by him to save his own

worthless life. Lord Lovat exerted all his

ingenuity to evade the force of the evidence ;

but the proofs of his criminality were too clear

to admit of any doubt. His lordship objected

to the admissibility of Murray as a witness, on

the ground that he was attainted by act of par-

liament made in the previous session, and that

he had not surrendered himself in terms of the

act. Having stated that he had several objec-

tions against the witness, one or two of which

he considered essential, a discussion ensued as

to whether all these objections should not at

once be stated. As giving a fair sample of the

manner in which the trial was conducted, the

argument on both sides, on the point alluded

to, is here given :

" MR. ATTORNEY-GENERAL. My lords, I ob-

serve that the noble lord at the bar said that

he had several objections to the examining this

witness, and that one or two of them were essen-

tial; but the noble lord has not mentioned more

than one. I presume, my lords, it would be

proper that he should name all his objections

at once, that the managers may have an oppor-

tunity of answering them all, and receiving your

lordships' judgment upon the whole
;

there-

fore, if he has any other objections to offer, it

would be proper he should mention them now

to your lordships. LORD LOVAT. My lords,

I submit it to your lordships that that is a

very odd proposition. I give your lordships

an essential one now, and when that is an-

swered I have another. I am not to be di-

rected by those who are my persecutors. LORD-

HIGH-STEWARD. My Lord Lovat, you are not

to be directed by your accusers, but by the

lords who are your judges; and the course of

proceeding in this and all other courts is, that

a person, who objects to any witness, should

name all his objections at the same time; and

it is the more material in this court, as it tends

to prevent the trouble of making several un-

necessary adjournments. LORD L. My lords,

as this objection is very essential, I pray that

it may be answered before I make another.

LORD TALBOT. If this is a material objec-

tion to the witness, then there will be no
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occasion tor any other; but if it is an imma-

terial one, then your lordships may go into any

other; but the way proposed by the managers

may be very detrimental to the unhappy per-

son at the bar. LORD H. S. Your lordships

hear what is proposed; and the question is,

whether the noble lord at the bar shall name

all his objections now, or take them up one by
one. SIR WILLIAM YONGE, (one of the mana-

gers from the commons.) My lords, I should

hope that, in any course of proceeding, where

objections of this kind are made, they should be

made all together ;
for if they are made separate,

we must consequently make distinct answers to

them all, which may oblige your lordships to

adjourn often to the chamber of parliament,

which will create a great and unnecessary de-

lay of time : and my lords, there can be no ob-

jection to his naming the whole at once, since

they will all be distinctly considered by your

lordships, and undoubtedly receive distinct

answers. I therefore humbly insist, that he

may be obliged to name all his objections at

once. MR. NOEL, (another manager.) My
lords, what we are now upon is no point of

law at all : it is simply, whether the noble lord

at the bar as is usual should not name all his

objections at once? When he does name

them, then to such as are clear points of law

he must be heard by his counsel; but at pre-

sent, my lords, we are upon a question con-

cerning the course of proceeding, whether he

shall name them all at once, that they may be

taken into consideration at the same time? My
lords, one thing struck me in a very extraordi-

nary manner: It was said by the noble lord at

the bar, that he was not to be directed by his

persecutors. My lords, we are no persecutors;

we persecute no man; we are intrusted by the

commons, who carry on this prosecution against

the noble lord at the bar for treason, and we

prosecute for the preservation of the king's

government and the laws of the land. LORD

L. My lords, I said I was not to be directed

by those who accused me. Your lordships

cannot expect I can say what I have to offer

in an eloquent manner. My lords, should the

saving of a little time be a reason for taking

away a person's life? I hope these will not

act like the parricides who took off the head

of both kingdoms in a day by their prosecu-

tion. I am a peer of this land, and I think

no excuse of saving time should be allowed as

a reason to destroy me. LORD H. S. My
Lord Lovat, the lords will use all the delibera-

tion, and give you all the time that is requisite

for your defence
;
but I must beg your lordship

will have so much consideration as to keep your

temper, and not suffer yourself to be hurried

into passion, for that may greatly prejudice

you in making your defence. Your lordship

will find the advantage in your defence by

keeping your temper. LORD L. I give your

lordship my humble thanks: and since your

lordships will not allow me counsel, I have

spoke the little nonsense I had to say; but

now your lordships shall hear me say nothing

out of temper. LORD H. S. My Lord Lovat,

the question now is, whether you shall name

all your objections at once? I must acquaint

your lordship that that is the rule in the courts

below, that if several objections are made to

a witness, they are all named at once, in order

to prevent unnecessary delays. LORD L. My
lords, to show how much I desire to save

time, though, according to the course of na-

ture, my time can be but short, I am so far

from desiring to give your lordships trouble,

or to prolong time, that I do insist upon this

objection to the witness, and rely upon it as

the only material objection."
3

The managers having offered to prove, by
the record of the court of King's bench, that

Mr. Murray had surrendered himself within

the time prescribed, the question whether the

record should be received in evidence, was ar-

gued at great length by the counsel for Lord

Lovat, and the managers on the part of the

prosecution. Having decided that the record

might be read and given in evidence, Lord

Lovat offered to falsify the record, by proving,

in opposition to the averment therein con-

tained, that Mr. Murray had not surrendered

himself as required by the act of parliament.

The court, however, decided that the record of

the court of King's bench, which was, never-

theless, literally untrue, could not be falsified

by oral evidence.

Being called upon to make his defence on

the sixth day of the trial, Lovat gave in a long

3 Trial published by order of the House of Peers.

Fjondon, 1747.
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paper, in which he commented with great se-

verity upon the witnesses, whose testimony he

maintained was not to be credited. He de-

signated Secretary Murray as " the most aban-

doned of mankind, who, forgetting his allegi-

ance to his king and country, had, according

to his own confession, endeavoured to destroy

both, like another Catiline, to patch up a

broken fortune upon the ruin and distress of

his native country. To-day stealing into

France to enter into engagements upon the

most sacred oath of fidelity ;
soon after, like a

sanguinary monster, putting his hand and seal

to a bloody proclamation, full of rewards for

the apprehending of the sacred person of his

majesty, and lest the cup of his iniquity had not

been filled, to sum up all in one, impudently

appearing at their lordships' bar to betray those

very secrets which he confessed he had drawn

from the person he called his lord, his prince

and master, under the strongest confidence."

" Thus far," he concluded,
" I thought it my

duty, in vindication of myself, to trouble your

lordships, and without further trespassing upon

your patience, freely submit my life, my for-

tune, my honour, and what is dearest of all,

my posterity, to your lordships."
4

After the managers for the prosecution had

addressed the court, Lord Lovat was withdrawn

from the bar. The whole peers present 117

in number unanimously found his lordship

guilty. Lord Lovat was then called back to

the bar, and informed by the lord-high-steward

4 He made several appeals calculated to move com-
miseration for his grey hairs. '*My lords," he said,
at the commencement, "I have not had the use of

my limbs these three years ;
I cannot see, I cannot

hear
; and I beg, if your lordships have a mind I

should have any chance of my life, that you will allow
either my counsel or solicitors to examine my witnesses,
and to cross-examine those produced on behalf of the
crown, and to take notes." If he had been tried, on
the charges brought against him, in Scotland forty-
six years earlier, he would have been allowed tliis

privilege ; but the rules of English law confined the
assistance of counsel, in cases of treason, to purely
legal questions. At the conclusion of the second clay
he complained of the hardships of the early daily at-
tendance to one of his infirm constitution, and said,

'
I must therefore beg that your lordships will indulgeme with a later hour and some respite ; otherwise I

shall die at your bar," but the request seems to have
been unheeded. Another appeal of the same descrip-
t
:

on, in which he said, "I fainted away thrice this

morning before 1 came up to your lordships' bar
; but

yet was determined to show my respect to your lord-
ships, or die upon the Spot," produced a respite of a
day. Burton's Life of Lovat, p. 257.

of the judgment of the court. Being brought

up next day to receive his sentence, he ad-

dressed the court in a long speech, in which he

gave a rambling recital of his services to the

house of Hanover; and after receiving sentence,

he implored their lordships and the managers of

the commons to recommend him to the mercy
of his majesty. Before leaving the bar, he

said,
" God bless you all, and I bid you an ever-

lasting farewell. We shall not meet all in the

same place again. I am sure of that."

" The public were ravenous with curiosity

about the great Leviathan that had been at

last so effectually hooked, and it was necessary
to fill the ear of London with details of his

previous history, as well as anecdotes of his

conduct since his capture. Many of them are

fabulous, and many not worth preserving, but

a few are too characteristic to be passed over.

They may be announced by an incident not

mentioned in the contemporary accounts, biit

preserved by tradition. On his return from

the House of Lords to the Tower, an old woman
not very well favoured, had pressed through
the crowd and screamed in at the window of

the coach,
" You'll get that nasty head of yours

chopped off, you ugly eld Scotch dog," to Avhich

he answered, "I believe I shall, you ugly old

English b ," paying her back with the

feminine of the masculine epithet she had

applied to him. The major of the Tower com-

ing to visit him and ask how he did, he an-

swered, "Why, I am about doing pretty well,

for I am preparing myself, sir, for a place

where hardly any majors, and very few lieu-

tenant-generals go ;" this was a more distinct

hint than that given to the House of Lords." 6

On the 2d of April the sheriffs of London

and Middlesex received a warrant for his execu-

tion, which was appointed to take place on the

9th. His lordship, it is said, petitioned the

king that he might be despatched by the maiden,

the Scottish instrument of decapitation; but

his application was not attended to. His ap-

proaching fate did not in the least discompose

him, and though in the eightieth year of his

age, his spirits never flagged, nor was his natural

vivacity in any degree diminished. He said,

the day before his execution, that he was never

at any time in better spirits ;
and he told Dr

B Burton's Lovat, pp. 262, 263.
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Clark, his physician, that the Tower was a

better recipe for upholding them than the

emetics he used to give him. 6
Though regard-

less of death, and even occasionally facetious

on the circumstances of his coming exit, he

was not indifferent to the consolations of reli-

gion, and cheerfully availed himself of the

spiritual assistance of a Catholic priest. Early
on the morning of the execution, 1,200 troops
drew up on Tower-hill, and all the preparations
were gone through as in the former instances.

About an hour before the execution, a serious

accident occurred, in consequence of the fall of

a large scaffolding with 400 persons, by which

eighteen were killed on the spot, and many
bruised and crippled. When Lovat heard of

it his cool remark was,
7 " The more mischief

the better sport." When he arrived at the

scaffold, Lovat was obliged, from infirmity, to

obtain the assistance of two persons in mount-

ing. He displayed, to the very last, his charac-

teristic fortitude, or rather bravado, and, with

great coolness, felt the edge of the axe, with

the sharpness of which he declared himself

satisfied. On. looking round and observing the

great crowd, he said,
" God save us, why

ARJEPHESENTATION rf the, JExecu&on

A .T/tf Jcafi/M
. 1C . C/ed'i fa neet'vt -tfuJTead. I E .T/u fyfin. .

XicrrdJtovafJ /uacffnfBbt&SB . TA sjiicuutiontir HSU, I $. fixs .
\
F The- TZmue fivm ntfiifJi

Phototype fac-simile from a rare contemporary print in the possession of James Drummond, Esq., R.S.A.

should there be such a bustle about taking off

an old gray head that cannot get up three steps

without two men to support it."
8 He gave

the executioner ten guineas, advised him to

perform his duty firmly, and take a good aim,

and told him that if he mangled his shoulders,

he would be displeased with him. In conver-

sation he used frequently to cite passages from

the classics
; and, on the present occasion, he

repeated the celebrated saying of Horace,
" Dulce et decorum est pro patria rnori" as

peculiarly applicable to the cause for which he

was about to suffer. After spending some time

in devotion, this remarkable man laid his head
6 Culloden Papers, p. 802. 7 Burton's Lovat, p. 265.

i

down upon the block with the utmost com-

posure, and the executioner struck it off at a

single blow. His lordship had given directions

that his body should be carried to Scotland,

and his friends had removed it to an under-

taker's in the Strand preparatory to its being
sent down ; but, by order of government, it was

interred at St. Peter's in the Tower, in the same

grave with Lords Kilmarnock and Balmerino.

Whilst these executions could not fail to

impress the disaffected with a strong idea of

the power and inclination of government to

uphold and maintain the authority of the law,

they were calculated by their number and
8 Burton's Lovat, p. 265.

5 A
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severity rather to excite a thirst for vengeance,

than to inspire that salutary fear which it is

the object of punishment to promote. During

these executions, a scheme was concocted to

arrest the arm of the law by seizing and carry-

ing off the person of the Duke of Cumberland,

and retaining him as a hostage for the lives

of the prisoners.
The originators of this bold

design went from London to Paris, and laid

their plan before Charles shortly after his

arrival from Scotland, and offered to make the

attempt; but Charles refused to sanction it,

and the scheme was dropped.
l

By way of conciliating the offended feelings

of the nation, the government got an act of

indemnity passed in June, 1747, granting a

pardon, with certain exceptions, to all persons

who had been engaged in the rebellion; but

these exceptions were so numerous as to divest

the act of all pretensions to the character of

grace or favour. Besides all persons attainted

of high treason by act of parliament or judg-

ment, or conviction of high treason by verdict,

confession, or otherwise, upwards of eighty

persons were specially excepted by name. 2

1 Vide Letter in the Stuart Papers from the Rev.

Myles Macdonell to the Chevalier de St. George,
dated St. Amiens, 4th May, 1747.

a Among these were the Earls of Traquair and

Kellie, Robert Maccarty, styling himself Lord Clan-

carty, Sir James Stewart of Good Trees; Sirs John

Douglas, James Harrington, James Campbell, Williarc

Dunbar, and Alexander Bannerman; Archibald Stew-

art, late provost of Edinburgh, Chisholm of Comar,
Cameron of Dungallon, Drummond of Bochaldy,
Fraser of Foyers, Farquharson of Bulmarrell, Fraser

of Avochnacloy, Dow Fraser of Little Garth, Fraser
of Browich, Fraser of Gortuleg, Gordon of Abochie,
Grant of Glenmoriston, Hunter of Burnside, Hay

Singer
of Rannus, Irvine of Drum, Macdonald of

risdale, M'Gregor of Glengyle, Macleod of Raasay,
Gilbert Menzies, younger of Pitfodels, Moir of Stony-
wood, .(Eneas Macdonald, James Macdonald, brother
to Kinlochmoidart, Macdonell of Glengarry, Macdon-
ald of Glenco, Robertson of Strowan, Robertson of

Faskally, Robertson of Blairfetty, Stuart of Kyn-
nachin, Turner, younger of Turner-hall, &c.

,
&c.

Among those formerly attainted and excepted in
the above-mentioned act, were the following, viz.,
Lords Pitsligo, Elcho, Nairne, and Ogilvy, Lord
George Murray, Lord Lewis Gordon, Lord John
Drummond, Drummond, eldest son of Lord
Strathallan, the Master of Lovat, Graham of Dun-
troon, Sir William Gordon of Park, Gordon of Glen-
bucket, young Lochiel, Dr. Cameron, Cameron of
Tor Castle, young Clanranald, Lochgarry, young Bar-
isdale, Macdonald of Glencoe, Macpherson of Cluny,
Maclachlau of Castle Lachlan, Mackinnon of Mac-
kinnon, Stewart of Ardshiel, Lockhart, younger of

Carnwath, Oliphant of Gask and his eldest son,
Graham of Airth, Roy Stewart, Farquharson of Mou-
alterye, Hay of Restalrig, &c.

CHAPTER XXXIX.

A. D. 17471748.

BRITISH SOVEREIGN: George II., 1727 1760.

Arrival of Prince Charles at Paris Meeting with his

brother Reception at Fontainebleau He returns

to Paris Memorialises Louis Admonished by his

father as to his conduct in France Charles retires

to Avignon Treatment of Lord G. Murray His

journey to Spain Return to Paris Prince Henry
made Cardinal Charles's pecuniary and other diffi-

culties His advisers Congress and peace of Aix-

la-Chapelle Charles and his father protest against
the treaty Charles refuses to quit the French ter-

ritories His arrest Conducted out of the French
dominions Arrival at Avignon.

As soon as the French court received intelli-

gence of the return of Charles to France, they

gave orders to prepare the castle of St. Antoine

for his reception. He was met near Paris on

the 15th of October, (N. S.,
3
) by his brother

and a considerable number of the nobility, who

conducted him to his appointed residence.

The meeting between the two brothers, who
had not seen each other for nearly three years,

was of a most affecting description, and the

persons who were present declared that they

had never before witnessed such a moving
scene. Charles at first sight did not know

Henry, but the latter at once knew the prince,

who is described by his brother as not in the

least altered in his appearance since he last

saw him, only that he had "
grown somewhat

broader and fatter." 4

Louis with his court was at this time residing

at Fontainebleau, and as Charles was impatient

to see him, he sent Colonel "Warren thither

with instructions to Colonel O'Brien, the ac-

credited minister of the Chevalier de St.

George at the court of France, to request an

audience. Some difficulties were started at

first by the French ministers on the subject of

this demand, but the king at last consented to

see Charles and his brother, but stipulated that

they should preserve a sort of incognito.
5

Louis in fact had become tired of the war, and

that he might not widen the breach between

him and the court of London by appearing to

3 It is to be attended to, that in alluding to Charles's

proceedings on the continent the New Style is fol-

lowed.
4 Letter among the Stuart Papers.
5 Letter from O'Bryen to the Chevalier, 17th Octo-

ber, 1746, in the Stuart Papers.
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recognise the pretensions of the exiled family,

he had resolved not to receive the sons of the

Chevalier at his court as princes of England.

James, who was fully aware of this policy of

the French court, thus argues the matter with

Charles, who naturally felt indignant at the

mode of his reception ;
"I am far from saying

but that the king of France might have done

a great deal more for you; but after all, we

must consider the vast expenses he is at during

the war, and the system he has certainly laid

down to himself of not treating you and your
brother as princes of England, which system I

own shocked me at first, and seems preposter-

ous in the present situation of affairs; but

when one considers the uncertainty of the

events of war, and that if we are not restored

before a peace, the king of France cannot but

continue to acknowledge the elector of Hanover

as king of England, and by consequence treat

us no more as princes of England; we cannot

but own that it is wise in him, and in a certain

sense even kind to us, not to expose himself

and us to a possibility and necessity of ceasing

to treat us according to our birth, after having
once done it." 6

If Louis had been actuated by the motive

thus charitably imputed to him, the reasoning

of James would have been plausible enough;
but Charles, who had both before and during
his expedition experienced the hollowness of

the French policy, could not fail to perceive

that his father had formed an erroneous idea

of Louis's intentions. As by the treaty of

Fontainebleau he had been recognised by that

monarch as prince regent of Scotland, Charles

had good reason to complain of the mode in

which he was to be received by his most

Christian majesty; but he repressed his feelings

of disappointment on the occasion, and yielded
to a necessity which it was not in his power to

control. He resolved, however, to neutralize

the effect which his appearance at court as a

private person might have upon the people by
getting up a splendid equipage, and proceeding
to Fontainebleau in great stata

Accordingly, on the day fixed for his recep-

tion at court, Charles left the castle of St.

6 Letter from the Chevalier to Charles, 6th Janu-
ary, 1 747. Stuart Papers.

Antoine, accompanied by a number of his

friends in coaches and on horseback. The

cortege was on the whole very grand; but

Charles himself attracted particular attention

by the superbness of his dress. His coat was

of rose-coloured velvet, embroidered with silver,

and lined with silver tissue. His waistcoat

was of rich gold brocade, with a spangled fringe

set out in scollops. The cockade in his hat

and the buckles of his shoes were studded with

diamonds. The George at his bosom, and the

order of St. Andrew, which he wore at one of the

button-holes of his waistcoat, were illustrated

with large diamonds. " In fine," observes an

enthusiastic eye-witness, "he glittered all over

like the star which they tell you appeared at his

nativity." Louis received Charles with great

kindness, and, embracing him, said,
" My dear-

est Prince, I thank Heaven for the very great

pleasure it gives me to see you returned in

good health after so many fatigues and dangers.

You have proved that all the great qualities of

the heroes and philosophers are united in you,
and 1 hope that you will one day receive

the reward of such extraordinary merit." The

queen, likewise, welcomed him with every de-

monstration of good-will and affection. He
had never been at the court of France before,

and every person was extremely desirous of see-

ing a prince of whom they had heard so much.

As Charles retired from the palace, the whole

court crowded about him, and complimented
him so highly upon the fame of his exploits,

that they could scarcely have testified greater

joy, or expressed themselves in warmer terms,

had the dauphin himself been engaged in the

same dangerous expedition, and returned from

it in safety.
8

Charles, it is said, afterwards

returned to the palace, and supped with the

king, queen, and royal family ;
and all his

8 Authentic Account. The writer of this account,
who states that he obtained his information from an

eye-witness, says that when Charles arrived at Paris
he could not be prevailed upon to take any refresh-

ment, but instantly proceeded to Versailles, to see the

king, and that though Louis was at that time engaged
in council on some affairs of importance, he imme-
diately quitted it to receive him. He then relates the
interview as above stated, and says that Charles was
afterwards publicly received at Fontainebleau in the
character of the Prince Regent of England, Scotland,
and Ireland. It is certain, however, that the first

time that Charles met Louis after his return to France
was at Fontainebleau, and it is equally certain that he
was never recognised at court as a British prince.
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attendants were magnificently entertained at

several tables, which had been appointed for

them according to their rank.

Though the conduct of the French court to-

wards Charles had been deceptive, yet it is

understood that Louis was not so bad as his

ministers in this respect ;
and besides, he ap-

pears to have entertained a warm regard for

Charles personally. It is believed that Louis

would have given proofs of his esteem by em-

barking with spirit in the cause of the exiled

family ;
but he was controlled by his ministers,

who certainly never were serious in their profes-

sions. Of the sincerity of the queen, however,

there cannot be the least doubt. She and

Charles's mother had passed many of their

juvenile years together, and had contracted a

warm attachment to each other, which had re-

mained unaltered during the life of the latter.

In Charles she now beheld the favourite son

of her late friend, whom he strongly resembled,

and she looked upon him with a maternal

tenderness, which was enhanced by the reputa-

tion of his exploits, and the knowledge of the

sufferings he had endured. Whenever he came

to court, she is said to have conversed with him

for whole hours together, during which she

would make him relate his adventures to her-

self and her ladies, all of whom were frequently
bathed in tears with the affecting recital.

Within a day or two after his arrival at

Fontainebleau, Charles wrote to Louis request-

ing the honour of a private audience on the

subject of his affairs, which appears to have

been granted, as three days thereafter, namely,
on the 25th of October, the prince requested
another interview, for the purpose of delivering
into the king's own hands a short memoir in

relation to his affairs.
9 Unable to obtain a

satisfactory answer, Charles left Fontainebleau,
and took up his residence with his brother at

Clichy, in the neighbourhood of Paris. His

company was much sought after by the fashion-

able circles of that gay metropolis, but he kept
himself comparatively retired. He appeared
at the opera for the first time on the 30th of

October, and was received by the audience
with clapping of hands, which continued till

9 Both these letters will be found among the Stuart
Papers.

the commencement of the opera, and was re-

newed at the conclusion. 1

Though surrounded by men of integrity, who
had suffered proscription for his sake, Charles

does not appear to have consulted any of them

in his difficulties, nor to have honoured them

with the least share of his confidence. Shortly

after his return to France he wrote to his tutor,

Sir Thomas Sheridan, who, after escaping to

France, had repaired to Rome, requesting him
to join him at Paris

;
and in the meantime he

availed himself of the equivocal services of

George Kelly. Sir Thomas, however, saw

Charles no more, having died soon after the

receipt of his pupil's letter. Charles then

adopted Kelly as his confidant, but he appears
to have been in every way unworthy of such a

mark of distinction. 2

1 Letter from O'Brien to the Chevalier de St. George,
31st October, 1746, among the Stuart Papers.

2 Of the unlimited confidence which these two fa-

vourites enjoyed with Charles the Stuart Papers afford

abundant proofs. Sheridan in fact directed every
thing when Charles was in Scotland, and it was solely

owing to his aversion to a hill campaign, the fatigue
ofwhich he said hecould not endure, that Lord George
Murray could not prevail upon Charles to desist from

engaging the Duke of Cumberland at Culloden; yet
so great was the ascendency which Sir Thomas had

acquired over the mind of Charles, that the ruinous
result which ensiled did not in the least weaken it.

Edgar announced Sheridan's death to Charles in a
letter dated 2d December, 1746, and sent along with
it all the papers found in Sir Thomas's repositories

having relation to the Prince or his affairs, among
which was a sketch of a dying speech which Sir Thomas
had prepared in case he had been taken and executed.
Dr. King insinuates, from the ignorance of Charles, that
Sheridan was in the pay of the English government ;

but it would be doing injustice to the memory of the
favourite to believe him guilty of such baseness without
direct proofs of his criminality. The Doctor's words
are : "His (Charles's) governor was a protestant, and
I am apt to believe purposely neglected his education,
of which, it is surmised, he made a merit to the Eng-
lish ministry ;

for he was always supposed to be their

pensioner. The Chevalier Eamsay, the author of

Cyrus, was Prince Charles's preceptor for about a

year; but a court faction removed him." The illi-

terateness of Charles is very perceptible in his ignor-
ance of the orthography of French and English. Both
in style and orthography they contrast most unfavour-

ably with those of his father, whose epistolary corre-

spondence cannot fail to give the reader a favourable
idea of his literary acquirements. Though James ap-
pears to have had a good opinion of Sir Thomas, yet
after his death he complained bitterly to Charles, in

a long and very interesting letter, (that of 3d Feb-

ruary, 1747, in the Stuart Papers,) of the conduct of

the favourite, and in general of the other persons
who obtained the Prince's confidence. It was
James's deliberate conviction that their object was
to corrupt Charles, by withdrawing him from his

"duty to God in the first place, and to him in tin-

second !

"
The sequel of Charles's unfortunate his-
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Some time after Charles's return to Paris,

Louis removed his court from Fontainebleau

to Versailles, where the prince and his brother

met with a cordial reception from the royal

family and the persons about the court, but

Charles could not obtain any distinct pledge

of support. This result was anticipated by
his father, who had a just perception of the

policy of France in his regard.
"

I. am afraid,"

says James to the prince,
" that yoxi will have

little reason to be satisfied with the court of

France, and that you will not have less need

of courage and fortitude in bearing and suffer-

ing in that country than you had in acting in

Britain." Apprehensive of the impetuosity of

Charles's temper, he most earnestly recom-

mended him to conduct himself with patience

and prudence, and warned him of the conse-

quences which might ensue by adopting a dif-

ferent course. This admonition, however, was

thrown away upon Charles.

Resolved to put the sincerity of the French

court to the test, Charles presented a memorial

to Louis on the state of his affairs. In this

paper he drew the attention of the French

king to Scotland, which he represented as on

the eve of destruction
;
and he stated, that as

the government appeared resolved to confound

the innocent with the guilty, it was reasonable

to conclude that the discontent of the nation

would be general, and that if he was enabled

to enter upon another enterprise the number

of his adherents would be tripled. He also

stated that he would be deceiving his most

Christian majesty were he to say that he could

again subdue Scotland after his friends had

been destroyed, and that if the opportunity

was then lost the king of France might for

ever renounce any expected aid to his arms by

a revolution in that country, that he had

always had numerous partisans in Scotland,

though he had never had a sufficient supply

either of money, provisions, or regular troops,

and that if he had been well provided with

only one of these three helps, he would still

have been master of Scotland, and probably

tory seems to confirm this opinion. A most unfa-

vourable sketch of the character of Kelly, the new fa-

vourite, is given by Father Myles Macdonell, his own

relative, for which see the Father's letter to the Che-

valier de St. George, 4th May, 1747, in the Stuart

Papers.

also of England, that if he had had three

thousand regular troops he would have pene-

trated into England immediately after the bat-

tle of Preston, and as George II. was then

absent from the kingdom, and the English

troops in Flanders, he could have marched to

London without opposition, that had he been

supplied with provisions he could have pur-

sued General Havvley after the battle of Fal-

kirk, and destroyed all his army, which was

the flower of the British troops. Finally, that

if he had received two months earlier only the

half of the money which his majesty had sent

him, he would have fought the Duke of Cum-

berland on equal terms, and he would certainly

have beaten him, since with four thousand

men only he had kept victory in suspense,

though opposed by an army of twelve thou-

sand. Having thus stated the causes to which

the failure of his expedition was owing, Charles

proposed that Louis should furnish an ariny of

eighteen or twenty thousand men, which he

stated he would employ usefully for their mu-

tual interests, which he considered insepar-

able. 3

Charles appears to have conducted himself,

hitherto, with great moderation; but as no

notice was taken of his demand for troops, he

grew violent and imperious. The French min-

istry had, by order of Louis, granted a sum of

sixty-two thousand nine hundred livres for the

relief of such of Charles's adherents as had ar-

rived in France,* and Louis himself now offered

him a pension suitable to his rank
;
but he

refused to accept it. James, who was fully

informed of the circumstances of Charles's

behaviour, thus expostulates with him: " The

truth is, I dread your feeling severely one

day the consequence of your present conduct

towards the court of France
;

for although,

on account of the obligations they owe you,

they may, out of a certain prudence and policy

dissemble for a time, yet by gaining the ill-

will of those ministers, and by carrying things

3 There are two copies of this memoir among the

Stuart Papers. One of them written in the first per-

son, and holograph of the prince, is titled,
" Memoir

to ye F. K. from me of 10th Nov. 1746.' The other is

titled, 'Ancien Project de Memoire,' and is written

in the third person.
4 Statements showing the division of this money,

will be found in the Stuart Papers.
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too high, you will sooner or later certainly feel

the bad effects of it; whereas, had you re-

ceived what the king of France lately offered

you, it was still putting yourself in the posses-

sion of feeling the effects of his generosity, and

you would have probably got much more in

time in some shape or another." 5 Count

D'Argenson also was very complaisant to

Charles; but James cautioned him not to in-

fer therefrom, that his conduct was approved

of by that minister.

Waiting upwards of two months, and re-

ceiving no answer to his memorial, Charles ad-

dressed a letter to Louis on the 1 2th of Janu-

ary, in which, after alluding to the favours his

majesty had granted to his companions in mis-

fortune, which he regarded as a new proof of

his majesty's generosity towards his family, he

stated that his object in coming to the court of

France was to propose a plan of an expedition,

which would be much more advantageous for

both parties than the former; that this object

alone occupied all his thoughts, and that every

other step which had been proposed to the

king of France to promote his personal inter-

ests, had been done without his sanction. He

concluded a longish letter, written in his usual

loud style, by telling Louis that as he could

not appear in the way in which he was per-

suaded his majesty wished in his own heart

to see him, he would retire to some place where

his present condition would be of less conse-

quence, and where he would be always ready

to concur with the king of France in such steps

as might contribute to his glory, and the re-

storation of his family to their just rights, and

he trusted his majesty would approve of his

resolution. He added, that if, during his ab-

sence, the king of France should find it con-

venient to think seriously of another expedi-

tion, he would immediately return to the court

on being informed of his majesty's wish, and

that, in the meantime, he would appoint a per-

son at Paris who had his entire confidence to

negotiate in his behalf with the king of France

and his ministers.

5 Letter from the Chevalier to Charles, 6th January,
1747. Stuart Papers.

8 Letter from Charles to Louis, 12th January, 1747,
in the Stuart Papers. Sir James Stewart appears to
have been the person Charles intended to appoint, as

As neither Louis nor his ministers had any
intention of entering into Charles's views, they

must have been well pleased with his determi-

nation to retire from Paris, where his presence

had become exceedingly annoying; but some

of his adherents regarded such a step with dif-

ferent feelings, as they thought it would be

highly injurious to his interests. Among those

who took an active part in opposing this reso-

lution, was young Lochiel. No man was more

firmly bent upon another attempt than this

high-minded chief, and instead of thinking

with Charles, that no expedition should be

undertaken without a large force, he was for

accepting any succours that could be obtained.

Some time after his arrival at Paris, he had

opened a correspondence with the Chevalier

de St. George, in which he represented to him

that the misfortunes which had befallen his

cause, though great, were not irretrievable,

provided timely measures were adopted for

checking the depopulating system which the

English government seemed to have adopted.

He stated that the ruin of the Scottish adhe-

rents of the exiled family would dispirit their

friends in England so much, that a restoration

would become extremely difficult, if not im-

practicable, and that, at, best, it could only be

effected by an army superior to all the forces

of the government; whereas, if ten regiments

only were landed in Scotland before the High-
lands were depopulated, not the Highlanders

merely, but all other Scotchmen of spirit would

unite in their support, and give so much em-

ployment to the troops of the government, that

the English Jacobites might, with little assist-

ance, be in a condition to shake off the yoke.

He, therefore, advised the Chevalier to accept

of whatever succours might be offered. Acting

upon principles of the purest disinterestedness,

Lochiel was opposed to every proposal which

might seem to imply an abandonment of the

cause which he had espoused, and when in-

formed by Charles that an application had

been made to the French court for a regiment

to Lord Ogilvy, he told him that he disap-

proved of it, as such an application might
make the court of France regard the affairs of

there is a draught of a commission in his hand-writing

among these papers, bearing the date of 29th Decem-

ber, 1746.
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the exiled family to be more desperate than

they really were, and might prevent them from

granting a body of troops for a new expedition.

Charles seemed to concur in this view; but

Lord Ogilvy having obtained a regiment,

Charles proposed to ask one for Lochiel also.

He objected, however, to the application being

made, and told his royal highness that Lord

Ogilvy, or others, might incline to make a

figure in France, but that his ambition was to

serve his country, or perish with it. Charles

remarked that he was doing every thing in his

power to forward his cause, and persisting in

his resolution to procure a regiment for his

faithful friend, Lochiel consented to accept of

it if obtained, from respect to the prince,

though he declared his determination to share

the fate of the people he had undone, and if

they were to be sacrificed to the vengeance of

the government, to fall along with them. 7

Lochiel now endeavoured to persuade Charles

to remain at Paris, and represented to him the

bad consequences that might ensue to his affairs

by retiring; but his resolution was fixed.

Charles had in fact resolved to pay a visit

to the king of Spain, and his retirement to

Avignon, whither he announced his intention

to proceed, was a mere blind to conceal his

design from the court of France. The Cheva-

lier, desirous in the present posture of his

affairs of paying his court to his Catholic ma-

jesty, had been, for some time, applying for

permission to send his youngest son to Spain.

He announced his intention to Charles, and

stated that he considered it would be for his

interest, that while one of his sons was in

France, the other should be in Spain.
8

When James felt so uneasy in reference to

Charles's deportment towards the French minis-

try, as to write him repeated remonstrances on

the subject, it may be supposed that he would

have been gratified at his resolution to retire

to Avignon, more particularly as the Chevalier's

agents at Paris, who had been discarded by

Charles, would have probably regained the

little influence they had with the French court
;

7 Letter from Lochiel to the Chevalier de St.

George, of 16th January, 1747, among the Stuart

Papers.
8 Letter from the Chevalier to Prince Charles, 13th

January, 1747.

but James was equally disappointed with the

prince's friends at Paris at Charles's determina-

tion. In a letter which he wrote to the prince

in answer to one from the latter, dated the 21st

of January, stating his intention to retire to

Avignon, James stated the great concern which

he felt, at a step of which he could not com-

prehend the meaning, and that nothing, in his

opinion, could justify it but a resolution on

the part of the king of France not to allow

him to remain in that kingdom.
Charles left Paris for Avignon about the end

of January, 1747. During his stay at Paris,

he had evinced a laudable anxiety to mitigate

the sufferings of his companions in misfortune

by acts of kindness ; but there was one among
them who met with neither sympathy nor

gratitude at his hands. This was Lord George

Murray, who had sacrificed more for him than

any other individual then living. Aware of

this feeling of Charles towards him, Lord

George did not visit Paris on his arrival in

Holland in December; but, after some stay,

proceeded to Rome to pay his respects to the

Chevalier de St. George. Charles, however,

appears to have expected him at Paris
;
and in

the event of his arrival there during his absence,

he left written instructions with his brother

Henry, to do every thing in his power to get

him arrested and committed to prison.
1

1 This circumstance, so disgraceful to the memory
of Charles, is mentioned in a letter from Prince Henry
to his father, dated Paris, 30th January, 1747, under
the signature of John Paterson, a name sometimes
assumed by Henry, when corresponding in cipher.
The original letter is among the Stuart Papers.
Lord George's arrival at Rome was announced to

Charles by the Chevalier, in a letter dated 21st March,
1747. The following extract places James's character

in a very favourable point of view : "I must tell you
that I \vas much surprised t'other day at the arrival

of Lord George Murray in this place. After having
absconded many months in Scotland, he found means
to come to Holland, and from thence by Venice here.

By what Bramston, (the corresponding name of

O'Sullivan,) says, I am sorry to find that you have

not been pleased with him, but tho' I questioned
Bramston much about him, yet I own I don't see any
motive to suspect his fidelity and loyalty. People

may have an odd, and even a wrong way of thinking,
and may even fail in something towards ourselves,
but may be men of honour and honesty with all that

;

so that considering his birth, and the figure he made
in your service, and that you had never writ to me
about him yourself, I thought it would be very wrong
in me not to receive him with all kindness, and even

distinction. I don't know how long he will stay here,

or how he proposes to dispose of himself, but 1 under-

stand he has a mind to bring over his lady, and to
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Shortly after Charles's departure his brother,

Henry, received a notification from his father,

of his intention to send him to Spain. He

immediately sent a copy of the Chevalier's

letter to Charles, and stated his regret at the

prospect of being removed to such a distance

from his brother ;
but instead of thanking him

for this kind expression of his feelings, Charles

returned him a very petulant answer. He in-

formed him that, while in Scotland, he had

formed a design of going to the court of Spain

himself, and that he had left Paris with that

intention, that having resolved to make the

journey, he had not asked leave from his father

for fear of being refused, and that he intended

to go and return with all imaginable privacy.

He entreated Henry, by all the ties of brotherly

affection, and by the regard which he had for

his success of the cause, not to start from Paris

though he should get leave, until the result

of Charles's journey was known. He re-

quested him to confide the secret of his journey

to the king of France upon receipt of his next

letter, and to represent to Louis that he had

suddenly taken the resolution of making a

journey to Spain after his arrival at Avignon.

Henry, whose character was extremely mild

and conciliating, stated, in reply, that he had

communicated " the king's letter
"

to him as

soon as he had received it, and that his pro-

vince in that, as in every thing else, was blind

obedience
;
but he observed, that his father

could not foresee Charles's resolution, and that

if his going to Spain would change the system
Charles seemed to have proposed to himself,

he would not make use of any leave he might
obtain without receiving farther orders, which,
he was convinced, would be to remain ut Paris,

whenever his father knew of Charles's deter-

mination to proceed to Spain.

Accompanied by Kelly, Dr. Cameron, and
two or three domestics, Charles left Avignon
early in 1747, and repaired to Madrid; but

live privately with her in some retired place. He is

publicly here, for he has no measures to keep ; and I
must do him the justice to say that he never speaks
of you but with great respect, and even eloge. See
also the letters among the Stuart Papers from the
Chevalier to Charles of 25th April, and 2d and 9th
May, 1747, copied also from the original copies in
the same collection. All of them, as far as they relate
to Lord George, will be read with pleasure, but parti-
cularly the first.

his reception appears to have been cold and

formal, and he did not even see the queen-

dowager, whom he was particularly anxious

to meet. Alluding to this visit, the Chevalier

observes to Charles,
" I am much more con-

cerned than surprised you had not a better

reception in Spain; but I am in hopes your

going thither will be of no ill consequence,

provided you manage your matters in a pro-

per manner on your return to Paris." 2

In a memoir which Charles presented to

Caravajal on the 6th of March, to sound the

intentions of the Spanish court, he requested

to be informed, in the event of the king of

France agreeing to fit out an expedition in

his favour, what aid his Catholic majesty
would contribute' in its support. He required

that 30,000 fusils and 10,000 sabres should

be set apart for his use in a convenient

place, in order that when occasion required he

might obtain them at once in a quiet manner.

That two or three small ships should be got

ready as soon as possible, and loaded with

grain, to be sent to Scotland under the charge

of a gentleman he would send along with

them. That the king of Spain should give

him commissions for three Scotch regiments,

which, when completed, should be formed into

a brigade.
3 In answer to these demands, Cara-

vajal stated, that his master could spare no ships

of war to assist in the expedition, as he had only

seventeen in Europe, that some of these were

disabled, and that the rest were employed in

the Italian war
; that as to arms, orders would

be given to manufacture the required number
;

and that arrangements would be made for car-

rying his demand for a supply of grain into

effect. Finally, that as to the proposal about

the regiments, he believed his majesty would

give his consent to it.

After remaining four or five days at Madrid,

Charles retired to Guadalaxara till he should

obtain a definitive answer on the subject of

raising the regiments. His Catholic majesty

at last consented, but stipulated that none but

Scotchmen should be admitted into these re-

giments, a condition which, under existing cir-

cumstances, rendered their formation imprac-

2 Letters among Stuart Papers.
3 Vide Memoir, among the Stuart Papers.
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ticable. 4 Finding his journey thus in a man-

ner unavailing, Charles returned to Paris,

where he arrived on the 24th of March.

It is probable that Charles's return to Paris

was hastened by a remonstrance sent to him

by Lochiel on the subject of his retirement to

Avignon. This zealous chief represented to

the prince that peace was the topic of general

conversation, and as there existed a universal

desire for it in Erance, there was reason to be-

lieve that George II. and his allies would ob-

tain any terms they might ask in relation to

Henry, Cardinal Duke of York.

(From Original Painting In possession of James Drummoml, Esq., K S.A.)

Charles. He proposed,
5 that if Charles could

not obtain from France such an embarkation of

troops as would enable him to land in England
and overturn the government at one blow, he

should endeavour to get an embarkation for

Scotland, where the disposition of the people

was still so favourable, that if he could return

to the Highlands with artillery, arms, and

4 Stuart Papers.
5 Letter from Lochiel to Charles, 23d February,

1 747, among the Stuart Papers.

ammunition, and only four or five battalions of

foot, he believed he would not only relieve his

distressed friends, and save the remainder of

the country from ruin, but deliver all Scotland

from the slavery to which he supposed it would

soon be reduced.

Charles accordingly renewed his applica-

tion to Louis and his ministers, but did

not succeed in bringing
" these people to

reason," as he himself expresses it, or in

other words, prevailing on them to accede

to his demand. Baffled again in his at-

tempt to induce the French govern-

ment to engage actively in his cause,

Charles contemplated a matrimo-

nial alliance with the czarina, with

the view of engaging her in his

interest; but his father, to whom
he communicated his design, con-

sidered it impracticable, and Charles

appears to have immediately dropt

it.

Notwithstanding the untoward

appearance of his affairs, Charles

was by no means discouraged ;
but

the promotion of his brother to the

cardinalate, which took place about

three months after his return from

Spain, damped his spirits. Henry
had every reason to be dissatisfied

with Charles's conduct towards him-

self personally ;
but he made no

complaints, and it was only owing
to the peevish way in which Charles

alluded to him in his letters to

his father that James became ap-

prised of his dislike to his brother. 6

Being of a pious disposition, Henry
became desirous of embracing the

ecclesiastical state, and resolved to

repair to Itaty to consult his father upon the

subject. As he knew that Charles would

object to his departure from Paris, and

might possibly take measures to prevent it,

he went olf without informing him. Charles

complained to his father of Henry's leaving

Paris without acquainting him
; but whilst

James admitted that it was certainly not ac-

cording to rule that Henry should have gone

6 Seo the Chevalier's repeated remonstrances on

this subject in his letters to Charles
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away without taking leave of Charles in per-

son, he said he could not blame him for it

under existing circumstances.

The first notice which Charles received of

the intended promotion of his brother was by

a letter from his father, dated from Albano on

the 13th of June, 1747. 8 Charles was both

grieved and enraged when he received this in-

telligence, and shut himself up for several hours

to give vent to his sorrow or vexation. Hither-

to Charles had drunk the health of his father

and brother every day at dinner, but he now

discontinued that of Henry, and forbade every

person about him ever to mention his name in

his presence.
9 The friends of the family re-

gretted exceedingly this step on the part of

Henry, which they considered a very imprudent

one, so far as the expected restoration of the

Stuarts was concerned, as it narrowed their

prospects of success; but neither Henry nor

James had any ambition for a crown, and the

latter intended, if the succession opened, never

to assume the diadem. 1 Both the pope and

James notified to the king of France the de-

sign of presenting Henry with a cardinal's hat,

and Louis in return signified his approbation
of the step.

Among other subjects of uneasiness which

pressed heavily upon Charles at this time, was

the state of his pecuniary concerns. He still

resolutely refused to receive any pension from

the French court, and it was perhaps owing to

this refusal that the French ministry showed

no disposition to pay the allowances which

had been granted to his adherents. To relieve

the prince's immediate necessities, his father

had sent him an order on Waters, his banker

at Paris, for fifteen thousand livres
; signifi-

cantly observing, however, that as Charles had

refused the pension which Louis had offered,

the Chevalier presumed that he had some other

resource to supply his wants. James, how-

ever, had taken care that the obstinacy of his

son should not stand in the way of Louis's

8 Stuart Papers.
9 Father Macdonell's letter to the Chevalier of 15th

July, 1747, among the Stuart Papers.
1 Letter from James to Charles, 13th January, 1747.

See also two extremely interesting letters of 3d April,
1747, and 28th January, 1748, which also throw con-
siderable light on the domestic differences which ex-
isted between Charles and his father. Stuart Papers

bounty, and he accordingly directed O'Brien

his agent to draw the pension which Charles

had refused, to apply the third part thereof for

the use of his son, Henry, whilst in France,

and to lay out the other two-thirds in the way
he should be afterwards directed. 2 Mr. John

Grahame,
3 in a letter to the Chevalier de St.

George, represents the prince as having no

visible means of subsistence, and that he could

compare his " situation to nothing better than

an immense labyrinth, out of which he had

not a bit of thread to conduct him." Charles

was too proud to ask his father for aid; but

the latter, on hearing of his difficulties, ordered

O'Brien to pay foyty thousand livres into

O'Sullivan's hands on his account, out of the

sum he had drawn on account of Charles's

pension. The prince, however, consistently

declined the money, knowing the source

whence it came.

In the circumstances in which he was thus

placed by his own obstinacy, Charles, who
never displayed much generosity towards those

who had offended him, was not in the best

possible mood to exercise the virtue of for-

giveness. His father had repeatedly written

him in relation to his threatened seizure of

Lord George Murray, and had strongly incul-

cated the propriety of forgiving a man who had

suffered so much in his cause
;
but Charles

disregarded these paternal admonitions. Lord

George was very desirous to effect a reconcilia-

tion, by making every reasonable submission

that could be required of him, and for this

purpose left Rome for Paris, where he arrived

on the 10th of July. Charles was then living

at St. Ouen, in the neighbourhood of Paris,

and Lord George having, the day after his

arrival, ascertained the place of his residence,

intended to proceed thither early on the 12th,

to pay his respects to the prince. His lord-

ship was, however, prevented from carrying his

2 Letter from James to Charles, 17th February,
1747, among Stuart Papers.

3 This gentleman had been long in the service of
the Chevalier de St. George. His father acted as so-

licitor in Scotland to James II. He was knighted by
the Chevalier, and acted for a considerable time as
his secretary of state. He was with Prince Henry at

Paris, and on his departure for Rome entered Charles's
household. He afterwards became a Roman Catho-
lic. He went to Rome in 1759, at the desire of the
Chevalier to act as his Secretary.
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intention into effect, by a message from Charles,

who, hearing of his arrival in Paris, sent Mr.

Stafford, one of his household, to Lord George,

to inform him that it was the prince's wish

that he should not appear at St. Ouen, but that

he would do well to leave Paris as soon as

he could. Lord George requested Stafford to

acquaint the prince that he had come to France

with no other design but to pay his respects

to him, and that he would punctually obey his

orders by leaving France.

Notwithstanding frequent disputes with the

French ministers, Charles always endeavoured

to keep on good terms with their master
;
and

when he defeated the confederates at Laffeldt,

he wrote a letter expressive of the great joy he

felt on the occasion. As every victory gained

over the allies appeared favourable to his

cause, he cannot be well blamed for entertaining

such a feeling ;
but the existence of this docu-

ment subverts the idea generally entertained,

that Charles never expressed any satisfaction

at the conquests of the French in Flanders.

He was no doubt solicitous that Great Britain

should maintain her honour in the field and on

the ocean
;
but his patriotism was not so dis-

interested as to make him prefer that honour

to the crown for which he was contending. It

was not until he saw that he could no longer

depend upon France for aid that his patriotism

was roused.

Much as Charles trusted to his personal

powers for negotiation, he soon found that it

was no easy matter to bring the ministers of

Louis " to reason
;

" and that, to be successful,

it was necessary to obtain the aid of some ex-

perienced politician. He accordingly looked

about him for one in whom he could repose his

confidence, and fixed upon Lord Marischal as

the person most likely to answer his wishes.

To this nobleman, who was then living at

Treviso, Charles despatched a letter in the

month of August, in which he stated that his

father had left him entire master, to employ
such persons as were most agreeable to him,

and that he might easily believe his first choice

would light upon him. He informed him that

his desire was that his lordship should join

him with all convenient speed, and that he

had too good an opinion of his loyalty and

regard for his bleeding country to make him

have the least doubt of his compliance, especi-

ally since all the causes of discontent which

his lordship might heretofore have had, were

now quite removed. Highly complimentary
as this letter was, Lord Marischal declined the

honour intended him. He stated that he had

not retired from public life till he saw how
useless his services were, and must have been

had they been continued
;
and that the broken

state of his health required that he should pass

the rest of his days in quiet.
4

Disappointed in his advances to Lord Maris-

chal, Charles gave himself up entirely to the

direction of George Kelly, his secretary, who,
it is alleged, was personally obnoxious to the

French court. To counteract the rising power
of this new favourite, the pernicious influence

of whose counsels some of the adherents of the

exiled family were already beginning to feel,

Sempil, one of the Chevalier's agents at Paris,

by desire of Lochiel and Drummond of Boch-

aldy, drew up and forwarded a representation

to James in the month of June 1747. The

Chevalier, who was not a bad judge of man-

kind, foreseeing the bad consequences that

would follow if Kelly was allowed to guide

the councils of the prince, had cautioned Charles

against his interference shortly after his return

from Scotland ;
but the prince attributed his

father's dislike to Kelly to the misrepresenta-

tions of his enemies. In a letter, alluding to

some complaints made by Charles against his

brother, James observes,
" What you now write

to me is manifestly the product of KelVs
malice ... as long as you are directed or in-

fluenced by him, depend upon it nothing will

go well with you, and you will never have a

moment's quiet yourself."
5

These admonitions, which were repeated

after Drummond's communication, were, how-

ever, thrown away upon Charles, who clung to

his secretary with as great pertinacity as ever.

This predilection for Kelly, if the statement of

Sempil is to be credited, ruined the prince's

negotiations with the French ministry, who,

according to him, would have entertained a

proposal made by the Marquis de Puyzieux, of

embarking a force for Scotland on the dissolu-

4 Vide Charles's letter, and the answer, among the

Stuart Papers.
5 Letter of 10th February, 1747.
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tion of the British parliament ;
but the design

was given up, because the persons in whom

Charles seemed to repose his confidence were

obnoxious to the French court, and were con-

sidered unworthy of trust.
6

Whilst the French government evaded

Charles's demand for a supply of troops, it

acceded in other respects to his wishes. A

regiment was given to Lochiel,
7 the arrears of

the gratuities granted to the Scotch exiles were

paid up, and a fixed allowance of thirty-six

thousand livres per annum was granted to them,

the appropriation of which was left entirely to

the prince. Having thus provided for his

friends, the French ministry thought that

Charles's repugnance to a pension might be

overcome ;
and accordingly M. de Lally, who

was directed to communicate to him the largess

granted to his adherents, was also appointed

to sound him on the subject of an allowance to

himself. Charles, writing to M. de Puyzieux,

observed, that he would accept with pleasure

even the smallest favour his majesty was dis-

posed to grant ;
but he begged that nothing

should be given him in name of a pension,

and that he should be permitted to deny to

his English friends, even face to face, that he

was in the receipt of it.
8

It thus appears that

Charles's objection to a pension did not pro-

ceed from any disinclination to receive the

money, but from an apprehension that the

circumstance of his becoming a pensioner of

France would injure him with his English
friends. It is not known whether the

French government acted upon Charles's sug-

gestion.

It was the policy of the French court, whilst

the war lasted, to keep up appearances with
the exiled family, so as to encourage the belief

6 Vide the two papers presented by Sempil to the
Chevalier de St. George in February 1748, among the
Stuart Papers.

7 Charles wished his father, on Lochiel's appoint-
ment, to present the chief with a patent of peerage,
which, with other patents, had been made out but
kept latent. This James declined, as he thought that,
by declaring Lochiel's patent, he would disgust many
deserving people, and particularly the other Highland
chiefs. He very properly observed that Lochiel's
interest and reputation in his own country, and his
being at the head of a regiment in France, would
give him more consideration there than any empty
title he could bestow. Letter from James to Charles,
1th November, 1747, among Stuart Papers.

Letter to M. de Puyzieux, among the Stuart
Papers.

that it really intended to aid in its restoration.

This notion was strengthened by the appoint-

ment of Lord Ogilvy and Lochiel to the com-

mand of regiments ;
and the fears of an invasion

after Charles's return to France are said to

have delayed for a time the embarkation of the

British troops for Flanders. This system of

intimidation would in all probability have

been persevered in had not France become

tired of a war which had exhausted her trea-

sury, destroyed her commerce, and almost

annihilated her navy. The confederates were

equally weary of a war in which they had

reaped neither honour nor advantage, and they
therefore gladly availed themselves of an offer

of pacification made by France. The belli-

gerent powers accordingly agreed to hold a

congress, which was opened at Aix-la-Chapelle
in March 1748.

Charles now saw that all hope of an imme-

diate restoration was at an end, and must have

perceived, from the strong desire which existed

in France for peace, and the low state to which

that kingdom was reduced by the war, that

his interests would form no bar in the way of

a general pacification.

The first public step which Charles took to

mark his displeasure with the conduct of the

French government, in suing for a peace, was of

a very decided character. When the congress
of Aix-la-Chapelle was about to assemble, he

gave instructions to the Sieur Eoettier to strike

a medal with his head, and the inscription,
" Carolus Walliae Princeps

"
(Charles Prince

of Wales) ;
and on the reverse the figure Bri-

tannia and a fleet of war-vessels, with the sig-

nificant motto,
" Amor et Spes Britannise

"

(The Love and Hope of Britain).

When the medal appeared it created a great

sensation in France, and many of the French

nobility were deeply offended at the device and

motto, which they regarded as an insult offered

to the nation. The prince of Conti, in par-

ticular, who was accounted one of the proudest
men in all France, showed his chagrin on the

occasion. Meeting Charles one day in the

Luxembourg Gardens, Conti observed to

Charles, with an air of pleasantry, under

which a sneer was observed to lurk, that the

device of his medal was not just so applicable
as some persons might at first suppose, as the
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British navy had not shown any particular

friendship for him. Charles, who at once per-

ceived the censure, immediately replied,
" That

is true, Prince ! but I am, nevertheless, the

friend of the navy against all its enemies
;
as

I shall always look upon the glory of England
as my own, and her glory is in her navy."

About the time the medal was struck Charles

sat for his portrait to Tocque^ the eminent

painter, which was immediately engraved by

Wille, the celebrated engraver, with the title

" Carolus Walliae Princeps."

On the 30th of April, the preliminaries of a

general peace were signed by the ministers of

Great Britain, France, and the United Pro-

vinces, the basis of which was a general resti-

tution of the conquests which had been made

during the war. A suspension of arms almost

immediately followed the signing of the pre-

liminaries. Charles was not aware that the

preliminaries had been signed till some time

after the suspension of arms, and he con-

soled himself with the vain hope that peace
was not so near at hand as was generally

supposed.
9

During the negotiations Charles still went

to court, though not so frequently as before,

and always endeavoured to avoid any personal

interviews with the king ;
but when informed

of the signing of the preliminaries, he gave up
his visits entirely. His father, and the adhe-

rents of his family, expected that he would no

longer remain in a kingdom which was now

again to sacrifice the interests of his house;
but instead of evincing any disposition to de-

part, he gave a decided indication of fixing

himself in Paris, by hiring a splendid hotel

upon the Q/iai de Theatin for himself and his

principal friends, in order, as he said, to be

near the opera, play-house, and the other places

of public diversion in Paris. To show how
little he regarded the proceedings at Aix-la-

Chapelle, he appeared much gayer than usual,

and when any person alluded, in his presence,

to the congress, he seemed not to regard the

matter, and waived the subject by singing or in-

troducing some different topic of conversation.

To show, however, that he was not indiffer-

ent to his rights, Charles drew up a protest

9
Letter, Charles to his father, 13th May, 1748,

Stuart Papers.

against any stipulation which might be entered

into by the contracting parties, contrary to

these rights, of which he sent a copy to the

king of France, enclosed in a letter from him-

self. The Chevalier de St George, in ignorance
of Charles's protest, also published one in his

own name, agreeably to a practice which he

and his father, king James II., had followed,

whenever any treaty with Great Britain was

entered into.

After the preliminaries were signed, Louis

took an early opportunity of intimating to

Charles that he had renewed the engagements
which he and his grandfather had formerly
come under to the British government, in

relation to the House of Stuart ; but Charles,

in his protest, entirely overlooked the stipula-

tion which regarded his intended expulsion
from the French territories. Louis probably

expected that this hint would have been

sufficient to induce Charles to quit France,

but, as he indicated no intention to remove,
the Marquis de Puyzieux, by desire of the king,

sent a requisition in writing, to which he

demanded an answer. Charles returned an

evasive answer to M. de Puyzieux's note the

same day.

After this answer, matters appear to have

remained in statu quo till October, on the 7th

of which month the treaty of Aix-la-Chapelle
was finally concluded and signed. By this

treaty the contracting parties agreed, without

any limitation, to a literal insertion of the fifth

article of the quadruple alliance, by which it

was stipulated that neither the "
Pretender,"

nor any of his descendants, should be allowed

to reside within the territories belonging to any
of the parties to the treaty. Meanwhile Louis

was looking out for a suitable asylum for

Charles Edward. Knowing that the prince

had declared that he would never return to

Italy, he directed M. de Courteille, his envoy
to the Cantons of Switzerland, to ask a resi-

dence for Charles in the city of Fribourg.

The regency complied with the request, but

Mr Barnaby, the British minister to the

Helvetic body, violently opposed the plan, and

presented a remonstrance to the magistracy of

Fribourg, couched in such terms as to draw

upon him the censure of the regency.

The next person selected by Louis to act as
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negotiator with Charles was the Cardinal de

Tencin, who was supposed to have some influ-

ence with him. The cardinal delivered the

message with which he had been intrusted in

the most delicate manner, and endeavoured to

convince Charles, by a variety of arguments,

of the regret the king felt at having been

obliged to accede to the objectionable articles

of the treaty. To reconcile Charles to the

measure, the cardinal, it is said, hinted that

the treaty might possibly be of short endur-

ance, and that the prince might afterwards

return to France with brighter prospects, but

the cardinal left Charles without obtaining

any satisfaction. Desirous of avoiding extre-

mities, the king waited about two weeks in

expectation that Charles would depart ;
but

being informed that he made no preparations

for his departure, he sent the Duke de Gesvres,

the governor of Paris, with a message similar

to that delivered by the cardinal. The duke,

however, got as little satisfaction as the car-

dinal, and on a second interview, the prince

absolutely refused to quit the country, and

told the duke that there was a treaty prior to

that of Aix-la-Chapelle between him and the

king, from which he could not depart with

honour.

The British ministry had for some time

been urging the French court to fulfil that

part of the treaty which related to the expul-

sion of the prince from the French territories
;

and the hostages
1
complained that his being

permitted to appear at all public places of

amusement was as an insult to their sovereign,

and an infringement of the treaty. Louis,

therefore, sent the Duke de Gesvres a third

time to expostulate with Charles on the 6th of

November; but Charles again evaded a direct

answer to the duke's demand to quit France.

Charles afterwards sent him an explicit answer

in writing, in which he stated that it was with

much regret he found himself compelled in

defence of his own interests to oppose the in-

tentions of the king on this occasion, and that

he had already apprised his majesty of his de-

sign by a letter which he had written to M.
de Puyzieux as far back as the 20th of August.

1 The Earl of Essex and Lord Cathcart, hostages
sent to France until the restitution by Great Britain
of Cape Breton.

He requested the duke to assure his majesty in

the strongest terms that he would retain to-

wards him during his life all the sentiments of

respect and attachment which he had formerly

expressed.
2

Louis was much annoyed at Charles's obsti-

nacy, as he felt great repugnance to push
matters to extremities with a prince who
could plead in his own justification a violation

of a solemn contract which the king of France

had entered into with him three years before.

As he had, however, contracted with Charles

merely in his character of prince regent, it

appears to have occurred to Louis that he

would save his honour if he obtained an order

from the Chevalier de St George, requiring

Charles to leave, his dominions before having
recourse to physical force. He therefore

despatched a courier to Rome with a letter to

the Chevalier, giving an account of the prince's

conduct, and requesting James to interpose his

parental authority to induce Charles to leave

his dominions. That James might be fully

assured of the prince's determination to remain

in France contrary to his wishes, Louis also

sent him Charles's letter to the Duke de

Gesvres.

The messenger returned to Paris early in

December with a letter from James to the

king of France, inclosing another to Charles,

which, after perusing, he was requested to

despatch to the prince. After complaining
of Charles's conduct towards himself, James
told him that he saw him on the brink of a

precipice, and that he would act the part of

an unnatural parent if he did not do every-

thing that depended upon him to save him
from falling, and that he therefore found him-

self obliged to order him as his father and

king to conform himself without delay to the

wishes of the French king, by leaving his

dominions with a good grace.

This letter Louis sent by the Duke de Gesvres

to Charles, the duke at the same time carrying
a letter from Louis, which is said to have con-

tained a blank order to be filled up by the

prince himself for a yearly allowance. Charles

told the duke that he wanted no pecuniary
favours from his majesty, and that it was not

2
Letter, Charles to the Duke de Gesvres, among

the Stuart Papers.
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consistent with honour to comply with his

demand to leave the French territories. The

duke urging Charles to reconsider his resolu-

tion, the latter grew impatient, and told him

that he would in future decline receiving any
communications from any person but the king
himself. The duke told him the thing was

impossible, unless indeed he expected, what he

could scarcely suppose he did, that his majesty
was to come to the Quai de Theatin in person.
" In short, then, sir," said Charles,

" I have

nothing farther to say than what I have said

already, pardon me, I have some business."

With these words Charles left the room, leav-

ing the duke in amazement.

Long before the French public were aware

of the intentions of their government in relation

to the prince, the fame of his exploits, in con-

nection with the fact of his being a descendant

of Henri Quatre, had endeared him to the

French nation
;
but when they found that he

was to be sacrificed by their sovereign to state

necessity, their admiration for his person was

heightened into enthusiasm, and they looked

upon the approaching struggle between Louis

and his kinsman with feelings of the deepest

interest. Every person was desirous to see a

prince who had the courage to brave the grand
monarch in his own capital, and whenever

Charles appeared upon the public walks, he

was followed by the assembled multitudes.

When he entered the theatre, all eyes were

directed towards him, and the performance was

allowed to pass off unheeded by the audience.

Charles alone seemed to make light of his

misfortunes, and evinced the gaiety of his

spirits by talking in an easy, cheerful, and

affable manner to the young noblemen, by
whom, on these occasions, he was always sur-

rounded. 3

After trying every possible means to induce

Charles to quit the French territory without

effect, the ministry pressed the king to arrest

him, and send him by force out of the kingdom.
Louis was naturally averse to such a strong

proceeding ;
but as he saw he could not fulfil

the stipulation of the treaty regarding the

exiled family in any other way, he reluctantly

signed an order for his arrest. When putting

8 Authentic Account, p. 51.

his name to the warrant, he felt the extreme

delicacy of the act, and pathetically exclaimed,
" Poor prince ! how difficult it is for a king to

be a true friend !" This order, which was

signed at three o'clock in the afternoon, was

blazed all over Paris before evening. One of

the prince's retinue, who heard the intelligence,

brought it to him
;

but Charles would not

believe it.
" Pish ! pish !" he exclaimed,

" an

idle romance; they know I will obey my
father." Though no official notice was sent to

Charles of the order, yet it is understood that

means were taken to apprise him of his situa-

tion
;

and on the morning of the 10th of

December, while walking in the Tuilleries, he

was informed by a person of distinction that

he would certainly be seized that very day if

he did not prevent it by an immediate depar-

ture
; but, instead of taking the hint thus

kindly given him, he seemed to treat the in-

telligence as chimerical, and turning to one of

his followers, gave directions that a box should

be hired for him that night at the opera-house.

To carry the warrant into effect, no less than

1200 of the guards were in the course of the

day drawn out, and posted in the court of the

Palais Royal ;
a great number of sergeants and

grenadiers, in cuirasses and helmets, filled the

passages of the opera-house ;
and the police

were placed in all the streets leading to it, to

stop any carriages that might attempt to pass.

Six intrepid sergeants of the grenadiers were

ordered to seize the prince. Two companies of

grenadiers took post in the court-yard of the

kitchens, where the Due de Biron, colonel of

the French guards, disguised, waited in a coach

to see the issue of the enterprise. The Mous-

quetaires, a body of French horse-guards, had

orders to be ready to mount on horseback
;

troops were posted upon the road from the

Palais Royal to Vincennes
;
hatchets and scal-

ing ladders were prepared, and locksmiths

directed to attend, in order to take the prince

by escalade, in case he should throw himself

into some house, and there attempt to stand

out a siege. A physician named Vernage, and

three surgeons, were also ordered to be in

readiness to dress such of the troops as might

be wounded. These extensive preparations

can only be accounted for on the supposition

that the government was apprehensive that an
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attempt would be made by the Parisians to

rescue the prince.

Charles received several notes during the day,

giving him notice of the measures taken for

securing him; but he resolved to brave the

danger. He accordingly left his hotel in his

carriage, accompanied by three gentlemen of

his household, at a quarter after five o'clock,

for the opera-house, and, in passing through

the street St Honore", was warned by a friendly

voice not to proceed, as the opera-house was

beset. He proceeded onwards, however, and

on entering the cul-de-sac, leading to the opera-

house, the barriers were drawn, and the doors

of the opera-house shut. On alighting from

his coach, he was instantly surrounded by the

six sergeants, disguised as tradesmen, who

seized his person, and, lifting him off" the

ground, carried him through the porte cochere,

at the end of the passage which led into the

court -yard of the Palais Royal. M. de

Vaudreuil, major of the blue guards, who, with

some officers, had remained behind the gate,

then approached his Royal Highness, and said,

"Monseigneur, I arrest you in the name of the

king, my master." Charles, without betraying

any emotion, answered that the manner was a

little too violent. The sergeants, thereupon,

carried him into a room on the ground floor of

the palace, possessed by a surgeon of the Duke
of Orlean's household. The major demanding
his arms, Charles presented his sword, but

suspecting that he had other weapons about

him, the sergeants, by De Vaudreuil's order,

searched his person, and found a pair of pocket

pistols and a penknife, of which they took

possession. Charles remarked that he had

carried a pair of pistols about with him ever

since he returned from Scotland. The major
had provided himself with thirty-six ells of

black silk ribbon4 with which to tie the prince,

and on hearing him give directions to that

effect, Charles offered his parole that he would
hurt neither himself nor any other person, and

4 Another account (G. Charles's Tramactions in Scot-

land) says that the material for binding was ten ells
of crimson silk cord. This looks far more probable ;

if the major wished to make the binding of the prince
effectual, "silk ribbon" would have been ridiculous.
Still the anonymous letter referred to below is so cir-
cumstantial as to call it "a black ribbon, three fingers
broad, and thirty-six ells long."

added that he thought so many persons were

quite sufficient to guard one unarmed man

without resorting to such a step. The major

consulted the Duke de Biron, who ordered that

the prince should be bound. Charles was

accordingly tied in five different places. In

this situation he was put into a hired coach,

attended by the major and two captains of

the blue guards, and was driven, under a

strong guard, to the castle of Vincennes, into

which he was received by his friend M. de

Chatelet, the governor, who placed him in

a small upper apartment in the Tower, and

treated him as well as his duty permitted him.

The only person who remained with him in

his confinement was Neil Mac Eachan, who

had attended him in his perilous journey from

Uist to Skye. Charles had borne the indignity

offered him with great composure, the disgrace

attending which, he told M. de Vaudreuil,

could only affect his master
;

but after he

found himself shut up in the castle, his feel-

ings were overcome, and he is said to have

clasped his hands together and to have burst

into tears. "Ah! my faithful mountaineers,"

he pathetically exclaimed,
" from you I never

would have received such treatment. Would
to God I were still among you !" Meanwhile

the three gentlemen who had attended Charles

to the opera were also seized, and five others,

who were by chance at his house, and all his

servants were sent to the Bastile ;
his hotel was

taken possession of by the lieutenant of police."

Next day all the prince's French servants were

released.

The arrest of the prince created an extra-

ordinary sensation in Paris
;
and next morning

all the public places of the city were covered

with pasquinades, which had been put up

during the night, reflecting, in very severe

terms, upon the conduct of the king and his

ministers for their treatment of the prince.

One of these was in the form of an order from

King George, directed to Louis of Bourbon, as

his viceroy, commanding and requiring him to

seize, and, if necessary, to tie the person of

Charles Edward Stuart, and to conduct him

out of the kingdom of France
;
and that, if

Louis should continue to please his master as

5 Authentic Account, p. 63. Anonymous letter to

Dr Meighan, among Stuart Papers.
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he had hitherto done, he should be continued,

by the king of England, in the viceroyalty of

his kingdom of France. These placards were

exceedingly annoying to the French court, and
were

(

torn down by the police with as great

expedition as possible.

Charles was kept in confinement till the 14th

December, on which day, in consequence of a

correspondence which had passed between him
and the king on that and the previous day, he

was allowed to walk a few hours in the gar-

dens. Having tendered his parole to leave the

French territories without guards, Charles was

released at seven o'clock, in the morning of

Sunday the 15th, and departed for Fontaine-

bleau, in a coach, under the charge of a com-

mandant of musketeers. Messrs. Stafford and

Sheridan, two gentlemen of his household, who
had been set at liberty, followed him in two

post- chaises. The remainder of Charles's
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THE city of Avignon, in Provence, which

Charles selected for his place of abode, did not

at this time form a part of the French domi-

nions, but belonged to the pope. On the

death of George I. the Chevalier de St. George
had taken up his residence in this

city, that he might the better be en-

abled to correspond with his friends in

England ;
but he was soon obliged to

retire across the Alps, in consequence,
it is understood, of an application from

the British government to the court

of Rome. To expel the Stuarts from

the French territories, whilst, by a sort

of geographical subtlety, they were

allowed to reside almost in the heart

of France, was certainly an absurdity ;

domestics were released a few days afterwards. ! and had Charles remained for any length of

Bronze Medal, Prince Charles
; reverse; Louisa, his Wife.

(From Original in Antiquarian Museum, Edinburgh.

On reaching Fontainebleau, Charles despatched
a facetious note to a M. de Boile at Paris, re-

questing him to inform his friends that he

carried himself well, that his head had never

been off his shoulders, and that it was still

upon them. From Fontainebleau Charles pro-

ceeded, by easy stages, to Avignon, where he

arrived on the morning of the 27th of Decem-

ber, disguised in the uniform of a French officer

of musketeers. He had received a letter from

time at Avignon, it is probable that, as in the

case of his father, he would soon have been

forced to took out for another asylum ; but,

to the astonishment of all Europe, he left

Avignon incognito, after a residence of about

two months, and went whither nobody could

tell.

Attended only by Colonel Goring, and one

or two unliveried servants, Charles left Avig-
non in a travelling chaise, and proceeded on

his father on the road, and four days after his
j

the road to Lyons. The prince and Goring
arrival he despatched an answer acquainting
him that he was " in perfect good health, not-

withstanding the unheard-of barbarous and in-

human treatment
" he had met with. 6

passed for French officers, who, on the con-

clusion of the peace, had obtained leave to

visit their friends Charles taking the name
of the Count D'Espoir.

7 What his motives

7 "
Letter from H G , Esquire, one of the

gentlemen of the bed-chamber to the youi.g Chevalier,
5 u
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were for taking this step have not been ascer-

tained ;
but it is probable that one of his ob-

jects was an interview with the Landgrave of

Hesse-Darmstadt, with whose daughter, the

Princess Charlotte Louisa, he contemplated a

matrimonial alliance.

After passing through Lyons, Charles hired

another chaise, and proceeded to Strasbourg.

From Strasbourg it is supposed that Charles

went to Paris, as it is quite certain that, in the

month of May, he visited that capital.

Of Charles's wanderings, during the several

years that he continued to roam on the conti-

nent, no satisfactory account has yet appeared ;

but recent researches have thrown some Light

on this obscure part of his history. It has

been long known that during this period he

visited Germany, spent some time privately in

Paris, but resided chiefly in the dominions of

his friend the Due de Bouillon, where, sur-

rounded by the wide and solitary forest of

Ardennes, his active spirit sought, in the dan-

gerous chase of wolves and bears, some com-

pensation for the military enterprise from which

he was excluded. 8
Secretary Edgar, who cor-

responded frequently with " the dear wild

man," as he jocularly styled Charles, considered

the prince's incognito as one of the most ex-

traordinary circumstances "that had ever oc-

curred, so great was the secrecy with which it

was for several years preserved.

After his departure from Paris, the first

trace that can be discovered of him is in Sep-
tember 1750, when he visited London. 9 His

object in coming over appears to have been to

establish a regular correspondence with his

friends in England, to ascertain the probabi-

lity of a rising in his favour, and to fix with

them upon a proper place for landing arms,
&c. Before his departure he applied to his

father for a renewal of his powers as regent,
which James reluctantly granted,

1 If he found

matters in a favourable train, he intended to

issue a declaration in which he was to offer to

and the only person of his own retinue that attended
him from Avignon, in his late journey through Ger-
many and elsewhere, &c., to a particular friend. Lon-
don, 1750."

8 Klose's Memoirs of Prince Charles, vol. ii. p. 199.
' Charles alludes to this visit in a note dated 1st

July, 1754, in his own hand-writing, among the
Stuart Papers.

1 Stuart Papers.

refer the funds to a free parliament; and to

encourage the army to join him, he was to

show the nullity of the oaths they had taken

to the " Elector." 2 Charles arrived in London

in the month of September, and went imme-

diately to the house of Lady Primrose. Her

ladyship sent a note to Dr King, a zealous

Jacobite, desiring to see him immediately. On
the doctor's entering the house, Lady Primrose

led him into her dressing-room, and presented

him to the prince. Dr. King was surprised

at seeing him, and still more astonished when

informed of the motives which had induced

him to hazard a journey to England at such a

juncture. According to Dr. King, whose state-

ment is fully supported by documents among
the Stuart Papers, the impatience of the

prince's friends who were in exile had formed

a scheme which was impracticable; but al-

though it had been as feasible as they had

represented it to him, yet no preparation

had been made to carry it into execution.

Charles was soon convinced that he had been

deceived, and after a stay in London of only
five days, returned to the continent. 3

As Charles studiously concealed from his

father all his designs and movements, the latter

2 See a curious memorandum, dated 3d May, 1750,
among the Stuart Papers. From this document it is

evident that Charles thought that the French minis-

try were bribed by the British government to with-
hold assistance from him.

3
King's Political and Literary Anecdotes, p. 197:

"He came," says Dr. King, "one evening to m_,

lodgings and drank tea with me. My servant, after

he was gone, said to me,
' that he thought my new

visitor very like Prince Charles.'
'

Why,' said I,
' have you ever seen Prince Charles ?

' '

No, sir,
'

re-

plied the fellow,
' but this gentleman, whoever he

may be, exactly resembles the busts which are sold in

Bed Lion Street, and are said to be the busts of Prince
Charles.' The truth is, these busts were taken in

plaster of Paris from his face. I never heard him,"
adds the doctor who, however, cannot be received
as an altogether unbiassed reporter "express any
noble or benevolent sentiment, the certain indications
of a great soul and a good heart; or discover any
sorrow or compassion for the misfortunes of so many
worthy men who had suffered in his cause. But the
most odious part of his character was his love of

money. . . I have known this gentleman with 2000
Louis d'ors in his strong-box pretend he was in great
distress, and borrow money from a lady in Paris who
was not in affluent circumstances. His most faithful

servants, who had closely attended him in all his

difficulties, were ill rewarded. To this spirit of ava-
rice may be added his insolent manner of treating
his immediate dependants, very unbecoming a great

prince, and a sure prognostic of what might lie ex-

pected from him if ever he acquired the sovereign
power.

"
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was entirely ignorant of his contemplated mar-

riage Avith the daughter of the Landgrave of

Hesse-Darmstadt. The Chevalier had sug-

gested, in 1747, a marriage with one of the

Duke of Modena's daughters, from which family

his mother had sprung ;
but Charles appears

not to have relished the proposed match. He
now urged upon him the necessity of marry-

ing, so as to secure the succession of the family ;

for he could not think the prince so selfish as

to consider himself only in all he did and suf-

fered.

Though he could not but feel disappointed
at the result of his journey to England, Charles

did not despond, and he now resolved to sound

the dispositions of the courts of Berlin and

Stockholm. As Lord Marischal had resided

about three years in Berlin, and was, through
the interest of Field-marshal Keith, his brother,

on the best footing with his Prussian majesty,
it occurred to Charles that, by availing him-

self of the services of that nobleman, whom he

looked upon as "an honest man," Frederick

might be induced to espouse his cause. Ac-

cordingly he despatched Colonel Goring to

Berlin, in June 1751, with a letter to Lord

Marischal. After consulting with his lord-

ship, Goringwas directed to proceed to Sweden. 4

Of this mission nothing farther is known.

An interview which took place between Lord

Marischal and Goring, and another probably
with the prince himself at Paris, in September

following, are involved in the same obscurity.

About this time Charles received notice that

one Grosert, collector of the customs at Alloa,

had left Scotland with an intention to assassi-

nate him. This information was brought to

France by Robertson of Blairfetty, who had

been in Scotland. Grosert is said to have

been married to a German woman, the daugh-
ter of the milliner of George I.

5

No trace can be discovered of Charles's wan-

derings, after his return from London, till the

5th of April 1752, when he was seen by a

gentleman of the name of Mackintosh at Camp-

vere, in the island of Middleburg, where he

4 See the letter to Earl Marischal and the instruc-

tions to Goring, both dated 21st June, 1751, among
the Stuart Papers.

5 Letter from Sir James Harrington, dated 6th

August, 1751, among the Stuart Papers.

remained four days.
6 He is said to have re-

visited London in the course of the following

year, and to have formally renounced the

Catholic religion in a chapel in Gray's Inn

Lane under his own name of Charles Edward

Stuart ;
but for this statement there appears

to be no sufficient authority.
7 Dr. King, who

corresponded with Charles for several years,

makes no allusion to this visit, nor is there the

least trace of it to be found among the Stuart

Papers. The story of a third visit, on occa-

sion of the coronation of George III., at which

Charles is said to have attended, rests on the

authority of a letter of David Hume, written

in 1773. As to his reported change of reli-

gion, a rumour was generally prevalent in 1752

a year before the date of his alleged apos-

tacy at London that Charles had become a

Protestant
;
but its accuracy was doubted of by

some of his friends. 8 It is certain, however,

that Charles was not disposed to imitate the

self-denial of his father and grandfather, who

preferred their faith to a crown. 9

6
Letter, Mr. Donald Mackintosh to Secretary

Edgar, dated from Civita Vecchia, 6th February,
1754. Stuart Papers.

7 He is said on this occasion to have called without

previous notice on Lady Primrose, and to have walked
into the room, where she and others were playing
cards, being announced by the servant under another
name. After he left it was remarked how like he was
to the prince's portrait which hung in the very room
into which he entered. He is said on this occasion

to have used so little precaution that he went abroad

undisguised in daylight, walking once through St.

James's, and taking a turn in Pall Mall. This story
looks very like another version of his visit in 1750.
See George Charles's Transactions in Scotland, vol. ii.

p. 470.
8 See among the Stuart Papers a letter from Secre-

tary Edgar to Mr. William Hay, 26th September,
1752, and that from Mr. Hay's letter to Edgar, Octo-

ber 1 752. Charles seems to have been desirous after

this to have none but Protestants about him. He
sent an order to Avignon, in November 1753, to dis-

miss all his
"
Papist servants." He kept at this time

a French mistress, and having quarrelled with her,
he discarded her because she was "a Papist too."

The following note, also, in the prince's hand, ap-

pears on the back of a letter of Waters the banker, of

26th June, 1754: "My being a Protestant I can

prove to be an advantage to the Papist, and my terrible

situation not to be incapable to attempt any plan
either against my honour or interest, seeing them that

are so far from my country." At this time (June
1754) Charles was living in Paris incognito.

9 See his answer to the deputation that waited on
him in the year 1755 :

"As to his religion," says Dr. King, "he is cer-

tainly free from all bigotry and superstition, and
would readily conform to the religion of the country.
With the Catholics he is a Catholic, with the Pro-

testants he is a Protestant
;
and to convince the latter
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In consequence of the state of comparative

security which the British government enjoyed

after the peace of Aix-la-Chapelle, it became

less vigilant than before in watching the mo-

tions of the exiled adherents of the house of

Stuart. Some of them accordingly ventured,

from time to time, to revisit their native

country and friends. Amongst others, Dr.

Cameron came over in 1749 to recover part of

a large sum of money which had been left by
Charles in charge of Macpherson of Cluny

when he quitted Scotland. He made a second

journey to Britain in 1753, for what particular

purpose is not certainly known, although it is

supposed his visit had some connection with

a scheme for another rising, then under the con-

sideration of the Jacobites, but which luckily

was nipped in the bud. Having been appre-

hended in Scotland, he was carried to London,
confined to the Tower, and his identity being

proved in the court of king's bench by several

witnesses, he received sentence of death, and

was barbarously executed at Tyburn. He con-

ducted himself with manly fortitude and de-

corum, and his fate was generally pitied.
1

Some of the best wishers to the Government

thought the sacrifice of this unfortunate gentle-

man a most unnecessary and wanton act at

such a juncture, and at such a distance of time

from the period of his attainder. 2 It is said

that King George himself, as he reluctantly

signed the warrant for Cameron's execution,

exclaimed,
"
Surely there has been too much

blood spilt upon this account already !

"

Down to 1754 Charles kept up a regular
communication with his friends in England,
several of whom visited him personally, and

though they saw many reprehensible things in

his conduct, yet they were willing to make
every allowance for the peculiarities of his

situation. There was one circumstance, how-

ever, which they could not overlook. When
in Scotland, Charles had a mistress named

of his sincerity, ho often carried an English Common
Prayer-book in his pocket, and sent to Gordon (whom
I have mentioned before), a non-juring clergyman, to
christen the first child he had by his mistress, Mrs.
Walkmshaw.

1
Klose's Memoirs of Prince Charles, vol. ii. p. 208.
The French government settled a pension of 1200

hvres per annum upon his widow, and granted an
nnual allowance of 400 livres to each of his two sons
who were m its service, in addition to their pay

Clementina Walkinshaw, who, by all accounts,

possessed no great attractions, bodily or mental.

Some years after he was sent out of France he

sent for this woman, who managed to become

acquainted with all his plans, and was trusted

with his most secret correspondence. As Miss

Walkinshaw had a sister who acted as house-

keeper to Frederick, Prince of Wales, at

Leicester house, all the persons of distinction

in England attached to Charles grew alarmed,

being apprehensive that this paramour had

been placed in his family by the English
ministers. They, therefore, despatched a gentle-

man, named M'Namara, to Paris, where Charles

then was, with instructions to insist upon Miss

Walkinshaw's removal for a certain time from

his presence. Mr M'Namara, who was a man
of excellent understanding, urged the most

powerful reasons, and used all the arts of per-

suasion to induce him to comply, but to no

purpose. M'Namara then informed him that

an immediate interruption of all correspondence
with his most powerful friends in England,
and the ruin of his interest, would be the

certain consequence of his refusal
; but Charles

was inflexible. M'Namara staid some days in

Paris beyond the time prescribed, in hopes of

ultimately prevailing; but all his entreaties

and remonstrances were ineffectual. At part-

ing, M'Namara could not help exclaiming, with

great indignation, "What has your family

done, Sir, thus to draw down the vengeance of

Heaven on every branch of it, through so many
ages?" During his conferenceswith M'Namara,
the prince declared that he had no violent pas-

sion, or, indeed, any particular regard for Miss

Walkinshaw, and that he could see her re-

moved from him without any concern
; but

that he would not receive directions for the

regulation of his private conduct from any man
alive. When M'Namara returned to London
and reported Charles's answer to the gentlemen
who had sent him to Paris, many of whom
were persons of the first rank, and all of them
men of fortune and distinction, they were

amazed and confounded, and resolved at once

to break with him. 3

Lord Marischal was then residing at Paris

3
King's Political and Literary Anecdotes, p. 2(54.

ct. seq.
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as ambassador from the king of Prussia to

the court of Versailles, and was apprised by
M'Namara of everything that passed between

him and the prince. Had M'Namara's mission

been successful, his lordship, whose services

Charles was anxious to obtain, meant, on the

expiration of his embassy, to have entered

Charles's household; but disgusted with the

conduct of the prince, who even had the in-

gratitude to threaten to publish the names of

his English friends, he declined to take any
farther interest in his affairs, and embracing

the mediation of the king of Prussia, reconciled

himself to the British government.
4

When, in the following year, a war with

France seemed inevitable, some of his French

friends petitioned the French court to take

advantage of this favourable opportunity to

make one more attempt to restore the Stuarts.

Charles himself came to France, and appears

to have made exertions in his own behalf, but

the time was consumed in fruitless negotiations,

and Charles returned to Italy and the retire-

ment of private life. It seems to be with this

attempt that a document contained among the

Stuart Papers is connected. This document

purports to be notes of a statement made by a

deputation, sent over to Prince Charles, at a

conference with him, drawn up at his own

desire; it is dated August 15, 1755. If this

document is authentic, and there seems to be

no reason to believe otherwise, the deputies

must have lectured the prince on his conduct

most fearlessly and outspokenly, and in a

manner to which princes are mostly strangers.

It is not known what reception the deputa-

tion met with, or how this message was received

by him; but, at his desire, the address was

committed to writing, and sent to him. Charles

returned an indignant answer, informing his

"friends" that reason might, and he hoped

should, always prevail with him, but his own
heart deceived him if threats or promises ever

would. He despised, he said, the malice of

those who aspersed his character, and con-

sidered ib below his dignity to treat them

4 Several letters between Charles and Lord Marisch.il

will be found among the Stuart Papers. The most in-

teresting are one from his lordship, without signature,
15th April 1754, another also without signature, 18th

May 1754, and Charles's answer of the latter date.

in -the terms they deserved. He told them

he had long desired a churchman from his

friends to attend him, but that his expecta-

tions had been hitherto disappointed.
5

Though Charles at first affected not to feel

the indignity offered to him by the French

government, yet it is certain that it left upon
him an indelible impression, soured his dis-

position, and tended to confirm into a habit

the propensity to tippling which he contracted

during his long and exhausting wanderings in

the Highlands. Indeed, his mind, which never

was of the strongest or noblest type, appears to

have been quite unhinged. During his long

incognito he scarcely ever corresponded with

his afflicted father, a silence which he said

was not owing either to neglect or want of

duty, but because his situation was such that

he could do nothing but vent "
imprecations

against the fatality of being born in such a

detestable age."
6 Led away by his passions,

and reckless of the feelings or wishes of others,

he would suffer no control
;
and so infatuated

did he become, that in resisting the admonitions

of his friends, he thought he was pursuing a

course honourable to himself, and dutiful

towards the "honest man," his father;
7 but

James was not to be misled by such false

notions, and hinted, that though he was happy
to find Charles in such sentiments, yet it was

possible" that what he might think for the best

might be otherwise. " Do you." he asks the

prince,
"
rightly understand the extensive sense

of honour and duty from which you say you
will never go astray? If you can," he continues,
"
keep up to that rule, you will then be really

an honest man, which is the new name you

give me, and with which I am much pleased,

since it is a title I value more than all those

which vanity can desire, or flattery invent. It

is a title we are all obliged to pretend to, and

which we may all, without vanity, think we

deserve, and unless we deserve it, we, in

reality, can neither be happy in the next world,

nor even in this, because peace and tranquillity

of mind is only the share of honest men. The

best wish I can therefore make you, is that you

may yourself long deserve and enjoy that title

5 Stuart Papers.
6 Letter to Edgar, 24th March 1754.
7

Letter, Charles to Edgar, 12th March. 1755
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it would be the most effectual means of draw-

ing down God's blessing upon you."
8

After the estrangement of his friends, Charles

appears to have given up all thoughts of restora-

tion, and resided chiefly at Avignon till shortly

before the death of his father, on December

31, 1766, when he returned to Italy, fixing his

abode at Florence. The Chevalier had, for

several years, been in a declining state of

health, and, for two years before his death, had

been confined to his bed-chamber. His remains

were carried to the church of the parish where

Prince Charles Edward Stuart.
From an Original Drawing by Ozias Humphrey, R.A. Taken at

Florence 1776.

he had resided, and were decorated with all

the insignia of royalty. Over the bed was this

inscription : "Jacobus Magnae Britannia Eex,
Anno MDCCLXVI." The body lay in state
three days, during which none but the Italian

princes and British subjects were admitted
into the church. The corpse was then removed
in procession to St Peter's church to be in-

terred. By his will, the Chevalier left his real

estate, which yielded about forty thousand

l!f
tter t0 Charles

' 14th APril
- 1755, among Stuart

crowns per annum, exclusive of pensions, to

Prince Charles. He also left him a box of

jewels belonging to the crown of Poland, for-

merly pledged to the Sobieski family, if not

redeemed. The jewels belonging to his own

family he directed to be divided between

Charles and Henry.
From the state of comparative seclusion in

which the Chevalier passed the most part of

his life, his personal history is less known than

either that of his father, or his son, Charles

Edward. His character, to judge from his

correspondence and the many acts of

individual kindness he showed to-

wards his exiled adherents, was bene-

volent and estimable. He seems to

have been better acquainted with the

principles of the English constitution

than any of his race, and would, had
he been called to empire, have very

possibly eschewed the dangerous rock

of the prerogative on which his grand-
father and father split. His boast was
not merely that he was an English-

man, but that, to use an Italian phrase,
there was not " a greater Englishman
than himself." 9

After his father's death, Prince

Charles retired to Albano, hear Eome,
where he appears to have lived in great

seclusion till the year 1772, when the

court of Versailles, desirous for its

own selfish purposes to prevent the

male line of the house of Stuart from

becoming extinct, negotiated a mar

riage between him and the young prin-

cess Louisa Maximiliana Carolina of

Stolberg-Gedern ; and the three Bour-

bon courts all concurring in the match,

a suitable allowance was settled by them on the

prince and his wife. Charles, who, in conse-

quence of the refusal of the court of Eome to re-

cognise the titles which his father had assumed,
had taken that of the Count of Albany, which
when a youth he had used on his travels

through Italy, took up his residence upon his

marriage in the neighbourhood of Florence,
whither he was invited by the grand duke of

Tuscany. The marriage was unfortunate.

Charles had lived too long single to enjoy
9 Letter to Charles of 3d February, 1747.
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connubial happiness ;
and his mind, soured

by misfortune and degraded by dissipation,

unfitted him for the discharge of the do-

mestic virtues. 1 An English lady who saw-

Prince Charles at Eome in 1770, describes

him thus :

" The Pretender is naturally
above the middle size, but stoops exces-

sively; he appears bloated and red in the

face, his countenance heavy and sleepy, which
is attributed to his having given in to excess

of drinking, but when a young man he must
have been esteemed handsome. His com-

plexion is of the fair tint, his eyes blue, his

hair light brown, and the contour of his face

a long oval
;
he is by no means thin, has a

noble person and a graceful manner. His

dress was scarlet, laced with broad gold lace
;

he wears the blue riband outside of his coat,

from which depends a cameo, antique, as

large as the palm of my hand, and he wears

the same garter and motto as those of the

noble St George in England. Upon the whole,

he has a melancholy, mortified appearance."
2

Charles and the princess lived together

uncomfortably till 1780, Charles, it is said,

often treating his youthful, beautiful, accom-

plished, and gentle wife with the greatest

brutality. In 1777 she became acquainted
with the great Italian dramatist Alfieri, and

the two immediately conceived for each other

a passionate, lasting, and comparatively pure

love; for while her husband lived there is every

reason to believe that she remained faithful to

him. The princess left Charles in 1780, and

took up her residence with his brother the

cardinal at Eome, but shortly after removed

from that to Baden and ultimately to Paris,

where Alfieri joined her, and they separated

no more. On her husband's death, it is

understood that she was privately married to

1 Lord Mahon thinks that Charles had contracted a

disparaging opinion of the tender sex in general.

Among the Stuart Papers is the following written by
Charles about the time of his marriage: "As for men,
I have studied them myself, and were I to live till

fourscore, I could scarcely know them better than

now, but as for women, I have thought it useless,

they being so much more wicked and impenetrable.""
Ungenerous and ungrateful words," justly exclaims

Lord Mahon
;

' '

surely as he wrote them, the image of

Flora Macdonald should have risen in his heart and
restrained his hand." Mahon's Englaiid, v. iii., p.
527.

3 Letters from Italy by an Englishwoman, London,
1776. Quoted by Lord Mahon.

Alfieri, who died in 1803, she surviving him

upwards of twenty-one years. When Tuscany
fell under the dominion of Bonaparte, he

ordered the princess, then living in Florence,

(she having incurred his displeasure), to repair
to Paris. She was afterwards allowed to return

to Florence, where it is said she made a left-

handed marriage with a French historical

painter, named Francis Xavier Fabre, the

friend of Alfieri, whom upon her death she

appointed her universal executor.

About 1785, Charles, who must have felt

himself at this time a lonely, homeless, disap-

pointed old man, took to live with him his

daughter, Charlotte, by Miss Walkinshaw,
who was born about 1760. Little is known
of this lady; she, however, appears to have

been of a gentle disposition, and we would
fain hope that her presence and companionship

helped much to soften the misanthropy and

soothe the bitter spirit of the disappointed

aspirant to the British throne. Shortly after

his daughter came to live with him, Charles

removed to Eome, where in January 1788 he

was prostrated by paralysis, and after an ill-

ness of three weeks died on the 31st. He was

buried royally in the church of his brother at

Frascati, the body, however, being afterwards

removed to St Peter's at Eome. Some time

before his death, he legitimatized his daughter,

and as the last act of his shadowy sovereignty,

created her Duchess of Albany, leaving her

the greater part of his private property.
3 Even

down to the time of his death, it would seem

he had not entirely relinquished the hope of

one day sitting on the throne of his ancestors,

for, according to Lord Mahon, he used to keep
under his bed a strong box with 12,000

sequins, ready for the expenses of his journey

to England whenever he might suddenly be

called thither. 4 His daughter, so far as is

known his sole descendant, survived him only

one year.

Whilst Charles's partisans have painted him

in the most glowing colours of admiration,

as the paragon of all that is noble and high-

minded, others have represented him as a

man devoid of any good and generous feel-

ing, as despotic, revengeful, ungrateful, and

3 Klose's Memoirs, v. ii., p. 241.
4 Mahon's England, v. ii., p. 528.
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avaricious, having, in short, all the vices

without one of the redeeming virtues of his

race. Paradoxical as the assertion may he,

there is some truth in both delineations ;
but

considerable abatements must be made from

the exaggerated eulogies of the one party, as

well as from the sweeping condemnation of

the other. There were, in fact, as has been

well observed, two Charles Edwards. The

hero of 1745 was a generous and high-minded

youth, who, notwithstanding some constitu-

tional defects, merited a better destiny ;
but

the Charles Edward of a subsequent period

was a degraded man, who, dispirited by mis-

fortune and soured by disappointment, lost all

command over himself, and became the sport

of Id's passions. He retained, however, to the

close of his existence, a vivid recollection of

his early exploits, and frequently betrayed

genuine emotion on hearing any allusion to

Scotland and the Highlanders.

"When Charles was ill in 1784, his brother

the cardinal, supposing him to be on his

death-bed, drew up a paper maintaining his

pretensions to the British crown, which, he

declared, were in no way prejudiced or re-

nounced by his retention of the incognito title,

Cardinal Duke of York. A copy of this docu-

ment he sent to the pope, cardinals, and

various foreign ministers. When his brother

the prince did die, and Henry was left the

last and sole representative of the royal Stuart

race, he caused a medal to be struck bearing
the inscription,

"
Henry IX., King of England,

Medal of Henry, Cardinal Duke of Ycrk.
From Original in Antiquarian Museum, Edinburgh.

by the grace of God, but not by the will of

men." This, however, was all the cardinal

ever did to maintain his right divine to the
throne from which his grandfather fled. He
appears to have been perfectly contented with
his life as a Roman cardinal, to have been

generous and gentle in disposition, and to

have performed his duties faithfully as a

minister of the Catholic Church, although in
his own house he is said to have insisted upon
a strict observance of all the etiquette usual in
the residence of a reigning sovereign. He had
many rich livings both in Italy and France,
but of most of these and of all his wealth
and treasures, literary, antiquarian, and curious,
he was despoiled by the emissaries of the French
revolution in 1798, when he took refuge in

Venice infirm and destitute. His case was

represented to his successful relative George

III., who immediately, and in as delicate a

mariner as possible, generously settled on the

cardinal a pension for life of L.4000 a year.

The cardinal returned to Rome in 1801, and

resided there till his death in 1807, aged 82

years. He was buried in St Peter's, beside

his father and brother,
" and a stately monu-

ment, from the chisel of Canova, but at charge,

as I believe, of the House of Hanover, has

since arisen to the memory of JAMES THE

THIRD, CHARLES THE THIRD, and HENRY THE

NINTH, KINGS OF ENGLAND names which an

Englishman can scarcely read without a smile

or a sigh ! Often at the present day does the

British traveller turn from the sunnv height of
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the Pincian or the carnival throngs of the

Corso, to gaze in thoughtful silence on that

sad mockery of human greatness, and that last

record of ruined hopes !

" 5

Henry of York, as we have said, was the

last scion of the direct line of the royal house

of Stuart, although he was by no means the

last of the Stuarts, as the genealogy of nearly

every royal and princely house of Europe can

testify. Much valuable information on this

point is contained in Mr Townsend's Descend-

ants of the Stuarts, where the reader will meet

with many interesting and a few strange and

startling facts. The Stuart blood, it would

seem, enriches the veins of every Christian

sovereign of Europe, and among the European
noble families will be found many princes

who, by the now ignored and we hope never

to be revived, principle of divine hereditary

right, are nearer heirs to the British throne

than the Prince of Wales. The heir-of-line of

the Stuarts is, we believe, Francis, ex-Duke of

Modena, the heiress presumptive being his

niece, Maria Theresa, wife of Prince Louis of

Bavaria. Great Britain, however, is as likely

to assert her right to the allegiance of the

United States as is any of the many descend-

ants of the Stuarts to endeavour to establish

a claim to the throne of England, to the preju-

dice of the reigning family. The Lady who at

present occupies the throne of Britain, and in

whose veins runs a large share of the ancient

Stuart blood, has won her way to the hearts of

all classes of her subjects, Highland and Low-

land, by her true nobility of character, genuine

womanliness, and anxious interest in the wel-

fare of her people, as effectually as did the

young Chevalier by his youthful thoughtless

daring, fascinating manners, and feigned en-

thusiasm for all that was Highland. Still the

ancient spirit is not dead, and probably never

will die, so long as Gaelic and Lowland Scotch

is understood in the land, and so long as there

exists such a superabundance of Jacobite songs

unmatched for pathos and humour, and set to

music which cannot fail to touch the heart of

the " canniest Scot
"

that ever tried to over-

reach his neighbour. This sentimental Jaco-

bitism, initiated by Scott, appears to be get-

ting stronger and stronger every year, and
8 Mahou's Engld,nd, v. Hi. p. 529.

I.

pervades all classes of society from the "
queen

on the throne to the meanest of her subjects ;"

it has, indeed, become now to a certain extent

fashionable, no doubt owing largely to the

example set by the greatest lady in the land,

in her love and admiration of the Highlands
and Highlanders. Tartans, not very many
years ago proscribed and forbidden to be worn

under severe penalties, and regarded as bar-

barous and vulgar, have now become the rage,

and are as indispensable to every Scottish

family, Highland or Lowland, as its crest or its

family ghost.

Before dismissing entirely the Stuart family,

which latterly was so intimately associated

with the Highlands, it may not be out of place

to mention that only a few years ago, two

young men made their appearance in Scotland,

holding themselves forth as legitimate grand-
sons of Prince Charles. Their story, set forth

in an inflated, misty style, after the man-

ner of romantic novelists, will be found in a

work published by them in 1847, entitled,

Tales of the Century, or Sketches of the

Romance of History between the years 1746

and 1846. There can be no doubt that John

Sobieeki and Charles Edward Stuart, the

names by which these gentlemen made them-

selves known to the public, have no connec-

tion whatever with the royal Stuarts : it is

certain that Prince Charles Edward Stuart left

behind him no legitimate offspring. The story

told by them in the above publication, how-

ever, was to the effect that their father, instead

of being a son of Admiral Allen, as was com-

monly supposed, was a son of Prince Charles

and the Princess Louisa, whose birth was kept

secret through fe'ir of the Hanoverian family,

and who was intrusted to Admiral Allen, and

passed off by him as his own son. 6 It is not

at all improbable that they themselves believed

their own story, and were, strictly speaking,

no impostors ;
at all events, they appear to

have met with considerable sympathy in the

form of hospitality and subscriptions to their

publications, for besides the book above men-

tioned and a volume of poems, they published

a large and expensive work, splendidly illus-

trated, entitled, The Costume of the Clans,

6 See the whole story set forth and conclusively
refuted in the Quarterly Review for June 1847.

5 D
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a copy of which was ordered at the time for

her Majesty's lihrary. To judge from the in-

troduction to this last hook, occupying about

the half of the work, written in a most pain-

fully lofty style, and having an amusing look

of learning hy heing crammed full of small

type notes and enigmatical references, one

would be almost inclined to think that they

were weak-minded enough to believe that it

was possible, even in the middle of the 19th

century, in the reign of Queen Victoria, to in-

cite the loyal Highlanders to enact a second

'45J

John Sobieski Stuart generally resides in

London, where he is to be met with in good

society under the title of " Count D'Albanie."

CHAPTEE XLI.

Proceedings which followed Culloden, their cause
and consequences Influence of clan-feeling Lord
Lovat and the Frasers Parliamentary measures

Disarming Act Act against the Highland dress
Abolition of Hereditary Jurisdictions The Scottish

Episcopalians Effect of these measures The Old
Jacobites The Jacobite Songs Whig Songs Sir
Walter Scott Jacobitism at the present day
Queen Victoria Innovations, and their probable
consequences.

THE harsh military proceedings which followed

the battle of Culloden, of which we have

7 A gentleman of Jacobite sympathies, to whom this

part of the work has been submitted, appends the fol-

lowing note :

"
It is but justice, however, to these gentlemen to

say, that they have never made any loud or noisy
assertion of their claims, leaving, what they believe
to be, the fact of their descent to be indicated, rather
than asserted in the work above mentioned. It is

understood, also, that they do not encourage much
reference being made to those claims, which they
consider to amount only to the fact of their being de-
scended from Prince Charles, not to any 'Divine
Right

'

to the throne in virtue of that descent
; that

right having been forfeited, they believe, by the fact
of themselves and their ancestors having been Roman
Catholics the nation having declared for a Protestant
succession. It looks also as if they depended on the
strength of truth, or what they believe to be truth,
that they have never answered the criticisms of the
Quarterly reviewer, whilst at the same time it is
understood that they maintain that they could answer
him, if they were so minded. They bore a high cha-
racter during their residence in the Highlands of
Scotland, which character they still retain. It is some
time since the writer of this note has seen them, but
the resemblance which their features bore to the fea-
tures of the ancient Stuart race used to be remarked
by all who knew them. This, however, would not

ro much. Even the Quarterly reviewer does not
allege that they were conscious or knowingly im-
postors.

6 J

already endeavoured to give the reader an idea,

seem to have completely crushed the spirit out

of the poor, and, in many cases, innocent High-
landers. The Duke of Cumberland and his

subordinates exercised, as we have seen, no

discrimination in the selection of their vic-

tims, laying their bloody clutches on chiefs

and people, him who had been " out" and

him who had not
;

it was sufficient to bring

slaughter, slavery, or ruin on a man and his

family, if he bore upon or about him any
mark of Highland origin or connection, wore

a kilt, or could not justify himself in English.

The end which it was intended to accomplish

by these cruel and saddening measures, was no

doubt in the main highly desirable
;

it was

well to let it be distinctly known once for all,

that the divine hereditary right of ruling could

be conferred only by the people, and that these

would bestow the post of king on liim who
could fill it best, and who would by no

caprices of his own obstruct the progress of the

nation. It was assuredly right and absolutely

necessary that the Highlanders should be made

clearly to understand that they lived in the

middle of the 1 8th century, and were only a very
small part of a great nation which was leading
the march of the world's progress, and that, in-

stead of doing their best to pull their country
back a century, they should lend the aid of

the many valuable and noble qualities with

which they were endowed, but which were

running comparatively waste, to enable Britain

to keep her proud position in the van of the

nations, and help the world on in its glorious

course of progress, to try to stop which would

certainly lead to their own destruction. It

was, we say, high time that such a splendid
race of men should be roused out of self-

satisfied slumber and brought to their senses,

but surely there was some gentler method of

effecting this than by thrusting a sword into

their hearts or blowing out their bewildered

brains
;

their tendency to rebellion was no

disease which required to be "
stamped out,"

but merely the result of much unoccupied

energy, which only required proper direction

in order to become a blessing instead of a

curse to their fellow-countrymen. No one,

possessing ordinary human feeling, can regard
the proceedings which followed Culloden, and
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which were continued for many months, with

any feelings but those of pity, sadness, and

horror, combined with loathing at those who
were so inhuman as to carry out the bloody
work of wholesale butchery and ruin. We
of the present day regard the Highlanders
of '45 as a chivalrous, impulsive, simple-

minded race, who really wished to do no

one any harm, and perhaps we are to a

certain extent right. But, as at the time of

the massacre of Glencoe, their southern fellow-

countrymen looked upon them as a pestiferous

race of semi-barbarians, enemies to progress,
" thieves and lawless limmers," who, like

vermin, should be annihilated, or at least for

ever incapacitated from doing harm to any but

themselves. This seems especially to have

been the case with the Duke of Cumberland,
who was utterly incapable of regarding the

Highlanders in any other light than as a set

of barbarous villains, to whom no mercy ought
to be shown. Writing, April 4, 1746, to the

Duke of Newcastle, he says, "All in this

country are almost to a man Jacobites, and

mild measures will not do. You will find

that the whole laws of this ancient kingdom
must be new modelled. Were I to enumerate

the villains and villanies this country abounds

in, I should never have done." And again,

July 17, "I am sorry to leave this country in

the condition it is in
;
for all the good that we

have done is a little blood-letting, which has

only weakened the madness, but not at all

cured it
;
and / tremble for fear that this vile

spot may still be the ruin of this inland and of

our family.'
1 '' From a man of Cumberland's

character, cherishing such feelings as the above

towards an enemy in his power, what other

course of conduct was to be expected than that

which he followed, more especially when it is

remembered that these feelings must have been

considerably aggravated by the defeats which

the royal army had already sustained. On this

last account the royal soldiers themselves must

have cherished more than usually bitter feel-

ings towards their opponents ;
for what can be

more chagrining to regularly disciplined troops

than to be routed by a wretchedly armed rab-

ble of half naked, untrained men, in which

light the royal army must have regarded the

Highlanders. These special causes, added to

the insatiable thirst for blood which seems to

take possession of a victorious army, suffi-

ciently account for the inhuman, heartless, and

uncalled for treatment of the Highlanders
after the battle of Culloden. Good as the end

was, the means was utterly unjustifiable and

abhorrent.

The end, however, was accomplished. The

spirit of the Highlanders was totally broken
;

they were left completely prostrate, broken

hearted, and bleeding, with no power left of

farther disturbing the peace of the kingdom,
and with little inclination, at least among the

great majority of the clansmen, to lend their

aid towards another rising. Indeed, it is well

known that, so far as the mass of the clansmen,

as distinguished from the chiefs and tacksmen,
were concerned, they were entirely the tools

of their superiors, and were ready, according

as their chiefs ordered, either to espouse the

cause of Prince Charles, or to be loyal to the

existing government. There is not a better

instance of the indifference of the common

Highlanders as to whom, they fought for,

than the conduct of the clan Eraser in the

rebellion of 1715. At the time this rebel-

lion broke out, Lovat was in France, the

headship of the clan being assumed by Mac-

kenzie of Fraserdale, who favoured the cause

of the Stuarts, and who had joined the

Earl of Mar at Perth with 400 of the

Frasers, many other members of the clan

remaining neutral till the pleasure of Si-

mon, their real chief, should be known.

Lovat returned from France, espoused the

side of King George, in which he was im-

mediately followed by the neutral Frasers,

while those who were in the camp of Marr

left it to a man, and joined themselves to him

whom they regarded as their rightful chief.

Such was the strength of the clannish prin-

ciple, and such the indifference of the major-

ity of the Highlanders as to which side they

espoused, so long as they pleased their chief,

to please whom, they had been taught from

their infancy, was the first and great com-

mandment, to offend him being little better

than banishment or death. To say the least,

then, how utterly indiscriminating and shame-

ful was the cruel conduct of " Butcher" Cum-

berland and his assistants.
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The cruel and unconstitutional method of

punishing the Highland rebels, and crushing

the sting out of them, adopted by Cumberland,

was at length put a stop to about the month

of August, the Civil Courts successfully as-

serting their supremacy over military licence

and coercion. Parliament set itself to devise

and adopt such measures as it thought would

be calculated to assimilate the Highlands with

the rest of the kingdom, and deprive the

Highlanders of the power to combine success-

fully in future against the established govern-

ment. To effect these ends, Parliament, in

1746 and 1747, passed various Acts, by which

it was ordained that the Highlanders should

be disarmed, their peculiar dress laid aside,

and the heritable jurisdictions and wardhold-

ing abolished.

Marshal Wade, in 1725, seems really to

have succeeded in confiscating a very con-

siderable number of good, useful arms, al-

though the pawky Highlanders managed to

throw a glamour over even his watchful eyes,

and secrete many weapons for use when occa-

sion should offer. Still, that arms were scarce

in the Highlands after this, is shown by the

rude and unmilitary character of the wea-

pons possessed by the majority of the rebel

army previous to the battle of Prestonpans ;

there, many of the Highlanders were able to

exchange their irregular and ugly, but some'

what formidable weapons for government fire-

locks and bayonets. Still Culloden, and the

merciless oppression which followed, more than

annulled all that the Highlanders had gained
in this and other respects by their previous

success] so that those who had the enforcing
of the disarming Act would have compara-

tively little work to do, and were not likely
to meet with much opposition in performing
it. Severe penalties were threatened upon
any who dared to keep possession of weapons
after the Act came in force

;
for the first of-

fence the delinquent was liable to a heavy
fine, to be sent to serve as a soldier in

America, or, if unfit for service, to be im-

prisoned for six months. Seven years' trans-

portation followed the second offence.

There can, we think, be no doubt as to the
wisdom and prudence of this Act if judici-

ously and thoroughly carried out, although the

penalties certainly do seem too severe. It seems

to have accomplished its purpose :

" the last

law." says Dr. Johnson,
8
"by which the High-

landers are deprived of their arms, has operated

with efficacy beyond expectation .... the

arms were collected with such rigour, that

every house was despoiled of its defence."

Not only was this disarming of the High-
landers effectual in preventing future rebel-

lion, but also helped considerably to soften

and render less dangerous their daily inter-

course with each other. Formerly it was quite

a common occurrence for the least difference

of opinion between two Highlanders whose

bristling pride is always on the rise to be

followed by high words and an ultimate ap-

peal to weapons, in which the original com-

batants were often joined by their respective

friends, the result being a small battle ending
in one or more deaths and many wounds.

The Disarming Act tended to make such

occurrences extremely rare.

There is certainly great room for doubting
the wisdom which prompted the enactment

that followed the above, enforcing the discon

tinuance of the peculiar dress of the High-
landers. By this Act,

"
Any person within

Scotland, whether man or boy (excepting
officers and soldiers in his majesty's service),

who should wear the plaid, philibeg, trews,

shoulder belts, or any part of the Highland

garb, or should use for great coats, tartans,

or parti-coloured plaid, or stuffs, should, with-

out the alternative of a fine, be imprisoned for

the first conviction for six months, without

bail, and on the second conviction be trans-

ported for seven years."
9 Of all the medicines

administered by the government physicians to

the Highlanders at this time, this was certainly
the most difficult for them to swallow, and the

one least calculated to serve the purpose for

which it was intended. As to the other enact-

ments made by government to keep down

rebellion, the Highlanders could not but feel

that those in power were only doing what

common prudence dictated. But this inter-

ference in a matter so personal and apparently
so harmless as that of dress, this prohibition
of a costume so national, ancient (at least in

8 Johnson's Joivrncy, ed. 1792, p. 12G.
9 Stewart's Sketches, b. 1. p. llfi.
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fashion), and characteristic as that of the

Highlanders, seemed to them an act of mere

wanton and insulting oppression, intended to

degrade them, and without purpose, to outrage

their most cherished and harmless prejudices.

They seem to have felt it as keenly as any
officer Avould feel the breaking of his sword or

the tearing off of his epaulets, or as the native

troops, previous to the Indian mutiny, felt the

imposition of greased cartridges. It humbled

and irritated them far more than did any of

the other acts, or even than the outrages

and barbarities which followed Culloden
;

in-

stead of eradicating their national spirit, and

assimilating them in all respects with the

Lowland population, it rather intensified that

spirit, and their determination to preserve

themselves a separate and peculiar people, be-

sides throwing in their way an additional and

unnecessary temptation to break the laws. A
multitude of prohibitory statutes is always

irritating to a people, and serves only to mul-

tiply offences and demoralize a nation
;

it is

generally a sign of weakness and great lack of

wisdom in a government. This enactment as

to the Highland dress was as unwise as religi-

ous intolerance, which is invariably a nurse of

discord, a promoter of sectarianism. This Act

surrounded the Highland dress with a sort of

sacred halo, raised it into a badge, of nationality,

and was probably the means of perpetuating
and rendering popular the use of a habit,

which, had it been left alone, might long ere

now have died a natural death, and been found

only in our museums, side by side with the

Lochaber axe, the two-handed sword, and the

nail-studded shield.

The sagacious President Forbes to whom,
had the government perceived clearly the

country's true interest, they would have en-

tirely intrusted the legislation for the High-
lands had but a poor opinion of the dress

bill, as will appear from the following letter of

his to the Lord Lyon, dated July 8, 1746 :

" The garb is certainly very loose, and fits

men inured to it to go through great fatigues,

to make very quick marches, to bear out

against the inclemency of the weather, to wade

through rivers, and shelter in huts, woods, and

rocks upon occasion
; which men dressed in

the low country garb could not possibly en-

dure. But then it is to be considered, that,

as the Highlands are circumstanced at present,

it is, at least it seems to me to be, an utter

impossibility, without the advantage of this

dress, for the inhabitants to tend their cattle,

and to go through the other parts of their

business, without which they could not sub-

sist
;
not to speak of paying rents to their

landlords. Now, because too many of the

Highlanders have offended, to punish all the

rest who have not, and who, I will venture to

say, are the greatest number, in so severe a

manner, seems to be unreasonable
; especially

as, in my poor apprehension, it is unnecessary,
on the supposal the disarming project be pro-

perly secured; and I must confess, that the

salvo which you speak of, of not suffering the

regulation to extend to the well-affected Clans,

is not to my taste
; because, though it would

save them from hardships, yet the making so

remarkable a distinction would be, as I take

it, to list all those on whom the bill should

operate for the Pretender, which ought to be

avoided if possible."
1 General Stewart per-

haps speaks too strongly when he remarks,
that had the whole Highland race been deci-

mated, more violent grief, indignation, and

shame, could not have been excited among
them, than by being deprived of this long in-

herited costume. However, it should be re-

membered that all this was the legislation of

upwards of 120 years ago, that the difficulties

which the government had to face were seri-

ous and trying, that those who had the mak-

ing of these laws were totally ignorant of the

real character of the Highlanders, and of the

real motives which urged them to rebellion,

and that even at the present day legislative

blunders do occasionally occur.

The means by which the Highlanders en-

deavoured to elude this law without incur-

ring a penalty, were ingenious and amusing.
Stewart tells us that,

" instead of the pro-

hibited tartan kilt, some wore pieces of a

blue, green, or red thin cloth, or coarse

camblet, wrapped round the waist, and hang-

ing down to the knees like the fealdag.
2

The tight breeches were particularly obnox-

1 Culloden Papers, p. 289.
2 The difference between the fealdag and the phili-

beg is, that the former is not plaited.



766 GENEKAL HISTOEY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

ious. Some, who were fearful of offending,

or Avished to render obedience to the law,

which had not specified on what part of the

body the breeches were to be worn, satisfied

themselves with having in their possession

this article of legal and loyal dress, which,

either as the signal of their submission, or

more probably to suit their own convenience

when on journeys, they often suspended over

their shoulders upon their sticks
; others, who

were either more wary, or less submissive,

sewed up the centre of the kilt with a few

stitches between the thighs, which gave it

something of the form of the trousers worn

by Dutch skippers." The Act at first appears

to have been carried out with rigid strictness,

these ingenious attempts at evading it being

punished somewhat severely ; but, if we may

judge from a trial which took place in 1757,

the administrators of the law had by that time

come to regard such breaches with a lenient

eye. Although no doubt the law in course

of time became practically obsolete, it was

not till 1782 that it was erased from the

statute book. Since then " tartans and kilts

an' a', an' a'," have gradually increased in

popularity, until now they have become ." the

rage" with all classes of society, from John

o'Groats to Land's End
;

tartan plaids, of

patterns which do great credit to the ingenuity

of the manufacturers, are seen everywhere

adorning the graceful forms of ladies, and the

not so long since proscribed kilt being found

not unfrequently displaying itself in the most

fashionable London Assemblies. Tempora
mutantur.

By far the most important measure adopted

by government for the improvement of the

Highlands was the abolition of the Hereditary

Jurisdictions, which lay at the root of many
of the evils that afflicted that country, and to

which, in a great degree, the rebellion owed the

measure of success that attended it. Before

these jurisdictions were abolished, a Highland
chief was as absolute a potentate over the

members of his clan as any eastern pasha or

African chief is over his abject subjects. The
power of "

pit and gallows," as it was called,
which belonged to each of these petty sove-

reignties for such they were practically

gave the chief absolute command of the lives

and liberty of his followers. The only thing

he lawfully could not do was to banish
; but

even this prohibition he managed to evade by

giving his victims the alternative of "
emigra-

tion" as it was mildly called or death.

This is not the place to enter into a minute

account of the origin and working of this

curious system, so utterly inconsistent with

the spirit of a constitutional government like

that of Britain
;
but any one can perceive that

such a power as this in the hands of a discon-

tented chief, especially when complemented by
the high notions which a Highlander had of

the obedience due to the head of the clan,

must have been dangerous in the highest de-

gree to the peace and progress of the country.

There is no doubt that this coercive power
was frequently brought into play in the late

rebellion : indeed, the only plea urged by a

great majority of the common Highlanders,
when tried at Carlisle and elsewhere, was that

they were forced into rebellion against their

wills. Of course a prudent chief would be

careful not to carry his power beyond due

bounds, at least so far as the members of his

own clan were concerned, for there was a point
in the scale of oppression which even the

strong spirit of clanship could not stand. No
doubt the power thus entrusted to the chiefs

may at one time have served a good purpose.

When the country was in a turbulent and

unsettled state, when communication between

the different parts of the country was tedious,

expensive, and hazardous, when it was diffi-

cult for the strong arm of the law to reach to

a remote, rugged, and inaccessible district like

the Highlands, where life and the rights of

property were as little regarded as they are at

the present day in Ireland, perhaps this put-

ting of the power of a judge in the hands of

the chief men of the various districts, was

the only practicable substitute for the direct

administration of justice by those to whom
this duty properly belonged. In reality, the

justice meted out was of the roughest kind,

and continually liable, to be modified by the

interests of the administrator, or any of his

many friends.
" That such a system should

have been tolerated into the middle of the

18th century, after Somers, Hardwicke, and

Forbes had occupied the bench, may seem in-
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credible, but it is true." 3 It was assuredly

high time that such an anomalous state of

matters should be done .away with. 4

An Act for the abolition of the Hereditary

Jurisdictions was passed in March 1747, and

came in force a year after. Of course some

other plan for the administration of the laws

had to be devised. " At the head of the

arrangements for carrying justice throughout

the land, the system begun in England in the

reign of Henry II., for sending the royal courts

at fixed intervals through the provinces, was

adopted. Nominally there had been circuits

or justice-ayres, but theywere not systematically

held, either at stated intervals of time, or so as

to bring up before them the revisal of the

3 Burton's Scotland after devolution, v. ii. p. 405.
4 To give the reader a notion of the evils which

flowed from these irregular jurisdictions, we quote the

following from the old Statistical Account of the Parish
of Aberiiethy, in Inverness-shire: "A few instances

will be enough to mention, in case the reader should

imagine that these things were lately done in Tippoo
Sultan's dominions. One of them lived in this parish,
named Robert Grant, commonly called Bailie More.
It is said he used to hang people for disobliging him.
He seldom called juries. He hanged two brothers oi

a tree within a thousand yards of this town, and buried
both in one grave, on the road side. The grave and
stones above it are still visible. Another, named
James Grant, commonly called Bailie Roy, who lived

long in this parish, hanged a man of the name of

Stuart, and after hanging him, set a jury on him, and
found him guilty. The particulars are too long to be
inserted here. The bailie had many reasons for being
in such a hurry. The man was, unluckily for him,
wealthy, and abounded in cattle, horses, sheep, and

goats, all of which were instantly driven to the bailie's

home ; Stuart's children set a-begging, and his wife

became deranged in her mind, and was afterward
drowned in a river. It is not very long since. This
same Bailie Roy, on another occasion, hanged two
notorious thieves, parboiled their heads, and set them
up on spikes afterward. At another time he drowned
two men in sacks, at the bridge of Billimon, within a
few hundred yards of this manse, and endeavoured to

compel a man from Glenmore, in the barony of Kin-

cardine, to assist him and the executioners he had
with him in the business, which the man refusing to

do, the bailie said to him,
'

If you was within my
regality, I would teach you better manners than to

disobey my commands.' This bailie bought a good
estate. There was another of them, called Bailie Bain,
in this country, who became so odious that the country
people drowned him in Spey, near the church of Inver-

allan, about two miles from hence. They took off his

boots and gloves, left them on the bank, and drove his

horse through a rugged place full of large stones. The
tract in the sand, boots, &c., discovered what had
become of him

; and when a search was made for him
down the river, a man met the party near the church
of Cromdale, who asked them what they were search-

ing for, they answered, for the bailie's body, upon
which he said,

' Turn back, turn back, perhaps he is

gone up against the river, for he was always acting
against nature.'

"

administration of justice in all the districts.

This, indeed, was impossible while the heredi

tary jurisdictions remained, but now regular

circuits were to take place biennially, and the

country was so partitioned into districts, that

the higher offences were systematically brought

up from the most remote provinces for adjudi-

cation. The exceptional hereditary jurisdic-

tions, such as the regalities, were abolished,

and the smaller authority exercised in baronial

courts was restricted to trifling matters. The

sheriff courts, locally commensurate in their

authority with the boundaries of the counties,

were taken as the foundation of a system of

local tribunals, presided over by responsible

judges. These, which were hereditary, were

to be yielded to the crown
;
and ever since

the passing of the act, the sheriff of each

county has been appointed like the other

judges, for life, removeable only for miscon-

duct." 5

Of course, as these jurisdictions, besides con-

ferring influence and power, were sources ol

emolument 6 to the holders of them, and as they

had been sanctioned in the treaty of Union, it

was considered only fair that some compensa-
tion should be allowed by the country to those

who profited by them
;
in fact, they had to be

bought up. The holders of the jurisdictions ap-

pear to have been asked to send in the amount

of their claims to the Court of Session, which

was authorised to fix the price to be paid. Ol

course, those who were convicted or attainted

for having taken part in the late rebellion, had

no claim, as their estates were forfeited to the

Crown, and they themselves deprived of all

5 Burton's Scotland after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 535.
6 "As their power was great, and generally abused,

so many ot them enriched themselves. They had

many ways of making money for themselves, such as

1. The Bailie's Darak, as it was called, or a day's
labour in the year from every tenant on the estate.

2. Confiscations, as they generally seized on all the

goods and effects of such as suffered capitally. 3. All

fines for killing game, black-fish, or cutting green
wood, were laid on by themselves, and went into their

own pockets. These fines amounted to what they

pleased almost. 4. Another very lucrative perquisite

they had was what was called the Herial Horse, which

was, the best horse, cow, ox, or other article, which

any tenant on the estate possessed at the time of his

death. This was taken from the widow and children

for the bailie at the time they had most need of assist-

ance. This amounted to a great deal on a largo
estate." Old Statistical Account of Scotland, vol. xiii.

pp. 151-152.
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their privileges.
Those who were about to part

with their ancient powers were determined to

7uake the most of them now that they were no

longer to be a perpetual source of emolument

and influence. The aggregate sum asked by

the proprietors from government
as the price of

their jurisdictions was more than three times

greater than that which the Court of Session

deemed a fair price. There may be some truth

in what Mr Fraser-Mackintosh says in his Anti-

quarian Notes
7
:

" Of course, the amounts ulti-

mately paid bore not the slightest proportion

to the claims, but they did bear some propor-

tion to the politics of the holders, just as these

happened to be friendly to government or the

reverse." Argyll, for the Justice-Generalship

of Argyll, asked 15,000, for the Sheriffdom

5000, and for various small regalities other

5000, making 25,000 in all
;
from this the

Court of Session deducted only 4000, allow-

ing him for his various offices and jurisdictions

what would then be considered the munificent

sum of 21,000. Besides receiving this sum,

the duke was appointed, in exchange for his

office of Hereditary Justiciar of Scotland, Lord

Justice-General, head of the Justiciary Court.

The Duke of Montrose, for his various regalities,

and the Sheriffdom of Dumbarton, demanded

15,000, but did not get above one third of

that sum
;
nor did the Dukes of Buccleuch and

Athole, who each modestly valued his various

offices at 17,000. The Duke of Gordon's

claim amounted to 22,300, the Earl of Suther-

land's to 10,800, Breadalbane's to 7000,

Moray's to 14,000, Findlater's to 5,500.

The smallest sum claimed for a Highland

jurisdiction was by Evan Baillie, of Abriachan,
for the Bailliary of Lovat, which he modestly
valued at 166

; Munro, Sheriff- Clerk of

Inverness, claiming the same sum for that

office combined with the Clerkship of the

regality of Lovat. The total amount claimed

for the whole of the jurisdictions was upwards
of 490,000, which the Court of Session cut

down to a little over 150,000.
8 The sum-

was well spent in doing away with so many
sources of petty tyranny and injustice, in the

abolition of a system inconsistent with the

7 P. 243.
8 See Fraser-Mackintosh's Antiquarian Notes, n.

242.

spirit of the British constitution in the middle

of the 18th century, calculated materially to

hinder progress and to aid rebellion.

The abolition of these jurisdictions in the

Highlands, and along with them the power
and paternal authority of the Highland chiefs,

effected a complete change in the social life of

that part of the country, led at first to con-

siderable discontent and confusion, and was the

indirect means of bringing much suffering and

hardship on the subordinate dignitaries and

commonalty of the clans. Some such conse-

quences were to be expected from the breaking

up of a system which had held sway for many

generations, and the substitution of a state of

matters to which the people were altogether

unused, and which ran counter to all their pre-

judices and traditions; still, as in the case of

every reformation, individual suffering was to

be looked for, and in the course of time, as will

be seen, matters gradually righted themselves,

and the Highlands became as progressive and

prosperous as any other part of the country.

Another much needed measure adopted by

government was the abolition of a remnant of

feudality, the kind of tenure known as " ward-

holding." "By this relic of ancient feudality,

military service had remained down to that

juncture the condition under which lands were

held by one subject from another. Efforts

were of course made to bring land into com-

merce, by subs! ituting pecuniary arrangements

for such services, but the '

wardholding
' was

so essentially the proper feudal usage, that the

lawyers held it to be always understood, if

some other arrangements were not very speci-

fically settled. It had become the means of

very oppressive exactions or '

casualties/

arising out of those conditions such as

minority where the military service could

not be performed. But by the act of 1746,

arrangementswere devised for converting all the

superior's privileges into reasonable pecuniary

claims." 9

Another means taken by government to

extinguish the seeds of rebellion and prevent

its future occurrence, was the enactment of

more stringent laws in reference to the Scottish

Episcopalians, among whom Jacobite sympa-

a Burton's Scotland after Revolution, vol. ii. p. 537.
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thies were almost as strong and as universal as

among their Roman Catholic brethren. Their

partiality to the house of Stuart was no doubt

in a great measure owing to their strong belief

as a class in divine right of government, both

in Church and State, and to a conviction that

seems to have prevailed among them that the

restoration of the Stuarts meant the restoration

of the supremacy, or at least establishment of

episcopacy in Scotland. The Stuarts had not

more devoted adherents than the Episcopalians

in the kingdom, nor any who, amidst many

petty, irritating, and even severe enactments,

continued longer to adhere to their first love.

Indeed, there is good reason for believing that

at the present day, among many Scottish Epis-

copalians, especially in the Highlands, there

are still many Jacobites in sentiment and

sympathy, although, as a principle of action,

Jacobitism is undoubtedly dead and gone,

never to be resuscitated.

As this party, though not numerous, was not

less formidable from its rank and wealth than

from the esprit de corps with which it was

animated, the attention of the legislature was

directed towards it, and a strong measure was

resorted to, which nothing could justify but

necessity. This was an act by which it was

ordained that any episcopal clergyman officiat-

ing after the 1st of September 1746, without

having previously taken the oaths of allegiance,

abjuration, and assurance, or without praying

once during the performance of worship for

the king, his heirs, and successors, and for all

the royal family, should for the first oifence suffer

six months imprisonment, for the second be

transported to the American plantations for

life, and, in case of returning from banishment,

be subjected to perpetual imprisonment. By
another enactment it was declared that no peer

of Scotland should be capable of being elected

one of the representative peers, or of voting at

such election, and that no person should be

capable of being elected a member of parlia-

ment for any shire or burgh, who should

within the compass of any future year be

twice present at divine service in an illegal

episcopal meeting-house in Scotland. Several

other severe Acts were passed against Episco-

palians, and these were not allowed to remain

a dead letter, but were acted upon in several

i.

instances. 1 The devoted Episcopalians bore

their privations with becoming fortitude, by

yielding to a necessity which they could not

control, but they submitted only because they

were unable to resist.

Still there is no doubt that even at the

present day there are not a few hereditary

adherents of the Scottish episcopal church,

whose sympathies are all Jacobite, and who

have never taken kindly even to the present

dynasty.

After the" death, in January 1788, of Prince

Charles Edward, whose brother the cardinal

could leave no lawful descendant, the Scottish

bishops felt they could conscientiously recog-

nise the Hanoverian government, and therefore

issued an intimation to the clergy and laity of

their church, announcing that they had "unani-

mously agreed to comply with and submit to

the present government of this kingdom, as

vested in the person of his Majesty King

George the Third." They also resolved " to

testify this compliance by uniformly praying
for him by name in their public worship, in

hopes of removing all suspicion of disaffection,

and of obtaining relief from those penal laws

under which this church has so long suffered." 2

The forfeited estates were annexed to the

Crown, and placed in the hands of the court of

exchequer, who appointed commissioners to

apply their produce to the improvement of the

Highlands. In course of time, as will be seen

in the history of the clans, government wisely

restored to most of the unfortunate families

the estates foolishly thrown away by their

representatives in 1745.

The effect of all the measures above referred

to was, of course, immediately to annul all

possibility of further active resistance, although,

no doubt, they tended to intensify and per-

petuate Jacobitism as a sentiment, and change
into a sort of living reverence or worship the

feeling of loyalty towards Prince Charles

which had animated most of the Highland
chiefs and incited them to rebellion. The idea

of endeavouring to repeat the experiment of

'45 seems not to have been entirely abandoned

1 Among others, the Rev. John Skinner, well known
as the author of the song of "

Tullochgorum," was a
sufferer : he was imprisoned for six months.

'2 Dunbar's Social Life in Former Days, 1st series,

p. 390.
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by some of the more obstinate Jacobites even

up to the time of Charles's death, although

after the accession of George III., in whose

reign the stringent measures adopted after 1745

were gradually relaxed, and efforts made for

the improvement of the Highlanders, the em-

bodiment of many Highland regiments, the

gradual dissolution practically of the old rela-

tion between the chief and his clan consequent

on the abolition of the heritable jurisdictions,

and the general progress of the country, Jaco-

bitism became, as we have said above, a

matter of mere sentiment, a feeling of tender-

ness almost akin to love, often finding expres-

sion in song in the melting language of the

tender passion. Prince Charles was known to

most of the Jacobites both in the Highlands

and elsewhere only from the brief episode of

1745-6, in which he played the chief part,

and in which he appeared to them as the

handsome, brave, chivalrous, youthful, fair-

haired, warm-hearted heir, come to recover

that inheritance from which he was most un-

justly excluded by a cruel usurper. His latter

degraded life most of them knew nothing of,

and even if they had been told of it, they most

probably would have regarded the tale as a

vile calumny ; their love for
" Bonnie Prince

Charlie
" was blind as the love of an impetuous

youth for his first mistress, and they would

allow no flaw to mar the beauty of that image
which they tenderly cherished in their heart

of hearts. This sentimental Jacobitism, as we
have said already, prevailed extensively among
all classes of society for very many years after

all idea of actively asserting it had died out of

the land. 3 These Jacobites, who were gene-

3 ''When the Princess of Wales, mother of George
III., mentioned, with some appearance of censure, the
conduct of Lady Margaret 11 'Donald, who harboured
and concealed Prince Charles, when in the extremity
of peril, he threw himself on-her protection ; "And
would not you, madam," answered Prince Frederick," have done the same, in the same circumstances ? I
am sure I hope in God you would." Captain Stuart
of Invernahoyle's singular remark was not, it seems,
quite without foundation. A gentleman, in a large
company, gibed him for holding the king's commis-
sion, while, at the same time, he was a professed
Jacobite. "So I well may," answered he, "in imi-
tation of my master : the king himself is a Jacobite."
The gentleman shook his head, and remarked, that
the thing was impossible.

"
By G ," said Stuart,

''but I tell you he is, and every son that he has.
I here is not one of them who (if he had lived in my

rally of a somewhat social turn, in their private

meetings, gave expression to their feelings in

various ways, known only to themselves
;
in-

deed, there appears to have been a sort of free-

masonry tacitly established among them, having

signs, and words, and customs unknown to the

great outside Whig world. One of their

favourite methods, for example, of toasting

Prince Charles at their feasts, was to drink to

the health of " the king," at the same time

passing the glass in their hands over the

water-bottle, to signify that they meant not

King George, but him " over the water."

What more than anything else, perhaps,

tended to nourish and keep this feeling alive

was the great body of song which was born of

Jacobitism, and which dates from the time of

Charles I. down' almost to the present day.

These songs are of all kinds, tender, humorous,

pathetic, sarcastic, indignant, heroic, and many
of them cannot be matched as expressions of

the particular feelings to which they are meant

to give utterance. The strength and character

of the Jacobitic feeling can be well ascertained

by a study of these songs, of which we believe

there are some hundreds, many of them of

high merit, and some, as we have said, not

to be matched by the songs of any country.

Indeed, altogether, this outburst of song is one

of the most remarkable phenomena connected

with Scottish Jacobitism, for most of them are

Scotch both in language and authorship, and

most of the tunes borrowed or adapted from

the Gaelic, which has furnished to Scotland

some of its richest song music. These songs

not only show the intensity of the loyalty of

the Jacobites towards the Stuart family, and

their hatred of the reigning dynasty and of all

Whigs, but also show that all along they had

felt themselves to be the weaker party, unable

to show their loyalty by their deeds, and com-

pelled to let their energy escape in taunt and

sarcasm. The Whigs have, indeed, a few,

very few songs, which are artificial and cold,

altogether devoid of the fire, the point, the

perfect abandon, the touching tenderness, the

thorough naturalness, which characterise those

of their opponents. No one ever thinks of

singing those Whig songs now-a-days ;
few

brave father's days) would not to a certainty
1

been hanged.
"

Hogg's Jacobite Relics
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know aught of them save industrious collectors. 4

The Jacobite songs, on the other hand, both

those which were written when Jacobitism was

at its height, and those which are merely the

outcome of modern sentiment, are, wherever

Scotch songs are sought after and appreci-

ated, scarcely less popular than the matchless

love-songs in which the language must ever live.

Who, when he hears some of these Jacobite

gems sung, Protestant and Whig though he be

to the core, is not for the nonce a Jacobite,

ready to draw his sword if he had one, to

" Wha wadna fight for Charlie ;" feel delighted

at the defeat of the Whig gudeman in " Hame
cam' our gudeman at e'en ;" or shed a tear to

the mournful verse of " Wae's me for Prince

Charlie ?
" With such a powerful instrument

in their hands as this body of song, not only

evidencing the intensity of the sentiment, but

so well calculated to touch the feelings, ex-

cite the tenderness, and rouse the indignation

of all who were capable of being influenced by

music, it seems surprising that Jacobitism, as

a principle of action, was not more prevalent

even than it was, and did not, inspired by
these songs, accomplish greater things. But

the very fact that there were so many songs,

may account for this lack of important deeds.

The muses, Burns has said, are all Jacobites,

and it would seem at any rate that all the

best song writers of the country had enlisted

on the unfortunate side
;
and it will be found,

on the other hand, in scanning the account of

the last rebellion, that those who joined in it

were little given to forethought or to weighing

the consequences of their actions, little able to

regulate or lead any great enterprise, but

influenced chiefly by imagination and impulse.

There were, indeed, one or two superior to all

the others in calibre, foresight, and aptitude to

command, but these had little chance of being

attended to when their power was not abso-

lute among so many harebrained, thoughtless

4 " We find that the whole of national song during
that period inclined towards the ancient dynasty, and
the whole force of the ludicrous, the popular, and the

pathetic,
volunteered in the Jacobite service. It is

beyond question that the merit of these Jacobite songs

eclipsed, and still eclipses, every attempt at poetry on
the other side, which has produced little beyond a few

scraps of verses in ridicule of the bare knees, the kilts,

and bad English of the Highlanders." Stewart's

Sketches, vol. i. p. 100.

adventurers. In 1745, had there been at the

head of the rebels one thoroughly able, ex-

perienced, iron-willed, thoughtful general, who
had absolute command of the whole expedi-

tion, matters might have turned out very

differently, especially when in these songs he

had instruments far more powerful to incite

than any threats or promises of reward. It is

far from us to say that the bravery of the

Jacobites evaporated in a song : their whole

history would give such a statement the lie
;

but we think had there been less singing and

song-making ani more attention to stratagem

and dry military business and diplomacy gene-

rally, they would have been more likely ulti-

mately to have placed their idol on the throne.

However, as General Stewart well remarks,
" when it is considered how many feel and how
few reason," the power of this popular poetry

to stir up sympathy in behalf of the cause for

which it was written will be easily understood. 5

The great majority of these songs are in the

Scottish language, a few of them being trans-

lations from the Gaelic, but most of them

original ;
the authors of very few of them are

known, a feature which they have in common

with many of the oldest and richest of our

Scotch songs. Any one who may wish to

form an idea of their merit and multitude will

find the best of them collected in Hogg's two

volumes of Jacobite Relics.

Some of the finest of these songs are per-

haps better known than any others in the

language ; many of them, however, are known

8 " These songs are a species of composition entirely

by themselves. They have no affinity with our

ancient ballads of heroism and romance, and one

part of them far less with the mellow strains of our

pastoral and lyric muses. Their general character is

that of a rude energetic humour, that bids defiance to

all opposition in arms, sentiments, or rules of song-

writing. They are the unmasked effusions of a bold

and primitive race, who hated and despised the over-

turning innovations that prevailed in church and

state, and held the abettors of these as dogs, or some-

thing worse drudges in the lowest and foulest paths
of perdition beings too base to be spoken of with any
degree of patience or forbearance. Such is their pre-

vailing feature
;
but there are amongst them speci-

mens of sly and beautiful allegory. These last seem
to have been sung openly and avowedly in mixed

parties, as some of them are more generally known,
while the others had been confined to the select social

meetings of confirmed Jacobites, or hoarded up in the

cabinets of old Catholic families, where to this day
they have been preserved as their most precious lore."

Hogg's Jacobite Relics.
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only by name, and many of them known

at all but to a very few. Among those

generally known and now commonly adapted

to non-Jacobite sentiments, we may mention

" My ain country," the song of the home-sick

exile,
" Here's a health to them that's awa',"

" Over the seas and far awa',"
" Will he no

come back again,"
" Charlie is my darling," of

which there are an ancient and a modern set,

the latter by James Hogg,
" Farewell to Glen

Shalloch" (from the Gaelic), "Hey Johnnie

Cope," perhaps one of the most popular

humorous songs in the language,
" The wee

wee German lairdie," full of genuine Scotch

humour and irritating sarcasm,
" This is no my

ain house,"
" O'er the water to Charlie,"

" Welcome royal Charlie," and " The bonnie

house o' Airly," as old as the days of Montrose

and Argyll. One of the most touchingly

pathetic and most popular of these old songs

is the well-known "Will he no come back

again," and equally popular is that, perhaps,

most heroic and stirring of them all,
" Wha

wadna fecht for Charlie."

Not a few of the Jacobite songs, as we

have said, are from the Gaelic, and, as might
be expected, they display little of the humour,

pawkiness, and rollicking sarcasm which cha-

racterise many of the Scotch songs ; they

mostly evince a spirit of sadness and pensive-

ness, some show a heroic determination to do

or die in the cause of Charlie, while others

are couched in the language of adoration

and love. One of the most characteristic

and most poetical of these Gaelic songs is

Maclean's Welcome, which we take the liberty

of quoting here :

" Come o'er the stream, Charlie, dear CharL'e, brave

Charlie,
Come o'er the stream, Charlie, and dine with Mac-

lean
;

And though you be weary, we'll make your heart

cheery,
And welcome our Charlie and his loyal train.

We'll bring down the track deer, we'll bring down
the black steer,

The lamb from the breckan, and doe from the glen ;

The salt sea we'll harry, and bring to our Charlie,
The cream from the bothy, and curd from the pen.

Come e'er the stream, Charlie, &c.
And you shall drink freely the dews of Glen-Sheerly,
That stream in the star-light when kings do not
ken

;

And deep be your meed of the wine that is red,
To drink to your sire, and his friend the Maclean.

Come o'er the stream, Charlie, &c.

Our heath-bells shall trace you the maids to embrace

you,
And deck your blue bonnet with flowers of the brae

;

And the loveliest Mari in all Glen-M'Quarry
Shall lie in your bosom till break of the day.

Come o'er the stream, Charlie, c.

If aught will invite you, or more will delight you,
'Tis ready, a troop of our bold Highlandmen

Shall range on the heather with bonnet and feather,

Strong arms and broad claymores three hundred
and ten."

One of the best known and most admired of

this class of Jacobite songs is
" The Lament of

Flora Macdonald," beginning,
" Far over yon

hills of the heather so green," of which we

here quote the last verse :

" The target is torn from the arms of the just,
The helmet is cleft on the brow of the brave,

The claymore for ever in darkness must rust,

But red is the sword of the stranger and slave
;

The hoof of the horse, and the foot of the proud
Have trod o'er the plumes on the bonnet of blue.

"Why slept the red bolt in the breast of the cloud,
When tyranny revell'd in blood of the true ?

Fareweel, my young hero, the gallant and good !

The crown of thy fathers is torn from thy brow.
"

Some of those whose titles are well enough

known are " The -White Cockade," of which

we give a verse or two :

' ' My love was born in Aberdeen,
The bonniest lad that e'er was seen

;

But now he makes our hearts fu' sad,

He's ta'en the field wi' his white cockade.

he 's a ranting roving blade !

he's a brisk and a bonny lad !

Betide what may, my heart is glad
To see my lad wi' his white cockade.

I '11 sell my rock, I '11 sell my reel,

My rippling-kame, and spinning-wheel,
To buy my lad a tartan plaid,
A braid sword, durk, and white cockade.

he 's a ranting roving blade," &c. 6

Another great favourite with the old Jacobites

over their cups was, "The King shall enjoy

his own again."

6 The gentleman referred to in a former note ap-

pends the following :

"There is also an Irish version of the 'White

Cockade.' It has been translated from the Irish by
J. J. Callanan. The following is the last verse :

' No more the cuckoo hails the spring,
The woods no more with the stanch-hounds ring ;

The song from the glen, so sweet before,

Is hushed since Charlie left our shore.

The prince is gone, but he soon will come,
With trumpet sound, and with beat of drum :

Then up with shout, and out with blade

We'll stand or fall with the white cockade.'

Lover, commenting on this song in his Lyrics of Ire-

land, tells the following anecdote in connection with

Ireland, and its devotion to the White Rose :

' The
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Did space permit we could quote many
more, remarkable for pathos, humour, wit,

sarcasm, and heroic sentiment, but we must

content ourselves with the following. What
can be more touching than "

Carlisle Yetts :

" White was the rose in his gay bonnet,
As he faulded me in his broached plaidie ;

His hand, whilk clasped the truth o' luve,
it was aye in battle readie !

His lang lang hair, in yellow hanks,
Wav'd o'er his cheeks sae sweet and ruddie

;

But now they wave o'er Carlisle yetts,
In dripping ringlets clotting bloodie.

My father's blood 's in that flower tap,

My brother 's in that harebell's blossom
;

This white rose was steeped in my luve's blood,
And I '11 aye wear it in my bosom.

* "* * * *

When I came first by merrie Carlisle,

Was ne'er a town sae sweetly seeming ;

The white rose flaunted owre the wall,
The thristled banners far were streaming.

When I came next by merrie Carlisle,
sad sad seem'd the town, and eerie !

The atild auld men came out and wept :

'

maiden, come ye to seek your dearie ?'*****
There 's ae drop o' blood atween my breasts,
And twa in my links o' hair sae yellow ;

The tane I '11 ne'er wash, and the tither ne'er

kame,
But I '11 sit and pray aneath the willow.

Wae, wae, upon that cruel heart,

Wae, wae, upon that hand sae bloodie,
Which feasts on our richest Scottish blood,
And makes sae mony a dolefu' widow !

"

Hogg, however, is of opinion that this may be

indebted for much of its beauty to the genius

of Allan Cunningham.
Of " Cumberland and Murray's descent into

Hell," which appears to be but little known,

Hogg justly says, that " of all the songs that

ever were written since the world began this is

the first
;

it is both so horrible and so irresist-

ibly ludicrous." It is a pity that the author of

a poem so full of fire, and hate, and lurid wit

celebrated Lord Chesterfield, who governed Ireland

with rare ability and liberality in 1744, when told by
an alarmist that "the Papists were dangerous," re-

plied that he had never seen but one dangerous

Papist, and that was Miss , a particularly lovely
woman. This lady, sharing in the gratitude and
admiration of the Roman Catholics, wished to show
the Earl how thoroughly she could overcome political

prejudices, and on a public occasion at Dublin Castle

wore a breast knot of Orange ribbon. The earl, pleased
at the incident, requested Lord Doneraile, celebrated

for his wit, to say something handsome to her on the

occasion. The request occasioned the following im-

promptu :

'

Say, little Tory, why this jest
Of wearing Orange on thy breast,

Since the same breast, uncover'd, shows
The whiteness of the rebel rose.'

"

is totally unknown ; the heartiness of the hate

displayed in it, as well as the wealth of un-

earthly fancy, ought to have recommended it

to the approval of Dr. Johnson, had he known
of it. Of course Cumberland is the hero of

Culloden
; Murray is Secretary Murray, who

turned king's evidence against his comrades in

the trials after the rebellion, and thus earned

for himself the bitterest hate of all Jacobites.

" Ken ye whare Cleekie Murray's gane ?

He 's gane to dwall in his lang hame.
The beddle clapt him on the doup,
' hard I Ve earned my gray groat.
Lie thou there, and sleep thou soun' ;

God winna wauken sic a loon.'

He's in a' Satan's frything-pans,

Scouth'ring the blude frae atf his han's :

He 's washing them in brunstane lowe
;

His kintra's blude it winna thow :

The hottest soap-suds o' perdition
Canna out thae stains be washing.

Ae devil roar'd, till hearse and roopit,
' He 's pyking the gowd frae Satan's pu'pit !

'

Anither roar'd, wi' eldritch yell,
' He 's howking the keystane out o' hell,

To damn us mair wi' God's day-light !

'

And he doukit i' the caudrons out o' sight.

He stole auld Satan's brunstane leister,

Till his waukit loofs were in a blister
;

He stole his Whig spunks, tipt wi' brunstane,
And stole his scalping-whittle's whunstane ;

And out o' its red-hot kist he stole

The very charter-rights o' hell.

Satan, tent weel the pilfering villain ;

He '11 scrimp your revenue by stealing.
Th' infernal boots in which you stand in,

With which your worship tramps the damn'd in,

He '11 wile them aff your cloven cloots,

And wade through hell fire in your boots.

Auld Satan cleekit him by the spaxil,

And stappit him i' the dub o' hell.

The foulest fiend there doughtna bide him,
The damn'd they wadna fry beside him,
Till the bluidy duke came trysting hither,

And the ae fat butcher tried the tither.

Ae deevil sat splitting brumstane matches ;

Ane roasting the Whigs like bakers' batches
;

Ane wi' fat a Whig was basting,

Spent wi' frequent prayer and fasting.

A' ceas'd when thae twin butchers roar'd,

And hell's grim hangman stopt and glowr'd.
'

Fy, gar bake a pie in haste,
Knead it of infernal paste,'

Quo' Satan ;
and in his mitten 'd hand

He hynt up bluidy Cumberland,
And whittled him down like bow-kail castock,

And in his hottest furnace roasted.

Now hell's black tableclaith was spread,
Th' infernal trrace was reverend said ;

Yap stood the hungry fiends a' owre it,

Their grim jaws gaping to devour it,

When Satan cried out, fit to scunner,
' Owre rank a judgment's sic a dinner !'"

Not a few of these old Jacobite songs, with
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little or no alteration in the words, are sung

at the present day as pure love-songs, few ever

dreaming that they were meant for anything

else when first composed : nothing more than

this shows the intensity and tenderness of the

feeling entertained by the Scotch Jacobites to

their hero and idol, Bonnie Prince Charlie.

The well-known and apparently perfectly

harmless song,
" "Weel may the keel row,"

belongs to this class ; and who would ever

smell treason in the touching strain
" For the

sake o' somebody."

One of the sweetest and tenderest of all the

Jacobite songs is undoubtedly
" Wae's me for

Prince Charlie," beginning
" A wee' bird cam'

to our ha' door," and well known to all who
have the least knowledge of Scottish song.

Yet this song was written only about thirty

or forty years ago by Mr William Glen, a Glas-

gow merchant
;
and it is well known that many

of the finest of Aytoun's Lays are animated by
this spirit of Jacobitism, showing how much
calculated to touch the feelings and rouse the

imagination of any one of an impulsive, poetic

temperament, is the story of " Bonnie Prince

Charlie," as it is popularly told in song and story.

Perhaps it may be only fair, as a set off to

the above, to give one or two of the best

Whig songs :

BAUD AWA FRAE ME, DoNALD.
"

Ifaud awa, bide awa,
Haud awa frae me, Donald,

Your principles I do abhor
;

No Jacobites for me, Donald.
Passive obedience I do hate,
And tyranny I flee, Donald

;

Nor can I think to be a slave,
When now I can be free, Donald.

Even Highland Maggie, though she 's bred
Up under tyranny, Donald,

No sooner you her rights invade,
Than she '11 a rebel be, Donald.

For all that you can say or do,

^
I '11 never change my mind, Donald

;

Your king takes so much of your heart,
To me you '11 ne'er be kind, Donald.'

1

A LITANY.
"
Fr?
m the lawless dominion of mitre and crown

Whose tyrannies now are absolute grown,So that men become slaves to the altar and throneAnd can call neither bodies nor souls their own,
Libera nos, Domine.

From a reverend bawling theological professorfrom a Protestant zealous for a Popish successorWho for a great benefice still leaves a lesserAnd ne er will die martyr, nor make good confessor,
Libera nos, Domine.

From deans and from chapters who live at their

eases,

Whose lechery lies in renewing church-leases,
Who live in cathedrals like maggots in cheeses,
And lie like abbey-lubbers stew'd in their own

greases,
Libera nos, Domine.

From an altar-piece-monger who rails at Dissenters
And damns Nonconformists in the pulpit he enters,
Yet all the week long his own soul he ventures,

By being so drunk that he cutteth indentures,
Libera nos, Domine.

From fools, knaves, and villains, prerogative Tories,
From church, that for the Babylon whore is,

From a pretended prince, like peai rotten at core is,
From a court that has millions, yet as old Job

poor is,

Libera nos, Domine."

That the Jacobite songs tended largely to

nourish and perpetuate Jacobite sympathies

long after all idea of endeavouring to restore

the Stuart dynasty had been abandoned, all

must admit who know anything of Scotch

social life during the latter part of the 18th

and beginning of the 19th centuries. In the

early part of the latter century, an additional

and most powerful instrument in the cause of

sentimental Jacobitism came into play, in the

shape of the poems, and especially the novels

of Sir Walter Scott, on whose bold imagination
and strong sympathy witli chivalry and the

days of old, the story of the young prince and
the misfortunes of the Stuarts and their ad-

herents generally, appear to have taken a strong
hold. The very first of the Waverley Novels

presented the history of the '45 in its most

fascinating aspect, and painted its hero in the

most attractive colours, as the handsome, chiv-

alrous, high-minded, but unfortunate prince.

In one or two of Scott's other novels the same

episode is made use of, and with such bewitch-

ing power as only the Wizard of the North could

exercise. The influence of these matchless

fictions continues unabated, and as it is from

them that most people derive their knowledge
of the last rebellion, and of the Stuarts and
their cause, it is no wonder that even at

the present day there exists a wide-spread,
tender sympathy for the unfortunate race, a

sort of sentimental Charlie-worship, adoring
as its object the ideal presented by Scott,

filled in with some of the most attractive and

touching features from the sweetest and most

popular of the songs. With perhaps no ex-

ception, this admiration of Prince Charlie and
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tlie other heroes of '45 is of the same nature

as the unthinking admiration of the "
good

old days
"
generally, of King Arthur and his

knights, of the days of chivalry, of Robin

Hood and his merry men, and of the bold Rob

Roy ;
he would be looked upon as a harmless

imbecile, who should ever talk of doing aught
to restore any of the institutions of these old

times, which are as likely to find active par-

tizans as is the restoration of the Stuart dy-

nasty.

However, that Jacobitism still runs in a few

old families as something more than a senti-

ment, as something like an ideal politico-reli-

gious creed, cherished as the remnant of the

Cameronians cherish the ancient covenant, we

have good reason to believe. These families are,

practically, perfectly loyal to the present govern-

ment and the present sovereign, and would as

soon dream of taking to cattle-lifting as to re-

bellion; but still they seem to regard the Stuart

dynasty as their first lore, the love of their

impulsive youth, with whom a closer relation

was impossible. The creed of these modern

Jacobites we may be permitted to state, in the

words of one who has ample opportunities of

mixing with them and knowing tneir senti-

ments. " As a principle of action," he writes,

quoting the words of a noble lord, "it is dead

and gone, but in sentiment and sympathy there

are still lots of us." He himself proceeds :

" I quite agree with him. We claim, with the

late Professor Aytoun, to be White-Rose Scots,

Tories in some things but not in others some

of us Tories some I daresay Radicals none of

us Whigs; all of us animated by an abhorrence

of Macaulay's History as an audacious libel on

our forefathers and their principles." In an-

other letter he says :

" The question you ask,

as to whether we would now stand up for any

of the descendants of Prince Charles, is one I

have no difficulty in answering. We should

not. I cannot say we have any great love for

the present royal family ; they cross our feel-

ings and prejudices in many ways, by mar-

riages in Lent, and alliances with Campbells ! !

But were the time of trial to come (and a con-

test between monarchy and republicanism may
come in this country sooner than many ex-

pect), Queen Victoria would find none more

loyal I could almost venture to say, none so

loyal as those whose sympathies go with the

former enemies of her race. To us she repre-

sents ' the powers that be, as ordained of God,'

and we must bear a good deal at their hands.

Queen Victoria herself certainly does appreciate

the Highlands and Highlanders. Our loyalty

is a matter of principle, not of preference, and

might be found to wax the warmer, as that of

others when subjected to a strain by the royal

family running counter to their ideas and pre-

judices waxed cold." Indeed Jacobitism, as

an active principle, is as much a thing of the

past as clan-feuds, cattle-lifting, and active re-

ligious intolerance.

Her present Majesty has done more to win

the hearts and command the loyalty of the

Highlanders than ever did any of her pre-

decessors, by taking up her residence yearly

in their midst, and in many other ways show-

ing her trust in and love for them, and her

unbounded admiration for all that is High-
land. As is well known, before her widow-

hood, her favourite plaid was one of Stuart

tartan of a special pattern. If any section of

her Majesty's subjects is at all inclined to

use occasionally expressions savouring of dis-

loyalty, it is that of which one or two Cockney

newspapers are the mouthpieces, the grievance

being that the Queen spends so much of her

time in the Highlands. The loyalty and love

of the Highlanders, and of all Scotchmen,

have been for ever intensified by the recent

marriage of one of the Queen's daughters to

the son and heir of one of the oldest and

greatest Highland chiefs. 8

8 In connection with the above subject, our Jacobite

correspondent has communicated to us the following
anecdote. He does not vouch for its truth, but he

states that he had it on very good authority. On
one occasion, when her Majesty's guests had been en-

joying themselves, in scattered groups, in the pleasure-

grounds around Balmoral, the conversation chanced

to turn, amongst one of those groups, on Jacobite

songs and Jacobite music. One of the ladies, known
for her knowledge of Jacobite melodies, and for her

skill in the execution of them, was asked to favour

her companions with a specimen. The party having
retired to a distance from the rest of the company,
the lady sung her song. The echoes of the music

reached, it is said, the quick ears of the Queen, who
went at once to the spot whence it proceeded. And
no one, it is added, enjoyed the melody more. One
of the company having ventured to express surprise

that the Queen could so enter into the spirit of a

song which seemed to reflect so much on the present

dynastv, her Majesty is said to have stated, as the

representative of the family of Bonnie Prince Charlie,

no one could be a greater Jacobite than herself; and
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So far as the record of external strife or in-

ward feud constitutes history, that of the High-

lands may be said to end with the battle of

Culloden in 1746. By many, however, the

period from that date onwards will be con-

sidered as of far more interest and importance

than all the previous centuries put together;

for in the years succeeding the last rebellion

are witnessed the struggle of lawlessness with

law, of semi-barbarism with civilization, the

gradual but rapid breaking-up of the old patri-

archo-feudal way of ruling men and regulating

property, on which the whole social life of the

Highlands was based, and the assimilation of

that district in all respects to the rest of the

kingdom of which it forms a part.

That innovations such as were of necessity

forced upon the Highlands should be adopted

without a struggle, without resistance, without

hardship to many, was not to be expected.

No thoughtful person could expect that there

could be accomplished without many diffi-

culties and mistakes the abolition of a system
which had maintained its sway for many cen-

turies, and the introduction of a new one so

little adapted to the character stamped on the

Highlander under the former, and in every re-

spect so contrary to the ideas and prejudices

which had been transmitted from father to son

for many generations. Any sudden change of

an old-established system, by which the every-

day life of thousands of people is regulated,

would in any case almost inevitably lead at first

to disorder and a certain amount of hardship.
It was to be looked for that, in the case of the

Highlands, which in many respects were cen-

turies behind the rest of the country, there

would be much trouble and confusion before

they could be brought up to the stand-point
of their Lowland fellow-countrymen. Such

that she considered all the songs in praise of "the
Auld Stuarts

"
as songs in praise of her own an-

cestors.

was the case. It took very many years in-

deed, the process is still going on before the

various elements got settled into their places

according to the new adjustment of matters.

There were, of course, many interests to be

attended to, and necessarily many collisions

and misunderstandings between the various

classes
;

often no doubt unnecessary hard-

ness, selfishness, and want of consideration

for inferiors on one side, as frequently met

on the other by unreasonable demands, and a

stubborn and uninformed determination to re-

sist the current of change, and not to accom-

modate themselves to inevitable innovations.

The old clan-system, with the idea which it

nourished of the close relation between the

various grades of the clan, of the duty of the

chief to support his people, and of the people

to do the will of the chief, must be abolished,

and the Highlander must be taught, each man
to depend entirely upon himself and his own

exertions, and to expect nothing from any man
but what he could pay for in labour or money.
Of course it would be hard for a Celt to put
himself on the same footing in this respect

with the low-minded, greedy, over-reaching

Saxon
;
but it had to be done, and, like many

other things which seemed hard to face, has

been done, and the process is still going on,

and probably will go on, till there be not only
an assimilation in habits and ways of living and

thinking, but till the two races be so fused or

blended together by intermarriage and other-

wise, that there shall be neither Celt nor

Saxon, but a mixed race superior to either,

combining the best qualities of each, the fire,

the imagination, the dash, the reverence, the

heart of the Celt, with the perseverance,

clear-headedness, patience, fairness, capacity

for business, head of the Saxon. Ere long,

no doubt, the two will become one flesh, and

their separation and strife a tale of bygone

days.

END OF VOL. I.



REMARKS

OX THE

SCENERY OF THE HIGHLANDS.

PROFESSOR WILSON.

IN no other country does Nature exhibit her-

self in more various forms of beauty and sub-

limity than in the north of England and the

Highlands of Scotland. This is acknowledged

by all who, having studied their character, and

become familiar with the feelings it inspires,

have compared the effects produced on their

minds by our own mountainous regions, with

what they have experienced among the scenery

of the Alps. There, indeed, all objects are on

so vast a . scale, that we are for a while asto-

nished as we gaze on the gigantic ;
and all

other emotions are sunk in an overwhelming
sense of awe that prostrates the imagination.

But on recovering from its subjection to the

prodigious, that faculty everywhere recognises

in those mighty mountains of dark forests,

glittering glaciers, and regions of eternal snow

infinite all the power and dominion of the

sublime. True that all these are but materials

for the mind to work on, and that to its creative

energy Nature owes much of that grandeur

which seems to be inherent in her own forms
;

yet surely she in herself is great, and there is

a regality belonging of divine right to such a

monarch as Mont Blanc.

Those are the very regions of sublimity, and

if brought into immediate comparison with

them in their immense magnitude, the most

magnificent scenery of our own country would

no doubt seem to lose its character of great-

ness. But such is not the process of the ima-

gination in her intercourse with Nature. To

her, sufficient for the day is the good thereof;

and on each new glorious sight being shown

to her eyes, she employs her God-given power
to magnify or irradiate what she beholds, with-

out diminishing or obscuring what she remem-

bers. Thus, to her all things in nature hold

their own due place, and retain for ever their

own due impressions, aggrandized and beauti-

fied by mutual reaction in those visionary

worlds, which by a thought she can create,

and which, as they arise, are all shadowy re-

presentations of realities new compositions
in which the image of the earth we tread is

reflected fairer or greater than any realities,

but not therefore less, but more true to the

spirit of nature. It is thus that poets and

painters at once obey and control their own

inspirations. They visit all the regions of the

earth, but to love, admire, and adore
;
and the

greatest of them all, native to our soil, from

their travel or sojourn in foreign lands, have

always brought home a clearer insight into

the character of the scenery of their own, a

profounder affection for it all, and a higher

power of imaging its attributes in colours or in

words. In our poetry, more than in any other,

Nature sees herself reflected in a magic mirror;

and though many a various show passes pro-

cessionally along its lustre, displaying the

scenery of " lands and seas, whatever clime

the sun's bright circle warms," among them

all there are none more delightful or elevating

to behold than those which genius, inspired

by love, has framed of the imagery, which, in

all her pomp and prodigality, Heaven has been

pleased to shower, through all seasons, on our

own beautiful island. It is not for us to

say whether our native painters, or the " old

masters," have shown the greatest genius in

landscape ;
but if the palm must be yielded

to them whose works have been consecrated
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by a reverence, as often, perhaps, superstitious

as religious, we do not fear to say, that their

superiority is not to be attributed in any de-

gree to the scenery on which they exercised

the art its beauty had inspired. Whatever

may be the associations connected with the

subjects of their landscapes and we know

not why they should be higher or holier than

those belonging to innumerable places in our

own land assuredly in themselves they are

not more interesting or impressive; nay,

though none who have shared with us the

spirit of the few imperfect sentences we have

now written, will for a moment suppose us

capable of instituting an invidious comparison

between our own scenery and that of any

other country, why should we hesitate to

assert that our own storm-loving Northern Isle

is equally rich in all kinds of beauty as the

Sunny South, and richer far in all kinds of

grandeur, whether we regard the forms or

colouring of nature earth, sea, or air

" Or all the dread magnificence of heaven."

What other region in all the world like that

of the Lakes in the north of England ! And

yet how the true lover of nature, while he

carries along with him its delightful character

in his heart, and can so revive any spot of

especial beauty in his imagination, as that it

shall seem in an instant to be again before his

very eyes, can deliver himself up, after the

lapse of a day, to the genius of some savage

scene in the Highlands of Scotland, rent and

riven by the fury of some wild sea-loch ! Not
that the regions do not resemble one another,

but surely the prevailing spirit of the one

not so of the other is a spirit of joy and of

peace. Her mountains, invested, though they
often be, in gloom and we have been more

than once benighted during day, as a thunder-

cloud thickened the shadows that for ever

sleep in the deepest dungeons of Helvellyn
are yet so it seems to us such mountains as

in nature ought to belong to "
merry England."

They boldly meet the storms, and seen in

storms you might think they loved the trouble;
but pitch your tent among them, and you will

feel that theirs is a grandeur that is congenial
with the sunshine, and that their spirit fully

rejoices in the brightness of light. In clear

weather, verdant from base to summit, how

majestic their repose ! And as mists slowly

withdraw themselves in thickening folds up

along their sides, the revelation made is still

of more and more of the beautiful arable

fields below, then coppice woods studded with

standard trees enclosed pastures above and

among the woods broad breasts of close-

nibbled herbage here and there adorned by
rich dyed rocks, that do not break the expanse

till the whole veil has disappeared ; and, lo !

the long lofty range, with its wavy line, rising

and sinking so softly in the blue serenity, per-

haps, of an almost cloudless sky. Yet though
we have thus characterised the mountains by
what we have always felt to be the pervading

spirit of the region, chasms and ravines, and

cliffs and precipices, are there
;
in some places

you see such assemblages as inspire the fear

that quakes at the heart, when suddenly struck

in the solitude with a sense of the sublime
;

and though we have called the mountains

green and during Spring and Summer, in

spite of frost or drought, they are green as eme-

rald yet in Autumn they are many-coloured,
and are girdled with a glow of variegated light,

that at sunset sometimes seems like fire kindled

in the woods.

The larger Vales are all serene and cheerful
;

and among the sylvan knolls with which their

wide levels, highly cultivated, are interspersed,

cottages, single or in groups, are frequent, of

an architecture always admirably suited to the

scenery, because in a style suggested not by
taste or fancy, which so often disfigure nature

to produce the picturesque, but resorted to for

sake of the uses and conveniences of in-door

life, to weather-fend it in storms, and in calm

to give it the enjoyment of sunshine. Many
of these dwellings are not what are properly

called cottages, but statesmen's houses, of

ample front, with their many roofs, over-

shadowed by a stately grove, and inhabited

by the same race for many generations. All

alike have their suitable gardens, and the

porches of the poorest are often clustered with

roses
; for everywhere among these hills, even

in minds the most rude and uncultivated, there

is a natural love of flowers. The villages,

though somewhat too much modernised in

those days of improvement and indeed not a
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few of them with, hardly any remains now of

their original architecture nothing old about

them but the church tower, perhaps the par-

sonage are nevertheless generally of a pleasing

character, and accordant, if not with the great

features of nature, which are unchanged and

unchangeable, with the increased cultivation

of the country, and the many villas and orna-

mented cottages that have risen and are rising

by every lake and river side. Rivers indeed,

properly so called, there are none among these

mountains; but every vale, great and small,

has at all times its pure and undefiled stream

or rivulet; every hill has its hundreds of

evanescent rills, almost every one its own

perennial torrent flowing from spring, marsh,

or tarn
;
and the whole region is often alive

with waterfalls, of many of which, in its ex-

quisite loveliness, the scenery is fit for fairy

festivals and of many, in its horrid gloom, for

gatherings of gnomes revisiting
" the glimpses

of the moon" from their subterraneous prisons.

One lake there is, which has been called

"wooded Winandermere, the river lake;" and
there is another Ulswater which you might

imagine to be a river too, and to have come

flowing from afar
;
the one excelling in isles,

and bays, and promontories, serene and gentle

all, and perfectly beautiful ;
the other, match-

less in its majesty of cliff and mountain, and

in its old forests, among whose hoary gloom is

for ever breaking out the green light of young

generations, and perpetual renovation triumph-

ing over perpetual decay. Of the other lakes

not river-like the character may be ima-

gined even from that we have faintly described

of the mountains
;
almost every vale has its

lake, or a series of lakes
;
and though some of

them have at times a stern aspect, and have

scenes to show almost of desolation, descend-

ing sheer to the water's edge, or overhanging
the depth that looks profounder in the gloom,

yet even these, to eyes and hearts familiar with

their spirit, wear a sweet smile which seldom

passes away. Witness Wastwater, with its

huge single mountains, and hugest of all the

mountains of England, Scawfell, with its

terrific precipices which, in the accidents of

storm, gloom, or mist, has seemed, to the

lonely passer-by, savage in the extreme a

howling or dreary wilderness but in its en-

during character, is surrounded with all quiet

pastoral imagery, the deep glen in which it is

embedded being, in good truth, the abode of

Sabbath peace. That hugest mountain is in-

deed the centre from which all the vales irre-

gularly diverge ;
the whole circumjacent region

may be traversed in a week
;
and though no

other district of equal extent contains such

variety of the sublime and beautiful, yet the

beautiful is so prevalent that we feel its pre-

sence, even in places where it is overpowered ;

and on leaving
" The Lakes," our imagination

is haunted and possessed with images, not of

dread, but of delight.

We have sometimes been asked, whether

the north of England or the Highlands of

Scotland should be visited first
; but, simple as

the question seems, it is really one which it is

impossible to answer, though we suspect it

would equally puzzle Scotchman or Englishman
to give a sufficient reason for his wishing to see

any part of any other country, before he had

seen what was best worth seeing in his own.

His own country ought to be, and generally is,

dearest to every man. There, if nothing for-

bid, he should not only begin his study of

nature, but continue his education in her

school, wherever it may happen to be situated,

till he has taken his first degree. We believe

that the love of nature is strong in the hearts

of the inhabitants of our island. And how
wide and profound may that knowledge of

nature be, which the loving heart has acquired,

without having studied her anywhere but

within the Four Seas ! The impulses that

make us desire to widen the circle of our ob-

servation, are all impulses of delight and love ;

and it would be strange indeed, did they not

move us, first of all, towards whatever is most

beautiful belonging to our own land. Were
it otherwise, it would seem as if the heart were

faithless to the home affections, out of which,

in their strength, spring all others that are

good ;
and it is essential, we do not doubt,

to the full growth of the love of country, that

we should all have our earliest imaginative

delights associated with our native soil. Such

associations will for ever keep it loveliest to

our eyes ;
nor is it possible that we can ever

as perfectly understand the character of any
other

;
but we can afterwards transfer and
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transfuse our feelings in imagination kindled

by our own will ;
and the "beauty, born before

our eyes, among the banks and braes of our

childhood, and then believed to be but there,

and nothing like it anywhere else in all the

world, becomes a golden light,
" whose home

is everywhere," which if we do not darken it,

will shine unshadowed in the dreariest places,

till
" the desert blossom like the rose."

For our own parts, before we beheld one of

"the beautiful fields of England," we had

walked all Scotland thorough, and had seen

many a secret place, which now, in the confu-

sion of our crowded memory, seem often to

shift their uncertain ground ;
but still, wher-

ever they glimmeringly re-appear, invested

with the same heavenly light in which long

ago they took possession of our soul. And

now that we are almost as familiar with the

fair sister-land, and love her almost as well as

Scotland's self, not all the charms in which

she is arrayed and they are at once graceful

and glorious have ever for a day withdrawn

our deeper dreams from the regions where,

" In life's morning march when our spirit was young,
"

unaccompanied but by our own shadow in the

wilderness, we first heard the belling of the

red deer and the eagle's cry.

In those days there was some difficulty, if

not a little danger, in getting in among some

of the noblest regions of our Alps. They
could not be traversed without strong personal

exertion
;
and a solitary pedestrian excursion

through the Grampians was seldom achieved

without a few incidents that might almost

have been called adventures. It is very
different now; yet the Genius Loci, though
tamed, is not subdued

; and they who would

become acquainted with the heart of the

Highlands, will have need of some endurance

still, and must care nothing about the condi-

tion of earth or sky. Formerly, it was not

possible to survey more than a district or

division in a single season, except to those

unenviable persons who had no other pursuit
but that of amusement, and waged a weary
war with time. The industrious dwellers in

cities, who sought these solitudes for a while
to relieve their hearts from worldly anxieties,
and gratify that love of nature which is inex-

tinguishable in every bosom that in youth has

beat with its noble inspirations, were con-

tented with a week or two of such intercom-

munion with the spirit of the mountains, and

thus continued to extend their acquaintance

with the glorious wildernesses, visit after visit,

for years. Now the whole Highlands, western

and northern, may be commanded in a month.

Not that any one who knows what they are

will imagine that they can be exhausted in a

lifetime. The man does not live who knows

all worth knowing there
;
and were they who

made the trigonometrical survey to be ques-

tioned on their experiences, they would be

found ignorant of thousands of sights, any one

of which would be worth a journey for its own

sake. But now steam has bridged the Great

Glen, and connected the two seas. Salt water

lochs the most remote and inaccessible, it has

brought within reach of a summer day's voyage.

In a week a joyous company can gather all the

mainland shores, leaving not one magnificent

bay uncircled
; and, having rounded St Kilda

and
" the Hebride Isles,

Placed far amid the melancholy main,"

and heard the pealing anthem of waves in the

cave-cathedral of Staffa, may bless the bells of

St Mungo's tolling on the first Sabbath.

Thousands and tens of thousands, who but for

those smoking sea-horses, had never been

beyond view of the city spires, have seen

sights which, though passing by almost like

dreams, are not like dreams forgotten, but

revive of themselves in memory and imagina-

tion
; and, when the heart is weary with the

work of the hand, quicken its pulses with a

sudden pleasure that is felt like a renovation

of youth.

All through the interior, too, how many
hundreds of miles of roads now intersect

regions not long ago deemed impracticable !

firm on the fen, in safety flung across the

chasm and winding smoothly amidst shatter-

ings of rocks, round the huge mountain bases,

and down the glens once felt as if interminable,

now travelled almost with the speed of the

raven's wing !

In the Highlands now, there is no terra, in-

cognita. But there are many places yet well

worth seeing, which it is not easy for all men
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to find, and to which every man must be his

own guide. It is somewhat of a selfish feeling,

indeed, but the pride is not a mean one, with

which the solitary pedestrian sits down to

contemplate some strange, or wild, or savage

scene, or some view of surpassing sweetness

and serenity, so far removed from the track of

men, that he can well believe for a time that

his eyes have been the first to behold it, and

that for them alone it has now become a visible

revelation. The memory of such places is

sometimes kept as a secret which we would

not communicate but to a congenial friend.

They are hallowed by those mysterious
"
thoughts that, like phantoms, trackless come

and go ;

" no words can tell another how to

find his way thither
;
and were we yourselves

to seek to return, we should have to trust to

some consciousness mysterious as the instinct

of a bird that carries it through the blind

night to the place of its desire.

It is well to have in our mind the concep-

tion of a route
;

but without being utterly

departed from nay, without ceasing to control

vis within certain bounds it admits of almost

any degrees of deviation. We have known

persons apparently travelling for pleasure who
were afraid to turn a few miles to the right or

the left, for fear of subjecting themselves to

the reproach of their own conscience for infir-

mity of purpose. They had " chalked out a

route," and acted as if they had sworn a

solemn oath to follow it. This is to be a

slave among the boundless dominions of nature,

where all are free. As the wind bloweth

wherever it listeth, so move the moods of

men's minds, when there is nought to shackle

them, and when the burden of their cares has

been dropt, that for a while they may walk on

air, and feel that they too have wings.

" A voice calls on me from the mountain depths,
And it must be obeyed."

The voice was our own and yet though but

a whisper from the heart, it seemed to come

from the front of yon distant precipice sweet

and wild as an echo.

On rising at da\vn in the shieling, why
think, much less determine, where at night we

are to lay down our head ? Let this be our

thought :

i

"
Among the hills a hundred homes have I :

My table in the wilderness is spread :

In these lone spots one honest smile can buy
Plain fare, warm welcome, and a rushy bed."

If we obey any powers external to our own

minds, let them be the powers of Nature the

rains, the winds, the atmosphere, sun, moon
and stars. We must keep a look out

" To see the deep, fermenting tempest brewed,
In the grim evening sky ;

"

that next day we may cross the red rivers by

bridges, not by fords
;
and if they roll along

unbridged, that we may set our face to the

mountain, and wind our way round his shoulder

by sheep-tracks, unwet with the heather, till

we behold some great strath, which we had

not visited but for that storm, with its dark

blue river streaked with golden light, for its

source is in a loch among the Eastern Range ;

and there, during the silent hours, heather,

bracken, and greensward rejoiced in the trem-

bling dews.

There is no such climate for all kinds of

beauty and grandeur as the climate of the

Highlands. Here and there you meet with an

old shepherd or herdsman, who has beguiled
himself into a belief, in spite of many a night's

unforeseen imprisonment in the mists, that he

can presage its changes from fair to foul, and

can tell the hour when the long-threatening
thunder will begin to mutter. The weather-

wise have often perished in their plaids. Yet

among a thousand uncertain symptoms, there

are a few certain, which the ranger will do

well to study, and he will often exult 011 the

mountain to feel that "
knowledge is power."

Many a glorious hour has been won from the

tempest by him before whose instructed eye

beyond the gloom that wide around blackened

all the purple heather "
far off its coming

shone." Leagues of continuous magnificence

have gradually unveiled themselves on either

side to him, as he has slowly paced, midway

between, along the banks of the River of

Waterfalls
; having been assured by the light

struggling through the mist, that it would not

be long till there was a break-up of all that

ghastly dreariment, and that the sun would

call on him to come forth from his cave of

shelter, and behold in all its pride the Glen

affronting the Sea.
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Some Tourists as they call themselves are

provided with map and compass; and we

hope they find them of avail in extremities,

though we fear few such understand their use.

No map can tell except very vaguely how

the aspect of the localities, looked at on its

lines, is likely to be affected by sunrise,

meridian, or sunset. Yet, true it is, that every

region has its own happy hours, which the

fortunate often find unawares, and know them

at once to be so the moment they lift up their

eyes. At such times, while " our hearts

rejoice in Nature's joy," we feel the presence of

a spirit that brings out the essential character

of the place, be it of beauty or of grandeur.

Harmonious as music is then the composition

of colours and of forms. It becomes a perfect

picture in memory, more and more idealised

by imagination, every moment the veil is with-

drawn before it
;

its aerial lineaments never

fade
; yet they too, though their being be but

in the soul, are mellowed by the touch of time

and every glimpse of such a vision, the

longer we live, and the more we suffer, seems

suffused with a mournful light, as if seen

through tears.

It would serve no good purpose, supposing

we had the power, to analyse the composition

of that scenery, which in the aggregate so

moves even the most sluggish faculties, as to

make " the dullest wight a poet." It rises

before the mind in imagination, as it does

before the eyes in nature
;
and we can no more

speak of it than look at it, but as a whole.

"We can indeed fix our mental or our visual

gaze on scene after scene to the exclusion of

all beside, and picture it even in words that

shall be more than shadows. But how shall

any succession of such pictures, however clear

and complete, give an idea of that picture
wliich comprehends them all, and infinite as

are its manifestations, nevertheless is imbued
with one spirit ?

Try to forget that in the Highlands there

are any Lochs. Then the sole power is that of
the Mountains. We speak of a sea of moun-
tains

;
but that image has never more than

momentary possession of us, because, but for a

moment, in nature it has no truth. Tumul-

tuary movements envelope them; but they
themselves are for ever steadfast and for ever

still. Their power is that of an enduring

calm no storms can disturb and is often felt

to be more majestical, the more furious are the

storms. As the tempest-driven clouds are

franticly hurrying to and fro, how serene the

summits in the sky ! Or if they be hidden,

how peaceful the glimpses of some great

mountain's breast ! They disregard the hurri-

cane that goes crashing through their old

woods
;
the cloud-thunder disturbs not them

any more than that of their own cataracts, and

the lightnings play for their pastime. All

minds under any excitation more or less per-

sonify mountains. When much moved, that

natural process affects all our feelings, as the

language of passion awakened by such objects

vividly declares; and then we do assuredly

conceive of mountains as indued with life

however dim and vague the conception may
be and feel their character in their very

names. Utterly strip our ideas of them of all

that is attached to them as impersonations, and

their power is gone. But while we are crea-

tures of imagination as well as of reason, will

those monarchs remain invested with the

purple and seated on thrones.

In such imaginative moods as these must

every one be, far more frequently than he is

conscious of, and in far higher degrees, who,

with a cultivated mind and a heart open to the

influences of nature, finds himself, it matters

not whether for the first or the hundredth

time, in the Highlands. We fancy the Neo-

phyte wandering, all by himself, on the

"longest day;" rejoicing to think that the

light will not fail him, when at last the sun

must go down, for that a starry gloaming will

continue its gentle reign till morn. He thinks

but of what he sees, and that is the moun-

tains. All memories of any other world but

that which encloses him with its still subli-

mities, are not excluded merely, but obliterated:

his whole being is there ! And now he stands

on table-land, and with his eyes sweeps the

horizon, bewildered for a while, for it seems

chaos all. But soon the mighty masses begin

arranging themselves into order
;
the confusion

insensibly subsides as he comprehends more

and more of their magnificent combinations
;

he discovers centres round which are associated

altitudes towering afar off; and finally, he
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feels, and blesses himself on his felicity, that

his good genius has placed him on the very
centre of those wondrous assemblages alto-

gether, from which alone he could command
an empire of realities, more glorious far than

was ever empire of dreams.

It is a cloudy, but not a stormy day ;
the

clouds occupy but portions of the sky, and

are they all in slow motion together, or are

they all at rest 1 Huge shadows stalking

along the earth, tell that there are changes

going on in heaven
;
but to the iipward gaze,

all seems hanging there in the same repose ;

and with the same soft illumination the sun

to continue shining, a concentration rather

than an orb of light. All above is beautiful,

and the clouds themselves are like celestial

mountains
;
but the eye forsakes them, though

it sees them still, and more quietly now it

moves along the pageantry below that endures

for ever till chained on a sudden by that

range of cliffs. 'Tis along them that the giant

shadows are stalking but now they have

passed by and the long line of precipice

seems to come forward in the light. To look

down from the brink might be terrible to

look up from the base would be sublime but

fronting the eye thus, horrid though it be, the

sight is most beautiful; for weather-stains,

and mosses, and lichens, and flowering-plants

conspicuous most the broom and the heather

and shrubs that, among their leaves of light,

have no need of flowers and hollies, and birks,

and hazels, and many a slender tree besides

with pensile tresses, besprinkle all the cliffs, that

in no gloom could ever lose their lustre ; but

now the day though not bright is fair, and

brings out the whole beauty of the precipice

call it the hanging garden of the wilderness.

The Highlands have been said to be a

gloomy region, and worse gloom than theirs

might well be borne, if not unfrequently
illumined with such sights as these

;
but that is

not the character of the mountains, though the

purple light in which, for usual, they are so

rjchly steeped, is often for a season tamed, or

for a short while extinguished, while a strange

night-like day lets fall over them all a some-

thing like a shroud. Such days we have seen

but now in fancy we are with the pilgrim,

and see preparation making for a sunset. It

is drawing towards evening, and the clouds

that have all this time been moving, though
we knew it not, have assuredly settled now,
and taken up their rest. The sun has gone

down, and all that unspeakable glory has left

the sky. Evening has come and gone without

our knowing that she had been here; but

there is no gloom on any place in the whole of

this vast wilderness, and the mountains, as

they wax dimmer and dimmer, look as if they
were surrendering themselves to a repose like

sleep. Day had no voice here audible to human
ear but night is murmuring and gentle

though the murmur be, it filleth the great

void, and we imagine that ever and anon it

awakens echoes. And now it is darker than

we thought, for lo ! one soft-burning star !

And we see that there are many stars
;
but

not theirs the light that begins again to reveal

object after object as gradually as they had

disappeared ;
the moon is about to rise is

rising has arisen has taken her place high in

heaven
;

and as the glorious world again

expands around us, faintly tinged, clearly

illumined, softly shadowed, and deeply be-

gloomed, we say within our hearts,

"How beautiful is night !

"

There are many such table-lands as the one

we have now been imagining, and it requires

but a slight acquaintance with the country to

conjecture rightly where they lie. Indepen-

dently of the panoramas they display, they are

in themselves always impressive; perhaps a

bare level that shows but bleached bent,

and scatterings of stones, with here and there

an unaccountable rock ; or hundreds of fairy

greensward knolls, fringed with tiny forests of

fern that have almost displaced the heather
;

or a wild withered moor or moss intersected

with pits dug not by men's hands; and,

strange to see ! a huge log lying half exposed,

and as if blackened by fire. High as such

places are, on one of them a young gorcock

was stricken down by a hawk close to our

feet. Indeed, hawks seems to haunt such

places, and we have rarely crossed one of them,

without either seeing the creature's stealthy

flight, or hearing, whether he be alarmed or

preying, his ever-angry cry.

From a few such stations, you get an insight
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into the configuration of the whole Western

Highlands. By the dip of the mountains, you

discover at a glance all the openings in the

panorama around you into other regions.

Follow your fancies fearlessly wherever they

may lead; and if the blue aerial haze that

hangs over a pass winding eastward, tempt

you from your line of march due north, forth-

with descend in that direction, and haply an

omen will confirm you an eagle rising on the

left, and sailing away before you into that very

spot of sky.

No man, however well read, should travel

by book. In books you find descriptions, and

often good ones, of the most celebrated scenes,

but seldom a word about the vast tracts

between; and it would seem as if many
Tourists had used their eyes only in those

places where they had been told by common

fame there was something greatly to admire.

Travel in the faith, that go where you will,

the cravings of your heart will be satisfied,

and you will find it so, if you be a true lover

of nature. You hope to be inspired by her

spirit, that you may read aright her works.

But such inspiration comes not from one

object or another, however great or fair, but

from the whole "mighty world of eye and

ear," and it must be supported continuously,

or it perishes. You may see a thousand sights

never before seen by human eye, at every step

you take, wherever be your path ;
for no steps

but yours have ever walked along that same

level
;
and moreover, never on the same spot

twice rested the same lights or shadows.

Then there may be something in the air, and

more in your own heart, that invests every

ordinary object with extraordinary beauty ;

old images affect you with a new delight ;
a

grandeur grows upon your eyes in the undula-

tions of the simplest hills
;
and you feel there

is sublimity in the common skies. It is thus

that all the stores of imagery are insensibly

gathered, with which the minds of men are

filled, who from youth have communed with

Nature. And it is thus that all those feelings

have flowed into their hearts by which that

imagery is sanctified
;
and these are the poets.

It is in this way that we all become

familiar with the Mountains. Far more than

we were aware of have we trusted to the strong

spirit of delight within us, to prompt and to

guide. And in such a country as the High-

lands, thus led, we cannot err. Therefore, if

your desire be for the summits, set your face

thitherwards, and wind a way of your own,

still ascending and ascending, along some vast

brow, that seems almost a whole day's journey,

arid where it is lost from your sight, not to

end, but to go sweeping round, with un-

diminished grandeur, into another region.

You are not yet half-way up the mountain,

but you care not for the summit now
;
for you

find yourself among a number of green knolls

all of them sprinkled, and some of them

crowned, with trees as large almost as our

lowland hills surrounded close to the brink

with the purple heather and without impair-

ing the majesty of the immense expanse,

embuing it with pastoral and sylvan beauty ;

and there, lying in a small forest glade of

the lady-fern, ambitious no longer of a throne

on Benlomond or Bennevis, you dream away
the still hours till sunset, yet then have no

reason to weep that you have lost a day.

But the best way to view the mountains is

to trace the Glens. To find out the glens you
must often scale the shoulders of mountains

;

and in such journeys of discovery, you have

for ever going on before your eyes glorious

transfigurations. Sometimes for a whole day

one mighty mass lowers before you unchanged;
look at it after the interval of hours, and still

the giant is one and the same. It rules the

region, subjecting all other altitudes to its

sway, though many of them range away to a

great distance
;
and at sunset retains its supre-

macy, blazing almost like a volcano with fiery

clouds. Your line of journey lies, perhaps,

some two thousand feet above the level of the

sea, and seldom dips down to one thousand
;

and these are the heights from which all above

and all below you look most magnificent, for

both regions have their full power over you
the unscaleable cliffs, the unfathomable abysses

and you know not which is the more sub-

lime. The sublimity indeed is one. It is

then that you may do well to ascend to the

very mountain top. For it may happen to be

one of those heavenly days indeed, when the

whole Highlands seem to be reposing in the

cloudless sky.
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But \ve were about to speak of the Glens

And some of them are best entered by such

descents as these perhaps at their very heac

where all at once you are in another world,

how still, how gloomy, how profound ! An
hour ago and the eye of the eagle had not

wider command of earth, sea, and sky than

yours almost blinded now by the super-

incumbent precipices that imprison you, and

seem to shut you out from life.

" Such the grim desolation, where Ben-Hun
And Craig-na-Torr, by earthquake shatterings
Disjoined with horrid chasms prerupt, enclose
What superstition calls the Glen of Ghosts.'

1

Or you may enter some great glen from the

foot, where it widens into vale, or strath and

there are many such and some into which

you can sail up an arm of the sea. For a

while it partakes of the cultivated beauty of

the lowlands, and glen and vale seem almost

one and the same
;
but gradually it undergoes

a strange wild change of character, and in a

few miles that similitude is lost. There is

little or no arable ground here
;

but the

pasture is rich on the unenclosed plain and

here and there are enclosures near the few

houses or huts standing, some of them in the

middle of the glen, quite exposed, on eminences

above reach of the floods some more happily

placed on the edge of the coppices, that

sprinkle the steep sides of the hills, yet barely

mountains. But mountains they soon become
;

and leaving behind you those few barren

habitations, you see before you a wide black

moor. Beautiful hitherto had been the river,

for a river you had inclined to think it, long

after it had narrowed into a stream, with many
a waterfall, and in one chasm a cataract. But

the torrent now has a wild mountain-cry, and

though there is still beauty on its banks, they

are bare of all trees, now swelling into multi-

tudes of low green knolls among the heather,

now composed but of heather and rocks.

Through the very middle of the black moor it

flows, yet are its waters clear, for all is not

moss, and it seems to wind its way where

there is nothing to pollute its purity, or tame

its lustre. 'Tis a solitary scene, but still

sweet
;
the mountains are of great magnitude,

but they are not precipitous ;
vast herds of

cattle are browsing there, on heights from

which fire has cleared the heather, and wide

ranges of greensward upon the lofty gloom
seem to lie in perpetual light.

The moor is crossed, and you prepare to

scale the mountain in front, for you imagine
the torrent by your side flows from a tarn in

yonder cove, and forms that series of water-

falls. You have been all along well pleased
with the glen, and here at the head, though
there is a want of cliffs of the highest class,

you feel nevertheless that it has a character of

grandeur. Looking westward, you are astounded

to see them ranging away on either side of

another reach of the glen, terrific in their

height, but in their formation beautiful, for

like the walls of some vast temple they stand,

roofed with sky. Yet are they but as a

portal or gateway of the glen. For entering
in with awe, that deepens as you advance

almost into dread, you behold beyond moun-
tains that carry their cliffs up into the clouds,

seamed with chasms, and hollowed out into

coves, where night dwells visibly by the side of

day ;
and still the glen seems winding on be-

neath a purple light, that almost looks like

gloom ;
such vast forms and such prodigious

colours, and such utter stillness, become op-

pressive to your very life, and you wish that

some human being were by, to relieve by his

mere presence the insupportable weight of such

a solitude.

But we should never have done were we to

attempt to sketch, however slightly, the

character of all the different kinds of glens.

Some are sublime in their prodigious depth
and vast extent, and would be felt to be so,

even were the mountains that enclose them of

no great majesty ;
but these are all of the

highest order, and sometimes are seen from

below to the very cairns on their summits.

N,pw we walk along a reach, between astonish-

ing ranges of cliffs, among large heaps of rocks

not a tree scarcely a shrub no herbage
the very heather blasted all lifelessness and

desolation. The glen gradually grows less and

.ess horrid, and though its sides are seamed

with clefts and chasms, in the gloom there are

places for the sunshine, and there is felt to be

;vcn beauty in the repose. Descends suddenly
on either side a steep slope of hanging wood,
and we find ourselves among verdant mounds,
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and knolls, and waterfalls. We come then

into what seems of old to have been a forest.

Here and there a stately pine survives, but the

rest are all skeletons; and now the glen widens,

and widens, yet ceases not to be profound, for

several high mountains enclose a plain on

which armies might encamp, and castellated

clouds hang round the heights of the glorious

amphitheatre, while the sky-roof is clear, and, as

if in its centre, the refulgent sun. 'Tis the plain

called "The Meeting of the Glens." From

the east and the west, the north and the south,

they come like rivers into the sea.

Other glens there are as long, but not so

profound, nor so grandly composed ; yet they

too conduct us nobly in among the mountains,

and up their sides, and on even to their very

summits. Such are the glens of Athole, in the

neighbourhood of Ben-y-gloe. From them the

heather is not wholly banished, and the fire

has left a green light without quenching the

purple colour native to the hills. "We think

that we almost remember the time when those

glens were in many places sprinkled with

huts, and all animated with human life. Now

they are solitary ;
and you may walk from

sunrise till sunset without seeing a single soul.

For a hundred thousand acres have there been

changed into a forest, for sake of the pastime,

indeed, which was dear of old to chieftains and

kings. Vast herds of red deer are there, for

they herd in thousands
; yet may you wander

for days over the boundless waste, nor once be

startled by one stag bounding by. Yet may a

herd, a thousand strong, be drawn up, as in

battle array, on the cliffs above your head.

For they will long stand motionless, at gaze,

when danger is in the wind
;
and then their

antlers to unpractised eyes seem but boughs

grotesque, or are invisible; and when all at

once, with one accord, at signal from the stag,

whom they obey, they wheel off towards the

corries, you think it but thunder, and look up
to the clouds. Fortunate if you see such a

sight once in your life. Once only have we
seen it; and it was, of a sudden, all by
ourselves,

" Ere yet the hunter's startling horn was heard
Upon the golden hills."

Almost within rifle-shot, the herd occupied a

position, high up indeed, but below several

ridges of rocks, running parallel for a long

distance, with slopes between of sward and

heather. Standing still, they seemed to extend

about a quarter of a mile ; and, as with a loud

clattering of hoofs and antlers they took more

open order, the line at least doubled its length,

and the whole mountain side seemed alive.

They might not be going at full speed, but the

pace was equal to that of any charge of

cavalry ;
and once and again the flight passed

before us, till it overcame the ridges, and then

deploying round the shoulder of the mountain,

disappeared, without dust or noise, into the

blue light of another glen.

We question if there be in the Highlands

any one glen comparable with Borrowdale in

Cumberland. But there are several that

approach it, in that combination of beauty and

grandeur, which perhaps no other scene equals

in all the world. The "
Gorge

"
of that Dale

exhibits the finest imaginable assemblage of

rocks and rocky hills, all wildly wooded ;

beyond them, yet before we have entered into

the Dale, the Pass widens, with noble cliffs on

one side, and on the other a sylvan stream,

not without its abysses ;
and we see before us

some lovely hills, on which

" The smiling power of cultivation lies,"

yet leaves, with lines defined by the steeps

that defy the ploughshare, copses and groves ;

and thus we are brought into the Dale itself,

and soon have a vision of the whole green

and golden fields for though most are in

pasture, almost all seem arable sprinkled with

fine single trees, and lying in flats and levels,

or swelling into mounds and knolls, and all

diversified with every kind of woods
; single

cottages, with their out-buildings, standing

everywhere they should stand, and coloured

like the rocks from which in some lights they

are hardly to be distinguished strong-roofed

and undilapidated, though many of them very

old
; villages, apart from one another a mile

and there are three yet on their sites, distant

and different in much though they be, all

associated together by the same spirit of beauty

that pervades all the Dale. Half way up, and

in some places more, the enclosing hills and

even mountains are sylvan indeed, and though
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there be a few inoffensive aliens, they are all

adorned with their native trees. The moun-

tains are not so high as in our Highlands, but

they are very majestic ;
and the passes over

into Langdale, and Wastdalehead, and Butter-

mere, are magnificent, and show precipices in

which the Golden Eagle himself might rejoice.

No there is no glen in all the Highlands

comparable with Borrowdale. Yet we know
of some that are felt to be kindred places, and

their beauty, though less, almost as much
affects us, because though contending, as it

were, with the darker spirit of the mountain,

it is not overcome, but prevails ;
and their

beauty will increase with years. For while

the rocks continue to frown aloft for ever, and

the cliffs to range along the corries, unbroken

by trees, which there the tempests will not

suffer to rise, the woods and groves below,

preserved from the axe, for sake of their need-

ful shelter, shall become statelier till the birch

equal the pine ;
reclaimed from the waste,

shall many a fresh field recline among the

heather, tempering the gloom; and houses

arise where now there are but huts, and every

house have its garden : such changes are now

going on, and we have been glad to observe

their progress, even though sometimes they
had removed, or were removing, objects dear

from old associations, and which, had it been

possible, but it was not, we should have loved

to see preserved.

And one word on those sweet pastoral seclu-

sions into which one often drops unexpectedly,

it may be at the close of day, and finds a

night's lodging in the lonely hut. Yet they

lie, sometimes, embosomed, in their own green

hills, among the most rugged mountains, and

even among the wildest moors. They have

no features by which you can describe them :

it is their serenity that charms you, and their

cheerful peace; perhaps it is wrong to call

them glens, and they are but dells. Yet one

thinks of a dell as deep, however small it may
be ;

but these are not deep, for the hills slope

down gently upon them, and leave room

perhaps between for a little shallow loch.

Often they have not any visible water at all,

only a few springs and rivulets, and you

wonder to see them so very green ;
there is no

herbage like theirs ;
and to such spots of old,

and sometimes yet, the kine are led in summer,
and there the lonely family live in their shiel-

ing till the harvest moon.

We have all along used the same word, and

called the places we have spoken of glens.

A fine observer the editor of Gilpin's Forest

Scenery has said :
" The gradation from

extreme width downwards should be thus

arranged strath, vale, dale, valley, glen,

dell, ravine, chasm. In the strath, vale, and

dale, we may expect to find the large,

majestic, gently flowing river, or even the

deeper or smaller lake. In the glen, if the

river be large, it flows more rapidly, and with

greater variety. In the dell, the stream is

smaller. In the ravine, we find the mountain

torrent and the waterfall. In the chasm, we
find the roaring cataract, or the rill, bursting

from its haunted fountain. The chasm dis-

charges its small tribute into the ravine, while

the ravine is tributary to the dell, and thence

to the glen ;
and the glen to the dale."

These distinctions are admirably expressed,

and perfectly true to nature
; yet we doubt if

it would be possible to preserve them in

describing a country, and assuredly they are

very often indeed confused by common use in

the naming of places. We have said nothing

about straths nor shall we try to describe one

but suggest to your own imagination as

specimens, Strath-Spey, Strath-Tay, Strath-

Earn. The dominion claimed by each of those

rivers, within the mountain ranges that environ

their courses, is a strath; and three noble

straths they are, from source to sea.

And now we are brought to speak of the

Highland rivers, streams, and torrents
;
but

we shall let them rush or flow, murmur or

thunder, in your own ears, for you cannot fail

to imagine what the waters must be in a land

of such glens, and such mountains. The chief

rivers possess all the attributes essential to

greatness width depth clearness rapidity

in one word, power. And some of them

have long courses rising in the central heights,

and winding round many a huge projection,

against which in flood we have seen them

dashing like the sea. Highland droughts are

not of long duration
;
the supplies are seldom

withheld at once by all the tributaries; and

one wild night among the mountains converts
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a calm into a commotion the many-murmuring

voice into one roar. In flood they are terrible

to look at; and every whirlpool seems a place

of torment. Winds can make a mighty noise

in swinging woods, but there is something to

our ears more appalling in that of the fall of

waters. Let them be united and add

thunder from the clouds and we have heard

in the Highlands all three in one and the

auditor need not care that he has never stood

by Niagara, But when "though not o'er-

flowing full," a Highland river is in perfec-

tion; far better do we love to see and hear

him rejoicing than raging; his attributes

appear more his own in calm and majestic

manifestations, and as he glides or rolls on,

without any disturbance, we behold in him an

image at once of power and peace.

Of rivers comparatively speaking, of the

second and third order the Highlands are full

and on some of them the sylvan scenery is

beyond compare. No need there to go hunt-

ing the waterfalls. Hundreds of them some

tiny indeed, but others tall are for ever

dinning in the woods
; yet, at a distance from

the cataract, how sweet and quiet is the

sound ! It hinders you not from listening to

the cushat's voice; clear amidst the mellow

murmur comes the bleating from the moun-

tain; and all other sound ceases, as you

hearken in the sky to the bark of the eagle

rare indeed anywhere, but sometimes to be

heard as you thread the "glimmer or the

gloom
"
of the umbrage overhanging the Garry

or the Tummel for he used to build in the

cliffs of Ben-Brackie, and if he has shifted his

eyrie, a few minutes' waftage will bear him to

Cairn-Gower.

In speaking of the glens, we but alluded to

the rivers or streams, and some of them,

indeed, even the great ones, have but rivulets
;

while in the greatest, the waters often flow on

without a single tree, shadowed but by rock

and clouds. Wade them, and you find they
are larger than they seem to be

;
for looked al

along the bottom of those profound hollows,

they are but mere slips of sinuous light in the

sunshine, and in the gloom you see them nol

at all. We do not remember any very im-

pressive glen, without a stream, that woulc

not suffer some diminution of its power by our

kncying it to have one
;
we may not be aware,

at the time, that the conformation of the glen

prevents its having any waterflow, if but we feel

.ts character aright, that want is among the

auses of our feeling ; just as there are some

scenes of which the beauty would not be so

touching were there a single tree.

Thousands and tens of thousands there are

of nameless perennial torrents, and
" in number

without number numberless" those that seldom

live a week perhaps not a day. Up among
the loftiest regions you hear nothing, even

when they are all aflow
; yet, there is music

in the sight, and the thought of the "
general

dance and minstrelsy" enlivens the air, where

no insect hums. As on your descent you come

within hearing of the "liquid lapses," your

heart leaps within you, so merrily do they sing;

the first torrent-rill you meet with you take

for your guide, and it leads you perhaps into

some fairy dell, where it wantons awhile in

waterfalls, and then, gliding along a little dale

of its own with " banks of green bracken,"

finishes its short course in a stream one of

many that meet and mingle before the current

takes the name of river, which in a mile or

less becomes a small woodland lake. There

are many such of rememberable beauty ; living

lakes indeed, for they are but pausings of ex-

panded rivers, which again soon pursue their

way, and the water-lilies have ever a gentle

motion there as if touched by a tide.

It used, not very long ago, to be pretty

generally believed by our southern brethren,

that there were few trees in the Lowlands of

Scotland, and none at all in the Highlands.

They had an obscure notion that trees either

could not or would not grow in such a soil

and climate cold and bleak enough at times

and places, heaven knows yet not altogether

unproductive of diverse stately plants. They
know better now; nor were we ever angry
with their ignorance, which was nothing more

than what was to be expected in persons living

perpetually at home so far remote. They

rejoice now to visit, and sojourn, and travel

here among us, foreigners and a foreign land

no more
;
and we rejoice to see and receive

them not as strangers, but friends, and are

proud to know they are well pleased to behold

our habitation. They do us and our country
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justice now, and we have sometimes thought
even more than justice ;

for they are lost in

admiration of our cities above all, of Edin-

burgh and speak with such raptures of our

scenery, that they would appear to prefer it

even to their own. They are charmed with

our bare green hills, with our shaggy brown

mountains they are astonished, our lochs are

their delight, our woods their wonder, and

they hold up their hands and clap them at our

cliffs. This is generous, for we are not blind

to the fact of England being the most beautiful

land on all the earth. What are our woods

to hers ! To hers, what are our single trees !

We have no such glorious standards to show

as her indomitable and everlasting oaks. She

is all over sylvan Scotland but here and

there
;
look on England from any point in

any place, and you see she is rich, from almost

any point in any place in Scotland, and you
feel that comparatively she is poor. Yet our

Lowlands have long been beautifying them-

selves into a resemblance of hers
;
as for our

Highlands, though many changes have been

going on there too, and most we believe for

good, they are in their great features, and in

their spirit unalterable by art, stamped and

inspired by enduring Nature.

We have spoken, slightly, of the sylvan

scenery of the Highlands. In Perthshire, espe-

cially, it is of rare and extraordinary beauty,

and we are always glad to hear of Englishmen

travelling up the Tay and the Earn. We desire

that eyes familiar with all that is umbrageous
should receive their first impressions of our

Scottish trees at Duneira and Dunkeld. Nor

will those impressions be weakened as they

proceed towards Blair Athole. In that famous

Pass they will feel the power possessed by the

sweet wild monotony of the universal birch

woods broken but by grey crags in every

shape grotesque, fantastical, majestic, magni-

ficent, and sublime on the many-ridged

mountains, that are loth to lose the green

light of their beloved forests, retain it as long

as they can, and on the masses of living lustre

seem to look down with pride from their

skies.

An English forest, meaning thereby any

one wide continuous scene of all kinds of old

English trees, with glades of pasture, and it

may be of heath between, with dells dipping
down into the gloom, and hillocks undulating
in the light ravines and chasms too, rills,

and rivulets, and a haunted stream, and not

without some melancholy old ruins, and here

and there a cheerful cottage that feels not the

touch of time such a forest there is not, and

hardly can be imagined to be in Scotland.

But in the Highlands, there once were, and

are still, other forests of quite a different

character, and of equal grandeur. In his

Forest Scenery, Gilpin shows that he under-

stood it well
;

all the knowledge, which as a

stranger, almost of necessity he wanted, Lauder

has supplied in his annotations
;
and the book

should now be in the hands of every one who
cares about the woods. " The English forest,"

says Gilpin,
"

is commonly composed of wood-

land views, interspersed with extensive heaths

and lawns. Its trees are oak and beech,

whose lively green corresponds better than the

gloomy pine with the nature of the scene,

which seldom assumes the dignity of a moun-

tain one, but generally exhibits a cheerful

landscape. It aspires, indeed, to grandeur ;

but its grandeur does not depend, like that of

the Scottish forest, on the sublimity of the

objects, but on the vastness of the whole

the extent of its woods and the wildness of its

plains. In its inhabitants also the English

forest differs from the Scottish ; instead of the

stag and the roebuck, it is frequented by
cattle and fallow-deer, and exchanges the

scream of the eagle and the falcon for the

crowing of pheasants and the melody of

the nightingale. The Scottish forest, no

doubt, is the sublimer scene, and speaks to

the imagination in a loftier language than the

English forest can reach. The latter, indeed,

often rouses the imagination, but seldom in so

great a degree, being generally content with

captivating the eye. The scenery, too, of the

Scottish forest is better calculated to last through

ages than that of the English. The woods

of both are almost destroyed. But while the

English forest hath lost all its beauty with its

oaks, and becomes only a desolate waste, the

rocks and the mountains, the lakes and the

torrents, of the Scottish forest make it still an

interesting scene."

The tree of the Highlands is the pine
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There are Scotch firs, indeed, well worth

looking at, in the Lowlands, and in England ;

but to learn their true character you must see

them in the glen, among rocks, by the river

side, and on the mountain. "We, for our

parts," says Lauder, very finely,
" confess that

when we have seen it towering in full majesty

in the midst of some appropriate Highland

scene, and sending its limbs abroad with all

unrestrained freedom of a hardy mountaineer,

as if it claimed dominion over the savage

region round it, we have looked upon it as a

very sublime object. People who have not

seen it in native climate and soil, and who

judge of it from the wretched abortions which

are swaddled and suffocated in English plan-

tations, among dark, heavy, and eternally wet

clays, may well be called a wretched tree
;

but when its foot is among its own Highland

heather, and when it stands freely in its native

knoll of dry gravel, or thinly-covered rock,

over which its roots wander afar in the wildest

reticulation, whilst its tall, furrowed, and

often gracefully-sweeping red and grey trunk,

of enormous circumference, rears aloft its high

umbrageous canopy, then would the greatest

sceptic on this point be compelled to prostrate

his mind before it with a veneration which

perhaps was never before excited in him by

any other tree." The colour of the pine has

been objected to as murky, and murky it often

is, or seems to be
;
and so then is the colour

of the heather, and of the river, and of the

loch, and of the sky itself thunder-laden, and

murkiest of all are the clouds. But a stream

of sunshine is let loose, and the gloom is con-

founded with glory; over all that night-like

reign the jocund day goes dancing, and the

forest revels in green or in golden light. Thou-

sands and tens of thousands of trees are there;
and as you gaze upon the whole mighty array,

you fear lest it might break the spell, to fix

your gaze on any one single tree. But there

are trees there that will force you to look on
themselves alone, and they grow before your
eyes into the kings of the forest. Straight
stand their stems in the sunshine, and you
feel that as straight have they stood in the

storm. As yet you look not up, for your heart

is awed, and you see but the stately columns

reddening away into the gloom. But all the

while you feel the power of the umbrage aloft,

and when thitherwards you lift your eyes,

what a roof to such a cathedral ! A cone

drops at your feet nor other sound nor other

stir but afar off you think you hear a cataract.

Inaudible your footsteps on the soft yellow

floor, composed of the autumnal sheddings of

countless years. Then it is true that you
can indeed hear the beating of your own

heart ; you fear, but know not what you fear
;

and being the only living creature there, you
are impressed with a thought of death. But

soon to that severe silence you are more than

reconciled ;
the solitude, without ceasing to be

sublime, is felt to be solemn and not awful,

and ere long, utter as it is, serene. Seen from

afar, the forest was one black mass ;
but ae

you advance, it opens up into spacious glades,

beautiful as gardens, with appropriate trees of

gentler tribes, and ground-flowering in the

sun. But there is no murmur of bee no

song of bird. In the air a thin whisper of

insects intermittent and wafted quite away

by a breath. For we are now in the very
centre of the forest, and even the cushat

haunts not here. Hither the red deer may
come but not now for at this season they

love the hill. To such places the stricken

stag might steal to lie down and die.

And thus for hours may you be lost in the

forest, nor all the while have wasted one

thought on the outer world, till with no other

warning but an uncertain glimmer and a

strange noise, you all at once issue forth into

the open day, and are standing on the brink

of a precipice above a flood. It comes tum-

bling down with a succession of falls, in a

mile-long course, right opposite your stance

rocks, cliffs, and trees, all the way up on

either side, majestically retiring back to afford

ample channel, and showing an unobstructed

vista, closed up by the purple mountain, that

seems to send forth the river from a cavern in

its breast. 'Tis the Glen of Pines. Nor ash

nor oak is suffered to intrude on their do-

minion. Since the earthquake first shattered

it out, this great chasm, with all its chasms,

has been held by one race of trees. No other

seed could there spring to life
;
for from the

rocks has all soil, ages ago, been washed and

swept by the tempests. But there they stand
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with glossy boles, spreading arms, and glitter-

ing crest
;
and those two by themselves on the

summit, known all over Badenoch as "the

Giants" " their statures reach the sky."

We have been indulging in a dream of old.

Before our day the immemorial gloom of

Glenmore had perished, and it ceased to be a

forest. But there bordered on it another

region of night or twilight, and in its vast

depths we first felt the sublimity of lonesome

fear. Rothiemurchus ! The very word blackens

before our eyes with necromantic characters

again we plunge into its gulphs desirous of

what we dread again
" in pleasure high and

turbulent," we climb the cliifs of Cairngorm.

Would you wish to know what is now the

look of Glenmore? One now dead and gone

a man of wayward temper, but of genius

shall tell you and think not the picture

exaggerated for you would not, if you were

there. "It is the wreck of the ancient forest

which arrests all the attention, and which

renders Glenmore a melancholy more than a

melancholy a terrific spectacle. Trees of

enormous height, which have escaped alike the

axe and the tempest, are still standing, stripped

by the winds even of the bark, and like

gigantic skeletons, throwing far and wide their

white and bleached bones to the storms and

rains of heaven ;
while others, broken by the

violence of the gales, lift up their split and

fractured trunks in a thousand shapes of re-

sistance and of destruction, or still display

some knotted and tortuous branches, stretched

out, in sturdy and fantastic forms of defiance,

to the whirlwind and the winter. Noble

trunks also, which had long resisted, but

resisted in vain, strew the ground ;
some lying

on the declivity where they have fallen, others

still adhering to the precipice where they were

rooted, many upturned, with their twisted

and entangled roots high in air
;
while not a

few astonish us by the space which they

cover, and by dimensions which we could not

otherwise have estimated. It is one wide

image of death, as if the angel of destruction

had passed over the valley. The sight, even

of a felled tree, is painful : still more is that

of the fallen forest, with all its green branches

on the ground, withering, silent, and at rest,

where once they glittered in the dew and the

sun, and trembled in the breeze. Yet this is

but an image of vegetable death. It is

familiar, and the impression passes away. It

is the naked skeleton bleaching in the winds,

the gigantic bones of the forest still erect,

the speaking records of former life and of

strength still unsubdued, vigorous even in

death, which renders Glenmore one enormous

charnel house."

What happened of old to the aboriginal

forests of Scotland, that long before these later

destructions they had almost all perished,

leaving to bear witness what they were, such

survivors 1 They were chiefly destroyed by
fire. What power could extinguish chance-

kindled conflagrations when sailing before the

wind 1 And no doubt fire was set to clear the

country at once of Scotch firs, wolves, wild

boars, and outlaws. Tradition yet tells of such

burnings ; and, if we mistake not, the pines

found in the Scottish mosses, the logs and the

stocks, all show that they were destroyed by
Vulcan, though Neptune

'

buried them in the

quagmires. Storms no doubt often levelled

them by thousands
;
but had millions so fallen

they had never been missed, and one element

only which has been often fearfully commis-

sioned could achieve the work. In our own

day the axe has indeed done wonders and

sixteen square miles of the forest of Rothie-

murchus " went to the ground." John of

Ghent, Gilpin tells us, to avenge an inroad, set

twenty-four thousand axes at work in the

Caledonian Forest.

Yet Scotland has perhaps sufficient forest at

this day. For more has been planted than cut

down
;
Glenmore will soon be populous as ever

with self-sown pines, and Rothiemurchus may
revive ;

the shades are yet deeper of Loch

Arkaig, Glengarry, Glenmoriston, Strathglass,

Glen Strathfarrar, and Loch-Shiel
; deeper still

on the Findhorn and deepest of all on the

Dee rejoicing in the magnificent pine woods of

Invercauld and Braemar,

We feel that we have spoken feebly of our

Highland forests. Some perhaps, who have

never been off the high roads, may accuse

us of exaggeration too
; but they contain

wondrous beauties of which we have said

not a word
;
and no imagination can con-

ceive what they may be in another hundred
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years. But, apparently far apart from the

forests, though still belonging to them for

they hold in fancy by the tenure of the olden

time how many woods, and groves, and

sprinklings of fair trees, rise up during a day's

journey, in almost every region of the North !

And among them all, it may be, scarcely a

pine. For the oak, and the ash, and the elm,

are also all native trees
;
nowhere else does the

rowan flush with more dazzling lustre; in spring,

the alder with its vivid green stands well beside

the birk the yew was not neglected of yore,

though the bow of the Celt was weak to that

of the Saxon ;
and the holly, in winter emu-

lating the brightness of the pine, flourished,

and still flourishes on many a mountain side.

There is sufficient sylvan scenery for beauty in

a land of mountains. More may be needed

for shelter but let the young plants and

seedlings have time to grow and as for the

old trees, may they live for ever. Too many
millions of larches are perhaps growing now

behind the Tay and the Tilt
; yet why should

the hills of Perthshire be thought to be dis-

figured by what ennobles the Alps and the

Apennines ?

Hitherto we have hardly said a word about

Lochs, and have been doing our best to forget

them, while imagining scenes that were chiefly

characterised by other great features of High-
land Landscape. A country thus constituted,

and with such an aspect, even if we could

suppose it without lochs, would still be a

glorious region ;
but its lochs are indeed its

greatest glory ; by them its glens, its moun-
tains and its woods are all illumined, and its

rivers made to sing aloud for joy. In the pure

element, overflowing so many spacious vales

and glens profound, the great and stern objects
of nature look even more sublime or more

beautiful, in their reflected shadows, which

appear in that stillness to belong rather to

heaven than earth. Or the evanescence of all

that imagery at a breath may touch us with
the thought that all it represents, steadfast as

seems its endurance, will as utterly pass away.
Such visions, when gazed on in that wondrou

depth and purity they are sometimes seen to

assume, on a still summer day, always inspire
some such faint feeling as this; and we
sigh to think how

transitory must be all

things, when the setting sun is seen to sink

beneath the mountain, and all its golden

pomp at the same instant to evanish from the

lake.

The first that takes possession of the imagi-

nation, dreaming of the Highlands as the

region of lochs, is the Queen of them all, Loch

Lomond. "Wordsworth has said, that " in

Scotland, the proportion of diffused water is

often too great, as at the Lake of Geneva, for

instance, and in most of the Scottish lakes.

No doubt it sounds magnificent, and flatters

the imagination, to hear at a distance of masses

of water so many leagues in length and miles

in width
;

and such ample room may be

delightful to the fresh-water sailor, scudding

with a lively breeze amid the rapidly shifting

scenery. But who ever travelled along the

banks of Loch Lomond, variegated as the

lower part is by islands, without feeling that

a speedier termination of the long vista of

blank water would be acceptable, and without

wishing for an interposition of green meadows,

trees, and cottages, and a sparkling stream to

run by his side. In fact, a notion of grandeur

as connected with magnitude has seduced

persons of taste into a general mistake upon
this subject. It is much more desirable for

the purposes of pleasure, that lakes should be

numerous and small or middle-sized than

large, not only for communication by walks

and rides, but for variety and for recurrence of

similar appearances. To illustrate this by one

instance : how pleasing is it to have a ready

and frequent opportunity of watching, at the

outlet of a lake, the stream, pushing its Avay

among the rocks, in lively contrast with the

stillness from which it has escaped ;
and how

amusing to compare its noisy and turbulent

motions with the gentle playfulness of the

breezes that may be starting up, or wandering
here and there over the faintly-rippled surface

of the broad water ! I may add, as a general

remark, that in lakes of great width, the

shores cannot be distinctly seen at the same

time
;
and therefore contribute little to mutual

illustration and ornament
;
and if the opposite

shores are out of sight of each other, like those

of the American and Asiatic lakes, then unfor-

tunately the traveller is reminded of a nobler

object ; he has the blankness of a sea prospect
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without the grandeur and accompanying sense

of power."

We shall not be suspected of an inclination

to dissent, on light grounds, from any senti-

ments of Wordsworth. But finely felt and

expressed as all this is, we do not hesitate to

say that it is not applicable to Loch Lomond.

Far be it from us to criticise this passage sen-

tence by sentence
;
for we have quoted it not

in a captious, but in a reverent spirit, as we

have ever done with the works of this illus-

trious man. He has studied nature more

widely and profoundly than we have
;
but it

is out of our power to look on Loch Lomond
without a feeling of perfection. The "diffu-

sion of water
"

is indeed great ;
but in what a

world it floats ! At first sight of it, how our

soul expands ! The sudden revelation of such

majestic beauty, wide as it is and extending

afar, inspires us with a power of comprehend-

ing it all. Sea-like, indeed, it is a Medi-

terranean Sea enclosed with lofty hills and

as lofty mountains and these, indeed, are

the Fortunate Isles ! We shall not dwell on

the feeling which all must have experienced

on the first sight of such a vision the feeling

of a lovely and a mighty calm
;

it is manifest

that the spacious "diffusion of water" more

than conspires with the other components of

such a scene to produce the feeling ;
that to it

belongs the spell that makes our spirit serene,

still, and bright as its own. Nor when such

feeling ceases so entirely to possess, and so

deeply to affect us, does the softened and sub-

dued charm of the scene before us depend less

on the expanse of the "diffusion of water."

The islands, that before had lain we knew not

how or we had only felt that they were all

most lovely begin to show themselves in the

order of their relation to one another and to the

shores. The eye rests on the largest, and with

them the lesser combine
;
or we look at one

or two of the least, away by themselves, or

remote from all a tufted rock
;
and many as

they are, they break not the breadth of the

liquid plain, for it is ample as the sky. They
show its amplitude ;

as masses and sprinklings

of clouds, and single clouds, show the ampli-

tude of the cerulean vault. And then the

long promontories stretching out from oppo-

site mainlands, and enclosing bays that in

themselves are lakes they too magnify the

empire of water
;

for long as they are, they

seem so only as our eye attends them with

their cliffs and woods from the retiring shores,

and far distant are their shadows from the

central light. Then what shores ! On one

side, where the lake is widest, low-lying they

seem and therefore lovelier undulating with

fields and groves, where many a pleasant

dwelling is embowered, into lines of hills that

gradually soften away into another land. On
the other side, sloping back, or overhanging,

mounts beautiful in their barrenness, for they

are green as emerald
; others, scarcely more

beautiful, studded with fair trees some alto-

gether woods. They soon form into moun-

tains and the mountains become more and

more majestical, yet beauty never deserts

them, and her spirit continues to tame that of

the frowning cliffs. Far off as they are, Ben-

lomond and Benvoirlich are seen to be giants ;

magnificent is their retinue, but the two are

supreme, each in his own dominion
;
and clear

as the day is here, they are diademed with

clouds.

It cannot be that the "
proportion of diffused

water is here too great ;" and is it then true that

no one " ever travelled along the banks of

Loch Lomond, variegated as the lower part is

by islands, without feeling that a speedier

termination to the long vista of blank water

would be acceptable, and without wishing for

an interposition of green meadows, trees and

cottages, and a sparkling stream to run by his

side?" We have travelled along them in all

weathers, and never felt such a wish. For

there they all are all but the "
sparkling

stream to run by our side," and we see not

how that well could be in nature. " Streams

that sparkle as they run," cross our path on

their own
;
and brighter never issued from

the woods. Along the margin of the water,

as far as Luss ay, and much farther the

variations of the foreground are incessant
;

" had it no other beauties," it has been truly

said,
" but those of its shores, it would still be

an object of prime attraction
;
whether from

the bright green meadows sprinkled with

luxuriant ash-trees, that sometimes skirt its

margin, or its white pebbled shores on which

its gentle billows murmur, like a miniature
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ocean, or its bold rocky promontories rising

from the dark water rich in wild-flowers and

ferns, and tangled with wild roses and honey-

suckles, or its retired bays where the waves

dash, reflecting, like a mirror, the trees which

hang over them, an inverted lanscape." The

islands are for ever arranging themselves into

new forms, every one more and more beautiful ;

at least so they seem to be, perpetually occur-

ring, yet always unexpected, and there is a

pleasure even in such a series of slight sur-

prises that enhances the delight of admiration.

And alongside, or behind us, all the while, are

the sylvan mountains, "laden with beauty;"

and ever and anon open glens widen down

upon us from chasms; or forest glades lead

our hearts away into the inner gloom per-

haps our feet
;
and there, in a field that looks

not as if it had been cleared by his own

hands, but left clear by nature, a woodsman's

hut.

Half-way between Luss and Tarbet the

water narrows, but it is still wide
;
the new

road, we believe, winds round the point of

Firkin, the old road boldly scaled the height,

as all old roads loved to do
;
ascend it, and

bid the many-isled vision, in all its greatest

glory, farewell. Thence upwards prevails the

spirit of the mountains. The lake is felt to

belong to them to be subjected to their will

and that is capricious ;
for sometimes they

suddenly blacken it when at its brightest, and

sometimes when its gloom is like that of the

grave, as if at their bidding, all is light. "We

cannot help attributing the "
skiey influences"

which occasion such wonderful effects on the

water, to prodigious mountains
;
for we cannot

look on them without feeling that they reign
over the solitude they compose ;

the light;

and shadows flung by the sun and the cloud

imagination assuredly regards as put forth by
the vast objects which they colour; and we
are inclined to think some such belief

essential in the profound awe, often amounting
to dread, with which we are inspired by th

presences of mere material forms. But "be this

as it may, the upper portion of Loch Lomond
is felt by all to be most sublime. Near th

head, all the manifold impressions of th
beautiful which for hours our mind had been

receiving, begin to fade; if some gloom}

hange has taken place in the air, there is a

otal obliteration, and the mighty scene before

us is felt to possess not the hour merely, but

,he day. Yet should sunshine come, and

abide a while, "beauty will glimpse upon us

sn here, for green pastures will smile

vividly, high up among the rocks
;
the sylvan

spirit is serene the moment it is touched with

ight, and here there is not only many a fair

;ree by the water-side, but yon old oak wood

will look joyful on the mountain, and the

loom become glimmer in the profound abyss.

"Wordsworth says, that "
it must be more

desirable, for the purposes of pleasure, that

Lakes should be numerous, and small or middle-

sized, than large, not only for communication

by walks and rides, but for variety, and for

recurrence of similar appearances." The High-
lands have them of all sizes and that surely

is best. But here is one which, it has been

truly said, is not only "incomparable in its

beauty as in its dimensions, exceeding all

others in variety as it does in extent and

splendour, but unites in itself every style of

scenery which is found in the other lakes of

the Highlands." He who has studied, and

understood, and felt all Loch Lomond, will be

prepared at once to enjoy any other fine lake

he looks on
;
nor will he admire nor love it

the less, though its chief character should

consist in what forms but one part of that of

the Wonder in which all kinds of beauty and

sublimity are combined.

We feel that it would be idle, and worse

than idle, to describe any number of the

Highland lochs, for so many of the finest have

been seen by so many eyes, that few persons

probably will ever read these pages to whom
such descriptions would be, at the best, more

than shadowings of scenery that their own

imaginations can more vividly recreate.

We may be allowed, however, to say, that

there cannot be a greater mistake than to

think, as many we believe do who have only
heard of the Highland lochs, that, with the

exception of those famous for their beauty as

well as their grandeur, beauty is not only not

the quality by which they are distinguished, but

that it is rarely found in them at all. There

are few, possessing any very marked character,

in which beauty is not either an ingredient or
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an accompaniment ;
and there are many

"beautiful exceedingly" which, lying out of

the way even of somewhat adventurous travel-

lers, or very remote, are known, if even by
that, only by name. It does not, indeed,

require much, in some situations, to give a

very touching beauty to water. A few trees,

a few knolls, a few tufted rocks, will do it,

where all around and above is stern or sterile
;

and how strong may be the gentle charm, if

the torrent that feeds the little loch chance to

flow into it from a lucid pool formed by a

waterfall, and to flow out of it in a rivulet

that enlivens the dark heather with a vale of

verdure over which a stag might bound and

more especially if there be two or three huts

in which it is perceived there is human life !

We believe we slightly touched before on

such scenes
;
but any little repetition will be

excused for the sake of a very picturesque

passage, which we have much pleasure in

quoting from the very valuable Guide to the

Highlands and Islands of Scotland, by the

brothers Anderson. We well remember walk-

ing into the scene here so well painted, many
long years ago, and have indeed, somewhere

or other, described it. The Fall of Foyers is

the most magnificent cataract, out of all sight

and hearing, in Britain. The din is quite
loud enough in ordinary weather and it is

only in ordinary weather that you can approach
the place, from which you have a full view of

all its grandeur. When the Fall is in flood

to say nothing of being drenched to the skin

you are so blinded by the sharp spray

smoke, and so deafened by the dashing and

clashing, and tumbling and rumbling thunder,
that your condition is far from enviable, as

you cling,
"
lonely lover of nature," to a shelf

by no means eminent for safety, above the

horrid gulf. Nor in former times was there

any likelihood of your being comforted by the

accommodations of the General's Hut. In

ordinary Highland weather meaning thereby
weather neither very wet nor very dry it is

worth walking a thousand miles for one hour

to behold the Fall of Foyers. The spacious

cavity is enclosed by "complicated cliffs and

perpendicular precipices
"

of immense height ;

and though for a while it wears to the eye a

savage aspect, yet beauty fears not to dwell

even there, and the horror is softened by what

appears to be masses of tall shrubs, or single

shrubs almost like trees. And they are trees,

which on the level plain would look even.

stately ;
but as they ascend ledge above ledge

the walls of that awful chasm, it takes the eye

time to see them as they really are, while on

our first discernment of their character, serenely

standing among the tumult, they are felt on

such sites to be sublime.
" Between the Falls and the Strath of

Stratherrik," says the book we were about to

quote,
" a space of three or four miles, the

river Foyers flows through a series of low

rocky hills clothed with birch. They present

various quiet glades and open spaces, where

little patches of cultivated ground are encircled

by wooded hillocks, whose surface is pleasingly

diversified by nodding trees, bare rocks, em-

purpled heath, and bracken bearing herbage."

It was the excessive loveliness of some of the

scenery there that suggested to us the thought
of going to look what kind of a stream the

Foyers was above the Fall. We went, and in

the quiet of a summer evening, found it

" Was even the gentlest of all gentle things."

But here is the promised description of it :

" Before pursuing our way westward, we would

wish to direct the traveller's attention to a

sequestered spot of peculiar beauty on the

river Foyers. This is a secluded vale, called

Killean, which, besides its natural attractions,

and these are many, is distinguished as one of

the few places where the old practice of

resorting to the 'shieling' for summer grazing

of cattle is still observed. It is encompassed
on all sides by steep mountains

;
but at the

north end there is a small lake, about a mile

and a half in length, and from one-third to

half a mile in breadth. The remainder of the

bottom of the glen is a perfectly level tract, of

the same width with the lake, and about two

miles and a half in length, covered with the

richest herbage, and traversed by a small

meandering river flowing through it into the

lake. The surface of this flat is bedecked

with the little huts or bothies, which afford

temporary accommodation to the herdsmen

and others in charge of the cattle. This por-

tion of the glen is bordered on the west by
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continuous hills rising abruptly in a uniformly

steep acclivity, and passing above into a per-

pendicular range of precipices, the whole

covered with a scanty verdure sprouted with

heath. At the bend of the lake near its

middle, where it inclines from a northernly

course towards the west, a magnificent rounded

precipice, which, like the continuous ranges,

may be about 1200 feet in height, rises imme-

diately out of the water; and a few narrow

and inclined verdant stripes alone preserve it

from exhibiting a perfectly mural character.

To this noble rock succeeds, along the rest of

the lake, a beautiful, lofty, and nearly vertical

hill-side, clothed with birch, intermingled

with hanging mossy banks, shaded over with

the deeper tinted bracken. The eastern side

of the plain, and the adjoining portion of the

lake, are lined by mountains corresponding in

height with those opposed to them
;
but their

lower extremities are, to a considerable extent,

strewed with broken fragments of rock, to

which succeeds an uninterrupted zone of birch

and alder, which is again overtopped in its

turn by naked cliffs. An elevated terrace

occupies the remainder of this side of the

lake
;
above the wooded face of which is seen

a sloping expanse of mingled heath and herb-

age. About half a mile from the south end.O 7

Mr Eraser of Lovat, the proprietor, has erected

a shooting lodge ;
viewed from which, or from

either end, or from the top of the platform on

the north-east side of the lake, fancy could

scarcely picture a more attractive and fairy

landscape than is unfolded by this sequestered

vale, to which Dr Johnson's description of

the 'Happy Valley' not inaptly applies. The

milch cows, to the number of several hun-

dreds, are generally kept here from the begin-

ning of June to the middle of August, when

they are replaced by the yeld cattle. The

river sweeps to the northward from Loch

Killean through richly birch-clad hills, which

rise in swelling slopes from its banks. A
large tarn which immediately joins it from the

east is crossed at its mouth by a rustic bridge,

from which a single footpath conducts across

the brow of the hill to Whitebridge, a small

public-house or inn, four miles distant."

There is a loch of a very different character

from Killean, almost as little known (a view

of it is given at page 708), equal to anything
in the Highlands, only two miles distant from

Loch Lochy, in the great glen Loch Arkaig.

We first visited it many years since, having
been induced to do so by a passage in John

Stoddard's Remarks on the Local Scenery

and Manners of Scotland ; and it was then a

very noble oak and pine forest loch. The axe

went to work arid kept steadily at it
;
and a

great change was wrought ; but it is still a

grand scene, with a larger infusion of beauty

than it possessed of old. The scenery of the

valley separating it from Loch Lochy is very

similar to that of the Trossachs
; through it

there are two approaches to the loch, and the

Mile-Dubh, or the dark mile, according to our

feeling, is more impressive than any part of

the approach to Loch Katrine. The woods

and rocks are very solemn, and yet very sweet;

for though many old pines, and oaks and ashes

are there, and the wall of rocks is immense,

young trees prevail now on many places, as

well along the heights as among the knolls

and hillocks below, where alders and haw-

thorns are thick
;

almost everywhere the

young are intermingled with the old, and look

cheerful under their protection, without danger

of being chilled by their shade. The loch,

more or less sylvan from end to end, shows on

its nearer shores some magnificent remains of

the ancient forest, and makes a noble sweep
like some great river. There may be more,

but we remember but one island not large,

but wooded as it should be the burying-

place of the family of Lochiel. What rest !

It is a long journey from Loch Lochy to

Kinloch Arkaig and by the silent waters we

walked or sat all a summer's day. There was

nothing like a road that we observed, but the

shores are easily travelled, and there it is you

may be almost sure of seeing some red deer.

They are no better worth looking at from a

window than Fallow no offence to Fallow,

who are fine creatures
; indeed, we had rather

not see them so at all
;
but on the shores or

steeps of Loch Arkaig, with hardly a human

habitation within many, many miles, and these

few rather known than seen to be there, the

huts of Highlanders contented to cultivate

here and there some spot that seems cultivat-

able, but probably is found not to be so after
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some laborious years there they are at home;
and you, if young, looking on them feel at

home too, and go hounding, like one of them-

selves, over what, did you choose, were an

evitable steep. Roe, too, frequent the copses,

hut to he seen they must he started
; grouse

spring up hefore you oftener than you might

expect in a deer forest
; but, to be sure, it is a

rough and shaggy one, though lovelier lines of

verdure never lay in the sunshine than we

think we see now lying for miles along the

margin of that loch. The numerous moun-

tains towards the head of the loch are very

lofty, and glens diverge in grand style into

opposite and distant regions. Glen Dessary,

with its beautiful pastures, opens on the Loch,

and leads to Loch Nevish on the coast of

Knoidart Glen Psean to Oban-a-Cave on

Loch Morer, Glen Canagorie into Glenfinnan

and Loch Shiel; and Glen Kingie to Glen-

garry and Loch Quoich. There is a choice !

We chose Glen Kingie, and after a long climb

found a torrent that took us down to Glen-

garry before sunset. It is a loch little known,
and in grandeur not equal to Loch Arkaig ;

but at the close of such a day's journey, the

mind, elevated by the long contemplation of

the great objects of nature, cannot fail to feel

aright, whatever it may be, the spirit of the

scene, that seems to usher in the grateful hour

of rest. It is surpassing fair and having

lain all night long on its gentle banks, sleep-

ing or waking we know not, we have never

remembered it since but as the Land of

Dreams.

Which is the dreariest, most desolate and

dismal of the Highland lochs? We should say

Loch Ericht. It lies in a prodigious wilder-

ness with which perhaps no man alive is con-

versant, and in which you may travel for days

without seeing even any symptoms of human

life. We speak of the regions comprehended
between the Forest of Athole, and Bennevis,

the Moor of Rannoch, and Glen Spean. There

are many Lochs and Loch Ericht is their

grisly Queen. Herdsmen, shepherds, hunters,

fowlers, anglers, traverse its borders, but few

have been far in the interior, and we never

knew anybody who had crossed it from south

to north, from east to west. We have our-

selves seen more of it, perhaps than any other

Lowlander
;
and had traversed many of its vast

glens and moors before we found our way to

the southern solitude of Loch Ericht. We
came into the western gloom of Ben Alder from

Loch Ouchan, and up and down for hours

dismal but not dangerous precipices that opened
out into what might almost be called passes

but we have frequently to go back for they
were blind contrived to clamber to the edge
of one of the mountains that rose from the

water a few miles down the Loch. All was

vast, shapeless, savage, black, and wrathfully

grim ; for it was one of those days that keep

frowning and lowering, yet will not thunder
;

such as one conceives of on the eve of an

earthquake. At first the sight was dreadful,

but there was no reason for dread
; imagination

remains not longer than she chooses the slave

of her own eyes, and we soon began to enjoy
the gloom, and to feel how congenial it was in

nature with the character of all those lifeless

cliffs. Silence and darkness suit well together
in solitude at noonday ;

and settled on huge

objects make them sublime. And they were

huge ;
all ranged together, and stretching away

to a great distance, with the pitchy water, still

as if frozen, covering their feet.

Loch Ericht is many miles long nearly

twenty ; but there is a loch among the Gram-

pians not more than two miles round if so

much, which is sublimer far Loch Aven.

You come upon the sight of it at once, a short

way down from the summit of Cairngorm, and

then it is some two thousand feet below you,

itself being as many above the level of the sea.

But to come upon it so as to feel best its tran-

scendent grandeur, you should approach it up
Glenaven and from as far down as Inch-

Rouran, which is about half-way between

Loch Aven and Tomantoul. Between Inch-

Rouran and Tomantoul the glen is wild, but it

is inhabited
;
above that house there is but

one other and for about a dozen miles we

have heard it called far more there is utter soli-

tude. But never was there a solitude at once

so wild so solemn so serene 'So sweet !

The glen is narrow ; hut on one side there are

openings into several wider glens, that show

you mighty coves as you pass on
;
on the

other side the mountains are without a break,

and the only variation with them is from
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smooth to shaggy, from dark to bright ;
but

their prevailing
character is that of pastoral or

of forest peace.
The mountains that show the

coves belong to the bases of Ben-Aven and

Ben-y-buird.
The heads of those giants are

not seen -but it sublimes the long glen to.

know that it belongs to their dominion, and

that it is leading us on to an elevation that

erelong will be on a level with the roots of

their topmost cliffs. The Aven is so clear-

on account of the nature of its channel that

you see the fishes hanging in every pool ;
and

'tis not possible to imagine how beautiful in

such transparencies are the reflections of its

green ferny banks. For miles they are com-

posed of knolls, seldom interspersed with

rocks, and there cease to be any trees. But

ever and anon, we walk for a while on a level

floor, and the voice of the stream is mute.

Hitherto sheep have been noticed on the hill,

but not many, and red and black cattle grazing

on the lower pastures ;
but they disappear, and

we find ourselves all at once in a desert. So

it is felt to be, coming so suddenly with its

black heather on that greenest grass ;
but 'tis

such a desert as the red-deer love. We are

now high up on the breast of the mountain,

which appears to be Cairngorm ;
but such

heights are deceptive, and it is not till we again

see the bed of the Aven that we are assured

we are still in the glen. Prodigious precipices,

belonging to several different mountains, for

between mass and mass there is blue sky,

suddenly arise, forming themselves more and

more regularly into circular order, as we near
;

and now we have sight of the whole magnifi-

cence ; yet vast as it is, we know not yet how

vast
;

it grows as we gaze, till in a while we feel

that sublimer it may not be
;
and then so

quiet in all its terrific grandeur we feel too that

it is beautiful, and think of the Maker.

This is Loch Aven. How different the

whole regions round from that enclosing Loch

Ericht ! There, vast wildernesses of more than

melancholy moors huge hollows hating their

own gloom that keep them herbless disconso-

late glens left far away by themselves, withoul

any sign of life cliffs that frown back the

sunshine and mountains, as if they were all

dead, insensible to the heavens. Is this al

mere imagination or the truth] We deceive

ourselves in what we call a desert. For we

lave so associated our own being with the

appearances of outward things, that we at-

tribute to them, with an uninquiring faith, the

very feelings and the very thoughts, of which

we have chosen to make them emblems. But

aere the sources of the Dee seem to lie in

a region as happy as it is high ;
for the bases

of the mountains are all such as the soul has

jhosen to make sublime the colouring of the

mountains all such as the soul has chosen to

make beautiful; and the whole region, thus

imbued with a power to inspire elevation and

delight, is felt to be indeed one of the very

noblest in nature.

We have now nearly reached the limits

assigned to our Remarks on the Character of

the Scenery of the Highlands ; and we feel

that the sketches we have drawn of its compo-

nent qualities occasionally filled up with

some details must be very imperfect indeed,

without comprehending some parts of the

coast, and some of the sea-arms that stretch

into the interior. But even had our limits

allowed, we do not think we could have

ventured on such an attempt ;
for though we

have sailed along most of the western shores,

and through some of its sounds, and into many
of its bays, and up not a few of its reaches,

yet they contain such an endless variety of all

the fairest and greatest objects of nature, that

we feel it would be far beyond our powers to

give anything like an adequate idea of the

beauty and the grandeur that for ever kept

unfolding themselves around our summer

voyagings in calm or storm. Who can say

that he knows a thousandth part of the

wonders of " the marine
" between the Mull of

Cantire and Cape Wrath? He may have

gathered many an extensive shore threaded

many a mazy multitude of isles sailed up

many a spacious bay and cast anchor at the

head of many a haven land-locked so as no

more to seem to belong to the sea yet other

voyagers shall speak to him of innumerable

sights which he has never witnessed
;
and

they who are most conversant with those

coasts, best know how much they have left

and must leave for ever unexplored.

Look now only at the Linnhe Loch how

it gladdens Argyle ! Without it and the
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sound of Mull how sad would be the shadows

of Morven ! Eclipsed the splendours of

Lorn ! Ascend one of the heights of Appin,
and as the waves roll in light, you will feel

how the mountains are beautified by the sea.

There is a majestic rolling onwards there that

belongs to no land-loch only to the world of

waves. There is no nobler image of ordered

power than the tide, whether in flow or in

ebb
;
and on all now it is felt to be beneficent,

coining and going daily, to enrich and adorn.

Or in fancy will you embark, and let the

"Amethyst" bound away "at her own sweet

will," accordant with yours, till she reach the

distant and long-desired loch.

" Loch-Sunart ! who, when tides and tempests roar,
Comes in among these mountains from the main,
Twixt wooded Ardnamurchan's rocky cape
And Ardmore's shingly beach of hissing spray ;

And, while his thunders bid the sound of Mull
Be dumb, sweeps onwards past a hundred bays
Hill-sheltered from the wrath that foams along
The mad mid-channel, All as quiet they
As little separate worlds of summer dreams,
And by storm-loving birds attended up
The mountain-hollow, white in their career

As are the breaking billows, spurns the Isles

Of craggy Carnich, and Green Oronsay
Drench'd in that sea-born shower o'er tree-tops

driven

And ivied stones of what was once a tower
Now hardly known from rocks and gathering

might
In the long reach between Dungallan caves
And point of Arderinis ever fair

With her Elysian groves, bursts through that strait

Into another ampler inland sea ;

Till lo ! subdued by some sweet influence,
And potent is she though so meek the Eve,
Down sinketh wearied the old Ocean

Insensibly into a solemn calm,
And all along that ancient burial-ground,
(Its kirk is gone,) that seemeth now to lend
Its own eternal quiet to the waves,
Restless no more, into a perfect peace
Lulling and lull'd at last, while drop the airs

Away as they were dead, the first risen star

Beholds that lovely Archipelago,
All shadow'd fiere as in a spiritual world,
Where time's mutations shall come never more !

"

These lines describe but one of innumerable

lochs that owe their greatest charm to the sea.

It is indeed one of those on which nature has

lavished all her infinite varieties of loneliness
;

but Loch Leven is scarcely less fair, and per-

haps grander; and there is matchless magni-
ficence about Loch Etive. All round about

Ballachulish and Invercoe the scenery of Loch

Leven is the sweetest ever seen overshadowed

by such mountains
;
the deeper their gloom,

the brighter its lustre
;
in all weathers it wears

a cheerful smile
;
and often while up among

the rocks the tall trees are tossing in the

storm, the heart of the woods beneath is

calm, and the vivid fields they shelter look

as if they still enjoyed the sun. Nor closes

the beauty there, but even animates the

entrance into that dreadful glen Glencoe.

All the way up its river, Loch Leven would be

fair, were it only for her hanging woods.

But though the glen narrows, it still continues

broad, and there are green plains between her

waters and the mountains, on which stately

trees stand single, and there is ample room for

groves. The returning tide tells us, should we

forget it, that this is no inland loch, for it

hurries away back to the sea, not turbulent,

but fast as a river in flood. The river Leven

is one of the finest in the Highlands, and

there is no other such series of waterfalls, all

seen at once, one above the other, along an

immense vista
;
and all the way up to the

farthest there are noble assemblages of rocks

nowhere any want of wood and in places, trees

that seem to have belonged to some old forest.

Beyond, the opening in the sky seems to lead

into another region, and it does so
; for we

have gone that way, past some small lochs,

across a wide wilderness, with mountains on

all sides, and descended on Loch Treag,

" A loch whom there are none to praise
And very few to love,

but overflowing in our memory with all

pleasantest images of pastoral contentment and

peace.

Loch Etive, between the ferries of Connel

and Bunawe, has been seen by almost all who
have visited the Highlands but very imper-

fectly ;
to know what it is you must row or

sail up it, for the banks on both sides are often

richly wooded, assume many fine forms, and

are frequently well embayed, while the ex-

panse of water is sufficiently wide to allow you
from its centre to command a view of many of

the distant heights. But above Bunawe it is

not like the same loch. For a couple of miles

it is not wide, and it is so darkened by enor-

mous shadows that it looks even less like a

strait than a gulf huge overhanging rocks on

both sides ascending high, and yet felt to

belong but to the bases of mountains tbat
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sloping far "back have their summits among

clouds of their own in another region of

the sky. Yet are they not all horrid
;

for

nowhere else is there such lofty heather it

seems a wild sort of brushwood; tall trees

flourish, single or in groves, chiefly birches,

with now and then an oak and they are in

their youth or their prime and even the pro-

digious trunks, some of which have been dead

for centuries, ar not all dead, but shoot from

their knotted rhind symptoms of life inex-

tinguishable by time and tempest. Out of this

gulf we emerge into the Upper Loch, and its

amplitude sustains the majesty of the moun-

tains, all of the highest order, and seen from

their feet to their crests. Cruachan wears the

crown, and reigns over them all king at once

of Loch Etive and of Loch Awe. But

Buachaille Etive, though afar off, is still a

giant, and in some lights comes forwards,

bringing with him the Black Mount and its de-

pendents, so that they all seem to belong to this

most magnificent of all Highland lochs. " I

know not," says Macculloch,
" that Loch Etive

could bear an ornament without an infringe-

ment on that aspect of solitary vastness which

it presents throughout. Nor is there one.

The rocks and bays on the shore, Avhich might
elsewhere attract attention, are here swallowed

up in the enormous dimensions of the sur-

rounding mountains, and the wide and ample

expanse of the lake. A solitary house, here

fearfully solitary, situated far up in Glen Etive,
is only visible when at the upper extremity ;

and if there be a tree, as there are in a few

places on the shore, it is unseen
; extinguished

as if it were a humble mountain flower, by the

universal magnitude around.
"

This is finely felt

and expressed ; but even on the shores of Loch
Etive there is much of the beautiful

; Ardmatty
smiles with its meadows, and woods, and

bay, and sylvan stream
; other sunny nooks

repose among the grey granite masses; the

colouring of the banks and braes is often

bright ; several houses or huts become visible

no long way up the glen; and though that

long hollow half a day's journey till you
reach the wild road between Inveruran and

King's House lies in gloom, yet the hillsides

are cheerful, and you delight in the greensward,

wide and rock-broken, should you ascend the

passes that lead into Glencreran or Glencoe.

But to feel the full power of Glen Etive you
must walk up it till it ceases to be a glen.

When in the middle of the moor, you see far

off a solitary dwelling indeed perhaps the

loneliest house in all the Highlands and the

solitude is made profounder, as you pass by,

by the voice of a cataract, hidden in an awful

chasm, bridged by two or three stems of trees,

along which the red-deer might fear to venture

but we have seen them and the deer-hounds

glide over it, followed by other fearless feet,

when far and wide the Forest of Dalness was

echoing to the hunter's horn.

We have now brought our Remarks on the

Scenery of the Highlands to a close, arid would

fain have said a few words on the character

and life of the people ;
but are precluded from

even touching on that most interesting subject.

It is impossible that the minds of travellers

through those wonderful regions can be so

occupied with the contemplation of mere inani-

mate nature, as not to give many a thought to

their inhabitants, now and in the olden time.

Indeed, without such thoughts, they would

often seem to be but blank and barren wilder-

nesses in which the heart would languish, and

imagination itself recoil
;
but they cannot long

be so looked at, for houseless as are many
extensive tracts, and at times felt to be too

dreary even for moods that for a while enjoyed

the absence of all that might tell of human

life, yet symptoms and traces of human life are

noticeable to the instructed eye almost every

where, and in them often lies the spell that

charms us, even while we think that we are

wholly delivered up to the influence of "dead

insensate things." None will visit the High-
lands without having some knowledge of their

history ;
and the changes that have long been

taking place in the condition of the people will

be affectingly recognised wherever they go, in

spite even of what might have appeared the

insuperable barriers of nature.
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